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your golden hair Margarete 
 your ashen hair Shulamit

Paul Celan 
 “Death Fugue”

 
 

Everything flows, everything changes. 
 You can’t board the same prison train twice.

Vasily Grossman 
 Everything Flows

 
 

A stranger drowned on the Black Sea alone 
 With no one to hear his prayers for forgiveness.

“Storm on the Black Sea” 
 Ukrainian traditional song

 
 

Whole cities disappear. In nature’s stead 
 Only a white shield to counter nonexistence.

Tomas Venclova 
 “The Shield of Achilles”



PREFACE: EUROPE
“Now we will live!” This is what the hungry little boy liked to say, as he
toddled along the quiet roadside, or through the empty fields. But the food
that he saw was only in his imagination. The wheat had all been taken
away, in a heartless campaign of requisitions that began Europe’s era of
mass killing. It was 1933, and Joseph Stalin was deliberately starving
Soviet Ukraine. The little boy died, as did more than three million other
people. “I will meet her,” said a young Soviet man of his wife, “under the
ground.” He was right; he was shot after she was, and they were buried
among the seven hundred thousand victims of Stalin’s Great Terror of 1937
and 1938. “They asked for my wedding ring, which I....” The Polish officer
broke off his diary just before he was executed by the Soviet secret police in
1940. He was one of about two hundred thousand Polish citizens shot by
the Soviets or the Germans at the beginning of the Second World War,
while Nazi Germany and the Soviet Union jointly occupied his country.
Late in 1941, an eleven-year-old Russian girl in Leningrad finished her own
humble diary: “Only Tania is left.” Adolf Hitler had betrayed Stalin, her
city was under siege by the Germans, and her family were among the four
million Soviet citizens the Germans starved to death. The following
summer, a twelve-year-old Jewish girl in Belarus wrote a last letter to her
father: “I am saying good-bye to you before I die. I am so afraid of this
death because they throw small children into the mass graves alive.” She
was among the more than five million Jews gassed or shot by the Germans.

In the middle of Europe in the middle of the twentieth century, the Nazi and
Soviet regimes murdered some fourteen million people. The place where all
of the victims died, the bloodlands, extends from central Poland to western
Russia, through Ukraine, Belarus, and the Baltic States. During the
consolidation of National Socialism and Stalinism (1933-1938), the joint
German-Soviet occupation of Poland (1939-1941), and then the German-
Soviet war (1941-1945), mass violence of a sort never before seen in
history was visited upon this region. The victims were chiefly Jews,
Belarusians, Ukrainians, Poles, Russians, and Balts, the peoples native to
these lands. The fourteen million were murdered over the course of only
twelve years, between 1933 and 1945, while both Hitler and Stalin were in



power. Though their homelands became battlefields midway through this
period, these people were all victims of murderous policy rather than
casualties of war. The Second World War was the most lethal conflict in
history, and about half of the soldiers who perished on all of its battlefields
all the world over died here, in this same region, in the bloodlands. Yet not
a single one of the fourteen million murdered was a soldier on active duty.
Most were women, children, and the aged; none were bearing weapons;
many had been stripped of their possessions, including their clothes.

Auschwitz is the most familiar killing site of the bloodlands. Today
Auschwitz stands for the Holocaust, and the Holocaust for the evil of a
century. Yet the people registered as laborers at Auschwitz had a chance of
surviving: thanks to the memoirs and novels written by survivors, its name
is known. Far more Jews, most of them Polish Jews, were gassed in other
German death factories where almost everyone died, and whose names are
less often recalled: Treblinka, Chełmno, Sobibór, Bełżec. Still more Jews,
Polish or Soviet or Baltic Jews, were shot over ditches and pits. Most of
these Jews died near where they had lived, in occupied Poland, Lithuania,
Latvia, Soviet Ukraine, and Soviet Belarus. The Germans brought Jews
from elsewhere to the bloodlands to be killed. Jews arrived by train to
Auschwitz from Hungary, Czechoslovakia, France, the Netherlands,
Greece, Belgium, Yugoslavia, Italy, and Norway. German Jews were
deported to the cities of the bloodlands, to Łódź or Kaunas or Minsk or
Warsaw, before being shot or gassed. The people who lived on the block
where I am writing now, in the ninth district of Vienna, were deported to
Auschwitz, Sobibór, Treblinka, and Riga: all in the bloodlands.

The German mass murder of Jews took place in occupied Poland,
Lithuania, Latvia, and the Soviet Union, not in Germany itself. Hitler was
an anti-Semitic politician in a country with a small Jewish community. Jews
were fewer than one percent of the German population when Hitler became
chancellor in 1933, and about one quarter of one percent by the beginning
of the Second World War. During the first six years of Hitler’s rule, German
Jews were allowed (in humiliating and impoverishing circumstances) to
emigrate. Most of the German Jews who saw Hitler win elections in 1933
died of natural causes. The murder of 165,000 German Jews was a ghastly
crime in and of itself, but only a very small part of the tragedy of European
Jews: fewer than three percent of the deaths of the Holocaust. Only when



Nazi Germany invaded Poland in 1939 and the Soviet Union in 1941 did
Hitler’s visions of the elimination of Jews from Europe intersect with the
two most significant populations of European Jews. His ambition to
eliminate the Jews of Europe could be realized only in the parts of Europe
where Jews lived.

The Holocaust overshadows German plans that envisioned even more
killing. Hitler wanted not only to eradicate the Jews; he wanted also to
destroy Poland and the Soviet Union as states, exterminate their ruling
classes, and kill tens of millions of Slavs (Russians, Ukrainians,
Belarusians, Poles). If the German war against the USSR had gone as
planned, thirty million civilians would have been starved in its first winter,
and tens of millions more expelled, killed, assimilated, or enslaved
thereafter. Though these plans were never realized, they supplied the moral
premises of German occupation policy in the East. The Germans murdered
about as many non-Jews as Jews during the war, chiefly by starving Soviet
prisoners of war (more than three million) and residents of besieged cities
(more than a million) or by shooting civilians in “reprisals” (the better part
of a million, chiefly Belarusians and Poles).

The Soviet Union defeated Nazi Germany on the eastern front in the
Second World War, thereby earning Stalin the gratitude of millions and a
crucial part in the establishment of the postwar order in Europe. Yet Stalin’s



own record of mass murder was almost as imposing as Hitler’s. Indeed, in
times of peace it was far worse. In the name of defending and modernizing
the Soviet Union, Stalin oversaw the starvation of millions and the shooting
of three quarters of a million people in the 1930s. Stalin killed his own
citizens no less efficiently than Hitler killed the citizens of other countries.
Of the fourteen million people deliberately murdered in the bloodlands
between 1933 and 1945, a third belong in the Soviet account.
 

This is a history of political mass murder. The fourteen million were all
victims of a Soviet or Nazi killing policy, often of an interaction between
the Soviet Union and Nazi Germany, but never casualties of the war
between them. A quarter of them were killed before the Second World War
even began. A further two hundred thousand died between 1939 and 1941,
while Nazi Germany and the Soviet Union were remaking Europe as allies.
The deaths of the fourteen million were sometimes projected in economic
plans, or hastened by economic considerations, but were not caused by
economic necessity in any strict sense. Stalin knew what would happen
when he seized food from the starving peasants of Ukraine in 1933, just as
Hitler knew what could be expected when he deprived Soviet prisoners of
war of food eight years later. In both cases, more than three million people
died. The hundreds of thousands of Soviet peasants and workers shot during
the Great Terror in 1937 and 1938 were victims of express directives of
Stalin, just as the millions of Jews shot and gassed between 1941 and 1945
were victims of an explicit policy of Hitler.

War did alter the balance of killing. In the 1930s, the Soviet Union was
the only state in Europe carrying out policies of mass killing. Before the
Second World War, in the first six and a half years after Hitler came to
power, the Nazi regime killed no more than about ten thousand people. The
Stalinist regime had already starved millions and shot the better part of a
million. German policies of mass killing came to rival Soviet ones between
1939 and 1941, after Stalin allowed Hitler to begin a war. The Wehrmacht
and the Red Army both attacked Poland in September 1939, German and
Soviet diplomats signed a Treaty on Borders and Friendship, and German
and Soviet forces occupied the country together for nearly two years. After
the Germans expanded their empire to the west in 1940 by invading
Norway, Denmark, the Low Countries, and France, the Soviets occupied



and annexed Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia, and northeastern Romania. Both
regimes shot educated Polish citizens in the tens of thousands and deported
them in the hundreds of thousands. For Stalin, such mass repression was the
continuation of old policies on new lands; for Hitler, it was a breakthrough.

The very worst of the killing began when Hitler betrayed Stalin and
German forces crossed into the recently enlarged Soviet Union in June
1941. Although the Second World War began in September 1939 with the
joint German-Soviet invasion of Poland, the tremendous majority of its
killing followed that second eastern invasion. In Soviet Ukraine, Soviet
Belarus, and the Leningrad district, lands where the Stalinist regime had
starved and shot some four million people in the previous eight years,
German forces managed to starve and shoot even more in half the time.
Right after the invasion began, the Wehrmacht began to starve its Soviet
prisoners, and special task forces called Einsatzgruppen began to shoot
political enemies and Jews. Along with the German Order Police, the
Waffen-SS, and the Wehrmacht, and with the participation of local auxiliary
police and militias, the Einsatzgruppen began that summer to eliminate
Jewish communities as such.

The bloodlands were where most of Europe’s Jews lived, where Hitler and
Stalin’s imperial plans overlapped, where the Wehrmacht and the Red Army
fought, and where the Soviet NKVD and the German SS concentrated their
forces. Most killing sites were in the bloodlands: in the political geography
of the 1930s and early 1940s, this meant Poland, the Baltic States, Soviet
Belarus, Soviet Ukraine, and the western fringe of Soviet Russia. Stalin’s
crimes are often associated with Russia, and Hitler’s with Germany. But the
deadliest part of the Soviet Union was its non-Russian periphery, and Nazis
generally killed beyond Germany. The horror of the twentieth century is
thought to be located in the camps. But the concentration camps are not
where most of the victims of National Socialism and Stalinism died. These
misunderstandings regarding the sites and methods of mass killing prevent
us from perceiving the horror of the twentieth century.



Germany was the site of concentration camps liberated by the Americans
and the British in 1945; Russian Siberia was of course the site of much of
the Gulag, made known in the West by Alexander Solzhenitsyn. The images
of these camps, in photographs or in prose, only suggest the history of
German and Soviet violence. About a million people died because they
were sentenced to labor in German concentration camps—as distinct from



the German gas chambers and the German killing fields and the German
starvation zones, where ten million people died. Over a million lives were
shortened by exhaustion and disease in the Soviet Gulag between 1933 and
1945—as distinct from the Soviet killing fields and the Soviet hunger
regions, where some six million people died, about four million of them in
the bloodlands. Ninety percent of those who entered the Gulag left it alive.
Most of the people who entered German concentration camps (as opposed
to the German gas chambers, death pits, and prisoner-of-war camps) also
survived. The fate of concentration camp inmates, horrible though it was, is
distinct from that of those many millions who were gassed, shot, or starved.

The distinction between concentration camps and killing sites cannot be
made perfectly: people were executed and people were starved in camps.
Yet there is a difference between a camp sentence and a death sentence,
between labor and gas, between slavery and bullets. The tremendous
majority of the mortal victims of both the German and the Soviet regimes
never saw a concentration camp. Auschwitz was two things at once, a labor
camp and a death facility, and the fate of non-Jews seized for labor and
Jews selected for labor was very different from the fate of Jews selected for
the gas chambers. Auschwitz thus belongs to two histories, related but
distinct. Auschwitz-as-labor-camp is more representative of the experience
of the large number of people who endured German (or Soviet) policies of
concentration, whereas Auschwitz-as-death-facility is more typical of the
fates of those who were deliberately killed. Most of the Jews who arrived at
Auschwitz were simply gassed; they, like almost all of the fourteen million
killed in the bloodlands, never spent time in a concentration camp.

The German and Soviet concentration camps surround the bloodlands,
from both east and west, blurring the black with their shades of grey. At the
end of the Second World War, American and British forces liberated
German concentration camps such as Belsen and Dachau, but the western
Allies liberated none of the important death facilities. The Germans carried
out all of their major killing policies on lands subsequently occupied by the
Soviets. The Red Army liberated Auschwitz, and it liberated the sites of
Treblinka, Sobibór, Bełżec, Chełmno, and Majdanek as well. American and
British forces reached none of the bloodlands and saw none of the major
killing sites. It is not just that American and British forces saw none of the
places where the Soviets killed, leaving the crimes of Stalinism to be



documented after the end of the Cold War and the opening of the archives.
It is that they never saw the places where the Germans killed, meaning that
understanding of Hitler’s crimes has taken just as long. The photographs
and films of German concentration camps were the closest that most
westerners ever came to perceiving the mass killing. Horrible though these
images were, they were only hints at the history of the bloodlands. They are
not the whole story; sadly, they are not even an introduction.

Mass killing in Europe is usually associated with the Holocaust, and the
Holocaust with rapid industrial killing. The image is too simple and clean.
At the German and Soviet killing sites, the methods of murder were rather
primitive. Of the fourteen million civilians and prisoners of war killed in the
bloodlands between 1933 and 1945, more than half died because they were
denied food. Europeans deliberately starved Europeans in horrific numbers
in the middle of the twentieth century. The two largest mass killing actions
after the Holocaust—Stalin’s directed famines of the early 1930s and
Hitler’s starvation of Soviet prisoners of war in the early 1940s—involved
this method of killing. Starvation was foremost not only in reality but in
imagination. In a Hunger Plan, the Nazi regime projected the death by
starvation of tens of millions of Slavs and Jews in the winter of 1941-1942.

After starvation came shooting, and then gassing. In Stalin’s Great Terror
of 1937-1938, nearly seven hundred thousand Soviet citizens were shot.
The two hundred thousand or so Poles killed by the Germans and the
Soviets during their joint occupation of Poland were shot. The more than
three hundred thousand Belarusians and the comparable number of Poles
executed in German “reprisals” were shot. The Jews killed in the Holocaust
were about as likely to be shot as to be gassed.

For that matter, there was little especially modern about the gassing. The
million or so Jews asphyxiated at Auschwitz were killed by hydrogen
cyanide, a compound isolated in the eighteenth century. The 1.6 million or
so Jews killed at Treblinka, Chełmno, Bełżec, and Sobibór were
asphyxiated by carbon monoxide, which even the ancient Greeks knew was
lethal. In the 1940s hydrogen cyanide was used as a pesticide; carbon
monoxide was produced by internal combustion engines. The Soviets and
the Germans relied upon technologies that were hardly novel even in the



1930s and 1940s: internal combustion, railways, firearms, pesticides,
barbed wire.

No matter which technology was used, the killing was personal. People
who starved were observed, often from watchtowers, by those who denied
them food. People who were shot were seen through the sights of rifles at
very close range, or held by two men while a third placed a pistol at the
base of the skull. People who were asphyxiated were rounded up, put on
trains, and then rushed into the gas chambers. They lost their possessions
and then their clothes and then, if they were women, their hair. Each one of
them died a different death, since each one of them had lived a different
life.

The sheer numbers of the victims can blunt our sense of the individuality of
each one. “I’d like to call you all by name,” wrote the Russian poet Anna
Akhmatova in her Requiem, “but the list has been removed and there is
nowhere else to look.” Thanks to the hard work of historians, we have some
of the lists; thanks to the opening of the archives in eastern Europe, we have
places to look. We have a surprising number of the voices of the victims:
the recollections (for example) of one young Jewish woman who dug
herself from the Nazi death pit at Babi Yar, in Kiev; or of another who
managed the same at Ponary, near Vilnius. We have the memoirs of some of
the few dozen survivors of Treblinka. We have an archive of the Warsaw
ghetto, painstakingly assembled, buried and then (for the most part) found.
We have the diaries kept by the Polish officers shot by the Soviet NKVD in
1940 at Katyn, unearthed along with their bodies. We have notes thrown
from the buses taking Poles to death pits during the German killing actions
of that same year. We have the words scratched on the wall of the
synagogue in Kovel; and those left on the wall of the Gestapo prison in
Warsaw. We have the recollections of Ukrainians who survived the Soviet
famine of 1933, those of Soviet prisoners of war who survived the German
starvation campaign of 1941, and those of Leningraders who survived the
starvation siege of 1941-1944.



We have some of the records of the perpetrators, taken from the Germans
because they lost the war, or found in Russian or Ukrainian or Belarusian or
Polish or Baltic archives after the collapse of the Soviet Union in 1991. We
have reports and letters from German policemen and soldiers who shot
Jews, and of the German anti-partisan units who shot Belarusian and Polish
civilians. We have the petitions sent by the communist party activists before



they enforced famine in Ukraine in 1932-1933. We have the death quotas
for peasants and national minorities sent down from Moscow to regional
NKVD offices in 1937 and 1938, and the replies asking that these quotas be
increased. We have the interrogation protocols of the Soviet citizens who
were then sentenced and killed. We have German death counts of Jews shot
over pits and gassed at death facilities. We have Soviet death counts for the
shooting actions of the Great Terror and at Katyn. We have good overall
estimates of the numbers of killings of Jews at the major killing sites, based
upon tabulations of German records and communications, survivor
testimonies, and Soviet documents. We can make reasonable estimates of
the number of famine deaths in the Soviet Union, not all of which were
recorded. We have Stalin’s letters to his closest comrades, Hitler’s table
talk, Himmler’s datebook, and much else. Insofar as a book like this one is
possible at all, it is thanks to the achievements of other historians, to their
use of such sources and countless others. Although certain discussions in
this book draw from my own archival work, the tremendous debt to
colleagues and earlier generations of historians will be evident in its pages
and the notes.

Throughout, the work will recall the voices of the victims themselves,
and those of their friends and families. It will cite the perpetrators as well,
those who killed and those who ordered the killing. It will also call as
witnesses a small group of European writers: Anna Akhmatova, Hannah
Arendt, Józef Czapski, Günter Grass, Vasily Grossman, Gareth Jones,
Arthur Koestler, George Orwell, and Alexander Weissberg. (It will also
follow the career of two diplomats: the American Russia specialist George
Kennan, who found himself in Moscow at crucial moments; and the
Japanese spy Chiune Sugihara, who took part in the policies that Stalin saw
as justifying mass terror, and then saved Jews from Hitler’s Holocaust.)
Some of these writers recorded one policy of mass killing; others, two or
even more. Some of them provided lucid analyses, others jarring
comparisons, others unforgettable images. What they have in common is a
sustained attempt to view Europe between Hitler and Stalin, often in
disregard of the taboos of their day.

In a comparison of the Soviet and Nazi regimes, the political theorist
Hannah Arendt wrote in 1951 that factuality itself “depends for its



continued existence upon the existence of the nontotalitarian world.” The
American diplomat George Kennan made the same point in simpler words
in Moscow in 1944: “here men determine what is true and what is false.”

Is truth nothing more than a convention of power, or can truthful
historical accounts resist the gravity of politics? Nazi Germany and the
Soviet Union sought to master history itself. The Soviet Union was a
Marxist state, whose leaders proclaimed themselves to be scientists of
history. National Socialism was an apocalyptic vision of total
transformation, to be realized by men who believed that will and race could
slough off the burden of the past. The twelve years of Nazi and the seventy-
four years of Soviet power certainly weigh heavily on our ability to
evaluate the world. Many people believe that the crimes of the Nazi regime
were so great as to stand outside history. This is a troubling echo of Hitler’s
own belief that will triumphs over facts. Others maintain that the crimes of
Stalin, though horrible, were justified by the need to create or defend a
modern state. This recalls Stalin’s view that history has only one course,
which he understood, and which legitimates his policies in retrospect.

Without a history built and defended upon an entirely different
foundation, we will find that Hitler and Stalin continue to define their own
works for us. What might that basis be? Although this study involves
military, political, economic, social, cultural, and intellectual history, its
three fundamental methods are simple: insistence that no past event is
beyond historical understanding or beyond the reach of historical inquiry;
reflection upon the possibility of alternative choices and acceptance of the
irreducible reality of choice in human affairs; and orderly chronological
attention to all of the Stalinist and Nazi policies that killed large numbers of
civilians and prisoners of war. Its form arises not from the political
geography of empires but from the human geography of victims. The
bloodlands were no political territory, real or imagined; they are simply
where Europe’s most murderous regimes did their most murderous work.

For decades, national history—Jewish, Polish, Ukrainian, Belarusian,
Russian, Lithuanian, Estonian, Latvian—has resisted the Nazi and Soviet
conceptualizations of the atrocities. The history of the bloodlands has been
preserved, often intelligently and courageously, by dividing the European
past into national parts, and then by keeping these parts from touching one
another. Yet attention to any single persecuted group, no matter how well



executed as history, will fail as an account of what happened in Europe
between 1933 and 1945. Perfect knowledge of the Ukrainian past will not
produce the causes of the famine. Following the history of Poland is not the
best way to understand why so many Poles were killed in the Great Terror.
No amount of knowledge of Belarusian history can make sense of the
prisoner-of-war camps and the anti-partisan campaigns that killed so many
Belarusians. A description of Jewish life can include the Holocaust, but not
explain it. Often what happened to one group is intelligible only in light of
what had happened to another. But that is just the beginning of the
connections. The Nazi and Soviet regimes, too, have to be understood in
light of how their leaders strove to master these lands, and saw these groups
and their relationships to one another.

Today there is widespread agreement that the mass killing of the
twentieth century is of the greatest moral significance for the twenty-first.
How striking, then, that there is no history of the bloodlands. Mass killing
separated Jewish history from European history, and east European history
from west European history. Murder did not make the nations, but it still
conditions their intellectual separation, decades after the end of National
Socialism and Stalinism. This study brings the Nazi and Soviet regimes
together, and Jewish and European history together, and the national
histories together. It describes the victims, and the perpetrators. It discusses
the ideologies and the plans, and the systems and the societies. This is a
history of the people killed by the policies of distant leaders. The victims’
homelands lay between Berlin and Moscow; they became the bloodlands
after the rise of Hitler and Stalin.



INTRODUCTION
HITLER AND STALIN

The origins of the Nazi and the Soviet regimes, and of their encounter in the
bloodlands, lie in the First World War of 1914-1918. The war broke the old
land empires of Europe, while inspiring dreams of new ones. It replaced the
dynastic principle of rule by emperors with the fragile idea of popular
sovereignty. It showed that millions of men would obey orders to fight and
die, for causes abstract and distant, in the name of homelands that were
already ceasing to be or only coming into being. New states were created
from virtually nothing, and large groups of civilians were moved or
eliminated by the application of simple techniques. More than a million
Armenians were killed by Ottoman authorities. Germans and Jews were
deported by the Russian Empire. Bulgarians, Greeks, and Turks were
exchanged among national states after the war. Just as important, the war
shattered an integrated global economy. No adult European alive in 1914
would ever see the restoration of comparable free trade; most European
adults alive in 1914 would not enjoy comparable levels of prosperity during
the rest of their lives.

The essence of the First World War was the armed conflict between, on
the one side, the German Empire, the Habsburg monarchy, the Ottoman
Empire, and Bulgaria (“the Central Powers”) and, on the other side, France,
the Russian Empire, Great Britain, Italy, Serbia, and the United States (“the
Entente Powers”). The victory of the Entente Powers in 1918 brought an
end to three European land empires: the Habsburg, German, and Ottoman.
By the terms of the postwar settlements of Versailles, St. Germain, Sèvres,
and Trianon, multinational domains were replaced by national states, and
monarchies by democratic republics. The European great powers that were
not destroyed by the war, Britain and especially France, were substantially
weakened. Among the victors, the illusion after 1918 was that life might
somehow return to its course before the war. Among the revolutionaries
who hoped to lead the defeated, the dream was that the bloodshed could
legitimate further radical transformations, which could impart meaning to
the war and undo its damage.



The most important political vision was that of communist utopia. At
war’s end, it had been seventy years since Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels
had penned their most famous lines: “Workers of the World Unite!”
Marxism had inspired generations of revolutionaries with a summons to
political and moral transformation: an end of capitalism and the conflict that
private property was thought to bring, and its replacement by a socialism



that would liberate the working masses and restore to all of humanity an
unspoiled soul. For Marxists, historical progress followed from a struggle
between rising and falling classes, groups made and remade by changes in
the modes of economic production. Each dominant political order was
challenged by new social groups formed by new economic techniques. The
modern class struggle was between those who owned factories and those
who worked in them. Accordingly, Marx and Engels anticipated that
revolutions would begin in the more advanced industrial countries with
large working classes, such as Germany and Great Britain.

By disrupting the capitalist order and weakening the great empires, the
First World War brought an obvious opportunity to revolutionaries. Most
Marxists, however, had by then grown accustomed to working within
national political systems, and chose to support their governments in time
of war. Not so Vladimir Lenin, a subject of the Russian Empire and the
leader of the Bolsheviks. His voluntarist understanding of Marxism, the
belief that history could be pushed onto the proper track, led him to see the
war as his great chance. For a voluntarist such as Lenin, assenting to the
verdict of history gave Marxists a license to issue it themselves. Marx did
not see history as fixed in advance but as the work of individuals aware of
its principles. Lenin hailed from largely peasant country, which lacked,
from a Marxist perspective, the economic conditions for revolution. Once
again, he had a revolutionary theory to justify his revolutionary impulse. He
believed that colonial empires had granted the capitalist system an extended
lease on life, but that a war among empires would bring a general
revolution. The Russian Empire crumbled first, and Lenin made his move.

The suffering soldiers and impoverished peasants of the Russian Empire
were in revolt in early 1917. After a popular uprising had brought down the
Russian monarchy that February, a new liberal regime sought to win the
war by one more military offensive against its enemies, the German Empire
and the Habsburg monarchy. At this point Lenin became the secret weapon
of Germany. The Germans dispatched Lenin from Swiss exile to the
Russian capital Petrograd that April, to make a revolution that would take
Russia from the war. With the help of his charismatic ally Leon Trotsky and
his disciplined Bolsheviks, Lenin achieved a coup d’état with some popular
support in November. In early 1918, Lenin’s new government signed a
peace treaty with Germany that left Belarus, Ukraine, the Baltics, and



Poland under German control. Thanks in part to Lenin, Germany won the
war on the eastern front, and had a brief taste of eastern empire.

Lenin’s peace came at the price of German colonial rule of what had been
the west of the Russian Empire. But surely, reasoned the Bolsheviks, the
German Empire would soon collapse along with the rest of the oppressive
capitalist system, and Russian and other revolutionaries could spread their
new order westward, to these terrains and beyond. The war, Lenin and
Trotsky argued, would bring inevitable German defeat on the western front
and then a workers’ revolution within Germany itself. Lenin and Trotsky
justified their own Russian revolution to themselves and other Marxists by
their expectation of imminent proletarian revolt in the more industrial lands
of central and western Europe. In late 1918 and in 1919, it seemed as if
Lenin just might be right. The Germans were indeed defeated by the
French, British, and Americans on the western front in autumn 1918, and so
had to withdraw—undefeated—from their new eastern empire. German
revolutionaries began scattered attempts to take power. The Bolsheviks
picked up the spoils in Ukraine and Belarus.

The collapse of the old Russian Empire and the defeat of the old German
Empire created a power vacuum in eastern Europe, which the Bolsheviks,
try as they might, could not fill. While Lenin and Trotsky deployed their
new Red Army in civil wars in Russia and Ukraine, five lands around the
Baltic Sea—Finland, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and Poland—became
independent republics. After these losses of territory, the Russia of the
Bolsheviks was less westerly than the Russia of the tsars. Of these new
independent states, Poland was more populous than the rest combined, and
strategically by far the most important. More than any of the other new
states that came into being at war’s end, Poland changed the balance of
power in eastern Europe. It was not large enough to be a great power, but it
was large enough to be a problem for any great power with plans of
expansion. It separated Russia from Germany, for the first time in more
than a century. Poland’s very existence created a buffer to both Russian and
German power, and was much resented in Moscow and Berlin.



Poland’s ideology was its independence. There had been no Polish state
since the late eighteenth century, when the Polish-Lithuanian
Commonwealth had been partitioned out of existence by its imperial
neighbors. Polish politics had continued under imperial rule throughout the
nineteenth century, and the idea of a Polish nation had, if anything,
consolidated. The declaration of Polish independence in November 1918



was only possible because all three of the partitioning powers—the
German, Habsburg, and Russian Empires—disappeared after war and
revolution. This great historical conjuncture was exploited by a Polish
revolutionary, Józef Piłsudski. A socialist in his youth, Piłsudski had
become a pragmatist capable of cooperating with one empire against the
others. When all of the empires collapsed, he and his followers, already
organized into military legions during the war, were in the best position to
declare and defend a Polish state. Piłsudski’s great political rival, the
nationalist Roman Dmowski, made Poland’s case to the victorious powers
in Paris. The new Poland was founded as a democratic republic. Endorsed
by the victorious Entente Powers, Warsaw could count on a more or less
favorable boundary with Germany, to the west. But the question of Poland’s
eastern border was open. Because the Entente had won no war on the
eastern front, it had no terms to impose in eastern Europe.

In 1919 and 1920, the Poles and the Bolsheviks fought a war for the
borderlands between Poland and Russia that was decisive for the European
order. The Red Army had moved into Ukraine and Belarus as the Germans
had withdrawn, but these gains were not acknowledged by the Polish
leadership. Piłsudski saw these lands between as independent political
subjects whose history was linked to that of Poland, and whose leaders
should wish to restore some version of the old Commonwealth in Belarus
and Lithuania. He hoped that Polish armies, supported by Ukrainian allies,
could help create an independent Ukrainian state. Once the Bolsheviks had
brought Ukraine under control in 1919, and halted a Polish offensive there
in spring 1920, Lenin and Trotsky thought that they would bring their own
revolution to Poland, using the bayonet to inspire workers to fulfill their
historical role. After Poland’s fall, German comrades, assisted by the new
Red Army, would bring to bear Germany’s vast resources to save the
Russian revolution. But the Soviet forces on their way to Berlin were halted
by the Polish Army at Warsaw in August 1920.

Piłsudski led a counterattack that drove the Red Army back into Belarus
and Ukraine. Stalin, a political officer with the Red Army in Ukraine, was
among the defeated. His own misjudgments there prevented the proper
coordination of Bolshevik forces, leaving the Red Army vulnerable to
Piłsudski’s maneuver. The Polish military victory did not mean the
destruction of Bolshevik power: Polish troops were too exhausted to march



on Moscow, and Polish society too divided to support such an adventure. In
the end, territories inhabited by Belarusians and Ukrainians were divided
between Bolshevik Russia and Poland. Poland was thus established as a
multinational state, its population perhaps two-thirds Polish reckoned by
language, but including some five million Ukrainians, three million Jews,
one million Belarusians, and somewhere between half a million and a
million Germans. Poland was constitutionally a state “for the Polish
nation,” but it held the largest population of Jews in Europe and the second-
largest (after Bolshevik Russia) population of Ukrainians and Belarusians.
It shared all three of its large national minorities—the Jews, the Ukrainians,
and the Belarusians—with its eastern neighbor.

As east European borders were being decided on the battlefields of
Ukraine, Belarus, and Poland, the victors in the First World War were
dictating terms in central and western Europe. While Poland and the
Bolsheviks were fighting on what had been the eastern front of the First
World War, defeated Germany sought to present a pacific face to the
victors. Germany declared itself a republic, the better to negotiate terms
with the French, British, and Americans. Its major Marxist party, the Social
Democrats, rejected the Bolshevik example and made no revolution in
Germany. Most German social democrats had been loyal to the German
Empire during the war, and now saw the declaration of a German republic
as progress. But these moderating choices helped Germany little. The
postwar settlements were dictated rather than discussed; in violation of long
European tradition, the defeated were denied a place at the table at the Paris
peace talks. The German government had no choice but to sign the Treaty
of Versailles of June 1919, but few German politicians felt bound to defend
its terms.

Because the treaty was drafted by moralizing victors, it could easily be
attacked as hypocritical. While fighting a war against continental empires,
the Entente Powers had declared themselves to be supporters of the
liberation of the nations of central Europe. The Americans in particular
characterized their participation in the war as a crusade for national self-
determination. But the French, who had suffered more than any power,
wanted the Germans punished and France’s allies rewarded. The Treaty of
Versailles indeed contradicted the very principle for which the Entente
Powers had claimed to fight the war: national self-determination. At



Versailles, as at Trianon (June 1920) and Sèvres (August 1920), the peoples
considered allies by the Entente (Poles, Czechs, Romanians) got more
territory and accordingly more numerous ethnic minorities within their
frontiers. The nations considered enemies (Germans, Hungarians,
Bulgarians) got less territory and accordingly larger diasporas of their own
people within the borders of other states.

The Polish-Bolshevik War was fought in the period between the opening
of discussions at Versailles and the signing of the treaty at Sèvres. Because
Europe was still at war in the east while these treaties were being negotiated
and signed in the west, the new postwar order was a bit ethereal. It seemed
vulnerable to revolution from the left, inspired or even brought by the
Bolsheviks. So long as the Polish-Bolshevik war was underway,
revolutionaries in Germany could imagine that help was coming from the
Red Army. The new German republic also seemed vulnerable to revolution
from the right. German soldiers returning from the eastern front, where they
had been victorious, saw no reason to accede to what they regarded as the
humiliation of their homeland by the new republic and the Treaty of
Versailles that it had signed. Many veterans joined right-wing militias,
which fought against left-wing revolutionaries. The German social
democratic government, in the belief that it had no alternative, used some of
the right-wing militias to suppress communist attempts at revolution.

The Polish victory over the Red Army at Warsaw in August 1920 brought
an end to hopes for a European socialist revolution. The treaty between
Poland and Bolshevik Russia signed in Riga in March 1921 was the true
completion of the postwar settlement. It established Poland’s eastern border,
ensured that divided Ukrainian and Belarusian lands would be a bone of
contention for years to come, and made of Bolshevism a state ideology
rather than an armed revolution. The Soviet Union, when established the
following year, would be a state with borders—in that respect, at least, a
political entity like others. The end of large-scale armed conflict was also
the end of hopes on the Right that revolution could lead to
counterrevolution. Those who wished to overturn the new German republic,
whether from the Far Right or the Far Left, would have to count on their
own forces. German social democrats would remain supporters of the
republic, while German communists would praise the Soviet model and
follow the Soviet line. They would take their instructions from the



Communist International, established by Lenin in 1919. The German Far
Right would have to reimagine the end of the postwar order as a goal of
Germany alone, to be achieved after Germany itself was rebuilt and remade.

The rebuilding of Germany seemed more difficult than it really was.
Germany, blamed for the war, lost not only territory and population but the
right to normal armed forces. It suffered in the early 1920s from
hyperinflation and political chaos. Even so, Germany remained, at least
potentially, the most powerful country in Europe. Its population was second
only to that of the Soviet Union, its industrial potential second to none, its
territory unoccupied during the war, and its possibilities for expansion
sketched implicitly in the logic of the peace settlements. Once the fighting
in Europe had ceased, the German government quickly found common
ground with the Soviet Union. After all, both Berlin and Moscow wanted to
change the European order at the expense of Poland. Each wished to be less
isolated in international politics. Thus it was a democratic German
government that signed the Treaty of Rapallo with the Soviet Union in
1922, restoring diplomatic relations, easing trade, and inaugurating secret
military cooperation.

For many Germans, self-determination was both persecution and
promise. About ten million speakers of the German language, former
subjects of the Habsburg monarchy, remained beyond Germany’s borders.
Some three million such people inhabited the northwestern rim of
Czechoslovakia, right at the border of Czechoslovakia and Germany. There
were more Germans in Czechoslovakia than there were Slovaks. Almost the
entire population of Austria, resting between Czechoslovakia and Germany,
were German speakers. Austria was nevertheless required by the Treaty of
St. Germain to exist as a separate state, although much of its population
would have preferred accession to Germany. Adolf Hitler, the leader of the
National Socialist German Workers Party established in 1920, was an
Austrian and an advocate of an Anschluss: a unification of Austria and
Germany. Such goals of national unity, dramatic as they were, actually
concealed the full measure of Hitler’s ambitions.

Later, Hitler would be the German chancellor who signed the treaty with
the Soviet Union that divided Poland. In taking this step, he would be
taking to an extreme an idea that many Germans held: that Poland’s borders
were illegitimate and its people unworthy of statehood. Where Hitler stood



apart from other German nationalists was in his view of what must come
next, after the unification of Germans within Germany and the mastery of
Poland: the elimination of the European Jews, and the destruction of the
Soviet Union. Along the way Hitler would offer friendship to both Poland
and the Soviet Union, and disguise his more radical intentions from
Germans until it was too late. But the catastrophic visions were present in
National Socialism from the beginning.
 

When the cataclysm of war finally ended in eastern Europe in 1921, Lenin
and his revolutionaries had to regroup and think. Deprived by the Poles of
their European triumph, the Bolsheviks had no choice but to douse the
revolutionary conflagration and build some sort of socialist state. Lenin and
his followers took for granted that they should hold power; indeed, the
failure of the European revolution became their justification for
extraordinary aspirations to political control. Power had to be centralized so
that the revolution could be completed, and so that it could be defended
from its capitalist enemies. They quickly banned other political parties and
terrorized political rivals, dismissing them as reactionary. They lost the only
competitive elections that they held, and so held no others. The Red Army,
though defeated in Poland, was more than sufficient to defeat all armed
rivals on the territory of the old empire. The Bolsheviks’ secret service,
known as the Cheka, killed thousands of people in the service of the
consolidation of the new Soviet state.

It was easier to triumph in violence that it was to make a new order.
Marxism was of only limited help as a program for a multicultural country
of peasants and nomads. Marx had assumed that revolution would come
first to the industrial world, and had devoted only sporadic attention to the
peasant question and the national question. Now the peasants of Russia,
Ukraine, and Belarus and the nomads of Central Asia would have to
somehow be induced to build socialism for a working class that was
concentrated in Russian-speaking cities. The Bolsheviks had to transform
the preindustrial society that they had inherited in order to build the
industrial society which history had not yet brought; only then could they
alter that industrial society so that it favored workers.

The Bolsheviks had first to perform the constructive work of capitalism
before they could really begin the transformative work of socialism. As the



state created industry, they decided, it would draw members of the Soviet
Union’s countless cultures into a larger political loyalty that would
transcend any national difference. The mastery of both peasants and nations
was a grand ambition indeed, and the Bolsheviks concealed its major
implication: that they were the enemies of their own peoples, whether
defined by class or by nation. They believed that the society that they
governed was historically defunct, a bookmark to be removed before a page
was turned.

To consolidate their power when the war was over, and to gain loyal
cadres for the economic revolution to come, the Bolsheviks had to make
some compromises. Nations under their control would not be allowed
independent statehood, of course, but nor were they condemned to oblivion.
Though Marxists generally thought that the appeal of nationalism would
decline with modernization, the Bolsheviks decided to recruit the nations,
or at least their elites, to their own campaign to industrialize the Soviet
Union. Lenin endorsed the national identity of the non-Russian peoples.
The Soviet Union was an apparent federation of Russia with neighboring
nations. Policies of preferential education and hiring were to gain the
loyalty and trust of non-Russians. Themselves subjects of one and then
rulers of another multinational state, the Bolsheviks were capable of subtle
reasoning and tact on the national question. The leading revolutionaries
themselves were far from being Russians in any simple way. Lenin,
regarded and remembered as Russian, was also of Swedish, German,
Jewish, and Kalmyk background; Trotsky was Jewish, and Stalin was
Georgian.

The nations were to be created in a new communist image; the peasants
were to be consoled until they could be overcome. The Bolsheviks made a
compromise with their rural population that they knew, and the peasants
feared, was only temporary. The new Soviet regime allowed peasants to
keep land that they had seized from their former landlords, and to sell their
produce on the market. The disruptions of war and revolution had brought
desperate food shortages; the Bolsheviks had requisitioned grain to the
benefit of themselves and of those loyal to them. Several million people
died of hunger and related diseases in 1921 and 1922. The Bolsheviks
learned from this experience that food was a weapon. Yet once the conflict
was over, and the Bolsheviks had won, they needed reliable food supplies.



They had promised their people peace and bread, and would have to deliver
a minimum of both, at least for a time.

Lenin’s state was a political holding action for an economic revolution
still to come. His Soviet polity recognized nations, although Marxism
promised a world without them; and his Soviet economy permitted a
market, although communism promised collective ownership. When Lenin
died in January 1924, debates were already underway about when and how
these transitional compromises should yield to a second revolution. And it
was precisely discussion, in the new Soviet order, that determined the fate
of the Soviet population. From Lenin the Bolsheviks had inherited the
principle of “democratic centralism,” a translation of Marxist historiosophy
into bureaucratic reality. Workers represented the forward flow of history;
the disciplined communist party represented the workers; the central
committee represented the party; the politburo, a group of a few men,
represented the central committee. Society was subordinate to the state
which was controlled by party which in practice was ruled by a few people.
Disputes among members of this small group were taken to represent not
politics but rather history, and their outcomes were presented as its verdict.



Stalin’s interpretation of Lenin’s legacy was to be decisive. When Stalin
spoke of “socialism in one country” in 1924, he meant that the Soviet
Union would have to build its worker’s paradise without much help from
the workers of the world, who had not united. Though communists
disagreed about the priorities of agricultural policy, all took for granted that
the Soviet countryside would soon have to finance its own destruction. But



where to find the initial capital for the traumatic transition from an agrarian
to an industrial economy? A way would have to be found to extract a
“surplus” from the peasant, which could be sold for the foreign currency
needed to import machinery—and used to fill the bellies of a growing
working class. In 1927, as state investment shifted decisively in favor of
industry, this discussion entered the critical phase.

The debate over modernization was, above all, a duel between Trotsky
and Stalin. Trotsky was the most accomplished of Lenin’s comrades; Stalin,
however, had been placed in charge of the party bureaucracy as general
secretary of the Communist Party of the Soviet Union (Bolsheviks). Stalin’s
control of personnel and his practical genius in committee meetings brought
him to the top. He did not dazzle in theoretical discussions, but he knew
how to assemble a coalition. Within the politburo, he allied first with those
who favored a slower course of economic transformation and eliminated
those who seemed more radical; then he radicalized his own position and
purged his previous allies. By the end of 1927, his former rivals from the
Left—Trotsky, Grigory Zinoviev, and Lev Kamenev—had been expelled
from the party. By the end of 1929, Stalin had associated himself with the
policies of those purged rivals, and rid himself of his main ally on the Right,
Nikolai Bukharin. Like Zinoviev and Kamenev, Bukharin remained in the
Soviet Union, stripped of his previous authority. Stalin found loyal
supporters within the politburo, notably Lazar Kaganovich and Viacheslav
Molotov. Trotsky left the country.

Dexterous though he was in defining Soviet policy, Stalin now had to
ensure that it fulfilled its promise. By 1928, by the terms of his first Five-
Year Plan, Stalin proposed to seize farmland, force the peasants to work it
in shifts under state control, and treat the crops as state property—a policy
of “collectivization.” Land, equipment, and people would all belong to the
same collective farm, large entities that would (it was assumed) produce
more efficiently. Collective farms would be organized around Machine
Tractor Stations, which would distribute modern equipment and house the
political agitators. Collectivization would allow the state to control
agricultural output, and thus feed its workers and keep their support, and to
export to foreign countries and win some hard currency for investment in
industry.



To make collectivization seem inevitable, Stalin had to weaken the free
market and replace it with state planning. His ally Kaganovich proclaimed
in July 1928 that peasants were engaging in a “grain strike,” and that
requisitioning their crops was the only solution. Once peasants saw that
their produce could be taken, they hid it rather than selling it. Thus the
market appeared even more unreliable—although the state was really to
blame. Stalin could then argue, as he did, that market spontaneity was the
fundamental problem, and that the state had to control food supplies.

The coming of the Great Depression seemed to prove Stalin right about
the unreliability of the market. On Black Tuesday, 29 October 1929, the
American stock market crashed. On 7 November 1929, the twelfth
anniversary of the Bolshevik Revolution, Stalin described the socialist
alternative to the market that his policies would quickly bring to the Soviet
Union. He promised that 1930 would be “the year of the great
transformation,” when collectivization would bring security and prosperity.
The old countryside would cease to exist. Then the revolution could be
completed in the cities, where the proletariat would grow great on food
produced by the pacified peasantry. These workers would create the first
socialist society in history, and a powerful state that could defend itself
from foreign enemies. As Stalin made his case for modernization, he was
also staking his claim to power.
 

While Stalin worked, Hitler inspired. Whereas Stalin was institutionalizing
a revolution and thereby assuring himself a place at the top of a one-party
state, Hitler made his political career by rejecting the institutions around
him. The Bolsheviks inherited a tradition of debate-then-discipline from
years of illegal work in the Russian Empire. The National Socialists (Nazis)
had no meaningful traditions of discipline or conspiracy. Like the
Bolsheviks, the Nazis rejected democracy, but in the name of a Leader who
could best express the will of the race, not in the name of a Party that
understood the dictates of history. The world order was not made by
capitalist imperialists, as the Bolsheviks believed, but rather by
conspiratorial Jews. The problem with the modern society was not that the
accumulation of property led to the domination of a class; the problem was
that Jews controlled both finance capitalism and communism, and thus
America, Great Britain, and the Soviet Union. Communism was just a



Jewish fairy tale of impossible equality, designed to bring naive Europeans
under Jewish thrall. The answer to heartless Jewish capitalism and
communism could only be national socialism, which meant justice for
Germans at the expense of others.

Nazis tended to emphasize, in the democratic years of the 1920s, what
they had in common with other Germans. Hitler’s National Socialists were
like most other German parties of the 1920s in their revulsion at the terms
of the Treaty of Versailles. The Nazis had a certain obsession with their
manifest destiny in the East: where German soldiers had been victorious in
the field in the First World War, and where Germany had ruled a large
occupation zone in Poland, Belarus, Ukraine, and the Baltic region in 1918.
Unlike European rivals such as France and Great Britain, Germany had no
vast world empire; it had surrendered its modest overseas possessions after
losing the war. Thus the east European frontier beckoned all the more. The
Soviet Union, seen as an illegitimate and oppressive Jewish regime, would
have to fall. Poland, which lay between Germany and its eastern destiny,
would have to be overcome along the way. It could not be a buffer to
German power: it would have to be either a weak ally or a defeated foe in
the coming wars for the east.

Hitler tried and failed to begin a German national revolution in Munich
in November 1923, which led to a brief spell in prison. Though the
substance of his National Socialism was his own creation, his coup d’état
was inspired by the success of the Italian fascists he admired. Benito
Mussolini had taken power in Italy the previous year after the “March on
Rome,” which Hitler imitated without success in Munich. Italian fascists,
like Hitler and his Nazis, offered the glorification of the national will over
the tedium of political compromise. Mussolini, and Hitler following him,
used the existence of the Soviet Union within domestic politics. While
admiring the discipline of Lenin and the model of the one-party state, both
men used the threat of a communist revolution as an argument for their own
rule. Though the two men differed in many respects, they both represented a
new kind of European Right, one which took for granted that communism
was the great enemy while imitating aspects of communist politics. Like
Mussolini, Hitler was an outstanding orator and the one dominant
personality in his movement. Hitler had little trouble regaining the
leadership of the Nazi party after his release from prison in December 1924.



Stalin rose to power in the second half of the 1920s in large measure
because of the cadres whom he appointed and could trust to support him.
Hitler drew support by way of personal charisma, and expected his
associates and supporters to devise policies and language that corresponded
to his rhetoric and imagination. Stalin interpreted Marxist thought as
necessary to hasten his rise and defend his policies, but at least until 1933
he was never free to interpret Marxism exactly as he liked. Hitler, on the
other hand, inspired others to do his practical thinking for him. In prison
Hitler had written the first volume of his biographical manifesto, Mein
Kampf (My Struggle). This and his other writings (especially his so-called
Second Book) expressed his plans clearly, but they were not part of a canon.
Stalin was at first constrained by what his comrades might do, and later
concerned by what they might say. Hitler never had to maintain even an
appearance of dialogue or consistency.

Hitler made a certain compromise with the German republic after his
release from prison. He practiced parliamentary politics as the leader of his
National Socialist party, if only as a means of spreading propaganda,
identifying enemies, and approaching the institutions of power. He tried to
stay out of prison, even as Nazi paramilitaries engaged in brawls with left-
wing enemies. In 1928, after the German economy had shown several
consecutive years of growth, the Nazis took only twelve seats in parliament,
with 2.6 percent of the votes cast. Then came the Great Depression, a
greater boon to Hitler than even to Stalin. The collapse of the German
economy summoned the specter of a communist revolution; both helped
Hitler come to power. The international economic crisis seemed to justify
radical change. The seeming possibility of a revolution led by the large
Communist Party of Germany generated fears that Hitler could channel
toward nationalism. In September 1930 the Nazis won 18 percent of the
vote and 107 seats—and then won the elections of July 1932, with no less
than 37 percent of the vote.

By 1932, German parliamentary elections were a demonstration of
popular support rather than a direct route to power, since democracy in
Germany existed only in form. For the previous two years, heads of
government (chancellors) had induced the president to issue decrees that
had the force of law. The parliament (Reichstag) convened only thirteen
times in 1932. Hitler was appointed chancellor in January 1933 with the



help of conservatives and nationalists who believed that they could use him
to keep the large German Left from power. To their surprise, Hitler called
snap elections, and used his new position to assert his party’s hegemony
over German society. When the results were announced on 5 March 1933,
the Nazis had defeated the social democrats and the communists in dramatic
fashion: with 43.9 percent of the vote, and 288 of 647 seats in the
Reichstag.

Hitler was remaking the German political system in spring 1933—at the
same time that Stalin was asserting his own personal authority in the Soviet
Union.

In 1933, the Soviet and Nazi governments shared the appearance of a
capacity to respond to the world economic collapse. Both radiated
dynamism at a time when liberal democracy seemed unable to rescue
people from poverty. Most governments in Europe, including the German
government before 1933, had believed that they had few means at their
disposal to address the economic collapse. The predominant view was that
budgets should be balanced and money supplies tightened. This, as we
know today, only made matters worse. The Great Depression seemed to
discredit the political response to the end of the First World War: free
markets, parliaments, nation-states. The market had brought disaster, no
parliament had an answer, and nation-states seemingly lacked the
instruments to protect their citizens from immiseration.

The Nazis and Soviets both had a powerful story about who was to blame
for the Great Depression (Jewish capitalists or just capitalists) and
authentically radical approaches to political economy. The Nazis and
Soviets not only rejected the legal and political form of the postwar order
but also questioned its economic and social basis. They reached back to the
economic and social roots of postwar Europe, and reconsidered the lives
and roles of the men and women who worked the land. In the Europe of the
1930s, peasants were still the majority in most countries, and arable soil
was a precious natural resource, bringing energy for economies still
powered by animals and humans. Calories were counted, but for rather
different reasons than they are counted now: economic planners had to
make sure that populations could be kept fed, alive, and productive.



Most of the states of Europe had no prospect of social transformation,
and thus little ability to rival or counter the Nazis and the Soviets. Poland
and other new east European states had tried land reform in the 1920s, but
their efforts had proven insufficient. Landlords lobbied to keep their
property, and banks and states were miserly with credit to peasants. The end
of democracy across the region (except in Czechoslovakia) at first brought
little new thinking on economic matters. Authoritarian regimes in Poland,
Hungary, and Romania had less hesitation about jailing opponents and
better recourse to fine phrases about the nation. But none seemed to have
much to offer in the way of a new economic policy during the Great
Depression.

In 1933, the Soviet and Nazi alternatives to democracy depended on their
rejection of simple land reform, now the discredited pabulum of the failed
democracies. Hitler and Stalin, for all of their many differences, presumed
that one root of the problem was the agricultural sector, and that the
solution was drastic state intervention. If the state could enact a radical
economic transformation, that would then undergird a new kind of political
system. The Stalinist approach, public since the beginning of Stalin’s Five-
Year Plan in 1928, was collectivization. Soviet leaders allowed peasants to
prosper in the 1920s, but took the peasants’ land away from them in the
early 1930s, in order to create collective farms where peasants would work
for the state.

Hitler’s answer to the peasant question was just as imaginative, and just
as well camouflaged. Before and even for a few years after he came to
power in 1933, it appeared that Hitler was concerned above all with the
German working class, and would address Germany’s lack of self-
sufficiency in foodstuffs by means of imports. A policy of rapid (and
illegal) rearmament removed German men from the unemployment rolls by
placing them in barracks or in arms factories. Public works programs began
a few months after Hitler came to power. It even appeared that the Nazis
would do less for German farmers than they had indicated. Though the Nazi
party program promised the redistribution of land from richer to poorer
farmers, this traditional version of land reform was quietly tabled after
Hitler became chancellor. Hitler pursued international agreements rather
than redistributive agrarian policy. He sought special trade arrangements
with east European neighbors, by which German industrial goods were in



effect exchanged for foodstuffs. Hitler’s agricultural policy of the 1930s
was a bit like Lenin’s of the 1920s: it was political preparation for a vision
of almost unimaginably radical economic change. Both National Socialism
and Soviet socialism baited peasants with the illusion of land reform, but
involved far more radical plans for their future.

The true Nazi agricultural policy was the creation of an eastern frontier
empire. The German agricultural question would be resolved not within
Germany but abroad: by taking fertile land from Polish and Soviet peasants
—who would be starved, assimilated, deported, or enslaved. Rather than
importing grain from the east, Germany would export its farmers to the
east. They would colonize the lands of Poland and the western Soviet
Union. Although Hitler spoke generally about the need for greater “living
space,” he never made quite clear to German farmers that he expected them
to migrate in large numbers to the east—any more than the Bolsheviks had
made clear to Soviet peasants that they expected them to concede their
property to the state. During collectivization in the early 1930s, Stalin
treated the campaign against his own peasants as a “war” for their grain;
Hitler counted on victory in a future war to feed Germany. The Soviet
program was made in the name of universal principles; the Nazi plan was
for massive conquest in eastern Europe for the benefit of a master race.
 

Hitler and Stalin rose to power in Berlin and Moscow, but their visions of
transformation concerned above all the lands between. Their utopias of
control overlapped in Ukraine. Hitler remembered the ephemeral German
eastern colony of 1918 as German access to the Ukrainian breadbasket.
Stalin, who had served his revolution in Ukraine shortly thereafter, regarded
the land in much the same way. Its farmland, and its peasants, were to be
exploited in the making of a modern industrial state. Hitler looked upon
collectivization as a disastrous failure, and presented it as proof of the
failure of Soviet communism as such. But he had no doubt that Germans
could make of Ukraine a land of milk and honey.

For both Hitler and Stalin, Ukraine was more than a source of food. It
was the place that would enable them to break the rules of traditional
economics, rescue their countries from poverty and isolation, and remake
the continent in their own image. Their programs and their power all
depended upon their control of Ukraine’s fertile soil and its millions of



agricultural laborers. In 1933, Ukrainians would died in the millions, in the
greatest artificial famine in the history of world. This was the beginning of
the special history of Ukraine, but not the end. In 1941 Hitler would seize
Ukraine from Stalin, and attempt to realize his own colonial vision
beginning with the shooting of Jews and the starvation of Soviet prisoners
of war. The Stalinists colonized their own country, and the Nazis colonized
occupied Soviet Ukraine: and the inhabitants of Ukraine suffered and
suffered. During the years that both Stalin and Hitler were in power, more
people were killed in Ukraine than anywhere else in the bloodlands, or in
Europe, or in the world.



CHAPTER 1
THE SOVIET FAMINES

Nineteen thirty-three was a hungry year in the Western world. The streets of
American and European cities teemed with men and women who had lost
their jobs, and grown accustomed to waiting in line for food. An
enterprising young Welsh journalist, Gareth Jones, saw unemployed
Germans in Berlin rally to the voice of Adolf Hitler. In New York he was
struck by the helplessness of the American worker, three years into the
Great Depression: “I saw hundreds and hundreds of poor fellows in single
file, some of them in clothes which once were good, all waiting to be
handed out two sandwiches, a doughnut, a cup of coffee and a cigarette.” In
Moscow, where Jones arrived that March, hunger in the capitalist countries
was cause for celebration. The Depression seemed to herald a world
socialist revolution. Stalin and his coterie boasted of the inevitable triumph
of the system they had built in the Soviet Union.1

Yet 1933 was also a year of hunger in the Soviet cities, especially in
Soviet Ukraine. In Ukraine’s cities—Kharkiv, Kiev, Stalino,
Dnipropetrovsk—hundreds of thousands of people waited each day for a
simple loaf of bread. In Kharkiv, the republic’s capital, Jones saw a new
sort of misery. People appeared at two o’clock in the morning to queue in
front of shops that did not open until seven. On an average day forty
thousand people would wait for bread. Those in line were so desperate to
keep their places that they would cling to the belts of those immediately in
front of them. Some were so weak from hunger that they could not stand
without the ballast of strangers. The waiting lasted all day, and sometimes
for two. Pregnant women and maimed war veterans had lost their right to
buy out of turn, and had to wait in line with the rest if they wanted to eat.
Somewhere in line a woman would wail, and the moaning would echo up
and down the line, so that the whole group of thousands sounded like a
single animal with an elemental fear.2

People in the cities of Soviet Ukraine were afraid of losing their place in
breadlines, and they were afraid of starving to death. They knew that the
city offered their only hope of nourishment. Ukrainian cities had grown
rapidly in the previous five years, absorbing peasants and making of them



workers and clerks. Ukrainian peasant sons and daughters, along with the
Jews, Poles, and Russians who had inhabited these cities for much longer,
were dependent upon food they obtained in shops. Their families in the
country had nothing. This was unusual. Normally in times of hunger city
dwellers will make for the countryside. In Germany or the United States the
farmers almost never went hungry, even during the Great Depression.
Workers and professionals in cities were reduced to selling apples, or
stealing them; but always somewhere, in the Altes Land or in Iowa, there
was an orchard, a silo, a larder. The city folk of Ukraine had nowhere to go,
no help to seek from the farms. Most had ration coupons that they would
need to present in order to get any bread. Ink on paper gave them what
chance to live that they had, and they knew it.3

The proof was all around. Starving peasants begged along the breadlines,
asking for crumbs. In one town, a fifteen-year-old girl begged her way to
the front of the line, only to be beaten to death by the shopkeeper. The city
housewives making the queues had to watch as peasant women starved to
death on the side-walks. A girl walking to and from school each day saw
the dying in the morning and the dead in the afternoon. One young
communist called the peasant children he saw “living skeletons.” A party
member in industrial Stalino was distressed by the corpses of the starved
that he found at his back door. Couples strolling in parks could not miss the
signs forbidding the digging of graves. Doctors and nurses were forbidden
from treating (or feeding) the starving who reached their hospitals. The city
police seized famished urchins from city streets to get them out of sight. In
Soviet Ukrainian cities policemen apprehended several hundred children a
day; one day in early 1933, the Kharkiv police had a quota of two thousand
to fill. About twenty thousand children awaited death in the barracks of
Kharkiv at any given time. The children pleaded with the police to be
allowed, at least, to starve in the open air: “Let me die in peace, I don’t
want to die in the death barracks.”4

Hunger was far worse in the cities of Soviet Ukraine than in any city in
the Western world. In 1933 in Soviet Ukraine, a few tens of thousands of
city dwellers actually died of starvation. Yet the vast majority of the dead
and dying in Soviet Ukraine were peasants, the very people whose labors
had brought what bread there was to the cities. The Ukrainian cities lived,
just, but the Ukrainian countryside was dying. City dwellers could not fail



to notice the destitution of peasants who, contrary to all seeming logic, left
the fields in search of food. The train station at Dnipropetrovsk was overrun
with starving peasants, too weak even to beg. On a train, Gareth Jones met a
peasant who had acquired some bread, only to have it confiscated by the
police. “They took my bread away from me,” he repeated over and over
again, knowing that he would disappoint his starving family. At the Stalino
station, a starving peasant killed himself by jumping in front of a train. That
city, the center of industry in southeastern Ukraine, had been founded in
imperial times by John Hughes, a Welsh industrialist for whom Gareth
Jones’s mother had worked. The city had once been named after Hughes;
now it was named after Stalin. (Today it is known as Donetsk.)5

Stalin’s Five-Year Plan, completed in 1932, had brought industrial
development at the price of popular misery. The deaths of peasants by
railways bore a frightful witness to these new contrasts. Throughout Soviet
Ukraine, rail passengers became unwitting parties to dreadful accidents.
Hungry peasants would make their way to the cities along railway lines,
only to faint from weakness on the tracks. At Khartsyszk, peasants who had
been chased away from the station hanged themselves on nearby trees. The
Soviet writer Vasily Grossman, returning from a family visit to his
hometown Berdychev, encountered a woman begging for bread at the
window of his train compartment. The political emigré Arthur Koestler,
who had come to the Soviet Union to help build socialism, had a similar
experience. As he recalled much later, outside Kharkiv station peasant
women held up “to the carriage windows horrible infants with enormous
wobbling heads, sticklike limbs, and swollen, pointed bellies.” He found
that the children of Ukraine looked like “embryos out of alcohol bottles.” It
would be many years before these two men, now regarded as two of the
moral witnesses of the twentieth century, wrote about what they had seen.6



City dwellers were more accustomed to the sight of peasants at the
marketplace, spreading their bounty and selling their wares. In 1933,
peasants made their way to familiar city markets, but now to beg rather than
to sell. Market squares, now empty of both goods and customers, conveyed
only the disharmonies of death. Early in the day the only sound was the soft
breathing of the dying, huddled under rags that had once been clothes. One
spring morning, amidst the piles of dead peasants at the Kharkiv market, an
infant suckled the breast of its mother, whose face was a lifeless grey.
Passersby had seen this before, not just the disarray of corpses, not just the
dead mother and the living infant, but that precise scene, the tiny mouth, the
last drops of milk, the cold nipple. The Ukrainians had a term for this. They
said to themselves, quietly, as they passed: “These are the buds of the
socialist spring.”7

The mass starvation of 1933 was the result of Stalin’s first Five-Year Plan,
implemented between 1928 and 1932. In those years, Stalin had taken
control of the heights of the communist party, forced through a policy of
industrialization and collectivization, and emerged as the frightful father of
a beaten population. He had transformed the market into the plan, farmers
into slaves, and the wastes of Siberia and Kazakhstan into a chain of



concentration camps. His policies had killed tens of thousands by
execution, hundreds of thousands by exhaustion, and put millions at risk of
starvation. He was still rightly concerned about opposition within the
communist party, but was possessed of immense political gifts, assisted by
willing satraps, and atop a bureaucracy that claimed to see and make the
future. That future was communism: which required heavy industry, which
in turn required collectivized agriculture, which in turn required control of
the largest social group in the Soviet Union, the peasantry.8

The peasant, perhaps especially the Ukrainian peasant, was unlikely to
see himself as a tool in this great mechanization of history. Even if he
understood entirely the final purposes of Soviet policy, which was very
unlikely, he could hardly endorse them. He was bound to resist a policy
designed to relieve him of his land and his freedom. Collectivization had to
mean a great confrontation between the largest group within Soviet society,
the peasantry, and the Soviet state and its police, then known as the OGPU.
Anticipating this struggle, Stalin had ordered in 1929 the most massive
deployment of state power in Soviet history. The labor of building
socialism, said Stalin, would be like “raising the ocean.” That December he
announced that “kulaks” would be “liquidated as a class.”9

The Bolsheviks presented history as a struggle of classes, the poorer
making revolutions against the richer to move history forward. Thus,
officially, the plan to annihilate the kulaks was not a simple decision of a
rising tyrant and his loyal retinue; it was a historical necessity, a gift from
the hand of a stern but benevolent Clio. The naked attack of organs of state
power upon a category of people who had committed no crime was
furthered by vulgar propaganda. One poster—under the title “We will
destroy the kulaks as a class!”—portrayed a kulak under the wheels of a
tractor, a second kulak as an ape hoarding grain, and a third sucking milk
directly from a cow’s teat. These people were inhuman, they were beasts—
so went the message. 10

In practice, the state decided who was a kulak and who was not. The
police were to deport prosperous farmers, who had the most to lose from
collectivization. In January 1930 the politburo authorized the state police to
screen the peasant population of the entire Soviet Union. The corresponding
OGPU order of 2 February specified the measures needed for “the



liquidation of the kulaks as a class.” In each locality, a group of three
people, or “troika,” would decide the fate of the peasants. The troika,
composed of a member of the state police, a local party leader, and a state
procurator, had the authority to issue rapid and severe verdicts (death, exile)
without the right to appeal. Local party members would often make
recommendations: “At the plenums of the village soviet,” one local party
leader said, “we create kulaks as we see fit.” Although the Soviet Union had
laws and courts, these were now ignored in favor of the simple decision of
three individuals. Some thirty thousand Soviet citizens would be executed
after sentencing by troikas.11

In the first four months of 1930, 113,637 people were forcibly
transported from Soviet Ukraine as kulaks. Such an action meant about
thirty thousand peasant huts emptied one after another, their surprised
inhabitants given little or no time to prepare for the unknown. It meant
thousands of freezing freight cars, filled with terrified and sick human
cargo, bound for destinations in northern European Russia, the Urals,
Siberia, or Kazakhstan. It meant gunshots and cries of terror at the last
dawn peasants would see at home; it meant frostbite and humiliation on the
trains, and anguish and resignation as peasants disembarked as slave
laborers on the taiga or the steppe.12

The Ukrainian peasantry knew about deportations to prison camps, which
had touched them from the mid-1920s onward. They now sang a lament
that was already traditional:

Oh Solovki, Solovki! 
 Such a long road 

 The heart cannot beat 
 Terror crushes the soul.

Solovki was a prison complex on an island in the Arctic Sea. In the
minds of Ukrainian peasants Solovki stood for all that was alien, repressive,
and painful in exile from the homeland. For the communist leadership of
the Soviet Union, Solovki was the first place where the labor of deportees
had been transformed into profit for the state. In 1929, Stalin had decided to
apply the model of Solovki across the entire Soviet Union, ordering the
construction of “special settlements” and concentration camps. The
concentration camps were demarcated zones of labor, usually surrounded



by fences and patrolled by guards. The special settlements were new
villages purpose-built by the inmates themselves, after they were dropped
on the empty steppe or taiga. All in all, some three hundred thousand
Ukrainians were among the 1.7 million kulaks deported to special
settlements in Siberia, European Russia, and Kazakhstan.13

Mass deportations of peasants for purposes of punishment coincided with
the mass use of forced labor in the Soviet economy. In 1931, the special
settlements and the concentration camps were merged into a single system,
known as the Gulag. The Gulag, which the Soviets themselves called a
“system of concentration camps,” began alongside the collectivization of
agriculture and depended upon it. It would eventually include 476 camp
complexes, to which some eighteen million people would be sentenced, of
whom between a million and a half and three million would die during their
periods of incarceration. The free peasant became the slave laborer,
engaged in the construction of the giant canals, mines, and factories that
Stalin believed would modernize the Soviet Union. 14

Among the labor camps, the Ukrainian peasant was most likely to be sent
to dig the Belomor, a canal between the White Sea and the Baltic Sea that
was a particular obsession of Stalin. Some 170,000 people dug through
frozen soil, with picks and shovels and sometimes with shards of pottery or
with their hands, for twenty-one months. They died by the thousand, from
exhaustion or disease, finding their end at the bottom of a dry canal that,
when completed in 1933, turned out to be of little practical use in water
transport. The death rates at the special settlements were also high. Soviet
authorities expected five percent of the prisoners in the special settlements
to die; in fact, the figure reached ten to fifteen percent. An inhabitant of
Archangelsk, the major city on the White Sea, complained of the
senselessness of the endeavor: “it is one thing to destroy the kulak in an
economic sense; to destroy their children in a physical sense is nothing
short of barbaric.” Children died in the far north in such numbers that “their
corpses are taken to the cemetery in threes and fours without coffins.” A
group of workers in Vologda questioned whether “the journey to world
revolution” had to pass “through the corpses of these children.”15

The death rates in the Gulag were high, but they were no higher than
those that would soon attend parts of the Ukrainian countryside. Workers at



the Belomor were given very poor food rations, some six hundred grams of
bread (about 1,300 calories) a day. Yet this was actually better nutrition than
what was available in Soviet Ukraine at about the same time. Forced
laborers at Belomor got twice or three times or six times as much as the
peasants who remained in Soviet Ukraine would get on the collective farms
in 1932 and 1933—when they got anything at all.16

 

In the first weeks of 1930, collectivization proceeded at a blinding pace in
Soviet Ukraine and throughout the Soviet Union. Moscow sent quotas of
districts to be collectivized to capitals of the Soviet republics, where party
leaders vowed to exceed them. The Ukrainian leadership promised to
collectivize the entire republic in one year. And then local party activists,
with an eye to impressing their own superiors, moved even more quickly,
promising collectivization in a matter of nine to twelve weeks. Threatening
deportation, they coerced peasants into signing away their claims to land
and joining the collective farm. The state police intervened with force, often
deadly force, when necessary. Twenty-five thousand workers were shipped
to the countryside to add numbers to police power and overmaster the
peasantry. Instructed that the peasants were responsible for food shortages
in the towns, workers promised to “make soap out of the kulak.”17

By the middle of March 1930, seventy-one percent of the arable land in
the Soviet Union had been, at least in principle, attached to collective farms.
This meant that most peasants had signed away their farms and joined a
collective. They no longer had any formal right to use land for their own
purposes. As members of a collective, they were dependent upon its leaders
for their employment, pay, and food. They had lost or were losing their
livestock, and would depend for their equipment upon the machinery,
usually lacking, of the new Machine Tractor Stations. These warehouses,
the centers of political control in the countryside, were never short on party
officials and state policemen.18

Perhaps even more so than in Soviet Russia, where communal farming
was traditional, in Soviet Ukraine peasants were terrified by the loss of their
land. Their whole history was one of a struggle with landlords, which they
seemed finally to have won during the Bolshevik Revolution. But in the
years immediately thereafter, between 1918 and 1921, the Bolsheviks had



requisitioned food from the peasants as they fought their civil wars. So
peasants had good reason to be wary of the Soviet state. Lenin’s
compromise policy of the 1920s had been very welcome, even if peasants
suspected, with good reason, that it might one day be reversed. In 1930,
collectivization seemed to them to be a “second serfdom,” the beginning of
a new bondage, now not to the wealthy landowners, as in recent history, but
to the communist party. Peasants in Soviet Ukraine feared the loss of their
hard-won independence; but they also feared starvation, and indeed for the
fate of their immortal souls. 19

The rural societies of Soviet Ukraine were still, for the most part,
religious societies. Many of the young and the ambitious, those swayed by
official communist atheism, had left for the big Ukrainian cities or for
Moscow or Leningrad. Though their Orthodox Church had been suppressed
by the atheist communist regime, the peasants were still Christian believers,
and many understood the contract with the collective farm as a pact with the
devil. Some believed that Satan had come to earth in human form as a party
activist, his collective farm register a book of hell, promising torment and
damnation. The new Machine Tractor Stations looked like the outposts of
Gehenna. Some Polish peasants in Ukraine, Roman Catholics, also saw
collectivization in apocalyptic terms. One Pole explained to his son why
they would not join the collective farm: “I do not want to sell my soul to the
devil.” Understanding this religiosity, party activists propagated what they
called Stalin’s First Commandment: the collective farm supplies first the
state, and only then the people. As the peasants would have known, the
First Commandment in its biblical form reads: “Thou shalt have no other
God before me.”20

Ukrainian villages had been deprived of their natural leaders by the
deportations of kulaks to the Gulag. Even without the deported kulaks,
peasants tried to rescue themselves and their communities. They tried to
preserve their own little plots, their small patches of autonomy. They
endeavored to keep their families away from the state, now physically
manifest in the collective farms and the Machine Tractor Stations. They
sold or slaughtered their livestock, rather than lose it to the collective.
Fathers and husbands sent daughters and wives to do battle with the party
activists and the police, believing that women were less likely to be



deported than men. Sometimes men dressed as women just for the chance to
put a hoe or a shovel into the body of a local communist.21

Crucially, though, the peasants had few guns, and poor organization. The
state had a near monopoly on firepower and logistics. Peasants’ actions
were recorded by a powerful state police apparatus, one that perhaps did not
understand their motives but grasped their general direction. The OGPU
noted almost one million acts of individual resistance in Ukraine in 1930.
Of the mass peasant revolts in the Soviet Union that March, almost half
took place in Soviet Ukraine. Some Ukrainian peasants voted with their
feet, walking westward, across the frontier into neighboring Poland. Whole
villages followed their example, taking up church banners, or crosses, or
sometimes just black flags tied to sticks, and marching westward toward the
border. Thousands of them reached Poland, where knowledge of famine
conditions in the Soviet Union spread.22

The flight of peasants to Poland was an international embarrassment and
perhaps a source of real concern for Stalin and the politburo. It meant that
Polish authorities, who at the time were trying to stage a political
rapprochement with their own large Ukrainian national minority, learned
about the course and consequences of collectivization. Polish border guards
patiently interviewed the refugees, gaining knowledge of the course and the
failure of collectivization. Some of the peasants begged for a Polish
invasion to halt their misery. The refugee crisis also provided Poland with a
major propaganda weapon to use against the Soviet Union. Under Józef
Piłsudski, Poland never planned an aggressive war against the Soviet
Union, but it did prepare contingency plans for the disintegration of the
Soviet Union along national lines, and did take some steps designed to
hasten such a course of events. Even as Ukrainians were fleeing Soviet
Ukraine, Poland was dispatching its own spies in the opposite direction, to
encourage the Ukrainians to revolt. Their propaganda posters called Stalin a
“Hunger Tsar” who exported grain while starving his own people. In March
1930, politburo members feared that “the Polish government might
intervene.”23

 

Collectivization was a general policy, the Soviet Union was a vast state, and
instability in one borderland had to be considered in light of general



scenarios for war.

Stalin and the Soviet leaders regarded Poland as the western part of an
international capitalist encirclement, and Japan as the eastern. Polish-
Japanese relations were rather good; and in spring 1930, Stalin seemed
most troubled by the specter of a joint Polish-Japanese invasion. The Soviet
Union, by far the largest country in the world, extended from Europe to the
Pacific Ocean, and Stalin had to attend not only to European powers but
also to the Asian ambitions of Japan.

Tokyo had made its military reputation at the expense of Russians. Japan
had emerged as a world power by defeating the Russian Empire in the
Russo-Japanese War of 1904-1905, seizing the railways built by the
Russians to reach Pacific ports. As Stalin well knew, both Poland and Japan
took an interest in Soviet Ukraine, and in the national question in the Soviet
Union. Stalin seemed to feel the history of Russian humiliation in Asia
quite deeply. He was fond of the song “On the Hills of Manchuria,” which
promised bloody vengeance upon the Japanese.24

So just as chaos brought by collectivization in the western Soviet Union
gave rise to fears of a Polish intervention, disorder in the eastern Soviet
Union seemed to favor Japan. In Soviet Central Asia, especially in largely
Muslim Soviet Kazakhstan, collectivization brought even greater chaos than
in Soviet Ukraine. It required an even more drastic social transformation.
The peoples of Kazakhstan were not peasants but nomads, and the first step



in Soviet modernization was to make them settle down. Before
collectivization could even begin, the nomadic populations had to become
farmers. The policy of “sedentarization” deprived the herdsmen of their
animals and thus of their means of supporting themselves. People rode their
camels or horses across the border into the Muslim Xinjiang (or Turkestan)
region of China, which suggested to Stalin that they might be agents of the
Japanese, the dominant foreign power amidst Chinese internal conflicts.25

All was not going as planned. Collectivization, which was supposed to
secure the Soviet order, seemed instead to destabilize the borderlands. In
Soviet Asia as in Soviet Europe, a Five-Year Plan that was supposed to
bring socialism had brought instead enormous suffering, and a state that
was supposed to represent justice responded with very traditional security
measures. Soviet Poles were deported from western border zones, and the
border guard was strengthened everywhere. The world revolution would
have to take place behind closed borders, and Stalin would have to take
steps to protect what he called “socialism in one country.”26

Stalin had to delay foreign adversaries and rethink domestic plans. He
asked Soviet diplomats to initiate discussions with Poland and Japan on
nonaggression pacts. He saw to it that the Red Army was ordered to full
battle readiness in the western Soviet Union. Most tellingly, Stalin
suspended collectivization. In an article dated 2 March 1930 under the
brilliant title “Dizzy with Success,” Stalin maintained that the problem with
collectivization was that it had been implemented with just a little too much
enthusiasm. It had been a mistake, he now asserted, to force the peasants to
join the collective farms. The latter now disappeared just as quickly as they
had been created. In spring 1930, peasants in Ukraine harvested the winter
wheat, and sowed the seeds for the autumn crops, just as if the land
belonged to them. They could be forgiven for thinking that they had won.27

 

Stalin’s withdrawal was tactical.

Given time to think, Stalin and the politburo found more effective means
to subordinate the peasantry to the state. In the countryside the following
year, Soviet policy preceded with much greater deftness. In 1931,
collectivization would come because peasants would no longer see a choice.
The lower cadres of the Ukrainian branch of the Soviet communist party



were purged, to ensure that those working within the villages would be true
to their purpose, and understand what would await them if they were not.
The independent farmer was taxed until the collective farm became the only
refuge. As the collective farms slowly regrouped, they were granted indirect
coercive power over neighboring independent farmers. They were allowed,
for example, to vote to take the seed grain away from independent farmers.
The seed grain, what is kept from one crop to plant the next, is
indispensible to any working farm. The selection and preservation of the
seed grain is the basis of agriculture. For most of human history, eating the
seed grain has been synonymous with utter desperation. An individual who
lost control of the seed grain to the collective lost the ability to live from his
or her own labor.28

Deportations resumed, and collectivization proceeded. In late 1930 and
early 1931, some 32,127 more households were deported from Soviet
Ukraine, about the same number of people as had been removed during the
first wave of deportations a year before. Peasants thought that they would
die either of exhaustion in the Gulag or of hunger close to home, and
preferred the latter. Letters from exiled friends and family occasionally
escaped the censor; one included the following advice: “No matter what,
don’t come. We are dying here. Better to hide, better to die there, but no
matter what, don’t come here.” Ukrainian peasants who yielded to
collectivization chose, as one party activist understood, “to face starvation
at home rather than banishment to the unknown.” Because collectivization
came more slowly in 1931, family by family rather than whole villages at
once, it was harder to resist. There was no sudden attack to provoke a
desperate defense. By the end of the year, the new approach had succeeded.
About seventy percent of the farmland in Soviet Ukraine was now
collectivized. The levels of March 1930 had been reached again, and this
time durably.29

 

After the false start of 1930, Stalin had won the political victory in 1931.
Yet the triumph in politics did not extend to economics. Something was
wrong with the grain yields. The harvest of 1930 had been wonderfully
bountiful. Farmers deported in early 1930 had sown their winter wheat
already, and that crop could be harvested by someone else that spring. The
months of January and February, when most of the country had been



collectivized on paper in 1930, is a time when farmers are idle in any case.
After March 1930, when the collectives were dissolved, peasants had the
time to put down their spring crops as free men and women. The weather
was unusually fine that summer. The crop of 1930 in Ukraine set a standard
that could not be met in 1931, even if collectivized agriculture were as
efficient as individual farming, which it was not. The bumper crop of 1930
provided the baseline number that the party used to plan requisitions for
1931. Moscow expected far more from Ukraine than Ukraine could
possibly give.30

By autumn 1931 the failure of the first collectivized harvest was obvious.
The reasons were many: the weather was poor; pests were a problem;
animal power was limited because peasants had sold or slaughtered
livestock; the production of tractors was far less than anticipated; the best
farmers had been deported; sowing and reaping were disrupted by
collectivization; and peasants who had lost their land saw no reason to work
very hard. The Ukrainian party leader, Stanisław Kosior, had reported in
August 1931 that requisition plans were unrealistic given low yields. Lazar
Kaganovich told him that the real problem was theft and concealment.
Kosior, though he knew better, enforced this line on his subordinates.31

More than half of the (nonspoiled) harvest was removed from Soviet
Ukraine in 1931. Many collective farms met their requisition targets only by
handing over their seed grain. Stalin ordered on 5 December that collective
farms that had not yet fulfilled their annual requirements must surrender
their seed grain. Stalin perhaps believed that peasants were hiding food, and
thought that the threat of taking the seed grain would motivate them to hand
over what they had. But by this time many of them truly had nothing. By
the end of 1931, many peasants were already going hungry. With no land of
their own and with little ability to resist requisitions, they simply had no
way to ensure that a sufficient number of calories reached their households.
Then in early 1932 they had no seed grain with which to plant the fall crop.
The Ukrainian party leadership asked for seed grain in March 1932, but by
that time the planting was already delayed, meaning that the harvest that fall
would be poor.32

In early 1932 people asked for help. Ukrainian communists requested
that their superiors in the Ukrainian party ask Stalin to call in the Red



Cross. Members of collective farms tried writing letters to state and party
authorities. One of these, after several paragraphs of formal administrative
prose, closed with the plaintive “Give us bread! Give us bread! Give us
bread!” Ukrainian party members bypassed Kosior and wrote directly to
Stalin, taking an angry tone: “How can we construct the socialist economy
when we are all doomed to death by hunger?”33

The threat of mass starvation was utterly clear to Soviet Ukrainian
authorities, and it became so to Stalin. Party activists and secret police
officers filed countless reports of death by starvation. In June 1932 the head
of the party in the Kharkiv region wrote to Kosior that starvation had been
reported in every single district of his region. Kosior received a letter from
a member of the Young Communists dated 18 June 1932, with a graphic
description that was probably, by then, all too familiar: “Collective farm
members go into the fields and disappear. After a few days their corpses are
found and, entirely without emotion, as though this were normal, buried in
graves. The next day one can already find the body of someone who had
just been digging graves for others.” That same day, 18 June 1932, Stalin
himself admitted, privately, that there was “famine” in Soviet Ukraine. The
previous day the Ukrainian party leadership had requested food aid. He did
not grant it. His response was that all grain in Soviet Ukraine must be
collected as planned. He and Kaganovich agreed that “it is imperative to
export without fail immediately.”34

Stalin knew perfectly well, and from personal observation, what would
follow. He knew that famine under Soviet rule was possible. Famine had
raged throughout Russia and Ukraine during and after the civil wars. A
combination of poor harvests and requisitions had brought starvation to
hundreds of thousands of peasants in Ukraine, especially in 1921. Scarcity
of food was one of the reasons Lenin had made his compromise with
peasants in the first place. Stalin was well aware of that history, in which he
had taken part. That Stalin’s own policy of collectivization could cause
mass starvation was also clear. By summer 1932, as Stalin knew, more than
a million people had already starved to death in Soviet Kazakhstan. Stalin
blamed the local party leader Filip Goloshchekin, but he must have
understood some of the structural issues.35

 



Stalin, a master of personal politics, presented the Ukrainian famine in
personal terms. His first impulse, and his lasting tendency, was to see the
starvation of Ukrainian peasants as a betrayal by members of the Ukrainian
communist party. He could not allow the possibility that his own policy of
collectivization was to blame; the problem must be in the implementation,
in the local leaders, anywhere but in the concept itself. As he pushed
forward with his transformation in the first half of 1932, the problem he
saw was not the suffering of his people but rather the possibility that the
image of his collectivization policy might be tarnished. Starving Ukrainian
peasants, he complained, were leaving their home republic and
demoralizing other Soviet citizens by their “whining.”36

Somewhat inchoately, Stalin seemed to think in spring and summer 1932
that if starvation could somehow just be denied then it would go away.
Perhaps he reasoned that Ukraine was in any case overpopulated, and that
the deaths of a few hundred thousand people would matter little in the long
run. He wanted local Ukrainian officials to meet grain procurement targets
despite the certain prospect of lower yields. Local party officials found
themselves between Stalin’s red hammer and the grim reaper’s sickle. The
problems they saw were objective and not soluble through ideology or
rhetoric: lack of seed grain, late sowing, poor weather, machinery
insufficient to replace animal labor, chaos from the final push toward
collectivization in late 1931, and hungry peasants unable to work.37

The world as local party activists had to see it, in the Ukrainian
countryside, was described far better by this Ukrainian children’s song than
by the terse orders and propaganda conceits coming from Moscow:

Father Stalin, look at this 
 Collective farming is just bliss 

 The hut’s in ruins, the barn’s all sagged 
 All the horses broken nags 

 And on the hut a hammer and sickle 
 And in the hut death and famine 

 No cows left, no pigs at all 
 Just your picture on the wall 

 Daddy and mommy are in the kolkhoz 
 The poor child cries as alone he goes 

 There’s no bread and there’s no fat 



The party’s ended all of that 
 Seek not the gentle nor the mild 

 A father’s eaten his own child 
 The party man he beats and stamps 

 And sends us to Siberian camps38

Around the local party activists was death, and above them was denial.
Starvation was a brute fact, indifferent to words and formulas, deportations
and shootings. Beyond a certain point, the starving peasant could no longer
productively work, and no amount of ideological correctness or personal
commitment could change this. Yet as this message traveled upward
through institutional channels it lost its force. True reports of hunger from
below met political pressure from the top at a Ukrainian party central
committee plenum of 6-9 July 1932 in Kharkiv. Ukrainian speakers
complained of the impossibility of meeting the annual targets for grain
requisitions. Yet they were silenced by Lazar Kaganovich and Viacheslav
Molotov, politburo members and Stalin’s emissaries from Moscow. Stalin
had instructed them to defeat the “Ukrainian destabilizers.”39

Molotov and Kaganovich were Stalin’s loyal and trusted allies, and with
him dominated the politburo and thus ruled the Soviet Union. Stalin was not
yet an unrivalled dictator, and the politburo was still in principle a kind of
collective dictatorship. Yet these two men, unlike some of his previous
allies in the politburo, were unconditionally loyal. Stalin manipulated them
ceaselessly, but he did not really have to. They served the revolution by
serving him, and tended not to distinguish between the two. Kaganovich
was already calling Stalin “our father.” In July 1932 in Kharkiv, they told
Ukrainian comrades that talk of starvation was just an excuse for laziness
on the part of peasants who did not wish to work and activists who did not
wish to discipline them and requisition grain.40

By this time, Stalin was on vacation, having traveled in a train well
stocked with fine provisions south from Moscow through the starving
Ukraine to the pretty resort town of Sochi on the Black Sea. He and
Kaganovich wrote to each other, confirming their shared view of the famine
as a plot directed against them personally. Stalin managed a nice reversal,
imagining that it was the peasants, not him, who were using hunger as a
weapon. Kaganovich reassured Stalin that talk of Ukrainians as “innocent



victims” was just a “rotten cover-up” for the Ukrainian party. Stalin
expressed his fear that “we could lose Ukraine.” Ukraine would have to be
made into a “fortress.” The two of them agreed that the only reasonable
approach was to hold tight to a policy of requisitions, and to export the
grain as quickly as possible. By now Stalin seemed to have worked out, at
least to his own satisfaction, the connection between starvation and the
disloyalty of Ukrainian communists: hunger was a result of sabotage, local
party activists were the saboteurs, treacherous higher party officials
protected their subordinates—all in the service of Polish espionage.41

 

Perhaps as late as 1931, Stalin might indeed have interpreted Polish and
Japanese policies as heralding an encirclement of the Soviet Union. The
year 1930 was a peak time for Polish espionage in the Soviet Union. Poland
had secretly founded a Ukrainian army on its own soil, and was training
dozens of Ukrainians and Poles for special missions inside the Soviet
Union. Japan was indeed ever more threatening. In 1931, the Soviets had
intercepted a note from the Japanese ambassador in Moscow, in which he
advocated preparations for an offensive war to conquer Siberia. That year
Japan had invaded Manchuria, a northeastern Chinese region with a long
border with Soviet Siberia.42

In fall 1931, according to a Soviet intelligence report, Poland and Japan
had signed a secret agreement concerning a joint attack on the Soviet
Union. This was not the case; and insofar as there had been an incipient
Polish-Japanese alliance, it was prevented by an adept Soviet foreign
policy. Though Japan had declined to negotiate a nonaggression pact with
Moscow, Poland had agreed. The Soviet Union wanted a treaty with Poland
so that its economic transformation could be pursued in peace; Poland never
had any intentions of starting a war, and was now experiencing economic
depression. Its largely unreformed agrarian economic system could not
support increasing military spending at a time of economic collapse. Soviet
military budgets, comparable to Poland’s for many years, were now far
greater. The Soviet-Polish agreement was initialed in January 1932.43

In 1932 and 1933, there could be no serious thought of Poland as a threat
by itself. The Polish army had suffered massive budget cuts. The Soviet
police and border guards had captured a large number of Polish spies.



Polish agents had not hindered collectivization during the chaos of 1930,
and were helpless to rouse a starving population in 1932. They tried, and
they failed. Even the most enthusiastic Polish proponents of an aggressive
policy saw summer 1932 as a time for calm. If the Soviets promised peace,
it seemed best to make no provocative moves. Polish diplomats and spies
were witnesses to the famine. They knew that “cannibalism has become a
habit of sorts” and that “entire villages have died out completely.” But they
had nothing to do with the famine’s origins, and could do nothing to help
the victims. Poland did not publicize to the world what its diplomats knew
about the famine. In February 1932, for example, an anonymous letter
reached the Polish consulate in Kharkiv, pleading with the Poles to inform
the world of the famine in Ukraine. But by then the nonaggression pact with
the Soviet Union had been initialed, and Warsaw would take no such step.44

Stalin now had won far more room for maneuver in his western
borderlands than he had had in 1930. Poland had accepted the status quo by
signing the nonaggression pact in July 1932, and so the Ukrainian peasants
were at his mercy. With pedantic enthusiasm, Stalin in August (still on
vacation) offered his closest collaborators the theory that collectivization
was missing only the correct legal basis. Socialism, he claimed, just like
capitalism, needed laws to protect property. The state would be
strengthened if all agricultural production was declared to be state property,
any unauthorized collection of food deemed theft, and such theft made
punishable by immediate execution. Thus a starving peasant could be shot
if he picked up a potato peel from a furrow in land that until recently had
been his own. Perhaps Stalin really did think that this could work; the
result, of course, was the removal of any legal protection that peasants may
have had from the full violence of the triumphant state. The simple
possession of food was presumptive evidence of a crime. The law came into
force on 7 August 1932.45

Soviet judges usually ignored the letter of the law, but the rest of the
party and state apparatus understood its spirit. Often the most enthusiastic
enforcers of the law were younger people, educated in the new Soviet
schools, who believed in the promise of the new system. Members of the
official youth organization were told that their “main task” was “the
struggle against theft and the hiding of grain as well as kulak sabotage.” For
the young generation in the cities, communism had offered social advance,



and the world demonized in this agitation was one that they had left behind.
The communist party in Soviet Ukraine, though disproportionately Russian
and Jewish in its membership, now included many young Ukrainians who
believed that the countryside was reactionary and were eager to join in
campaigns against peasants.46

Watchtowers went up in the fields to keep peasants from taking anything
for themselves. In the Odessa region alone, more than seven hundred
watchtowers were constructed. Brigades went from hut to hut, five
thousand youth organization members among their members, seizing
everything they could find. Activists used, as one peasant recalled, “long
metal rods to search through stables, pigsties, stoves. They looked
everywhere and took everything, down to the last little grain.” They rushed
through the village “like the black death” calling out “Peasant, where is
your grain? Confess!” The brigades took everything that resembled food,
including supper from the stove, which they ate themselves.47

Like an invading army the party activists lived off the land, taking what
they could and eating their fill, with little to show for their work and
enthusiasm but misery and death. Perhaps from feelings of guilt, perhaps
from feelings of triumph, they humiliated the peasants wherever they went.
They would urinate in barrels of pickles, or order hungry peasants to box
each other for sport, or make them crawl and bark like dogs, or force them
to kneel in the mud and pray. Women caught stealing on one collective farm
were stripped, beaten, and carried naked through the village. In one village
the brigade got drunk in a peasant’s hut and gang-raped his daughter.
Women who lived alone were routinely raped at night under the pretext of
grain confiscations—and their food was indeed taken from them after their
bodies had been violated. This was the triumph of Stalin’s law and Stalin’s
state.48

 

Raids and decrees could not create food where there was none. Of course
peasants will hide food, and hungry people will steal food. But the problem
in the Ukrainian countryside was not theft and deceit, which might indeed
have been solved by the application of violence. The problem was
starvation and death. Grain targets were not met because collectivization
had failed, the harvest of autumn 1932 was poor, and requisition targets



were too high. Stalin sent Molotov to Ukraine to urge comrades forward in
the “struggle for grain.” But the enthusiasm of Stalin’s servants could not
change what had already happened. Even Molotov was forced to
recommend on 30 October that quotas for Ukraine be reduced somewhat.
Stalin accepted the recommendation, but soon he was more categorical than
ever. As of November 1932 only about one third of the annual target had
been met.49

 

As reports about failed requisitions were delivered to the Kremlin, Stalin’s
wife killed herself. She chose 7 November 1932, the fifteenth anniversary
of the October Revolution, to shoot herself in the heart. Just what this meant
to Stalin can never be entirely clear, but it seems to have been a shock. He
threatened to kill himself as well. Kaganovich, who found Stalin a changed
man, had to give the funeral oration.50

The next day Stalin approached the problem of the famine with a new
degree of malice. He placed the blame for problems in Ukraine at the feet of
Ukrainian comrades and peasants. Two politburo telegrams sent out on 8
November 1932 reflected the mood: individual and collective farmers in
Soviet Ukraine who failed to meet requisition targets were to be denied
access to products from the rest of the economy. A special troika was
created in Ukraine to hasten the sentencing and execution of party activists
and peasants who, supposedly, were responsible for sabotage. Some 1,623
kolkhoz officials were arrested that month. Deportations within Ukraine
were resumed: 30,400 more people were gone by the end of the year. The
activists told the peasants: “Open up, or we’ll knock down the door. We’ll
take what you have, and you’ll die in a camp.”51

As Stalin interpreted the disaster of collectivization in the last weeks of
1932, he achieved new heights of ideological daring. The famine in
Ukraine, whose existence he had admitted earlier, when it was far less
severe, was now a “fairy tale,” a slanderous rumor spread by enemies.
Stalin had developed an interesting new theory: that resistance to socialism
increases as its successes mount, because its foes resist with greater
desperation as they contemplate their final defeat. Thus any problem in the
Soviet Union could be defined as an example of enemy action, and enemy
action could be defined as evidence of progress.52



Resistance to his policies in Soviet Ukraine, Stalin argued, was of a
special sort, perhaps not visible to the imperceptive observer. Opposition
was no longer open, for the enemies of socialism were now “quiet” and
even “holy.” The “kulaks of today,” he said, were “gentle people, kind,
almost saintly.” People who appeared to be innocent were to be seen as
guilty. A peasant slowly dying of hunger was, despite appearances, a
saboteur working for the capitalist powers in their campaign to discredit the
Soviet Union. Starvation was resistance, and resistance was a sign that the
victory of socialism was just around the corner. These were not merely
Stalin’s musings in Moscow; this was the ideological line enforced by
Molotov and Kaganovich as they traveled through regions of mass death in
late 1932.53

Stalin never personally witnessed the starvations that he so interpreted,
but comrades in Soviet Ukraine did: they had somehow to reconcile his
ideological line to the evidence of their senses. Forced to interpret distended
bellies as political opposition, they produced the utterly tortured conclusion
that the saboteurs hated socialism so much that they intentionally let their
families die. Thus the wracked bodies of sons and daughters and fathers and
mothers were nothing more than a facade behind which foes plotted the
destruction of socialism. Even the starving themselves were sometimes
presented as enemy propagandists with a conscious plan to undermine
socialism. Young Ukrainian communists in the cities were taught that the
starving were enemies of the people “who risked their lives to spoil our
optimism.”54

Ukrainians in Poland gathered money for food donations, only to learn
that the Soviet government categorically rejected any assistance. Ukrainian
communists who asked for food relief from abroad, accepted by Soviet
authorities in the early 1920s during the previous famine, got no hearing at
all. For political reasons, Stalin did not wish to accept any help from the
outside world. Perhaps he believed that if he were to remain atop the party,
he could not admit that his first major policy had brought famine. Yet Stalin
might have saved millions of lives without drawing any outside attention to
the Soviet Union. He could have suspended food exports for a few months,
released grain reserves (three million tons), or just given peasants access to
local grain storage areas. Such simple measures, pursued as late as



November 1932, could have kept the death toll to the hundreds of thousands
rather than the millions. Stalin pursued none of them.55

 

In the waning weeks of 1932, facing no external security threat and no
challenge from within, with no conceivable justification except to prove the
inevitability of his rule, Stalin chose to kill millions of people in Soviet
Ukraine. He shifted to a position of pure malice, where the Ukrainian
peasant was somehow the aggressor and he, Stalin, the victim. Hunger was
a form of aggression, for Kaganovich in a class struggle, for Stalin in a
Ukrainian national struggle, against which starvation was the only defense.
Stalin seemed determined to display his dominance over the Ukrainian
peasantry, and seemed even to enjoy the depths of suffering that such a
posture would require. Amartya Sen has argued that starvation is “a
function of entitlements and not of food availability as such.” It was not
food shortages but food distribution that killed millions in Soviet Ukraine,
and it was Stalin who decided who was entitled to what.56

Though collectivization was a disaster everywhere in the Soviet Union,
the evidence of clearly premeditated mass murder on the scale of millions is
most evident in Soviet Ukraine. Collectivization had involved the massive
use of executions and deportations everywhere in the Soviet Union, and the
peasants and nomads who made up the bulk of the Gulag’s labor force
hailed from all of the Soviet republics. Famine had struck parts of Soviet
Russia as well as much of Soviet Ukraine in 1932. Nevertheless, the policy
response to Ukraine was special, and lethal. Seven crucial policies were
applied only, or mainly, in Soviet Ukraine in late 1932 or early 1933. Each
of them may seem like an anodyne administrative measure, and each of
them was certainly presented as such at the time, and yet each of them had
to kill.

1. On 18 November 1932, peasants in Ukraine were required to return
grain advances that they had previously earned by meeting grain requisition
targets. This meant that the few localities where peasants had had good
yields were deprived of what little surplus they had earned. The party
brigades and the state police were unleashed on these regions, in a feverish
hunt for whatever food could be found. Because peasants were not given
receipts for the grain that they did hand over, they were subject to endless



searches and abuse. The Ukrainian party leadership tried to protect the seed
grain, but without success.57

2. Two days later, on 20 November 1932, a meat penalty was introduced.
Peasants who were unable to make grain quotas were now required to pay a
special tax in meat. Peasants who still had livestock were now forced to
surrender it to the state. Cattle and swine had been a last reserve against
starvation. As a peasant girl remembered, “whoever had a cow didn’t
starve.” A cow gives milk, and as a last resort it can be slaughtered.
Another peasant girl remembered that the family’s one pig was seized, and
then the family’s one cow. She held its horns as it was led away. This was,
perhaps, the attachment that teenaged girls on farms feel for their animals.
But it was also desperation. Even after the meat penalty was paid, peasants
still had to fulfill the original grain quota. If they could not do this under the
threat of losing their animals, they certainly could not do so afterward. They
starved.58

3. Eight days later, on 28 November 1932, Soviet authorities introduced
the “black list.” According to this new regulation, collective farms that
failed to meet grain targets were required, immediately, to surrender fifteen
times the amount of grain that was normally due in a whole month. In
practice this meant, again, the arrival of hordes of party activists and police,
with the mission and the legal right to take everything. No village could
meet the multiplied quota, and so whole communities lost all of the food
that they had. Communities on the black list also had no right to trade, or to
receive deliveries of any kind from the rest of the country. They were cut
off from food or indeed any other sort of supply from anywhere else. The
black-listed communities in Soviet Ukraine, sometimes selected from as far
away as Moscow, became zones of death.59

4. On 5 December 1932, Stalin’s handpicked security chief for Ukraine
presented the justification for terrorizing Ukrainian party officials to collect
the grain. Vsevolod Balytskyi had spoken with Stalin personally in Moscow
on 15 and 24 November. The famine in Ukraine was to be understood,
according to Balytskyi, as the result of a plot of Ukrainian nationalists—in
particular, of exiles with connections to Poland. Thus anyone who failed to
do his part in requisitions was a traitor to the state.60



Yet this policy line had still deeper implications. The connection of
Ukrainian nationalism to Ukrainian famine authorized the punishment of
those who had taken part in earlier Soviet policies to support the
development of the Ukrainian nation. Stalin believed that the national
question was in essence a peasant question, and as he undid Lenin’s
compromise with the peasants he also found himself undoing Lenin’s
compromise with the nations. On 14 December Moscow authorized the
deportation of local Ukrainian communists to concentration camps, on the
logic that they had abused Soviet policies in order to spread Ukrainian
nationalism, thus allowing nationalists to sabotage the grain collection.
Balytskyi then claimed to have unmasked a “Ukrainian Military
Organization” as well as Polish rebel groups. He would report, in January
1933, the discovery of more than a thousand illegal organizations and, in
February, the plans of Polish and Ukrainian nationalists to overthrow Soviet
rule in Ukraine.61

The justifications were fabricated, but the policy had consequences.
Poland had withdrawn its agents from Ukraine, and had given up any hope
of exploiting the disaster of collectivization. The Polish government,
attempting to be loyal to the Soviet-Polish nonaggression pact signed in
July 1932, declined even to draw international attention to the worsening
Soviet famine. Yet Balytskyi’s policy, though it rode the coattails of
phantoms, generated local obedience to Moscow’s policy. The mass arrests
and mass deportations he ordered sent a very clear message: anyone who
defended the peasants would be condemned as an enemy. In these crucial
weeks of late December, as the death toll in Soviet Ukraine rose into the
hundreds of thousands, Ukrainian activists and administrators knew better
than to resist the party line. If they did not carry out requisitions, they
would find themselves (in the best case) in the Gulag.62

5. On 21 December 1932, Stalin (through Kaganovich) affirmed the
annual grain requisition quota for Soviet Ukraine, to be reached by January
1933. On 27 November, the Soviet politburo had assigned Ukraine a full
third of the remaining collections for the entire Soviet Union. Now,
hundreds of thousands of starvation deaths later, Stalin sent Kaganovich to
hold the whip hand over the Ukrainian party leadership in Kharkiv. Right
after Kaganovich arrived on the evening of 20 December, the Ukrainian
politburo was forced to convene. Sitting until four o’clock the next



morning, it resolved that requisition targets were to be met. This was a
death sentence for about three million people. As everyone in that room
knew in those early morning hours, grain could not be collected from an
already starving population without the most horrific of consequences. A
simple respite from requisitions for three months would not have harmed
the Soviet economy, and would have saved most of those three million
lives. Yet Stalin and Kaganovich insisted on exactly the contrary. The state
would fight “ferociously,” as Kaganovich put it, to fulfill the plan.63

Having achieved his mission in Kharkiv, Kaganovich then traveled
through Soviet Ukraine, demanding “100 percent” fulfillment of the plan
and sentencing local officials and ordering deportations of families as he
went. He returned to Kharkiv on 29 December 1932 to remind Ukrainian
party leaders that the seed grain was also to be collected.64

6. As starvation raged throughout Ukraine in the first weeks of 1933,
Stalin sealed the borders of the republic so that peasants could not flee, and
closed the cities so that peasants could not beg. As of 14 January 1933
Soviet citizens had to carry internal passports in order to reside in cities
legally. Peasants were not to receive them. On 22 January 1933 Balytskyi
warned Moscow that Ukrainian peasants were fleeing the republic, and
Stalin and Molotov ordered the state police to prevent their flight. The next
day the sale of long-distance rail tickets to peasants was banned. Stalin’s
justification was that the peasant refugees were not in fact begging bread
but, rather, engaging in a “counterrevolutionary plot,” by serving as living
propaganda for Poland and other capitalist states that wished to discredit the
collective farm. By the end of February 1933 some 190,000 peasants had
been caught and sent back to their home villages to starve.65

Stalin had his “fortress” in Ukraine, but it was a stronghold that
resembled a giant starvation camp, with watchtowers, sealed borders,
pointless and painful labor, and endless and predictable death.

7. Even after the annual requisition target for 1932 was met in late
January 1933, collection of grain continued. Requisitions went forward in
February and March, as party members sought grain for the spring sowing.
At the end of December 1932, Stalin had approved Kaganovich’s proposal
that the seed grain for the spring be seized to make the annual target. This
left the collective farms with nothing to plant for the coming fall. Seed



grain for the spring sowing might have been drawn from the trainloads
bound at that very moment for export, or taken from the three million tons
that the Soviet Union had stored as a reserve. Instead it was seized from
what little the peasants in Soviet Ukraine still had. This was very often the
last bit of food that peasants needed to survive until the spring harvest.
Some 37,392 people were arrested in Soviet Ukrainian villages that month,
many of them presumably trying to save their families from starvation.66

This final collection was murder, even if those who executed it very often
believed that they were doing the right thing. As one activist remembered,
that spring he “saw people dying from hunger. I saw women and children
with distended bellies, turning blue, still breathing but with vacant, lifeless
eyes.” Yet he “saw all this and did not go out of my mind or commit
suicide.” He had faith: “As before, I believed because I wanted to believe.”
Other activists, no doubt, were less faithful and more fearful. Every level of
the Ukrainian party had been purged in the previous year; in January 1933,
Stalin sent in his own men to control its heights. Those communists who no
longer expressed their faith formed a “wall of silence” that doomed those it
surrounded. They had learned that to resist was to be purged, and to be
purged was to share the fate of those whose deaths they were now bringing
about.67

 

In Soviet Ukraine in early 1933, the communist party activists who
collected the grain left a deathly quiet behind them. The countryside has its
own orchestra of sound, softer and slower than the city, but no less
predictable and reassuring for those born to it. Ukraine had gone mute.

Peasants had killed their livestock (or lost it to the state), they had killed
their chickens, they had killed their cats and their dogs. They had scared the
birds away by hunting them. The human beings had fled, too, if they were
lucky; more likely they too were dead, or too weak to make noise. Cut off
from the attention of the world by a state that controlled the press and the
movements of foreign journalists, cut off from official help or sympathy by
a party line that equated starvation with sabotage, cut off from the economy
by intense poverty and inequitable planning, cut off from the rest of the
country by regulations and police cordons, people died alone, families died
alone, whole villages died alone. Two decades later, the political
philosopher Hannah Arendt would present this famine in Ukraine as the



crucial event in the creation of a modern “atomized” society, the alienation
of all from all.68

Starvation led not to rebellion but to amorality, to crime, to indifference,
to madness, to paralysis, and finally to death. Peasants endured months of
indescribable suffering, indescribable because of its duration and pain, but
also indescribable because people were too weak, too poor, too illiterate to
chronicle what was happening to them. But the survivors did remember. As
one of them recalled, no matter what peasants did, “they went on dying,
dying, dying.” The death was slow, humiliating, ubiquitous, and generic. To
die of starvation with some sort of dignity was beyond the reach of almost
everyone. Petro Veldii showed rare strength when he dragged himself
through his village on the day he expected to die. The other villagers asked
him where he was going: to the cemetery to lay himself down. He did not
want strangers coming and dragging his body away to a pit. So he had dug
his own grave, but by the time he reached the cemetery another body had
filled it. He dug himself another one, lay down, and waited.69

A very few outsiders witnessed and were able to record what happened in
these most terrible of months. The journalist Gareth Jones had paid his own
way to Moscow, and, violating a ban on travel to Ukraine, took a train to
Kharkiv on 7 March 1933. He disembarked at random at a small station and
tramped through the countryside with a backpack full of food. He found
“famine on a colossal scale.” Everywhere he went he heard the same two
phrases: “Everyone is swollen from starvation” and “We are waiting to die.”
He slept on dirt floors with starving children, and learned the truth. Once,
after he had shared his food, a little girl exclaimed: “Now that I have eaten
such wonderful things I can die happy.”70

Maria Łowińska traveled that same spring through Soviet Ukraine,
accompanying her husband as he tried to sell his handiworks. The villages
they knew from previous treks were now deserted. They were frightened by
the unending silence. If they heard a cock crow they were so happy that
they were alarmed by their own reaction. The Ukrainian musician Yosyp
Panasenko was dispatched by central authorities with his troupe of bandura
players to provide culture to the starving peasants. Even as the state took
the peasants’ last bit of food, it had the grotesque inclination to elevate the
minds and rouse the spirits of the dying. The musicians found village after



village completely abandoned. Then they finally came across some people:
two girls dead in a bed, two legs of a man protruding from a stove, and an
old lady raving and running her fingernails through the dirt. The party
official Viktor Kravchenko entered a village to help with the harvest one
evening. The next day he found seventeen corpses in the marketplace. Such
scenes could be found in villages throughout Soviet Ukraine, where in that
spring of 1933 people died at a rate of more than ten thousand a day.71

Ukrainians who chose not to resist the collective farms believed that they
had at least escaped deportation. But now they could be deported because
collective farming did not work. Some fifteen thousand peasants were
deported from Soviet Ukraine between February and April 1933. Just east
and south of Soviet Ukraine, in parts of the Russian republic of the Soviet
Union inhabited by Ukrainians, some sixty thousand people were deported
for failing to make grain quotas. In 1933 some 142,000 more Soviet citizens
were sent to the Gulag, most of them either hungry or sick with typhus,
many of them from Soviet Ukraine.72

In the camps they tried to find enough to eat. Since the Gulag had a
policy of feeding the strong and depriving the weak, and these deportees
were already weak from hunger, this was desperately difficult. When
hungry prisoners poisoned themselves by eating wild plants and garbage,
camp officials punished them for shirking. At least 67,297 people died of
hunger and related illnesses in the camps and 241,355 perished in the
special settlements in 1933, many of them natives of Soviet Ukraine.
Untold thousands more died on the long journey from Ukraine to
Kazakhstan or the far north. Their corpses were removed from the trains
and buried on the spot, their names and their numbers unrecorded.73

Those who were starving when they left their homes had little chance of
survival in an alien environment. As one state official recorded in May
1933: “When traveling, I often witnessed administrative exiles haunting the
villages like shadows in search of a piece of bread or refuse. They eat
carrion, slaughter dogs and cats. The villagers keep their houses locked.
Those who get a chance to enter a house drop on their knees in front of the
owner and, with tears, beg for a piece of bread. I witnessed several deaths
on the roads between villages, in the bath-houses, and in the barns. I myself
saw hungry, agonized people crawling on the sidewalk. They were picked



up by the police and died several hours later. In late April an investigator
and I passed by a barn and found a dead body. When we sent for a
policeman and a medic to pick it up, they discovered another body inside
the barn. Both died of hunger, with no violence.” The Ukrainian
countryside had already exported its food to the rest of the Soviet Union;
now it exported some of the resulting starvation—to the Gulag.74

 

Children born in Soviet Ukraine in the late 1920s and early 1930s found
themselves in a world of death, among helpless parents and hostile
authorities. A boy born in 1933 had a life expectancy of seven years. Even
in these circumstances, some younger children could manage a bit of good
cheer. Hanna Sobolewska, who lost her father and five brothers and sisters
to starvation, remembered her youngest brother Józef ’s painful hope. Even
as he swelled from hunger he kept finding signs of life. One day he thought
he could see the crops rising from the ground; on another, he believed that
he had found mushrooms. “Now we will live!” he would exclaim, and
repeat these words before he went to sleep each night. Then one morning he
awoke and said: “Everything dies.” Schoolchildren at first wrote to the
appropriate authorities, in the hope that starvation was the result of a
misunderstanding. One class of elementary school students, for example,
sent a letter to party authorities asking “for your help, since we are falling
down from hunger. We should be learning, but we are too hungry to
walk.”75

Soon this was no longer noteworthy. In eight-year-old Yurii Lysenko’s
school in the Kharkiv region, a girl simply collapsed in class one day, as if
asleep. The adults rushed in, but Yurii knew that she was beyond hope,
“that she had died and that they would bury her in the cemetery, like they
had buried people yesterday, and the day before yesterday, and every day.”
Boys from another school pulled out the severed head of a classmate while
fishing in a pond. His whole family had died. Had they eaten him first? Or
had he survived the deaths of his parents only to be killed by a cannibal? No
one knew; but such questions were commonplace for the children of
Ukraine in 1933.76

The duties of parents could not be fulfilled. Marriages suffered as wives,
sometimes with their husbands’ anguished consent, prostituted themselves



with local party leaders for flour. Parents, even when alive and together and
acting in the best of faith, could hardly care for children. One day a father in
the Vynnitsia region went to bury one of his two children, and returned to
find the other dead. Some parents loved their children by protecting them,
locking them in cottages to keep them safe from the roving bands of
cannibals. Other parents sent their children away in the hope that they could
be saved by others. Parents would give their children to distant family or to
strangers, or leave them at train stations. The desperate peasants holding up
infants to train windows were not necessarily begging for food: often they
were trying to give their children away to someone aboard a train, who was
likely from the city and therefore not about to starve to death. Fathers and
mothers sent their children to the cities to beg, with very mixed results.
Some children starved on the way, or at their destination. Others were taken
by city police, to die in the dark in a strange metropolis and be buried in a
mass grave with other small bodies. Even when children returned, the news
was rarely good. Petro Savhira went with one of his brothers to Kiev to beg
and returned to find his other two brothers already dead.77

In the face of starvation, some families divided, parents turning against
children, and children against one another. As the state police, the OGPU,
found itself obliged to record, in Soviet Ukraine “families kill their weakest
members, usually children, and use the meat for eating.” Countless parents
killed and ate their children and then died of starvation later anyway. One
mother cooked her son for herself and her daughter. One six-year-old girl,
saved by other relatives, last saw her father when he was sharpening a knife
to slaughter her. Other combinations were, of course, possible. One family
killed their daughter-in-law, fed her head to the pigs, and roasted the rest of
her body.78

In a broader sense, though, it was politics as well as starvation that
destroyed families, turning a younger generation against an older. Members
of the Young Communists served in the brigades that requisitioned food.
Still, younger children, in the Pioneers, were supposed to be “the eyes and
ears of the party inside the family.” The healthier ones were assigned to
watch over the fields to prevent theft. Half a million preadolescent and
young teenage boys and girls stood in the watchtowers observing adults in
Soviet Ukraine in summer 1933. All children were expected to report on
their parents.79



Survival was a moral as well as a physical struggle. A woman doctor
wrote to a friend in June 1933 that she had not yet become a cannibal, but
was “not sure that I shall not be one by the time my letter reaches you.” The
good people died first. Those who refused to steal or to prostitute
themselves died. Those who gave food to others died. Those who refused to
eat corpses died. Those who refused to kill their fellow man died. Parents
who resisted cannibalism died before their children did. Ukraine in 1933
was full of orphans, and sometimes people took them in. Yet without food
there was little that even the kindest of strangers could do for such children.
The boys and girls lay about on sheets and blankets, eating their own
excrement, waiting for death.80

In one village in the Kharkiv region, several women did their best to look
after children. As one of them recalled, they formed “something like an
orphanage.” Their wards were in a pitiful condition: “The children had
bulging stomachs; they were covered in wounds, in scabs; their bodies were
bursting. We took them outside, we put them on sheets, and they moaned.
One day the children suddenly fell silent, we turned around to see what was
happening, and they were eating the smallest child, little Petrus. They were
tearing strips from him and eating them. And Petrus was doing the same, he
was tearing strips from himself and eating them, he ate as much as he could.
The other children put their lips to his wounds and drank his blood. We took
the child away from the hungry mouths and we cried.”81

Cannibalism is a taboo of literature as well as life, as communities seek
to protect their dignity by suppressing the record of this desperate mode of
survival. Ukrainians outside Soviet Ukraine, then and since, have treated
cannibalism as a source of great shame. Yet while the cannibalism in Soviet
Ukraine in 1933 says much about the Soviet system, it says nothing about
Ukrainians as a people. With starvation will come cannibalism. There came
a moment in Ukraine when there was little or no grain, and the only meat
was human. A black market arose in human flesh; human meat may even
have entered the official economy. The police investigated anyone selling
meat, and state authorities kept a close eye on slaughterhouses and butcher
shops. A young communist in the Kharkiv region reported to his superiors
that he could make a meat quota, but only by using human beings. In the
villages smoke coming from a cottage chimney was a suspicious sign, since
it tended to mean that cannibals were eating a kill or that families were



roasting one of their members. Police would follow the smoke and make
arrests. At least 2,505 people were sentenced for cannibalism in the years
1932 and 1933 in Ukraine, though the actual number of cases was certainly
much greater.82

People in Ukraine never considered cannibalism to be acceptable. Even
at the height of the famine, villagers were outraged to find cannibals in their
midst, so much so that they were spontaneously beaten or even burned to
death. Most people did not succumb to cannibalism. An orphan was a child
who had not been eaten by his parents. And even those who did eat human
flesh acted from various motivations. Some cannibals were clearly
criminals of the worst kind. Bazylii Graniewicz, for example, lost his
brother Kolya to a cannibal. When the cannibal was arrested by the militia,
Kolya’s head was among eleven found in his house. Yet cannibalism was,
sometimes, a victimless crime. Some mothers and fathers killed their
children and ate them. In those cases the children were clearly victims. But
other parents asked their children to make use of their own bodies if they
passed away. More than one Ukrainian child had to tell a brother or sister:
“Mother says that we should eat her if she dies.” This was forethought and
love.83

One of the very last functions that the state performed was the disposal of
dead bodies. As a Ukrainian student wrote in January 1933, the task was a
difficult one: “The burial of the dead is not always possible, because the
hungry die in the fields of wandering from village to village.” In the cities
carts would make rounds early in the mornings to remove the peasant dead
of the night before. In the countryside the healthier peasants formed
brigades to collect the corpses and bury them. They rarely had the
inclination or the strength to dig graves very deeply, so that hands and feet
could be seen above the earth. Burial crews were paid according to the
number of bodies collected, which led to certain abuses. Crews would take
the weak along with the dead, and bury them alive. They would talk with
such people along the way, explaining to the starving that they would die
soon anyway, so what difference could it make? In a few cases such victims
managed to dig their way out of the shallow mass graves. In their turn the
gravediggers weakened and died, their corpses left where they lay. As an
agronomist recalled, the bodies were then “devoured by those dogs that had
escaped being eaten and had gone savage.”84



In fall 1933, in villages across Soviet Ukraine the harvest was brought in
by Red Army soldiers, communist party activists, workers, and students.
Forced to work even as they died, starving peasants had put down crops in
spring 1933 that they would not live to harvest. Resettlers came from Soviet
Russia to take over houses and villages, and saw that first they would have
to remove the bodies of the previous inhabitants. Often the rotten corpses
fell apart in their hands. Sometimes the newcomers would then return
home, finding that no amount of scrubbing and painting could quite remove
the stench. Yet sometimes they stayed. Ukraine’s “ethnographic material,”
as one Soviet official told an Italian diplomat, had been altered. As earlier
in Soviet Kazakhstan, where the change was even more dramatic, the
demographic balance in Soviet Ukraine shifted in favor of Russians.85

How many people were killed by famine in the Soviet Union, and in its
Ukrainian republic, in the early 1930s? We will never know with precision.
No good records were kept. Such records as do exist confirm the mass scale
of the event: public health authorities in Kiev oblast, for example, recorded
that 493,644 people were going hungry in that region alone in the month of
April 1933. Local authorities feared to record deaths by starvation and, after
a while, were in no position to record anything at all. Very often the only
instance of state power that had any contact with the dead were the brigades
of gravediggers, and they kept nothing like systematic records.86

The Soviet census of 1937 found eight million fewer people than
projected: most of these were famine victims in Soviet Ukraine, Soviet
Kazakhstan, and Soviet Russia, and the children that they did not then have.
Stalin suppressed its findings and had the responsible demographers
executed. In 1933, Soviet officials in private conversations most often
provided the estimate of 5.5 million dead from hunger. This seems roughly
correct, if perhaps somewhat low, for the Soviet Union in the early 1930s,
including Soviet Ukraine, Soviet Kazakhstan, and Soviet Russia.87

One demographic retrojection suggests a figure of about 2.5 million
famine deaths for Soviet Ukraine. This is too close to the recorded figure of
excess deaths, which is about 2.4 million. The latter figure must be
substantially low, since many deaths were not recorded. Another
demographic calculation, carried out on behalf of the authorities of



independent Ukraine, provides the figure of 3.9 million dead. The truth is
probably in between these numbers, where most of the estimates of
respectable scholars can be found. It seems reasonable to propose a figure
of approximately 3.3 million deaths by starvation and hunger-related
disease in Soviet Ukraine in 1932-1933. Of these people, some three
million would have been Ukrainians, and the rest Russians, Poles, Germans,
Jews, and others. Among the million or so dead in the Soviet Russian
republic were probably at least two hundred thousand Ukrainians, since the
famine struck heavily in regions where Ukrainians lived. Perhaps as many
as a hundred thousand more Ukrainians were among the 1.3 million people
who died in the earlier famine in Kazakhstan. All in all, no fewer than 3.3
million Soviet citizens died in Soviet Ukraine of starvation and hunger-
related diseases; and about the same number of Ukrainians (by nationality)
died in the Soviet Union as a whole.88

 

Rafał Lemkin, the international lawyer who later invented the term
genocide, would call the Ukrainian case “the classic example of Soviet
genocide.” The fabric of rural society of Ukraine was tested, stretched, and
rent. Ukrainian peasants were dead, or humbled, or scattered among camps
the length and breadth of the Soviet Union. Those who survived carried
feelings of guilt and helplessness, and sometimes memories of collaboration
and cannibalism. Hundreds of thousands of orphans would grow up to be
Soviet citizens but not Ukrainians, at least not in the way that an intact
Ukrainian family and a Ukrainian countryside might have made them.
Those Ukrainian intellectuals who survived the calamity lost their
confidence. The leading Soviet Ukrainian writer and the leading Soviet
Ukrainian political activist both committed suicide, the one in May and the
other in July 1933. The Soviet state had defeated those who wished for
some autonomy for the Ukrainian republic, and those who wished for some
autonomy for themselves and their families.89

Foreign communists in the Soviet Union, witnesses to the famine,
somehow managed to see starvation not as a national tragedy but as a step
forward for humanity. The writer Arthur Koestler believed at the time that
the starving were “enemies of the people who preferred begging to work.”
His housemate in Kharkiv, the physicist Alexander Weissberg, knew that
millions of peasants had died. Nevertheless, he kept the faith. Koestler



naively complained to Weissberg that the Soviet press did not write that
Ukrainians “have nothing to eat and therefore are dying like flies.” He and
Weissberg knew that to be true, as did everyone who had any contact with
the country. Yet to write of the famine would have made their faith
impossible. Each of them believed that the destruction of the countryside
could be reconciled to a general story of human progress. The deaths of
Ukrainian peasants were the price to be paid for a higher civilization.
Koestler left the Soviet Union in 1933. When Weissberg saw him off at the
train station, his parting words were: “Whatever happens, hold the banner
of the Soviet Union high!”90

Yet the end result of the starvation was not socialism, in any but the
Stalinist sense of the term. In one village in Soviet Ukraine, the triumphal
arch built to celebrate the completion of the Five-Year Plan was surrounded
by the corpses of peasants. The Soviet officials who persecuted the kulaks
had more money than their victims, and the urban party members far better
life prospects. Peasants had no right to ration cards, while party elites chose
from a selection of food at special stores. If they grew too fat, however, they
had to beware the roving “sausage makers,” especially at night. Rich
women in Ukrainian cities, usually the wives of high officials, traded their
food rations for peasant embroidery and ornaments stolen from country
churches. In this way, too, collectivization robbed the Ukrainian village of
its identity, even as it destroyed the Ukrainian peasant morally and then
physically. Hunger drove Ukrainians and others to strip themselves and
their places of worship before it drove them to their deaths.91

 

Although Stalin, Kaganovich, and Balytskyi explained the repressions in
Soviet Ukraine as a response to Ukrainian nationalism, Soviet Ukraine was
a multinational republic. The starvation touched Russians, Poles, Germans,
and many others. Jews in Soviet Ukraine tended to live in towns and cities,
but those in the countryside were no less vulnerable than anyone else. One
day in 1933 a staff writer for the party newspaper Pravda, which denied the
famine, received a letter from his Jewish father. “This is to let you know,”
wrote the father, “that your mother is dead. She died of starvation after
months of pain.” Her last wish was that their son say kaddish for her. This
exchange reveals the generational difference between parents raised before
the revolution and children raised thereafter. Not only among Jews, but



among Ukrainians and others, the generation educated in the 1920s was far
more likely to accept the Soviet system than the generations raised in the
Russian Empire.92

German and Polish diplomats informed their superiors of the suffering
and death of the German and Polish minorities in Soviet Ukraine. The
German consul in Kharkiv wrote that “almost every time I venture into the
streets I see people collapsing from hunger.” Polish diplomats faced long
lines of starving people desperate for a visa. One of them reported:
“Frequently the clients, grown men, cry as they tell of wives and children
starving to death or bursting from hunger.” As these diplomats knew, many
peasants in Soviet Ukraine, not only Poles and Germans, hoped for an
invasion from abroad to release them from their agony. Until the middle of
1932, their greatest hope was Poland. Stalin’s propaganda had been telling
them for five years that Poland was planning to invade and annex Ukraine.
When the famine began, many Ukrainian peasants hoped that this
propaganda was true. As one Polish spy reported, they clung to the hope
that “Poland or for that matter any other state would come and liberate them
from misery and oppression.”93

When Poland and the Soviet Union signed their nonaggression pact in
July 1932, that hope was dashed. Thenceforth the peasants could only hope
for a German attack. Eight years later, those who survived would be in a
position to compare Soviet to German rule.
 

The basic facts of mass hunger and death, although sometimes reported in
the European and American press, never took on the clarity of an
undisputed event. Almost no one claimed that Stalin meant to starve
Ukrainians to death; even Adolf Hitler preferred to blame the Marxist
system. It was controversial to note that starvation was taking place at all.
Gareth Jones did so in a handful of newspaper articles; it seems that he was
the only one to do so in English under his own name. When Cardinal
Theodor Innitzer of Vienna tried to appeal for food aid for the starving in
summer and autumn 1933, Soviet authorities rebuffed him nastily, saying
that the Soviet Union had neither cardinals nor cannibals—a statement that
was only half true.94



Though the journalists knew less than the diplomats, most of them
understood that millions were dying from hunger. The influential Moscow
correspondent of the New York Times, Walter Duranty, did his best to
undermine Jones’s accurate reporting. Duranty, who won a Pulitzer Prize in
1932, called Jones’s account of the famine a “big scare story.” Duranty’s
claim that there was “no actual starvation” but only “widespread mortality
from diseases due to malnutrition” echoed Soviet usages and pushed
euphemism into mendacity. This was an Orwellian distinction; and indeed
George Orwell himself regarded the Ukrainian famine of 1933 as a central
example of a black truth that artists of language had covered with bright
colors. Duranty knew that millions of people had starved to death. Yet he
maintained in his journalism that the hunger served a higher purpose.
Duranty thought that “you can’t make an omelette without breaking eggs.”
Aside from Jones, the only journalist to file serious reports in English was
Malcolm Muggeridge, writing anonymously for the Manchester Guardian.
He wrote that the famine was “one of the most monstrous crimes in history,
so terrible that people in the future will scarcely be able to believe that it
happened.”95

In fairness, even the people with the most obvious interest in events in
Soviet Ukraine, the Ukrainians living beyond the border of the Soviet
Union, needed months to understand the extent of the famine. Some five
million Ukrainians lived in neighboring Poland, and their political leaders
worked hard to draw international attention to the mass starvation in the
Soviet Union. And yet even they grasped the extent of the tragedy only in
May 1933, by which time most of the victims were already dead.
Throughout the following summer and autumn, Ukrainian newspapers in
Poland covered the famine, and Ukrainian politicians in Poland organized
marches and protests. The leader of the Ukrainian feminist organization
tried to organized an international boycott of Soviet goods by appealing to
the women of the world. Several attempts were made to reach Franklin D.
Roosevelt, the president of the United States.96

None of this made any difference. The laws of the international market
ensured that the grain taken from Soviet Ukraine would feed others.
Roosevelt, preoccupied above all by the position of the American worker
during the Great Depression, wished to establish diplomatic relations with
the Soviet Union. The telegrams from Ukrainian activists reached him in



autumn 1933, just as his personal initiative in US-Soviet relations was
bearing fruit. The United States extended diplomatic recognition to the
Soviet Union in November 1933.
 

The main result of the summer campaign of Ukrainians in Poland was
skillful Soviet counterpropaganda. On 27 August 1933, the French
politician Édouard Herriot arrived in Kiev, on an official invitation. The
leader of the Radical Party, Herriot had been French prime minister three
times, most recently in 1932. He was a corpulent man of known physical
appetites, who compared his own body shape to that of a woman pregnant
with twins. At the receptions in the Soviet Union, Herriot was kept away
from the German and the Polish diplomats, who might have spoiled the fun
with an untoward word about starvation.97

The day before Herriot was to visit the city, Kiev had been closed, and its
population ordered to clean and decorate. The shop windows, empty all
year, were now suddenly filled with food. The food was for display, not for
sale, for the eyes of a single foreigner. The police, wearing fresh new
uniforms, had to disperse the gaping crowds. Everyone who lived or
worked along Herriot’s planned route was forced to go through a dress
rehearsal of the visit, demonstrating that they knew where to stand and what
to wear. Herriot was driven down Kiev’s incomparable broad avenue,
Khreshchatyk. It pulsed with the traffic of automobiles—which had been
gathered from several cities and were now driven by party activists to create
the appearance of bustle and prosperity. A woman on the street muttered
that “perhaps this bourgeois will tell the world what is happening here.” She
was to be disappointed. Herriot instead expressed his astonishment that the
Soviet Union had managed so beautifully to honor both “the socialist spirit”
and “Ukrainian national feeling.”98

On 30 August 1933, Herriot visited the Feliks Dzierżyński Children’s
Commune in Kharkiv, a school named after the founder of the Soviet secret
police. At this time, children were still starving to death in the Kharkiv
region. The children he saw were gathered from among the healthiest and
fittest. Most likely they wore clothes that they had been loaned that
morning. The picture, of course, was not entirely false: the Soviets had built
schools for Ukrainian children, and were on the way to eliminating
illiteracy. Children who were alive at the end of 1933 would very likely



become adults who could read. This is what Herriot was meant to see.
What, the Frenchman asked, entirely without irony, had the students eaten
for lunch? It was a question, posed casually, on which the image of the
Soviet Union depended. Vasily Grossman would repeat the scene in both of
his great novels. As Grossman would recall, the children had been prepared
for this question, and gave a suitable answer. Herriot believed what he saw
and heard. He journeyed onward to Moscow, where he was fed caviar in a
palace.99

The collective farms of Soviet Ukraine, Herriot told the French upon his
return, were well-ordered gardens. The official Soviet party newspaper,
Pravda, was pleased to report Herriot’s remarks. The story was over. Or,
perhaps, the story was elsewhere.



CHAPTER 2
CLASS TERROR

Stalin’s second revolution in the Soviet Union, his collectivization and the
famine it brought, was overshadowed by Hitler’s rise to power in Germany.
Many Europeans, distressed by the nazification of Germany, looked
hopefully to Moscow for an ally. Gareth Jones was one of the few to
observe the two systems in early 1933, as both Hitler and Stalin were
consolidating power. On 25 February 1933, he flew with Adolf Hitler from
Berlin to Frankfurt, as the first journalist to travel by air with the new
German chancellor. “If this aeroplane should crash,” he wrote, “the whole
history of Europe would be changed.” Jones had read Mein Kampf, and he
grasped Hitler’s ambitions: the domination of Germany, the colonization of
eastern Europe, the elimination of the Jews. Hitler, already chancellor, had
dissolved the Reichstag and was in the midst of an electoral campaign,
aiming to gain a greater mandate for himself and a stronger presence for his
party in the German parliament. Jones saw how Germans reacted to their
new chancellor, first in Berlin and then at a rally in Frankfurt. He felt the
“pure primitive worship.”1

When Jones made for Moscow he was traveling from, as he put it, “a
land where dictatorship has just begun” to “the dictatorship of the working
class.” Jones understood an important difference between the two regimes.
Hitler’s rise meant the beginning of a new regime in Germany. Stalin,
meanwhile, was securing his hold on a one-party state with a powerful
police apparatus capable of massive and coordinated violence. His policy of
collectivization had required the shooting of tens of thousands of citizens
and the deportations of hundreds of thousands, and had brought millions
more to the brink of death by starvation—as Jones would see and report.
Later in the 1930s, Stalin would order the shooting of hundreds of
thousands more Soviet citizens, in campaigns organized by social class and
ethnic nation. All of this was well beyond Hitler’s capabilities in the 1930s,
and probably beyond his intentions.2

For some of the Germans and other Europeans who favored Hitler and
his enterprise, the cruelty of Soviet policy seemed to be an argument for
National Socialism. In his stirring campaign speeches, Hitler portrayed



communists and the Soviet state as the great enemies of Germany and
Europe. During the very first crisis of his young chancellorship, he
exploited fears of communism to gather more power to himself and his
office. On 27 February 1933, two days after Hitler and Jones had landed in
Frankfurt, a lone Dutchman set fire to the German parliament building.
Though the arsonist was caught in the act and confessed, Hitler
immediately seized the occasion to demonize opposition to his new
government. Working himself up into a theatrical display of rage, he
shouted that “anyone who stands in our way will be butchered.” Hitler
blamed the Reichstag fire on German communists who, he claimed, were
planning further terrorist attacks.3

For Hitler, the timing of the Reichstag fire could not have been better. As
head of government, he could move against his political opponents; as a
candidate running for election, he could turn fear to his advantage. On 28
February 1933 a decree suspended the rights of all German citizens,
allowing their “preventive detainment.” In an atmosphere of insecurity, the
Nazis decisively won the elections on 5 March, with 43.9 percent of the
vote and 288 seats in the Reichstag. In the weeks and months that followed,
Hitler used German police and Nazi paramilitaries to crush the two parties
he grouped together as “Marxists”: the communists and the social
democrats. Hitler’s close ally Heinrich Himmler established the first Nazi
concentration camp, at Dachau, on 20 March. Himmler’s SS, a paramilitary
that had arisen as Hitler’s bodyguard, provided the staff. Although the
concentration camp was not a new institution, Himmler’s SS meant to use it
for intimidation and terror. As an SS officer said to the guards at Dachau:
“Any of the comrades who can’t see blood should resign. The more of these
bastards go down, the fewer of them we’ll have to feed.”4

After his electoral victory, Hitler the chancellor quickly became Hitler
the dictator. On 23 March 1933, with the first prisoners already incarcerated
at Dachau, the new parliament passed an enabling act, which allowed Hitler
to rule Germany by decree without reference to either the president or the
parliament. This act would be renewed and would remain in force so long
as Hitler lived. Gareth Jones returned to Berlin from the Soviet Union on 29
March 1933, a month after he had left Germany for the Soviet Union, and
gave a press conference about the starvation in Soviet Ukraine. The worst
political famine in history seemed like a minor news item compared to the



establishment of a new dictatorship in the German capital. Indeed, the
suffering in the Soviet Union had already become, during Jones’s absence,
part of the story of Hitler’s rise to power.5

Hitler had used the Ukrainian famine in his election campaign, making
the event a matter of furious ideological politics before it was established as
historical fact. As he raged against the “Marxists,” Hitler used the starvation
in Ukraine as an indictment of Marxism in practice. To a gathering at the
Berlin Sportpalast on 2 March 1933, Hitler proclaimed that “millions of
people are starving in a country that could be a breadbasket for a whole
world.” With a single word (Marxists) Hitler united the mass death in the
Soviet Union with the German social democrats, the bulwark of the Weimar
Republic. It was easier for most to reject (or accept) his entire perspective
than it was to disentangle the true from the false. For people lacking close
familiarity with Soviet politics, which meant almost everyone, to accept
Hitler’s assessment of the famine was to take a step toward accepting his
condemnation of left-wing politics, which in his rhetoric was mixed with
the rejection of democracy as such.6
 

Stalin’s own policies made it easier for Hitler to make this case, because
they offered a similarly binary view of the political world. Stalin, his
attention focused on collectivization and famine, had unwittingly performed
much of the ideological work that helped Hitler come to power. When
Stalin had begun to collectivize agriculture in the Soviet Union, the
Communist International had instructed fraternal communist parties to
follow the line of “class against class.” Communists were to maintain their
ideological purity, and avoid alliances with social democrats. Only
communists had a legitimate role to play in human progress, and others who
claimed to speak for the oppressed were frauds and “social fascists.” They
were to be grouped together with every party to their right, including the
Nazis. In Germany, communists were to regard the social democrats, not
the Nazis, as the main enemy.

In the second half of 1932 and the first months of 1933, during the long
moment of Stalin’s provocation of catastrophe, it would have been difficult
for him to abandon the international line of “class against class.” The class
struggle against the kulak, after all, was the official explanation of the
horrible suffering and mass death within the Soviet Union. In German



domestic politics, this line prevented the German left from cooperating
against Hitler. The crucial months for the famine, however, were also
critical time for the future of Germany. The insistence of German
communists on the need for immediate class revolution gained the Nazis
votes from the middle classes. It also ensured that clerks and the self-
employed voted Nazi rather than social democratic. Even so, the
communists and the social democrats together had more popular support
than the Nazis; but Stalin’s line ensured that they could not work together.
In all of these ways, Stalin’s uncompromising stand in foreign policy during
collectivization and famine in the Soviet Union helped Hitler win the
elections of both July 1932 and March 1933.7

Whereas the true consequences of Stalin’s economic policies had been
hidden from foreign reporters, Hitler deliberately drew attention to the
policies of redistribution that were among his first policies as dictator. At
the very moment that starvation in the Soviet Union was peaking, the
German state began to steal from its Jewish citizens. After the Nazis’
electoral victory of 5 March 1933, they organized an economic boycott of
Jewish businesses throughout Germany. Like collectivization, the boycotts
indicated which sector of society would lose the most in coming social and
economic transformations: not the peasants, as in the USSR, but the Jews.
The boycotts, although carefully managed by Nazi leaders and Nazi
paramilitaries, were presented as a result of the “spontaneous anger” of the
people at Jewish exploitation.8

In this respect Hitler’s policies resembled Stalin’s. The Soviet leader
presented the disarray in the Soviet countryside, and then dekulakization, as
the result of an authentic class war. The political conclusion was the same
in Berlin and Moscow: the state would have to step in to make sure that the
necessary redistribution was relatively peaceful. Whereas Stalin had
achieved by 1933 the authority and gathered the coercive power to force
through collectivization on a massive scale, Hitler had to move far more
slowly. The boycott had only a limited effect; the main consequence was
the emigration of some 37,000 German Jews in 1933. It would be five more
years before substantial transfers of property from Jews to non-Jewish
Germans—which the Nazis called “Aryanization”—took place.9



The Soviet Union began from a position of international isolation, and
with the help of many sympathizers abroad was able with some success to
control its image. By many, Stalin was given the benefit of the doubt, even
as his policies moved from shooting to deportation to starvation. Hitler, on
the other hand, had to reckon with international opinion, which included
voices of criticism and outrage. Germany in 1933 was full of international
journalists and other travelers, and Hitler needed peace and trade for the
next few years. So even as he called an end to the boycott, Hitler used
unfavorable attention in the foreign press to build up a rationale for the
more radical policies to come. The Nazis presented European and American
newspapers as controlled by Jews, and any foreign criticism as part of the
international Jewish conspiracy against the German people.10

An important legacy of the March 1933 boycotts was thus rhetorical.
Hitler introduced an argument that he would never cease to use, even much
later, when his armies had conquered much of Europe and his institutions
were killing millions of Jews. No matter what Germany or Germans did, it
was because they were defending themselves from international Jewry. The
Jews were always the aggressor, the Germans always the victims.

At first, Hitler’s anti-communism was more pertinent to domestic politics
than his anti-Semitism. To control the German state, he would have to break
the communists and the social democrats. Over the course of 1933, some
two hundred thousand Germans were locked up, most of them men seen as
left-wing opponents of the regime. Hitler’s terror in 1933 was meant to
intimidate rather than eliminate: most of these people were released after
short periods in what the Nazis euphemistically called “protective custody.”
The communist party was not allowed to take up the eighty-one seats that it
had won in the elections; soon all of its property was seized by the state. By
July 1933 it was illegal in Germany to belong to any other political party
than the Nazis. In November the Nazis staged a parliamentary election in
which only their candidates could run and win. Hitler had very quickly
made of Germany a one-party state—and certainly not the sort of one-party
state that Stalin might have expected. The German communist party, for
years the strongest outside the Soviet Union itself, was broken in a matter
of a few months. Its defeat was a serious blow to the prestige of the
international communist movement.11



At first, Stalin seemed to hope that the Soviet-German special
relationship could be preserved, despite Hitler’s rise to power. Since 1922,
the two states had engaged in military and economic cooperation, on the
tacit understanding that both had an interest in the remaking of eastern
Europe at the expense of Poland. The 1922 agreement at Rapallo had been
confirmed by the neutrality pact of the Treaty of Berlin, signed in 1926 and
extended for another five years in 1931. The clearest sign of good relations
and common purpose were the German military exercises on Soviet soil.
These came to an end in September 1933. In January 1934, Nazi Germany
signed a nonaggression declaration with Poland. This surprise move seemed
to signal a basic reorientation in German foreign policy. It seemed that
Warsaw had replaced Moscow as Berlin’s favored partner in the East. Might
the Germans and the Poles now fight together against the Soviet Union?12

The new German relationship with Poland likely meant more to Stalin
than the oppression of the German communists. Stalin himself always
conducted foreign policy at two levels: the diplomatic and the ideological,
one directed at states, the other at societies, including his own. For the one
he had his commissar for foreign affairs, Maxim Litvinov; for the other he
had the Communist International. He probably assumed that Hitler’s
approach was much the same, and thus that overt anti-communism need not
prevent good relations between Berlin and Moscow. But the approach to
Poland added what looked like anti-Soviet diplomacy to an anti-communist
ideology. As Stalin correctly suspected, Hitler was trying to enlist Poland as
a junior ally in a crusade against the Soviet Union. While the German-
Polish negotiations were underway in late 1933, Soviet leaders rightly
worried that the Germans were trying to buy Polish territory in the west
with the promise that Poland could later annex territories from Soviet
Ukraine. Poland, however, never showed any interest in Germany’s
propositions to extend the accord in such a way. The German-Polish
declaration did not in fact include a secret protocol on military cooperation
against the USSR, despite what Soviet intelligence and propaganda
claimed. Yet Hitler did wish to use the German-Polish declaration as the
beginning of a rapprochement with Warsaw that would culminate in a
military alliance against the USSR. He wondered aloud in spring 1934
about the necessary inducements.13



In January 1934, the Soviet Union seemed to be in a dreadful position. Its
domestic policies had starved millions of its own citizens to death. Its
foreign policies had contributed to the rise of a threatening anti-communist
dictator, Hitler, who had made peace with the previous common German-
Soviet enemy, Poland.

Stalin found the rhetorical and ideological escape route. At the Soviet
communist party congress of January-February 1934, known as “The
Congress of Victors,” Stalin claimed that a second revolution had been
completed within the Soviet Union. The famines, the most unforgettable
experience of the Soviet peoples, went unmentioned. They blurred into a
general story of how Stalin and his loyal retinue had overcome the
resistance of enemies to implement the Five-Year Plan. Lazar Kaganovich
praised his master Stalin as the creator of “the greatest revolution that
human history has ever known.” The rise of Hitler, despite appearances,
was a sign of the coming victory of the Soviet system in the world. The
brutality of the Nazis revealed that capitalism would soon collapse under its
own contradictions, and that a European revolution was around the corner.14

This interpretation could only make sense to revolutionaries by
conviction, to communists already bound to their leader by faith and fear. It
took a special sort of mind to truly believe that the worse things appeared,
the better they actually were. Such reasoning went by the name dialectics,
but by this time that word (despite its proud descent from the Greeks
through Hegel and Marx) meant little more than the psychic capacity to
adjust one’s own perceptions to the changing expressions of Stalin’s will.15

For his part, Stalin knew that rhetoric was not enough. Even as he
proclaimed that Hitler’s revolution was a sign of the coming socialist
victory, Stalin hastened to change his domestic policy. He did not take
revenge on the Ukrainian peasant year after year. The peasants had to live
on, frightened and intimidated, but productive of the foodstuffs needed by
the Soviet state. Soviet policy now allowed all peasants to cultivate a small
plot, the equivalent of a private garden, for their own use. Requisition
quotas and export targets ceased their unreasoning climb. Starvation within
the Soviet Union came to an end in 1934.16



The rise of Hitler was indeed an opportunity to present the Soviet Union
as the defense of European civilization. Stalin, after more than a year,
finally took it in June 1934. According to the new line of the Communist
International, propagated then, politics was no longer a matter of “class
against class.” Instead, the Soviet Union and communist parties around the
world would unite the Left in a camp of “anti-fascists.” Rather than
engaging in uncompromising class struggle, communists would rescue
civilization from the rising tide of fascism. Fascism, the term popularized
by Mussolini in Italy, was presented by the Soviets as a general corruption
of late capitalism. Though fascism’s spread signified the end of the old
capitalist order, its vicious hatred of the Soviet Union (went the argument)
justified Soviet and communist compromises with other capitalist forces (in
the interest of defending the Soviet Union). European communists were to
restyle themselves as “anti-fascists,” and to cooperate with social democrats
and other parties of the Left. Communists in Europe were expected to join
“Popular Fronts,” electoral alliances and win election victories with social
democrats and other parties of the Left. For the time being, communists
were to work within democracies, rather than toward their destruction.17



This came too late for German communists and social democrats, of
course. But throughout western and southern Europe, people concerned
with halting the spread of Hitler and fascism celebrated the new Soviet
approach. By presenting the Soviet Union as the homeland of “anti-
fascism,” Stalin was seeking after a monopoly of the good. Surely
reasonable people would want to be on the side of the anti-fascists, rather
than that of the fascists? Anyone who was against the Soviet Union, was the
suggestion, was probably a fascist or at least a sympathizer. During the
period of the Popular Front, from June 1934 through August 1939, about
three quarters of a million Soviet citizens would be shot to death by order of
Stalin, and still more deported to the Gulag. Most of the repressed would be
peasants and workers, the people whom the Soviet social system was
supposed to serve. The others would generally be members of national
minorities. Just as Hitler’s rise had obscured the Soviet famine of 1933,
Stalin’s response would distract attention from the Great Terror.18

The Popular Front enjoyed the greatest chances for success in the west
European democracies furthest from the Soviet Union, France, and Spain.
The greatest triumph was in Paris, where a Popular Front government
indeed came to power in May 1936. Left-wing parties (including Herriot’s
Radicals) won elections, and the socialist Léon Blum became prime
minister. The French communists, part of a victorious electoral coalition,
did not formally join the government, but they did provide the
parliamentary majority and influence policy. The votes could thus be found
for reforms—although the communists were chiefly concerned with
ensuring that French foreign policy was friendly to the Soviet Union. In
Paris, the Popular Front was seen as a triumph of native traditions of the
Left. But many, not least the political refugees from Nazi Germany, saw it
as a Soviet success, and even a confirmation that the Soviets supported
democracy and freedom. The Popular Front in France made it far more
difficult for some of the most impressive European intellectuals to criticize
the Soviet Union.19

In Spain, a coalition of parties also formed a Popular Front, and won the
elections of February 1936. There, events took a rather different turn. In
July army officers, supported by far-right groups, tried to overturn the
elected government in a coup d’état. The government resisted, and the
Spanish Civil War began. Though for Spaniards this was an essentially



domestic struggle, the ideological enemies of the Popular Front era took
sides. The Soviet Union began to supply arms to the embattled Spanish
Republic in October 1936, while Nazi Germany and fascist Italy supported
the right-wing forces led by General Francisco Franco. The Spanish Civil
War occasioned closer relations between Berlin and Rome, and became the
center of attention of Soviet policy in Europe. Spain was on the front pages
of major Soviet newspapers every day for months.20

Spain became the rallying cry of European socialists who came to fight
for the side of the endangered republic, many of whom took for granted that
the Soviet Union was on the side of democracy. One of the more perceptive
of the European socialists, the English writer George Orwell, was dismayed
by the struggle of Stalinists within Spain to dominate the Spanish Left. As
he saw it, the Soviets exported their political practices along with their
weapons. Stalin’s assistance to the Spanish republic came with a price: his
right to carry out factional struggles on Spanish territory. Stalin’s greatest
rival, Trotsky, was still alive (if in distant Mexican exile), and many of the
Spaniards defending their republic were more attached to Trotsky’s person
than to Stalin’s Soviet Union. Soon communist propaganda was presenting
the Spanish Trotskyites as fascists, and Soviet NKVD officers were sent to
Spain to shoot them for their “treason.”21

The enemies of the Popular Front presented it as a conspiracy of the
Communist International to rule the world. The Popular Front provided
Japan and Germany with a convenient pretext to solidify their own
relations. On 25 November 1936, Germany and Japan signed the Anti-
Comintern Pact, which obliged the two states to consult with each other if
either was attacked. An agreement between Japanese and German
intelligence agencies of 11 May 1937 provided for the exchange of
intelligence on the USSR, and included a plan for both to use national
movements in the Soviet borderlands against the Soviet Union.22

From the Soviet perspective, the Japanese threat was more immediate
than the German. During the first half of 1937, Germany appeared to be an
addendum to a Japanese threat, rather than the other way around. Japanese
politics was dominated by dueling visions of empire, one in the south and
one in the north. An important clique in the Japanese military believed that



Siberian resources were the key to the country’s future economic
development. Japan’s Manchurian satellite, Manchukuo, had a long border
with Soviet Siberia, and looked ever more like a launching pad for an
invasion. The Japanese were toying with the idea of establishing a puppet
Ukrainian state on Soviet territory in eastern Siberia, based on the million
or so Ukrainians who lived there as deportees or settlers. As Tokyo
understood, Ukrainians deported to the Gulag might well oppose Soviet
power, given the assurance of foreign backing. Polish spies who knew of
the idea referred to it as “Manchukuo Number Two.”23

The Japanese certainly seemed to have a long-term interest in Siberia. A
special Japanese academy in Manchukuo, in the city of Harbin, had already
trained a first generation of young, Russian-speaking imperialists, such as
Chiune Sugihara. He was one of the negotiators of an agreement whereby
the Soviets, in 1935, sold their rights to the railway in Manchuria to the
Japanese. Sugihara was also in charge of the foreign policy office of
Manchukuo. A convert to the Russian Orthodox religion and husband to a
Russian wife, Sugihara called himself Sergei and spent most of his time in
the Russian quarter of Harbin. There he befriended Russian exiles, and
recruited them for espionage missions within the Soviet Union. The drama
of the Soviet-Japanese duel in east Asia attracted the attention of Gareth
Jones, who traveled to Manchuria that same year. The Welshman, with his



uncanny instinct for news, was right to see this region as the crucial theater
in the global conflict between “fascism” and “anti-fascism.” In somewhat
mysterious circumstances, he was abducted by bandits and murdered.24

Stalin had to be concerned not only with a direct Japanese attack on
Soviet Siberia but also with the consolidation of a Japanese empire in east
Asia. Manchukuo was one Japanese colony taken from historically Chinese
territory; perhaps more were to come. China had the longest border with the
Soviet Union, and an unstable polity. China’s nationalist government had
the upper hand in an ongoing civil war with the Chinese communist party.
In the “Long March,” Chinese communist troops, led by Mao Zedong, had
been forced to withdraw into the north and west of the country. Neither
side, however, seemed able to achieve anything resembling a monopoly of
force in the country. Even in regions where the nationalists had the upper
hand, they were reliant upon local warlords. Perhaps most importantly for
Stalin, the nationalists and communists were unable to cooperate against the
advance of the Japanese.

Soviet foreign policy had to balance between support for fraternal
communist parties (less important) and concerns of Soviet state security
(more important). While in principle the Communist International
supported the Chinese communists, Stalin armed and funded the nationalist
government, in the hope of pacifying the border. In the largely Muslim
Chinese province of Xinjiang, which had a long border with Soviet
Kazakhstan, Stalin took an equally unideological approach. He supported
the local warlord Sheng Shicai, sending engineers and miners to exploit
natural resources, and NKVD men to ensure security.25

Globally, the German-Japanese rapprochement could be seen as
completing an encirclement of the Soviet homeland by Japan, Germany,
and Poland. These were the three most important neighbors of the Soviet
Union; they were also three states that had defeated the Soviet Union (or the
Russian Empire) in the wars of Stalin’s lifetime. Even though Germany had
lost the First World War, its troops had defeated the Russian Army on the
eastern front in 1917. Japan had humiliated the Russian Army and Navy in
the Russo-Japanese War of 1904-1905. Poland had defeated the Red Army
as recently as 1920. Now, after the German-Polish and the German-
Japanese agreements, these three powers appeared to be arrayed against the
Soviet Union. If the Anti-Comintern Pact and the German-Polish



nonaggression declaration had indeed included secret protocols concerning
an offensive war on the Soviet Union, then Stalin would have been right
about encirclement. In fact, neither did; and an offensive alliance between
Tokyo, Warsaw, and Berlin was highly unlikely, if not impossible. Although
Poland’s relations with Japan were good, Warsaw wished to take no step
that could be interpreted as hostile to the Soviet Union. Poland declined
Germany’s invitation to join the Anti-Comintern Pact.26

Part of Stalin’s political talent was his ability to equate foreign threats with
failures in domestic policy, as if the two were actually the same thing, and
as if he were responsible for neither. This absolved him of blame for policy
failures, and allowed him to define his chosen internal enemies as agents of
foreign powers. As early as 1930, as problems of collectivization became
apparent, he was already speaking of international conspiracies between
supporters of Trotsky and various foreign powers. It was obvious, Stalin
proclaimed, that “as long as the capitalist encirclement exists there will
continue to be present among us wreckers, spies, saboteurs and murderers.”
Any problem with Soviet policies was the fault of reactionary states that
wished to slow the proper course of history. Any seeming flaws of the Five-
Year Plan were a result of foreign intervention: hence the harshest of
penalties was justified for traitors, and the blame always resided in Warsaw,
Tokyo, Berlin, London, or Paris.27

In these years, Stalinism thus involved a kind of double bluff. The
success of the Popular Front depended on a record of progress toward
socialism that was largely a matter of propaganda. Meanwhile, the
explanation of famine and misery at home depended upon the idea of
foreign subversion, which was essentially without merit. Atop the Soviet
party apparatus and atop the Communist International, Stalin was making
these two bluffs simultaneously, and he knew just how they could be called:
by a foreign military intervention by a state crafty enough to enlist Soviet
citizens who had suffered under his policies. The power of the combination
of foreign war and domestic opposition was, after all, the first lesson of
Soviet history. Lenin himself had been a German secret weapon in the First
World War; the Bolshevik Revolution itself was a side effect of the German
foreign policy of 1917. Twenty years later, Stalin had to fear that his
opponents within the Soviet Union would use a coming war to overthrow



his own regime. Trotsky was in emigration, just as Lenin had been in 1917.
During a war Trotsky might come back and rally his supporters, just as
Lenin had done twenty years before.28

By 1937 Stalin faced no meaningful political opposition within the
Soviet communist party, but this only seemed to convince him that his
enemies had learned political invisibility. Just as he had during the height of
the famine, he argued again that year that the most dangerous enemies of
the state appeared to be harmless and loyal. All enemies, even the invisible
ones, would have to be unmasked and eradicated. On 7 November 1937, the
twentieth anniversary of the Bolshevik Revolution (and the fifth
anniversary of his wife’s suicide), Stalin raised a toast: “We will mercilessly
destroy anyone who, by his deeds or his thoughts—yes, his thoughts!—
threatens the unity of the socialist state. To the complete destruction of all
enemies, themselves and their kin!”29

 

Unlike Hitler, Stalin had at his disposal the tool to effect such a policy: the
state police once known as the Cheka and the OGPU, and by this time
called the NKVD. The Soviet state police had arisen during the Bolshevik
Revolution itself, when it was known as the Cheka. Its mission at the
beginning had been more political than legal: the elimination of opponents
of the revolution. Once the Soviet Union was established, the Cheka
(OGPU, NKVD) became a massive state police force that was charged with
the enforcement of Soviet law. In situations regarded as exceptional, such as
collectivization in 1930, normal legal procedures were suspended, and
OGPU officers (leading troikas) in effect served as judges, juries, and
executioners. This was a return to the revolutionary tradition of the Cheka,
and was justified by the presence of a revolutionary situation: either an
advance toward or a threat to socialism. In order to be in a position to crush
the enemies of his choice in the second half of the 1930s, Stalin would need
the NKVD to recognize that some sort of crisis was under way, one that
required this sort of special measure.30

A dramatic murder gave Stalin the opportunity to assert control over the
NKVD. In December 1934 one of Stalin’s closest comrades, Sergei Kirov,
was assassinated in Leningrad. Stalin exploited the Kirov assassination
much as Hitler had used the Reichstag fire the previous year. He blamed



internal political opponents for the murder, and claimed that they planned
further terrorist attacks against Soviet leaders. Although the assassin,
Leonid Nikolaev, was arrested the day the crime was committed, Stalin
would not be satisfied with a simple police action. He forced through a
special law allowing for the swift execution of “terrorists.” Emphasizing the
threat of terrorism, he declared that his former politburo opponents on the
left plotted the murder of the Soviet leadership and the overthrow of Soviet
power.31

Stalin’s interpretation of the Leningrad murder was a direct challenge to
the Soviet state police. His was not a theory that the NKVD was inclined to
accept, not least because there was no evidence. When the NKVD chief
Genrikh Yagoda dared to make inquiries of Stalin, he was told that he
should beware, lest he be “slapped down.” Stalin found a confederate,
Nikolai Yezhov, who was willing to propagate Stalin’s version of events.
Yezhov, a diminutive man from the Polish-Lithuanian borderlands, was
already known for his view that opposition was simultaneous with
terrorism. In February 1935 he took charge of a “control commission” that
collected compromising information about members of the central
committee for the benefit of the politburo. Stalin and Yezhov seemed to
reinforce each other’s beliefs in ubiquitous conspiracies. Stalin came to rely
on Yezhov, even going so far, in a rare sign of intimacy, as to express
concern about Yezhov’s health. Yezhov first became Yagoda’s deputy, then
his replacement. In September 1936 Yezhov become commissar of internal
affairs, chief of the NKVD. Yagoda was first appointed to another post, then
executed two years later.32

Beginning in August 1936, Yezhov charged Stalin’s former political
opponents with fantastic offenses in public show trials. The confessions of
these famous men drew the attention of the world. Lev Kamenev and
Grigory Zinoviev, once Trotsky’s allies and Stalin’s opponents, were tried
between 19 and 24 August. They confessed to participation in a terrorist
plot to murder Stalin and, along with fourteen other men, were sentenced to
death and executed. These old Bolsheviks had been intimidated and beaten,
and were doing little more than uttering lines from a script. But their
confessions, which were widely believed, provided a kind of alternative
history of the Soviet Union, one in which Stalin had always been right. In
the show trials to come, Stalin even followed the rhythm of the late 1920s:



having dealt with his one-time opponents from the left, Kamenev and
Zinoviev, he turned against his one-time opponent from the right, Nikolai
Bukharin. Back when debate had still been possible, in 1928, Bukharin
threatened to call Stalin an organizer of famine. Though he never fulfilled
this threat, he died anyway. Trotsky, who could not be show-tried because
he was abroad, was supposedly the ringleader. The party newspaper,
Pravda, made the connection clear in a headline of 22 August 1936:
“Trotsky-Zinoviev-Kamenev-Gestapo.” Could the three Bolsheviks in
question, men who had built the Soviet Union, truly be paid agents of
capitalist powers? Were these three communists of Jewish origin likely
agents of the secret state police of Nazi Germany? They were not, but the
charge was taken seriously, even outside the Soviet Union.33

For many Europeans and Americans, the show trials were simply trials,
and confessions were reliable evidence of guilt. Some observers who were
sympathetic to the Soviet Union saw them as a positive development: the
British socialist Beatrice Webb, for example, was pleased that Stalin had
“cut out the dead wood.” Other Soviet sympathizers no doubt suppressed
their suspicions, on the logic that the USSR was the enemy of Nazi
Germany and thus the hope of civilization. European public opinion was so
polarized by 1936 that it was indeed difficult to criticize the Soviet regime
without seeming to endorse fascism and Hitler. This, of course, was the
shared binary logic of National Socialism and the Popular Front: Hitler
called his enemies “Marxists,” and Stalin called his “fascists.”34 They
agreed that there was no middle ground.

Stalin appointed Yezhov just as he decided to intervene in Spain; the
show trials and the Popular Front were, from his perspective, the same
policy. The Popular Front allowed for the definition of friends and enemies,
subject of course to the changing line from Moscow. Like any opening to
noncommunist political forces, it demanded great vigilance, both at home
and abroad. For Stalin, the Spanish Civil War was simultaneously a battle
against armed fascism in Spain and its foreign supporters, and a struggle
against left-wing and internal enemies. He believed that the Spanish
government was weak because it was unable to find and kill enough spies
and traitors. The Soviet Union was both a state and a vision, both a
domestic political system and an internationalist ideology. Its foreign policy



was always domestic policy, and its domestic policy was always foreign
policy. That was its strength and its weakness.35

As Orwell perceived, the public Soviet story of a clash with European
fascism coincided with the blood purge of past or potential opponents at
home. Soviet missions were installed in Barcelona and Madrid just as the
show trials began. The encounter with fascism in Spain justified vigilance
in the Soviet Union, and the purges in the Soviet Union justified vigilance
in Spain. The Spanish Civil War revealed that Stalin was determined,
despite the Popular Front rhetoric of pluralism, to eliminate opposition to
his version of socialism. Orwell watched as the communists provoked
clashes in Barcelona in May 1937, and then as the Spanish government,
beholden to Moscow, banned the Trotskyite party. As Orwell wrote of that
skirmish in Barcelona: “This squalid brawl in a distant city is more
important than might appear at first.” He was exactly right. Stalin thought
that Barcelona had revealed a fascist fifth column. The event revealed the
single powerful Stalinist logic, defying geography and local political reality.
It was the subject of a moving chapter in his Homage to Catalonia, the war
memoir that taught at least some Western leftists and democrats that
fascism was not the only enemy.36

Within the Soviet Union, the confessions of the show trials seemed to
create evidence of organized conspiracies, which Yezhov called “centers,”
backed by foreign intelligence agencies. In late June 1937 in Moscow,
Yezhov informed the central committee of the party of the conclusions that
he had drawn. There was, Yezhov announced to the party elite, one master
conspiracy, a “Center of Centers,” that embraced all of the political
opponents, the armed forces, and even the NKVD. Its aim was nothing less
than the destruction of the Soviet Union and the restoration of capitalism on
its territories. The agents of the “Center of Centers” would stop at nothing,
including the castration of prize sheep—an act of sabotage Yezhov
specifically mentioned. All of this justified purges within the party, the
army, and the NKVD. Eight high commanders of the armed forces were
show-tried that same month; about half of the generals of the Red Army
would be executed in the months to come. Of the 139 members of the
central committee who took part in the party congress of 1934 (the
Congress of Victors), some 98 were shot. All in all, the purification of the



armed forces, state institutions, and the communist party led to about fifty
thousand executions.37

During these same years, 1934-1937, Hitler was also using violence to
assert his control over the institutions of power: the party, the police, and
the military. Like Stalin, he revisited his own rise to power, and visited
death upon some of the people who had aided him. Although the scale of
the murder was far smaller, Hitler’s purges clarified that the rule of law in
Germany was subject to the whims of the Leader. Unlike Stalin, who had to
subordinate the NKVD to his own authority, Hitler ordered terror as a way
to develop his own favored paramilitary, the SS, and assert its superiority
over the various German state police forces. Whereas Stalin used his purges
to intimidate the Soviet armed forces, Hitler actually drew the German
generals closer to his person by killing a Nazi that the army high command
regarded as a threat.

The most prominent target of Hitler’s purge was Ernst Röhm, the leader
of one of the Nazi paramilitaries, the SA brownshirts. The SA had helped
Hitler assert his personal authority, to intimidate opponents (and voters),
and to come to power in 1933. The streetfighting of the SA was less useful
to Hitler as chancellor than it had been for Hitler as politician. Röhm spoke
in 1933 and 1934 of the need for a second revolution, an idea that Hitler
rejected. Röhm also nurtured personal ambitions that ill fit Hitler’s plans to
rebuild the German military. Röhm portrayed his SA as a better reflection
of the Nazi spirit than the German armed forces, which he wished to control
himself. His three million SA brownshirts far outnumbered the hundred
thousand soldiers permitted to the German armed forces by the Treaty of
Versailles. Hitler meant to break those treaty obligations, but by rebuilding
the German army rather than by replacing or merging it with a
paramilitary.38

In late June 1934 Hitler ordered the SS to murder Röhm and several
dozen of his associates, as well as other rivals within the Nazi movement
and a few other politicians. The SS was led by Heinrich Himmler, who
emphasized racial purity, ideological training, and personal loyalty to Hitler.
In what came to be known as the “Night of the Long Knives,” Hitler was
using one of the Nazi paramilitaries, the SS, to master the other, the SA. He



was endorsing Himmler’s work, and putting an end to Röhm—and dozens
of other people. Hitler told the parliament on 14 July 1935 that seventy-four
men had been killed; the true number was at least eighty-five, several of
whom were (Nazi) parliamentary deputies. He claimed, naturally, that
Röhm and the others had been planning a coup against his legitimate
government, and had to be stopped in advance. In addition to the SA
leadership, Hitler’s blood purge had reached conservatives and former
heads of government. Of the three chancellors who had preceded him, one
was murdered, one was arrested, and the third fled.39

Because the SS was the chosen instrument of the murder campaign,
Himmler moved closer to the center of power. The SS, now separated
institutionally from the SA, became the most powerful institution within the
National Socialist party. After the Night of the Long Knives, its task would
be to subordinate the many German police institutions to Nazi ideology.
Himmler would seek to merge his SS with Germany’s established police
forces by way of rotation of personnel and institutional centralization under
his personal command. In 1936 Hitler named Himmler the Chief of German
Police. This placed him in charge of the uniformed men of the Order Police,
the detectives of the Criminal Police, and the operatives of the Secret State
Police (Gestapo). The police was a state institution (or rather comprised a
number of different state institutions) and the SS was a Nazi party
institution; Himmler sought to bring the two together. In 1937, Himmler
established the office of Higher SS and Police Leaders, regional chiefs who
in theory commanded both SS and police forces, and unified the hierarchy
of command.40

Just as important as the elevation of the SS over the SA was the
improvement of relations between Hitler and the generals. The execution of
Röhm earned Hitler a debt of gratitude from the army high command. Until
1934, the army had been the only important state institution that Hitler had
not fully mastered. Once Hitler showed that he planned to rebuild the army
rather than overwhelm it with the SA, this quickly changed. When the
German president died a few weeks later, the military endorsed Hitler’s
elevation to head of state. Hitler would never claim the title “president”; he
preferred “Leader.” From August 1934, German soldiers swore an
unconditional oath of personal loyalty to Hitler, and thenceforth addressed
him as “My Leader.” Later that month Hitler’s titles as “Leader and Reich



Chancellor” were confirmed by national plebiscite. In March 1935, Hitler
publically renounced Germany’s commitments under the Versailles Treaty,
reintroduced military conscription, and began to rebuild the German armed
forces.41

Like Stalin, Hitler showed himself to be the master of the organs of
power, presenting himself as the victim of plots, and then ridding himself of
real or imagined rivals. Simultaneously, however, Hitler was creating the
kinds of instruments of coercion that Stalin had inherited from Lenin and
the Bolshevik Revolution. The SS and the German police would never be
capable of organized terror within Germany on the scale of the NKVD in
the Soviet Union. The Night of the Long Knives, with its dozens of victims,
was dwarfed by the Soviet purges of the party, armed forces, and NKVD, in
which tens of thousands of people were executed. That was far more people
than the Nazi regime would kill before the Second World War. The SS
would need time and practice before it could rival the NKVD. Himmler saw
his charges as “ideological soldiers,” but they would fulfill their mission of
racial conquest and domination only at the backs of true soldiers: behind the
lines in Poland after 1939, or in the Soviet Union after 1941.42

The logic of Hitler’s domestic terror was of a future offensive war:
fought by an expanded Wehrmacht loyal to Hitler, transformed into a war of
destruction by the SS and the police. In this one sense, Stalin’s fears of war
were perfectly justified. The Germans, however, were not counting on help
from the Soviet population in that coming war. In this respect, Stalin’s
scenario of threat, the union of foreign enemies with domestic opponents,
was quite wrong. Thus the still greater terror that Stalin would unleash upon
his own population in 1937 and 1938 was entirely fruitless, and indeed
counterproductive.

The Soviet purges within the army, party, and NKVD were the prelude to
Stalin’s Great Terror, which in 1937 and 1938 would take the lives of
hundreds of thousands of people for reasons of class and nation. The
interrogations of tens of thousands of people during the purges generated a
multitude of “organizations,” “plots,” and “groups”—categories into which
more and more Soviet citizens could fall. The executions of communist
party members no doubt gave rise to fears within the communist party; but



the party would generally be spared, if its members followed Stalin’s lead in
summer 1937 and agreed to pursue the true enemies within the mass of
Soviet society. The purges also tested the loyalty of the NKVD, as its
leadership was changed at the whim of Stalin, and its officers were forced
to watch as their colleagues were purged. Yet in summer 1937 the besieged
NKVD would be turned against social groups that many of its officers were
ready to define as enemies. For months the top leadership of the Soviet
Union had been plotting a blow against a group that they perhaps did fear:
the kulaks.43

The kulaks were peasants, the stubborn survivors of Stalin’s revolution:
of collectivization and famine, and very often of the Gulag. As a social
class, the kulak (prosperous peasant) never really existed; the term was
rather a Soviet classification that took on a political life of its own. The
attempt to “liquidate the kulaks” during the first Five-Year Plan had killed a
tremendous number of people, but it created rather than destroyed a class:
those who had been stigmatized and repressed, but who had survived. The
millions of people who were deported or who fled during collectivization
were forever after regarded as kulaks, and sometimes accepted the
classification. What Soviet leaders had to consider was the possibility that
the revolution itself had created its own opponents. At the plenum of the
central committee of the communist party in February and March 1937,
several speakers drew the logical conclusions. “Alien elements” were
corrupting the pure proletariat of the cities. The kulaks were “impassioned
enemies” of the Soviet system.44

To be a kulak was not only to have suffered, it was to have survived
movement across vast distances. Collectivization had forced millions of
kulaks into the Gulag or into the cities. This meant journeys of hundreds or
even thousands of miles. Some three million peasants, at least, had become
paid laborers during the first Five-Year Plan. That, after all, was the Plan:
that the Soviet Union would be transformed from an agrarian to an
industrial country. Perhaps two hundred thousand people who would have
been stigmatized as kulaks had made for the cities before they could be
executed or deported. About four hundred thousand kulaks had managed to
flee the special settlements, some for the cities, more for the countryside.
Tens of thousands more had been allowed to leave concentration camps and
the special settlements after serving their terms. Five-year Gulag sentences



in 1930, 1931, and 1932 meant mass releases of Gulag survivors in 1935,
1936, and 1937.45

The optimistic assumption had been that the movement and the
punishment would strip the kulak of his harmful social origins, and make of
him a Soviet person. By the second half of the 1930s, Stalinism had shed
any such expectations of progress. The very social mobility intrinsic to his
policy of industrialization was now unsettling. Kulaks were rejoining the
collective farms: perhaps they would lead rebellions, as other peasants had
done in 1930. The kulaks were returning to a social order that was
traditional in many ways. Stalin knew, from the 1937 census that he
suppressed, that a majority of adults still defied the atheism of the Soviet
state and believed in God. Twenty years after the Bolshevik Revolution,
religious faith was perplexing, and perhaps unnerving. Could the kulaks
rebuild the society that once had been?46

The kulaks sentenced later or to longer terms in the Gulag were still in
exile in Siberia or Kazakhstan, in Soviet east or central Asia: might not
such people support a Japanese invasion? The NKVD reported in June 1937
that exiled kulaks in Siberia constituted a “broad base on which to build an
insurgent rebellion.” Surely, given the support of a foreign power and the
cover of war, the kulaks would fight against Soviet power. In the meantime,
they were the enemy within. One repressive policy created the foundations
for another: exiled kulaks did not love the Soviet system; and their place of
exile, so far from their homes, was close to a source of foreign threat, the
expanding Japanese empire.47

Reports from the NKVD in the Far East provided the scenario for an
alliance between internal opponents and a foreign power. In April 1937
riots had broken out against the Soviet presence in the Chinese province of
Xinjiang. In the Japanese puppet state Manchukuo, the Japanese were
recruiting Russian émigrés, who were making contact with kulaks in exile
throughout Siberia. According to the NKVD, a “Russian General Military
Union,” backed by Japan, planned to incite exiled kulaks to rebel when
Japan invaded. In June 1937 the regional NKVD received permission to
carry out mass arrests and executions of people suspected of collaborating
with the “Russian General Military Union.” The targets of the operation
were to be exiled kulaks and the former Russian imperial officers who



supposedly commanded them. Naturally, the former were in much greater
supply than the latter. And so began the killing of the kulaks, in their
Siberian exile.48

Soviet leaders always regarded the Japanese threat as the eastern half of a
global capitalist encirclement involving Poland and Nazi Germany.
Preparations for a war against Japan in Asia were also preparations for a
war in Europe. Precisely because many kulaks were returning home at this
time from Soviet Asia to Soviet Europe, it was possible to imagine
networks of enemies that extended from one end of the Soviet Union to the
other. Though the shooting of peasants began in Siberia, Stalin apparently
decided to punish kulaks not only in eastern exile but throughout the Soviet
Union.

In a telegram entitled “On Anti-Soviet Elements,” Stalin and the
politburo issued general instructions on 2 July 1937 for mass repressions in
every region of the Soviet Union. The Soviet leadership held kulaks
responsible for recent waves of sabotage and criminality, which meant in
effect anything that had gone wrong within the Soviet Union. The politburo
ordered the provincial offices of the NKVD to register all kulaks who
resided in their regions, and to recommend quotas for execution and
deportation. Most regional NKVD officers asked to be allowed to add
various “anti-Soviet elements” to the lists. By 11 July the politburo already
had a first round of lists of people to be repressed. At Stalin’s initiative,
these initial numbers were rounded up, adding “an extra thousand.” This
raised the stakes of the operation, sending a clear signal to the state police
that they were to do more than simply sentence all of the people on whom
they already had files. In order to demonstrate their diligence in a climate of
threats and purges, NKVD officers would have to find still more victims.49

Stalin and Yezhov wanted “the direct physical liquidation of the entire
counter-revolution,” which meant the elimination of enemies “once and for
all.” The revised quotas were sent back down from Moscow to the regions
as part of Order 00447, dated 31 July 1937, “On the Operations to Repress
Former Kulaks, Criminals, and Other Anti-Soviet Elements.” Here Stalin
and Yezhov anticipated the execution of 79,950 Soviet citizens by shooting
and the sentencing of 193,000 more to eight to ten years in the Gulag. It
was not that the politburo or the NKVD central office in Moscow had
272,950 particular people in mind for repression. Just which Soviet citizens



would fulfill these quotas remained to be seen; the local NKVD branches
would decide that.50

The killing and imprisonment quotas were officially called “limits,”
though everyone involved knew that they were meant to be exceeded. Local
NKVD officers had to explain why they could not meet a “limit,” and were
encouraged to exceed them. No NKVD officer wished to be seen as lacking
élan when confronting “counter-revolution,” especially when Yezhov’s line
was “better too far than not far enough.” Not 79,950 but five times as many
people would be shot in the kulak action. By the end of 1938, the NKVD
had executed some 386,798 Soviet citizens in fulfillment of Order 00447.51

 

Order 00447 was to be implemented by the same institution that had
brought terror to the Soviet countryside in the early 1930s: the three-person
commission, or troika. Composed of a regional NKVD chief, a regional
party leader, and a regional prosecutor, the troikas were responsible for
transforming the quotas into executions, the numbers into bodies. The
overall quota for the Soviet Union was divided among sixty-four regions,
each with a corresponding troika. In practice, the troikas were dominated by
the NKVD chiefs, who usually chaired the meetings. Prosecutors had been
ordered to ignore legal procedures. Party chiefs had other responsibilities,
were not experts on security matters, and were afraid that they might
themselves be targeted. NKVD chiefs were in their element.52

The fulfillment of Order 00447 began with the emptying of the file
cabinets. The NKVD had some sort of material on kulaks, since kulak was a
category created by the state. Criminals, the second group mentioned in the
order, were by definition people who had an encounter with the judicial
system behind them. In practical terms, the other “anti-Soviet elements”
named in the order were simply the people on whom the local NKVD had a
file. Local NKVD officers, helped by police, carried out investigations in
“operational sectors” within each of the sixty-four zones. An “operational
group” assembled a list of people to be interrogated. Those targeted were
arrested, forced to confess, and encouraged to implicate others.53

Confessions were elicited by torture. The NKVD and other police organs
applied the “conveyer method,” which meant uninterrupted questioning,
day and night. This was complemented by the “standing method,” in which



suspects were forced to stand in a line near a wall, and beaten if they
touched it or fell asleep. Under time pressure to make quotas, officers often
simply beat prisoners until they confessed. Stalin authorized this on 21 July
1937. In Soviet Belarus, interrogating officers would hold prisoners’ heads
down in the latrine and then beat them when they tried to rise. Some
interrogators carried with them draft confessions, and simply filled in the
prisoner’s personal details and changed an item here or there by hand.
Others simply forced prisoners to sign blank pages and then filled them in
later at leisure. In this way Soviet organs “unmasked” the “enemy,”
delivering his “thoughts” to the files.54

The numbers came down from the center, but the corpses were made
locally. The troikas who fulfilled Order 00447 were responsible for
sentencing the prisoners, with no need for any confirmation from Moscow,
and no possibility for appeal. The three members of a troika would meet at
night with investigating officers. For each case they would hear a very brief
report, along with a recommendation for sentencing: death or the Gulag.
(Only a very few of those arrested were not sentenced at all.) The troikas
would almost always accept these recommendations. They handled
hundreds of cases at a time, at a pace of sixty per hour or more; the life or
death of an individual human was decided in a minute or less. In a single
night the Leningrad troika, for example, sentenced to death 658 prisoners of
the concentration camp at Solovki.55

Terror prevailed in the Gulag, as everywhere else. It might be difficult to
see how concentration camp inmates could threaten the Soviet state: but
like the regions of the USSR, the Gulag system had its own death quota, to
be met or exceeded. Just as people who had been defined as kulaks might
be dangerous, so might people who were incarcerated as kulaks—so went
the logic. The camps of the Gulag had an initial quota of ten thousand
executions, though in the end 30,178 of its prisoners were shot. Omsk, a
southwest Siberian city whose environs were full of special settlers
deported during collectivization, was the site of some of the most vicious
campaigns. Its NKVD chief had already requested an additional quota of
eight thousand executions on 1 August 1937, before Order 00447 even went
into effect. His men once sentenced 1,301 people in a single night.56

 



This kulak operation was carried out in secret. No one, including the
condemned, was told of the sentences. Those sentenced would simply be
taken, first to some sort of prison, and then either to a freight car or an
execution site. Execution facilities were built or chosen with an eye to
discretion. Killings were always carried out at night, and in seclusion. They
took place in soundproofed rooms below ground, in large buildings such as
garages where noise could cover gunshots, or far from human settlement in
forests. The executioners were always NKVD officers, generally using a
Nagan pistol. While two men held a prisoner by his arms, the executioner
would fire a single shot from behind into the base of the skull, and then
often a “control shot” into the temple. “After the executions,” one set of
instructions specified, “the bodies are to be laid in a pit dug beforehand,
then carefully buried and the pit is to be camouflaged.” As the winter of
1937 came and the ground froze, the pits were prepared using explosives.
Everyone who took part in these operations was sworn to secrecy. Only a
very few people were directly involved. A team of just twelve Moscow
NKVD men shot 20,761 people at Butovo, on the outskirts of Moscow, in
1937 and 1938.57

The kulak operation involved shooting from the beginning to the end:
Yezhov reported to Stalin, with evident pride, that 35,454 people had been
shot by 7 September 1937. During the year 1937, however, the number of
Gulag sentences exceeded the number of death sentences. As time passed,
new allocations tended to be for executions rather than exile. In the end, the
number of people killed in the kulak operation was about the same as the
number sent to the Gulag (378,326 and 389,070, respectively). The overall
shift from exile to execution was for practical reasons: it was easier to kill
than to deport, and the camps quickly filled to capacity—and had little use
for many of the deportees. One investigation in Leningrad led to the
shooting (not the deportation) of thirty-five people who were deaf and
dumb. In Soviet Ukraine, the NKVD chief Izrail Leplevskii ordered his
officers to shoot rather than exile the elderly. In such cases, Soviet citizens
were killed because of who they were.58

 

Soviet Ukraine, where “kulak resistance” had been widespread during
collectivization, was a major center of the killing. Leplevskii expanded the
framework of Order 00447 to include supposed Ukrainian nationalists, who



since the famine had been treated as a threat to the territorial integrity of the
Soviet Union. Some 40,530 people in Soviet Ukraine were arrested on the
charge of nationalism. In one variant, Ukrainians were arrested for
supposedly having requested food aid from Germany in 1933. When the
(already-twice-increased) quotas for Soviet Ukraine were fulfilled in
December 1937, Leplevskii asked for more. In February 1938 Yezhov
added 23,650 to the death quota for the republic. All in all, in 1937 and
1938, NKVD men shot 70,868 inhabitants of Soviet Ukraine in the kulak
operation. The ratio of shootings to other sentences was especially high in
Soviet Ukraine during the year 1938. Between January and August, some
35,563 people were shot, as against only 830 sent to camps. The troika for
the Stalino district, for example, met seven times between July and
September 1938, and sentenced to death every single one of the 1,102
people accused. The troika in Voroshilovgrad, similarly, sentenced to death
all 1,226 people whose cases it reviewed in September 1938.59

These tremendous numbers meant regular and massive executions, over
enormous and numerous death pits. In Soviet Ukrainian industrial cities,
workers with real or imagined kulak backgrounds were sentenced to death
for some sort of sabotage, and typically killed the same day. In Vinnytsia,
people sentenced to death were tied, gagged, and driven to a car wash.
There a truck awaited, its engine running to cover the sound of the
gunshots. The bodies were then placed in the truck and driven to a site in
the city: an orchard, perhaps, or a park, or a cemetery. Before their work
was done, the NKVD men had dug no fewer than eighty-seven mass graves
in and around Vinnytsia.60

 

Like the show trials, the kulak operation allowed Stalin to relive the years
of the late 1920s and early 1930s, the period of his true political
vulnerability, this time with a predictable outcome. The former political
opponents, representing the moment of political debate over
collectivization, were physically eliminated. So were the kulaks, standing
for the moment of mass resistance to collectivization. Just as the murder of
party elites confirmed Stalin’s succession of Lenin, so the murder of kulaks
confirmed his interpretation of Lenin’s policies. If collectivization had led
to mass starvation, that had been the fault of those who starved and the
foreign intelligence agencies who somehow arranged the whole thing. If



collectivization had given rise to a sense of grievance among the
population, that too was the fault of the very people who had suffered and
their supposed foreign sponsors. Precisely because Stalin’s policy was so
disastrous in the first place, its defense seemed to require such tortured
logic and massive death. Once these measures had been taken, they could
be presented as the verdict of history.61

Yet even as Stalin presented his own policies as inevitable, he was
abandoning (without admitting anything of the kind) the Marxism that
allowed leaders to discuss and pretend to know the future. Insofar as
Marxism was a science of history, its natural world was the economy, and
its object of investigation the social class. Even in the harshest of Leninist
interpretations of Marxism, people opposed the revolution because of their
class background. Yet with Stalinism something was changing; normal state
security concerns had infused the Marxist language and changed it
unalterably. The accused in the show trials had supposedly betrayed the
Soviet Union to foreign powers. Theirs was a class struggle, according to
the accusation, only in the most indirect and attenuated sense: they
supposedly had aided states that represented the imperialist states that
encircled the homeland of socialism.

Although the kulak action was at first glance a class terror, the killing
was sometimes directed, as in Soviet Ukraine, against “nationalists.” Here,
too, Stalinism was introducing something new. In Lenin’s adaptation of
Marxism, nationalities were supposed to embrace the Soviet project, as
their social advance coincided with the construction of the Soviet state.
Thus the peasant question was initially linked to the national question in a
positive way: people rising from the peasantry into the working or clerical
or professional classes would come to national awareness as loyal Soviet
citizens. Now, under Stalin, the peasant question was linked to the national
question in a negative sense. The attainment of Ukrainian national
consciousness by Ukrainian peasants was dangerous. Other, smaller
national minorities were more threatening still. Most of the victims of Order
00447 in Soviet Ukraine were Ukrainians; but a disproportionate number
were Poles. Here the connection between class and nation was perhaps most
explicit. In a kind of operational shorthand, NKVD officers said: “Once a
Pole, always a kulak.”62



The Nazi terror of 1936-1938 proceeded along somewhat similar lines,
usually punishing members of politically defined social groups for what
they were, rather than individuals for anything that they might have done.
For the Nazis the most important category were the “asocials,” groups that
were thought to be (and sometimes truly were) resistant to the Nazi
worldview. These were homosexuals, vagrants, and people who were
thought to be alcoholic, addicted to drugs, or unwilling to work. They were
also Jehovah’s Witnesses, who rejected the premises of the Nazi worldview
with strikingly greater clarity than most other German Christians. The Nazi
leadership regarded such people as racially German but corrupt, and thus to
be improved by confinement and punishment. Like the Soviet NKVD, the
German police carried out organized raids of districts in 1937 and 1938,
seeking to meet a numerical quota of specified sectors of the population.
They, too, often overfulfilled these quotas in their zealous desire to prove
loyalty and impress superiors. The outcome of arrests, however, was
different: almost always confinement, very rarely execution.63

The Nazi repression of these undesirable social groups required the
creation of a network of German concentration camps. To the camps at
Dachau and Lichtenberg, both established in 1933, were added
Sachsenhausen (1936), Buchenwald (1937), and Flossenberg (1938). By
comparison with the Gulag, these five camps were rather modest. While
more than a million Soviet citizens toiled in the Soviet concentration camps
and special settlements in late 1938, the number of German citizens in the
German concentration camps was about twenty thousand. When the
difference in population size is taken into account, the Soviet system of
concentration camps was about twenty-five times larger than the German
one at this time.64

Soviet terror, at this point, was not only on a far greater scale; it was
incomparably more lethal. Nothing in Hitler’s Germany remotely resembled
the execution of nearly four hundred thousand people in eighteen months,
as under Order 00447 in the Soviet Union. In the years 1937 and 1938, 267
people were sentenced to death in Nazi Germany, as compared to 378,326
death sentences within the kulak operation alone in the Soviet Union.
Again, given the difference in population size, the chances that a Soviet
citizen would be executed in the kulak action were about seven hundred



times greater than the chances that a German citizen would be sentenced to
death in Nazi Germany for any offense.65

 

After a purge of the leadership and an assertion of dominance over the key
institutions, both Stalin and Hitler carried out social cleansings in 1937 and
1938. But the kulak action was not the entirety of the Great Terror. It could
be seen, or at least presented, as class war. But even as the Soviet Union
was killing class enemies, it was also killing ethnic enemies.

By the late 1930s, Hitler’s National Socialist regime was well known for
its racism and anti-Semitism. But it was Stalin’s Soviet Union that
undertook the first shooting campaigns of internal national enemies.



CHAPTER 3
NATIONAL TERROR

People belonging to national minorities “should be forced to their knees and
shot like mad dogs.” It was not an SS officer speaking but a communist
party leader, in the spirit of the national operations of Stalin’s Great Terror.
In 1937 and 1938, a quarter of a million Soviet citizens were shot on
essentially ethnic grounds. The Five-Year Plans were supposed to move the
Soviet Union toward a flowering of national cultures under socialism. In
fact, the Soviet Union in the late 1930s was a land of unequalled national
persecutions. Even as the Popular Front presented the Soviet Union as the
homeland of toleration, Stalin ordered the mass killing of several Soviet
nationalities. The most persecuted European national minority in the second
half of the 1930s was not the four hundred thousand or so German Jews
(the number declining because of emigration) but the six hundred thousand
or so Soviet Poles (the number declining because of executions).1

Stalin was a pioneer of national mass murder, and the Poles were the
preeminent victim among the Soviet nationalities. The Polish national
minority, like the kulaks, had to take the blame for the failures of
collectivization. The rationale was invented during the famine itself in
1933, and then applied during the Great Terror in 1937 and 1938. In 1933,
the NKVD chief for Ukraine, Vsevolod Balytskyi, had explained the mass
starvation as a provocation of an espionage cabal that he called the “Polish
Military Organization.” According to Balytskyi, this “Polish Military
Organization” had infiltrated the Ukrainian branch of the communist party,
and backed Ukrainian and Polish nationalists who sabotaged the harvest
and then used the starving bodies of Ukrainian peasants as anti-Soviet
propaganda. It had supposedly inspired a nationalist “Ukrainian Military
Organization,” a doppelganger performing the same fell work and sharing
responsibility for the famine.2

This was a historically inspired invention. There was no Polish Military
Organization during the 1930s, in Soviet Ukraine or anywhere else. It had
once existed, back during the Polish-Bolshevik War of 1919-1920, as a
reconnaissance group for the Polish Army. The Polish Military
Organization had been overmastered by the Cheka, and was dissolved in



1921. Balytskyi knew the history, since he had taken part in the
deconspiracy and the destruction of the Polish Military Organization back
then. In the 1930s Polish spies played no political role in Soviet Ukraine.
They lacked the capacity to do so even in 1930 and 1931 when the USSR
was most vulnerable, and they could still run agents across the border. They
lacked the intention to intervene after the Soviet-Polish nonaggression pact
was initialed in January 1932. After the famine, they generally lost any
remaining confidence about their ability to understand the Soviet system,
much less change it. Polish spies were shocked by the mass starvation when
it came, and unable to formulate a response. Precisely because there was no
real Polish threat in 1933, Balytskyi had been able to manipulate the
symbols of Polish espionage as he wished. This was typical Stalinism: it
was always easier to exploit the supposed actions of an “organization” that
did not exist.3

The “Polish Military Organization,” Balytskyi had argued back in
summer 1933, had smuggled into the Soviet Union countless agents who
pretended to be communists fleeing persecution in their Polish homeland. In
fact, communism was marginal and illegal in Poland, and Polish
communists saw the Soviet Union as their natural place of refuge. Although
Polish military intelligence doubtless tried to recruit Polish communists,
most of the Polish leftists who came to the Soviet Union were simply
political refugees. The arrests of Polish political émigrés in the Soviet
Union began in July 1933. The Polish communist playwright Witold
Wandurski was jailed in August 1933, and forced to confess to participation
in the Polish Military Organization. With this link between Polish
communism and Polish espionage documented in interrogation protocols,
more Polish communists were arrested in the USSR. The Polish communist
Jerzy Sochacki left a message in his own blood before jumping to his death
from a Moscow prison in 1933: “I am faithful to the party to the end.”4

The “Polish Military Organization” provided a rationale for the
scapegoating of Poles for Soviet policy failures. After the signing of the
German-Polish nonaggression declaration in January 1934, Poles were
blamed not only for the famine but also for the worsening of the Soviet
international position. That month Balytskyi blamed the “Polish Military
Organization” for the continuation of Ukrainian nationalism. In March 1934
in Soviet Ukraine, some 10,800 Soviet citizens of Polish or German



nationality were arrested. In 1935, as the level of NKVD activity decreased
in the Soviet Union as a whole, it continued to increase in Soviet Ukraine,
with special attention to Soviet Poles. In February and March 1935, some
41,650 Poles, Germans, and kulaks were resettled from western to eastern
Ukraine. Between June and September 1936, some 69,283 people, for the
most part Soviet Poles, were deported from Ukraine to Kazakhstan. Polish
diplomats were confused by these developments. Poland was pursuing a
policy of equal distance between the Soviet Union and Nazi Germany:
nonaggression agreements with both, alliances with neither.5

The “Polish Military Organization,” conjured up during the famine in
1933, was sustained as pure bureaucratic fantasy in Soviet Ukraine, then
adapted to justify a national terror of Poles throughout the Soviet Union.
Stalin gave a first cue in December 1934, asking that the Pole Jerzy
Sosnowski be removed from the NKVD. Sosnowski, long before a member
of the Polish Military Organization, had been turned by the Cheka and had
worked productively for the Soviets for more than a decade. In part because
the Soviet state police had been founded by a Polish communist, Feliks
Dzierżyński, many of its most prominent officers were Poles, often people
recruited in those early days. Yezhov, the NKVD chief, seems to have been
threatened by these veteran Polish officers; he was certainly obsessed with
Poles generally. Inclined to believe in intricate plots orchestrated by foreign
intelligence agencies, he gave pride of place to Poland because Poles, in his
view, “know everything.” The investigation of Sosnowski, who was
arrested in December 1936, might have brought the historical Polish
Military Organization to Yezhov’s attention.6

Yezhov followed Balytskyi’s anti-Polish campaign in Soviet Ukraine, and
then reconceptualized it. As the show trials began in Moscow in 1936,
Yezhov drew his subordinate Balytskyi into a trap. While prominent
communists confessed in Moscow, Balytskyi was reporting from Kiev that
the “Polish Military Organization” had been re-created in Soviet Ukraine.
No doubt he simply wished to claim attention and resources for himself and
his local apparatus at a time of security panic. Yet now, in a turn of events
that must have surprised Balytskyi, Yezhov declared that the “Polish
Military Organization” was an even greater danger than Balytskyi claimed.
It was a matter not for the regional NKVD in Kiev but for the central
NKVD in Moscow. Balytskyi, who had invented the plot of the “Polish



Military Organization,” now lost control of the story. Soon a confession was
extracted from the Polish communist Tomasz Dąbal, who claimed to have
directed the “Polish Military Organization” in the entire Soviet Union.7

Thanks to Yezhov’s initiative, the “Polish Military Organization” lost any
residue of its historical and regional origins, and became simply a threat to
the Soviet Union as such. On 16 January 1937 Yezhov presented his theory
of a grand Polish conspiracy to Stalin, and then with Stalin’s approval to a
plenum of the central committee. In March Yezhov purged the NKVD of
Polish officers. Although Balytskyi was not Polish but Ukrainian by
nationality, he now found himself in a very awkward position. If the “Polish
Military Organization” had been so important, asked Yezhov, why had
Balytskyi not been more vigilant? Thus Balytskyi, who had summoned up
the specter of the “Polish Military Organization” in the first place, became a
victim of his own creation. He yielded his Ukrainian position in May to his
former deputy, Izrail Leplevskii—the NKVD officer who carried out the
kulak operation in Soviet Ukraine with such vigor. On 7 July Balytskyi was
arrested on charges of espionage for Poland; a week later his name was
removed from the stadium where Dynamo Kiev played its soccer matches
—to be replaced by Yezhov’s. Balytskyi was executed that November.8

In June 1937, when Yezhov introduced the imaginary “Center of
Centers” to explain the kulak action and the continuing show trials, he also
announced the threat of the equally unreal “Polish Military Organization.”
The two, supposedly, were connected. Like the justification for the kulak
action, the justification for the Polish action permitted the rewriting of the
entirety of Soviet history, so that responsibility for all policy problems
could be placed upon enemies, and those enemies clearly defined. In
Yezhov’s account, the “Polish Military Organization” had been active in the
Soviet Union from the beginning, and had penetrated not only the
communist party but the Red Army and the NKVD. It had been invisible
(went Yezhov’s argument) precisely because it was so important; it had
agents in high places who were able to mask themselves and their works.9

On 11 August 1937, Yezhov issued Order 00485, mandating that the
NKVD carry out the “total liquidation of the networks of spies of the Polish
Military Organization.” Though issued shortly after the beginning of the
kulak operation, Order 00485 notably radicalized the Terror. Unlike Order



00447, which targeted familiar categories of enemies definable at least
theoretically by class, Order 00485 seemed to treat a national group as an
enemy of the state. To be sure, the kulak order also specified criminals, and
was applied to nationalists and political enemies of various kinds. But there
was at least a faltering aureole of class analysis. Kulaks as a group could at
least be described in Marxist terms. The enmity of the nations of the Soviet
Union toward the Soviet project was something else. It looked like an
abandonment of the basic socialist premise of the fraternity of peoples.10

 

Soviet influence in the world, in these years of the Popular Front, depended
upon an image of toleration. Moscow’s major claim to moral superiority, in
a Europe where fascism and National Socialism were on the rise, and for
American southerners journeying from a land of racial discrimination and
lynchings of blacks, was as a multicultural state with affirmative action. In
the popular Soviet film Circus of 1936, for example, the heroine was an
American performer who, having given birth to a black child, finds refuge
from racism in the Soviet Union.11

Internationalism was not hypocrisy, and ethnic killing was a shock to the
Soviet system. The NKVD was composed of many nationalities, and
represented a kind of internationalism. When the show trials began in 1936,
the heights of the NKVD were dominated by men whose own origins were
within the Soviet national minorities, Jews above all. About forty percent of
high-ranking NKVD officers had Jewish nationality recorded in their
identity documents, as did more than half of the NKVD generals. In the
climate of the day, Jews had perhaps more reason than others to resist
policies of ethnic destruction. Perhaps to counter the internationalist (or
self-preservation) instinct of his officers, Yezhov sent out a special circular
assuring them that their task was to punish espionage rather than ethnicity:
“On the Fascist-Insurgent, Sabotage, Defeatist, and Terrorist Activity of the
Polish Intelligence Service in the USSR.” Its thirty pages expanded upon
the theory that Yezhov had already shared with the central committee and
with Stalin: that the Polish Military Organization was connected to other
espionage “centers” and had penetrated every key Soviet institution.12

Even if the idea of a deep Polish penetration of Soviet institutions
persuaded Yezhov and Stalin, it could not serve as the evidentiary basis for



individual arrests. There simply was nothing resembling a vast Polish plot
in the Soviet Union. NKVD officers had too few leads to follow. Even with
a great deal of ingenuity, connections between the Polish state and events in
the Soviet Union would be hard to document. The two most obvious groups
of Polish citizens, diplomats and communists, were clearly inadequate for a
mass killing action. The heyday of Polish espionage in the Soviet Union
was long past, and the NKVD knew what there was to be known about what
the Poles had tried to do in the late 1920s and early 1930s. To be sure,
Polish diplomats still tried to gather intelligence. But they were protected
by diplomatic immunity, not very numerous, and under constant
surveillance already. For the most part, they knew better by 1937 than to
contact Soviet citizens and thereby endanger their lives—this was a time
when they themselves were furnished with instructions on how to behave
when arrested. Yezhov told Stalin that Polish political émigrés were major
“suppliers of spies and provocateur elements in the USSR.” Leading Polish
communists were often already in the Soviet Union, and sometimes already
dead. Some sixty-nine of the hundred members of the central committee of
the Polish party were executed in the USSR. Most of the rest were behind
bars in Poland, and so were unavailable for execution. And in any case,
these numbers were far too small.13

Precisely because there was no Polish plot, NKVD officers had little
choice but to persecute Soviet Poles and other Soviet citizens associated
with Poland, Polish culture, or Roman Catholicism. The Polish ethnic
character of the operation quickly prevailed in practice, as perhaps it was
bound to from the beginning. Yezhov’s letter authorized the arrest of
nationalist elements, and of “Polish Military Organization” members who
had yet to be discovered. These categories were so vague that NKVD
officers could apply them to almost anyone of Polish ethnicity or with some
connection to Poland. NKVD officers who wished to show the appropriate
zeal in carrying out the operation would have to be rather vague about the
charges against individual people. Balytskyi’s previous actions against
Poles had created a pool of suspects sufficient for a few purges, but this was
far from enough. Local NKVD officers would have to take the initiative—
not in looking up the card files, as in the kulak operation, but in creating a
new paper trail to follow. One Moscow NKVD chief understood the gist of



the order: his organization should “destroy the Poles entirely.” His officers
looked for Polish names in the telephone book.14

Soviet citizens would have to “unmask” themselves as Polish agents.
Because the groups and scenarios of the ostensible Polish plot had to be
generated from nothing, torture played an important role in the
interrogations. In addition to the traditional conveyer method and the
standing method, many Soviet Poles were subjected to a form of collective
torture called the “conference method.” Once a large number of Polish
suspects had been gathered in a single place, such as the basement of a
public building in a town or village of Soviet Ukraine or Soviet Belarus, a
policeman would torture one of them in full view of the others. Once the
victim had confessed, the others would be urged to spare themselves the
same sufferings by confessing as well. If they wanted to avoid pain and
injury, they would have to implicate not only themselves but others. In this
situation, each person had an incentive to confess as quickly as possible: it
was obvious that everyone would be implicated eventually anyway, and a
quick confession might at least spare the body. In this way, testimony that
implicated an entire group could be assembled very quickly.15

The legal procedures were somewhat different than in the kulak
operation, but no less scanty. In the Polish operation, the investigating
officer would compose a brief report for each of the prisoners, describing
the supposed crime—usually sabotage, terrorism, or espionage—and
recommending one of two sentences, death or the Gulag. Every ten days he
would submit all of his reports to the regional NKVD chief and a
prosecutor. Unlike the troikas of the kulak operation, this two-person
commission (a “dvoika”) could not sentence the prisoners by itself, but had
to ask for approval from higher authorities. It assembled the reports into an
album, noted its recommended sentence for each case, and sent them on to
Moscow. In principle, the albums were then reviewed by a central dvoika:
Yezhov as the commissar for state security and Andrei Vyshynskii as state
prosecutor. In fact, Yezhov and Vyshynskii merely initialed the albums after
a hasty review by their subordinates. On a single day, they might finalize
two thousand death sentences. The “album method” gave the appearance of
a formal review by the highest Soviet authorities. In reality, the fate of each
victim was decided by the investigating officer and then more or less
automatically confirmed.16



Biographies became death sentences, as attachment to Polish culture or
Roman Catholicism became evidence of participation in international
espionage. People were sentenced for the most apparently minor of
offenses: ten years in the Gulag for owning a rosary, death for not
producing enough sugar. Details of everyday life were enough to generate a
report, an album entry, a signature, a verdict, a gunshot, a corpse. After
twenty days, or two cycles of albums, Yezhov reported to Stalin that 23,216
arrests had already been made in the Polish operation. Stalin expressed his
delight: “Very good! Keep on digging up and cleaning out this Polish filth.
Eliminate it in the interests of the Soviet Union.”17

 

In the early stages of the Polish operation, many of the arrests were made in
Leningrad, where the NKVD had large offices and where thousands of
Poles lived within easy reach. The city had been a traditional place of
settlement of Poles since the days of the Russian Empire.

Janina Juriewicz, then a young Polish girl in Leningrad, saw her life
altered by these early arrests. The youngest of three sisters, she was very
attached to Maria, the eldest. Maria fell in love with a young man called
Stanisław Wyganowski, and the three of them would go for walks together,
little Janina serving as chaperone. Maria and Stanisław, married in 1936,
were a happy couple. When Maria was arrested in August 1937, her
husband seemed to know what this meant: “I will meet her,” he said, “under
the ground.” He went to the authorities to make inquiries, and was arrested
himself. In September the NKVD visited the Juriewicz family home,
confiscated all of the Polish books, and arrested Janina’s other sister,
Elżbieta. She, Maria, and Stanisław were all executed by a shot to the back
of the neck, and buried anonymously in mass graves. When Janina’s mother
asked the police about them, she was told the typical lie: her daughters and
son-in-law had been sentenced to “ten years without the right to
correspondence.” Because this was another possible sentence, people
believed it and hoped. Many of them kept hoping for decades.18

People such as the Juriewiczes, who had nothing to do with Polish
espionage of any kind, were the “filth” to which Stalin was referring. The
family of Jerzy Makowski, a young Leningrad student, suffered a similar
fate. He and his brothers were all ambitious, wishing to build careers for
themselves in the Soviet Union, and fulfill their deceased father’s wish that



they master a trade. Jerzy, the youngest of the brothers, wanted to be a
shipbuilder. He studied each day with his older brother Stanisław. One
morning the two of them were awakened by three NKVD men, who had
come to arrest Stanisław. Though he tried to reassure his little brother, he
was so nervous that he could not tie his shoes. This was the last Jerzy saw
of his brother. Two days later, the next brother, Władysław, was also
arrested. Stanisław and Władysław Makowski were executed, two of the
6,597 Soviet citizens shot in the Leningrad region in the Polish operation.
Their mother was told the typical lie: that her sons had been sent to the
Gulag without the right of correspondence. The third brother, Eugeniusz,
who had wished to be a singer, now took a factory job to support the family.
He contracted tuberculosis and died.19

The Russian poet Anna Akhmatova, then living in Leningrad, lost her
son to the Gulag during the Terror. She recalled an “innocent Russia” that
writhed “beneath the bloody boots of the executioners, beneath the wheels
of the black marias.” Innocent Russia was a multinational country,
Leningrad was a cosmopolitan city, and its national minorities were the
people most at risk. In the city of Leningrad in 1937 and 1938, Poles were
thirty-four times more likely to be arrested than their fellow Soviet citizens.
Once arrested, a Pole in Leningrad was very likely to be shot: eighty-nine
percent of those sentenced in the Polish operation in this city were
executed, usually within ten days of the arrest. This was only somewhat
worse than the situation of Poles elsewhere: on average, throughout the
Soviet Union, seventy-eight percent of those arrested in the Polish operation
were executed. The rest, of course, were not released: most of them served
sentences of eight to ten years in the Gulag.20

Leningraders and Poles had little idea of these proportions at the time.
There was only the fear of the knock on the door in the early morning, and
the sight of the prison truck: called the black maria, or the soul destroyer, or
by Poles the black raven (nevermore). As one Pole remembered, people
went to bed each night not knowing whether they would be awakened by
the sun or by the black raven. Industrialization and collectivization had
scattered Poles throughout the vast country. Now they simply disappeared
from their factories, barracks, or homes. To take one example of thousands:
in a modest wooden house in the town of Kuntsevo, just west of Moscow,
lived a number of skilled workers, among them a Polish mechanic and a



Polish metallurgist. These two men were arrested on 18 January 1938 and 2
February 1938, and shot. Evgenia Babushkina, a third victim of the Polish
operation in Kuntsevo, was not even Polish. She was a promising and
apparently loyal organic chemist. But her mother had once been a washer-
woman for Polish diplomats, and so Evgenia was shot as well.21

 

Most Soviet Poles lived not in Soviet Russian cities, such as Leningrad or
Kuntsevo, but in westerly Soviet Belarus and Soviet Ukraine, lands Poles
had inhabited for hundreds of years. These districts had been part of the old
Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth in the seventeenth and eighteenth
centuries. Over the course of the nineteenth century, when these territories
were western regions of the Russian Empire, Poles had lost a great deal of
their status, and in many cases had begun to assimilate with the surrounding
Ukrainian and Belarusian populations. Sometimes, though, the assimilation
was in the other direction, as speakers of Belarusian or Ukrainian who
regarded Polish as the language of civilization presented themselves as
Poles. The original Soviet nationality policy of the 1920s had sought to
make proper Poles of such people, teaching them literary Polish in Polish-
language schools. Now, during the Great Terror, Soviet policy distinguished
these people once again, but negatively, by sentencing them to death or to
the Gulag. As with the contemporary persecution of Jews in Nazi Germany,
the targeting of an individual on ethnic grounds did not mean that this
person actually identified himself strongly with the nation in question.22

In Soviet Belarus the Terror coincided with a massive purge of the party
leadership in Minsk, carried out by NKVD commander Boris Berman. He
accused local Belarusian communists of abusing Soviet affirmative action
policies and fomenting Belarusian nationalism. Later than in Ukraine, but
with much the same reasoning, the NKVD presented the Polish Military
Organization as the mastermind behind supposed Belarusian disloyalty.
Soviet citizens in Belarus were accused of being “Belarusian national
fascists,” “Polish spies,” or both. Because Belarusian lands, like Ukrainian
lands, were divided between the Soviet Union and Poland, such arguments
could easily be made. To be concerned with Belarusian or Ukrainian culture
as such involved attention to developments on the other side of a state
border. The mass killing in Soviet Belarus included the deliberate
destruction of the educated representatives of Belarusian national culture.



As one of Berman’s colleagues later put it, he “destroyed the flower of the
Belarusian intelligentsia.” No fewer than 218 of the country’s leading
writers were killed. Berman told his subordinates that their careers
depended upon their rapid fulfillment of Order 00485: “the speed and
quality of the work in discovering and arresting Polish spies will be the
main consideration taken into account in the evaluation of each leader.”23

Berman and his men took advantage of economies of scale, killing at one
of the largest murder sites in the Soviet Union. They carried out executions
in the Kurapaty Forest, twelve kilometers north of Minsk. The woods were
known for their white flowers—Kurasliepy in literary Belarusian, Kurapaty
in the local dialect. The black ravens drove through the white flowers day
and night, in such numbers that they flattened the narrow gravel alley into
what the locals called “the road of death.” Within the forest, fifteen hectares
of pine had been cleared, and hundreds of pits dug. After condemned Soviet
citizens were driven through the gates, they were escorted by two men to
the edge of a pit. There they were shot from behind, and pushed into the
ditch. When bullets were in short supply, NKVD men would force their
victims to sit side by side, their heads in a line, so that a single bullet could
be fired through several skulls at once. The corpses were arranged in layers
and covered with sand.24

Of the 19,931 people arrested in the Polish operation in the Belarusian
republic, 17,772 were sentenced to death. Some of these people were
Belarusians, and some were Jews. But most were Poles, who were also
subject to arrest in Belarus in the kulak action and in the other purges. All in
all, as a result of executions and death sentences the number of Poles in
Soviet Belarus fell by more than sixty thousand during the Great Terror.25

 

The Polish operation was most extensive in Soviet Ukraine, which was
home to about seventy percent of the Soviet Union’s six hundred thousand
Poles. Some 55,928 people were arrested in Soviet Ukraine in the Polish
operation, of whom 47,327 were shot. In 1937 and 1938, Poles were twelve
times more likely than the rest of the Soviet Ukrainian population to be
arrested. It was in Soviet Ukraine that the famine had generated the theory
of the Polish Military Organization, here that Balytskyi had persecuted
Poles for years, and here that his former deputy, Izrail Leplevskii, had to



prove his vigilance after his former superior was removed from the scene. It
did Leplevskii little good: he too was arrested, in April 1938, and executed
before the Polish operation in Ukraine was even completed. (His successor
A. I. Uspenskii was wise enough to disappear in September 1938, but was
eventually found and executed.)26

One of Leplevskii’s deputies, Lev Raikhman, provided categories of
arrest that could be applied to the large Polish population of Soviet Ukraine.
One of the suspect groups, interestingly enough, was that of Soviet police
agents working among the Soviet Poles. This recreated the dilemma of
vigilance facing Balytskyi, Leplevskii, and NKVD officers generally. Once
it had been “established” that the “Polish Military Organization” was and
had been ubiquitous in Soviet Ukraine and powerful throughout the Soviet
Union, the NKVD could always argue that policemen and informers had
failed to show sufficient vigilance at an earlier moment. Although many of
these police agents were themselves Soviet Poles, some were Ukrainians,
Jews, or Russians.27

Jadwiga Moszyńska fell into this trap. A Polish journalist working for a
Polish-language newspaper, she informed on her colleagues to the police.
As her colleagues were arrested and charged as Polish spies, she was left in
an impossible position. Why had she not told the authorities that the entire
Polish community was a nest of foreign agents? Czesława Angielczyk, an
NKVD officer of Polish-Jewish origin who reported on teachers of the
Polish language, suffered a similar fate. Once the Polish operation was in
full swing and teachers were routinely arrested, she too was vulnerable to
the accusation that she had not previously been sufficiently diligent in her
work. Both women were executed and buried at Bykivnia, a huge collection
of mass graves northeast of Kiev. At least ten thousand Soviet citizens were
executed at that site during the Great Terror. 28

In the Ukrainian countryside the Polish operation was, if anything, even
more arbitrary and ferocious than in Kiev and the cities. “The black raven
flew,” as Polish survivors remembered, from town to town, village to
village, visiting grief upon the Poles. The NKVD would bring crews to
cities in the hopes of completing the business of arresting and executing
Poles in a few weeks, or even days. In Zhmerynka, an important railway
junction, the NKVD appeared in March 1938, rounded up hundreds of



Poles, and tortured them to produce confessions. In Polonne, the dvoika of
the NKVD chief and prosecutor commandeered the desecrated Roman
Catholic church building. Poles from Polonne and surrounding villages
were arrested and locked in the church basement. Some 168 people were
killed in the Polonne church.29

In the smallest settlements, it was difficult to discern even the emptiest of
judicial formalities. NKVD task forces appeared suddenly, with instructions
to arrest and execute a certain number of people. They would begin from
the assumption that an entire village, factory, or collective farm was guilty,
surround the place by night, and then torture the men until they got the
results they needed. Then they would carry out the executions and move on.
In many such cases the victims were long dead by the time that the albums
with their case files were assembled and reviewed in Moscow. In the
countryside, the NKVD task forces were death squads. In Cherniivka the
NKVD waited until 25 December 1937 (Christmas for Roman Catholic
Poles, not for Orthodox Ukrainians) and then arrested whoever attended
church. Those arrested simply disappeared, as a local woman remembered:
“a stone in the water.”30



Those arrested were almost always men, and their arrests left families in
despair. Zeferyna Koszewicz saw her father for the last time as he was
arrested at his factory and taken to Polonne for interrogation. His last words
to her were: “listen to your mother!” Yet most mothers were all but
helpless. In the Ukrainian countryside, as throughout the Soviet Union,
wives would ritually visit the prison each day, bringing food and clean
undergarments. Prison guards would give them soiled undergarments in
exchange. Since these were the only sign that husbands still lived, they
were received with joy. Sometimes a man would manage to smuggle out a
message, as did one husband in the underwear he had passed to his wife: “I
suffer and I am innocent.” One day the undergarments would be soiled by



blood. And the next day there would be no undergarments, and then there
would be no husband.31

In October and November 1937, before the camps and special settlements
were full, wives were exiled to Kazakhstan after their husbands were shot.
During these weeks the NKVD often abducted Polish children over the age
of ten and took them to orphanages. That way they would certainly not be
raised as Poles. From December 1937, when there was no longer much
room in the Gulag, women were generally not exiled, but were left alone
with their children. Ludwik Piwiński, for example, was arrested while his
wife was giving birth to their son. He could not tell her his sentence, as he
was never allowed to see her, and only learned it himself on the train: ten
years felling trees in Siberia. He was one of the lucky ones, one of those
relatively few Poles who was arrested but who survived. Eleanora
Paszkiewicz watched her father being arrested on 19 December 1937, and
then watched her mother giving birth on Christmas Day.32

The Polish operation was fiercest in Soviet Ukraine, in the very lands
where deliberate starvation policies had killed millions only a few years
before. Some Polish families who lost men to the Terror in Soviet Ukraine
had already been horribly struck by the famine. Hanna Sobolewska, for
example, had watched five siblings and her father die of starvation in 1933.
Her youngest brother, Józef, was the toddler who, before his own death by
starvation, had liked to say: “Now we will live!” In 1938 the black raven
took her one surviving brother, as well as her husband. As she remembered
the Terror in Polish villages in Ukraine: “children cry, women remain.”33

 

In September 1938, the procedures of the Polish operation came to
resemble those of the kulak operation, as the NKVD was empowered to
sentence, kill, and deport without formal oversight. The album method,
simple as it was, had become too cumbersome. Even though the albums had
been subject to only the most cursory review in Moscow, they nevertheless
arrived more quickly than they could be processed. By September 1938
more than one hundred thousand cases awaited attention. As a result,
“special troikas” were created to read the files at a local level. These were
composed of a local party head, a local NKVD chief, and a local
prosecutor: often the same people who were carrying out the kulak



operation. Their task was now to review the accumulated albums of their
districts, and to pass judgment on all of the cases. Since the new troikas
were usually just the original dvoika plus a communist party member, they
were just approving their own previous recommendations.34

Considering hundreds of cases a day, going through the backlog in about
six weeks, the special troikas sentenced about 72,000 people to death. In the
Ukrainian countryside, the troikas also operated now as they had in the
kulak operation, sentencing and killing people in large numbers and in great
haste. In the Zhytomyr region, in the far west of Soviet Ukraine near
Poland, a troika sentenced an even 100 people to death on 22 September
1938, then another 138 on the following day, and then another 408 on 28
September.35

 

The Polish operation was in some respects the bloodiest chapter of the
Great Terror in the Soviet Union. It was not the largest operation, but it was
the second largest, after the kulak action. It was not the action with the
highest percentage of executions among the arrested, but it was very close,
and the comparably lethal actions were much smaller in scale.

Of the 143,810 people arrested under the accusation of espionage for
Poland, 111,091 were executed. Not all of these were Poles, but most of
them were. Poles were also targeted disproportionately in the kulak action,
especially in Soviet Ukraine. Taking into account the number of deaths, the
percentage of death sentences to arrests, and the risk of arrest, ethnic Poles
suffered more than any other group within the Soviet Union during the
Great Terror. By a conservative estimate, some eighty-five thousand Poles
were executed in 1937 and 1938, which means that one-eighth of the
681,692 mortal victims of the Great Terror were Polish. This is a
staggeringly high percentage, given that Poles were a tiny minority in the
Soviet Union, constituting fewer than 0.4 percent of the general population.
Soviet Poles were about forty times more likely to die during the Great
Terror than Soviet citizens generally.36

The Polish operation served as a model for a series of other national
actions. They all targeted diaspora nationalities, “enemy nations” in the new
Stalinist terminology, groups with real or imagined connections to a foreign
state. In the Latvian operation some 16,573 people were shot as supposed



spies for Latvia. A further 7,998 Soviet citizens were executed as spies for
Estonia, and 9,078 as spies for Finland. In sum, the national operations,
including the Polish, killed 247,157 people. These operations were directed
against national groups that, taken together, represented only 1.6 percent of
the Soviet population; they yielded no fewer than thirty-six percent of the
fatalities of the Great Terror. The targeted national minorities were thus
more than twenty times as likely to be killed in the Great Terror than the
average Soviet citizen. Those arrested in the national actions were also very
likely to die: in the Polish operation the chances of execution were seventy-
eight percent, and in all of the national operations taken together the figure
was seventy-four percent. Whereas a Soviet citizen arrested in the kulak
action had an even chance of being sentenced to the Gulag, a Soviet citizen
arrested in a national action had a three-in-four chance of being shot. This
was perhaps more an accident of timing than a sign of especially lethal
intent: the bulk of the arrests for the kulak action was earlier than the bulk
of the arrests for the national actions. In general, the later in the Great
Terror that a citizen was arrested, the more likely he was to be shot, for the
simple reason that the Gulag lacked space.37

Although Stalin, Yezhov, Balytskyi, Leplevskii, Berman, and others
linked Polish ethnicity to Soviet security, murdering Poles did nothing to
improve the international position of the Soviet state. During the Great
Terror, more people were arrested as Polish spies than were arrested as
German and Japanese spies together, but few (and very possibly none) of
the people arrested were in fact engaged in espionage for Poland. In 1937
and 1938, Warsaw carefully pursued a policy of equal distance between
Nazi Germany and the Soviet Union. Poland harbored no plans for an
offensive war with the Soviet Union.38

But perhaps, Stalin reasoned, killing Poles could do no harm. He was
right to think that Poland would not be an ally with the Soviet Union in a
war against Germany. Because Poland lay between Nazi Germany and the
Soviet Union, it could not be neutral in any war for eastern Europe. It
would either oppose Germany and be defeated or ally with Germany and
invade the Soviet Union. Either way, a mass murder of Soviet Poles would
not harm the interests of the Soviet Union—so long as the interests of the
Soviet Union had nothing to do with the life and well-being of its citizens.
Even such cynical reasoning was very likely mistaken: as puzzled



diplomats and spies noted at the time, the Great Terror diverted much
energy that might usefully have been directed elsewhere. Stalin
misunderstood the security position of the Soviet Union, and a more
traditional approach to intelligence matters might have served him better in
the late 1930s.

In 1937 Japan seemed to be the immediate threat. Japanese activity in
east Asia had been the justification for the kulak operation. The Japanese
threat was the pretext for actions against the Chinese minority in the Soviet
Union, and against Soviet railway workers who had returned from
Manchuria. Japanese espionage was also the justification for the deportation
of the entire Soviet Korean population, about 170,000 people, from the Far
East to Kazakhstan. Korea itself was then under Japanese occupation, so the
Soviet Koreans became a kind of diaspora nationality by association with
Japan. Stalin’s client in the western Chinese district of Xinjiang, Sheng
Shicai, carried out a terror of his own, in which thousands of people were
killed. The People’s Republic of Mongolia, to the north of China, had been
a Soviet satellite since its creation in 1924. Soviet troops entered allied
Mongolia in 1937, and Mongolian authorities carried out their own terror in
1937-1938, in which 20,474 people were killed. All of this was directed at
Japan.39

None of these killings served much of a strategic purpose. The Japanese
leadership had decided upon a southern strategy, toward China and then the
Pacific. Japan intervened in China in July 1937, right when the Great Terror
began, and would move further southward only thereafter. The rationale of
both the kulak action and these eastern national actions was thus false. It is
possible that Stalin feared Japan, and he had good reason for concern.
Japanese intentions were certainly aggressive in the 1930s, and the only
question was about the direction of expansion: north or south. Japanese
governments were unstable and prone to rapid changes in policy. In the end,
however, mass killings could not preserve the Soviet Union from an attack
that was not coming.



Perhaps, as with the Poles, Stalin reasoned that mass killing had no costs.
If Japan meant to attack, it would find less support inside the Soviet Union.
If it did not, then no harm to Soviet interests had been done by preemptive
mass murder and deportation. Again, such reasoning coheres only when the
interests of the Soviet state are seen as distinct from the lives and well-
being of its population. And again, the use of the NKVD against internal
enemies (and against itself) prevented a more systematic approach to the
actual threat that the Soviet Union faced: a German attack without Japanese
or Polish assistance and without the help of internal opponents of Soviet
rule.

Germany, unlike Japan and Poland, was indeed contemplating an
aggressive war against the Soviet state. In September 1936, Hitler had let it
be known to his cabinet that the main goal of his foreign policy was the
destruction of the Soviet Union. “The essence and the goal of Bolshevism,”
he claimed, “is the elimination of those strata of mankind which have
hitherto provided the leadership and their replacement by world Jewry.”
Germany, according to Hitler, would have to be ready for war within four
years. Thus Hermann Göring took command in 1936 of a Four-Year Plan
Authority, which would prepare the public and private sectors for an
aggressive war. Hitler was a real threat to the Soviet Union, but Stalin
seems not to have abandoned hope that Soviet-German relations could be



improved. For this reason, perhaps, actions against Soviet Germans were
milder than those against Soviet Poles. Some 41,989 people were shot in a
German national operation, most of whom were not Germans.40

 

In these years of the Popular Front, the Soviet killings and deportations
went unnoticed in Europe. Insofar as the Great Terror was noticed at all, it
was seen only as a matter of show trials and party and army purges. But
these events, noticed by specialists and journalists at the time, were not the
essence of the Great Terror. The kulak operations and the national
operations were the essence of the Great Terror. Of the 681,692 executions
carried out for political crimes in 1937 and 1938, the kulak and national
orders accounted for 625,483. The kulak action and the national operations
brought about more than nine tenths of the death sentences and three
quarters of the Gulag sentences.41

The Great Terror was thus chiefly a kulak action, which struck most
heavily in Soviet Ukraine, and a series of national actions, the most
important of them the Polish, where again Soviet Ukraine was the region
most affected. Of the 681,692 recorded death sentences in the Great Terror,
123,421 were carried out in Soviet Ukraine—and this figure does not
include natives of Soviet Ukraine shot in the Gulag. Ukraine as a Soviet
republic was overrepresented within the Soviet Union, and Poles were
overrepresented within Soviet Ukraine.42

The Great Terror was a third Soviet revolution. Whereas the Bolshevik
Revolution had brought a change in political regime after 1917, and
collectivization a new economic system after 1930, the Great Terror of
1937-1938 involved a revolution of the mind. Stalin had brought to life his
theory that the enemy could be unmasked only by interrogation. His tale of
foreign agents and domestic conspiracies was told in torture chambers and
written in interrogation protocols. Insofar as Soviet citizens can be said to
have participated in the high politics of the late 1930s, it was precisely as
instruments of narration. For Stalin’s larger story to live on, their own
stories sometimes had to end.

Yet the conversion of columns of peasants and workers into columns of
figures seemed to lift Stalin’s mood, and the course of the Great Terror
certainly confirmed Stalin’s position of power. Having called a halt to the



mass operations in November 1938, Stalin once again replaced his NKVD
chief. Lavrenty Beria succeeded Yezhov, who was later executed. The same
fate awaited many of the highest officers of the NKVD, blamed for the
supposed excesses, which were in fact the substance of Stalin’s policy.
Because Stalin had been able to replace Yagoda with Yezhov, and then
Yezhov with Beria, he showed himself to be at the top of the security
apparatus. Because he was able to use the NKVD against the party, but also
the party against the NKVD, he showed himself to be the unchallengeable
leader of the Soviet Union. Soviet socialism had become a tyranny where
the tyrant’s power was demonstrated by the mastery of the politics of his
own court.43

The Soviet Union was a multinational state, using a multinational
apparatus of repression to carry out national killing campaigns. At the time
when the NKVD was killing members of national minorities, most of its
leading officers were themselves members of national minorities. In 1937
and 1938, NKVD officers, many of whom were of Jewish, Latvian, Polish,
or German nationality, were implementing policies of national killing that
exceeded anything that Hitler and his SS had (yet) attempted. In carrying
out these ethnic massacres, which of course they had to if they wished to
preserve their positions and their lives, they comprised an ethic of
internationalism, which must have been important to some of them. Then
they were killed anyway, as the Terror continued, and usually replaced by
Russians.

The Jewish officers who brought the Polish operation to Ukraine and
Belarus, such as Izrail Leplevskii, Lev Raikhman, and Boris Berman, were
arrested and executed. This was part of a larger trend. When the mass
killing of the Great Terror began, about a third of the high-ranking NKVD
officers were Jewish by nationality. By the time Stalin brought it to an end
on 17 November 1938, about twenty percent of the high-ranking officers
were. A year later that figure was less than four percent. The Great Terror
could be, and by many would be, blamed on the Jews. To reason this way
was to fall into a Stalinist trap: Stalin certainly understood that Jewish
NKVD officers would be a convenient scapegoat for national killing
actions, especially after both the Jewish secret policemen and the national
elites were dead. In any event, the institutional beneficiaries of the Terror
were not Jews or members of other national minorities but Russians who



moved up in the ranks. By 1939 Russians (two thirds of the ranking
officers) had replaced Jews at the heights of the NKVD, a state of affairs
that would become permanent. Russians became an overrepresented
national majority; their population share at the heights of the NKVD was
greater than their share in the Soviet population generally. The only national
minority that was highly overrepresented in the NKVD at the end of the
Great Terror were the Georgians—Stalin’s own.44

This third revolution was really a counterrevolution, implicitly
acknowledging that Marxism and Leninism had failed. In its fifteen or so
years of existence, the Soviet Union had achieved much for those of its
citizens who were still alive: as the Great Terror reached its height, for
example, state pensions were introduced. Yet some essential assumptions of
revolutionary doctrine had been abandoned. Existence, as the Marxists had
said, no longer preceded essence. People were guilty not because of their
place in a socioeconomic order but because of their ostensible personal
identities or cultural connections. Politics was no longer comprehensible in
terms of class struggle. If the diaspora ethnicities of the Soviet Union were
disloyal, as the case against them went, it was not because they were bound
to a previous economic order but because they were supposedly linked to a
foreign state by their ethnicity.45

The link between loyalty and ethnicity was taken for granted in the Europe
of 1938. Hitler was using this very argument, at this very time, to claim that
the three million Germans of Czechoslovakia, and the regions they
inhabited, must be allowed to join Germany. In September 1938 at a
conference in Munich, Britain, France, and Italy had agreed to let Germany
annex the western rim of Czechoslovakia, where most of those Germans
lived. British Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain declared that the
arrangement had brought “peace for our time.” French Prime Minister
Edouard Daladier believed nothing of the sort, but he allowed the French
people to indulge the fancy. The Czechoslovaks were not even invited to the
conference, and were simply expected to accept the result. The Munich
agreement deprived Czechoslovakia of the natural protection of mountain
ranges and the fortifications therein, leaving the country vulnerable to a
future German attack. Stalin interpreted the settlement to mean that the



Western powers wished to make concessions to Hitler in order to turn the
Germans toward the East.46

In 1938, Soviet leaders were concerned to present their own nationality
policy as something very different from that of the racism of Nazi Germany.
A campaign of that year devoted to this goal included the publication of
children’s stories, including one called “A Tale of Numbers.” Soviet
children learned that Nazis were “rummaging through all kinds of old
documents” to establish the nationality of the German population. This was,
of course, true. Germany’s Nuremberg laws of 1935 excluded Jews from
political participation in the German state and defined Jewishness according
to descent. German officials were indeed using the records of synagogues to
establish whose grandparents were Jews. Yet in the Soviet Union the
situation was not so very different. The Soviet internal passports had a
national category, so that every Soviet Jew, every Soviet Pole, and indeed
every Soviet citizen had an officially recorded nationality. In principle
Soviet citizens were allowed to choose their own nationality, but in practice
this was not always so. In April 1938 the NKVD required that in certain
cases information about the nationality of parents be entered. By the same
order, Poles and other members of diaspora nationalities were expressly
forbidden from changing their nationality. The NKVD would not have to
“rummage around in old documents,” since it already had its own.47

In 1938, German oppression of Jews was much more visible than the
national operations in the USSR, though its scale was much smaller. The
Nazi regime began a program of “Aryanization,” designed to deprive Jews
of their property. This was overshadowed by the more public and
spontaneous theft and violence that followed the German annexation of
Austria that same month. In February Hitler issued an ultimatum to the
Austrian chancellor, Kurt von Schuschnigg, demanding that he make of his
country a German satellite. Schuschnigg at first accepted the terms, then
returned to Austria and defied Hitler by calling a referendum on
independence. On 12 March, the German army entered Austria; the next
day, Austria ceased to exist. About ten thousand Austrian Jews were
deported to Vienna that summer and fall. Thanks to the energetic efforts of
Adolf Eichmann, they were among the many Austrian Jews who left the
country in the coming months.48



In October 1938, Germany expelled seventeen thousand Jews of Polish
citizenship from the Reich into Poland. These Jews were arrested at night,
placed in train cars, and dumped unceremoniously on the Polish side of the
border. A Polish Jew in France whose parents had been expelled decided to
take revenge. He assassinated a German diplomat—a deed unfortunate in
itself, and unfortunate in its timing: the shooting took place on 7 November,
the anniversary of the Bolshevik Revolution; its victim died the next day,
the anniversary of Hitler’s Beer Hall Putsch of 1923. The murder gave
German authorities the pretext for Kristallnacht, the first large open pogrom
in Nazi Germany. Pressure had been building in the Reich, especially in
Vienna, where in the previous weeks there had been at least one attack
every day on Jewish property. Between the ninth and eleventh of November
1938, a few hundred Jews were killed (the official count was ninety-one),
and thousands of shops and hundreds of synagogues destroyed. This was
generally regarded in Europe, except by those who supported the Nazis, as
a sign of barbarism.49

The Soviet Union benefited from the public violence in Nazi Germany.
In this atmosphere, supporters of the Popular Front counted on the Soviet
Union to protect Europe from the descent into ethnic violence. Yet the
Soviet Union had just engaged in a campaign of ethnic murder on a far
larger scale. It is probably fair to say that no one beyond the Soviet Union
had any notion of this. A week after Kristallnacht, the Great Terror was
brought to an end, after some 247,157 Soviet citizens had been shot in the
national operations. As of the end of 1938, the USSR had killed about a
thousand times more people on ethnic grounds than had Nazi Germany. The
Soviets had, for that matter, killed far more Jews to that point than had the
Nazis. The Jews were targeted in no national action, but they still died in
the thousands in the Great Terror—and for that matter during the famine in
Soviet Ukraine. They died not because they were Jews, but simply because
they were citizens of the most murderous regime of the day.

In the Great Terror, the Soviet leadership killed twice as many Soviet
citizens as there were Jews living in Germany; but no one beyond the
Soviet Union, not even Hitler, seemed yet to have grasped that mass
shootings of this kind were possible. Certainly nothing of the kind was
carried out in Germany before the war. After Kristallnacht, Jews entered the
German concentration camp system in large numbers, for the first time.



Hitler wished at this point to intimidate German Jews so that they would
leave the country; the vast majority of the twenty-six thousand Jews who
entered the concentration camps at this time left them again soon thereafter.
More than one hundred thousand Jews left Germany in late 1938 or 1939.50

The violence and motion did stimulate the Nazi imagination about the
fate of European Jews generally. A few days after Kristallnacht, on 12
November 1938, Hitler had his close collaborator Hermann Göring present
a plan for the removal of European Jews: they were to be sent by boat to the
island of Madagascar, in the southern Indian ocean, off the southeastern
coast of Africa. Although Hitler and Göring would no doubt have liked to
see German Jews worked to death on some sort of SS reservation on the
island, such grand imaginative plans really pertained to some future
scenario wherein Germany controlled a large population of Jews. The
Madagascar scheme was most applicable to a future in which Germany had
mastered a large Jewish population. Jews at the time comprised no more
than one half of one percent of the German population, and even this total
was shrinking with emigration. There had never been very many Jews in
Germany; but insofar as they were regarded as a “problem,” the “solution”
had already been found: expropriation, intimidation, and emigration.
(German Jews would have departed even faster than they did had the
British allowed them to go to Palestine, or the Americans seen fit to
increase—or even fill—immigration quotas. At the Evian Conference of
July 1938, only the Dominican Republic agreed to take more Jewish
refugees from Germany.)51

Madagascar, in other words, was a “solution” for a Jewish “problem” that
had not yet really arisen. Grand deportation schemes made a kind of sense
in 1938, when leading Nazis could still delude themselves that Poland
might become a German satellite and join in an invasion of the Soviet
Union. More than three million Jews lived in Poland, and Polish authorities
had also investigated Madagascar as a site for their resettlement. Although
Polish leaders envisioned no policies toward their large national minorities
(five million Ukrainians, three million Jews, one million Belarusians) that
were remotely comparable to Soviet realities or Nazi plans, they did wish to
reduce the size of the Jewish population by voluntary emigration. After the
death of the Polish dictator Józef Piłsudski in 1935, his successors had
taken on the position of the Polish nationalist right on this particular



question, and had established a ruling party that was open only to ethnic
Poles. In the late 1930s, the Polish state supported the aims of the right-
wing or Revisionist Zionists in Poland, who wished to create a very large
State of Israel in the British Mandate of Palestine—if necessary, by means
of violence.52

So long as Warsaw and Berlin thought in terms of a Jewish “problem”
and some distant territorial solution, and so long as the Germans were still
courting the Poles for an eastern alliance, the Germans could imagine some
arrangement to deport east European Jews involving Polish support and
infrastructure. But there would be no alliance with Poland, and no common
German-Polish plan for the Jews. Piłsudski’s heirs in this respect followed
Piłsudski’s line: a policy of equal distance between Berlin and Moscow,
with nonaggression pacts with both Nazi Germany and the Soviet Union,
but no alliance with either. On 26 January 1939 in Warsaw, the Poles turned
down the German foreign minister, Joachim von Ribbentrop, one last time.
In five years of trying, the Germans had failed to convince the Poles that it
was in Poland’s interests to fight a war of aggression for Soviet territory—
while granting Germany Polish territory and becoming a German satellite.
This meant a German war not with Poland but against Poland—and against
Poland’s Jews.53



Though the Madagascar plan was not abandoned, it seemed to yield now
in Hitler’s mind to a vision of a Jewish reservation in a conquered Poland.
If Poland would not cooperate in war and deportation, then Poland itself
could become a colony where other European Jews could be gathered,
perhaps pending some other final removal. It was just after Ribbentrop’s
return from Warsaw, when Hitler realized that his first war would be against
Poland, that he made an important speech on the Jewish issue. On 30
January 1939, Hitler promised the German parliament that he would destroy
the Jews if they brought Germany into another world war: “I want to be a
prophet once more today: if international finance Jewry in Europe and
beyond should succeed once more in plunging the peoples of the world into
a world war, then the result will not be the Bolshevization of the earth and
thus the victory of Jewry, but the annihilation of the Jewish race in Europe.”
At the moment of Hitler’s oration, about ninety-eight percent of the Jews of
Europe lived beyond the borders of Germany, most of them in Poland and
the western Soviet Union. Just how they could be annihilated was unknown,
but war would have to be the first step.54



By early 1939, Hitler had reached a turning point: his foreign policy of
gathering in Germans had succeeded in Czechoslovakia and Austria, and
his attempts to recruit Poland for an eastern war had failed. He had rearmed
Germany and extended its borders as far as possible without war. The
annexation of Austria had brought in six million more citizens and
extensive reserves of hard currency. Munich brought Hitler not only three
million more citizens but also the bulk of the Czechoslovak armaments
industry, perhaps the best in the world at the time. In March 1939 Hitler
destroyed Czechoslovakia as a state, thus removing any illusions that his
goals were limited to ethnic Germans. The Czech lands were added to the
Reich as a “protectorate”; Slovakia became a nominally independent state
under Nazi tutelage. On 21 March, the Germans tried to intimidate the
Poles into an arrangement, and were again rebuffed. On 25 March Hitler
gave the instructions for the Wehrmacht to prepare for an invasion of
Poland.55

 

As Hitler’s power grew, the nature of Stalin’s diplomacy changed. The
weaknesses of the Popular Front against fascism were evident. Munich had
meant the end of a Czechoslovak democracy friendly to the Soviet Union,
and Czechoslovakia itself had been dismantled in March 1939. The
reactionaries of Francisco Franco won the Spanish Civil War in April 1939.
The Popular Front government in France had already fallen. The
relationships between Moscow and the European powers would have to be
mainly military and diplomatic, since Stalin lacked the political levers to
influence their behavior from within.

In spring 1939, Stalin made a striking gesture toward Hitler, the great
ideological foe. Hitler had pledged not to make peace with Jewish
communists; Nazi propaganda referred to the Soviet commissar for foreign
affairs, Maxim Litvinov, as Finkelstein. Litvinov was indeed Jewish—his
brother was a rabbi. Stalin obliged Hitler by firing Litvinov on 3 May 1939.
Litvinov was replaced by Stalin’s closest ally, Molotov, who was Russian.
The indulgence of Hitler was not as strange as it might appear. Stalinist
ideology answered all of its own questions. From one day to the next in
June 1934, the Popular Front had transformed social democrats from “social
fascists” into allies. If “social fascists” could be the friends of the Soviet
Union, why not fascists themselves? Fascism, after all, was nothing more



(in the Soviet analysis) than a deformation of capitalism; and the Soviet
Union had enjoyed good relations with capitalist Germany between 1922
and 1933.56

In purely political terms, the arrangement with Germany had a certain
logic. The alternative to a German orientation, an alliance with Great
Britain and France, seemed to offer little. London and Paris had granted
security guarantees to Poland in March 1939 to try to deter a German
attack, and tried thereafter to bring the Soviet Union into some kind of
defensive coalition. But Stalin was quite aware that London and Paris were
unlikely to intervene in eastern Europe if Germany attacked Poland or the
Soviet Union. It seemed wisest to come to terms with the Germans and then
watch the capitalist powers fight in western Europe. “Destroy the enemies
by their own hands,” was Stalin’s plan, “and remain strong to the end of the
war.”57

Stalin could see, as he later put it, that he and Hitler had a “common
desire to get rid of the old equilibrium.” In August 1939 Hitler responded to
Stalin’s opening. Hitler wanted his war that year; he was far more flexible
about the possible allies than about the issue of timing. If the Poles would
not join in a war against the Soviet Union, then perhaps the Soviets would
join in a war against Poland. From Hitler’s perspective, an accord with
Moscow would prevent a complete encirclement of Germany if the British
and French did declare war after the coming German attack on Poland. On
20 August 1939, Hitler sent a personal message to Stalin, asking him to
receive Ribbentrop no later than the twenty-third. Ribbentrop made for
Moscow, where, as both Orwell and Koestler noted, swastikas adorned the
airport of the capital of the homeland of socialism. This, the final
ideological shock that separated Koestler from communism, was really a
sign that the Soviet Union was no longer an ideological state.58

The two regimes immediately found common ground in their mutual
aspiration to destroy Poland. Once Hitler had abandoned his hope of
recruiting Poland to fight the Soviet Union, Nazi and Soviet rhetoric about
the country were difficult to distinguish. Hitler saw Poland as the “unreal
creation” of the Treaty of Versailles, Molotov as its “ugly offspring.”
Officially, the agreement signed in Moscow on 23 August 1939 was nothing
more than a nonaggression pact. In fact, Ribbentrop and Molotov also



agreed to a secret protocol, designating areas of influence for Nazi
Germany and the Soviet Union within eastern Europe: in what were still the
independent states of Finland, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, Poland, and
Romania. The irony was that Stalin had very recently justified the murder
of more than one hundred thousand of his own citizens by the false claim
that Poland had signed just such a secret codicil with Germany under the
cover of a nonaggression pact. The Polish operation had been presented as
preparation for a German-Polish attack; now the Soviet Union had agreed to
attack Poland along with Germany.59

On 1 September 1939, the Wehrmacht attacked Poland from the north,
west, and south, using men and arms from annexed Austria and
Czechoslovakia. Hitler had begun his war.
 

In August and September 1939, Stalin was reading maps not just of east
Europe but of east Asia. He had found an opportunity to improve the Soviet
position in the Far East. Stalin could now be confident that no German-
Polish attack was coming from the west. If the Soviet Union moved against
Japan in east Asia, there would be no fear of a second front. The Soviets
(and their Mongolian allies) attacked Japanese (and puppet Manchukuo)
forces at a contested border area (between Mongolia and Manchukuo) on 20
August 1939. Stalin’s policy of rapprochement with Berlin of 23 August
1939 was also directed against Tokyo. The Molotov-Ribbentrop Pact
between Germany and the Soviet Union, signed three days after the Soviet
offensive, nullified the Anti-Comintern Pact between Germany and Japan.
Even more than the battlefield defeat, the Nazi-Soviet alliance brought a
political earthquake in Tokyo. The Japanese government fell, as would
several more in the coming months.60

Once Germany seemed to have chosen the Soviet Union rather than
Japan as its ally, the Japanese government found itself in an unexpected and
confusing situation. The consensus among Japanese leaders was already to
expand southward rather than northward, into China and the Pacific rather
than into Soviet Siberia. Yet if the union between Moscow and Berlin held,
the Red Army would be able to concentrate its forces in Asia rather than in
Europe. Japan would then be forced to keep its best troops in the north, in
Manchukuo, in simple self-defense, which would make the advance into the
south much more difficult. Hitler had given Stalin a free hand in east Asia,



and the Japanese could only hope that Hitler would soon betray his new
friend. Japan established a consulate in Lithuania as an observation point
for German and Soviet military preparations. The consul there was the
russophone spy Chiune Sugihara.61

When the Red Army defeated the Japanese, on 15 September 1939,
Stalin had achieved exactly the result that he wanted. The national actions
of the Great Terror had been aimed against Japan, Poland, and Germany, in
that order, and against the possibility of encirclement by these three states
working together. The 681,692 killings of the Great Terror did nothing to
make encirclement less likely, but diplomacy and military force did. By 15
September Germany had practically destroyed the Polish Army as a
fighting force. A German-Polish attack on the Soviet Union was obviously
out of the question, and a German-Japanese attack on the Soviet Union also
looked very unlikely. Stalin had replaced the phantom of a German-Polish-
Japanese encirclement of the Soviet Union with a very real German-Soviet
encirclement of Poland, an alliance that isolated Japan. Two days after the
Soviet military victory over Japan, on 17 September 1939, the Red Army
invaded Poland from the east. The Red Army and the Wehrmacht met in the
middle of the country and organized a joint victory parade. On 28
September, Berlin and Moscow came to a second agreement over Poland, a
treaty on borders and friendship.
 

So began a new stage in the history of the bloodlands. By opening half of
Poland to the Soviet Union, Hitler would allow Stalin’s Terror, so
murderous in the Polish operation, to recommence within Poland itself.
Thanks to Stalin, Hitler was able, in occupied Poland, to undertake his first
policies of mass killing. In the twenty-one months that followed the joint
German-Soviet invasion of Poland, the Germans and the Soviets would kill
Polish civilians in comparable numbers for similar reasons, as each ally
mastered its half of occupied Poland.

The organs of destruction of each country would be concentrated on the
territory of a third. Hitler, like Stalin, would choose Poles as the target of
his first major national shooting campaign.



CHAPTER 4
MOLOTOV-RIBBENTROP EUROPE

The German terror began in the sky. At 4:20 in the morning on 1 September
1939, the bombs fell, without warning, on the central Polish city of Wieluń.
The Germans had chosen a locality bereft of military significance as the site
of a lethal experiment. Could a modern air force terrorize a civilian
population by deliberate bombing? The church, the synagogue, the hospital
all went up in flames. Wave after wave of munitions fell, seventy tons of
bombs in all, destroying most of the buildings, and killing hundreds of
people, mostly women and children. The population fled the city; when a
German administrator arrived, there were more corpses than live people.
Throughout western Poland, scores of towns and villages met a similar fate.
As many as 158 different settlements were bombed.1

In the Polish capital, Warsaw, people saw the planes race across the clear
blue sky. “Ours,” people said to themselves, hopefully. They were wrong.
The tenth of September 1939 marked the first time a major European city
was bombed systematically by an enemy air force. There were seventeen
German raids on Warsaw that day. By mid-month the Polish Army was all
but defeated, but the capital still defended itself. On 25 September Hitler
declared that he wanted the surrender of Warsaw. Some 560 tons of bombs
were dropped that day, along with seventy-two tons of firebombs. In all,
some twenty-five thousand civilians (and six thousand soldiers) were killed,
as a major population center and historic European capital was bombed at
the beginning of an undeclared war. Throughout the month, the columns of
refugees were already streaming east, away from the Wehrmacht. German
fighter pilots took their pleasure in strafing them.2

Poland fought alone. France and Britain declared war on Germany, as
promised, but took no meaningful military action during the campaign.
(The French advanced a few miles into the Saar region and then withdrew
again.) The Polish Army rushed to take defensive positions. The Polish
military had been trained to expect an attack either from the east or the
west, from either the Red Army or the Wehrmacht. In the war plans and war
games of the 1920s and 1930s, both variants had been taken into account.
Now all available forces, some thirty-nine divisions (about nine hundred



thousand men) were thrown against the fifty German divisions (1.5 million
troops). Even so, Polish forces were outnumbered, outgunned, and
outflanked by the motorized assault from the north, west, and south. Yet
resistance in some places was stiff.

The Wehrmacht had become used to strolling into countries that had
already given themselves up, such as Austria and Czechoslovakia. Now
German soldiers were actually facing hostile fire. Not everything went their
way. In Danzig, the free city on the Baltic coast that Hitler wanted for
Germany, Poles defended their post office. German firemen poured gasoline
in the basement, and burned out the defenders. The director of the post
office left the building waving a white handkerchief. He was immediately
shot. Eleven people died of burn wounds. The Germans denied them
medical treatment. Thirty-eight men were sentenced to death and shot for
the supposedly illegal defense of the building. One of them, Franciszek
Krause, was the uncle of a boy named Günter Grass, who later became the
great novelist of West Germany. Thanks to his novel The Tin Drum, this
particular war crime became widely known. It was one of many.3

German soldiers had been instructed that Poland was not a real country,
and that its army was not a real army. Thus the men resisting the invasion
could not be real soldiers. German officers instructed their troops that the
death of Germans in battle was “murder.” Since resisting the German
master race was, in Hitler’s terminology, “insolence,” Polish soldiers had no
right to be treated as prisoners of war. In the village of Urycz, Polish
prisoners of war were gathered into a barn, where they were told they
would spend the night. Then the Germans burned it down. Near the village
of Śladów, Germans used prisoners of war as human shields as they
engaged the remnants of a cavalry unit. After the Germans had killed the
cavalrymen, who were unwilling to shoot at their fellow Poles, they made
the prisoners bury the bodies of their comrades. Then they lined up the
prisoners against a wall at the bank of the Vistula River and shot them.
Those who tried to escape by jumping into the river were shot—as the one
survivor remembered, like ducks. Some three hundred people died.4

On 22 August 1939, Hitler had instructed his commanders to “close your
hearts to pity.” The Germans killed prisoners. At Ciepielów, after a pitched
battle, three hundred Polish prisoners were taken. Despite all the evidence,
the German commander declared that these captured soldiers were



partisans, irregular fighters unprotected by the laws of war. The Polish
officers and soldiers, wearing full uniform, were astonished. The Germans
made them disrobe. Now they looked more like partisans. All of them were
gunned down and thrown in a ditch. In the short Polish campaign, there
were at least sixty-three such actions. No fewer than three thousand Polish
prisoners of war were murdered. The Germans also murdered the Polish
wounded. In one case, German tanks turned to attack a barn marked with a
red cross. It was a Polish first-aid station. If it had not been marked with a
cross, the tank commanders would likely have ignored it. The tanks fired on
the barn, setting it aflame. The machine gunners fired at people who tried to
escape. Then the tanks ran over the remnants of the barn, and any
survivors.5

Wehrmacht officers and soldiers blamed Polish civilians for the horrors
that now befell them. As one general maintained, “Germans are the masters,
and Poles are the slaves.” The army leadership knew that Hitler’s goals for
the campaign were anything but conventional. As the chief of staff
summarized, it was “the intention of the Leader to destroy and exterminate
the Polish people.” Soldiers had been prepared to see the Polish civilian
population as devious and subhuman. One of them was so convinced of
Polish hostility that he interpreted a Pole’s death grimace as the expression
of irrational hatred for Germans. The soldiers quickly took to taking out
their frustrations on whomever they happened to see. As a rule, the
Germans would kill civilians after taking new territories. They would also
kill civilians after losing ground. If they took casualties at all, they would
blame whoever was at hand: men in the first instance, but also women, and
children.6

In the town of Widzów, the Germans summoned the men, who, fearing
nothing because they had done nothing, answered the call. One pregnant
wife had a sense of foreboding, but she was torn away from her husband.
All of the men of the town were lined up against a fence and shot. In
Longinówka, forty Polish citizens were locked in a building, which was
then set aflame. Soldiers fired on people as they leapt from windows. Some
of the reprisal actions were unthinkably casual. In one case a hundred
civilians were assembled to be shot because someone had fired a gun. It
turned out that the gun had been fired by a German soldier.7



Poland never surrendered, but hostilities came to an end on 6 October
1939. Even as the Germans established their civilian occupation authorities
that autumn, the Wehrmacht continued to kill Polish citizens in large
numbers in quite arbitrary reprisal actions. In December, after two German
soldiers were killed by known Polish criminals, the Germans machine-
gunned 114 men who had nothing to do with the incident. In January the
Germans shot 255 Jews in Warsaw after the Jewish community had failed to
turn over someone whom the Germans, judging by his last name, thought to
be Jewish. The person in question had nothing to do with the Jewish
community.8

German soldiers had been instructed to regard the Jews as eastern
barbarians, and in Poland they did encounter something that they never
would have seen in Germany: large communities of religious Jews. Though
Hitler raged on about the destructive role of Jews in German society, the
Jews were an extremely small proportion of the German population. Among
the German citizens defined by the Nuremberg laws as Jewish, most were
secular, and many did not identify strongly with the Jewish community.
Jews in Germany were highly assimilated, and very often married non-
Jews. For historical reasons, Jewish life in Poland was very different. Jews
had been expelled from Germany in the late middle ages, as they had been
from most of central and western Europe. Poland had been for centuries a
haven for Jews, and became and remained the center of European Jewish
settlement. In 1939 about ten percent of the Polish population were Jews,
and most of these were religiously observant and traditional in dress and
custom. They generally spoke Yiddish, which Germans tended to hear as a
deformed version of their own language. In Warsaw and Łódź, the most
important Jewish cities in Poland, Jews were about one third of the
population.

Judging by their correspondence, German officers and soldiers saw
Polish Jews as living stereotypes rather than as human beings, a special
blight on an already benighted Polish land. Germans wrote to their wives
and girlfriends to describe an inhuman assemblage of disorder and filth. In
their image of Poland, everything that was beautiful was the work of
previous German settlers, while everything ugly was the result of Jewish
corruption and Polish laziness. Germans seemed to feel an uncontrollable
urge to neaten the appearance of the Jews. Again and again, soldiers would



surround Jewish men and shave their sidecurls, while others would laugh
and take photographs. They would also rape Jewish women, casually, as
though this were not an offense for which they could be punished. When
they were caught, they were reminded of German laws against racial
mixing.9

In the town of Solec, Jews were taken as hostages and locked in a cellar.
After an escape attempt, soldiers threw grenades into the cellar, killing
everyone. In Rawa Mazowiecka, a German soldier asked a Jewish boy for
some water. When the boy ran away, the soldier took aim and shot. He hit
one of his own comrades instead. The Germans then gathered hundreds of
people in the town square and killed them. In Dynów, some two hundred
Jews were machine-gunned one night in mid-September. In all, Jews were
about seven thousand of the forty-five thousand or so Polish civilians killed
by the Germans by the end of 1939, somewhat more than the Jewish share
of the Polish population.10

Even more than a Polish soldier, a Jewish soldier posed a problem for the
Nazi worldview in which German soldiers and officers had been
indoctrinated. Jews had been purged from the German armed forces since
1935. Yet Polish Jews, like all male Polish citizens, were subject to military
service in the Polish Army. Jews, especially Jewish doctors, were well
represented among officers. Germans separated Jews from their units and
sent them to special punitive labor camps.

Germany had all but won the war by the time the Soviets entered it on 17
September. On that day the German air force was bombing Lwów (today
Lviv), the most important Polish city in the southeast, as the Red Army
approached it. The crossing of half a million Soviet soldiers into Poland had
elicited both fear and hope. Poles wanted to believe that the Soviets had
come to fight the Germans. Some confused Polish soldiers, driven eastward
by the German attack, could believe for a moment that they had found
allies. The Polish armed forces were desperate for support. 11

The Soviets claimed that their intervention was necessary because the
Polish state had ceased to exist. Since Poland could no longer protect its
own citizens, went the argument, the Red Army had to enter the country on
a peacekeeping mission. Poland’s large Ukrainian and Belarusian



minorities, went the Soviet propaganda, were in particular need of rescue.
Yet despite the rhetoric the Soviet officers and soldiers were prepared for
war, and fought one. The Red Army disarmed Polish units, and engaged
them wherever necessary. Half a million men had crossed a frontier that
was no longer defended, to fight an enemy that was all but defeated. Soviet
soldiers would meet German soldiers, demarcate the border, and, in one
instance, stage a joint victory march. Stalin spoke of an alliance with
Germany “cemented in blood.” It was mainly the blood of Polish soldiers,
more than sixty thousand of whom died in combat.12

In cities like Lwów where both the Wehrmacht and the Red Army were
nearby, Polish soldiers had a difficult choice: to whom should they
surrender? The Soviet military promised them safe passage back home after
a brief interview. Nikita Khrushchev, who had accompanied the Soviet
soldiers, repeated the assurance. The artist Józef Czapski, a Polish reserve
officer, was among those who were betrayed by this lie. His unit had been
beaten back by the Germans, and then surrounded by Soviet armor. He and
his men were promised that they would be taken to Lwów and released



there. Instead, they were all packed into trucks on the city’s market square.
Tearful women threw them cigarettes. A young Jewish man bought apples
from a stand and tossed them to the prisoners in the truck. Near the post
office, women took the notes that the soldiers had written for their families.
The prisoners were taken to the train station, and sent east.13

As they crossed the Soviet border they had the feeling of entering, as
Czapski recalled, “another world.” Czapski sat with a botanist friend,
another reserve officer, who marveled at the tall grasses of the Ukrainian
steppe. In another train, Polish farmers looked through the cracks at Soviet
collective farms, and shook their heads in distress at the disorder and
neglect they saw. At a stop in Kiev, the capital of Soviet Ukraine, Polish
officers met an unexpected reception. Ukrainians were saddened to see
Polish officers under Soviet guard. Some of them, it seems, still believed
that it would be the Polish Army that would liberate Ukraine from Stalin.
Instead, about fifteen thousand Polish officers were taken to three Soviet
prison camps, run by the NKVD: one in the eastern part of Soviet Ukraine,
in Starobilsk, and two more in Soviet Russia, at Kozelsk and Ostashkov.14

The removal of these men—and all but one of them were men—was a
kind of decapitation of Polish society. The Soviets took more than one
hundred thousand prisoners of war, but released the men and kept only the
officers. More than two thirds of these officers came from the reserves. Like
Czapski and his botanist companion, these reserve officers were educated
professionals and intellectuals, not military men. Thousands of doctors,
lawyers, scientists, professors, and politicians were thus removed from
Poland.15

Meanwhile, Soviet occupying forces in eastern Poland placed the lower
orders of society in the vacated heights. Prisons were emptied, and political
prisoners, usually communists, were put in charge of local government.
Soviet agitators urged peasants to take revenge on landlords. Though most
people resisted the call to criminality, chaos reigned as thousands did not.
Mass murders with axes were suddenly frequent. One man was tied to a
stake, then had some of his skin peeled off and his wound salted before
being forced to watch the execution of his family. Usually the Red Army
behaved well, though sometimes soldiers joined in the violence, as when a
pair killed a local official and then took his gold teeth.16



In the background, the NKVD entered the country, in force. In the
twenty-one months to come it made more arrests in occupied eastern Poland
than in the entire Soviet Union, seizing some 109,400 Polish citizens. The
typical sentence was eight years in the Gulag; about 8,513 people were
sentenced to death.17

West of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, where Germany ruled, methods were
even less subtle. Now that the Wehrmacht had defeated a foreign army, the
methods of the SS could be tried against an alien population.

The tool of persecution, the Einsatzgruppe, was the creation of Heinrich
Himmler’s right-hand man, Reinhard Heydrich. The Einsatzgruppen were
special task forces led by Security Police and including other policemen,
whose apparent mission was to pacify the rear areas after military
expansion. As of 1939 they were subordinate to Heydrich’s Reich Security
Main Office, which united the Security Police (a state institution) with the
Sicherheitsdienst, or SD (the intelligence service of the SS, a Nazi party
institution). Einsatzgruppen had been deployed in Austria and
Czechoslovakia, but met little resistance in these countries and had no
special mission to kill selected groups. It was in Poland that the
Einsatzgruppen were to fulfill their mission as “ideological soldiers” by
eliminating the educated classes of a defeated enemy. (They were in some
sense killing their peers: fifteen of the twenty-five Einsatzgruppe and
Einsatzkommando commanders had doctorates.) In Operation Tannenberg,
Heydrich wanted the Einsatzgruppen to render “the upper levels of society”
harmless by murdering sixty-one thousand Polish citizens. As Hitler put it,
“only a nation whose upper levels are destroyed can be pushed into the
ranks of slavery.” The ultimate goal of this decapitation project was to
“destroy Poland” as a functioning society. By killing the most accomplished
Poles, the Einsatzgruppen were to make Poland resemble the German racist
fantasy of the country, and leave the society incapable of resisting German
rule.18

The Einsatzgruppen approached their task with murderous energy, but
lacked the experience and thus the skills of the NKVD. They killed
civilians, to be sure, often under the cover of retaliatory operations against
supposed partisans. In Bydgoszcz the Einsatzgruppen killed about nine



hundred Poles. In Katowice they killed another 750 in a courtyard, many of
them women and girls. All in all, the Einsatzgruppen probably killed about
fifty thousand Polish citizens in actions that had nothing to do with combat.
But these were not, it seems, the first fifty thousand on their list of sixty-one
thousand. They were very often groups selected on the spur of the moment.
Unlike the NKVD, the Einsatzgruppen did not follow protocols carefully,
and in Poland they did not keep careful records of the people they killed.19

The Einsatzgruppen were more successful in missions against Jews,
which required much less discrimination. One Einsatzgruppe was tasked
with terrorizing Jews so that they would flee east from the German
occupation zone to the Soviet side. As much of this as possible was to be
accomplished in September 1939, while military operations were still
taking place. So in Będzin, for example, this Einsatzgruppe burned down
the synagogue with flamethrowers, killing about five hundred Jews in two
days. Einsatzkommandos (smaller detachments) fulfilled similar missions.
In the city of Chełm one of them was tasked to rob wealthy Jews. The
Germans carried out strip-searches of women who looked Jewish on the
street, and cavity searches in private. They broke fingers to get at wedding
rings. In Przemyśl between the sixteenth and the nineteenth of September
Einsatzkommandos shot at least five hundred Jews. As a result of such
actions, hundreds of thousands of Jews fled to the Soviet occupation zone.
In the vicinity of the city of Lublin more than twenty thousand Jews were
simply expelled.20

After the conquest of Poland was complete, the Germans and their Soviet
allies met once again to reassess their relations. On 28 September 1939, the
day Warsaw fell to the Germans, the allies signed their treaty on borders
and friendship, which changed the zones of influence somewhat. It assigned
Warsaw to the Germans and Lithuania to the Soviets. (It is this border that
appears on the maps as the “Molotov-Ribbentrop line.”) It also obliged the
two sides to suppress any Polish resistance to the regime of the other. On 4
October Nazi Germany and the Soviet Union agreed to a further protocol,
defining their new common border. Poland had ceased to exist.

A few days later Germany formally annexed some of the territories in its
zone, leaving the rest as a colony known as the General Government. This
was to be a dumping ground for unwanted people, Poles and Jews. Hitler
thought that Jews could be held in some eastern district in a kind of “nature



preserve.” The general governor, Hitler’s former lawyer Hans Frank,
clarified the position of the subject population in two orders issued in late
October 1939. One specified that order was to be maintained by the German
police; the other, that the German police had the authority to issue a death
sentence to any Pole who did anything that might appear to be against the
interests of Germany or Germans. Frank believed that Poles would soon
realize the “hopelessness of their national fate” and accept the leadership of
the Germans.21

East of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, the Soviets were extending their own
system. Moscow enlarged its Ukrainian and Belarusian republics to the
west, forcing their new populations, the residents of what had been eastern
Poland, to participate in the annexation of their own homeland. When the
Red Army entered Poland, it presented Soviet power as the great liberator
of the national minorities from Polish rule, and the great supporter of the
peasants against their masters. In eastern Poland, the population was about
forty-three percent Polish, thirty-three percent Ukrainian, and eight percent
each Jewish and Belarusian, with a small number of Czechs, Germans,
Russians, Roma, Tatars, and others. But now everyone from every nation
and every class would have to express a ritualized support of the new order.
On 22 October 1939, all adults in what the Soviets called “Western
Belarus” and “Western Ukraine” had to vote in elections to two assemblies,
whose provisional character was revealed by their one legislative
undertaking: to request that the lands of eastern Poland be incorporated by
the Soviet Union. By 15 November, the formalities of annexation were
complete.22

The Soviet Union was bringing its own institutions and practices to
eastern Poland. Everyone now had to register for an internal passport,
which meant that the state had a record of all of its new citizens. With the
registration of citizens came the military draft: some 150,000 young men
(Poles, Ukrainians, Belarusians, Jews) soon found themselves in the Red
Army. Registration also allowed for the smooth pursuit of a major Soviet
social policy: deportation.23

On 4 December 1939 the Soviet politburo ordered the NKVD to arrange
the expulsion of certain groups of Polish citizens deemed to pose a danger



to the new order: military veterans, foresters, civil servants, policemen, and
their families. Then, on one evening in February 1940, in temperatures of
about forty below zero, the NKVD gathered them all: 139,794 people taken
from their homes at night at gunpoint to unequipped freight trains bound for
special settlements in distant Soviet Kazakhstan or Siberia. The entire
course of life was changed before people knew what had happened to them.
The special settlements, part of the Gulag system, were the forced-labor
zones to which the kulaks had been sent ten years before.24

Because the NKVD defined family very expansively, the trains were full
of aged parents as well as the children of people who were thought to be
dangerous. At halts on the journey east, guards would go from car to car,
asking if there were any more dead children. Wiesław Adamczyk, an
eleven-year-old child at the time, asked his mother if the Soviets were
taking them to hell. Food and water were given very irregularly, and the
cattle cars were without facilities and extremely cold. As time passed, the
children learned to lick the frost from metal nails, and watched as the
elderly began to freeze to death. Now the adult dead would be taken out and
thrown into a hastily dug mass grave. Another boy looked out and tried to
remember them, writing later that even as the dead disappeared, “in our
thoughts remained their dreams and their wishes.”25

During the passage alone, some five thousand people would die; about
eleven thousand more would perish by the following summer. One little
Polish girl in a Siberian school described what happened to her family: “My
brother got sick and in a week died from hunger. We buried him in a hill on
the Siberian steppe. Mom from worry also got sick from hunger swelled up
and lay in the barrack for two months. They didn’t want to take her to the
hospital until it was the end. Then they took her mama lay in the hospital
for two weeks. Then her life ended. When we learned this we were seized
by a great despair. We went to the burial twenty-five kilometers away we
went to the hill. You could hear the sound of the Siberian forest where two
of my family were left.”26

Even more than the kulaks who had preceded them, these Poles were
alien and helpless in central Asia or the Russian north. They usually did not
speak Russian, let alone Kazakh. The locals, especially in central Asia, saw
them as one more imposition coming from the center. “The natives,” as one



Pole recalled Kazakhstan, “spoke little Russian and greatly resented the
whole arrangement and the new mouths to feed; and would at first sell us
nothing, nor help in any way.” Poles could not have known that a third of
the population of Kazakhstan had starved to death only a decade before.
One Polish father of four was murdered for his boots on a collective farm.
Another father died of starvation in Siberia. As his son remembered, “He
swelled up. They wrapped him in a sheet and threw him in the ground.” A
third father died of typhus in Vologda, the north Russian city of death. His
son, age twelve, had already learned a kind of philosophy: “A man is born
once and dies only once. And so it happened.”27

Deported Polish citizens had probably never heard the Russian word
kulak before, but now they were discovering its history. In one Siberian
settlement Poles found the skeletons of kulaks deported in the 1930s. In
another, a sixteen-year-old Pole realized that the foreman at his work camp
was a kulak. “He told me frankly,” the boy remembered, “what was in his
heart”: faith in God. Because Poles were thought to be Roman Catholics
and thus Christian believers, their presence elicited such confessions of
faith from Ukrainians and Russians. But even in the distant east the Soviet
authorities reacted with great hostility to any sign of Polishness. A Polish
boy who came to town to sell his clothes for food met a policeman who
struck the cap from his head. The cap had a white eagle, the symbol of the
Polish state. The policemen would not let the boy pick it up from the
ground. As Soviet journalists kept writing and teachers kept saying, Poland
had fallen and would never rise again.28

With calculation, classification, and practiced violence, the Soviets could
force Poles into a system that already existed. After a few weeks of chaos,
they had extended their state westward, and dispensed with the most
dangerous of possible opponents. In the western half of Poland, west of the
Molotov-Ribbentrop line, the Germans could take no such approach. Hitler
had enlarged his Reich very recently, into Austria and Czechoslovakia, but
never into territories populated by quite so many non-Germans. Unlike the
Soviets, the Nazis could not even claim to be bringing justice and equality
to oppressed peoples or classes. Everyone knew that Nazi Germany was for
the Germans, and the Germans did not bother to pretend otherwise.



The premise of National Socialism was that Germans were a superior
race, a presumption that, when confronted by the evidence of Polish
civilization, the Nazis had to prove, at least to themselves. In the ancient
Polish city of Cracow, the entire professoriate of the renowned university
was sent to concentration camps. The statue of Adam Mickiewicz, the great
romantic poet, was pulled down from its pedestal on the Market Square,
which was renamed Adolf-Hitler-Platz. Such actions were symbolic as well
as practical. The university at Cracow was older than any university in
Germany. Mickiewicz had been respected by the Europeans of his day as
much as Goethe. The existence of such an institution and such a history,
like the presence of the Polish educated classes as such, was a barrier to
German plans, but also a problem for Nazi ideology.29

Polishness itself was to disappear from these lands, to be replaced by
“Germandom.” As Hitler had written, Germany “must seal off these alien
racial elements, so that the blood of its people will not be corrupted again,
or it must without further ado remove them and hand over the vacated
territory to its own national comrades.” In early October 1939, Hitler
conferred a new responsibility upon Heinrich Himmler. Already the leader
of the SS and the chief of the German police forces, Himmler now became
the “Reich Commissar for the Strengthening of Germandom,” a kind of
minister for racial affairs. In the regions that Germany annexed from
Poland, Himmler was to remove the native population and replace it with
Germans.30

Although Himmler embraced the project with enthusiasm, it was a
difficult assignment. These were Polish territories. There had not been a
large German minority in independent Poland. When the Soviets said that
they were entering eastern Poland to defend Ukrainians and Belarusians,
this had at least a demographic plausibility: there were about six million
such people in Poland. There were, by contrast, fewer than a million
Germans. In Germany’s newly annexed territories, Poles outnumbered
Germans by about fifteen to one.31

By now Hitler’s propaganda minister Joseph Goebbels had mastered the
German press, so Germans (and those who believed their propaganda) had
the impression that there were massive numbers of Germans in western
Poland, and that they had been subject to horrible repressions. The reality



was quite different. It was not just that the nine million or so Poles
massively outnumbered the Germans in the new districts of the Reich.
Hitler had just added significantly more Jews (at least 600,000) to his Reich
than he had added Germans, and for that matter nearly tripled the
population of Jews in Germany (from about 330,000 to nearly a million). If
the General Government (with its 1,560,000 Jews) was included, he had
added well over two million Jews to Berlin’s dominions. There were more
Jews in the city of Łódź (233,000), which was added to Germany, than in
Berlin (82,788) and Vienna (91,480) combined. There were more Jews in
Warsaw, now in the General Government, than there had been in all of
Germany. Hitler had added more Poles to the Reich in this annexation than
he had added Germans in this and all previous annexations, including
Austria and the border regions of Czechoslovakia. Taking into account the
General Government and the Protectorate of Bohemia-Moravia annexed
from dissembled Czechoslovakia, Hitler had added about twenty million
Poles, six million Czechs, and two million Jews to his empire. There were
now more Slavs in Germany than in any other European state, except the
Soviet Union. On a crusade for racial purity, Germany had become by the
end of 1939 Europe’s second-largest multinational state. The largest, of
course, was the Soviet Union.32

Arthur Greiser, placed in charge of the largest of Germany’s new regions,
known as the Reichsgau Wartheland, was particularly receptive to the idea
of “strengthening Germandom.” His province extended west to east from
the major Polish city Poznań to the major Polish city Łódź. It was home to
about four million Poles, 366,000 Jews, and 327,000 Germans. Himmler
proposed to deport one million people by February 1940, including all of
the Jews and several hundred thousand Poles. Greiser began the project of
“strengthening Germandom” by emptying three psychiatric hospitals and
having the patients shot. Patients from a fourth psychiatric hospital, at
Owińska, met a different fate. They were taken to the local Gestapo
headquarters in October and November 1939 and gassed by carbon
monoxide released from canisters. This was the first German mass murder
by this method. Some 7,700 Polish citizens found in mental institutions
were murdered, beginning a policy of “euthanasia” that would soon be
followed within the boundaries of prewar Germany as well. Over the course
of the next two years, more than seventy thousand German citizens would
be gassed as “life unfit for life.” Strengthening Germandom had an internal



and an external dimension; aggressive war abroad allowed for the murder of
German citizens. So it began and so it would continue.33

The goal of removing the Jews from Germany clashed with another
ideological priority, that of resettling Germans from the Soviet Union. Once
the Soviet Union had extended its borders west by taking eastern Poland,
Hitler had to be concerned about the Germans (formerly Polish citizens)
who then fell under Soviet rule. Hitler arranged for these people to be sent
to Germany. They would live in the Wartheland, on the homesteads vacated
by deported Poles. But this meant that Polish farmers, rather than Jews, had
to be deported in the first instance, to make room for these incoming
Germans. But even if Jews were allowed, for the time being, to remain in
their homes, they faced enormous suffering and humiliation. In Kozienice,
Orthodox Jews were forced to dance next to a pile of burning books and
chant that “the war is our fault.” In Łowicz on 7 November 1939, the entire
male Jewish population was forced to march to the prison, to be ransomed
by the Jewish community.34

In the first deportation from the Wartheland to the General Government,
carried out from 1-17 December 1939, the vast majority of the 87,883
people expelled were Poles. The police chose in the first instance Poles who
“represent an immediate danger to German nationhood.” In a second
deportation, carried out between 10 February and 15 March 1940, another
40,128 people were sent away, again most of them Poles. The journey was
rather short. In normal times, the journey from Poznań, the capital city of
the Wartheland, to Warsaw, the largest city of the General Government,
would take a few hours. Nevertheless, thousands of people froze to death on
the trains, which were often left idle on side tracks for days. Commented
Himmler: “It’s just the climate there.” The weather in Poland, needless to
say, was essentially the same as the weather in Germany.35

The winter of 1939-1940 in Poland and Germany was unusually cold. The
winter in Ukraine, Russia, and northern Kazakhstan was even colder. As the
days shortened in the Soviet special settlements, thousands of Polish
citizens fell ill and died. In the three camps in Soviet Russia and Soviet
Ukraine where the Soviets held the Polish prisoners of war, the men
followed their own political and religious calendar. In Kozelsk, Ostashkov,



and Starobilsk, people found ways to commemorate the 11th of November,
Polish independence day. In all three camps, the men planned to celebrate
Christmas Day. These prisoners were generally Roman Catholics, with a
considerable admixture of Jews, Protestants, Orthodox Christians, and
Greek Catholics. They found themselves in desecrated Orthodox monastic
complexes, praying or taking communion in quiet corners of crumbling
cathedrals.36

The prisoners saw the signs of what had happened to the Orthodox
monks and the nuns during the Bolshevik Revolution: skeletons in shallow
graves, outlines of human bodies traced in bullets against the walls. One
prisoner at Starobilsk could not help but notice the clouds of black ravens
that never seemed to leave the monastery. Nevertheless, prayer seemed to
bring hope, and the people of various faiths worshipped together—until 24
December 1939, when the priests, pastors, and rabbis were taken away,
from all three camps, never to be seen again.37

The three camps were a sort of laboratory for observing the behavior of
the Polish educated classes. Kozelsk, Ostashkov, and Starobilsk became
Polish in appearance. The prisoners had no other clothes but their army
uniforms, with white eagles on their caps. Needless to say, no one wore that
particular emblem in public in the former eastern Poland, where the public
space was now graced by the hammer, sickle, and red star. Even as Polish
universities were closed on the German side or made Ukrainian and Russian
on the Soviet, camp inmates organized lectures led by the prominent Polish
scientists and humanists who were among the reserve officers. Officers
organized modest credit unions, so that poorer officers could borrow from
richer. They declaimed by heart the poetry that they had learned at school.
Some of them could recite from memory the massively long novels from
the period of Polish realism. Of course, the prisoners also disagreed, fought,
and stole. And a few people—as it turned out, a very few—agreed to
cooperate with the Soviets. The officers disagreed about how to comport
themselves during the long nighttime interrogations. Yet the spirit of
national solidarity was palpable, perhaps to the Soviets as well.38

The men were nevertheless lonely. They could write to their families, but
could not discuss their situation. Knowing that the NKVD read everything
they wrote, they had to be discreet. One prisoner at Kozelsk, Dobiesław



Jakubowicz, entrusted to his diary the letters he wished to write to his wife,
his dreams of watching her dress, and of playing with their daughter. The
prisoners had to give a sanatorium as their return address, which led to
much painful confusion.39

The prisoners befriended the dogs who served as sentries, and the dogs
from nearby towns. Dogs would visit the camps, entering through the gate
past the guards or through holes in or under the barbed-wire fences too
small for a man. One of the reserve officers at Starobilsk was Maksymilian
Łabędź, the most famous veterinarian in Warsaw. An older gentleman, he
had barely survived the transport. He looked after the dogs, and
occasionally even performed surgeries. His special pet was a mutt that the
officers called Linek, which was short for Stalinek—“Little Stalin” in
Polish. The favorite among the dogs that visited was called Foch, after the
French general who was supreme commander of the allied armies that
defeated Germany in 1918. This was a time, in late 1939 and early 1940,
when a Polish government in exile had established itself in Paris, and when
Poles generally hoped that France could defeat Germany and rescue Poland.
They attached their own hopes for contact with the outside world to the
little dog Foch, who seemed to have a home in town. They would tuck
notes under his collar, hoping for a response. One day, in March 1940, they
got one: “People say that soon you’ll be released from Starobilsk. People
say that you’ll go home. We don’t know if that’s true.”40

 

It was not true. That month in Moscow, Stalin’s secret police chief Lavrenty
Beria had come to a conclusion, perhaps inspired by Stalin. Beria made
clear in writing that he wanted the Polish prisoners of war dead. In a
proposal to the politburo, and thus really to Stalin, Beria wrote on 5 March
1940 that each of the Polish prisoners was “just waiting to be released in
order to enter actively into the battle against Soviet power.” He claimed that
counterrevolutionary organizations in the new Soviet territories were led by
former officers. Unlike the claims about the “Polish Military Organization”
a couple of years before, this was no fantasy. The Soviet Union had
occupied and annexed half of Poland, and some Poles were bound to resist.
Perhaps twenty-five thousand of them took part in some kind of resistance
organization in 1940. True, these organizations were quickly penetrated by
the NKVD, and most of these people arrested: but the opposition was real



and demonstrable. Beria used the reality of Polish resistance to justify his
proposal for the prisoners—“to apply to them the supreme punishment:
shooting.”41

Stalin approved Beria’s recommendation, and the mechanisms of the
Great Terror began again. Beria established a special troika to deal rapidly
with the files of all of the Polish prisoners of war. It was empowered to
disregard the recommendations of the previous interrogators, and to issue
verdicts without any contact with the prisoners themselves. It seems that
Beria established a quota for the killings, as had been done in 1937 and
1938: all of the prisoners at the three camps, plus six thousand people held
in prisons in western Belarus and western Ukraine (three thousand in each),
plus especially dangerous elements among noncommissioned officers who
were not in captivity. After a quick examination of the files, ninety-seven
percent of the Poles in the three camps, about 14,587 people, were
sentenced to death. The exceptions were a few Soviet agents, people of
ethnic German or Latvian background, and people with foreign protection.
The six thousand from the prisons were also condemned to death, along
with 1,305 other people who were arrested in April.42



The prisoners of the three camps were expecting that they would be
allowed to return home. When, in April 1940, the first groups were taken
from the camp at Kozelsk, there were given a farewell reception by their
comrades. Fellow officers formed, as best as they could without their
weapons, an honor guard as they walked to the buses. In groups of a few
hundred at a time, the prisoners were taken by rail through Smolensk to the
smaller station at Gniazdovo. There they found themselves disembarking
from the train into a cordon of NKVD soldiers with bayonets fixed. About
thirty of them at a time entered a bus, which took them to the Goat Hills, at
the edge of a forest called Katyn. There, at an NKVD resort, they were
searched and their valuables taken. One officer, Adam Solski, had been
keeping a diary up to this moment: “They asked about my wedding ring,



which I. . . . ” The prisoners were taken into a building on the complex,
where they were shot. Their bodies were then delivered, probably by truck
in batches of thirty, to a mass grave that had been dug in the forest. This
continued until all 4,410 prisoners sent from Kozelsk had been shot.43

At Ostashkov, a band played as the prisoners left the camp, to lift their
spirits. They were taken by train, in groups of about 250-500, to the NKVD
prison at Kalinin (today Tver). All were held briefly while their data were
checked. They waited, not knowing what would come next, probably not
suspecting until the very last moment. An NKVD officer asked one of the
waiting prisoners, alone then with his captors, how old he was. The boy was
smiling. “Eighteen.” What did you do? Still smiling. “Telephone operator.”
How long had you worked? The boy counted on his hands. “Six months.”
Then he, like all of the 6,314 prisoners who passed through this room, was
handcuffed and led to a soundproofed cell. Two men held him by the arms
as a third shot him from behind in the base of the skull.44

The chief executioner at Kalinin, whom the prisoners never saw, was
Vasily Blokhin. He had been one of the main killers during the Great Terror,
when he had commanded an execution squad in Moscow. He had been
entrusted with some of the executions of high-profile defendants of show
trials, but had also shot thousands of workers and peasants who were killed
entirely in secret. At Kalinin he wore a leather cap, apron, and long gloves
to keep the blood and gore from himself and his uniform. Using German
pistols, he shot, each night, about two hundred and fifty men, one after
another. Then the bodies were driven, in a truck, to nearby Mednoe, where
the NKVD had some summer houses. They were thrown into a large pit dug
earlier by a backhoe.45

From the camp at Starobilsk, the prisoners made the trip by rail, a
hundred or two hundred at a time, to Kharkiv, where they were held at the
NKVD prison. Though they could not have known this, they had been
brought to one of the main killing centers of Poles in the Soviet Union.
Now it was their turn, and they went to their deaths ignorant of the past,
ignorant of what was happening to their comrades in other camps, ignorant
of what would happen to them. After a day or so in prison they were taken
to a room where their details were checked. Then they were led to another
room, this one dark and without windows. A guard would ask “May I?” and



then lead in the prisoner. As one of the NKVD men remembered, “there
was a clack, and that was the end.” The bodies were piled onto trucks.
Jackets were pulled over the heads of the corpses so that the truck platform
would not be stained by the blood. The bodies were loaded head first, then
feet first, so they would stack.46

In this way 3,739 prisoners of Starobilsk were killed, including all of
Józef Czapski’s friends and acquaintances: the botanist whom he
remembered for his calm, but also an economist who tried to hide his fears
from his pregnant wife, a doctor who was known in Warsaw for visiting
cafés and supporting artists, the lieutenant who recited plays and novels by
heart, the lawyer who was an enthusiast for a European federation, all the
engineers, teachers, poets, social workers, journalists, surgeons, and
soldiers. But not Czapski himself. He, like a few others from each of the
three camps, was sent on to another camp, and survived.47

 

Fyodor Dostoevsky had set a crucial scene of The Brothers Karamazov at
the Optyn Hermitage in Kozelsk, which in 1939 and 1940 became the site
of the Soviet prisoner-of-war camp. Here took place the most famous
exchange in the book: a discussion between a young nobleman and a
monastery elder about the possibility of morality without God. If God is
dead, is everything permitted? In 1940, the real building where this fictional
conversation took place, the former residence of some of the monks, housed
the NKVD interrogators. They represented a Soviet answer to that question:
only the death of God allowed for the liberation of humanity.
Unconsciously, many of the Polish officers provided a different answer: that
in a place where everything is permitted, God is a refuge. They saw their
camps as churches, and prayed in them. Many of them attended Easter
services before they were dispatched to their deaths.48

The prisoners in the three camps, or at least many of them, guessed that
they were being filtered, selected for some role that they might play in the
Soviet Union. They had little or no idea, however, that when they failed this
test they would be killed. They knew nothing of the Polish operation of the
Great Terror, in which tens of thousands of Soviet Poles had been shot only
two years before. Even had they understood the stakes, it seems hard to
imagine that very many of them could have demonstrated any sort of



believable loyalty to the Soviets. In the camps they had to see Soviet
newspapers, watch Soviet propaganda films, and listen to Soviet news
broadcasts over loudspeakers. They generally found it all ridiculous, and
insulting. Even those who informed on their comrades found the system
absurd.49

The two cultures did not communicate well, at least not without some
obvious shared interest. During this period, when Stalin was Hitler’s ally,
no such common ground could easily be imagined. The possibilities for
misunderstanding, on the other hand, were enormous. Collectivization and
industrialization had modernized the Soviet Union, but without the attention
to the population, or rather to consumers, that characterized the capitalist
West. The Soviet citizens who ruled eastern Poland were falling off
bicycles, eating toothpaste, using toilets as sinks, wearing multiple watches,
or bras as earmuffs, or lingerie as evening gowns. Polish prisoners were
also ignorant, and about more fundamental matters. Unlike Soviet citizens
in their position, the Poles believed that they could not be sentenced or
killed without a legal basis. It was a sign of the great civilizational
transformation of Stalinism that these Soviet and Polish citizens, many of
whom had been born in the same Russian Empire, now understood each
other so poorly.

The chief interrogator at Kozelsk, the man who inherited the residence of
Dostoevsky’s monastic elder, put this delicately: it was a matter of “two
divergent philosophies.” In the end, the Soviets could extend and enforce
theirs. Jokes at the expense of the Soviets in eastern Poland could be
answered with the easy retort: what is the country called now? The Poles in
the camps would not be made to fit Soviet civilization. They did not live
like Soviet people: this was the recollection of the Russian and Ukrainian
peasants who saw them, who decades later recalled their neatness,
cleanliness, and proud bearing. They could not be made to live like Soviet
people, at least not on such short notice, and not in these circumstances: but
they could be made to die like them. Many of the Polish officers were
stronger and better educated than the NKVD captors. But disarmed,
confused, and held by two men, they could be shot by a third, and buried
where no one, it seemed, would ever find them. In death, it seemed, they
could join the silence of the citizens of Soviet history.50



In all, this lesser Terror, this revival of the Polish operation, killed 21,892
Polish citizens. The vast majority of them, though not all, were Poles by
nationality. Poland was a multinational state, with a multinational officer
corps, and so many of the dead were Jews, Ukrainians, and Belarusians.
Some eight percent of the victims were Jews, corresponding to the
proportion of Jews in eastern Poland.51

As in the Great Terror, the families of the repressed were to be punished
as well. Three days before proposing that all of the prisoners in these camps
be shot, Beria had ordered that their families be deported. The Soviets knew
who these people were: this was why they had allowed the prisoners to
correspond with their loved ones, to collect names and addresses.
Operational troikas in western Belarus and western Ukraine prepared the
names of 60,667 people to be sent to special settlements in Kazakhstan.
Most of them were family members of what one order called “former
people.” These were usually families without husbands and fathers. Wives
were told, in a typical Soviet lie, that they were being sent to join their
husbands. In fact, families were dropped on the Siberian taiga (“the eternal
mud and snow” as one thirteen-year-old Polish boy remembered it) as the
men were being shot at Katyn, Kalinin, Kharkiv, Bykivnia, and Kurapaty.
Some Polish children wrote to Stalin on 20 May 1940, promising to be
good Soviet citizens, complaining only that “it’s hard to live without our
fathers.” The following day NKVD men were given cash awards for having
cleared out the three camps without allowing a single escape.52

Because the men were absent, this deportation was even harder on its
victims than the one in February. Women were dropped with their children,
and often with their aged parents-in-law, in Kazakhstan. Departing in April
on a moment’s notice, most women had inadequate clothing. The clothes
they brought they often had to sell to buy food. Women survived the
following winter by learning to collect and burn dung for heat. Thousands
of women died. Many of them had to decide how to keep their children
alive. They wished to raise them as Poles, but often realized that they had to
give them to Soviet institutions if they were to be fed and to survive. One
woman left five of her six children at an NKVD office, and disappeared
with the sixth at her breast, never to be seen again. The pregnant wife of the
worried economist held at Starobilsk and killed at Kharkiv gave birth to
their child in exile. The infant died.53



At the same time, in March 1940, NKVD chief Beria had ordered a
deportation of people who had declined to accept a Soviet passport. This
meant a rejection of the Soviet system, and also a practical problem for
Soviet bureaucrats. Polish citizens who refused to allow their identities to
enter Soviet records could not be observed and punished with desirable
efficiency. As it happened, the vast majority of people who had rejected the
Soviet passport were Jewish refugees from western Poland. These people
had fled the Germans, but had no wish to become Soviet citizens. They
feared that, if they accepted Soviet documents, they would not be allowed
to return to Poland—once it was restored. So, in this way, Jews proved to be
loyal citizens of Poland, and became victims of both of the regimes that had
conquered their homeland. They had fled the depredations of the SS, only
to be deported by the NKVD to Kazakhstan and Siberia. Of the 78,339
people deported in the June 1940 action that targeted refugees, about
eighty-four percent were Jewish.54

Usually people who had no experience in the countryside, Polish Jews
were at least as helpless as the Poles who had gone before them. Artisans
and cobblers were sent to the far Russian north to fell trees. A Jewish boy
called Joseph remembered that the Jews in his hometown had been forced
to burn down their own synagogue as the Germans laughed. His family fled
to the Soviet zone, but refused the Soviet passport. His brother, father, and
mother all died in exile.55

In western Europe, this period was known as the “phony war”: nothing
seemed to be happening. France and Britain were at war with Germany as
of September 1939. But that autumn, winter, and the following spring, as
Poland was defeated, destroyed, and divided, and tens of thousands of its
citizens murdered and hundreds of thousands deported, there was no
western front in the war. The Germans and their Soviet allies were free to
do as they liked.

The Germans invaded Denmark and Norway in April 1940, thereby
securing access to mineral reserves in Scandinavia and preventing any
British intervention in northern Europe. But the phony war was well and
truly over when Germany attacked the Low Countries and France on 10
May. By 14 June about a hundred thousand French and sixty thousand



British soldiers were dead, and the Germans were in Paris. France had
fallen, far more quickly than anyone expected. That same month, June
1940, the Soviet Union also extended its empire to the west, annexing all
three of the independent Baltic States: Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania.

The largest and most populous Baltic State, Lithuania, was also the one
with the most complicated nationalities issues and international relations.
Throughout the interwar period Lithuania had claimed the city of Vilnius
and its environs, which lay in northeastern Poland. Though these territories
were inhabited mainly by Poles, Jews, and Belarusians, Lithuanians
regarded Vilnius as their rightful capital, since the city had been the capital
of an important medieval and early-modern state known as the Grand
Duchy of Lithuania. In the 1920s and 1930s, the leaders of the independent
Lithuanian state had used Kaunas as an administrative center, but regarded
Vilnius as their capital. Stalin played on such emotions in 1939. Rather than
annexing Vilnius to the Soviet Union, he granted it to still-independent
Lithuania. The price, not surprisingly, was the establishment of Soviet
military bases on Lithuanian territory. Soviet forces, already installed in
Lithuania, stood at the ready as a political revolution, even more hasty and



artificial than in eastern Poland, was imposed in summer 1940. Much of the
Lithuanian political elite escaped to Nazi Germany.56

All of this was carefully observed by the Japanese consul in Lithuania,
Chiune Sugihara, who was in Kaunas to monitor German and Soviet
military movements. In summer 1940 the Japanese leadership had set a
clear course: it would seek a neutrality pact with the Soviet Union. With the
north thus secured, the Japanese could plan a move southward for 1941.
Sugihara was one of the relatively few Japanese officials in a position to
follow German-Soviet relations after the fall of France. Lacking a staff of
his own, he used as his informers and assistants Polish military officers who
had escaped arrest by the Soviets and the Germans. He rewarded them with
Japanese passports and the use of the Japanese diplomatic post. Sugihara
helped the Poles find an escape route for their officer comrades. The Poles
realized that it was possible to arrange a trip across the Soviet Union to
Japan with a certain kind of Japanese exit visa. Only a very few Polish
officers escaped by this route, though at least one of them reached Japan
and filed intelligence reports about what he had seen while crossing the
USSR.57

At the same time, Jewish refugees began to visit Sugihara. These Jews
were Polish citizens who had originally fled the German invasion of
September 1939, but who now feared the Soviets. They had heard of the
June 1940 deportation of Jews, and feared the same for themselves. They
were right to do so: a year later, the Soviets would deport about 17,500
people from Lithuania, 17,000 from Latvia, and 6,000 from Estonia. With
the help of the Polish officers, Sugihara helped several thousand Jews
escape Lithuania. They made the long trip across the Soviet Union by rail,
then to Japan by ship, and then onward to Palestine or the United States.
This action was the coda, silent but firm, of decades of Polish-Japanese
intelligence cooperation.58

In 1940 the Nazi leaders would have liked to rid themselves of the two
million or so Jews in their half of Poland, but could not agree among
themselves as to how this was to be achieved. The original wartime plan
had been to create some sort of reservation for Jews in the Lublin district of
the General Government. But since the area of German conquest in Poland



was relatively small, and Lublin not much further from Berlin (seven
hundred kilometers) than the two great cities from which Jews would have
to be deported, Warsaw (six hundred kilometers) and Łódź (five hundred
kilometers), this had never been a satisfying solution. Hans Frank, the
general governor, objected to the arrival of more Jews in his terrain. In late
1939 and 1940 Himmler and Greiser continued to dump Poles from the
Wartheland into the General Government—some 408,525 in all, similar to
the number of Polish citizens deported by the Soviets. This brought
enormous suffering to the people in question, but did little to change the
national balance in Germany. There were simply too many Poles, and
moving them from one part of occupied Poland to another brought little
more than chaos. It hardly fulfilled Hitler’s grand dreams of living space in
the east.59

A specialist on deportation, Adolf Eichmann, was recruited in autumn
1939 to improve the efficiency of the operation. Eichmann had already
shown his skills by speeding the emigration of Austrian Jews from Vienna.
Yet the problem of deporting Jews to the General Government, as
Eichmann found, was not so much inefficiency as senselessness. Eichmann
learned that Hans Frank, the general governor, had no wish to see any more
Jews in his colony. Eichmann managed to send about four thousand
Austrian and Czech Jews to the General Government in October 1939
before this policy was halted. Eichmann then drew what must have seemed
like the obvious conclusion: that the two million Jews under German power
should be deported east to the vast territory of Germany’s ally, the Soviet
Union. Stalin, after all, had already created a zone of Jewish settlement:
Birobidzhan, deep in Soviet Asia. As the Germans noted (and would have
occasion to note again), the Soviet regime, unlike their own, had the state
capacity and sheer terrain required for effective mass deportations. The
Germans proposed a transfer of European Jews in January 1940. Stalin was
not interested.60

If the General Government was too near and too small to resolve what
Nazis saw as the racial problem, and the Soviets were not interested in
taking Jews, what was to be done with the racial enemies who made up its
native population? They were to be held under control and exploited until
the time for the Final Solution (still seen as deportation) came. The model
came from Greiser, who ordered the creation of a ghetto for the 233,000



Jews of Łódź on 8 February 1940. That same month Ludwig Fischer, the
German mayor of Warsaw, entrusted the lawyer Waldemar Schön with the
task of designing a ghetto. In October and November more than a hundred
thousand non-Jewish Poles were cleared out of the northwesterly district of
Warsaw that the Germans declared to be the ghetto, and more than a
hundred thousand Warsaw Jews moved in from elsewhere in the city. Jews
were forced to wear a yellow star to identify themselves as Jews, and to
submit to other humiliating regulations. They lost property outside the
ghettoes, in the first instance to Germans, and then sometimes to Poles
(who often had lost their own homes under German bombs). If Warsaw
Jews were caught outside the ghetto without permission, they were subject
to the death penalty. The fate of the Jews in the rest of the General
Government was the same.61

The Warsaw ghetto and the other ghettos became improvised labor camps
and holding pens in 1940 and 1941. The Germans selected a Jewish
council, or Judenrat, usually from among people who had been prewar
leaders of the local Jewish community. In Warsaw the head of the Judenrat
was Adam Czerniaków, a journalist and prewar senator. The task of the
Judenrat was to mediate between the Germans and the Jews of the ghetto.
The Germans also created unarmed Jewish police forces, in Warsaw headed
by Józef Szerzyński, which were to maintain order, prevent escapes, and
carry out German policies of coercion. It was not at all clear what these
would be, although with time Jews were able to see that life in the ghetto
could not be sustained indefinitely. In the meantime, the Warsaw ghetto
became a tourist attraction for visiting Germans. The ghetto historian
Emanuel Ringelblum noted that the “shed where dozens of corpses lie
awaiting burial is particularly popular.” The Baedeker guide to the General
Government would be published in 1943.62

The Germans themselves returned in summer 1940, after the fall of
France, to the idea of a distant Final Solution. The Soviets had rejected a
deportation of Jews to the Soviet Union, and Frank had prevented their
massive resettlement in his General Government. Madagascar was a French
possession; with France subdued, all that stood in the way of its
recolonization was the Royal Navy. Himmler mused along those lines: “I
trust that thanks to a great journey of Jews to Africa or to some other colony
I will see the complete extirpation of the concept of Jews.” That, of course,



was not the end of the ambition, as Himmler continued: “Over a somewhat
longer period of time it must be possible to cause the disappearance on our
territory of the national conceptions Ukrainians, Górals, Lemkos. And what
has been said about these clans applies, on an appropriately greater scale,
also to the Poles. . . . ”63

Jews were dying at high rates, especially in the Warsaw ghetto, where
well over four hundred thousand Jews were assembled. The ghetto
comprised an area of only about two square miles, so the population density
was about two hundred thousand people per square mile. For the most part,
however, the Jews dying in Warsaw were not Warsaw Jews. In the Warsaw
district, as elsewhere in the General Government, the Germans drove Jews
from smaller settlements into the larger ghettoes. Jews from beyond
Warsaw were usually poorer to begin with, and lost what they had as they
were deported. They were sent to Warsaw with little time to prepare, and
often unable to carry what they had. These Jews from the Warsaw district
became the vulnerable ghetto underclass, prone to hunger and disease. Of
the perhaps sixty thousand Jews who died in the Warsaw ghetto in 1940 and
1941, the vast majority were resettlers and refugees. It was they who
suffered most from harsh German policies, such as the decision to deny any
food to the ghetto for the entire month of December 1940. Their death was
often a hungry one, after long suffering and moral degradation.64

Parents often died first, leaving their children alone in a strange city.
Gitla Szulcman remembered that after the death of her mother and her
father she “wandered aimlessly through the ghetto and became entirely
swollen with hunger.” Sara Sborow, whose mother died with her in bed, and
whose sister then swelled and starved and died, wrote: “Inside myself I
know everything, but I can’t say it.” The very articulate teenager Izrael
Lederman understood that there were “two wars, a war of bullets and a war
of hunger. The war of hunger is worse, because then a person suffers, from
bullets you die at once.” As a doctor remembered, “ten-year-old children
sold themselves for bread.”65

In the Warsaw ghetto, Jewish community organizations established
shelters for orphans. Some children, in their desperation, wished for their
parents to die so that they could at least get their food allotment as orphans.
Some of the shelters were awful spectacles. As one social worker



remembered, the children “curse, beat each other, jostle each other around
the pot of porridge. Critically ill children lie on the floor, children bloated
from hunger, corpses that have not been removed for several days.” She
worked hard to bring order to a shelter, only to see the children catch
typhus. She and her charges were blockaded inside, in quarantine. The
shelter, she wrote in her diary with uncanny foresight, “now serves as a gas
chamber.”66

 

Whereas the Germans preserved prewar Polish-Jewish elites, choosing from
among them a Judenrat to implement German policies in the ghetto, they
tended to regard non-Jewish Polish elites as a political threat. In early 1940,
Hitler came to the conclusion that the more dangerous Poles in the General
Government should simply be executed. He told Frank that Polish
“leadership elements” had to be “eliminated.” Frank drew up a list of
groups to be destroyed that was very similar to that of Operation
Tannenberg: the educated, the clergy, the politically active. By an
interesting coincidence, he announced this plan to “liquidate” groups
regarded as “spiritual leaders” to his subordinates on 2 March 1940, three
days before Beria initiated the terror actions against the Polish prisoners in
the Soviet Union. His basic policy was the same as Beria’s: to kill people
already under arrest, and to arrest people regarded as dangerous and kill
them too. Unlike Beria, Frank would use the opportunity to execute
common criminals as well, presumably to clear prison space. By the end of
summer 1940, the Germans had killed some three thousand people they
regarded as politically dangerous, and about the same number of common
criminals.67

The German operation was less well coordinated than the Soviet one.
The AB Aktion (Ausserordentliche Befriedungsaktion, Extraordinary
Pacification Action), as these killings were known, was implemented
differently in each of the various districts of the General Government. In the
Cracow district prisoners were read a summary verdict, although no
sentence was actually recorded. The verdict was treason, which would have
justified a death sentence: but then, contradictorily, everyone was recorded
as having been shot while trying to escape. In fact, the prisoners were taken
from Montelupi prison in Cracow to nearby Krzesawice, where they dug
their own death pits. A day later they were shot, thirty to fifty at a time. In



the Lublin district people were held at the town castle, then taken to a site
south of the city. By the light of the headlamps of trucks, they were
machine-gunned in front of pits. On one night, 15 August 1940, 450 people
were killed.68

In the Warsaw district prisoners were held at the Pawiak prison, then
driven to the Palmiry Forest. There the Germans had used forced labor to
dig several long ditches, three meters wide by thirty meters long. Prisoners
were awakened at dawn and told to collect their things. In the beginning, at
least, they thought that they were being transferred to another camp. Only
when the trucks turned into the forest did they understand their fate. The
bloodiest night was 20-21 June 1940, when 358 people were shot.69

In the Radom district, the action was especially systematic and brutal.
Prisoners were bound, and read a verdict: they were a “danger to German
security.” As in the other cities, Poles did not usually understand that this
was supposed to have been a judicial procedure. They were taken away in
large groups in the afternoon, according to a schedule: “3:30 binding, 3:45
reading of verdict, 4:00 transport.” The first few groups were driven to a
sandy area twelve kilometers north of Częstochowa, where they were
blindfolded and shot. The wife of one of the prisoners, Jadwiga Flak, was
later able to find her way to the killing site. She found in the sand the
unmistakable signs of what had happened: shards of bone and bits of
blindfold. Her husband Marian was a student who had just turned twenty-
two. Four prisoners who were members of the city council had survived.
Himmler’s brother-in-law, who happened to be the man who ran the city for
the Germans, believed that he needed them to construct a swimming pool
and a brothel for Germans.70

Later groups from Częstochowa were taken to the woods. On 4 July 1940
the three Glińska sisters, Irena, Janina, and Serafina, were all shot there. All
three of them had refused to disclose the whereabouts of their brothers.
Janina called German rule “laughable and temporary.” She said that she
would never betray “her brother or another Pole.” She did not.71

On the way to the killing sites, prisoners would throw notes from the
truck, in the hope that passersby would find them and convey them to their
families. This was something of a Polish custom, and the notes would
surprisingly often find their way to their destination. The people who wrote



them, unlike the prisoners in the three Soviet camps, knew that they were
going to die. The prisoners at Kozelsk, Ostashkov, and Starobilsk also
threw notes from the buses as they left the camps, but they said things like:
“We can’t tell where they are sending us.”72

Thus a difference between Soviet and German repression. East of the
Molotov-Ribbentrop line, the Soviets wished for secrecy, and barring some
extraordinary accident they preserved it. West of the Molotov-Ribbentrop
line, Germans did not always want discretion, and were poor at maintaining
it even when they so wished. So the victims of the AB Aktion were
reconciling themselves, or trying to reconcile their families, to a fate they
foresaw. The people awaiting death disagreed about the meaning of it all.
Mieczysław Habrowski wrote that: “The blood shed on the Polish land will
enrich her and raise the avengers of a free and great Poland.” Ryszard
Schmidt, who had physically attacked his interrogators, wanted to
discourage revenge: “Let the children not take revenge, for revenge breeds
more revenge.” Marian Muszyński simply bade farewell to his family:
“God be with you. I love you all.”73

Some of the people going to their deaths in the AB Aktion were thinking of
family who had been taken prisoner by the Soviets. Although the Soviets
and the Germans did not coordinate their policies against the Polish
educated classes, they targeted the same sorts of people. The Soviets acted
to remove elements that they regarded as dangerous to their system, on the
pretext of fighting a class war. The Germans were also defending their
territorial gains, though also acting on their sense that the inferior race had
to be kept in its place. In the end, the policies were very similar, with more
or less concurrent deportations and more or less concurrent mass shootings.

In at least two cases, the Soviet terror killed one sibling, the German
terror the other. Janina Dowbor was the only female among the Polish
officers taken prisoner by the Soviets. An adventurous soul, she had learned
as a girl to hang glide and parachute. She was the first woman in Europe to
jump from a height of five kilometers or more. She trained as a pilot in
1939, and enlisted in the Polish air force reserve. In September 1939 she
was taken prisoner by the Soviets. According to one account, her plane had
been shot down by the Germans. Parachuting to safety, she found herself



arrested by the Soviets as a Polish second lieutenant. She was taken to
Ostashkov, and then to Kozelsk. She had her own accommodations, and
spent her time with air force comrades with whom she felt safe. On 21 or 22
April 1940, she was executed at Katyn, and buried there in the pits along
with 4,409 men. Her younger sister Agnieszka had remained in the German
zone. Along with some friends, she had joined a resistance organization in
late 1939. She was arrested in April 1940, at about the time that her sister
was executed. She was killed in the Palmiry Forest on 21 June 1940. Both
sisters were buried in shallow graves, after sham trials and shots to the
head.74

The Wnuk brothers, who hailed from a region that had once been in east-
central Poland but was now quite close to the German-Soviet border, met
the same fate. Bolesław, the older brother, was a populist politician who had
been elected to the Polish parliament. Jakub, the younger brother, studied
pharmacology and designed gas masks. Both married in 1932 and had
children. Jakub, along with the other experts from his institute, was arrested
by the Soviets and killed at Katyn in April 1940. Bolesław was arrested by
the Germans in October 1939, taken to Lublin castle in January, and
executed in the AB Aktion on 29 June 1940. He left a farewell note on a
handkerchief: “I die for the fatherland with a smile on my lips, but I die
innocent.”75

In spring and summer 1940, the Germans were extending their small
system of concentration camps so that they could intimidate and exploit
Poles. In late April 1940, Heinrich Himmler visited Warsaw, and ordered
that twenty thousand Poles be placed in concentration camps. At the
initiative of Erich von dem Bach-Zelewski, Himmler’s commissar for the
Strengthening of Germandom for the Silesia region, a new concentration
camp was established at the site of a Polish army barracks close to Cracow:
Oświęcim, better known by its German name, Auschwitz. As the AB
Aktion came to a close, prisoners were no longer executed, but sent to
German camps, very often Auschwitz. The first transport to Auschwitz was
made up of Polish political prisoners from Cracow; they were sent on 14
June 1940 and given the numbers 31-758. In July transports of Polish
political prisoners were sent to Sachsenhausen and Buchenwald; in
November followed two more to Auschwitz. On 15 August began mass
roundups in Warsaw, where hundreds and then thousands of people would



be seized on the streets and sent to Auschwitz. In November 1940 the camp
became an execution site for Poles. At around the same time it attracted the
attention of investors from IG Farben. Auschwitz became a giant labor
camp very much on the Soviet model, although its slave labor served the
interests of German companies, rather than Stalin’s dream of planned
industrialization.76

Unlike the Germans, who wrongly believed that they had eliminated the
Polish educated classes in their part of Poland, the Soviets in considerable
measure actually had. In the General Government the Polish resistance was
growing, whereas in the Soviet Union networks were quickly broken and
activists arrested, exiled, and sometimes executed. Meanwhile, a new
challenge to Soviet rule from Ukrainians was in view. Poland had been
home to about five million Ukrainians, almost all of whom now inhabited
Soviet Ukraine. They were not necessarily satisfied by the new regime.
Ukrainian nationalists, whose organizations had been illegal in interwar
Poland, knew how to work underground. Now that Poland no longer
existed, the focus of their labors naturally changed. Soviet policy had made
some local Ukrainians receptive to the nationalists’ message. While some
Ukrainian peasants had initially welcomed Soviet rule and its gifts of
farmland, collectivization had quickly turned them against the regime.77

The Organization of Ukrainian Nationalists now began to take action
against the institutions of Soviet power. Some leading Ukrainian
nationalists had interwar connections with German military intelligence and
with Reinhard Heydrich’s SS intelligence service, the Sicherheitsdienst. As
Stalin knew, several of them were still gathering intelligence for Berlin.
Thus a fourth Soviet deportation from the annexed territories of eastern
Poland chiefly targeted Ukrainians. The first two operations had targeted
mainly Poles, and the third mainly Jews. An action of May 1941 moved
11,328 Polish citizens, most of them Ukrainians, from western Soviet
Ukraine to the special settlements. The very last deportation, on 19 June,
touched 22,353 Polish citizens, most of them Poles.78

As a little Polish boy from Białystok remembered, “They took us under
bombs and there was fire because people began to burn up in the cars.”
Germany invaded the Soviet Union in a surprise attack on 22 June, and its



bombers caught up with the Soviet prison trains. About two thousand
deportees died in the freight cars, victims of both regimes.79

In purging his new lands, Stalin had been preparing for another war. But
he did not believe that it would come so soon.

When Germany invaded the Soviet Union in a surprise attack on 22 June
1941, Poland and the Soviet Union were suddenly transformed from
enemies to allies. Each was now fighting Germany. Nevertheless, it was an
awkward situation. In the previous two years, the Soviets had repressed
about half a million Polish citizens: about 315,000 deported, about 110,000
more arrested, and 30,000 executed, and about 25,000 more who died in
custody. The Polish government knew about the deportations, but not about
the killings. Nevertheless, the Soviets and the Poles began to form a Polish
Army from the hundreds of thousands of Polish citizens now scattered
across Soviet prisons, labor camps, and special settlements.80

The Polish high command realized that several thousand Polish officers
were missing. Józef Czapski, the Polish officer and artist who had survived
Kozelsk, was sent to Moscow by the Polish government with the mission of
finding the missing men, his former campmates. A sober man, he
nevertheless understood his task as a calling. Poland would now have a
second chance to fight the Germans, and Czapski was to find the officers
who would lead men into battle. As he journeyed to Moscow, to his mind
came snatches of Polish romantic poetry, first the deeply masochistic
reverie of Juliusz Słowacki, asking God to keep Poland on the cross until
she had the strength to stand by herself. Then, speaking to an appealingly
honest fellow Pole, Czapski recalled the most famous lines of Cyprian
Norwid’s poem of desire for the homeland, written in exile: “I long for
those who say yes for yes and no for no / For a light without shadow.” An
urbane, sophisticated man from a nationally mixed family, Czapski found
solace by understanding his own nation in the terms of Romantic
idealism.81

Czapski was indirectly invoking scripture, for Norwid’s poem cites the
Book of Matthew: “let your communication be, Yea, yea; Nay, nay: for
whatsoever is more than these cometh of evil.” This was the very same
verse with which Arthur Koestler had just ended Darkness at Noon, his own



novel of the Great Terror. Czapski was on his way to the Lubianka prison in
Moscow, the setting of that novel; this was also the very place where
Koestler’s friend, Alexander Weissberg, had been interrogated before his
release in 1940. Weissberg and his wife had both been arrested in the late
1930s; their experiences were one source of Koestler’s novel. Czapski was
intending to ask one of the Lubianka interrogators about his own friends,
the missing Polish prisoners. He had an appointment with Leonid
Reikhman, an NKVD officer who had interrogated Polish prisoners.82

Czapski passed Reikhman a report, describing the known movements of
the thousands of missing officers. Reikhman seemed to read it from
beginning to end, following each line with a pencil, but marking nothing.
He then spoke some noncommittal words, and promised to call Czapski at
his hotel after he had informed himself about the matter. One night at about
midnight the phone rang. It was Reikhman, who claimed that he had to
leave the city on urgent business. He had no new information. He provided
Czapski with some names of other officials with whom to speak, all of
whom had already been approached by the Polish government. Czapski
even now did not suspect the truth, that all of the missing officers had been
murdered. But he understood that something was being concealed. He
decided to leave Moscow.83

The next day, returning to his hotel room, Czapski felt a pair of eyes
staring at him. Weary of the attention that his Polish officer’s uniform drew
in the Soviet capital, he paid no attention. An elderly Jew approached him
as he reached the elevator. “You’re a Polish officer?” The Jew was from
Poland, but had not seen his homeland in thirty years, and wished to see it
again. “Then,” he said, “I could die without regrets.” On the spur of the
moment, Czapski invited the gentleman to his room, with the intention of
giving him a copy of a magazine published by the Polish embassy. On the
first page happened to be a photograph of Warsaw—Warsaw, the capital of
Poland, the center of Jewish life, the locus of two civilizations, and the site
of their encounter. The castle square was destroyed, the famous column of
King Zygmunt broken. This was Warsaw after the German bombing.
Czapski’s companion slumped against a chair, put his head down, and wept.
When the Jewish gentleman had gone, Czapski himself began to weep.
After the loneliness and mendacity of official Moscow, a single moment of
human contact had changed everything for him. “The eyes of the poor Jew,”



he remembered, “rescued me from a descent into the abyss of unbelief and
utter despair.”84

The sadness the two men shared was of a moment that had just passed,
the moment of the joint German-Soviet occupation of Poland. Together,
between September 1939 and June 1941, in their time as allies, the Soviet
and German states had killed perhaps two hundred thousand Polish citizens,
and deported about a million more. Poles had been sent to the Gulag and to
Auschwitz, where tens of thousands more would die in the months and
years to come. Polish Jews under German occupation were enclosed in
ghettos, awaiting an uncertain fate. Tens of thousands of Polish Jews had
already died of hunger or disease.

A particular wound was caused by the intention, in both Moscow and
Berlin, to decapitate Polish society, to leave Poles as a malleable mass that
could be ruled rather than governed. Hans Frank, citing Hitler, defined his
job as the elimination of Poland’s “leadership elements.” NKVD officers
took their assignment to a logical extreme by consulting a Polish “Who’s
Who” in order to define their targets. This was an attack on the very
concept of modernity, or indeed the social embodiment of Enlightenment in
this part of the world. In eastern Europe the pride of societies was the
“intelligentsia,” the educated classes who saw themselves as leading the
nation, especially during periods of statelessness and hardship, and
preserving national culture in their writing, speech, and behavior. The
German language has the same word, with the same meaning; Hitler
ordered quite precisely the “extermination of the Polish intelligentsia.” The
chief interrogator at Kozelsk had spoken of a “divergent philosophy”; one
of the German interrogators in the AB Aktion had ordered an old man to be
killed for exhibiting a “Polish way of thinking.” It was the intelligentsia
who was thought to embody this civilization, and to manifest this special
way of thinking.85

Its mass murder by the two occupiers was a tragic sign that the Polish
intelligentsia had fulfilled its historical mission.



CHAPTER 5
THE ECONOMICS OF APOCALYPSE

The twenty-second of June 1941 is one of the most significant days in the
history of Europe. The German invasion of the Soviet Union that began that
day under the cryptonym Operation Barbarossa was much more than a
surprise attack, a shift of alliances, or a new stage in a war. It was the
beginning of a calamity that defies description. The engagement of the
Wehrmacht (and its allies) with the Red Army killed more than ten million
soldiers, not to speak of the comparable number of civilians who died in
flight, under bombs, or of hunger and disease as a result of the war on the
eastern front. During this eastern war, the Germans also deliberately
murdered some ten million people, including more than five million Jews
and more than three million prisoners of war.

In the history of the bloodlands, Operation Barbarossa marks the
beginning of a third period. In the first (1933-1938), the Soviet Union
carried out almost all of the mass killing; in the second, during the German-
Soviet alliance (1939-1941), the killing was balanced. Between 1941 and
1945 the Germans were responsible for almost all of the political murder.

Each shift of stages poses a question. In the transition from the first stage
to the second, the question was: How could the Soviets make an alliance
with the Nazis? In the transition from the second to the third, the question
is: Why did the Germans break that alliance? The Molotov-Ribbentrop
Europe made by Moscow and Berlin between 1939 and 1941 meant
occupation or loss of territory for Belgium, Denmark, Estonia, Finland,
France, Latvia, Lithuania, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland,
and Romania. It also meant mass deportations and mass shootings for the
citizens of Poland, Romania, and the Baltic States. But for the Soviet Union
and Nazi Germany, it meant fruitful economic cooperation, military
victories, and expansion at the expense of these countries. What was it
about the Nazi and Soviet systems that permitted mutually advantageous
cooperation, between 1939 and 1941, but also the most destructive war in
human history, between 1941 and 1945?
 



Very often the question of 1941 is posed in a more abstract way, as a matter
of European civilization. In some arguments, German (and Soviet) killing
policies are the culmination of modernity, which supposedly began when
Enlightened ideas of reason in politics were practiced during the French
Revolution and the Napoleonic Wars. The pursuit of modernity in this sense
does not explain the catastrophe of 1941, at least not in any straightforward
way. Both regimes rejected the optimism of the Enlightenment: that social
progress would follow a masterly march of science through the natural
world. Hitler and Stalin both accepted a late-nineteenth-century Darwinistic
modification: progress was possible, but only as a result of violent struggle
between races or classes. Thus it was legitimate to destroy the Polish upper
classes (Stalinism) or the artificially educated layers of Polish subhumanity
(National Socialism). Thus far the ideologies of Nazi Germany and the
Soviet Union permitted a compromise, the one embodied in the conquest of
Poland. The alliance allowed them to destroy the fruits of the European
Enlightenment in Poland by destroying much of the Polish educated classes.
It allowed the Soviet Union to extend its version of equality, and Nazi
Germany to impose racial schema upon tens of millions of people, most
dramatically by separating Jews into ghettos pending some “Final
Solution.” It is possible, then, to see Nazi Germany and the Soviet Union as
representing two instances of modernity, which could emanate hostility to a
third, the Polish. But this is a far cry from their representing modernity as
such.1

The answer to the question of 1941 has less to do with the intellectual
heritage of the Enlightenment and more to do with the possibilities for
imperialism, less to do with Paris and more to do with London. Hitler and
Stalin both confronted the two chief inheritances of the British nineteenth
century: imperialism as an organizing principle of world politics, and the
unbroken power of the British Empire at sea. Hitler, unable to rival the
British on the oceans, saw eastern Europe as ripe for a new land empire.
The East was not quite a tabula rasa: the Soviet state and all of its works
had to be cleared away. But then it would be, as Hitler said in July 1941, a
“Garden of Eden.” The British Empire had been a central preoccupation of
Stalin’s predecessor Lenin, who believed that imperialism artificially
sustained capitalism. Stalin’s challenge, as Lenin’s successor, was to defend
the homeland of socialism, the Soviet Union, against a world where both
imperialism and capitalism persisted. Stalin had made his concession to the



imperialist world well before Hitler came to power: since imperialism
continued, socialism would have to be represented not by world revolution
but by the Soviet state. After this ideological compromise (“socialism in
one country”), Stalin’s alliance with Hitler was a detail. After all, when
one’s country is a fortress of good surrounded by a world of evil, any
compromise is justified, and none is worse than any other. Stalin said that
the arrangement with Germany had served Soviet interests well. He
expected it to end at some point, but not in 1941.2

Hitler wanted the Germans to become an imperial people; Stalin wanted
the Soviets to endure the imperial stage of history, however long it lasted.
The contradiction here was less of principle than of territory. Hitler’s
Garden of Eden, the pure past to be found in the near future, was Stalin’s
Promised Land, a territory mastered at great cost, about which a canonical
history had already been written (Stalin’s Short Course of 1938). Hitler
always intended to conquer the western Soviet Union. Stalin wanted to
develop and strengthen the Soviet Union in the name of self-defense against
just such imperialist visions, although his fears involved Japan and Poland,
or a Japanese-Polish-German encirclement, more than an invasion from
Germany. The Japanese and the Poles took more trouble than the Germans
to cultivate national movements within the boundaries of the Soviet Union.
Stalin assumed that anyone who would assay an invasion of his vast
country would first cultivate an ally within its boundaries.3

The contradiction was not a matter of ideas acting on their own. Hitler
wanted a war, and Stalin did not—at least not the war of 1941. Hitler had a
vision of empire, and it was of great importance; but he was also courting
the possibilities and rebelling against the constraints of a very unusual
moment. The crucial period was the year between 25 June 1940 and 22
June 1941, between the unexpectedly swift German victory in France and
the invasion of the Soviet Union that was supposed to bring a similarly
rapid triumph. By the middle of 1940, Hitler had conquered much of
central, western, and northern Europe, and had only one enemy: Great
Britain. His government was backed by Soviet wheat and oil, and his army
was seemingly unbeatable. Why, given the very real gains to Germany of
the Soviet alliance, did Hitler choose to attack his ally?
 



In late 1940 and early 1941, the Soviet Union and Nazi Germany were the
only great powers on the European continent, but they were not the only
two European powers. Germany and the Soviet Union had remade Europe,
but Great Britain had made a world. The Soviet Union and Nazi Germany
influenced each other in certain ways, but both were influenced by Great
Britain, the enemy that defied their alliance. Britain’s empire and navy
structured a world system that neither the Nazis nor the Soviets aimed, in
the short run, to overturn. Each instead accepted that they would have to
win their wars, complete their revolutions, and build their empires, despite
the existence of the British Empire and the dominance of the Royal Navy.
Whether as enemies or as allies, and despite their different ideologies, the
Soviet and Nazi leaderships faced the same basic question, posed by the
reality of British power. How could a large land empire thrive and dominate
in the modern world without reliable access to world markets and without
much recourse to naval power?4

Stalin and Hitler had arrived at the same basic answer to this fundamental
question. The state must be large in territory and self-sufficient in
economics, with a balance between industry and agriculture that supported
a hardily conformist and ideologically motivated citizenry capable of
fulfilling historical prophecies—either Stalinist internal industrialization or
Nazi colonial agrarian-ism. Both Hitler and Stalin aimed at imperial
autarky, within a large land empire well supplied in food, raw materials, and
mineral resources. Both understood the flashy appeal of modern materials:
Stalin had named himself after steel, and Hitler paid special attention to its
production. Yet both Stalin and Hitler understood agriculture as a key
element in the completion of their revolutions. Both believed that their
systems would prove their superiority to decadent capitalism, and guarantee
independence from the rest of the world, by the production of food.5

As of late 1940 and early 1941, war factored into this grand economic
planning very differently for the Soviets than it did for the Nazis. By then
Stalin had an economic revolution to defend, whereas Hitler needed a war
for his economic transformation. Whereas Stalin had his “socialism in one
country,” Hitler had in mind something like National Socialism in several
countries: a vast German empire arranged to assure the prosperity of
Germans at the expense of others. Stalin presented collectivization itself
both as an internal class war and as a preparation for the foreign wars to



come. Hitler’s economic vision could be realized only after actual military
conflict—indeed, after a total military victory over the Soviet Union. The
secret of collectivization (as Stalin had noted long before) was that it was an
alternative to expansive colonization, which is to say a form of internal
colonization. Unlike Stalin, Hitler believed that colonies could still be
seized abroad; and the colonies he had in mind were the agrarian lands of
the western Soviet Union, as well as the oil reserves in the Soviet Caucasus.
Hitler wanted Germany, as he put it, to be “the most autarkic state in the
world.” Defeating Britain was not necessary for this. Defeating the Soviet
Union was. In January 1941 Hitler told the military command that the
“immense riches” of the Soviet Union would make Germany
“unassailable.”6

The willingness of the British to fight on alone after the fall of France in
June 1940 brought these contradictions to the fore. Between June 1940 and
June 1941, Britain was Germany’s lone enemy, but stronger than it
appeared. The United States had not joined the war, but President Franklin
D. Roosevelt had made his commitments clear. In September 1940 the
Americans traded fifty destroyers to the British for basing rights in the
Caribbean; as of March 1941 the president had the authority (under the
“Lend-Lease” act) to send war matériel. British troops had been driven
from the European continent when France had fallen, but Britain had
evacuated many of them at Dunkirk. In summer 1940 the Luftwaffe
engaged the Royal Air Force, but could not defeat it; it could bomb British
cities, but not intimidate the British people. Germany could not establish air
superiority, a major problem for a power planning an invasion. Though an
amphibious assault upon the British Isles would have involved a major
crossing of the English Channel with men and matériel, Germany lacked
the ships necessary to control the waters and effect the transport. In summer
1940 the Kriegsmarine had three cruisers and four destroyers: no more. On
31 July 1940, even as the Battle of Britain was just beginning, Hitler had
already decided to invade his ally, the Soviet Union. On 18 December he
ordered operational plans for the invasion to “crush Soviet Russia in a rapid
campaign.”7

 

Hitler intended to use the Soviet Union to solve his British problem, not in
its present capacity as an ally but in its future capacity as a colony. During



this crucial year, between June 1940 and June 1941, German economic
planners were working hard to devise the ways in which a conquered Soviet
Union would make Germany the kind of superpower that Hitler wanted it to
become. The key planners worked under the watchful eye of Heinrich
Himmler, and under the direct command of Reinhard Heydrich. Under the
general heading of “Generalplan Ost,” SS Standartenführer Professor
Konrad Meyer drafted a series of plans for a vast eastern colony. A first
version was completed in January 1940, a second in July 1941, a third in
late 1941, and a fourth in May 1942. The general design was consistent
throughout: Germans would deport, kill, assimilate, or enslave the native
populations, and bring order and prosperity to a humbled frontier.
Depending upon the demographic estimates, between thirty-one and forty-
five million people, mostly Slavs, were to disappear. In one redaction,
eighty to eighty-five percent of the Poles, sixty-five percent of the west
Ukrainians, seventy-five percent of the Belarusians, and fifty percent of the
Czechs were to be eliminated.8

After the corrupt Soviet cities were razed, German farmers would
establish, in Himmler’s words, “pearls of settlement,” utopian farming
communities that would produce a bounty of food for Europe. German
settlements of fifteen to twenty thousand people each would be surrounded
by German villages within a radius of ten kilometers. The German settlers
would defend Europe itself at the Ural Mountains, against the Asiatic
barbarism that would be forced back to the east. Strife at civilization’s edge
would test the manhood of coming generations of German settlers.
Colonization would make of Germany a continental empire fit to rival the
United States, another hardy frontier state based upon exterminatory
colonialism and slave labor. The East was the Nazi Manifest Destiny. In
Hitler’s view, “in the East a similar process will repeat itself for a second
time as in the conquest of America.” As Hitler imagined the future,
Germany would deal with the Slavs much as the North Americans had dealt
with the Indians. The Volga River in Russia, he once proclaimed, will be
Germany’s Mississippi.9

Here ideology met necessity. So long as Britain did not fall, Hitler’s only
relevant vision of empire was the conquest of further territory in eastern
Europe. The same held for Hitler’s intention to rid Europe of Jews: so long
as Britain remained in the war, Jews would have to be eliminated on the



European continent, rather than on some distant island such as Madagascar.
In late 1940 and early 1941, the Royal Navy prevented Hitler’s oceanic
version of the Final Solution. Madagascar was a French possession and
France had fallen, but the British still controlled the sea lanes. The allied
Soviet Union had rejected Germany’s proposal to import two million
European Jews. So long as the Soviet Union and Nazi Germany were allies,
there was little that the Germans could do but accept the Soviet refusal and
bide their time. But if Germany conquered the Soviet Union, it could use
Soviet territories as it pleased. Hitler had just ordered preparations for the
Soviet invasion when he proclaimed to a large crowd at the Berlin
Sportpalast in January 1941 that a world war would mean that “the role of
Jewry would be finished in Europe.” The Final Solution would not follow
the invasion of Britain, plans for which were indefinitely postponed. It
would follow the invasion of the Soviet Union on 22 June 1941. The first
major shooting actions would take place in occupied Soviet Ukraine.10

 

The Soviet Union was the only realistic source of calories for Germany and
its west European empire, which together and separately were net importers
of food. As Hitler knew, in late 1940 and early 1941 ninety percent of the
food shipments from the Soviet Union came from Soviet Ukraine. Like
Stalin, Hitler tended to see Ukraine itself as a geopolitical asset, and its
people as instruments who tilled the soil, tools that could be exchanged with
others or discarded. For Stalin, mastery of Ukraine was the precondition
and proof of the triumph of his version of socialism. Purged, starved,
collectivized, and terrorized, it fed and defended Soviet Russia and the rest
of the Soviet Union. Hitler dreamed of the endlessly fertile Ukrainian soil,
assuming that Germans would extract more from the terrain than the
Soviets.11

Food from Ukraine was as important to the Nazi vision of an eastern
empire as it was to Stalin’s defense of the integrity of the Soviet Union.
Stalin’s Ukrainian “fortress” was Hitler’s Ukrainian “breadbasket.” The
German army general staff concluded in an August 1940 study that Ukraine
was “agriculturally and industrially the most valuable part of the Soviet
Union.” Herbert Backe, the responsible civilian planner, told Hitler in
January 1941 that “the occupation of Ukraine would liberate us from every
economic worry.” Hitler wanted Ukraine “so that no one is able to starve us



again, like in the last war.” The conquest of Ukraine would first insulate
Germans from the British blockade, and then the colonization of Ukraine
would allow Germany to become a global power on the model of the United
States.12

In the long run, the Nazis’ Generalplan Ost involved seizing farmland,
destroying those who farmed it, and settling it with Germans. But in the
meantime, during the war and immediately after its (anticipated) rapid
conclusion, Hitler needed the locals to harvest food for German soldiers and
civilians. In late 1940 and early 1941 German planners decided that
victorious German forces in the conquered Soviet Union should use the tool
that Stalin had invented for the control of food supply, the collective farm.
Some German political planners wished to abolish the collective farm
during the invasion, believing that this would win Germany the support of
the Ukrainian population. Economic planners, however, believed that
Germany had to maintain the collective farm in order to feed the army and
German civilians. They won the argument. Backe, Göring’s food expert in
the Four-Year-Plan Authority, reputedly said that the “Germans would have
had to introduce the collective farm if the Soviets had not already arranged
it.”13

As German planners saw matters, the collective farm should be used
again to starve millions of people: in fact, this time, the intention was to kill
tens of millions. Collectivization had brought starvation to Soviet Ukraine,
first as an unintended result of inefficiencies and unrealistic grain targets,
and then as an intended consequence of the vengeful extractions of late
1932 and early 1933. Hitler, on the other hand, planned in advance to starve
unwanted Soviet populations to death. German planners were
contemplating the parts of Europe already under German domination,
requiring imports to feed about twenty-five million people. They also
regarded a Soviet Union whose urban population had grown by about
twenty-five million since the First World War. They saw an apparently
simple solution: the latter would die, so that the former could live. By their
calculations, the collective farms produced just the right amount of food to
sustain Germans, but not enough to sustain the peoples of the East. So in
that sense they were the ideal tool for political control and economic
balance.14



This was the Hunger Plan, as formulated by 23 May 1941: during and
after the war on the USSR, the Germans intended to feed German soldiers
and German (and west European) civilians by starving the Soviet citizens
they would conquer, especially those in the big cities. Food from Ukraine
would now be sent not north to feed Russia and the rest of the Soviet Union
but rather west to nourish Germany and the rest of Europe. In the German
understanding, Ukraine (along with parts of southern Russia) was a “surplus
region,” which produced more food than it needed, while Russia and
Belarus were “deficit regions.” Inhabitants of Ukrainian cities, and almost
everyone in Belarus and in northwestern Russia, would have to starve or
flee. The cities would be destroyed, the terrain would be returned to natural
forest, and about thirty million people would starve to death in the winter of
1941-1942. The Hunger Plan involved the “extinction of industry as well as
a great part of the population in the deficit regions.” These guidelines of 23
May 1941 included some of the most explicit Nazi language about
intentions to kill large numbers of people. “Many tens of millions of people
in this territory will become superfluous and will die or must emigrate to
Siberia. Attempts to rescue the population there from death through
starvation by obtaining surpluses from the black earth zone can only come
at the expense of the provisioning of Europe. They prevent the possibility of
Germany holding out until the end of the war, they prevent Germany and
Europe from resisting the blockade. With regard to this, absolute clarity
must reign.”15

Hermann Göring, at this time Hitler’s most important associate, held
overall responsibility for economic planning. His Four-Year-Plan Authority
had been charged with preparing the German economy for war between
1936 and 1940. Now his Four-Year-Plan Authority, entrusted with the
Hunger Plan, was to meet and reverse Stalin’s Five-Year Plan. The Stalinist
Five-Year Plan would be imitated in its ambition (to complete a revolution),
exploited in its attainment (the collective farm), but reversed in its goals
(the defense and industrialization of the Soviet Union). The Hunger Plan
foresaw the restoration of a preindustrial Soviet Union, with far fewer
people, little industry, and no large cities. The forward motion of the
Wehrmacht would be a journey backward in time. National Socialism was
to dam the advance of Stalinism, and then reverse the course of its great
historical river.



Starvation and colonization were German policy: discussed, agreed,
formulated, distributed, and understood. The framework of the Hunger Plan
was established by March 1941. An appropriate set of “Economic Policy
Guidelines” was issued in May. A somewhat sanitized version, known as
the “Green Folder,” was circulated in one thousand copies to German
officials that June. Just before the invasion, both Himmler and Göring were
overseeing important aspects of the postwar planning: Himmler the long-
term racial colony of Generalplan Ost, Göring the short-term starvation and
destruction of the Hunger Plan. German intentions were to fight a war of
destruction that would transform eastern Europe into an exterminatory
agrarian colony. Hitler meant to undo all the work of Stalin. Socialism in
one country would be supplanted by socialism for the German race. Such
were the plans.16

Germany did have an alternative, at least in the opinion of its Japanese ally.
Thirteen months after the Molotov-Ribbentrop Pact had alienated Tokyo
from Berlin, German-Japanese relations were reestablished on the basis of a
military alliance. On 27 September 1940, Tokyo, Berlin, and Rome signed a
Tripartite Pact. At this point in time, when the central conflict in the
European war was the air battle between the Royal Air Force and the
Luftwaffe, Japan hoped that this alliance might be directed at Great Britain.
Tokyo urged upon the Germans an entirely different revolution in world
political economy than the one German planners envisioned. Rather than
colonizing the Soviet Union, thought the Japanese, Nazi Germany should
join with Japan and defeat the British Empire.

The Japanese, building their empire outward from islands, understood the
sea as the method of expansion. It was in the interest of Japan to persuade
the Germans that the British were the main common enemy, since such
agreement would aid the Japanese to conquer British (and Dutch) colonies
in the Pacific. Yet the Japanese did have a vision on offer to the Germans,
one that was broader than their own immediate need for the mineral
resources from British and Dutch possessions. There was a grand strategy.
Rather than engage the Soviet Union, the Germans should move south,
drive the British from the Near East, and meet the Japanese somewhere in
South Asia, perhaps India. If the Germans and the Japanese controlled the
Suez Canal and the Indian Ocean, went Tokyo’s case, British naval power



would cease to be a factor. Germany and Japan would then become the two
world powers.17

Hitler showed no interest in this alternative. The Germans told the
Soviets about the Tripartite Pact, but Hitler never had any intention of
allowing the Soviets to join. Japan would have liked to see a German-
Japanese-Soviet coalition against Great Britain, but this was never a
possibility. Hitler had already made up his mind to invade the Soviet Union.
Though Japan and Italy were now Germany’s allies, Hitler did not include
them in his major martial ambition. He assumed that the Germans could and
should defeat the Soviets themselves. The German alliance with Japan
would remain limited by underlying disagreements about goals and
enemies. The Japanese needed to defeat the British, and eventually the
Americans, to become a dominant naval empire in the Pacific. The
Germans needed to destroy the Soviet Union to become a massive land
empire in Europe, and thus to rival the British and the Americans at some
later stage.18

Japan had been seeking a neutrality pact with the Soviet Union since
summer 1940; one was signed in April 1941. Chiune Sugihara, the Soviet
specialist among Japanese spies, spent that spring in Königsberg, the
German city in East Prussia on the Baltic Sea, trying to guess the date of the
German invasion of the Soviet Union. Accompanied by Polish assistants, he
made journeys through eastern Germany, including the lands that Germany
had seized from Poland. His estimation, based upon observations of
German troop movements, was mid-June 1941. His reports to Tokyo were
just one of thousands of indications, sent by intelligence staffs in Europe
and around the world, that the Germans would break the Molotov-
Ribbentrop Pact and invade their ally in late spring or early summer.19

Stalin himself received more than a hundred such indications, but chose
to ignore them. His own strategy was always to encourage the Germans to
fight wars in the west, in the hope that the capitalist powers would thus
exhaust themselves, leaving the Soviets to collect the fallen fruit of a prone
Europe. Hitler had won his battles in western Europe (against Norway,
Denmark, Belgium, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, and France) too quickly
and too easily for Stalin’s taste. Yet he seemed unable to believe that Hitler
would abandon the offensive against Great Britain, the enemy of both Nazi



and Soviet ambitions, the one world power on the planet. He expected war
with Germany, but not in 1941. He told himself and others that the warnings
of an imminent German attack were British propaganda, designed to divide
Berlin and Moscow despite their manifest common interests.

Apart from anything else, Stalin could not believe that the Germans
would attack without winter gear, which none of the espionage reports
seemed to mention.20

That was the greatest miscalculation of Stalin’s career. The German surprise
attack on the Soviet Union of 22 June 1941 looked at first like a striking
success. Three million German troops, in three Army Groups, crossed over
the Molotov-Ribbentrop line and moved into the Baltics, Belarus, and
Ukraine, aiming to take Leningrad, Moscow, and the Caucasus. The
Germans were joined in the invasion by their allies Finland, Romania,
Hungary, Italy, and Slovakia, and by a division of Spanish and a regiment of
Croatian volunteers. This was the largest offensive in the history of warfare;
nevertheless, unlike the invasion of Poland, it came only from one side, and
would lead to war on one (very long) front. Hitler had not arranged with his
Japanese ally a joint attack on the Soviet Union. Japan’s leaders might have
decided to attack the USSR on their own initiative, but instead decided not
to break the neutrality pact. A few Japanese leaders, including Foreign
Minister Yōsuke Matsuoka, had urged an invasion of Soviet Siberia. But
they had been overruled. On 24 June 1941, two days after German troops
had entered the Soviet Union, the Japanese army and navy chiefs had
adopted a resolution “not to intervene in the German-Soviet war for the
time being.” In August, Japan and the Soviet Union reaffirmed their
neutrality pact.21

German officers had every confidence that they could defeat the Red
Army quickly. Success in Poland, and above all in France, had made many
of them believers in Hitler’s military genius. The invasion of the Soviet
Union, led by armor, was to bring a “lightning victory” within nine to
twelve weeks. With the military triumph would come the collapse of the
Soviet political order and access to Soviet foodstuffs and oil. German
commanders spoke of the Soviet Union as a “house of cards” or as a “giant
with feet of clay.” Hitler expected that the campaign would last no more



than three months, probably less. It would be “child’s play.” That was the
greatest miscalculation of Hitler’s career.22

Ruthlessness is not the same thing as efficiency, and German planning was
too bloodthirsty to be really practical. The Wehrmacht could not implement
the Hunger Plan. The problem was not one of ethics or law. The troops had
been relieved by Hitler from any duty to obey the laws of war toward
civilians, and German soldiers did not hesitate to kill unarmed people. They
behaved in the first days of the attack much as they had in Poland. By the
second day of the invasion, German troops were using civilians as human
shields. As in Poland, German soldiers often treated Soviet soldiers as
partisans to be shot upon capture, and killed Soviet soldiers who were
trying to surrender. Women in uniform, no rarity in the Red Army, were
initially killed just because they were female. The problem for the Germans
was rather that the systematic starvation of a large civilian population is an
inherently difficult undertaking. It is much easier to conquer territory than
to redistribute calories.23



Eight years before, it had taken a strong Soviet state to starve Soviet
Ukraine. Stalin had put to use logistical and social resources that no
invading army could hope to muster: an experienced and knowledgeable
state police, a party with roots in the countryside, and throngs of
ideologically motivated volunteers. Under his rule, people in Soviet



Ukraine (and elsewhere) stooped over their own bulging bellies to harvest a
few sheaves of wheat that they were not allowed to eat. Perhaps more
terrifying still is that they did so under the watchful eye of numerous state
and party officials, often people from the very same regions. The authors of
the Hunger Plan assumed that the collective farm could be exploited to
control grain supplies and starve a far larger number of people, even as
Soviet state power was destroyed. The idea that any form of economic
management would work better under Soviet than German control was
perhaps unthinkable to the Nazis. If so, German efficiency was an
ideological assumption rather than a reality.24

The German occupiers never had the ability to starve when and where
they chose. For the Hunger Plan to be implemented, German forces would
have had to secure every collective farm, observe the harvest everywhere,
and make sure that no food was hidden or went unrecorded. The
Wehrmacht was able to maintain and control the collective farms, as were
the SS and local assistants, but never so effectively as the Soviets had done.
Germans did not know the local people, the local harvest, or the local
hiding places. They could apply terror, but less systematically than the
Soviets had done; they lacked the party and the fear and faith that it could
arouse. They lacked the personnel to seal off cities from the countryside.
And as the war continued longer than planned, German officers worried that
organized starvation would create a resistance movement behind the lines.25

Operation Barbarossa was supposed to be quick and decisive, bringing a
“lightning victory” within three months at the latest. Yet while the Red
Army fell back, it did not collapse. Two weeks into the fighting, the
Germans had taken all of what had been Lithuania, Latvia, and eastern
Poland, as well as most of Soviet Belarus and some of Soviet Ukraine.
Franz Halder, chief of staff of the German army, confided to his diary on 3
July 1941 that he believed that the war had been won. By the end of
August, the Germans had added Estonia, a bit more of Soviet Ukraine, and
the rest of Soviet Belarus. Yet the pace was all wrong, and the fundamental
objectives were not achieved. The Soviet leadership remained in Moscow.
As one German corps commander noted pithily on 5 September 1941: “no
victorious Blitzkrieg, no destruction of the Russian army, no disintegration
of the Soviet Union.”26

 



Germany starved Soviet citizens anyway, less from political dominion than
political desperation. Though the Hunger Plan was based upon false
political assumptions, it still provided the moral premises for the war in the
East. In autumn 1941, the Germans starved not to remake a conquered
Soviet Union but to continue their war without imposing any costs on their
own civilian population. In September Göring had to take stock of the new
situation, so disastrously different from Nazi expectations. Dreams of a
shattered Soviet Union yielding its riches to triumphant Germans had to be
abandoned. The classic dilemma of political economy, guns or butter, was
supposed to have been resolved in a miraculous way: guns would make
butter. But now, three months into the war, the men carrying the guns very
much needed the butter. As the war continued beyond the planned twelve
weeks, German soldiers were competing with German civilians for limited
food supplies. The invasion itself had halted the supply of grain from the
Soviet Union. Now three million German soldiers simply had to be fed,
without reducing food rations within Germany itself.27

The Germans lacked contingency plans for failure. The troops had a
sense that something was wrong; after all, no one had given them any
winter coats, and their night watches were getting cold. But how could the
German population be told that the invasion had failed, when the
Wehrmacht still seemed to be pushing forward and Hitler still had moments
of euphoria? But if the Nazi leadership could not admit that the war was
going badly, then German civilians would have to be spared any negative
consequences of the invasion. Grumbling of stomachs might lead to the
grumbling of citizens. Germans could not be allowed to make a sacrifice for
the troops on the front, at least not too much, and not too soon. A change in
domestic food policy might allow them to see the truth: that the war, at least
as their leaders had conceived of it, was already lost. Backe, Göring’s food
specialist, was sure about what had to be done: the Soviets would have to be
deprived of food so that Germans could eat their fill.28

It was Göring’s task to spare the German economy while supplying the
German war machine. His original scheme to starve the Soviet Union after
a clear victory now gave way to an improvisation: German soldiers should
take whatever food they needed as they continued to fight a war that was
already supposed to be over. On 16 September 1941, just as the timeline for
the original “lightning victory” was exceeded, Göring ordered German



troops to live “off the land.” A local commanding general was more
specific: Germans must feed themselves “as in the colonial wars.” Food
from the Soviet Union was to be allocated first to German soldiers, then to
Germans in Germany, then to Soviet citizens, and then to Soviet prisoners
of war. As the Wehrmacht fought on, in the shorter days and longer nights,
as solid roads gave way to the mud and muck of autumn rains, its soldiers
had to fend for themselves. Göring’s order allowed their misconceived war
to continue, at the price of the starvation of millions of Soviet citizens, and
of course the deaths of millions of German and Soviet and other soldiers.29

Hitler’s henchman Göring in September 1941 behaved strikingly like
Stalin’s henchman Kaganovich had in December 1932. Both men laid down
instructions for a food policy that guaranteed death for millions of people in
the months that followed. Both also treated the starvation their policies
brought not as a human tragedy but as enemy agitation. Just as Kaganovich
had done, Göring instructed his subordinates that hunger was a weapon of
the enemy, meant to elicit sympathy where harshness was needed. Stalin
and Kaganovich had placed the Ukrainian party between themselves and
the Ukrainian population in 1932 and 1933, forcing Ukrainian communists
to bear the responsibility for grain collection, and to take the blame if
targets were not met. Hitler and Göring placed the Wehrmacht between
themselves and the hungry Soviet population in 1941 and 1942. During the
summer of 1941, some German soldiers had shared their rations with
hungry Soviet civilians. A few German officers had tried to ensure that
Soviet prisoners of war were fed. In autumn this would have to cease. If
German soldiers wanted to eat, they were told, they would have to starve
the surrounding population. They should imagine that any food that entered
the mouth of a Soviet citizen was taken from the mouth of a German
child.30

German commanders would have to continue the war, which meant
feeding soldiers, which meant starving others. This was the political logic,
and the moral trap. For the soldiers and the lower-level officers, there was
no escape but insubordination or surrender to the enemy, prospects as
unthinkable for German troops in 1941 as they had been for Ukrainian
communists in 1932.31

 



In September 1941, the three Wehrmacht Army Groups, North, Center, and
South, greeted the new food policy from rather different positions. Army
Group North, tasked to conquer the Baltic States and northwestern Russia,
had laid siege to Leningrad in September. Army Group Center raced
through Belarus in August. After a long pause, in which some of its forces
assisted Army Group South in the battle for Kiev, it advanced again toward
Moscow in early October. Army Group South meanwhile made its way
through Ukraine toward the Caucasus, much more slowly than anticipated.
Platoons of German soldiers resembled the communist brigades of a decade
before, taking as much food as they could as quickly as possible.

Army Group South starved Kharkiv and Kiev, the two cities that had
served as capitals of Soviet Ukraine. Kiev was taken on 19 September



1941, much later than planned, and after much debate about what to do with
the city. Consistent with Generalplan Ost, Hitler wanted the city to be
demolished. The commanders on site, however, needed the bridge over the
river Dnipro to continue their advance east. So in the end German soldiers
stormed the city. On 30 September the occupiers banned the supply of food
to Kiev. The logic was that the food in the countryside was to remain there,
to be collected by the army and then later by a German civilian occupation
authority. Yet the peasants around Kiev found their way into the city, and
even ran markets. The Germans were unable to seal the city as the Soviets
had done in 1933.32

The Wehrmacht was not implementing the original Hunger Plan but
rather starving where it seemed useful to do so. The Wehrmacht never
intended to starve the entire population of Kiev, only to ensure that its own
needs were met. Yet this was nevertheless a policy of indifference to human
life as such, and it killed perhaps as many as fifty thousand people. As one
Kievan recorded in December 1941, the Germans were celebrating
Christmas, but the locals “all move like shadows, there is total famine.” In
Kharkiv a similar policy killed perhaps twenty thousand people. Among
them were 273 children in the city orphanage in 1942. It was near Kharkiv
that starving peasant children in 1933 had eaten each other alive in a
makeshift orphanage. Now city children, albeit in far smaller numbers,
suffered the same kind of horrible death.33

 

Hitler’s plans for Leningrad, the old capital of imperial Russia, exceeded
even Stalin’s darkest fears. Leningrad lay on the Baltic Sea, closer to the
Finnish capital Helsinki and the Estonian capital Tallinn than to Moscow.
During the Great Terror, Stalin had made sure that Finns were targeted for
one of the deadliest of the national actions, believing that Finland might one
day lay claim to Leningrad. In November 1939 Stalin had ensured for
himself the enmity of the Finns by attacking Finland, which was within his
area of influence according to the terms of the Molotov-Ribbentrop Pact. In
this Winter War, the Finns inflicted heavy losses and damaged the
reputation of the Red Army. They finally had to concede about a tenth of
their territory in March 1940, giving Stalin a buffer zone around Leningrad.
So in June 1941 Hitler had a Finnish ally, since the Finns naturally wanted
to retake land and take revenge in what they would call the “Continuation



War.” But Hitler did not want to take Leningrad and give it to the Finns. He
wanted to remove it from the face of the earth. Hitler wanted the population
of Leningrad exterminated, the city razed to the ground, and then its
territory handed over to the Finns.34

In September 1941, the Finnish Army cut off Leningrad from the north,
as the Army Group North began a campaign of siege and bombardment of
the city from the south. Though German commanders had not all known
about Hitler’s most radical plans for Soviet cities, they agreed that
Leningrad had to be starved. Eduard Wagner, the quartermaster general of
the German army, wrote to his wife that the inhabitants of Leningrad, all 3.5
million of them, would have to be left to their fate. They were simply too
much for the army’s “provision packet,” and “sentimentality would be out
of place.” Mines were laid around the city to prevent escapes. The surrender
of the city was not forthcoming, but had it come it would not have been
accepted. The German goal was to starve Leningrad out of existence. At the
very beginning of the siege of Leningrad, on 8 September 1941, German
shells destroyed the city’s food warehouses and oil tanks. In October 1941
perhaps 2,500 people died of starvation and associated diseases. In
November the number reached 5,500; in December, 50,000. By the end of
the siege in 1944, about one million people had lost their lives.35

Leningrad was not starved completely because local Soviet authority
functioned within the city and distributed what bread there was, and
because the Soviet leadership took risks to provision the population. Once
the ice froze over Lake Ladoga, there was an escape and supply route. That
winter the temperature would fall to forty below, and the city would face the
cold without food stockpiles, heat, or running water. Yet Soviet power
within the city did not collapse. The NKVD continued to arrest, interrogate,
and imprison. Prisoners were also dispatched across Lake Ladoga;
Leningraders were among the 2.5 million or so people whom the NKVD
transported to the Gulag during the war. The police and fire departments
performed their duties. Dmitrii Shostakovich was a volunteer for a fire
brigade when he wrote the third movement of his Seventh Symphony.
Libraries remained open, books were read, doctoral dissertations written
and defended.36



Within the great city Russians (and others) faced the same dilemmas that
Ukrainians and Kazakhs (and others) had faced ten years before, during the
collectivization famines. Wanda Zvierieva, a girl in Leningrad during the
siege, later remembered her mother with great love and admiration. She
“was a beautiful woman. I would compare her face to the Mona Lisa.” Her
father was a physicist with artistic inclinations who would carve wooden
sculptures of Greek goddesses with his pocketknife. Late in 1941, as the
family was starving, her father went to his office, in the hope of finding a
ration card that would allow the family to procure food. He stayed away for
several days. One night Wanda awakened to see her mother standing over
her with a sickle. She struggled with and overcame her mother, or “the
shadow that was left of her.” She gave her mother’s actions the charitable
interpretation: that her mother wished to spare her the suffering of
starvation by killing her quickly. Her father returned with food the
following day, but it was too late for her mother, who died a few hours later.
The family sewed her in blankets and left her in the kitchen until the ground
was soft enough to bury her. It was so cold in the apartment that her body
did not decompose. That spring Wanda’s father died of pneumonia.37

In the Leningrad of the day, such stories could be multiplied hundreds of
thousands of times. Vera Kostrovitskaia was one of many Leningrad
intellectuals who kept diaries to record the horrors. Of Polish origin, she
had lost her husband a few years earlier in the Great Terror. Now she
watched as her Russian neighbors starved. In April 1942 she recorded the
fate of a stranger she saw every day: “With his back to the post, a man sits
on the snow, tall, wrapped in rags, over his shoulders a knapsack. He is all
huddled up against the post. Apparently he was on his way to the Finland
Station, got tired, and sat down. For two weeks while I was going back and
forth to the hospital, he ‘sat’:

1. without his knapsack

2. without his rags

3. in his underwear

4. naked

5. a skeleton with ripped-out entrails.”38



The best-recalled Leningrad diary of a girl is that of eleven-year-old
Tania Savicheva, which reads in its entirety as follows:

“Zhenia died on December 28th at 12:30 A.M. 1941 
 Grandma died on January 25th 3:00 P.M. 1942 

 Leka died on March 5th at 5:00 am. 1942 
 Uncle Vasya died on April 13th at 2:00 after midnight 1942 

 Uncle Lesha died on May 10th at 4:00 pm 1942 
 Mother died on May 13th 7:30 am 1942 

 Savichevs died 
 Everyone died 
 Only Tania is left”39

Tania Savicheva died in 1944.
 

The greater the control the Wehrmacht exercised over a population, the
more likely that population was to starve. The one place where the
Wehrmacht controlled the population completely, the prisoner-of-war
camps, was the site of death on an unprecedented scale. It was in these
camps where something very much like the original Hunger Plan was
implemented.

Never in modern warfare had so many prisoners been taken so quickly. In
one engagement, the Wehrmacht’s Army Group Center took 348,000
prisoners near Smolensk; in another, Army Group South took 665,000 near
Kiev. In those two September victories alone, more than a million men (and
some women) were taken prisoner. By the end of 1941, the Germans had
taken about three million Soviet soldiers prisoner. This was no surprise to
the Germans. The three German Army Groups were expected to move even
faster than they did, and thus even more prisoners could have been
expected. Simulations had predicted what would happen. Yet the Germans
did not prepare for prisoners of war, at least not in the conventional sense.
In the customary law of war, prisoners of war are given food, shelter, and
medical attention, if only to ensure that the enemy does the same.40

Hitler wished to reverse the traditional logic. By treating Soviet soldiers
horribly, he wished to ensure that German soldiers would fear the same
from the Soviets, and so fight desperately to prevent themselves from
falling into the hands of the enemy. It seems that he could not bear the idea



of soldiers of the master race surrendering to the subhumans of the Red
Army. Stalin took much the same view: that Red Army soldiers should not
allow themselves to be taken alive. He could not counsel the possibility that
Soviet soldiers would retreat and surrender. They were supposed to advance
and kill and die. Stalin announced in August 1941 that Soviet prisoners of
war would be treated as deserters, and their families arrested. When Stalin’s
son was taken prisoner by the Germans, he had his own daughter-in-law
arrested. This tyranny of the offensive in Soviet planning caused Soviet
soldiers to be captured. Soviet commanders were fearful of ordering
withdrawals, lest they be personally blamed (purged, and executed). Thus
their soldiers held positions for too long, and were encircled and taken
prisoner. The policies of Hitler and Stalin conspired to turn Soviet soldiers
into prisoners of war and then prisoners of war into non-people.41

Once they had surrendered, Soviet prisoners were shocked by the
savagery of their German captors. Captured Red Army soldiers were
marched in long columns, beaten horribly along the way, from the field of
battle to the camps. The soldiers captured at Kiev, for example, marched
over four hundred kilometers in the open air. As one of them remembered,
if an exhausted prisoner sat down by the side of the road, a German escort
“would approach on his horse and lash with his whip. The person would
continue to sit, with his head down. Then the escort would take a carbine
from the saddle or a pistol from the holster.” Prisoners who were wounded,
sick, or tired were shot on the spot, their bodies left for Soviet citizens to
find and clean and bury.42

When the Wehrmacht transported Soviet prisoners by train, it used open
freight cars, with no protection from the weather. When the trains reached
their destinations, hundreds or sometimes even thousands of frozen corpses
would tumble from the opened doors. Death rates during transport were as
high as seventy percent. Perhaps two hundred thousand prisoners died in
these death marches and these death transports. All of the prisoners who
arrived in the eighty or so prisoner-of-war camps established in the
occupied Soviet Union were tired and hungry, and many were wounded or
ill.43

Ordinarily, a prisoner-of-war camp is a simple facility, built by soldiers
for other soldiers, but meant to preserve life. Such camps arise in difficult



conditions and in unfamiliar places; but they are constructed by people who
know that their own comrades are being held as prisoners by the opposing
army. German prisoner-of-war camps in the Soviet Union, however, were
something far out of the ordinary. They were designed to end life. In
principle, they were divided into three types: the Dulag (transit camp), the
Stalag (base camp for enlisted men and noncommissioned officers), and the
smaller Oflags (for officers). In practice, all three types of camps were often
nothing more than an open field surrounded by barbed wire. Prisoners were
not registered by name, though they were counted. This was an astonishing
break with law and custom. Even at the German concentration camps
names were taken. There was only one other type of German facility where
names were not taken, and it had not yet been invented. No advance
provision was made for food, shelter, or medical care. There were no clinics
and very often no toilets. Usually there was no shelter from the elements.
The official calorie quotients for the prisoners were far below survival
levels, and were often not met. In practice, only the stronger prisoners, and
those who had been selected as guards, could be sure of getting any food at
all.44

Soviet prisoners were at first confused by this treatment by the
Wehrmacht. One of them guessed that “the Germans are teaching us to
behave like comrades.” Unable to imagine that hunger was a policy, he
guessed that the Germans wanted the Soviet prisoners to show solidarity
with one another by sharing whatever food they had among themselves.
Perhaps this soldier simply could not believe that, like the Soviet Union,
Nazi Germany was a state that starved by policy. Ironically, the entire
essence of German policy toward the prisoners was that they were not
actually equal human beings, and thus certainly not fellow soldiers, and
under no circumstances comrades. The guidelines of May 1941 had
instructed German soldiers to remember the supposedly “inhuman
brutality” of Russians in battle. German camp guards were informed in
September that they would be punished if they used their weapons too
little.45

In autumn 1941, the prisoners of war in all of the Dulags and Stalags
went hungry. Though even Göring recognized that the Hunger Plan as such
was impossible, the priorities of German occupation ensured that Soviet
prisoners would starve. Imitating and radicalizing the policies of the Soviet



Gulag, German authorities gave less food to those who could not work than
to those who could, thereby hastening the deaths of the weaker. On 21
October 1941, those who could not work saw their official rations cut by
twenty-seven percent. This was for many prisoners a purely theoretical
reduction, since in many prisoner-of-war camps no one was fed on a regular
basis, and in most the weaker had no regular access to food anyway. A
remark of the quartermaster general of the army, Eduard Wagner, made
explicit the policy of selection: those prisoners who could not work, he said
on 13 November, “are to be starved.” Across the camps, prisoners ate
whatever they could find: grass, bark, pine needles. They had no meat
unless a dog was shot. A few prisoners got horsemeat on a few occasions.
Prisoners fought to lick utensils, while their German guards laughed at their
behavior. When the cannibalism began, the Germans presented it as the
result of the low level of Soviet civilization.46

 

The drastic conditions of the war bound the Wehrmacht ever more closely
to the ideology of National Socialism. To be sure, the Germany military had
been progressively nazified since 1933. Hitler had dismissed the threat of
Röhm and his SA in 1934, and announced German rearmament and
conscription in 1935. He had directed German industry toward arms
production and produced a series of very real victories in 1938 (Austria,
Czechoslovakia), 1939 (Poland), and 1940 (Denmark, Norway,
Luxembourg, Belgium, and above all France). He had had several years to
choose his favorites among the higher officers, and to purge those whose
outlook he found too traditional. The victory in France in 1940 had brought
the German military command very close to Hitler, as officers began to
believe in his talent.

Yet it was the lack of victory in the Soviet Union that made the
Wehrmacht inseparable from the Nazi regime. In the starving Soviet Union
in autumn 1941, the Wehrmacht was in a moral trap, from which National
Socialism seemed to offer the only escape. Any remnants of traditional
soldierly ideals had to be abandoned in favor of a destructive ethic that
made sense of the army’s predicament. To be sure, German soldiers had to
be fed; but they were eating to gain strength to fight a war that had already
been lost. To be sure, calories had to be extracted from the countryside to
feed them; but this brought about essentially pointless starvation. As the



army high command and the officers in the field implemented illegal and
murderous policies, they found no justification except for the sort that
Hitler provided: that human beings were containers of calories that should
be emptied, and that Slavs, Jews, and Asians, the peoples of the Soviet
Union, were less than human and thus more than expendable. Like
Ukrainian communists in 1933, German officers in 1941 implemented a
policy of starvation. In both cases, many individuals had objections or
reservations at first, but the groups in the end implicated themselves in the
crimes of the regime, and thus subordinated themselves to the moral claims
of their leaders. They became the system as the system became catastrophe.

It was the Wehrmacht that established and ran the first network of camps,
in Hitler’s Europe, where people died in the thousands, the tens of
thousands, the hundreds of thousands, and finally the millions.
 

Some of the most infamous prisoner-of-war camps were in occupied Soviet
Belarus, where by late November 1941 death rates had reached two percent
per day. At Stalag 352 near Minsk, which one survivor remembered as
“pure hell,” prisoners were packed together so tightly by barbed wire that
they could scarcely move. They had to urinate and defecate where they
stood. Some 109,500 people died there. At Dulag 185, Dulag 127, and
Stalag 341, in the east Belarusian city Mahileu, witnesses saw mountains of
unburied corpses outside the barbed wire. Some thirty to forty thousand
prisoners died in these camps. At Dulag 131 at Bobruisk, the camp
headquarters caught fire. Thousands of prisoners burned to death, and
another 1,700 were gunned down as they tried to escape. All in all at least
thirty thousand people died at Bobruisk. At Dulags 220 and 121 in Homel,
as many as half of the prisoners had shelter in abandoned stables. The
others had no shelter at all. In December 1941 death rates at these camps
climbed from two hundred to four hundred to seven hundred a day. At
Dulag 342 at Molodechno, conditions were so awful that prisoners
submitted written petitions asking to be shot.47

The camps in occupied Soviet Ukraine were similar. At Stalag 306 at
Kirovohrad, German guards reported that prisoners ate the bodies of
comrades who had been shot, sometimes before the victims were dead.
Rosalia Volkovskaia, a survivor of the women’s camp at Volodymyr
Volynskyi, had a view of what the men faced at the local Stalag 365: “we



women could see from above that many of the prisoners ate the corpses.”
At Stalag 346 in Kremenchuk, where inmates got at most two hundred
grams of bread per day, bodies were thrown into a pit every morning. As in
Ukraine in 1933, sometimes the living were buried along with the dead. At
least twenty thousand people died in that camp. At Dulag 162 in Stalino
(today Donetsk), at least ten thousand prisoners at a time were crushed
behind barbed wire in a small camp in the center of the city. People could
only stand. Only the dying would lie down, because anyone who did would
be trampled. Some twenty-five thousand perished, making room for more.
Dulag 160 at Khorol, southwest of Kiev, was one of the larger camps.
Although the site was an abandoned brick factory, prisoners were forbidden
to take shelter in its buildings. If they tried to escape there from the rain or
snow, they were shot. The commandant of this camp liked to observe the
spectacle of prisoners struggling for food. He would ride in on his horse
amidst the crowds and crush people to death. In this and other camps near
Kiev, perhaps thirty thousand prisoners died.48

Soviet prisoners of war were also held at dozens of facilities in occupied
Poland, in the General Government (which had been extended to the
southeast after the invasion of the Soviet Union). Here astonished members
of the Polish resistance filed reports about the massive death of Soviet
prisoners in the winter of 1941-1942. Some 45,690 people died in the
camps in the General Government in ten days, between 21 and 30 October
1941. At Stalag 307 at Dęblin, some eighty thousand Soviet prisoners died
over the course of the war. At Stalag 319 at Chełm some sixty thousand
people perished; at Stalag 366 in Siedlce, fifty-five thousand; at Stalag 325
at Zamość, twenty-eight thousand; at Stalag 316 at Siedlce, twenty-three
thousand. About half a million Soviet prisoners of war starved to death in
the General Government. As of the end of 1941, the largest group of mortal
victims of German rule in occupied Poland was neither the native Poles nor
the native Jews, but Soviet prisoners of war who had been brought west to
occupied Poland and left to freeze and starve. Despite the recent Soviet
invasion of Poland, Polish peasants often tried to feed the starving Soviet
prisoners they saw. In retaliation, the Germans shot the Polish women
carrying the milk jugs, and destroyed whole Polish villages.49

Even had the Soviet prisoners all been healthy and well fed, death rates
in winter 1941-1942 would have been high. Despite what many Germans



thought, Slavs had no inborn resistance to cold. Unlike the Germans, Soviet
soldiers had sometimes been equipped with winter gear; this the Germans
stole. The prisoners of war were usually left without shelter and without
warm clothing, enduring temperatures far below freezing. As the camps
were often in fields, no trees or hills broke the ruthless winter winds.
Prisoners would build for themselves, by hand in the hard earth, simple
dugouts where they would sleep. At Homel three Soviet soldiers, comrades,
tried to keep one another warm by sleeping in a tight group. Each would
have a turn sleeping in the middle, in the best spot, taking the warmth of his
friends. At least one of the three lived to tell the tale.50

For hundreds of thousands of prisoners of war, this was the second
political famine in Ukraine in the space of eight years. Many thousands of
soldiers from Soviet Ukraine saw their bellies swell for the second time, or
witnessed cannibalism for the second time. No doubt very many survivors
of the first mass starvation died in the second one. A few Ukrainians, such
as Ivan Shulinskyi, managed to survive both. The son of a deported kulak,
he recalled the starvation of 1933, and told people that he came from the
“land of hunger.” He would cheer himself in German captivity by singing a
traditional Ukrainian song:51

If I only had wings 
 I would lift myself to the sky 

 To the clouds 
 Where there is no pain and no punishment

As during the Soviet starvation campaign of 1933, during the German
starvation campaign of 1941 many local people in Ukraine did their best to
help the dying. Women would identify men as relatives and thus arrange
their release. Young women would marry prisoners who were on labor duty
outside the camps. The Germans sometimes allowed this, since it meant that
the men would be working in an area under German occupation to produce
food for Germans. In the city of Kremenchuk, where the food situation
seems not to have been dire, laborers from the camps would leave empty
bags in the city when they went to work in the morning, and recover them
full of food left by passersby in the evening. In 1941 conditions were
favorable for such help, as the harvest was unusually good. Women (the
reports are almost always of women) would try to feed the prisoners during
the death marches or in the camps. Yet most prisoner-of-war camp



commanders, most of the time, prevented civilians from approaching the
camps with food. Usually such people were driven away by warning shots.
Sometimes they were killed.52

The organization of the camps in the east revealed a contempt for life, the
life of Slavs and Asians and Jews anyway, that made such mass starvation
thinkable. In German prisoner-of-war camps for Red Army soldiers, the
death rate over the course of the war was 57.5 percent. In the first eight
months after Operation Barbarossa, it must have been far higher. In German
prisoner-of-war camps for soldiers of the western Allies, the death rate was
less than five percent. As many Soviet prisoners of war died on a single
given day in autumn 1941 as did British and American prisoners of war
over the course of the entire Second World War.53

Just as the Soviet population could not be starved at will, the Soviet state
could not be destroyed in one blow. But the Germans certainly tried. Part of
the idea of the “lightning victory” was that the Wehrmacht would cover
terrain so quickly that the soldiers, and the trailing Einsatzgruppen, would
be able to kill Soviet political elites and Red Army political officers. The
official “Guidelines for the Behavior of the Troops in Russia,” issued on 19
May 1941, demanded a “crackdown” on four groups: agitators, partisans,
saboteurs, and Jews. The “Guidelines for the Treatment of Political
Commissars” of 6 June 1941 specified that captured political officers were
to be killed.54

In fact, local Soviet elites fled to the east; and the more elite such people
were, the more likely they were to have been evacuated or to have had the
resources to arrange their own escape. The country was vast, and Hitler had
no ally invading on another vector who might be able to capture such
people. German policies of mass murder could affect the Soviet leadership
only in the lands that were actually conquered: Ukraine, Belarus, the Baltic
States, and a very thin wedge of Russia. This was not very much of the
Soviet Union, and the people in question were not of critical importance to
the Soviet system. People were shot, but with only minimal consequences
for the Soviet state. Most Wehrmacht units seemed to have little difficulty
in obeying the “commissar order”; eighty percent of them reported having
executed commissars. The military archives preserve the records of 2,252



shootings of such people by the army; the actual number was probably
greater .55

Shooting civilians was mainly the task of the Einsatzgruppen, one that
they had already performed in Poland in 1939. As in Poland, the
Einsatzgruppen were assigned to murder certain political groups so that the
state would collapse. Four Einsatzgruppen followed the Wehrmacht into the
Soviet Union: Einsatzgruppe A following Army Group North into the
Baltics toward Leningrad, Einsatzgruppe B following Army Group Center
through Belarus toward Moscow, Einsatzgruppe C following Army Group
South into Ukraine, and Einsatzgruppe D following the 11th Army in the
extreme south of Ukraine. As Heydrich clarified in a telegram of 2 July
1941, after having issued the relevant orders orally, the Einsatzgruppen
were to kill communist functionaries, Jews in party and state positions, and
other “dangerous elements.” As with the Hunger Plan, so with the
elimination of people defined as political threats: those in confinement were
most vulnerable. By mid-July the orders had come through to carry out
mass murder by shooting in the Stalags and Dulags. On 8 September 1941
Einsatzkommandos were ordered to make “selections” of the prisoners of
war, executing state and party functionaries, political commissars,
intellectuals, and Jews. In October the army high command gave the
Einsatzkommandos and the Security Police unrestricted access to the
camps.56

The Einsatzkommandos could not screen the Soviet prisoners of war very
carefully. They would interrogate Soviet prisoners of war in their holding
pens, immediately after they were taken. They would ask commissars,
communists, and Jews to step forward. Then they would take them away,
shoot them, and throw them into pits. They had few interpreters, and these
tended to remember the selections as being somewhat random. The
Germans had imprecise notions of the ranks and insignia of the Red Army,
and initially mistook buglers for political officers. They knew that officers
were allowed to wear their hair longer than enlisted men, but this was an
uncertain indicator. It had been some time since most of these men had seen
a barber. The only group that could easily be identified at this point were
male Jews; German guards examined penises for circumcision. Very
occasionally Jews survived by claiming to be circumcised Muslims; more
often circumcised Muslims were shot as Jews. German doctors seem to



have collaborated willingly in this procedure; medicine was a highly
nazified profession. As a doctor at the camp at Khorol recalled: “For every
officer and soldier it was, in those times, the most natural thing that every
Jew was shot to death.” At least fifty thousand Soviet Jews were shot after
selection, and about fifty thousand non-Jews as well.57

The German prisoner-of-war camps in the East were far deadlier than the
German concentration camps. Indeed, the existing concentration camps
changed their character upon contact with prisoners of war. Dachau,
Buchenwald, Sachsenhausen, Mauthausen, and Auschwitz became, as the
SS used them to execute Soviet prisoners of war, killing facilities. Some
eight thousand Soviet prisoners were executed at Auschwitz, ten thousand
at Mauthausen, eighteen thousand at Sachsenhausen. At Buchenwald in
November 1941, the SS arranged a method of mass murder of Soviet
prisoners that strikingly resembled Soviet methods in the Great Terror,
though exhibiting greater duplicity and sophistication. Prisoners were led
into a room in the middle of a stable, where the surroundings were rather
loud. They found themselves in what seemed to be a clinical examination
room, surrounded by men in white coats—SS-men, pretending to be
doctors. They would have the prisoner stand against the wall at a certain
place, supposedly to measure his height. Running through the wall was a
vertical slit, which the prisoner’s neck would cover. In an adjoining room
was another SS-man with a pistol. When he saw the neck through the slit,
he would fire. The corpse would then be thrown into a third room, the
“examination room,” be quickly cleaned, and the next prisoner invited
inside. Batches of thirty-five to forty corpses would be taken by truck to a
crematorium: a technical advance over Soviet practices.58

 

The Germans shot, on a conservative estimate, half a million Soviet
prisoners of war. By way of starvation or mistreatment during transit, they
killed about 2.6 million more. All in all, perhaps 3.1 million Soviet
prisoners of war were killed. The brutality did not bring down the Soviet
order; if anything, it strengthened Soviet morale. The screening of political
officers, communists, and Jews was pointless. Killing such people, already
in captivity, did not much weaken the Soviet state. In fact, the policies of
starvation and screening stiffened the resistance of the Red Army. If
soldiers knew that they would starve in agony as German captives, they



were certainly more likely to fight. If communists and Jews and political
officers knew that they would be shot, they too had little reason to give in.
As knowledge of German policies spread, Soviet citizens began to think
that Soviet power was perhaps the preferable alternative.59

As the war continued into November 1941, and more and more German
soldiers died at the front and had to be replaced by conscripts from
Germany, Hitler and Göring realized that some prisoners of war would be
needed as labor inside the Reich. On 7 November Göring gave the order for
positive selections (for labor). By the end of the war more than a million
Soviet prisoners of war were working in Germany. Mistreatment and
hunger were not easily overcome. As a sympathetic German observer
noted: “Of the millions of prisoners only a few thousand are capable of
work. Unbelievably many of them have died, many have typhus, and the
rest are so weak and wretched that they are in no condition to work.” Some
four hundred thousand prisoners sent to Germany died .60

By the terms of the German plans, the invasion of the Soviet Union was an
utter fiasco. Operation Barbarossa was supposed to bring a “lightning
victory”; in late autumn 1941, no victory was in sight. The invasion of the
Soviet Union was supposed to resolve all economic problems, which it did
not. In the end, occupied Belgium (for example) was of greater economic
value to Nazi Germany. The Soviet population was supposed to be cleared;
in the event, the most important economic input from the Soviet Union was
labor. The conquered Soviet Union was also supposed to provide the space
for a “Final Solution” to what the Nazis regarded as the Jewish problem.
Jews were supposed to be worked to death in the Soviet Union, or sent
across the Ural Mountains, or exiled to the Gulag. The Soviet Union’s self-
defense in summer 1941 had made yet another iteration of the Final
Solution impossible.61

By late 1941 the Nazi leadership had already considered, and been forced
to abandon, four distinct versions of the Final Solution. The Lublin plan for
a reservation in eastern Poland failed by November 1939 because the
General Government was too close and too complicated; the consensual
Soviet plan by February 1940 because Stalin was not interested in Jewish
emigration; the Madagascar plan by August 1940 because first Poland and



then Britain fought instead of cooperating; and now the coercive Soviet
plan by November 1941 because the Germans had not destroyed the Soviet
state. Though the invasion of the USSR provided no “solution,” it certainly
exacerbated the Jewish “problem.” Germany’s eastern zone of conquest was
now essentially identical with the part of the world most densely inhabited
by Jews. In occupying Poland, the Baltics, and the western Soviet Union,
the Germans had taken control of the most important traditional homeland
of European Jews. About five million Jews now lived under German rule.
With the exception of the late Russian Empire, no polity in history had ever
ruled so many Jews as Germany did in 1941.62

The fate of some of the Soviet prisoners who were released from camps
in the east suggested what was to come for the Jews. At Auschwitz in early
September 1941, hundreds of Soviet prisoners were gassed with hydrogen
cyanide, a pesticide (trade name Zyklon B) that had been used previously to
fumigate the barracks of the Polish prisoners in the camp. Later, about a
million Jews would be asphyxiated by Zyklon B at Auschwitz. At about the
same time, other Soviet prisoners of war were used to test a gas van at
Sachsenhausen. It pumped its own exhaust into its hold, thereby
asphyxiating by carbon monoxide the people locked inside. That same
autumn, gas vans would be used to kill Jews in occupied Soviet Belarus and
occupied Soviet Ukraine. As of December 1941, carbon monoxide would
also be used, in a parked gas van at Chełmno, to kill Polish Jews in lands
annexed to Germany.63

From among the terrorized and starving population of the prisoner-of-war
camps, the Germans recruited no fewer than a million men for duties with
the army and the police. At first, the idea was that they would help the
Germans to control the territory of the Soviet Union after its government
fell. When that did not happen, these Soviet citizens were assigned to assist
in the mass crimes that Hitler and his associates pursued on occupied
territory as the war continued. Many former prisoners were given shovels
and ordered to dig trenches, over which the Germans would shoot Jews.
Others were recruited for police formations, which were used to hunt down
Jews. Some prisoners were sent to a training camp in Trawniki, where they
learned to be guards. These Soviet citizens and war veterans, retrained to
serve Nazi Germany, would spend 1942 in three death facilities in occupied



Poland, Treblinka, Sobibór, and Bełżec, where more than a million Polish
Jews would be gassed.64

Thus some of the survivors of one German killing policy became
accomplices in another, as a war to destroy the Soviet Union became a war
to murder the Jews.



CHAPTER 6
FINAL SOLUTION

Hitler’s utopias crumbled upon contact with the Soviet Union, but they
were refashioned rather than rejected. He was the Leader, and his henchmen
owed their positions to their ability to divine and realize his will. When that
will met resistance, as on the eastern front in the second half of 1941, the
task of men such as Göring, Himmler, and Heydrich was to rearrange
Hitler’s ideas such that Hitler’s genius was affirmed—along with their own
positions in the Nazi regime. The utopias in summer 1941 had been four: a
lightning victory that would destroy the Soviet Union in weeks; a Hunger
Plan that would starve thirty million people in months; a Final Solution that
would eliminate European Jews after the war; and a Generalplan Ost that
would make of the western Soviet Union a German colony. Six months
after Operation Barbarossa was launched, Hitler had reformulated the war
aims such that the physical extermination of the Jews became the priority.
By then, his closest associates had taken the ideological and administrative
initiatives necessary to realize such a wish.1

No lightning victory came. Although millions of Soviet citizens were
starved, the Hunger Plan proved impossible. Generalplan Ost, or any
variant of postwar colonization plans, would have to wait. As these utopias
waned, political futures depended upon the extraction of what was feasible
from the fantasies. Göring, Himmler, and Heydrich scrambled amidst the
moving ruins, claiming what they could. Göring, charged with economics
and the Hunger Plan, fared worst. Regarded as “the second man in the
Reich” and as Hitler’s successor, Göring remained immensely prominent in
Germany, but played an ever smaller role in the East. As economics became
less a matter of grand planning for the postwar period and more a matter of
improvising to continue the war, Göring lost his leading position to Albert
Speer. Unlike Göring, Heydrich and Himmler were able to turn the
unfavorable battlefield situation to their advantage, by reformulating the
Final Solution so that it could be carried out during a war that was not going
according to plan. They understood that the war was becoming, as Hitler
began to say in August 1941, a “war against the Jews.”2



Himmler and Heydrich saw the elimination of the Jews as their task. On
31 July 1941 Heydrich secured the formal authority from Göring to
formulate the Final Solution. This still involved the coordination of prior
deportation schemes with Heydrich’s plan of working the Jews to death in
the conquered Soviet East. By November 1941, when Heydrich tried to
schedule a meeting at Wannsee to coordinate the Final Solution, he still had
such a vision in mind. Jews who could not work would be made to
disappear. Jews capable of physical labor would work somewhere in the
conquered Soviet Union until they died. Heydrich represented a broad
consensus in the German government, though his was not an especially
timely plan. The Ministry for the East, which oversaw the civilian
occupation authorities established in September, took for granted that the
Jews would disappear. Its head, Alfred Rosenberg, spoke in November of
the “biological eradication of Jewry in Europe.” This would be achieved by
sending the Jews across the Ural Mountains, Europe’s eastern boundary.
But by November 1941 a certain vagueness had descended upon Heydrich’s
vision of enslavement and deportation, since Germany had not destroyed
the Soviet Union and Stalin still controlled the vast majority of its territory.3

While Heydrich made bureaucratic arrangements in Berlin, it was
Himmler who most ably extracted the practical and the prestigious from
Hitler’s utopian thinking. From the Hunger Plan he took the categories of
surplus populations and useless eaters, and would offer the Jews as the
people from whom calories could be spared. From the lightning victory he
extracted the four Einsatzgruppen. Their task had been to kill Soviet elites
in order to hasten the Soviet collapse. Their first mission had not been to
kill all Jews as such. The Einsatzgruppen had no such order when the
invasion began, and their numbers were too small. But they had experience
killing civilians, and they could find local help, and they could be
reinforced. From Generalplan Ost, Himmler extracted the battalions of
Order Police and thousands of local collaborators, whose preliminary
assignment was to help control the conquered Soviet Union. Instead they
provided the manpower that allowed the Germans to carry out truly massive
shootings of Jews beginning in August 1941. These institutions, supported
by the Wehrmacht and its Field Police, allowed the Germans to murder
about a million Jews east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line by the end of the
year.4



Himmler succeeded because he grasped extremes of the Nazi utopias that
operated within Hitler’s mind, even as Hitler’s will faced the most
determined resistance from the world outside. Himmler made the Final
Solution more radical, by bringing it forward from the postwar period to the
war itself, and by showing (after the failure of four previous deportation
schemes) how it could be achieved: by the mass shooting of Jewish
civilians. His prestige suffered little from the failures of the lightning
victory and the Hunger Plan, which were the responsibility of the
Wehrmacht and the economic authorities. Even as he moved the Final
Solution into the realm of the realizable, he still nurtured the dream of the
Generalplan Ost, Hitler’s “Garden of Eden.” He continued to order
revisions of the plan, and arranged an experimental deportation in the
Lublin district of the General Government, and would, as opportunities
presented themselves, urge Hitler to raze cities.5

In the summer and autumn of 1941, Himmler ignored what was
impossible, pondered what was most glorious, and did what could be done:
kill the Jews east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, in occupied eastern
Poland, the Baltic States, and the Soviet Union. Aided by this realization of
Nazi doctrine during the months when German power was challenged,
Himmler and the SS would come to overshadow civilian and military
authorities in the occupied Soviet Union, and in the German empire. As
Himmler put it, “the East belongs to the SS.”6

The East, until very recently, had belonged to the NKVD. One secret of
Himmler’s success was that he was able to exploit the legacy of Soviet
power in the places where it had most recently been installed.

In the first lands that German soldiers reached in Operation Barbarossa,
they were the war’s second occupier. The first German gains in summer
1941 were the territories Germans had granted to the Soviets by the Treaty
on Borders and Friendship of September 1939: what had been eastern
Poland, Lithuania, Latvia, and Estonia, annexed in the meantime to the
Soviet Union. In other words, in Operation Barbarossa German troops first
entered lands that had been independent states through 1939 or 1940, and
only then entered the prewar Soviet Union. Their Romanian ally meanwhile
conquered the territories that it had lost to the Soviet Union in 1940.7



The double occupation, first Soviet, then German, made the experience
of the inhabitants of these lands all the more complicated and dangerous. A
single occupation can fracture a society for generations; double occupation
is even more painful and divisive. It created risks and temptations that were
unknown in the West. The departure of one foreign ruler meant nothing
more than the arrival of another. When foreign troops left, people had to
reckon not with peace but with the policies of the next occupier. They had
to deal with the consequences of their own previous commitments under
one occupier when the next one came; or make choices under one
occupation while anticipating another. For different groups, these
alternations could have different meanings. Gentile Lithuanians (for
example) could experience the departure of the Soviets in 1941 as a
liberation; Jews could not see the arrival of the Germans that way.

Lithuania had already undergone two major transformations by the time
that German troops arrived in late June 1941. Lithuania, while still an
independent state, had appeared to benefit from the Molotov-Ribbentrop
Pact of August 1939. The Treaty on Borders and Friendship of September
1939 had granted Lithuania to the Soviets, but Lithuanians had no way of
knowing that. What the Lithuanian leadership perceived that month was
something else: Nazi Germany and the Soviet Union destroyed Poland,
which throughout the interwar period had been Lithuania’s adversary. The
Lithuanian government had considered Vilnius, a city in interwar Poland, as
its capital. Lithuania, without taking part in any hostilities in September
1939, gained Polish lands for itself. In October 1939, the Soviet Union
granted Lithuania Vilnius and the surrounding regions (2,750 square miles,
457,500 people). The price of Vilnius and other formerly Polish territories
was basing rights for Soviet soldiers.8

Then, just half a year after Lithuania had been enlarged thanks to Stalin,
it was conquered by its seeming Soviet benefactor. In June 1940 Stalin
seized control of Lithuania and the other Baltic States, Latvia and Estonia,
and hastily incorporated them into the Soviet Union. After this annexation,
the Soviet Union deported about twenty-one thousand people from
Lithuania, including many Lithuanian elites. A Lithuanian prime minister
and a Lithuanian foreign minister were among the exiled thousands. Some
Lithuanian political and military leaders escaped the Gulag by fleeing to
Germany. These were often people with some prior connections in Berlin,



and always people embittered by their experience with Soviet aggression.
The Germans favored the right-wing nationalists among the Lithuanian
émigrés, and trained some of them to take part in the invasion of the Soviet
Union.9

Thus when the Germans invaded the Soviet Union in June 1941,
Lithuania occupied a unique position. It had profited from the Molotov-
Ribbentrop Pact; then it had been conquered by the Soviets; now it would
be occupied by the Germans. After the ruthless year of Soviet occupation,
many Lithuanians welcomed this change; few Lithuanian Jews were among
them. Two hundred thousand Jews lived in Lithuania in June 1941 (about
the same number as in Germany). The Germans arrived in Lithuania with
their handpicked nationalist Lithuanians and encountered local people who
were willing to believe, or to act as if they believed, that Jews were
responsible for Soviet repressions. The Soviet deportations had taken place
that very month, and the NKVD had shot Lithuanians in prisons just a few
days before the Germans arrived. The Lithuanian diplomat Kazys Škirpa,
who returned with the Germans, used this suffering in his radio broadcasts



to spur mobs to murder. Some 2,500 Jews were killed by Lithuanians in
bloody pogroms in early July.10

As a result of trained collaboration and local assistance, German killers
had all the help that they needed in Lithuania. The initial guidelines for
killing Jews in certain positions were quickly exceeded by Einsatzgruppe A
and the local collaborators it enlisted. Einsatzgruppe A had followed Army
Group North into Lithuania. Einsatzkommando 3 of Einsatzgruppe A,
responsible for the major Lithuanian city of Kaunas, had as many helpers as
it needed. Einsatzkommando 3 numbered only 139 personnel, including
secretaries and drivers, of which there were forty-four. In the weeks and
months to come, Germans drove Lithuanians to killing sites around the city
of Kaunas. By 4 July 1941 Lithuanian units were killing Jews under
German supervision and orders. As early as 1 December Einsatzkommando
2 considered the Jewish problem in Lithuania resolved. It could report the
killing of 133,346 persons, of whom some 114,856 were Jews. Despite
Škirpa’s wishes, none of this served any Lithuanian political purpose. After
he tried to declare an independent Lithuanian state, he was placed under
house arrest.11

The city of Vilnius had been the northeastern metropolitan center of
independent Poland and briefly the capital of independent and Soviet
Lithuania. But throughout all of these vicissitudes, and indeed for the
previous half-millennium, Vilnius had been something else: a center of
Jewish civilization, known as the Jerusalem of the North. Some seventy
thousand Jews lived in the city when the war began. Whereas the rest of
Lithuania and the other Baltic States were covered by Einsatzgruppe A, the
Vilnius area (along with Soviet Belarus) fell to Einsatzgruppe B. The unit
assigned to kill the Vilnius Jews was its Einsatzkommando 9. Here the
shooting took place at the Ponary Forest, just beyond the city. By 23 July
1941 the Germans had assembled a Lithuanian auxiliary, which marched
columns of Jews to Ponary. There, groups of twelve to twenty people at a
time were taken to the edge of a pit, where they had to hand over valuables
and clothes. Their gold teeth were removed by force. Some 72,000 Jews
from Vilnius and elsewhere (and about eight thousand non-Jewish Poles
and Lithuanians) were shot at Ponary.12



Ita Straż was one of the very few survivors among the Jews of Vilnius.
She was pulled by Lithuanian policemen to a pit that was already full of
corpses. Nineteen years old at the time, she thought: “This is the end. And
what have I seen of life?” The shots missed her, but she fell from fear into
the pit. She was then covered by the corpses of the people who came after.
Someone marched over the pile and fired downward, to make sure that
everyone was dead. A bullet hit her hand, but she made no sound. She crept
away later: “I was barefoot. I walked and walked over corpses. There
seemed to be no end to it.”13

 

Neighboring Latvia, too, had been annexed by the Soviet Union just one
year before the German invasion. Some twenty-one thousand Latvian
citizens (many of them Latvian Jews) were deported by the Soviets, just
weeks before the Germans arrived. The NKVD shot Latvian prisoners as
the Wehrmacht approached Riga. The Germans’ main collaborator here was
Viktor Arajs, a Latvian nationalist (German on his mother’s side) who
happened to know the translator that German police forces brought to Riga.
He was allowed to form the Arajs Commando, which in early July 1941
burned Jews alive in a Riga synagogue. As the Germans organized mass
killings, they took care to choose Latvian shooters from among those whose
families had suffered under Soviet rule. In July, under the supervision of
Einsatzgruppe A commanders, the Arajs Commando marched Riga Jews to
the nearby Bikernieki Forest and shot them. The Germans first carried out a
“demonstration shooting,” and then had the Arajs Commando do much of
the rest. With the assistance of such Latvians, the Germans were able to kill
at least 69,750 of the country’s 80,000 Jews by the end of 1941.14

In the third Baltic State, Estonia, the sense of humiliation after the Soviet
occupation was just as great as in Lithuania and Latvia, if not greater.
Unlike Vilnius and Riga, Tallinn had not even partially mobilized its army
before surrendering to the Soviets in 1940. It had yielded to Soviet demands
before the other Baltic States, thus precluding any sort of Baltic diplomatic
solidarity. The Soviets had deported some 11,200 Estonians, including most
of the political leadership. In Estonia, too, Einsatzgruppe A found more
than enough local collaborators. Estonians who had resisted the Soviets in
the forests now joined a Self-Defense Commando under the guidance of the



Germans. Estonians who had collaborated with the Soviets also joined, in
an effort to restore their reputations.

Estonians greeted the Germans as liberators, and in return the Germans
regarded Estonians as racially superior not only to the Jews but to the other
Baltic peoples. Jews in Estonia were very few. Estonians from the Self-
Defense Commando killed all 963 Estonian Jews who could be found, at
German orders. In Estonia the murders and pogroms continued without the
Jews. About five thousand non-Jewish Estonians were killed for their
ostensible collaboration with the Soviet regime.15

 

East of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, the Germans encountered the fresh
traces of Soviet statebuilding as they began to build their own empire. The
signs were even starker in what had been eastern Poland than in the Baltics.
Whereas Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania had been incorporated by the Soviet
Union a year before the German invasion, in June 1940, eastern Poland had
been annexed by the Soviets nine months before that, in September 1939.
Here the Germans found evidence of a social transformation. Industry had
been nationalized, some farms had been collectivized, and a native elite had
been all but destroyed. The Soviets had deported more than three hundred
thousand Polish citizens and shot tens of thousands more. The German
invasion prompted the NKVD to shoot some 9,817 imprisoned Polish
citizens rather than allow them to fall into German hands. The Germans
arrived in the western Soviet Union in summer 1941 to find NKVD prisons
full of fresh corpses. These had to be cleared out before the Germans could
use them for their own purposes.16

Soviet mass murder provided the Germans with an occasion for
propaganda. The Nazi line was that suffering under the Soviets was the
fault of the Jews, and it found some resonance. With or without German
agitation, many people in interwar Europe associated the Jews with
communism. Interwar communist parties had in fact been heavily Jewish,
especially in their leaderships, a fact upon which much of the press
throughout Europe had commented for twenty years. Right-wing parties
confused the issue by arguing that since many communists were Jews
therefore many Jews were communists. These are very different
propositions; the latter one was never true anywhere. Jews were blamed
even before the war for the failings of national states; after the war began



and national states collapsed during the Soviet or German invasion, the
temptation for such scapegoating was all the greater. Estonians, Latvians,
Lithuanians, and Poles had lost not only the independent states made for
their nations but their status and local authority. They had surrendered all of
this, in many cases, without putting up much of a fight. Nazi propaganda
thus had a double appeal: it was no shame to lose to the Soviet communists,
since they were backed by a powerful worldwide Jewish conspiracy; but
since the Jews were ultimately to blame for communism, it was right to kill
them now.17

In an arc that extended southward from the Baltic Sea to the Black Sea,
the last week of June and the first weeks of July 1941 brought violence
against Jews. In Lithuania and Latvia, where the Germans could bring local
nationalists with them, and could pose at least for a moment as a liberator of
whole states, the resonance of propaganda was greater and local
participation more notable. In some important places in what had been
eastern Poland, such as Białystok, the Germans carried out large-scale
killings with their own forces, thereby setting a kind of example. Białystok,
just east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, had been a city in northeastern
Poland, then in Soviet Belarus. Immediately after it was taken by the
Wehrmacht on 27 June, Order Police Battalion 309 began to plunder and
kill civilians. German policemen killed about three hundred Jews and left
the bodies lying around the city. Then they drove several hundred more
Jews into the synagogue and set it on fire, shooting those who tried to
escape. In the two weeks that followed, local Poles took part in some thirty
pogroms in the Białystok region. Meanwhile, Himmler journeyed to
Białystok, where he gave instructions that Jews were to be treated as
partisans. The Order Police took a thousand Jewish men from Białystok to
its outskirts and shot them between 8 and 11 July.18

Further south in what had been eastern Poland, in regions where
Ukrainians were a majority, Germans appealed to Ukrainian nationalism.
Here the Germans blamed the Jews for Soviet oppression of Ukrainians. In
Kremenets, where more than a hundred prisoners were found murdered,
some 130 Jews were killed in a pogrom. In Lutsk, where some 2,800
prisoners were found machine-gunned, the Germans killed two thousand
Jews, and called this revenge for the wrongs done to Ukrainians by Jewish
communists. In Lviv, where about 2,500 prisoners were found dead in the



NKVD prison, Einsatzgruppe C and local militia organized a pogrom that
lasted for days. The Germans presented these people as Ukrainian victims
of Jewish secret policemen: in fact, some of the victims were Poles and
Jews (and most of the secret policemen were probably Russians and
Ukrainians). The diary of a man belonging to another of the Einsatzgruppen
recorded the scene on 5 July 1941: “Hundreds of Jews are running down the
street with faces covered with blood, holes in their heads, and eyes hanging
out.” In the first few days of the war, local militias, with and without
various kinds of German aid and encouragement, killed and instigated
others to kill about 19,655 Jews in pogroms.19

Political calculation and local suffering do not entirely explain the
participation in these pogroms. Violence against Jews served to bring the
Germans and elements of the local non-Jewish population closer together.
Anger was directed, as the Germans wished, toward the Jews, rather than
against collaborators with the Soviet regime as such. People who reacted to
the Germans’ urging knew that they were pleasing their new masters,
whether or not they believed that the Jews were responsible for their own
woes. By their actions they were confirming the Nazi worldview. The act of
killing Jews as revenge for NKVD executions confirmed the Nazi
understanding of the Soviet Union as a Jewish state. Violence against Jews
also allowed local Estonians, Latvians, Lithuanians, Ukrainians,
Belarusians, and Poles who had themselves cooperated with the Soviet
regime to escape any such taint. The idea that only Jews served communists
was convenient not just for the occupiers but for some of the occupied as
well.20

Yet this psychic nazification would have been much more difficult
without the palpable evidence of Soviet atrocities. The pogroms took place
where the Soviets had recently arrived and where Soviet power was
recently installed, where for the previous months Soviet organs of coercion
had organized arrests, executions, and deportations. They were a joint
production, a Nazi edition of a Soviet text.21

 

The encounter with Soviet violence east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line
served the SS, and its leaders. Himmler and Heydrich had always
maintained that life was a clash of ideologies, and that traditional European



understandings of the rule of law had to give way to the ruthless violence
needed to destroy the racial and ideological enemy in the East. The
traditional enforcers of German law, the police, had to become “ideological
soldiers.” Thus before the war Himmler and Heydrich had purged the ranks
of the police of men deemed unreliable, encouraged policemen to join the
SS, and placed the SS and the Security Police (Order Police plus Gestapo)
under a single structure of command. Their goal was to create a unified
force dedicated to preemptive racial warfare. By the time of the invasion of
the Soviet Union, about a third of German policemen with officer rank
belonged to the SS, and about two thirds belonged to the National Socialist
party.22

The German surprise attack had caught the NKVD off guard, and made
the East appear to be a domain of lawlessness primed for a new German
order. The NKVD, usually discreet, had been revealed as the murderer of
prisoners. Germans broke through the levels of mystification, secrecy, and
dissimulation that had covered the (far greater) Soviet crimes of 1937-1938
and 1930-1933. The Germans (along with their allies) were the only power
ever to penetrate the territory of the Soviet Union in this way, and so the
only people in a position to present such direct evidence of Stalinist murder.
Because it was the Germans who discovered these crimes, the prison
murders were politics before they were history. Fact used as propaganda is
all but impossible to disentangle from the politics of its original
transmission.

Because of the visible record of Soviet violence, German forces of order
could present themselves as undoing Soviet crimes even as they engaged in
crimes of their own. In light of their indoctrination, what Germans found in
the doubly occupied lands made a certain kind of sense to them. It seemed
to be a confirmation of what they had been trained and prepared to see:
Soviet criminality, supposedly steered by and for the benefit of Jews. Soviet
atrocities would help German SS-men, policemen, and soldiers justify to
themselves the policies to which they were soon summoned: the murder of
Jewish women and children. Yet the prison shootings, significant as they
were to the local people who suffered Soviet criminality, were for Nazi
leaders rather catalyst than cause.
 



In July 1941, Himmler was eager to show his master Hitler that he was
attuned to the darker side of National Socialism, and ready to pursue
policies of absolute ruthlessness. His SS and police were in competition for
authority in the new eastern colonies with military and civilian occupation
authorities. He was also in a personal contest for Hitler’s favor with Göring,
whose plans for economic expansion lost credibility as the war preceded.
Himmler would demonstrate that shooting was easier than starvation,
deportation, and slavery. As Reich Commissar for the Strengthening of
Germandom, Himmler’s authority as chief of racial affairs extended only to
conquered Poland, not to the conquered Soviet Union. But as German
forces moved into the prewar Soviet Union, Himmler behaved as if it did,
using his power as head of the police and the SS to begin a policy of racial
transformation that depended upon mortal violence.23

In July 1941, Himmler traveled personally throughout the western Soviet
Union to pass on the new line: Jewish women and children should be killed
along with Jewish men. The forces on the ground reacted immediately.
Einsatzgruppe C, which had followed Army Group South into Ukraine, had
been slower than Einsatzgruppe A (the Baltic States) and Einsatzgruppe B
(Vilnius and Belarus) to undertake mass shootings of Jews as such. But
then, at Himmler’s instigation, Einsatzgruppe C killed some sixty thousand
Jews in August and September. These were organized shootings, not
pogroms. Indeed, Einsatzkommando 5 of Einsatzgruppe C complained on
21 July that a pogrom by local Ukrainians and German soldiers hindered
them from shooting the Jews of Uman. In the next two days, however,
Einsatzkommando 5 did shoot about 1,400 Uman Jews (sparing a few
Jewish women who were to take gravestones from the Jewish cemetery and
use them to build a road). Einsatzkommando 6 of Einsatzgruppe C seems
not to have killed women and children until a personal inspection by
Himmler.24

The killing of women and children was a psychological barrier, one that
Himmler made sure to break. Even as the Einsatzgruppen were generally
killing only Jewish men, Himmler sent units of his Waffen-SS, the combat
troops of the SS, to kill entire communities, including the women and
children. On 17 July 1941, Hitler instructed Himmler to “pacify” the
occupied territories. Two days later Himmler dispatched the SS Cavalry
Brigade to the marshy Polesie region between Ukraine and Belarus, with



the direct order to shoot Jewish men and to drive the Jewish women into the
swamps. Himmler couched his instructions in the language of partisan
warfare. But by 1 August the commander of the Cavalry Brigade was
clarifying that: “not one male Jew is to be left alive, not one remnant family
in the villages.” Quickly the Waffen-SS understood Himmler’s intentions,
and helped to spread his message. By 13 August, 13,788 Jewish men,
women, and children had been murdered. Himmler also sent the 1st Infantry
SS Brigade to aid the Einsatzgruppen and police forces in Ukraine. Over the
course of 1941, Waffen-SS formations killed more than fifty thousand Jews
east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line.25

Himmler made sure that the Einsatzgruppen were sufficiently reinforced
to kill all the Jews that they found. From August 1941 forward, twelve
battalions of the Order Police would provide most of the German manpower
for killing actions. The Order Police were supposed to be deployed
throughout the conquered Soviet Union; since the military campaign went
more slowly than expected, they were available in larger-than-expected
numbers in the occupied rear areas. By August the manpower available for
mass murder east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line had reached about twenty
thousand. By this time, Himmler seems to have authorized the practice,
already widespread, of recruiting local policemen to assist in the shooting.
Lithuanians, Latvians, and Estonians had taken part in the shooting almost
from the beginning. By the end of 1941, tens of thousands of Ukrainians,
Belarusians, Russians, and Tatars had also been recruited to local police
forces. Ethnic Germans in the Soviet Union were most desired, and took a
prominent part in the killings of Jews. With the Order Police and the local
recruits, there was manpower enough for the extermination of the Jews of
the occupied Soviet Union.26

Himmler took the initiative, directed the murders, and organized the
coercive bureaucracy. Enjoying the confidence of Hitler, Himmler was able
to arrange the institutions of the police to his liking. He extended the
institution of Higher SS and Police Leaders to the occupied Soviet Union.
In Germany itself, the Higher SS and Police Leaders had proven to be little
more than another layer of administration; in the East, they became what
Himmler had always wanted them to be: his personal representatives, a
crucial stage in a simplified hierarchy of coercive police power. A Higher
SS and Police Leader was assigned to Army Groups North, Center, and



South, while a fourth was held ready for an advance into the Caucasus.
These men were theoretically subordinate to the civilian occupation
authorities (Reichskommissariat Ostland in the north, Reichskommissariat
Ukraine in the south) established in September 1941. In fact, the Higher SS
and Police Leaders reported to Himmler. They understood that to kill Jews
was to fulfill his desires. At Bletchley Park, where the British were
decoding German communications, it became clear that the Higher SS and
Police Leaders “stand somewhat in competition with each other as to their
‘scores.’”27

 

In late August 1941, the coordination of the German forces was on display
at the mass shooting of Jews in the southwest Ukrainian city of Kamianets-
Podilskyi. Here the war itself had created a problem of Jewish refugees.

Hungary, a German ally, had been allowed to annex subcarpathian
Ruthenia, the far eastern district of Czechoslovakia. Rather than grant the
native Jews of this region Hungarian citizenship, Hungary expelled
“stateless” Jews to the east, to German-occupied Ukraine. The influx of
Jews into a German-controlled territory strained limited resources. Friedrich
Jeckeln, the Higher SS and Police Leader for the area, took the initiative,
likely so that he could report a success to Himmler at a meeting on 12
August. He flew in personally to make arrangements. The Germans chose a
site outside Kamianets-Podilskyi, and forced Jewish refugees and some
local Jews to march there. The Jews were shot in pits by Order Police
Battalion 320 and Jeckeln’s personal staff company. Some 23,600 Jews
were killed in the course of four days, from 26 to 29 August. Jeckeln
reported the number by radio to Himmler. This was by far the largest
massacre yet carried out by the Germans, and it set a pattern for those to
follow.28



The Wehrmacht aided and abetted such shooting operations, and
sometimes requested them. By late August 1941, nine weeks into the war,
the Wehrmacht had serious concerns about food supplies and the security of
the rear. Murdering Jews would free up food and, according to Nazi logic,
prevent partisan uprisings. After the mass shooting at Kamianets-Podilskyi,
the Wehrmacht systematically cooperated with the Einsatzgruppen and the
police forces in the destruction of Jewish communities. When a town or a
city was taken, the police (if present) would round up some of the Jewish
men and shoot them. The army would register the surviving population,
noting the Jews. Then the Wehrmacht and the police would negotiate over
how many of the remaining Jews could be killed, and how many should be
left alive as a labor force in a ghetto. After this selection, the police would
proceed to a second mass shooting, with the army often providing trucks,
ammunition, and guards. If the police were not present, the army would
register Jews and organize forced labor itself. The police would arrange the
killings later. As central directives became clearer and these protocols of
cooperation were established, death tolls among Jews in occupied Soviet
Ukraine roughly doubled from July to August 1941, and then again from
August to September.29



 

In Kiev in September 1941, a further confrontation with the remnants of
Soviet power provided the pretext for the next escalation: the first attempt
to murder all of the native Jews present in a large city.

On 19 September 1941 the Wehrmacht’s Army Group South took Kiev,
several weeks behind schedule, and with the help of Army Group Center.
On 24 September, a series of bombs and mines exploded, destroying the
buildings in central Kiev where the Germans had established offices of their
occupation regime. Some of these explosives were on timers set before
Soviet forces withdrew from the city, but some seem to have been detonated
by NKVD men who remained in Kiev. As the Germans pulled their dead
and wounded from the rubble, the city suddenly seemed unsafe. As a local
remembered, the Germans stopped smiling. They had to try to govern the
metropolis with a very small number of people, dozens of whom had just
been killed, even as they prepared a continued eastward march. The
Germans had a clear ideological line to follow: if the NKVD was guilty, the
Jews must be blamed. At a meeting on 26 September, military authorities
agreed with representatives of the police and SS that the mass murder of
Kiev Jews would be the appropriate reprisal for the bombing. Although
most of the Jews of Kiev had fled before the Germans took the city, tens of
thousands remained. They were all to be killed.30

Disinformation was the key to the entire operation. A Wehrmacht
propaganda crew printed broadsheet notices that ordered the Jews of Kiev
to appear, on pain of death, at a street corner in a westerly neighborhood of
the city. In what would become the standard lie of such mass shooting
actions, the Jews were told that they were being resettled. They should thus
bring along their documents, money, and valuables. On 29 September 1941
most of the remaining Jewish community of Kiev did indeed appear at the
appointed location. Some Jews told themselves that since Yom Kippur, the
highest Jewish holiday, was the following day, they could not possibly be
hurt. Many arrived before dawn, in the hopes of getting good seats on the
resettlement train—which did not exist. People packed for a long journey,
old women wearing strings of onions around their necks for food. Having
been assembled, the more than thirty thousand people walked, as instructed,
along Melnyk Street in the direction of the Jewish cemetery. Observers



from nearby apartments recalled an “endless row” that was “overflowing
the entire street and the sidewalks.”31

The Germans had erected a roadblock near the gates of the Jewish
cemetery, where documents were verified and non-Jews told to return
home. From this point forward the Jews were escorted by Germans with
automatic weapons and dogs. At the checkpoint, if no earlier, many of the
Jews must have wondered what their true fate would be. Dina Pronicheva, a
woman of thirty, walked ahead of her family to a point where she could
hear gunshots. Immediately all was clear to her; but she chose not to tell her
parents so as not to worry them. Instead she walked along with her mother
and father until she reached the tables where the Germans demanded
valuables and clothes. A German had already taken her mother’s wedding
ring when Pronicheva realized that her mother, no less than she, understood
what was happening. Yet only when her mother whispered sharply to her
—“you don’t look like a Jew”—did she try to escape. Such plain
communication is rare in such situations, when the human mind labors to
deny what is actually happening, and the human spirit strives toward
imitation, subordination, and thus extinction. Pronicheva, who had a
Russian husband and thus a Russian surname, told a German at a nearby
table that she was not Jewish. He told her to wait at one side until the work
of the day was complete.32

Thus Dina Pronicheva saw what became of her parents, her sister, and the
Jews of Kiev. Having surrendered their valuables and documents, people
were forced to strip naked. Then they were driven by threats or by shots
fired overhead, in groups of about ten, to the edge of a ravine known as
Babi Yar. Many of them were beaten: Pronicheva remembered that people
“were already bloody as they went to be shot.” They had to lie down on
their stomachs on the corpses already beneath them, and wait for the shots
to come from above and behind. Then would come the next group. Jews
came and died for thirty-six hours. People were perhaps alike in dying and
in death, but each of them was different until that final moment, each had
different preoccupations and presentiments until all was clear and then all
was black. Some people died thinking about others rather than themselves,
such as the mother of the beautiful fifteen-year-old girl Sara, who begged to
be killed at the same time as her daughter. Here there was, even at the end, a
thought and a care: that if she saw her daughter shot she would not see her



raped. One naked mother spent what she must have known were her last
few seconds of life breastfeeding her baby. When the baby was thrown alive
into the ravine, she jumped in after it, and in that way found her death. Only
there in the ditch were these people reduced to nothing, or to their number,
which was 33,761. Since the bodies were later exhumed and burned on
pyres, and the bones that did not burn crushed and mixed with sand, the
count is what remains.33

At the end of the day, the Germans decided to kill Dina Pronicheva.
Whether or not she was Jewish was moot; she had seen too much. In the
darkness she was led to the edge of the ravine along with a few other
people. She was not forced to undress. She survived in the only way
possible in that situation: just as the shots began, she threw herself into the
gorge, and then feigned death. She bore the weight of the German walking
across her body, remaining motionless as the boots tread across her breast
and her hand, “like a dead person.” She was able to keep open a small air
hole as the dirt fell down around her. She heard a small child calling for its
mother, and thought of her own children. She began to talk to herself:
“Dina, get up, run away, run to your children.” Perhaps words made the
difference, as they had earlier when her mother, now dead somewhere
below, had whispered to her. She dug her way out, and crept away quietly.34

Dina Pronicheva joined the perilous world of the few Jewish survivors in
Kiev. The law required that Jews be turned in to the authorities. The
Germans offered material incentives: money, and sometimes the keys to the
Jew’s apartment. The local population, in Kiev as elsewhere in the Soviet
Union, was of course accustomed to denouncing “enemies of the people.”
Not so very long before, in 1937 and 1938, the main local enemy,
denounced at that time to the NKVD, had been “Polish spies.” Now, as the
Gestapo settled in to the former offices of the NKVD, the enemy was the
Jew. Those who came to report Jews to the German police passed by a
guard wearing a swastika armband—standing before friezes of the hammer
and sickle. The office dealing with Jewish affairs was rather small, since the
investigation of Jewish “crimes” was simple: a Soviet document with
Jewish nationality recorded (or a penis without a foreskin) meant death. Iza
Belozovskaia, a Kiev Jew in hiding, had a young son called Igor who was
confused by all of this. He asked his mother: “What is a Jew?” In practice
the answer was given by German policemen reading Soviet identity



documents or by German doctors subjecting boys such as Igor to a “medical
examination.”35

Iza Belozovskaia felt death everywhere. “I felt a strong desire,” she
remembered, “to sprinkle my head, my whole self, with ashes, to hear
nothing, to be changed into dust.” But she kept going, and she lived. Those
who gave up hope sometimes survived thanks to the devotion of their non-
Jewish spouses or their families. The midwife Sofia Eizenshtayn, for
example, was hidden by her husband in a pit he dug at the back of a
courtyard. He led her there dressed as a beggar, and visited her every day as
he walked their dog. He talked to her, pretending to talk to the dog. She
pleaded with him to poison her. Instead he kept bringing her food and water.
Those Jews who were caught by the police were killed. They were placed in
cells of the Kiev prison that had held victims of the Great Terror three years
before. When the prison was full, the Jews and other prisoners were driven
away at dawn in a covered truck. Residents of Kiev learned to fear this
truck, as they had feared the NKVD black ravens leaving these same gates.
It took the Jews and other prisoners to Babi Yar, where they were forced to
disrobe, kneel at the edge of the ravine, and wait for the shot.36

Babi Yar confirmed the precedent of Kamianets-Podilskyi for the
destruction of Jews in central, eastern, and southern Ukrainian cities.
Because Army Group South had captured Kiev late, and because news of
German policies spread quickly, most Jews of these regions had fled east
and therefore survived. Those who remained almost always did not. On 13
October 1941 about 12,000 Jews were killed at Dnipropetrovsk. The
Germans were able to use the local administrations, established by
themselves, to facilitate the work of gathering and then killing Jews. In
Kharkiv, it appears that Sonderkommando 4a of Einsatzgruppe C had the
city administration settle the remaining Jews in a single district. On 15 and
16 December more than 10,000 Kharkiv Jews were taken to a tractor
factory at the edge of town. There they were shot in groups by Order Police
Battalion 314 and Sonderkommando 4a in January 1942. Some of them
were gassed in a truck that piped its own exhaust into its own cargo trailer,
and thus into the lungs of Jews who were locked inside. Gas vans were also
tried in Kiev, but rejected when the Security Police complained that they
disliked removing mangled corpses covered with blood and excrement. In
Kiev the German policemen preferred shooting over ravines and pits.37



 

The timing of the mass murder was slightly different in occupied Soviet
Belarus, behind the lines of Army Group Center. In the first eight weeks of
the war, through August 1941, Einsatzgruppe B under Artur Nebe killed
more Jews, in Vilnius and in Belarus, than any of the other Einsatzgruppen.
But the further mass murder of Jews in Belarus was then delayed somewhat
by a military consideration. Hitler decided to send divisions from Army
Group Center to aid Army Group South in the battle for Kiev of September
1941. This decision of Hitler’s delayed the march of Army Group Center on
Moscow, which was its main task.38

Once Kiev was taken and the march on Moscow could resume, so did the
killing. On 2 October 1941, Army Group Center began a secondary
offensive on Moscow, code-named Operation Typhoon. Police and security
divisions began to clear Jews from its rear. Army Group Center advanced
with a force of 1.9 million men in seventy-eight divisions. Then the policy
of general mass murder of Jews, including women and children, was
extended throughout occupied Soviet Belarus. Throughout September 1941
Sonderkommando 4a and Einsatzkommando 5 of Einsatzgruppe B were
already exterminating all Jews of villages and small towns. In early October
that policy was applied to cities.39

In October 1941, Mahileu became the first substantial city in occupied
Soviet Belarus where almost all Jews were killed. A German (Austrian)
policeman wrote to his wife of his feelings and experiences shooting the
city’s Jews in the first days of the month. “During the first try, my hand
trembled a bit as I shot, but one gets used to it. By the tenth try I aimed
calmly and shot surely at the many women, children, and infants. I kept in
mind that I have two infants at home, whom these hordes would treat just
the same, if not ten times worse. The death that we gave them was a
beautiful quick death, compared to the hellish torments of thousands and
thousands in the jails of the GPU. Infants flew in great arcs through the air,
and we shot them to pieces in flight, before their bodies fell into the pit and
into the water.” On the second and third of October 1941, the Germans
(with the help of auxiliary policemen from Ukraine) shot 2,273 men,
women, and children at Mahileu. On 19 October another 3,726 followed.40



Here in Belarus a direct order to kill women and children came from
Erich von dem Bach-Zelewski, the Higher SS and Police Leader for
“Russia Center,” the terrain behind Army Group Center. Bach, whom Hitler
regarded as a “man who could wade through a sea of blood,” was the direct
representative of Himmler, and was certainly acting in accordance with
Himmler’s wishes. In occupied Soviet Belarus the accord between the SS
and the army on the fate of the Jews was especially evident. General Gustav
von Bechtolsheim, commander of the infantry division responsible for
security in the Minsk area, fervently advocated the mass murder of Jews as
a preventive measure. Had the Soviets invaded Europe, he was fond of
saying, the Jews would have exterminated the Germans. Jews were “no
longer humans in the European sense of the word,” and thus “must be
destroyed.”41

Himmler had endorsed the killing of women and children in July 1941, and
then the total extermination of Jewish communities in August 1941, as a
small taste of the paradise to come, the Garden of Eden that Hitler desired.
It was a post-apocalyptic vision of exaltation after war, of life after death,
the resurgence of one race after the extermination of others. Members of the
SS shared the racism and the dream. The Order Police sometimes shared in
this vision, and were of course corrupted by their own participation. The
Wehrmacht officers and soldiers often held essentially the same views as
the SS, girded by a certain interpretation of military practicality: that the
elimination of the Jews could help bring an increasingly difficult war to a
victorious conclusion, or prevent partisan resistance, or at least improve
food supplies. Those who did not endorse the mass killing of Jews believed
that they had no choice, since Himmler was closer to Hitler than they. Yet
as time passed, even such military officers usually came to be convinced
that the killing of Jews was necessary, not because the war was about to
won, as Himmler and Hitler could still believe in summer 1941, but because
the war could easily be lost.42

Soviet power never collapsed. In September 1941, two months after the
invasion, the NKVD was powerfully in evidence, directed against a most
sensitive target: the Germans of the Soviet Union. By an order of 28
August, Stalin had 438,700 Soviet Germans deported to Kazakhstan in the
first half of September 1941, most of them from an autonomous region in



the Volga River. In its speed, competence, and territorial range, this one act
of Stalin made a mockery of the confused and contradictory deportation
actions that the Germans had carried out in the previous two years. It was at
this moment of Stalin’s sharp defiance, in mid-September 1941, that Hitler
took a strangely ambiguous decision: to send German Jews to the east. In
October and November, the Germans began to deport German Jews to
Minsk, Riga, Kaunas, and Łódź. Up to this point, German Jews had lost
their rights and their property, but only rarely their lives. Now they were
being sent, albeit without instructions to kill them, to places where Jews had
been shot in large numbers. Perhaps Hitler wanted revenge. He could not
have failed to notice that the Volga had not become Germany’s Mississippi.
Rather than settling the Volga basin as triumphant colonists, Germans were
being deported from it as repressed and humbled Soviet citizens.43

Despair and euphoria were on intimate terms in Hitler’s mind, and so an
entirely different interpretation is also possible. It is perfectly conceivable
that Hitler began to deport German Jews because he wished to believe, or
wished others to believe, that Operation Typhoon, the secondary offensive
on Moscow that began on 2 October 1941, would bring the war to an end.
In a moment of exaltation Hitler even claimed as much in a speech of 3
October: “The enemy is broken and will never rise again!” If the war was
truly over, then the Final Solution, as a program of deportations for the
postwar period, could begin.44

Though Operation Typhoon brought no final victory, the Germans went
ahead anyway with the deportations of German Jews to the east, which
began a kind of chain reaction. The need to make room in these ghettos
confirmed one mass killing method (in Riga, in occupied Latvia), and likely
hastened the development of another (in Łódź, in occupied Poland).

In Riga, the police commander was now Friedrich Jeckeln, as Higher SS
and Police Leader for Reichskommissariat Ostland. Jeckeln, a Riga native,
had organized the first massive shooting of Jews at Kamianets-Podilskyi in
August, in his former capacity as Higher SS and Police Leader for
Reichskommissariat Ukraine. Now, after his transfer, he brought his
industrial shooting methods to Latvia. First he had Soviet prisoners of war
dig a series of pits in the Letbartskii woods, in the Rumbula Forest, near
Riga. On a single day, 30 November 1941, Germans and Latvians marched



some fourteen thousand Jews in columns to the shooting sites, forced them
to lie down next to each other in pits, and shot them from above.45

The city of Łódź fell within the domain of Arthur Greiser, who headed
the Wartheland, the largest district of Polish territory added to the Reich.
Łódź had been the second-most populous Jewish city in Poland, and was



now the most populous Jewish city in the Reich. Its ghetto was
overcrowded before the arrival of the German Jews. It could be that the
need to remove Jews from Łódź inspired Greiser, or the SS and Security
Police commanders of the Wartheland, to seek a more efficient method of
murder. The Wartheland had always been at the center of the policy of
“strengthening Germandom.” Hundreds of thousands of Poles had been
deported beginning in 1939, to be replaced by hundreds of thousands of
Germans who arrived from the Soviet Union (before the German invasion
of the USSR made shipping Germans westward utterly pointless). But the
removal of the Jews, always a central element of the plan to make this new
German zone racially German, had proven the hardest to implement.
Greiser confronted a problem on the scale of his district that Hitler
confronted on the scale of his empire: the Final Solution was officially
deportation, but there was nowhere to send the Jews. By early December
1941 a gas van was parked at Chełmno.46

Hitler’s deportation of German Jews in October 1941 smacked of
improvisation at the top and uncertainty below. German Jews sent to Minsk
and Łódź were not themselves killed but, rather, placed in the ghettos. The
German Jews sent to Kaunas were however killed upon arrival, as were
those of the first transport sent to Riga. Whatever Hitler’s intentions,
German Jews were now being shot. Perhaps Hitler had decided by this point
to murder all of the Jews of Europe, including German Jews; if so, even
Himmler had not yet grasped his intention. It was Jeckeln who killed the
German Jews arriving in Riga, whom Himmler had not wished to murder.

Himmler did set in motion, also in October 1941, a search for a new and
more effective way of killing Jews. He made contact with his client Odilo
Globocnik, the SS and Police Leader for the Lublin district of the General
Government, who immediately set to work on a new type of facility for the
killing of Jews at a site known as Bełżec. By November 1941 the concept
was not entirely clear and machinery was not yet in place, but certain
outlines of Hitler’s final version of the Final Solution were visible. In the
occupied Soviet Union, Jews were being killed by bullets on an industrial
scale. In annexed and occupied Poland (in the Wartheland and in the
General Government), gassing facilities were under construction (at
Chełmno and Bełżec). In Germany, Jews were being sent to the east, where
some of them had already been killed.47



The Final Solution as mass murder, initiated east of the Molotov-
Ribbentrop line, was spreading to the west.

In November 1941 Army Group Center was pushing toward Moscow, to
win the delayed, but no less glorious, final victory: the end of the Soviet
system, the beginning of the apocalyptic transformation of blighted Soviet
lands into a proud German frontier empire. In fact, German soldiers were
heading into a much more conventional apocalypse. Their trucks and tanks
were slowed by the autumn mud, their bodies by the lack of proper clothing
and warm food. At one point German officers could see the spires of the
Kremlin through their binoculars, but they would never reach the Soviet
capital. Their men were at the very limits of their supplies and their
endurance. The resistance of the Red Army was ever firmer, its tactics ever
more intelligent.48

On 24 November 1941 Stalin ordered his strategic reserves from the
Soviet East into battle against Army Group Center of the Wehrmacht. He
was confident that he could take this risk. From a highly placed informer in
Tokyo, and no doubt from other sources, Stalin had reports that there would
be no Japanese attack on Soviet Siberia. He had refused to believe in a
German attack in summer 1941 and was wrong; now he refused to believe
in a Japanese attack in autumn 1941 and was right. He had kept his nerve.
On 5 December the Red Army went on the offensive at Moscow. German
soldiers tasted defeat. Their exhausted horses could not move their
equipment back quickly enough. The troops would spend the winter
outside, huddling in the cold, short on everything.49

Stalin’s intelligence was correct. Japan was about to commit decisively to
a war in the Pacific, which would all but exclude any Japanese offensive in
Siberia. The southern course of Japanese imperialism had been set by 1937.
It had been clear to all when Japan invaded French Indochina in September
1940. Hitler had discouraged his Japanese ally from joining in the invasion
of the Soviet Union; now, as that invasion had failed, Japanese forces were
moving further in the other direction.

Even as the Red Army marched west on 6 December 1941, a Japanese
task force of aircraft carriers was sailing toward Pearl Harbor, the base of
the United States Pacific Fleet. On 7 December, a German general, in a



letter home, described the battles around Moscow. He and his men were
“fighting for our own naked lives, daily and hourly, against an enemy who
in all respects is superior.” That same day, two waves of Japanese aircraft
attacked the American fleet, destroying several battleships and killing two
thousand servicemen. The following day the United States declared war on
Japan. Three days later, on 11 December, Nazi Germany declared war on
the United States. This made it very easy for President Franklin D.
Roosevelt to declare war on Germany.50

Stalin’s position in east Asia was now rather good. If the Japanese meant
to fight the United States for control of the Pacific, it was all but
inconceivable that they would confront the Soviets in Siberia. Stalin no
longer had to fear a two-front war. What was more, the Japanese attack was
bound to bring the United States into the war—as an ally of the Soviet
Union. By early 1942 the Americans had already engaged the Japanese in
the Pacific. Soon American supply ships would reach Soviet Pacific ports,
unhindered by Japanese submarines—since the Japanese were neutral in the
Soviet-German war. A Red Army taking American supplies from the east
was an entirely different foe than a Red Army concerned about a Japanese
attack from the east. Stalin just had to exploit American aid, and encourage
the Americans to open a second front in Europe. Then the Germans would
be encircled, and the Soviet victory certain.

Since 1933, Japan had been the great multiplier in the gambles that Hitler
and Stalin took with and against each other. Both men, each for his own
reasons, wished for Japan to fight its wars in the south, against China on
land and the European empires and the United States at sea. Hitler
welcomed the bombing of Pearl Harbor, believing that the United States
would be slow to arm and would fight in the Pacific rather than in Europe.
Even after the failure of Operations Barbarossa and Typhoon, Hitler wished
for the Japanese to engage the United States rather than the Soviet Union.
Hitler seemed to believe that he could conquer the USSR in early 1942 and
then engage an America weakened by the Pacific War. Stalin, too, wished
for the Japanese to move south, and had very carefully crafted foreign and
military policy that had precisely this effect. His thought was in essence the
same as Hitler’s: the Japanese are to stay away, because the lands of the
Soviet Union are mine. Berlin and Moscow both wanted to keep Japan in
east Asia and in the Pacific, and Tokyo obliged them both. Whom this



would serve depended upon the outcome of the German attack on the
Soviet Union.51

Had the German invasion proceeded as envisioned, as a lightning victory
that leveled the great Soviet cities and yielded Ukrainian food and
Caucasian oil, the Japanese strike on Pearl Harbor might indeed have been



good news for Berlin. In such a scenario, the attack on Pearl Harbor would
have meant that the Japanese were diverting the United States as Germany
consolidated a victorious position in its new colony. The Germans would
have initiated Generalplan Ost or some variant, seeking to become a great
land empire self-sufficient in food and oil and capable of defending
themselves against a naval blockade by the United Kingdom and an
amphibious assault by the United States. This had always been a fantasy
scenario, but it had some light purchase upon reality so long as German
troops were making for Moscow.

Since the Germans were turned back at Moscow at the very moment that
the Japanese advanced, Pearl Harbor had exactly the opposite meaning. It
meant that Germany was in the worst of all possible configurations: not a
giant land empire intimidating Great Britain and preparing itself for a
confrontation with the United States but rather a single European country at
war against the Soviet Union, the United Kingdom, and the United States
with allies either weak (Italy, Hungary, Romania, Slovakia) or uninvolved
in the crucial east European theater (Japan, Bulgaria). The Japanese seemed
to understand this better than the Germans. They wanted Hitler to make a
separate peace with Stalin, and then fight the British and the Americans for
control of Asia and North Africa. The Japanese wished to break Britain’s
naval power; the Germans tried to work within its bounds. This left Hitler
with one world strategy, and he kept to it: the destruction of the Soviet
Union and the creation of a land empire on its ruins.52

In December 1941, Hitler found a strange resolution to his drastic strategic
predicament. He himself had told his generals that “all continental
problems” had to be resolved by the end of 1941 so that Germany could
prepare for a global conflict with the United Kingdom and the United
States. Instead Germany found itself facing the timeless strategic nightmare,
the two-front war, to be fought against three great powers. With
characteristic audacity and political agility, Hitler recast the situation in
terms that were consistent with Nazi anti-Semitism, if not with the original
planning for the war. What besides utopian planning, inept calculation,
racist arrogance, and foolish brinksmanship could have brought Germany
into a war with the United Kingdom, the United States, and the Soviet
Union? Hitler had the answer: a worldwide Jewish conspiracy.53



In January 1939, Hitler had made a speech threatening the Jews with
extinction if they succeeded in fomenting another world war. Since summer
1941, German propaganda had played unceasingly on the theme of a
tentacular Jewish plot, uniting the British, the Soviets, and ever more the
Americans. On 12 December 1941, a week after the Soviet counterattack at
Moscow, four days after the Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, and one day
after the United States reciprocated the German declaration of war, Hitler
returned to that speech. He referred to it as a prophecy that would have to
be fulfilled. “The world war is here,” he told some fifty trusted comrades on
12 December 1941; “the annihilation of Jewry must be the necessary
consequence.” From that point forward his most important subordinates
understood their task: to kill all Jews wherever possible. Hans Frank, the
head of the General Government, conveyed the policy in Warsaw a few
days later: “Gentlemen, I must ask you to rid yourselves of all feeling of
pity. We must annihilate the Jews wherever we find them, in order to
maintain the structure of the Reich as a whole.”54

Jews were now blamed for the looming disaster that could not be named.
Nazis would have instantly grasped the connection between the Jewish
enemy and the prospect of downfall. They all believed, if they accepted
Hitler’s view, that Germany had not been defeated on the battlefield in the
last world war, but instead brought down by a “stab in the back,” a
conspiracy of Jews and other internal enemies. Now Jews would also take
the blame for the American-British-Soviet alliance. Such a “common front”
of capitalism and communism, went Hitler’s reasoning, could only have
been consecrated by the Jewish cabals in London, Moscow, and
Washington. Jews were the aggressors, Germans the victims. If disaster
were to be averted, Jews would have to be eliminated. Hitler’s propaganda
chief Joseph Goebbels recorded the moral reversal in his diary: “We are not
here to have sympathy with the Jews, but only to have sympathy with our
German nation.”55

As the war turned Stalin’s way, Hitler recast its purpose. The plan had
been to destroy the Soviet Union and then eliminate the Jews. Now, as the
destruction of the Soviet Union was indefinitely delayed, the utter
extermination of the Jews became a wartime policy. The menace henceforth
was less the Slavic masses and their supposed Jewish overlords, and more
the Jews as such. In 1942, propaganda against Slavs would ease, as more of



them came to work in the Reich. Hitler’s decision to kill Jews (rather than
exploit their labor) was presumably facilitated by his simultaneous decision
to exploit the labor of Slavs (rather than kill them). These moves signified
an abandonment of most of the initial assumptions about the course of the
war, although of course Hitler would never have admitted that. But the mass
killing of the Jews at least looked consistent with the initial vision of a
frontier empire in the East.56

In fact, the decision to kill the Jews contradicted that vision, since it was
an implicit acceptance that the Germans would never control the vast
territories that they would have needed for a Final Solution by deportation.
In logistical terms, mass murder is simpler than mass deportation. At this
point, killing was Hitler’s only option if he wished to fulfill his own
prophecy. His was a land empire rather than a sea empire, but he controlled
no wastelands into which Jews could disappear. Insofar as there had been
progress in the Final Solution, it was in Himmler’s demonstration of the
method that did not require deportation: murder. The killing was less a sign
of than a substitute for triumph. From late July 1941 Jews had been
murdered as the envisaged lightning victory failed to materialize. From
December 1941, Jews as such were to be killed as the alliance against
Germany grew in strength. Hitler sought and found still deeper emotions
and gave voice to more vicious goals, and a German leadership aware of its
predicament accepted them.57

By defining the conflict as a “world war,” Hitler drew attention away
from the lack of a lightning victory and the unwelcome lessons of history
that followed from this military failure. In December 1941, German soldiers
were staring straight at the fate of Napoleon, whose Grande Armée had
reached the outskirts of Moscow faster in 1812 than had the Wehrmacht in
1941. Yet in the end Napoleon had retreated from winter and Russian
reinforcements. As German troops held their positions, they would
inevitably confront a repetition of the kinds of battles that had been fought
in 1914-1918: long days of sinking into trenches to escape machine guns
and artillery, and long years of slow, meaningless movement and countless
casualties. The kind of warfare that had supposedly been made obsolete by
Hitler’s genius was upon them. The German general staff had anticipated
losses of about half a million and victory by September; losses were
approaching a million as victory receded in December.58



All of the failed offensives and missed deadlines and depressing
prospects would be less shameful if what the Wehrmacht was fighting was
not an ill-planned colonial war of aggression but a glorious if tragic world
war in defense of civilization. If German soldiers were fighting the powers
of the whole world, organized by the Jewish cabals of Moscow and London
and Washington, then their cause was great and just. If they had to fight a
defensive war, as was indeed now in practice the case, then someone else
could be handed the role of the aggressor. The Jews filled that place in the
story, at least for Nazi believers and many German civilians waiting for
fathers and husbands to return. German soldiers, whether or not they
believed in Jewish responsibility for the war, likely needed ideological
revisions less than the politicians and the civilians. They were desperate but
they were still deadly; and they would fight well, and they would fight on,
long enough, at least, for Hitler to fulfill his prophecy. The Wehrmacht was
and would remain by far the most effective fighting force in the European
theater, even though its chances for a traditional victory were now nil.

By the magic of racial thinking, killing the Jews itself was a German
triumph, at a moment when any other victory receded beyond the horizon of
the possible. The United States, Great Britain, and the Soviet Union were
enemies of Germany, and the Jews were the enemy of Germany, and thus,
went the spurious syllogism, they were under the influence of the Jews. If
these were Jewish states, then Jews in Europe were their agents. Killing the
Jews of Europe was thus an attack on Germany’s enemies, directly and
indirectly, and was justified not only by moral but by military logic.
Himmler noted Hitler’s desire that the Jews of Europe, as of December
1941, were to be destroyed “as partisans,” as agents of Germany’s foes
behind the lines. By this time, the logic of killing Jews as “retribution” for
partisan attacks had already been developed: in the Polesian swamps
between Belarus and Ukraine, where Himmler had used it as the reason to
kill Jewish men, women, and children beginning in July 1941; in Kiev,
where the Germans had murdered more than thirty thousand Jews in
retribution for the Soviet bombings in the city; and even further in Serbia,
where the German armed forces had encountered serious resistance slightly
earlier than in the Soviet Union.59

The Serbian example was, perhaps, especially pertinent. The German war
in southeastern Europe had begun slightly earlier than the war in the Soviet



Union, and had brought certain applicable lessons. Germany had invaded
Yugoslavia and Greece in spring 1941, just before the beginning of
Operation Barbarossa, mainly to rescue its bungling Italian ally from defeat
in its own Balkan wars. Though Germany had quickly destroyed the
Yugoslav army and created a Croatian puppet state, resistance in the
Serbian occupation zone it shared with Italy was considerable. Some of it
came from communists. The German commanding general in Serbia
ordered that only Jews and Roma be killed as revenge for the deaths of
Germans who fell in action against partisans—at a ratio of one hundred to
one. In this way, almost all of the male Jews of Serbia had been shot by the
time Himmler made his note about the destruction of Jews “as partisans.”
The logic of Serbia was universalized. Jews as such would be killed as
retribution for the US-UK-USSR alliance. Neither Jews nor the Allies could
be expected to understand this. It made sense only within the Nazi
worldview, which Hitler had just adapted for future use.60

The fifth and final version of the Final Solution was mass death. In Nazi
parlance, the word resettlement now shifted from description to euphemism.
For years German leaders had imagined that they could “resolve” Europe’s
Jewish “problem” by resettling Jews to one place or another. Jews would be
worked to death wherever they landed, and perhaps sterilized so that they
could not reproduce, but they would not all be killed as such. Thus
resettlement was incomplete though not entirely inaccurate as a description
of Jewish policy in 1940 and into 1941. Henceforth resettlement or
resettlement to the East would mean mass murder. Perhaps the resettlement
euphemism, by suggesting an essential continuity of policy, helped Nazis to
overlook the fact that German policy not only changed but had to change
because the war was not going as expected. It might thus have allowed the
Germans to shield from themselves the reality that military disaster
conditioned their Jewish policy.61

The Germans had already shown, by December 1941, that they could do
something far worse than deport Jews to Poland, Madagascar, or the Soviet
Union. They could kill the Jews under their control, and blame the victims
for their fate. The reality of resettlement from which the Germans now
distanced themselves can be brought closer by simple quotation of German
usage: “Resettlement site: on the resettlement site eight trenches are



situated. One squad of ten officers and men are to work at each trench and
are to be relieved every two hours.”62

By the time Hitler conveyed his preferences in December 1941, Himmler’s
SS and police forces (aided by the Wehrmacht and local policemen) had
already killed about a million Jews in the occupied Soviet Union.
Retrospect conveys a sense of inevitability, and the new German policy of
killing all European Jews may appear to be nothing more than the
fulfillment of a goal that was, in some sense, already a given. While it is
true that Hitler took for granted that the Jews would have no place in his
future Europe, and that Himmler’s escalating murder must have
corresponded to Hitler’s wishes, Hitler’s decision to speak of the mass
murder of all Jews must be seen as just that: a decision. Other responses to
the same events, after all, were possible.63

Germany’s ally Romania showed the possibility of such reversals.
Bucharest had also been pursuing national purification. As of December
1941, Romanian Jews had suffered more than German Jews. Romania had
joined in the invasion of the Soviet Union—like Germany, under
propaganda associating communism with Jews. By invading the Soviet
Union along with the Germans, Romania recovered the Bessarabian and
Bukovinan territory that the Soviet Union had annexed in 1940. Romania
then added a new region called “Transnistria,” seized from the southern part
of Soviet Ukraine. In this zone in 1941, Romanian policies toward Jews
were every bit as brutal as their German equivalents. After taking Odessa,
Romanian troops killed about twenty thousand local Jews in “reprisals” for
an explosion that destroyed their headquarters in the city. In the Bohdanivka
district the Romanians shot more than forty thousand Jews in a few days in
late December 1941. The Romanians also created their own set of ghettos
and labor camps in Transnistria, where tens of thousands of Jews from
Bessarabia and Bukovina perished. All in all, Romania killed about three
hundred thousand Jews.64

Yet Romania’s leadership reacted to the changing course of the war
differently than did Hitler. Its policies toward Jews remained brutal, but
were gradually softened rather than hardened. By summer 1942 Romania
was no longer deporting Jews to Transnistria. When the Germans built



death facilities, Romania declined to send its Jews to them. By the end of
1942, Romanian policy had diverged significantly from the German.
Romania would attempt to switch sides later in the war, and at that time the
survival of remaining Jews would come to seem an asset. The year 1942
was thus a crucial turning point, when German and Romanian policies
turned in opposite directions. Germany would kill all Jews because the war
was lost; Romania, late that year, would save some Jews for much the same
reason. The Romanian dictator Ion Antonescu would leave open a crack in
the door for negotiations with the Americans and the British; Hitler left the
Germans no possibility to escape from their own guilt.65

Over the course of the year 1942, the Germans killed most of the remaining
Jews who were under their occupation. West of the Molotov-Ribbentrop
line, mass murder would be carried out at gassing facilities. East of the
Molotov-Ribbentrop line, the Germans continued the mass shootings, and
also used the gas vans that had been tested on the Soviet prisoners of war.
In occupied Soviet Ukraine, the killing began again as soon as the earth had



thawed enough for the digging of pits, and sometimes, where machines
were available for digging, even sooner. In the eastern part of Soviet
Ukraine, still under military occupation, the shooting simply continued
without any pause from late 1941 through early 1942. In January,
Einsatzgruppen, assisted by the Wehrmacht, killed smaller Jewish
communities that had survived the first sweep, as well as groups of Jewish
laborers. In spring 1942 the action shifted from the east to the west, from
the military zone to the civilian occupation authority, the
Reichskommissariat Ukraine. Here all of the actions were carried out by
stationary police forces, battalions of German Order Police with the
assistance of local militiamen. With the help of tens of thousands of local
collaborators, the Germans had the necessary manpower.66

Killing became extermination last in the lands that the Germans took
first. Though the Germans had overrun all of the former lands of eastern
Poland in the first ten days of the war, in June 1941, many of the native
Jews of Poland’s southeast, now the west of the Reichskommissariat
Ukraine, had survived until 1942. German forces had already passed
through by the time Himmler began to order the destruction of whole
Jewish communities. By the time German policy had shifted, most German



forces had already departed. In 1942 the Germans undertook a second
round of mass shootings in the western districts of the Reichskommissariat
Ukraine, this time organized by the civilian authorities and implemented by
the police, with a great deal of help from local auxiliary policemen.67

These west Ukrainian districts were typical of the many towns and small
cities, in the lands that had been eastern Poland, where Jews numbered
about half of the population, sometimes a bit less, sometimes a bit more.
Jews usually inhabited the center of the cities, in stone houses around town
squares, rather than the wood shanties of the outskirts. These were
settlements where Jews had lived for more than half a millennium, under
varying governments and with varying levels of prosperity, but with a
success demonstrated by the simplest measures of architecture and
demography. The majority of this Jewish population, in interwar Poland,
had remained religiously observant and rather separated from the outside
world. The languages remained Yiddish and (for religious purposes)
Hebrew, and rates of intermarriage with Christians were low. Eastern
Poland had remained the heartland of an Ashkenazic Jewish civilization,
speaking Yiddish and dominated by rival clans of charismatic Hasidim.
This Jewish tradition had outlived the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth
where it had originated, it had outlived the Russian Empire, and it had
outlived the interwar Polish Republic.68

After the Molotov-Ribbentrop Pact and the joint invasion of Poland,
Soviet power and Soviet citizenship were extended to these Jews in 1939-
1941, and thus they are usually counted as Soviet Jewish victims of the
Nazis. These Jews did live for a time in the Soviet Union after Soviet
borders were extended westward to include what had been eastern Poland,
and they were subject to Soviet policies. Like the Poles and the Ukrainians
and the Belarusians of these lands, they had been subject then to arrests,
deportations, and shootings. Jews had lost their businesses and their
religious schools. Yet this brief period of Soviet rule was hardly enough to
make Soviet Jews of them. With the exception of the very youngest
children, people in Rivne and similar settlements had been citizens of
Poland, Lithuania, Latvia, or Romania for far longer than they were citizens
of the Soviet Union. Of the 2.6 million or so Jews killed on the terrains of
the Soviet Union, some 1.6 million had been under Soviet jurisdiction for



less than two years. Their civilization had been seriously weakened by
Soviet rule during 1939-1941; it would not survive the German Reich.69

Rivne, unusually for these cities, had already seen a mass killing action
in 1941. Although Kiev was the center of the German police state in
Ukraine, Rivne was in 1941 the provisional capital of the
Reichskommissariat Ukraine. The Reichskommissar, Erich Koch, was a
man known for his brutality. Hitler’s advisors called Koch a “second
Stalin,” and they meant it as a compliment. Koch had already in autumn
1941 ordered that most of the Jews of Rivne be killed. On 6 November
1941 the police had told all Jews without work permits to report for
resettlement. Some seventeen thousand people were then transported to
nearby woods, known as Sosenky. There they were shot over pits dug
earlier by Soviet prisoners of war. The remaining ten thousand or so Jews
were then forced to live in a ghetto in the worst part of the city.70

In early 1942, even after the majority of the Jews were dead, the Rivne
Judenrat was trying to maintain for the survivors some means of
subsistence. The German authorities, however, had decided that Jews were
not to exist at all. In summer 1942 Koch, with an eye to food shortages,
took the next step, asking his subordinates for a “100% solution” to the
Jewish problem. On the night of 13 July 1942 Rivne’s Jews were herded by
German police and Ukrainian auxiliaries from the ghetto. The Jews were
forced to walk to the train station, where they were enclosed in train cars.
After two days without food and water, they were transported to a quarry
near woods outside the town of Kostopil. There they were shot by German
Security Police and the auxiliary policemen.71

In Lutsk, the Jews constituted about half the population, perhaps ten
thousand people. In December 1941 the Jews were forced into a ghetto,
where the Germans appointed a Judenrat. Generally the Judenrat served to
extract the wealth of the community in exchange for various stays of
execution, some true, some false. The Germans also usually established a
Jewish police force, which was used to create the ghettos, and then later to
clear them. On 20 August 1942 in Lutsk the local Jewish police set out to
find Jews who might be in hiding. The same day Jewish men were sent to
woods near Hirka Polonka, seven kilometers from Lutsk, to dig pits. The
Germans guarding them made no effort to disguise what was about to



happen. They told the men to dig well, as their wives and mothers would be
resting in the pits the next day. On 21 August the women and children of
Lutsk were taken to Hirka Polonka. The Germans ate and drank and
laughed, and forced the women to recite: “Because I am a Jew I have no
right to live.” Then the women were forced, five at a time, to undress and
kneel naked over the pits. The next group then had to lie naked over the
first layer of corpses, and were shot. That same day the Jewish men were
taken to the courtyard of the Lutsk castle, and killed there.72

In Kovel, too, Jews were about half the local population, some fourteen
thousand people. In May 1942 the Jews of the city were divided into two
groups, workers and nonworkers, and placed in two separate ghettos, the
first in the New Town and the second in the Old Town. One local Jew,
having learned the Nazi terms, knew that the Germans saw the second
ghetto as the one for “useless eaters.” On 2 June German and local auxiliary
police surrounded the ghetto in the Old Town. All six thousand of them
were taken to a clearing near Kamin-Kashyrskyi and shot. On 19 August,
the police repeated this action with the other ghetto, shooting eight
thousand more Jews. Then began a hunt for Jews in hiding, who were
rounded up and locked in the town’s Great Synagogue with no food and
water. Then they were shot, but not before a few of them left their final
messages, in Yiddish or Polish, scraped with stones, knives, pens, or
fingernails on the walls of the temple where some of them had observed the
Sabbath.73

A wife left a note of love and devotion to her “dear husband” so that he
might learn of her fate and that of their “beautiful” child. Two girls together
wrote of their love of life: “one so wants to live, and they won’t allow it.
Revenge. Revenge.” A young woman was more resigned: “I am strangely
calm, though it is hard to die at twenty.” A mother and father asked their
children to say kaddish for them, and to observe the holidays. A daughter
left a farewell note to her mother: “My beloved Mama! There was no
escape. They brought us here from outside the ghetto, and now we must die
a terrible death. We are so sorry that you are not with us. I cannot forgive
myself this. We thank you, Mama, for all of your devotion. We kiss you
over and over.”



CHAPTER 7
HOLOCAUST AND REVENGE

Belarus was the center of the confrontation between Nazi Germany and the
Soviet Union. After the German invasion of June 1941, its inhabitants
observed, if they survived, the escalation of both German and Soviet
violence. Their homeland was a German zone of occupation and a once and
future Soviet republic. Its cities were battlefields of armies in advance and
retreat, its towns centers of Jewish settlement destroyed by the Holocaust.
Its fields became German prisoner-of-war camps, where Soviet soldiers
starved in the tens and hundreds of thousands. In its forests Soviet partisans
and German policemen and Waffen-SS conducted ferocious partisan
warfare. The country as a whole was the site of a symbolic competition
between Hitler and Stalin, represented not only by soldiers behind the lines,
partisans in the forests, and policemen over pits but by propagandists in
Berlin and Moscow and Minsk, the republic’s capital city.

Minsk was a centerpiece of Nazi destructiveness. The German air force
had bombed the city into submission on 24 June 1941; the Wehrmacht had
to wait for the fires to die down before entering. By the end of July the
Germans had shot thousands of educated people and confined the Jews to
the northwest of the city. Minsk would have a ghetto, and concentration
camps, and prisoner-of-war camps, and killing sites. Finally Minsk was
transformed by the Germans into a kind of macabre theater, in which they
could act out the ersatz victory of killing Jews.1

In Minsk in autumn 1941, the Germans were celebrating an imaginary
triumph, even as Moscow held fast. On 7 November, the anniversary of the
Bolshevik Revolution, the Germans organized something more dramatic
than mere mass shootings. On that morning, they rounded up thousands of
Jews from the ghetto. The Germans forced the Jews to wear their best
clothes, as though they were dressing up for the Soviet holiday. Then the
Germans formed the captives into columns, gave them Soviet flags, and
ordered them to sing revolutionary songs. People had to smile for the
cameras that were filming the scene. Once beyond Minsk, these 6,624 Jews
were taken in trucks to a former NKVD warehouse in the nearby village of
Tuchinka. Jewish men returning that evening from forced labor assignments



found their entire families gone. As one recalled: “Out of eight people—my
wife, my three children, my elderly mother, and her two children—not a
soul remained!”2

Terror itself was nothing new. People had been taken from Minsk to
Tuchinka, in the black ravens of the NKVD, not so long before, in 1937 and
1938. Yet even at the height of Stalin’s Great Terror of those years, the
NKVD was always discreet, taking people by ones and twos in the dark of
night. The Germans were carrying out a mass action in the middle of the
day, made for public consumption, ripe with meaning, suitable for a
propaganda film. The staged parade was supposed to prove the Nazi claim
that communists were Jews and Jews were communists. It followed from
this, to the Nazi way of thinking, that their removal not only secured the
rear area of Army Group Center but was also a kind of victory in itself. Yet
this hollow expression of triumph seemed designed to disguise a more
obvious defeat. By 7 November 1941, Army Group Center was supposed to
have taken Moscow, and had not.3

Stalin was still in the Soviet capital, and was organizing his own victory
celebrations. He had never abandoned the city, not during the initial
offensive of Operation Barbarossa of June 1941, not during the secondary
offensive of Operation Typhoon of October. Lenin’s embalmed corpse was
sent away from the Kremlin for safekeeping, but Stalin remained and ruled.
Leningrad was besieged, and Minsk and Kiev were taken, but Moscow
defended itself under Stalin’s obstinate command. On the 6th of November,
Stalin spoke defiantly to Soviet citizens. Noting that the Germans called
their campaign a “war of annihilation,” he promised them the same. He
referred, for the one and only time, to the Germans’ murder of the Jews. In
calling the Nazi regime an empire eager to organize “pogroms,” however,
he fell far short of a true description of the ongoing mass murder. The
Minsk Jews taken to Tuchinka on 7 November (the Soviet holiday) were
shot on 9 November (the National Socialist holiday). Five thousand more
followed on 20 November. Traditional empires had never done anything
like this to Jews. On any given day in the second half of 1941, the Germans
shot more Jews than had been killed by pogroms in the entire history of the
Russian Empire.4



The German murder of Jews was never going to play much of a role in
the Soviet vision of the war. From a Stalinist perspective, it was not the
killing of Jews that mattered but the possibilities for its political
interpretation. The German identification of Jews with communism was not
just a Nazi conviction and a pretext for mass murder; it was also a
propaganda weapon against the Soviet Union. If the Soviet Union was
nothing more than a Jewish empire, then surely (went the Nazi argument)
the vast majority of Soviet citizens had no reason to defend it. In November
1941 Stalin was thus preparing an ideological as well as a military defense
of the Soviet Union. The Soviet Union was not a state of the Jews, as the
Nazis claimed; it was a state of the Soviet peoples, first among whom were
the Russians. On 7 November, as the Jews marched through Minsk to their
deaths, Stalin reviewed a military parade in Moscow. To raise the spirits of
his Soviet peoples and to communicate his confidence to the Germans, he
had actually recalled Red Army divisions from their defensive positions
west of Moscow, and had them march through its boulevards. In his address
that day he called upon the Soviet people to follow the example of their
“great ancestors,” mentioning six prerevolutionary martial heroes—all of
them Russians. At a time of desperation, the Soviet leader appealed to
Russian nationalism.5

Stalin was associating himself and his people with the earlier Russian
Empire, which just one day before he had mentioned in connection with
pogroms of Jews. As the General Secretary of the Communist Party of the
Soviet Union summoned the heroes of prerevolutionary Russian history, he
had to negotiate with their ghosts. By placing Russians at the center of
history, he was implicitly reducing the role of other Soviet peoples,
including those who suffered more than Russians from the German
occupation. If this was a “Great Patriotic War,” as Stalin’s close associate
Viacheslav Molotov had said on the day of the German invasion, what was
the fatherland? Russia, or the Soviet Union? If the conflict was a war of
Russian self-defense, what to make of the German mass murder of the
Jews?

Hitler’s public anti-Semitism had placed Stalin, like all the leaders of the
Allies, in a profound dilemma. Hitler said that the Allies were fighting for
the Jews, and so (fearing that their populations might agree) the Allies had
to insist that they were fighting to liberate oppressed nations (but not Jews



in particular). Stalin’s answer to Hitler’s propaganda shaped the history of
the Soviet Union for as long as it existed: all of the victims of German
killing policies were “Soviet citizens,” but the greatest of the Soviet nations
was the Russians. One of his chief propagandists, Aleksandr Shcherbakov,
clarified the line in January 1942: “the Russian people—the first among
equals in the USSR’s family of peoples—are bearing the main burden of the
struggle with the German occupiers.” By the time Shcherbakov uttered
those words, the Germans had killed a million Jews east of the Molotov-
Ribbentrop line, including some 190,000 Jews in Belarus.6
 

As the freezing weather came to a Minsk ghetto without electricity and fuel,
Jews called their home “a dead city.” In winter 1941-1942, Minsk held the
largest ghetto on the territory of the prewar Soviet Union, confining perhaps
seventy thousand Jews. According to the last Soviet census (of 1939), some
71,000 Jews were among the 239,000 residents of the city. Some of the
Jews native to Minsk had fled before the Germans took the city at the end
of June 1941 and thousands more had been shot in the summer and fall; on
the other hand, the Jewish population of the city had been swollen by Jews
who had earlier arrived as refugees from Poland. These Polish Jews had
fled the German invasion of Poland in 1939, but would flee no further after
they were overtaken by German troops in 1941. The escape route east was
now sealed. Once Soviet power disappeared from these lands, there could
be no more Soviet deportations, which, deadly as they were, preserved
Polish Jews from German bullets. There could be no more rescues of the
kind organized by the Japanese spy Sugihara in Lithuania in 1940.7

Minsk was the provincial capital of General Commissariat White
Ruthenia (as the Germans called Belarus). The General Commissariat
comprised about one fourth of Soviet Belarus: the eastern part of the Soviet
republic remained under military administration, the southern part was
added to the Reichskommissariat Ukraine, and Białystok was annexed by
the Reich. Along with the three occupied Baltic States, General
Commissariat White Ruthenia constituted the Reichskommissariat Ostland.
Belarusian Jews, whether in this civilian occupation authority or in the
military occupation zone to its east, were behind the lines of Operation
Typhoon. As the Wehrmacht advanced they were killed; as it stalled, some
of them were kept alive, for a time. The inability of the Germans to take



Moscow in late 1941 saved the remainder of the Jews of Minsk, at least for
the moment. As Red Army divisions reinforced from the Far East defended
the Soviet capital, battalions of German Order Police were ordered to the
front. These were the very policemen who otherwise would have been
tasked with shooting Jews. As the German offensive stalled in late
November, the army realized that the boots and coats taken from dead or
captured Soviet soldiers would not suffice for the cold winter ahead. Jewish
workers in Minsk would have to make more, and so they would have to be
allowed to live through the winter.8

Because Moscow held, the Germans had to drop their initial plans for
Minsk: it could not be starved; its hinterlands could not be emptied of
peasants; some of its Jews would have to live for a time. Germans asserted
their dominance in Minsk by marching columns of prisoners of war through
the ghetto and through the city. In late 1941, when prisoners of war were
very likely to starve to death, some of them survived by fleeing—to the
Minsk ghetto. The ghetto was still a safer place than the prisoner-of-war



camps. In the last few months of 1941, more people died at nearby Dulags
and Stalags than in the Minsk ghetto. The enormous Stalag 352, probably
the deadliest prisoner-of-war camp of them all, was a complex of holding
pens in and around Minsk. A camp on Shirokaia Street, in the middle of the
city, held both prisoners of war and Jews. The former NKVD facility at
Tuchinka now functioned as a German prison and execution site.9
 

German policy in occupied Minsk was one of savage and unpredictable
terror. The carnivalesque death march of 7 November 1941 was only one of
a series of murderous incidents that left Jews horrified and confused about
their fate. Special humiliations were reserved for Jews who were known
and respected before the war. A noted scientist was forced to crawl across
Jubilee Square, the center of the ghetto, with a soccer ball on his back. Then
he was shot. Germans took Jews as personal slaves to clean their houses
and their clothes. The German (Austrian) medical doctor Irmfried Eberl, in
Minsk after a tour of duty gassing the handicapped in Germany, wrote to his
wife that he needed no money in this “paradise.” When Himmler visited
Minsk, he was treated to a show execution of Jews, which was recorded by
movie cameras. He seems to have watched himself and the mass murder on
film later.10

Jewish women suffered in particular ways. Despite regulations against
“racial defilement,” some Germans quickly developed a taste for rape as
prelude to murder. At least once Germans carried out a “beauty contest” of
Jewish women, taking them to the cemetery, forcing them to strip naked,
and then killing them. In the ghetto, German soldiers would force Jewish
girls to dance naked at night; in the morning only the girls’ corpses
remained. Perla Aginskaia recalled what she saw in a dark apartment in the
Minsk ghetto one evening in autumn 1941: “a little room, a table, a bed.
Blood was streaming down the girl’s body from deep, blackish wounds in
her chest. It was quite clear that the girl had been raped and killed. There
were gunshot wounds around her genitals.”11

 

Violence is not confidence, and terror is not mastery. For the first nine
months of the occupation, from summer 1941 through early spring 1942,



the bursts of murder and rape did not bring Minsk under complete German
domination.

Minsk was an unusual city, a place whose social structure defied the Nazi
mind as well as German experience in occupied Poland. Here, in a Soviet
metropolis, the history of Jews had taken a different turn than in Poland.
Twenty years of social opportunity and political coercion had done their
work. The urbane Jews of the city were not organized in any sort of
traditional community, since the Soviets had destroyed Jewish religious and
communal institutions in the 1920s and 1930s. The younger generation of
Jews was highly assimilated, to the point that many had “Belarusian” or
“Russian” inscribed as their nationality on their Soviet documents.
Although this probably meant little to them before 1941, it could save their
lives under German rule. Some Minsk Jews had Belarusian or Russian
friends and colleagues who were ignorant of or indifferent to religion and
nationality. A striking example of the ignorance of Jewish origins was Isai
Kaziniets, who organized the communist underground throughout the city
of Minsk. Neither his friends nor his enemies knew that he was Jewish.12

Soviet rule had brought a certain sort of toleration and assimilation, at the
price of habits of subordination and obedience to the commands of
Moscow. Political initiative had not been rewarded in Stalin’s Soviet Union.
Anyone responding with too much avidity to a given situation, or even to a
political line, was at risk when the situation or the line changed. Thus
Soviet rule in general, and the Great Terror of 1937-1938 in particular, had
taught people not to take spontaneous action. People who had distinguished
themselves in the Minsk of the 1930s had been shot by the NKVD at
Kuropaty. Even when it must have been clear in Moscow that Soviet
citizens in Minsk had their own reasons to resist Germans, communists
understood that this would not be enough to protect them from future
persecution when the Soviets returned. Kaziniets and all local communists
hesitated to create any sort of organization, knowing that Stalinism opposed
any sort of spontaneous action from below. Left to themselves, they would
have endured Hitler for fear of Stalin.13

An outsider, the Polish-Jewish communist Hersh Smolar, helped spur
Minsk communists and Jews to action. His curious combination of Soviet
and Polish experience provided him with the skills (and, perhaps, the
naiveté) to push forward. He had spent the early 1920s in the Soviet Union,



and spoke Russian—the main language of Minsk. After returning to a
Poland where the communist party was illegal, he grew accustomed to
operating underground and working against local authorities. Arrested by
the Polish police and imprisoned, he had been spared the experiences of
Stalinist mass shooting that weighed so heavily in Minsk. He was behind
bars during the Great Terror of 1937-1938, when Polish communists were
invited to the Soviet Union in order to be shot. Released from Polish prison
when the Soviet Union invaded Poland in September 1939, Smolar served
the new Soviet regime. He fled the Germans on foot in June 1941, and got
as far as Minsk. After the German occupation of the city, he began to
organize the ghetto underground, and persuaded Kaziniets that a general
city underground was permissible as well. Kaziniets wanted to know whom
Smolar was representing; Smolar told him truthfully that he stood for no
one but himself. This denial seemed to have persuaded Kaziniets that
Smolar was actually authorized by Moscow to work under deep cover. Both
men found a large number of willing conspirators within and without the
ghetto; by early autumn 1941 both the ghetto and the city were thoroughly
penetrated by a dedicated communist underground movement.14

The underground subverted the organs of German control over Jewish
life, the Judenrat and the Jewish police. In the occupied Soviet Union, as in
occupied Poland, German rule forced Jews into ghettos, which were
administered by a local Jewish council typically known by the German term
Judenrat. In the cities of occupied Poland, the Judenrat was often composed
of Jews of some standing in the prewar community, often the same people
who had led the Jewish communal structures that had been legal in
independent Poland. In Minsk, such continuity of Jewish leadership was
impossible, since the Soviets had eliminated Jewish communal life. The
Germans had no easy way to find people who represented Jewish elites, and
who were accustomed to making compromises with the local authorities. It
seems that they chose the initial Minsk Judenrat more or less at random—
and chose badly. The entire Judenrat cooperated with the underground.15

In late 1941 and early 1942, Jews who wished to flee the ghetto could
count on help from the Judenrat. Jewish policemen would be stationed
away from places where escape attempts were planned. Because the Minsk
ghetto was enclosed only by barbed wire, the momentary absence of police
attention allowed people to flee to the forest—which was very close to the



city limits. Very small children were passed through the barbed wire to
gentiles who agreed to raise them or take them to orphanages. Older
children learned the escape routes, and came to serve as guides from the
city to the nearby forest. Sima Fiterson, one of these guides, carried a ball,
which she would play with to signal danger to those following behind her.
Children adapted quickly and well, but were in terrible danger all the same.
To celebrate that first Christmas under German occupation, Erich von dem
Bach-Zelewski, the Higher SS and Police Leader, sent thousands of pairs of
children’s gloves and socks to SS families in Germany.16

Unlike Jews elsewhere under German occupation, Jews in Minsk had
somewhere to run. In the nearby forest, they could try to find Soviet
partisans. They knew that the Germans had taken countless prisoners of
war, and that some had escaped to the forests. These men had stayed in the
woods because they knew that the Germans would shoot them or starve
them. Stalin had called in July 1941 for loyal communists to organize
partisan units behind the lines, in the hope of establishing some control over
this spontaneous movement before it grew in importance. Centralization
was not yet possible; the soldiers hid in the forest, and the communists, if
they had not fled, did their best to hide their pasts from the Germans.17

The Minsk underground activists, however, did try to support their armed
comrades. On at least one occasion, members of the ghetto underground
liberated a Red Army officer from the camp on Shirokaia Street; he became
an important partisan leader in the nearby forests, and saved Jews in his
turn. Jewish laborers in German factories stole winter clothes and boots,
meant for the German soldiers of Army Group Center, and diverted them to
the partisans. Workers in arms factories, remarkably, did the same. The
Judenrat, required to collect a regular “contribution” of money from the
Jewish population of the ghetto, diverted some of these funds to the
partisans. The Germans later concluded that the entire Soviet partisan
movement was funded from the ghetto. This was an exaggeration arising
from stereotypical ideas of Jewish wealth, but the aid from the Minsk ghetto
was reality.18

Partisan warfare was a nightmare of German military planning, and German
army officers had been trained to take a severe line. They had been taught



to see Soviet soldiers as the servants of communist political officers, who
taught them to fight as partisans in an illegal “Asiatic” fashion. Partisan
warfare was (and is) illegal, since it undermines the convention of
uniformed armies directing violence against each other rather than against
surrounding populations. In theory partisans protect civilians from a hostile
occupier; in practice they, like the occupier, must subsist on what they take
from civilians. Since partisans hide among civilians, they bring down, and
often intend to bring down, the occupier’s retaliation against the local
population. Reprisals then serve as recruitment propaganda for the
partisans, or leave individual survivors with nowhere to go but the forest.
Because German forces were always limited and always in demand at the
front, military and civilian authorities were all the more fearful of the
disruptions partisans could bring.19

Belarus, with its plentiful forests and swamps, was ideal territory for
partisan warfare. The German army chief of staff later fantasized about
using nuclear weapons to clear its wetlands of human population. This
technology was not available, of course, but the fantasy gives a sense of
both the ruthlessness of German planning and the fears aroused by difficult
terrain. The policy of the army was to deter partisan warfare by striking
“such terror into the population that it loses all will to resist.” Bach, the
Higher SS and Police Leader, later said that the ultimate explanation for the
killing of civilians in anti-partisan actions was Himmler’s desire to kill all
the Jews and thirty million Slavs. There seemed to be little cost to the
Germans in preemptive terror, since the people in question were meant to
die anyway (in the Hunger Plan or Generalplan Ost). Hitler, who saw
partisan warfare as a chance to destroy potential opposition, reacted
energetically when Stalin urged local communists to resist the Germans in
July. Even before the invasion of the Soviet Union, Hitler had already
relieved his soldiers of legal responsibility for actions taken against
civilians. Now he wanted soldiers and police to kill anyone who “even
looks at us askance.”20

The Germans had little trouble controlling the partisan movement in late
1941, and simply defined the ongoing mass murder of Jews as the
appropriate reprisal. In September 1941 a clinic on anti-partisan warfare
was held near Mahileu; its climax was the shooting of thirty-two Jews, of
whom nineteen were women. The general line was that “Where there are



partisans there are Jews; and where there are Jews there are partisans.” Just
why this was so was harder to establish. The anti-Semitic ideas of Jewish
weakness and dissimulation conspired in a sort of explanation: military
commanders were unlikely to believe that Jews would actually take up
arms, but often saw the Jewish population as standing behind partisan
actions. General Bechtolsheim, responsible for security in the Minsk area,
believed that if “an act of sabotage is committed in a village, and one
destroys all of the Jews of the village, one can be certain that one has
destroyed the perpetrators, or at least those who stood behind them.”21

In this atmosphere, where the partisans were weak and the German
reprisals anti-Semitic, most Jews in the Minsk ghetto were in no hurry to
escape to the forest. In Minsk, despite all of its horrors, they were at least at
home. Despite the regular mass killings, no fewer than half of Minsk’s Jews
were still alive as 1942 began.
 

In 1942, the Soviet partisan movement took on new strength at the same
moment as the fate of Belarusian Jews was sealed, and for much the same
reason. In December 1941, confronted with a “world war,” Hitler
communicated his desire that all the Jews of Europe be killed. The Red
Army’s advance was one of the main sources of the weakening German
position in Belarus, and of Hitler’s newly explicit desire for the murder of
all Jews. Advancing Soviet forces were even able to open a gap in the
German lines in early 1942. The “Surazh Gates,” as the space between
Army Group North and Army Group Center was called, remained open for
half a year. Until September 1942, the Soviets could send trusted men and
arms to control and supply the partisans operating in Belarus. Soviet
authorities thereby established more or less reliable channels of
communication. In May 1942 a Central Staff of the Partisan Movement was
established in Moscow.22

Hitler’s express decision to kill all the Jews of Europe raised the
association of Jews and partisans to a kind of abstraction: Jews were
supporters of Germany’s enemies, and so had to be preemptively
eliminated. Himmler and Hitler associated the Jewish threat with the
partisan threat. The logic of the connection between Jews and partisans was
vague and troubled, but the significance for the Jews of Belarus, the
heartland of partisan warfare, was absolutely clear. In the military



occupation zone, the rear of Army Group Center, the killing of Jews began
again in January 1942. An Einsatzkommando painted Stars of David on
their trucks to broadcast their mission of finding Jews and killing them. The
leaders of Einsatzgruppe B resolved to kill all the Jews in their zone of
responsibility by 20 April 1942, which was Hitler’s birthday.23

The civilian occupation authorities in Minsk also followed the new line.
Wilhelm Kube, the General Commissar of White Ruthenia, met with his
police leaders on 19 January 1942. All seemed to accept Kube’s
formulation: while Germany’s great “colonial-political” task in the East
demanded the murder of all Jews, some would have to be preserved for a
time as forced labor. Killing actions in Minsk would begin in March,
directed against the population that remained in the ghetto during the day
while the labor brigades were outside the ghetto at work.24

On 1 March 1942 the Germans ordered the Judenrat to provide a quota of
five thousand Jews the following day. The ghetto underground told the
Judenrat not to bargain Jewish blood, which the Judenrat was probably not
inclined to do anyway. Some of the Jewish policemen, rather than aiding
the Germans to make their quota, warned their fellow Jews to hide. When
the quota was not delivered on 2 March, the Germans shot children, and
stabbed to death all the wards of the Jewish orphanage. They even killed
some workers returning home. In all they murdered some 3,412 people that
day. One Jewish child who escaped the bloodshed was Feliks Lipski. His
father had been killed as a Polish spy in Stalin’s Great Terror, disappearing
as people did then, never to be seen again. Now the boy saw people he
knew as corpses in ditches. He remembered shades of white: skin,
undergarments, snow.25

After the failure of the action of early March 1942, the Germans broke
the Minsk underground, and accelerated the mass murder of the Jews. In
late March and early April 1942, the Germans arrested and executed some
251 underground activists, Jews and non-Jews, including the head of the
Judenrat. (Kaziniets, the organizer of the underground, was executed that
July.) At around the same time, Reinhard Heydrich visited Minsk, and
apparently ordered the construction of a death facility. The SS set to work
on a new complex at Maly Trastsianets, outside Minsk. Beginning in May
1942, some forty thousand people would be killed there. The wives of



German officials remembered Maly Trastsianets as a nice place to ride
horses and collect fur coats (taken from Jewish women before they were
shot).26

Some ten thousand Minsk Jews were killed in the last few days of July
1942. On the last day of the month, Junita Vishniatskaia wrote a letter to her
father to bid him farewell. “I am saying good-bye to you before I die. I am
so afraid of this death because they throw small children into the mass
graves alive. Farewell forever. I kiss you, I kiss you.”27

It was true that Germans sometimes avoided shooting younger children,
instead throwing them into the pits with the corpses, and allowing them to
suffocate under the earth. They also had at their disposal another means of
killing that allowed them to avoid seeing the end of young life. Gas vans
roved the streets of Minsk, the drivers seeking stray Jewish children. The
people called the gas vans by a name that had been used for the NKVD
trucks during the Great Terror a few years earlier: “soul destroyers.”28

The girls and boys knew what would happen to them if they were caught.
They would ask for a tattered bit of dignity as they walked up the ramp to
their death: “Please sirs,” they would say to the Germans, “do not hit us. We
can get to the trucks on our own.”29

By spring 1942 the Jews of Minsk were coming to see the forest as less
dangerous than the ghetto. Hersh Smolar himself was forced to leave the
ghetto for the partisans. Of the ten thousand or so Minsk Jews who found
Soviet partisan units, perhaps half survived the war. Smolar was among the
survivors. Yet partisans did not necessarily welcome Jews. Partisan units
were meant to defeat the German occupation, not to help civilians endure it.
Jews who lacked arms were often turned away, as were women and
children. Even armed Jewish men were sometimes rejected or even, in some
cases, killed for their weapons. Partisan leaders feared that Jews from
ghettos were German spies, an accusation that was not as absurd as it might
appear. The Germans would indeed seize wives and children, and then tell
Jewish husbands to go to the forest and return with information if they
wished to see their families again.30



The situation of Jews in the forests slowly improved over the course of
1942, as some Jews formed their own partisan units, a development that the
Central Staff of the Partisan Movement eventually sanctioned. Israel
Lapidus formed a unit of some fifty men. Sholem Zorin’s 106th
Detachment counted ten times as many, and raided the Minsk ghetto to
rescue Jews. In individual cases Soviet partisan units provided diversions
that allowed Jews to escape from the ghetto. In one case, partisans attacked
a German unit on its way to liquidate a ghetto. Oswald Rufeisen, a Jew who
worked as a translator for the German police in the town of Mir, smuggled
weapons into that ghetto, and warned its inhabitants when the liquidation
was ordered.31

Tuvia Bielski, also a Jew, probably rescued more Jews than any other
partisan leader. His special gift was to understand the perils of partisan
warfare between Stalin and Hitler. Bielski hailed from western Belarus,
which is to say from the part of northeastern Poland that the Soviets had
annexed in 1939 and then lost to the Germans in 1941. He had served in the
Polish Army, and thus had some military training. He and his family knew
the woods well, probably because they were small-time smugglers. Yet his
tactical sense was not reducible to any particular experience. On the one
hand, he understood his goal as rescuing Jews rather than killing Germans.
He and his men generally tried to avoid combat. “Don’t rush to fight and
die,” he would say. “So few of us are left, we have to save lives. To save a
Jew is much more important than to kill Germans.” On the other hand, he
was able to work with Soviet partisans, when they appeared, even though
their task precisely was to kill Germans. Although his mobile camp was
largely composed of women and children, he was able to secure recognition
of his status as a partisan leader from the Soviets. By rescuing rather than
resisting, Bielski saved more than one thousand people.32

Bielski was an anomaly within a Soviet partisan movement that was ever
larger and ever more subordinate to Moscow. When 1942 began, there were
(by Soviet reckonings) perhaps twenty-three thousand partisans in Belarus;
the number probably doubled by the time that the Central Staff was
established in May, and doubled again by the end of the year. Partisans in
1941 had scarcely been able to keep themselves alive; in 1942 they were
able to attain specific objectives of military and political value. They laid
mines and destroyed railroad tracks and locomotives. They were supposed



to keep food from the Germans, and to destroy the German administration.
In practice the safest way to attack the German occupation structure was to
murder unarmed participants in the civilian administration: small-town
mayors, schoolteachers, landowners, and their families. This was not an
excess, this was the official policy of the Soviet partisan movement through
November 1942. Partisans sought to gain full control of territories, which
they called “partisan republics.”33

Partisan operations, effective as they sometimes were, brought inevitable
destruction to the Belarusian civilian population, Jewish and gentile alike.
When the Soviet partisans prevented peasants from giving food to the
Germans, they all but guaranteed that the Germans would kill the peasants.
A Soviet gun threatened a peasant, and then a German gun killed him. Once
the Germans believed that they had lost control of a given village to the
partisans, they would simply torch houses and fields. If they could not
reliably get grain, they could keep it from the Soviets by seeing that it was
never harvested. When Soviet partisans sabotaged trains, they were in effect
ensuring that the population near the site would be exterminated. When
Soviet partisans laid mines, they knew that some would detonate under the
bodies of Soviet citizens. The Germans swept mines by forcing locals,
Belarusians and Jews, to walk hand in hand over minefields. In general,
such loss of human life was of little concern to the Soviet leadership. The
people who died had been under German occupation, and were therefore
suspect and perhaps even more expendable than the average Soviet citizen.
German reprisals also ensured that the ranks of the partisans swelled, as
survivors often had no home, no livelihood, and no family to which to
return.34

The Soviet leadership was not especially concerned with the plight of
Jews. After November 1941 Stalin never singled out the Jews as victims of
Hitler. Some partisan commanders did try to protect Jews. But the Soviets,
like the Americans or the British, seem not to have seriously contemplated
direct military action to rescue Jews. The logic of the Soviet system was
always to resist independent initiatives and to value human life very
cheaply. Jews in ghettos were aiding the German war effort as forced
laborers, so their death over pits was of little concern to authorities in
Moscow. Jews who were not aiding but hindering the Germans were
showing signs of a dangerous capacity for initiative, and might later resist



the reimposition of Soviet rule. By Stalinist logic, Jews were suspect either
way: if they remained in the ghetto and worked for the Germans, or if they
left the ghetto and showed a capacity for independent action. The previous
hesitation of local Minsk communists turned out to be justified: their
resistance organization was treated as a front of the Gestapo by the Central
Staff of the Partisan Movement in Moscow. The people who rescued Minsk
Jews and supplied Soviet partisans were labeled a tool of Hitler.35

Jewish men who did make it into the partisans “already felt liberated,” as
Lev Kravets recalled. Jewish women generally had a more difficult time. In
partisan units the standard form of address to girls and women was
“whore,” and women usually had no choice but to seek a protector. This is
perhaps what Rosa Gerassimova, who survived with the partisans, meant
when she recalled that “life was actually unbearable, but the partisans did
rescue me.” Some partisan commanders, Jews and non-Jews, did try to
protect “family camps” for women and children and the elderly. Children
who had the good luck to be in family camps played a version of hide-and-
seek, in which Germans hunted Jews who were protected by partisans. This
was true in their case; yet while the partisans saved some thirty thousand
Jews, it is unclear whether their actions on balance provoked or prevented
the killing of Jews. Partisan warfare behind the lines drew German police
and military power away from the front and to the hinterland, where
policemen and soldiers almost always found it easier to kill Jews than to
hunt down and engage partisans.36

 

In the second half of 1942, German anti-partisan operations were all but
indistinguishable from the mass murder of Jews. Hitler ordered on 18
August 1942 that partisans in Belarus be “exterminated” by the end of the
year. It was already understood that the Jews were to be killed by the same
deadline. The euphemism “special treatment,” meaning shooting, appears in
reports about both Jews and Belarusian civilians. The logic for the two
undertakings was circular but nevertheless somehow compelling: Jews were
initially to be killed “as partisans” in 1941, when there were not yet any
truly threatening partisan formations; then once there were such partisan
formations, in 1942, villagers associated with them were to be destroyed
“like Jews.” The equivalence between Jews and partisans was emphasized



over and over again, in a downward cycle of rhetoric that could end only
when both groups were simply gone.37

By the middle of 1942, the number of Jews was in rapid decline, but the
number of partisans was in rapid ascent. This had no effect on Nazi
reasoning, except to make the methods for dealing with Belarusian civilians
ever more similar to the methods of dealing with Jews. As partisans became
difficult to target because they were too powerful, and as Jews became
difficult to target because they were too scarce, the Germans subjected the
non-Jewish Belarusian population to ever more extraordinary waves of
killing. From the perspective of the German police, the Final Solution and
the anti-partisan campaigns blurred together.

To take a single example: on 22 and 23 September 1942, Order Police
Battalion 310 was dispatched to destroy three villages for ostensible
connections to the partisans. At the first village, Borki, the police
apprehended the entire population, marched the men, women, and children
seven hundred meters, and then handed out shovels so that people could dig
their own graves. The policemen shot the Belarusian peasants without a
break from 9:00 in the morning until 6:00 in the evening, killing 203 men,
372 women, and 130 children. The Order Police spared 104 people
classified as “reliable,” although it is hard to imagine how they could have
remained so after this spectacle. The battalion reached the next village,
Zabloitse, at 2:00 in the morning, and surrounded it at 5:30. They forced all
of the inhabitants into the local school, and then shot 284 men, women, and
children. At the third village, Borysovka, the battalion reported killing 169
men, women, and children. Four weeks later, the battalion was assigned to
liquidate Jews at a work camp. When they killed 461 Jews on 21 October,
they used very similar methods: the only difference was that there was no
need to surprise the population, since it was already under guard in the
camp.38

 

Despite new offensives, the “war” against the Jews was the only one that
the Germans were winning in 1942. Army Group North continued the siege
of Leningrad. Army Group Center made no progress toward Moscow.
Army Group South was supposed to secure the Volga River and the oil
supplies of the Caucasus. Some of its forces reached the Volga in August
1942, but were unable to take Stalingrad. German troops did race through



southern Russia into the Caucasus, but were unable to control the crucial
areas by winter. This would be the last major German offensive in the
eastern front. By the end of 1942 the Germans had killed at least 208,089
Jews in Belarus. Killing Jewish civilians did nothing, however, to hinder the
Red Army, or even to slow the partisans.39

Lacking personnel in the rear and needing to keep troops at the front, the
Germans tried in autumn 1942 to make anti-partisan warfare more efficient.
Himmler named Bach, the local Higher SS and Police Leader, chief of anti-
partisan warfare in the areas under civilian authority. In practice the
responsibility fell upon his deputy, Curt von Gottberg, a drunk whose SS
career had been rescued by Himmler. Gottberg suffered no war injuries but
had lost part of a leg (and his SS commission) by driving his automobile
into a fruit tree. Himmler paid for the prosthetic leg and had Gottberg
reinstated. The assignment to Belarus was a chance to prove his manhood,
which he seized. After only one month of police training he formed his own
Battle Group, which was active from November 1942 through November
1943. In their first five months of campaigning, the men of his Battle Group
reported killing 9,432 “partisans,” 12,946 “partisan suspects,” and about
11,000 Jews. In other words, the Battle Group shot an average of two
hundred people every day, almost all of them civilians.40

The unit responsible for more atrocities than any other was the SS
Special Commando Dirlewanger, which had arrived in Belarus in February
1942. In Belarus and indeed in all the theaters of the Second World War,
few could compete in cruelty with Oskar Dirlewanger. He was an alcoholic
and drug addict, prone to violence. He had fought in the German right-wing
militias after the First World War, and spent the early 1920s tormenting
communists and writing a doctoral dissertation on planned economics. He
joined the Nazi party in 1923, but jeopardized his political future by traffic
accidents and sexual liaisons with an underage girl. In March 1940
Himmler placed him in charge of a special Poachers’ Brigade, a unit made
up of criminals imprisoned for hunting on the property of others. Some
Nazi leaders romanticized these men, seeing them as pure primitive German
types, resisting the tyranny of the law. The hunters were first assigned to
Lublin, where the unit was strengthened by other criminals, including
murderers and the clinically insane. In Belarus, Dirlewanger and his hunters
did engage partisans. Yet more often they killed civilians whose villages



were in the wrong place. Dirlewanger’s preferred method was to herd the
local population inside a barn, set the barn on fire, and then shoot with
machine guns anyone who tried to escape. The SS Special Commando
Dirlewanger killed at least thirty thousand civilians in its Belarusian tour of
duty.41

Dirlewanger’s unit was one of several Waffen-SS and Order Police
formations assigned to Belarus to reinforce the battered regular army. By
late 1942, German soldiers were horribly fatigued, conscious of defeat,
relieved of normal legal obligations to civilians, and under orders to treat
partisans with extreme brutality. When assigned to anti-partisan duty,
soldiers faced the anxiety of fighting a foe who could appear and disappear
at any time, and who knew the land as the soldiers did not. Wehrmacht
troops were now cooperating with the police and the SS, whose main task
for some time had been the mass murder of civilians, above all Jews. All
knew that they were supposed to exterminate the partisans. In these
circumstances, the death toll among civilians was bound to be terribly high,
regardless of the particulars of German tactics.

The main German actions of mid-1942 and onward, known as “Large
Operations,” were actually designed to kill Belarusian civilians as well as
Belarusian Jews. Unable to defeat the partisans as such, the Germans killed
the people who might be aiding the struggle. Units were given a daily kill
quota, which they generally met by encircling villages and shooting most or
all of the inhabitants. They shot people over ditches or, in the case of
Dirlewanger and those who followed his example, burned them in barns or
blew them up by forcing them to clear mines. In autumn 1942 and early
1943, the Germans liquidated ghettos and whole villages associated with
the partisans. In Operation Swamp Fever in September 1942, the
Dirlewanger Brigade killed the 8,350 Jews still alive in the ghetto in
Baranovichi, and then proceeded to kill 389 “bandits” and 1,274 “bandit
suspects.” These attacks were led by Friedrich Jeckeln, the Higher SS and
Police Chief for Reichskommissariat Ostland, the same man who had
organized the mass shootings of Jews at Kamianets-Podilskyi in Ukraine
and the liquidation of the Riga ghetto in Latvia. Operation Hornung of
February 1943 began with the liquidation of the Slutsk ghetto, which is to
say the shooting of some 3,300 Jews. In an area southwest of Slutsk the
Germans killed about nine thousand more people.42



 

By early 1943, the people of Belarus, especially the young men, were
caught in a deadly competition between German forces and Soviet partisans
that made nonsense of the ideologies of both sides. The Germans, lacking
personnel, had recruited local men to their police forces (and, in the second
half of 1942, to a “self-defense” militia). Many of these people had been
communists before the war. The partisans, for their part, began in 1943 to
recruit Belarusian policemen in the German service, since these men had at
least some arms and training.43

It was the battlefield failures of the Wehrmacht, rather than any local
political or ideological commitment, that determined where Belarusians
chose to fight, when they had a choice. The summer offensive of Army
Group South failed, and the entire Sixth Army was destroyed in the Battle
of Stalingrad. When news of the Wehrmacht’s defeat reached Belarus in
February 1943, as many as twelve thousand policemen and militiamen left
the German service and joined the Soviet partisans. According to one
report, eight hundred did so on 23 February alone. This meant that some
Belarusians who had killed Jews in the service of Nazis in 1941 and 1942
joined the Soviet partisans in 1943. More than this: the people who
recruited these Belarusian policemen, the political officers among the
partisans, were sometimes Jews who had escaped death at the hands of
Belarusian policemen by fleeing the ghettos. Jews trying to survive the
Holocaust recruited its perpetrators.44

Only the Jews, or the few who remained in Belarus in 1943, had a clear
reason to be on one side rather than the other. Since they were the Germans’
obvious and declared enemy in this war, and German enmity meant murder,
they had every incentive to join the Soviets, despite the dangers of partisan
life. For Belarusians (and Russians and Poles) the risks were more
balanced; but the possibility of uninvolvement kept receding. For the
Belarusians who ended up fighting and dying on one side or the other, it
was very often a matter of chance, a question of who was in the village
when the Soviet partisans or the German police appeared on their recruiting
missions, which often simply involved press-ganging the young men. Since
both sides knew that their membership was largely accidental, they would
subject new recruits to grotesque tests of loyalty, such as killing friends or
family members who had been captured fighting on the other side. As more



and more of the Belarusian population was swept into the partisans or the
various police and paramilitaries that the Germans hastily organized, such
events simply revealed the essence of the situation: Belarus was a society
divided against itself by others.45

 

In Belarus, as elsewhere, local German policy was conditioned by general
economic concerns. By 1943, the Germans were worried more about labor
shortages than about food shortages, and so their policy in Belarus shifted.
As the war against the Soviet Union continued and the Wehrmacht took
horrible losses month upon month, German men had to be taken from
German farms and factories and sent to the front. Such people then had to
be replaced if the German economy was to function. Hermann Göring
issued an extraordinary directive in October 1942: Belarusian men in
suspicious villages were not to be shot but rather kept alive and sent as
forced laborers to Germany. People who could work were to be “selected”
for labor rather than killed—even if they had taken up arms against
Germany. By now, Göring seemed to reason, their labor power was all that
they could offer to the Reich, and it was more significant than their death.
Since the Soviet partisans controlled ever more Belarusian territory, ever
less food was reaching Germany in any case. If Belarusian peasants could
not work for Germany in Belarus, best to force them to work in Germany.
This was very grim reaping. Hitler made clear in December 1942 what
Göring had implied: the women and children, regarded as less useful as
labor, were to be shot.46

This was a particularly spectacular example of the German campaign to
gather forced labor in the East, which had begun with the Poles of the
General Government, and spread to Ukraine before reaching this bloody
climax in Belarus. By the end of the war, some eight million foreigners
from the East, most of them Slavs, were working in the Reich. It was a
rather perverse result, even by the standards of Nazi racism: German men
went abroad and killed millions of “subhumans,” only to import millions of
other “subhumans” to do the work in Germany that the German men would
have been doing themselves—had they not been abroad killing
“subhumans.” The net effect, setting aside the mass killing abroad, was that
Germany became more of a Slavic land than it had ever been in history.
(The perversity would reach its extreme in the first months of 1945, when



surviving Jews were sent to labor camps in Germany itself. Having killed
5.4 million Jews as racial enemies, the Germans then brought Jewish
survivors home to do the work that the killers might have been doing
themselves, had they not been abroad killing.)



Under this new policy, German policemen and soldiers were to kill
Belarusian women and children so that their husbands and fathers and
brothers could be used as slave laborers. The anti-partisan operations of
spring and summer 1943 were thus slavery campaigns rather than warfare
of any recognizable kind. Yet because the slave hunts and associated mass
murder were sometimes resisted by the Soviet partisans, the Germans did
take losses. In May and June 1943 in Operations Marksman and Gypsy
Baron (named after an opera and an operetta), the Germans aimed to secure
railways in the Minsk region as well as workers for Germany. They
reported killing 3,152 “partisans” and deporting 15,801 laborers. Yet they
took 294 dead of their own: an absurdly low ratio of 1:10, if one assumed
(wrongly) that reported partisan dead were actual partisans rather than
(generally) civilians, but still a significant number.47

In May 1943 in Operation Cottbus, the Germans sought to clear all
partisans from an area about 140 kilometers north of Minsk. Their forces
destroyed village after village by herding populations into barns and then
burning the barns to the ground. On the following days, the local swine and
dogs, now without masters, would be seen in villages with burned human
limbs in their jaws. The official count was 6,087 dead; but the Dirlewanger
Brigade alone reported fourteen thousand killed in this operation. The
majority of the dead were women and children; about six thousand men
were sent to Germany as laborers.48

Operation Hermann, named for Hermann Göring, reached the extreme of
this economic logic in summer 1943. Between 13 July and 11 August,
German battle groups were to choose a territory, kill all of the inhabitants
except for promising male labor, take all property that could be moved, and
then burn everything left standing. After the labor selections among the
local Belarusian and Polish populations, the Belarusian and Polish women,
children, and aged were shot. This operation took place in western Belarus
—in lands that had been invaded by the Soviet Union and annexed from
Poland in 1939 before the German invasion that followed in 1941.49

Polish partisans were also to be found in these forests, fighters who
believed that these lands should be restored to Poland. Thus German anti-
partisan actions here were directed against both the Soviet partisans
(representing the power that had governed in 1939-1941) and the Polish



underground (fighting for Polish independence and territorial integrity with
the boundaries of 1918-1939). The Polish forces were part of the Polish
Home Army, reporting to the Polish government in exile in London. Poland
was one of the Allies, and so in principle Polish and Soviet forces were
fighting together against the Germans. But because both the Soviet Union
and Poland claimed these lands of western Soviet Belarus (from the Soviet
perspective) or northeastern Poland (from the Polish), matters were not so
simple in practice. Polish fighters found themselves trapped between
lawless Soviet and German forces. Polish civilians were massacred by
Soviet partisans when Polish forces did not subordinate themselves to
Moscow. In Naliboki on 8 May 1943, for example, Soviet partisans shot
127 Poles.50

Red Army officers invited Home Army officers to negotiate in summer
1943, and then murdered them on the way to the rendezvous points. The
commander of the Soviet partisan movement believed that the way to deal
with the Home Army was to denounce its men to the Germans, who would
then shoot the Poles. Meanwhile, Polish forces were also attacked by the
Germans. Polish commanders were in contact with both the Soviets and the
Germans at various points, but could make a true alliance with neither: the
Polish goal, after all, was to restore an independent Poland within its prewar
boundaries. Just how difficult that would be, as Hitler’s power gave way to
Stalin’s, was becoming clear in the Belarusian swamps.51

The Germans called the areas cleared of populations in Operation
Hermann and the succeeding operations of 1943 “dead zones.” People
found in a dead zone were “fair game.” The Wehrmacht’s 45th Security
Regiment killed civilians in Operation Easter Bunny of April 1943.
Remnants of Einsatzgruppe D, dispatched to Belarus in spring 1943,
contributed to this undertaking. They came from southern Russia and
southern Ukraine, where the remnants of Army Group South were falling
back after the defeat at Stalingrad. The task of Einstazgruppe D there had
been to cover the German retreat by killing civilians wherever resistance
had been reported. In Belarus, it was burning down villages where no
resistance whatsoever was encountered, after taking whatever livestock it
could. Einsatzgruppe D was no longer covering a withdrawal of the
Wehrmacht, as it had been further south, but preparing for one.52



The resort to dead zones implied a recognition that Soviet power would
soon return to Belarus. Army Group South (much reduced and fighting
under other names) was in retreat. Army Group North still besieged
Leningrad, pointlessly. Belarus itself was still behind the lines of Army
Group Center, but not for long.
 

At various points during the German occupation of Belarus, it did dawn on
some German military and civilian leaders that mass terror was failing, and
that the Belarusian population had to be rallied by some means other than
terror to support German rule if the Red Army was to be defeated. This was
impossible. As everywhere in the occupied Soviet Union, the Germans had
succeeded in making most people wish for a return of Soviet rule. A
German propaganda specialist sent to Belarus reported that there was
nothing that he could possibly tell the population.53

The German-backed Russian Popular Army of Liberation (RONA in a
Russian abbreviation) was the most dramatic attempt to gain local support.
It was led by Bronislav Kaminskii, a Soviet citizen of Russian nationality
and Polish and perhaps German descent, who had apparently been sent to a
Soviet special settlement in the 1930s. He presented himself as an opponent
of collectivization. The Germans permitted him an experiment in local self-
government in the town of Lokot, in northwestern Russia. There Kaminskii
was placed in charge of anti-partisan operations, and locals were indeed
allowed to keep more of the grain that they produced. As the war turned
against the Germans, Kaminskii and his entire apparatus were dispatched
from Russia to Belarus, where they were supposed to play a similar role.
Kaminskii was ordered to fight the Soviet partisans in Belarus, but he and
his group could barely protect themselves in their home base.
Understandably, the Belarusian locals regarded RONA as foreigners who
were taking land while speaking about property rights.54

In 1942 and 1943, Wilhelm Kube, the head of the General Commissariat
White Ruthenia, tried to reverse some of the basic principles of German
colonialism in the hope of rallying the population to resist the Red Army.
He tried nationality concessions, sponsoring Belarusian schools and
organizing various Belarusian advisory councils and militias. In June 1943
he went so far as to undo the collectivization of agriculture, decreeing that
Belarusian peasants could own their own land. The policy was doubly



absurd: much of the countryside was controlled by the partisans, who killed
people who opposed collective farming; and the German army and police,
in the meantime, were rejecting property rights in a comparably categorical
way, by looting and burning farmsteads, killing farm families, and sending
farmers to work as forced laborers in Germany. Since the Germans did not
respect the Belarusian peasants’ right to life, peasants found it hard to take
seriously the new commitment to private property.55

Even if Kube had somehow succeeded, his policies revealed the
impossibility of a German colonization of the East. The Slavs were meant
to be starved and displaced; Kube wanted to govern and fight with their
help. The collective farm was to be maintained to extract food; Kube
proposed to dissolve it and allow Belarusians to farm as they wished. By
undoing both Soviet and Nazi policies, Kube was revealing their basic
similarity in the countryside. Both Soviet self-colonization and German
racial colonization involved purposeful economic exploitation. But because
the Germans were more murderous, and because German murders were
fresher in the minds of the locals, Soviet power came to seem like the lesser
evil, or even like a liberation. The Soviet partisans put an end to Kube’s
experiments. He was killed by a bomb that his maid placed under his bed in
September 1943.56

In Belarus, more than anywhere else, the Nazi and Soviet systems
overlapped and interacted. Its relatively small territory was the site of
intensive warfare, partisan campaigning, and mass atrocity. It was the rear
area of a German Army Group Center that would do anything to take
Moscow, and the target of the Red Army divisions of the Belarusian Front
who were planning to return. It was fully controlled by neither the German
administration nor the partisans, each of which used terror in the absence of
reliable material or moral inducements to loyalty. It was home to one of
Europe’s densest populations of Jews, doomed to destruction, but also
unusually capable of resistance. It seems likely that more Jews resisted
Hitler in Minsk and Belarus than anywhere else—although, with rare
exceptions, they could not resist Nazi rule without aiding Soviet power.
Bielski’s and Zorin’s units were the largest Jewish partisan formations in
Europe.57



There was no gray area, no liminal zone, no marginal space; none of the
comforting clichés of the sociology of mass murder applied. It was black on
black. Germans killed Jews as partisans, and many Jews became partisans.
The Jews who became partisans were serving the Soviet regime, and were
taking part in a Soviet policy to bring down retributions upon civilians. The
partisan war in Belarus was a perversely interactive effort of Hitler and
Stalin, who each ignored the laws of war and escalated the conflict behind
the front lines. Once both Operation Barbarossa and Operation Typhoon
had failed, the German position in the rear was doomed. Initial anti-partisan
policy, like so much else in German planning, depended upon a quick and
total victory. Personnel were sufficient to kill Jews but not to fight partisans.
Lacking adequate personnel, the Germans murdered and intimidated. Terror
served as a force multiplier, but the forces multiplied were ultimately
Stalin’s.

There was a Soviet partisan movement, and the Germans did try to
suppress it. Yet German policies, in practice, were little more than mass
murder. In one Wehrmacht report, 10,431 partisans were reported shot, but
only ninety guns were reported taken. That means that almost all of those
killed were in fact civilians. As it inflicted its first fifteen thousand mortal
casualties, the Special Commando Dirlewanger lost only ninety-two men—
many of them, no doubt, to friendly fire and alcoholic accidents. A ratio
such as that was possible only when the victims were unarmed civilians.
Under the cover of anti-partisan operations, the Germans murdered
Belarusian (or Jewish, or Polish, or Russian) civilians in 5,295 different
localities in occupied Soviet Belarus. Several hundred of these villages and
towns were burned to the ground. All in all, the Germans killed about
350,000 people in their anti-partisan campaign, at the very least ninety
percent of them unarmed. The Germans killed half a million Jews in
Belarus, including thirty thousand during the anti-partisan operations. It was
unclear just how these thirty thousand people were to be counted: as Jews
killed in the Final Solution, or as Belarusian civilians killed in anti-partisan
reprisals? The Germans themselves often failed to make the distinction, for
very practical reasons. As one German commander confided to his diary,
“The bandits and Jews burned in houses and bunkers were not counted.”58

Of the nine million people who were on the territory of Soviet Belarus in
1941, some 1.6 million were killed by the Germans in actions away from



battlefields, including about 700,000 prisoners of war, 500,000 Jews, and
320,000 people counted as partisans (the vast majority of whom were
unarmed civilians). These three general campaigns constituted the three
greatest German atrocities in eastern Europe, and together they struck
Belarus with the greatest force and malice. Another several hundred
thousand inhabitants of Soviet Belarus were killed in action as soldiers of
the Red Army.59

The Soviet partisans also contributed to the total number of fatalities.
They reported killing 17,431 people as traitors on the terrain of Soviet
Belarus by 1 January 1944; this figure does not include civilians whom they
killed for other reasons, or civilians whom they killed in the following
months. In all, tens of thousands of people in Belarus were killed by the
partisans in their own retribution actions (or, in the western regions taken
from Poland, as class enemies). A few more tens of thousands of people
native to the region certainly died after arrests during the Soviet occupation
of 1939-1941 and especially during the Soviet deportations of 1940 and
1941, during the journey or in Kazakhstan.60

A rough estimate of two million total mortal losses on the territory of
present-day Belarus during the Second World War seems reasonable and
conservative. More than a million other people fled the Germans, and
another two million were deported as forced labor or removed from their
original residence for another reason. Beginning in 1944, the Soviets
deported a quarter million more people to Poland and tens of thousands
more to the Gulag. By the end of the war, half the population of Belarus had
either been killed or moved. This cannot be said of any other European
country.61

The Germans intended worse than they achieved. The starvation of
prisoners of war at Stalag 352 in Minsk and other prisoner-of-war camps
was only a fraction of the deaths foreseen by the Hunger Plan. The
clearings of peasants were on a smaller scale than the massive depopulation
of Belarus envisaged by Generalplan Ost. About a million Belarusians were
exploited as forced labor, though not always worked to death as envisaged
by Generalplan Ost. Mahileu, where the mass extermination of urban Jews
began and where the anti-partisan clinic was held, was supposed to become
a large killing facility. It did not; it seems that the crematoria ordered by the



SS for Mahileu ended up in Auschwitz. Minsk, too, was to be the site of a
killing facility, with its own crematoria. Once the work of killing was
completed, Minsk itself was to be leveled. Wilhelm Kube imagined
replacing the city with a German settlement named Asgard, after the
mythical home of the Norse gods.62

Of the Nazi utopias, only the elimination of the Jews was realized,
although again not exactly as the Germans had planned. In Belarus, as
elsewhere, the Final Solution was the one atrocity that took on a more
radical form in the realization than in the conception. Soviet Jews were
supposed to work themselves to death building a German empire or be
deported further east. This proved impossible; most Jews in the East were
killed where they lived. In Minsk, there were a few exceptions: those Jews
who escaped and survived, often at the price of partaking in the descent into
mass violence; and those Jews kept for labor, who died a bit later than the
others, and sometimes further from home. In September 1943, some of the
last Jews of Minsk were deported west to occupied Poland, to a facility
known as Sobibór.63

There they encountered a death factory of a kind unknown even in
Belarus, where, one might have thought, all earthly horrors had already
been revealed.



CHAPTER 8
THE NAZI DEATH FACTORIES

About 5.4 million Jews died under German occupation. Nearly half of them
were murdered east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, usually by bullets,
sometimes by gas. The rest perished west of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line,
usually by gas, sometimes by bullets. East of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line,
a million Jews were killed in the second half of 1941, in the first six months
of the German occupation. Another million were killed in 1942. West of the
Molotov-Ribbentrop line, Jews came under German control significantly
earlier, but were killed later. In the east, the most economically productive
Jews, the young men, were often shot right away, in the first days or weeks
of the war. Then economic arguments were turned against the women,
children, and elderly, who became “useless eaters.” West of the Molotov-
Ribbentrop line, ghettos were established pending a deportation (to Lublin,
Madagascar, or Russia) that never came. Uncertainty about the final version
of the Final Solution between 1939 and 1941 meant that Jews west of the
Molotov-Ribbentrop line were put to work. This created a certain economic
argument for their preservation.

The mass murder of Polish Jews in the General Government and in
Polish lands annexed to Germany was initiated after more than two years of
German occupation, and more than a year after Jews had been consigned to
ghettos. These Polish Jews were gassed at six major facilities, four in the
General Government and two in the lands annexed to the Reich, functioning
in one combination or another from December 1941 through November
1944: Chełmno, Bełżec, Sobibór, Treblinka, Majdanek, Auschwitz. The
core of the killing campaign west of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line was
Operation Reinhard, the gassing of 1.3 million Polish Jews at Bełżec,
Sobibór, and Treblinka in 1942. Its last chapter was Auschwitz, where about
two hundred thousand Polish Jews and more than seven hundred thousand
other European Jews were gassed, most of them in 1943 and 1944.1
 

The origins of Operation Reinhard lie in Himmler’s interpretations of
Hitler’s desires. Aware of the successful gassing experiments performed on
Soviet prisoners of war, Himmler entrusted the creation of a new gassing



facility for Jews to his client Odilo Globocnik on about 13 October 1941.
Globocnik was the SS and Police Leader of the Lublin district of the
General Government, which was a crucial testing ground for Nazi racial
utopias. Globocnik had expected that millions of Jews would be deported to
his region, where he would put them to work in slave labor colonies. After
the attack on the Soviet Union, Globocnik was charged with the
implementation of Generalplan Ost. Though this grand design for
exterminatory colonization was generally tabled after the Soviet Union
failed to collapse, Globocnik actually implemented it in part in his Lublin
district, driving a hundred thousand Poles from their homes. He wanted a
general “cleansing of the General Government of Jews, and also of Poles.”2

By late October 1941 Globocnik had chosen a site for the new gassing
facility: Bełżec, just south and east of Lublin. The changing plans for the
use of this place reveal the shift of Nazi utopias from exterminatory
colonization to extermination as such. In 1940 Globocnik had established a
slave labor site at Bełżec, where he imagined that two million Jews would
dig anti-tank ditches by hand. He harbored such fantasies because an early
version of the Final Solution had involved the deportation of European Jews
to his Lublin district. In the event, Globocnik had to settle for a labor force
at Bełżec of no more than thirty thousand Jews. He finally abandoned his
defense project in October 1940. A year later, having spoken to Himmler,
he imagined another way to exploit the site: for the extermination of the
Jews.3

Globocnik would seek, and find, a way for Germans to kill Jews west of
the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, where they lacked the personnel for mass
shooting campaigns, and where they were unwilling to arm Poles as
auxiliaries. The facility at Bełżec would require just a few German
commanders to operate. The basic labor would be provided by Jewish
slaves. The facility would be guarded and operated chiefly with non-
Germans chosen from the training camp at Trawniki, in the Lublin district.
The first Trawniki men were captured Red Army soldiers taken from the
prisoner-of-war camps. The Trawniki men were largely Soviet Ukrainians,
but included representatives of other Soviet nationalities, including
Russians and the occasional person of Jewish origin—chosen, of course, by
accident. The Germans preferred Soviet Germans, when they could be
found.4



The changing mission of the Trawniki men, like the changing use of
Bełżec, revealed the transformation of Hitler’s utopias. In Globocnik’s
initial scheme, these men were to serve as policemen, under German
command, in the conquered Soviet Union. Since the Soviet Union was not
in fact conquered, the Trawniki men could be prepared for another special
task: operating the facilities where the Jews of Poland would be gassed. The
Trawniki men knew nothing of this general design when they were
recruited, and had no political or personal stake in this policy. For them,



Poland was a foreign country, and its Jews were a foreign people. They
presumably had a strong interest in keeping their jobs; their recruitment
rescued them from a likely death by starvation. Even if they somehow had
the courage to defy the Germans anyway, they knew that they could not
safely return to the Soviet Union. In leaving the Dulags and Stalags they
had stamped themselves as German collaborators.

In December 1941 the Trawniki men, wearing black uniforms, assisted in
the construction of a ramp and a rail spur, which would allow
communication by train to Bełżec. Soviet citizens were providing the labor
for a German killing policy.5
 

Bełżec was not to be a camp. People spend the night at camps. Bełżec was
to be a death factory, where Jews would be killed upon arrival.

There was a German precedent for such a facility, where people arrived
under false pretences, were told that they needed to be showered, and then
were killed by carbon monoxide gas. Between 1939 and 1941 in Germany,
six killing facilities had been used to murder the handicapped, the mentally
ill, and others deemed “unworthy of life.” After a test run of gassing the
Polish handicapped in the Wartheland, Hitler’s chancellery organized a
secret program to kill German citizens. It was staffed by doctors, nurses,
and police chiefs; one of its main organizers was Hitler’s personal doctor.
The medical science of the mass murder was simple: carbon monoxide
(CO) binds much better than oxygen (O2) to the hemoglobin in blood, and
thereby prevents red blood cells from performing their normal function of
bringing oxygen to tissues. The victims were brought in for ostensible
medical examinations, and then led to “showers,” where they were
asphyxiated by carbon monoxide released from canisters. If the victims had
gold teeth, they were marked beforehand with a chalk cross on their backs,
so that these could be extracted after their death. Children were the first
victims, the parents receiving mendacious letters from doctors about how
they had died during treatment. Most of the victims of the “euthanasia”
program were non-Jewish Germans, although German Jews with disabilities
were simply killed without any screening whatsoever. At one killing
facility, the personnel celebrated the ten-thousandth cremation by bedecking
a corpse with flowers.6



The declared end of the “euthanasia” program coincided with
Globocnik’s mission to develop a new technique for the gassing of Polish
Jews. By August 1941, when Hitler called the program to a halt for fear of
domestic resistance, it had registered 70,273 deaths, and created a model of
deceptive killing by lethal gas. The suspension of the “euthanasia” program
left a group of policemen and doctors with certain skills but without
employment. In October 1941, Globocnik summoned a group of them to the
Lublin district to run his planned death facilities for Jews. Some 92 of the
450 or so men who would serve Globocnik in the task of gassing the Polish
Jews had prior experience in the “euthanasia” program. The most important
of them was Christian Wirth, who had overseen the “euthanasia” program.
As the head of Hitler’s chancellery put it, “a large part of my organization”
was to be used “in a solution to the Jewish question that will extend to the
ultimate possible consequences.”7

Globocnik was not the only one to exploit the experience of the
“euthanasia” crews. A gassing facility at Chełmno, in the Wartheland, also
exploited the technical experience of the “euthanasia” program. Whereas
Globocnik’s Lublin district was the experimental site for the destructive
side of Himmler’s program for “strengthening Germandom,” Arthur
Greiser’s Wartheland was the site of most actual deportation: hundreds of
thousands of Poles were shipped to the General Government, and hundreds
of thousands of Germans arrived from the Soviet Union. Greiser faced the
same problem as Hitler, on a smaller scale: after all the movement, the Jews
remained, and by late 1941 no plausible site for deportation was evident.
Greiser did manage to deport a few thousand Jews to the General
Government, but these were replaced by Jews deported from the rest of
Germany.8

The head of the Sicherheitsdienst (SD) in Greiser’s regional capital
Poznań had proposed a solution on 16 July 1941: “There is the danger this
winter that the Jews can no longer all be fed. It is to be seriously considered
whether the most humane solution might not be to finish off those Jews not
capable of working by some sort of fast-working preparation. This would
be in any event more pleasant than letting them starve.” The “fast-working
preparation” was carbon monoxide, as used in the “euthanasia” program. A
gas van was tested on Soviet prisoners of war in September 1941; thereafter
gas vans were used in occupied Belarus and Ukraine, especially to kill



children. The killing machine at Chełmno was a parked gas van, operated
under the supervision of Herbert Lange, who had gassed the handicapped in
the “euthanasia” program. As of 5 December, Germans were using the
Chełmno facility to kill Jews in the Wartheland. Some 145,301 Jews were
killed at Chełmno in 1941 or 1942. Chełmno was operative until the Jewish
population of the Wartheland was reduced, essentially, to a very functional
labor camp inside the Łódź ghetto. But the killing paused, in early April:
just as the killing in the Lublin district was beginning.9

Bełzec was to be a new model, more efficient and more durable than
Chełmno. Most likely in consultation with Wirth, Globocnik decided to
build a permanent facility where many people could be gassed at once
behind walls (as with the “euthanasia” program), but one where carbon
monoxide gas could be reliably generated from internal combustion engines
(as with the gas vans). Rather than parking a vehicle, as at Chełmno, this
meant removing the engine from a vehicle, linking it with pipes to a
purpose-built gas chamber, surrounding that gas chamber with fences, and
then connecting the death factory to population centers by rail. Such were
the simple innovations of Bełżec, but they were enough. 10

The Nazi leadership had always understood the Polish Jews to be at the
heart of the Jewish “problem.” The German occupation had divided Jews
who had been Polish citizens into three different political zones. As of
December 1941, some three hundred thousand Polish Jews were living in
the Wartheland and other Polish lands annexed to Germany. They were now
subject to gassing at Chełmno. The 1.3 million or so Polish Jews on the
eastern side of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line were subject to shooting from
June 1941, and most of their number would be killed in 1942. The largest
group of Polish Jews under German occupation were those in ghettos in the
General Government. Until June 1941, the General Government held half
of the prewar population of Polish Jews, about 1,613,000 people. (When a
Galicia district was added after the German invasion of the Soviet Union,
the number of Jews in the General Government reached about 2,143,000.
Those half-million or so Jews in Galicia, east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop
line, were subject to shooting.)11



When Himmler and Globocnik began, in March 1942, to kill the Polish
Jews of the General Government, they were undertaking an unambiguous
policy to destroy the major Jewish population of Europe. On 14 March
1942 Himmler spent the night in Lublin and spoke with Globocnik. Two
days later the Germans began the deportation of Jews from the Lublin
district to Bełżec. On the night of 16 March, about 1,600 Jews who lacked
labor documents were rounded up in Lublin, shipped away, and gassed. In
the second half of March 1942 the Germans began to clear the Lublin
district of Jews, village by village, town by town. Hermann Höfle,
Globocnik’s lieutenant for “resettlement,” led a staff that developed the
necessary techniques. Jews from smaller ghettos were ordered to larger
ones. Then Jews with dangerous associations, suspected communists, and
Polish Army veterans, were shot. In the final preparatory step, the
population was filtered and younger men and others deemed suitable for
labor were given new papers.12

West of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, the Germans arranged matters so
that they did less of the actual killing themselves. The institutions of the
ghetto, its Judenrat and Jewish police force, were turned toward its
destruction. Globocnik’s staff would begin an action in a given town or city
by contacting the local Security Police, and then assemble a force of
German policemen. If the Germans had at their disposal a Jewish police
force, as they did in communities of any size, Jewish policemen were then
required to do the bulk of the actual work of assembling their fellow Jews
for transports. In cities, the Jewish police far outnumbered the Germans
from whom they took orders. Since they had no firearms, they could only
use force against fellow Jews. Sometimes Trawniki men were also available
to help.13

The German police ordered the Jewish police to assemble the Jewish
population at a given assembly point by a certain time. At first, Jews were
often lured to the collection point with promises of food or more attractive
labor assignments “in the east.” Then, in roundups that took several days,
the Germans and the Jewish police would blockade particular blocks or
particular houses, and force their inhabitants to go to a collection point.
Germans shot small children, pregnant women, and the handicapped or
elderly on the spot. In larger towns and cities where more than one roundup
was necessary, these measures were repeated with increasing violence. The



Germans were aiming for daily quotas to fill trains, and would sometimes
pass on quotas to the Jewish police who were responsible (at the risk of
their own positions and thus lives) for filling them. The ghetto was sealed
during and also after the action, so that the German police could plunder
without hindrance from the local population.14

Once the Jews reached Bełżec, they were doomed. They arrived unarmed
to a closed and guarded facility, with little chance of understanding their
situation, let alone resisting the Germans and the armed Trawniki men.
Much like the patients at the “euthanasia” centers, they were told that they
had to enter a certain building in order to be disinfected. They were
required to remove their clothes and discard their valuables, on the
explanation that these too would be disinfected and returned. Then they
were marched, naked, into chambers that were pumped full of carbon
monoxide. Only two or three Jews who disembarked at Bełżec survived;
about 434,508 did not. Wirth commanded the facility through the summer
of 1942, and seems to have excelled in his duties. Thereafter he would serve
as general inspector of Bełżec and the two other facilities that would be
built on the same model.15

This system worked nearly to perfection in the Lublin district of the
General Government. Deportations to Bełżec from the Cracow district
began slightly later, with similar results. Jews from the Galicia district
suffered from the overlap of two German killing methods: beginning in
summer 1941 they were shot; and then from March 1942 they were gassed
at Bełżec. Galicia was to the east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, and so
Jews there were subject to shooting; but it had been added to the General
Government, so its Jews were also subject to gassing. Thomas Hecht, a
Galician Jew who survived, recounted some of the ways Jews might die in
Galicia: two aunts, an uncle, and a cousin were gassed at Bełżec; his father,
one of his brothers, an aunt, an uncle, and a cousin were shot; his other
brother died at a labor camp.16

Meanwhile, Globocnik’s staff and his Trawniki men built another death
facility on the Bełżec model in the Lublin district: at Sobibór, just northeast
of Lublin. Functional from April 1942, it killed, in exactly the same way as
Bełżec, some 180,000 Jews, with only about forty survivors. Globocnik and
his men had mastered the necessary procedures for the core of the



operation: roundups in the ghettos, carried out by Höfle’s men, German
police, and locals; order in the camps, as maintained by a crew of Trawniki
men, a few Germans, and a large Jewish workforce; and the mass murder
itself, carried out by suffocation through exposure to carbon monoxide from
an internal combustion engine.17

Having achieved mortality rates of 99.99 percent at Bełżec and Sobibór,
Himmler ordered on 17 April 1942 the construction of a third facility, this
time in the Warsaw district of the General Government. A crew with
“euthanasia” experience, accompanied by Trawniki men, was dispatched to
a site near the village of Treblinka, where construction of the death factory
began on 1 June 1942. The laborers were Jews from the region, who were
killed when the project was complete. The man who oversaw the
construction was, like the commanders of Bełżec and Sobibór, a veteran of
the “euthanasia” program. Unlike Franz Stangl (at Sobibór) and Christian
Wirth (at Bełżec), however, Irmfried Eberl was a medical doctor rather than
a police chief. He had directed two of the “euthanasia” facilities.18

Eberl seemed delighted at his latest assignment. “It’s going very well for
me,” he wrote to his wife during the construction of the death facility at
Treblinka. “There’s lots to do and that’s fun.” As the camp neared
completion, he was “pleased and proud of this accomplishment.” He was
happy that Globocnik’s Lublin model would be extended to Warsaw.19

 

Home to much of the Polish educated classes and to Europe’s largest
society of Jews, Warsaw was a metropolis that had no place in the Nazi
worldview. As of spring 1942, more than 350,000 Jews were still alive in
the Warsaw ghetto.

Warsaw was the largest city in the General Government, but not its
administrative center. Hans Frank, the general governor, preferred to rule
from Cracow, taking over the ancient Polish royal castle and presenting
himself as latter-day racial royalty. In October 1939, he had stymied
attempts to resolve the Jewish “problem” by transporting Jews into the
Lublin district of the General Government. In December 1941, Frank told
his subordinates that they “must get rid of the Jews.” He had no idea, even
then, how this could be achieved. But by spring 1942, Frank knew. Lublin
had something to offer Frank: it was no longer the district that would attract



more Jews to the General Government, but the place where Jews who
already lived in the General Government could be murdered. This was
welcome. Trawniki men arrived in Warsaw in February and April. In
summer 1942 Frank ceded control of Jewish employment, and then the
ghettos themselves, to the SS.20

The assassination of a very prominent SS commander provided the
pretext for the next escalation. After Hitler and Himmler, Reinhard
Heydrich was the most important architect of the policy to exterminate the
Jews. He was also a typical example of the Nazi tendency to entrust several
offices to one person: already the head of the Reich Security Main Office,
he was placed in charge of the Protectorate of Bohemia and Moravia, the
Czech lands annexed to Germany in 1939. On 27 May 1942, he was injured
in an assassination attempt by a Czech and a Slovak employed by British
intelligence, and died on 4 June. Hitler and Himmler were annoyed with
him for travelling without a security detail, which Heydrich believed he did
not need because of his popularity among Czechs. In the Czech lands the
Germans pursued no repressive policies comparable to those in occupied
Poland and the Soviet Union; Heydrich had made a special point of
favoring the Czech working class.21

Heydrich’s assassination meant the loss of a planner of the Final
Solution, but the gain of a martyr. Hitler and Himmler met and spoke on
June 3rd, 4th, and 5th 1942. Himmler gave the eulogy: “Ours is the holy
duty to avenge his death, to take up his labor, and to destroy the enemies of
our people without mercy or weakness.” One Czech village, Lidice, would
be totally destroyed as retribution for the assassination of Heydrich. Its men
were shot on the spot, its women sent to the German concentration camp at
Ravensbrück, and the children gassed at Chełmno.22

The Nazi policy of the complete elimination of Polish Jews in the
General Government now took the name “Operation Reinhard,” as a tribute
to Heydrich. The reference to the assassination made victims of the
Germans, and allowed the mass murder of Jews to be presented as
retribution. Within the Nazi worldview, the assassination of Heydrich in
May 1942 played a role similar to that of the American declaration of war
in December 1941: it gave rise to a feeling of righteous solidarity among
the ostensibly attacked Nazis, and it distracted attention from the true



sources of German predicaments and policies. Heydrich became a
prominent “victim” of the supposed international Jewish conspiracy that
was responsible for the war.23

Jews were killed because Hitler had defined this as an aim of the war. But
even after he made his desires known, the timing of their death was
conditioned by German perceptions of the war’s course and associated
economic priorities. Jews were more likely to die when Germans were
concerned with food shortages, and less likely to die when Germans were
concerned with labor shortages.

Hitler announced his decision to kill all the Jews not long after he had
announced his decision that Soviet prisoners of war should be used as labor
rather than killed. In early 1942 surviving Soviet prisoners of war were
integrated into the labor force in Germany proper, while Hans Frank
succeeded in organizing a colonial Polish economy in his General
Government. With labor supplies momentarily assured, food became the
primary concern, both in the Reich and in occupied Poland. Göring had to
announce cuts in food rations for Germans in the Reich in April 1942, and
the average consumption of calories in the Reich did indeed decline
considerably that year. Frank, for his part, was concerned with the
improvement of food supplies to his Polish working class.24

Thus in summer 1942 economic concerns, as understood by the
Germans, hastened rather than hindered the plan to murder all of the Polish
Jews. When food rather than labor was the primary anxiety, Jews became
“useless eaters,” and even those working for the benefit of the German
economy and the Wehrmacht were in danger. By the end of 1942, Hans
Frank again wanted labor more than he wanted food, and thus wanted
remaining Jews to be kept alive. By then, most Polish Jews were already
dead. The German economy was like a razor tightrope that Jews were
forced to walk, barefoot, blindfolded, and without a net. It was all that was
between them and death, it was bloody and treacherous, it was certain to
fail them.25



The death facility at Treblinka was completed on 11 July 1942. Eight days
later, on 19 July 1942, Himmler ordered the complete “resettlement of the
entire Jewish population of the General Government by 31 December
1942.” This meant, before all, Warsaw.26

In Warsaw on 22 July 1942, Globocnik’s “resettlement” specialist
Hermann Höfle and his group of SS ghetto clearers briefed the local
Security Police in Warsaw, and then paid a visit to Adam Czerniaków, head
of the Judenrat. Höfle told Czerniaków that he would have to present five
thousand Jews at a transfer point, or Umschlagplatz, the following day.
Czerniaków, who knew of the earlier ghetto clearings in the Lublin district,
seemed to grasp what was afoot. Rather than accept responsibility for a part
in the coordination of the murder of his people, he killed himself. With
Czerniaków dead, the Germans then turned to deception, ordering the
Jewish police to hang signs promising bread and marmalade to those who
would appear at the Umschlagplatz. The first transport of about five
thousand Jews departed Warsaw for Treblinka on 23 July. As Bluma
Bergman recalled, people who were starving would do anything for a bit of
food, “even if you know that you’re going to be killed.”27

Thus began the operation in the Warsaw ghetto that the Germans called
the “Large Action.” Höfle and his crew installed themselves in the ghetto, at
Żelazna 103. As they had done in other cities and towns in the Lublin,
Cracow, and Galicia districts of the General Government, they and the local
Security Police now turned to coercion. With the help of a few hundred
Trawniki men and about two thousand Jewish policemen, the Germans
organized roundups in the Warsaw ghetto almost every single day for the
next two months. After the very hungry were gone, the Jewish police next
took groups who seemed helpless: the orphans, the poor, the homeless,
prisoners. The old and the young had no chance whatsoever. Children under
the age of fifteen disappeared entirely from the ghetto. The Germans shot
very young children, the sick, the handicapped, and the aged on the spot.28

At first, the Jewish police were able to carry out the task with little
German supervision. After a few days of deporting the hungry and the
helpless, the Germans applied the same technique in Warsaw as elsewhere:
the surprise blockade of an apartment building or part of a street, the
verification of papers, and the deportation of all Jews not deemed necessary



for labor. The Jewish police, supervised by the German police, carried out
the first blockade on 29 July 1942. The Germans decided which areas were
to be cleared at what times; the Jewish policemen would open at dawn a
sealed envelope with instructions about which areas were to be cleared on
that day. In general the Germans carried out two actions each day, aiming to
fill a quota.29

Selections for labor kept some individuals alive, but undermined any
collective spirit of resistance. Although the Germans were far from precise
in their observation of the difference between documented laborers and
others, selection created a crucial social division between those Jews who
had papers and those who did not, and brought a general preoccupation with
personal security. People tended to believe that they and their families could
remain in the ghetto with the right jobs and the right papers. This
privatization of hope was doom for the collectivity. Available energy was
spent in the hunt for documents, rather than in the coordination of
resistance. No one tried (as yet) to wrest the monopoly of force within the
ghetto from the Germans and the Jewish police. So long as there was no
Jewish group willing to resist the Jewish police, the roundups and
deportations could continue, with German oversight but quite limited
German personnel.30

By August 1942 the Germans required that Jewish policemen each
produce five Jews a day for deportation, or else see members of their own
families deported. This had the effect of removing those who could not
defend themselves. The major orphanages were emptied on 5 August. The
famous educator Janusz Korczak led his children to the Umschlagplatz. He
held two of them by the hand and walked with his head high. Among the
6,623 people deported that day with him were the educators and caretakers
of the ghetto’s orphans: his colleague Stefania Wilczyńska and many others.
Policemen took the old and the young to Umschlagplatz on carts. Jewish
policemen took a small girl from her home when her mother was away
running an errand. Her last words before deportation to Treblinka were
recorded: “I know that you are a good man, sir. Be so kind as to not take me
away. My mama left for just a moment. She’ll be back in just a moment,
and I won’t be there, be so kind as to not take me away.”31



In the first two months of the Large Action, some 265,040 Jews were
taken to the Umschlagplatz, and another 10,380 or so killed in the ghetto
itself. Perhaps sixty thousand Jews remained. They were predominantly fit
younger males.32

Each stage of the mass murder of the Warsaw Jews was so dreadful that it
gave rise to hopes that the near future might at least be better than the
immediate past. Some Jews really did believe that labor in the east would
be better than life in the ghetto. Once assembled at Umschlagplatz, Jews
could be forgiven for believing that embarking on trains would be better
than indefinite waiting under the hot sun without food, water, and sanitary
facilities. The supervision of Umschlagplatz was assigned to the Jewish
police, who occasionally freed people they knew, or people who could
afford to bribe them. As the historian Emanuel Ringelblum recorded, the
Jewish police sometimes demanded, in addition to cash, payment “in kind,”
which is to say sex with the women whom they saved.33

In the trains, illusions faded. Although assured that their destination was
a labor camp “in the east,” some Jews must have suspected that this was
false: after all, people with labor certificates were precisely the ones who
remained in Warsaw. If work was the goal, then why were the very old and
the very young sent first? The trains were accorded the lowest priority in
the railway system, and often took days to reach a destination that was in
fact rather close to Warsaw—Treblinka was only about a hundred
kilometers to the northeast. The Jews were given no food or water, and died
in large numbers on many of the transports. Children licked each other’s
sweat. Mothers sometimes threw small children from trains, guessing that
they would be more likely to survive in the wild than wherever the train
was going. Some parents explained to their very small children, born in the
ghetto, what could be seen through windows or cracks in doors. The very
youngest had never seen fields or forests before. Nor would they again.34

Poles would yell at the trains going by. The gesture of a finger across the
throat, remembered with loathing by a few Jewish survivors, was meant to
communicate to the Jews that they were going to die—though not
necessarily that the Poles wished this upon them. Some Poles called for
money; others, perhaps more merciful, perhaps with other needs, asked for



children. Yankiel Wiernik remembered his own transport, an early one from
Warsaw: “My view took in everyone and everything, yet I could not take in
the enormity of the misfortune.” No one could.35

 

Each transport was assembled from fifty-seven to sixty train cars, or about
five to six thousand people. Upon arrival at the rail station nearest
Treblinka, the train stopped. Then, sometimes after a wait of hours or even
days, another engine pulled up, and moved nineteen or twenty of the cars—
1,700 to 2,000 people—to a rail spur inside the Treblinka death factory. The
second engine pushed rather than pulled these cars, so that the engineer was
going backward, and never himself faced or entered the facility.36

The Jews who were still alive were then forced from each car by
Trawniki men brandishing guns and cracking whips. The Jews deported to
Treblinka died, almost all of them, in these first few weeks, but not as
smoothly as at Bełżec and Sobibór, and not as the Germans intended. The
regular and massive transports of Jews had overwhelmed the small gas
chambers at Treblinka very quickly, and so the Germans and the Trawniki
men had to resort to shooting. This was not the task for which the Trawniki
men had been trained. They did it badly, but they did it. By August the rail
spur inside the Treblinka death factory was surrounded by piles of corpses.

Oskar Berger, who arrived on a transport of August 22nd, remembered
“hundreds of bodies lying around.” Yankiel Wiernik recalled his arrival on
24 August: “The camp yard was littered with corpses, some still in their
clothes and some naked, their faces distorted with fright and awe, black and
swollen, the eyes wide open, with protruding tongues, skulls crushed,
bodies mangled.” A Jew who had arrived the day before, 23 August, had
just avoided joining that pile. He was chosen for labor, which chiefly meant
the disposal of human remains. He recalled how the killing was done in
those early weeks of Treblinka: “After we left the wagon the Germans and
Ukrainians, whips in their hands, drove us into a courtyard, where they
ordered us to lie down with our faces to the ground. Then they walked
through and shot us in the back of the neck.” Adam Krzepicki, who arrived
on 25 August, recorded a similar impression: “Corpses of people of
different ages, in different positions, with different expressions on their
faces the moment they breathed their last. All around, just earth, sky, and
corpses!” The next day, 26 August, was remembered by Edward Weinstein:



“And I looked out, and I saw Hell. Bodies, as high as the windows on the
cattle car, on the ramp.” Franz Stangl, the German (Austrian) police officer
who commanded the death factory at Sobibór, was called in to investigate
the chaos of Treblinka. He was, presumably, not a man who was easily
overwhelmed by death, and unlike the arriving Jews he had some idea of
what to expect. Nevertheless he was shocked by what he found: “The smell
was indescribable; the hundreds, no, the thousands of bodies everywhere,
decomposing, putrefying.”37

Irmfried Eberl, the German (Austrian) medical doctor who commanded
Treblinka, had hoped to prove his worth. He wanted his kill rates to exceed
those of the other death facility commanders, the police chiefs at Bełżec and
Sobibór. He continued to accept transports in August 1942 even as the
number of people to be killed far exceeded the facility’s capacity to
asphyxiate them. Death then radiated outward: from the gas chambers to the
waiting area in the courtyard, and from the courtyard to the trains waiting at
the station, or on the tracks, or somewhere far away in occupied Poland.
The Jews died all the same, almost all of them; but now a few escaped from
the trains, which had very rarely happened during earlier transports to
Sobibór and Bełżec.38

Escapees from the trains made their way back to the Warsaw ghetto,
often with an idea of what they had been spared. The disorganization also
drew the attention of onlookers. Because of all the delays, trains conveying
German soldiers to the eastern front were more likely to pass or to be
caught behind one of the death trains; a few onlookers took photographs,
others vomited from the stench. Some of these soldiers were on their way to
southwestern Soviet Russia to take part in the offensive at Stalingrad. Those
German soldiers who saw the Treblinka transports knew, if they wanted to
know, just what they were fighting for.39

Eberl was removed from his post for incompetence, and in August 1942
Stangl took command at Treblinka. Stangl, who later said that he regarded
the mass gassing of Jews as his “profession” and that he “enjoyed it,”
quickly put Treblinka in order. He called a temporary halt to transports, and
had the bodies buried by Jewish laborers. When the death facility was
opened again in early September 1942, it functioned much more like the
machine that it was designed to be.40



Stangl commanded with the help of a particularly vicious assistant, Kurt
Franz, whom the Jewish laborers called “the Doll” (for his vanity and good
looks). Franz liked to watch Jews box, he liked to watch his dog attack
Jews, and he liked to watch animals in general: at one point he had the
Jewish laborers construct a zoo. The Germans were assisted by a few dozen
Trawniki men, who served as guards, and performed a few essential
functions within the facility, such as herding Jews into the gas chambers
and releasing the carbon monoxide gas. The rest of the labor was performed
by a few hundred Jews, spared from death only in order to carry out tasks
associated with mass killing and plunder, and doomed themselves to a quick
death if they showed any sign of weakness. Like Bełżec and Sobibór,
Treblinka was designed to function on Jewish labor, such that the Trawniki
men had to do little and the Germans next to nothing.41

As rumors of Treblinka spread, the Germans engaged in propaganda. The
Polish government, in exile in London, had been passing on to its British
and American allies reports of the gassings, along with other German
killings of Polish citizens. Throughout the summer it urged the British and
the Americans to take retributive actions upon German civilians, to no
effect. Officers of the Polish resistance, the Home Army, considered an
attack on Treblinka, but did not carry one out. The Germans denied the
gassings. The chief of the Jewish police in Warsaw and the official
“resettlement commissioner,” Józef Szerzyński, claimed that he had
received postcards from Treblinka. There was indeed a postal service inside
the Warsaw ghetto, which functioned even during these weeks. The post-
men wore caps with bright orange bills so that they would not be seized in
the roundups. But they brought, of course, no news from Treblinka.42

The transports from Warsaw to Treblinka began again on 3 September
1942. The last transport of the Large Action, on 22 September 1942,
included the Jewish police and their families. As the Jewish policemen
neared the station, they threw from the windows their hats and any other
markers of their former mission or social status (Jewish policemen often
came from prosperous families). This was prudent behavior, since Jewish
policemen could meet a hard reception from fellow Jews in a concentration
camp. Yet Treblinka was no camp. It was a death facility, so their actions
made no difference. The policemen were gassed like everyone else.
 



Within a few months, Stangl had changed the appearance of Treblinka, and
thereby increased its lethal functionality. Jews who arrived at Treblinka in
late 1942 disembarked not to a simple ramp surrounded by dead bodies but
inside a mock train station, painted by a Jewish laborer to resemble a real
one. It had a clock, a timetable, and ticket counters. As Jews stepped from
the “station,” they could hear the sound of music, played by an orchestra led
by the Warsaw musician Artur Gold. Those Jews who limped or hobbled or
otherwise revealed themselves to be weak at this point were taken to a
“clinic.” Jewish workers with red armbands helped them to a building
marked with a red cross. Behind this building the sick Jews were shot in the
back of the neck over a ditch, by Germans dressed as doctors. The chief
executioner was August Miete, whom the Jewish laborers called the Angel
of Death, Malakh Ha-Mavet. Those Jews who could move themselves took
a few steps forward into a kind of courtyard, where the men and the women
were separated: men to the right, women to the left, as they were told in
German and Yiddish.43

In the courtyard, the Jews were forced to strip naked, on the pretext that
they were to be disinfected before a further transport “to the east.” Jews had
to bundle their clothes neatly and tie their shoes together by the laces. They
had to surrender any valuables; women were subjected to cavity searches.
At this point a few women, in some of the transports, were selected for
rape; and a few men, in some of the transports, were selected for labor. The
women then shared the fate of the rest, whereas the men would live for a
few more days, weeks, or even months as slave laborers.44

All the women went to the gas chambers without their clothes, and
without their hair. Each woman had to sit before a Jewish “barber.”
Religiously observant women who wore wigs had to surrender them. Even
at this very last moment before death, people reacted differently,
individually. For some women, the hair-cutting was confirmation of the
“disinfection” story; for others it was the proof that they were about to be
killed. The women’s hair was to be used to make stockings for German
railway workers and to line the slippers worn by German submarine
crews.45

Both groups, first the women and then the men, naked, humiliated, and
helpless, were forced to run through a tunnel. It was a few meters wide and



about a hundred meters long; the Germans called it “the road to Heaven.”
At its end Jews might see a large Star of David in the gable over the
entrance to a dark room. A ceremonial curtain hung with a Hebrew
inscription: “This is the gateway to G-d. The righteous shall pass through.”
Probably few enough of them noticed these details, as they were forced
roughly inside by the two guards posted at the entrance, both of them
Trawniki men. One of the Trawniki men held a piece of pipe, the other a
sword, and both yelled and beat the Jews. Then one of them closed and
locked the door, and called for “Water!”—the very last element of the
deception, no longer necessary for this doomed group, now sealed in a gas
chamber, but for whoever else might be waiting. A third Trawniki man
threw a lever, and a tank engine pumped carbon monoxide into the
chamber.46

After twenty minutes or so the Trawniki men opened a rear door of the
gas chamber, and Jewish laborers removed the bodies. As a result of
feverish struggles and death agonies, the bodies were twisted together, limb
through limb, and sometimes very fragile. As the Treblinka laborer Chil
Rajchman recalled, they underwent “an atrocious metamorphosis.” Their
corpses were covered, as was the chamber itself, with blood, feces, and
urine. The Jewish laborers had to clean the chamber, so that the next group
would not disbelieve the disinfection lie and panic upon entering. Then they
had to separate the bodies and lay them face up on the earth so that a crew
of Jewish “dentists” could do their work: removing gold teeth. Sometimes
the faces were entirely black, as if burned, and the jaws clenched so tightly
that the “dentists” could barely open them. Once the gold teeth were
removed, the Jewish laborers dragged the bodies to pits to be buried. The
entire process, from disembarkation of live Jews to the disposal of their
bodies, took no more than two hours.47

In the winter of 1942-1943, the Germans began to separate the Jews not
into two but into three groups: the men, the older women, and the young
women. They sent the young women into the gas last, because they liked to
look at their naked bodies in the cold. By then the corpses were burned
rather than buried. The pyres were huge grills made from railway rails laid
upon concrete pillars, some thirty meters across. By spring 1943, fires
burned at Treblinka day and night, sometimes consuming the corpses of
decomposed bodies exhumed from the earth by Jewish laborers, sometimes



the bodies of those who had just been asphyxiated. Women, with more fatty
tissue, burned better than men; so the laborers learned to put them on the
bottom of the pile. The bellies of pregnant women would tend to burst, such
that the fetus could be seen inside. In the cold nights of spring 1943, the
Germans would stand by the flame, and drink, and warm themselves. Once
again, human beings were reduced to calories, units of warmth. The burning
was to remove any evidence of the crime, but the Jewish laborers made sure
that this was not achieved. They left whole skeletons intact, and buried
messages in bottles for others to find.48

It was very difficult for the victims to leave any other sort of trace. Chil
Rajchman had come to Treblinka with his sister. As soon as he saw the
facility, he put their suitcases down. His sister did not understand why. “It’s
no use” were his last words to her. He was chosen to be a laborer. Sorting
through clothing, he “came upon the dress that my sister was wearing. I
paused, I took the dress, I held it in my hands, contemplated it.” Then it had
to go and he had to go on. Tamara and Itta Willenberg left their bundles of
clothes next to each other. Their brother Samuel, a Jewish laborer, chanced
to find the clothes clinging together “as if in a sister’s embrace.” Because
the women had their hair cut, they had a last few moments in which they
could speak to fellow Jews, who might, just possibly, survive them and
remember their words. Ruth Dorfmann was able to accept from her barber
the consolation that her death would be quick, and to cry with him. Hanna
Levinson told her barber to escape and to tell the world what was happening
at Treblinka.49

Only with much forethought could Jews control their possessions, even
in such small ways. In general, their instinct was to keep their portable
wealth (if they had any) on their persons, in the hopes of later bartering or
bribing. Sometimes Jews, when they grasped what awaited them, threw
their money and valuables from the train, so that they would not enrich their
persecutors. Usually this was near Treblinka. Within the death factory, it
was the job of Jewish laborers to seek valuables, and of course they
pocketed some. They gave these to the Trawniki men, who had the right to
come and go, in exchange for food from nearby villages. The Trawniki men
gave the valuables to local women and to prostitutes, who apparently came
from as far away as Warsaw. Having thereby contracted venereal diseases,
the Trawniki men consulted Jewish doctors among the laborers. Thus the



special closed circle of the local economy, which one witness recalled as a
bejeweled and degraded “Europe.”50

Through such connections, Jewish laborers alive in 1943 knew
something of the outside world and the course of the war. Trawniki men
could usually read Russian, and managed to get their hands on Soviet
propaganda and the Soviet press. They were among the millions of Soviet
citizens laboring for the Germans in one capacity or another, and so heard
gossip. They knew, and so Jewish laborers learned, about the German
defeat at Stalingrad in February 1943. The laborers could see for
themselves that the transports slowed in 1943, and feared, quite rightly, that
their own reason for being was coming to an end. By then the tremendous
majority of Polish Jews were already dead. Guessing that their facility was
soon to be closed, some of the Jewish workers rebelled on 2 August 1943,
seizing weapons and setting parts of the facility on fire. A few hundred
laborers ran through a hole in the fence; a few dozen survived the war. Chil
Rajchman and the other laborers who wrote memoirs of Treblinka were
among them.51

The facility was indeed closed on 17 November 1943. Its last victims
were thirty remaining Jewish laborers who did the work of dismantling it.
At the very end, they were shot in groups of five, with the remaining Jews
cremating each group. Trawniki men cremated the final group of five. At
about the same time, the Germans undertook a mass shooting action against
other Jewish laborers, those still at work in concentration camps in the
General Government. Some forty-two thousand Jews were killed in this
operation, known as “Harvest Festival.”52

 

One of the fifty or so Treblinka survivors, Saul Kuperhand, understood that
at Treblinka “numbers ruled.” The 265,040 Warsaw Jews deported in the
Large Action were carefully counted. In some fourteen weeks, between 4
August and mid-November, at least 310,000 Jews of the Radom district of
the General Government were gassed at Treblinka. In sum, about 780,863
people were killed at Treblinka, the vast majority of them Polish Jews from
the General Government. Most of the Jews of the General Government who
were not gassed at Bełżec or Sobibór were gassed at Treblinka. In all,
Operation Reinhard claimed the lives of some 1.3 million Polish Jews.53



The purpose of Treblinka was ever clearer as the war continued: to rid a
shrinking racial empire of its Jewish population, and so to claim a thin
victory and its grisly fruits. A body can be burned for warmth, or it can feed
the microorganisms that make soil fertile. Even human ash fertilizes. After
Treblinka had been dismantled, the Germans used the bricks of the gas
chambers to make a farmhouse, and turned the killing fields into a farm. A
couple of the Trawniki men agreed to stay on as farmers. In this lay a darkly
literal rendering of the Nazi fantasy of redeeming the land by destroying the
Jew. The corpses and ashes of Jews were to fertilize the soil for crops to be
eaten by Germans. Yet no harvest ever came.54

Once Treblinka was no longer functioning, the center of the Holocaust
shifted west, to a very special facility in the annexed territories of Poland
added to the Reich, at Auschwitz. This was a camp established in 1940 in a
territory that Germany had annexed from Poland. Auschwitz was in
operation as a concentration camp almost a year before Germany invaded
the Soviet Union, and more than a year before Hitler had clarified just what
the Final Solution would mean. Unlike the death factories at Treblinka,
Sobibór, and Bełżec, which were established for the single purpose of
killing the Jews of Poland, the complex at Auschwitz evolved as German
policies toward Jews and others changed. The development of the
Auschwitz facility illustrates the transformation of a dream of eastern
colonization into a program of Jewish extermination.

The German camp established at Auschwitz in 1940 was meant to
intimidate the Polish population. After the attack on the Soviet Union in
summer 1941, Soviet prisoners of war joined Poles, and the camp was used
as an execution site for both. Himmler wished for Auschwitz to become an
example of the SS colonial economy, in which the captured lands of an
enemy nation could be given to a German firm, which would exploit slave
labor to manufacture goods needed for the German war economy. Because
Auschwitz was well supplied with water and well connected by rail,
Himmler saw it, as did the upper management of IG Farben, as an ideal site
for the production of artificial rubber. Himmler sought Jewish laborers in
Slovakia, whose leaders were happy to be rid of them. Himmler made the
case in October 1941; within a year Slovakia had deported 57,628 of its
Jewish citizens. Almost all of them would die.55



In 1942 a second major facility was added, and Auschwitz became a
death factory as well as a concentration camp and execution site. Rudolf
Höss, its commander, was a veteran of the concentration camps at Dachau
and Buchenwald, not of the killing facilities of the “euthanasia” program.
Under his command Auschwitz became a special sort of hybrid, a labor
facility with a death factory attached. Non-Jewish laborers continued to
arrive, and to work in awful conditions. Jews were now selected for labor
when they arrived at Auschwitz, with those deemed unusable (the
substantial majority) immediately gassed. In 1942, the approximately
140,146 Jews not selected for labor were gassed in chambers known as
Bunker 1 and Bunker 2 in Auschwitz. After February 1943 most of the
murdered Jews were killed in new gas chambers constructed in nearby
Birkenau, and their bodies burned in attached crematoria. In the Auschwitz-
Birkenau gas chambers, pellets of Zyklon B would sublimate on contact
with air, producing a gas that would kill at a ratio of one milligram per
kilogram of body weight. Cyanide kills at the cellular level, interfering with
the ability of the mitochondria in cells to produce the energy that sustains
life.56

Like the other five death factories, Auschwitz was located in occupied
Poland. It served, however, as the main extermination site for Jewish
populations from beyond Poland. Though some Jews from beyond Poland
were killed in the five other death factories, the vast majority of their
victims were Polish Jews. Auschwitz was the only death factory of the six
where Polish Jews were not the majority of the victims. It became a killing
facility at about the same time that German exterminatory policies moved
beyond occupied Poland and the occupied Soviet Union, to embrace other
populations of European Jews. Within the Reich Security Main Office,
Adolf Eichmann and the men in his Jewish section organized deportations
from France, Belgium, and the Netherlands in 1942. In 1943 Eichmann
organized the transport of Jews from Greece and from occupied Italy.
Fascist Italy had not sent its Jews to Hitler so long as Mussolini was in
power and Germany and Italy were allies. But after the Americans, British,
Canadians, and Poles landed in southern Italy and the Italians capitulated,
the Germans occupied the northern part of the country, and deported Jews
themselves. In 1943, some 220,000 Jews were gassed at Auschwitz.57



In 1944, shooting Soviet Jews was no longer possible because the
Germans had been driven from the Soviet Union, and the Reinhard facilities
were closed due to the approach of the Red Army; that year, Auschwitz
became the site of the Final Solution. Almost all of the six hundred
thousand or so Jews killed by the Germans in 1944 died at Auschwitz. Most
of them were Hungarian Jews. Hungary, like Italy, had not sent its Jews to
the death facilities so long as it was a sovereign country and a German ally.
(As a rule, Jews fared less badly in countries allied with Germany than in
countries occupied by Germany.) After the Hungarian leadership attempted
to switch sides in the war in March 1944, the Germans installed their own
government. A new Hungarian fascist regime began in May to deport its
Jews. About 437,000 Hungarian Jews arrived at Auschwitz in eight weeks.
About 110,000 of them were selected for labor, many of whom survived; at
the very least, 327,000 of them were gassed. Over the course of the war,
about 300,000 Polish Jews were shipped to Auschwitz, of whom some
200,000 were killed. Taken together, Hungarian and Polish Jews account for
the majority of the Jewish victims of Auschwitz.58

Auschwitz was the climax of the Holocaust, reached at a moment when
most Soviet and Polish Jews under German rule were already dead. Of the
million or so Soviet Jews killed in the Holocaust, fewer than one percent
died at Auschwitz. Of the three million or so Polish Jews killed in the
Holocaust, only about seven percent perished at Auschwitz. Nearly 1.3
million Polish Jews were killed, usually shot, east of the Molotov-
Ribbentrop line. Another 1.3 million or so Polish Jews were gassed in
Operation Reinhard in the General Government (more than 700,000 at
Treblinka, roughly 400,000 at Bełżec, 150,000 at Sobibór, and 50,000 at
Majdanek). Another 350,000 more were gassed in the lands annexed to the
Reich (besides the 200,000 at Auschwitz, about 150,000 at Chełmno). Most
of the remaining Polish-Jewish victims were shot during the ghetto
clearings (about 100,000) or in Operation Harvest Festival (42,000), or
during the many smaller actions and in individual executions. Many more
died of hunger or disease in the ghettos or as laborers in concentration
camps.59

A considerable number of the mortal victims of Auschwitz, more than
200,000, were not Jews. Some 74,000 non-Jewish Poles and some 15,000
Soviet prisoners of war also died at Auschwitz: either executed or worked



to death. With the exception of the Soviet prisoners of war who were
experimentally gassed, these people were not sent to the gas chambers. But
Roma and Sinti were.

Though never pursued with the same energy as the Jews, the Roma and
Sinti (“gypsies”) were subjected to a killing policy wherever German power
extended. They were shot by Einsatzgruppen in the occupied Soviet Union
(about 8,000 documented cases); included in the killing orders for reprisal
actions in Belarus; shot by police in occupied Poland; shot in reprisal
actions along with Jews in Serbia; killed in a concentration camp of
Germany’s puppet ally Croatia (about 15,000); ethnically cleansed from
territories conquered by Germany’s ally Romania; and gassed at Chełmno
in January 1942 (about 4,400) and then at Auschwitz in May 1943 (about
1,700) and August 1944 (about 2,900, after many more had died of hunger,
disease, or mistreatment). At least a hundred thousand Roma and Sinti, and
more likely two or three times that number, were killed by the Germans.60

Although no one survived the gas chambers of Auschwitz, more than a
hundred thousand people survived the concentration camp known by the
same name. That name would be remembered after the war, a dark shadow
behind an iron curtain, a hint of the greater darkness to the east. Fewer than
one hundred Jewish laborers saw the inside of a Reinhard death factory and
survived. Yet even Treblinka left a few traces in the air.

Prisoners sang at Treblinka, at German orders, but also for themselves.
“El male rachamim” was chanted for the Jews killed each day. SS men
would stand outside and listen. Trawniki men brought with them from the
east, as one of the Jewish laborers recognized, a “strange gift” for
“wonderful song.” It was less elevated music, popular Polish songs, that
reminded Treblinka laborers of life outside the camp, and helped give them
the courage to prepare their escape. Those songs recalled love and
foolishness, and so life and freedom. A few weddings were celebrated at
Treblinka, between laborers and the women who handled domestic chores
for the Germans.61

The Jewish barbers, who cut the hair of thousands of women,
remembered the beautiful ones.



CHAPTER 9
RESISTANCE AND INCINERATION

The night of 21 June 1944 belonged to the Soviet partisans of Belarus.
Three years earlier the Wehrmacht had quickly overrun Belarus on its way
to Moscow—which it never quite reached. The Soviets were now
advancing toward the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, and onward toward
Warsaw and Berlin. Army Group Center of the Wehrmacht was back in
Belarus, but in retreat. Red Army commanders had planned a massive
summer offensive, beginning on the third anniversary of Operation
Barbarossa, timed to remind the Germans of their own disastrous ambitions.
The Soviet partisans had laid thousands of explosive charges on rail lines in
Belarus. When Soviet soldiers attacked, German troops could not be
reinforced, nor could they quickly retreat. So the day of 22 June 1944
belonged to the soldiers of the First, Second, and Third Belarusian Fronts of
the Red Army. They and two other army groups assembled well over a
million troops, more than twice as many as the Wehrmacht’s Army Group
Center could muster. The offensive, Operation Bagration, delivered one of
the most important Soviet victories in the war.1

Two weeks earlier, the Americans had joined the battle for Europe.
Having gained mastery over the Japanese fleet in the Pacific, the United
States opened a major European front in the war on 6 June 1944. The US
Army landed (along with the British and other western Allies) 160,000 men
on the beaches of Normandy. Yet American power was also on display in
the depths of Belarus, where motorized Soviet units, equipped with
American trucks and jeeps, encircled hapless German forces. German
encirclement tactics had been mastered, accelerated, and turned against the
Germans themselves. The Soviet breakthrough in Belarus was more
dramatic than the American advance through France. German soldiers were
outnumbered and its officers outsmarted. German commanders had
expected the Soviet offensive to pass through Ukraine rather than Belarus.
The Germans lost some four hundred thousand missing, wounded, or killed.
Army Group Center was smashed. The way to Poland was open.2

Quickly the Red Army crossed the Molotov-Ribbentrop line and entered
the region that had been the Lublin district of the General Government.



Vasily Grossman, a Soviet writer following the Red Army as a journalist,
contemplated what the Germans had left behind. The Red Army discovered
the camp at Majdanek on 24 July 1944. In early August, Grossman found a
still greater horror, one that might have defied a poorer imagination.
Coming upon Treblinka, he realized quickly just what had happened: the
Jews of Poland had been murdered in gas chambers, their bodies burned,
their ashes and bones buried in fields. He walked upon “earth that is as
unsteady as the sea,” and found the remnants: photographs of children in
Warsaw and Vienna; a bit of Ukrainian embroidery; a sack of hair, blonde
and black.3

By this time, Polish lands had been under German occupation for nearly
four years. For the Jews of Warsaw, or almost all of them, Operation
Bagration was the liberation that never came. The remains of more than a
quarter-million Warsaw Jews were among the ashes and bones that
Grossman found at Treblinka.

In 1939, the occupiers of Poland had been two, German and Soviet. For
the non-Jewish Poles in Warsaw who were conspiring to resist German rule,
Operation Bagration portended the arrival of a very questionable ally. It
meant the second incursion of the Red Army into Polish territory during the
Second World War.

This was the difference between Polish and Polish-Jewish experiences of
the war. Non-Jewish Poles suffered horribly from both German and Soviet
occupations, but comparably from each. Non-Jewish Poles who wished to
resist could sometimes make choices: about which occupier to resist, and in
what circumstances.

Surviving Polish Jews had every reason to prefer the Soviets to the
Germans, and to see the Red Army as liberators. Many of those sixty
thousand or so Jews who were still alive in the Warsaw ghetto after the
Large Action of summer 1942 did choose to resist. But they could not
choose the time and the place of their resistance. All they could do was
fight.



Warsaw was the center of urban resistance to Nazi rule in occupied Europe.
In the two years between September 1942, by which time Treblinka had
taken the lives of most of the Jews of Warsaw, and September 1944, when
its workings were described by Grossman in his article “Treblinka Hell,”



both Poles and Jews led uprisings against the German occupation,
separately but also together, in uprisings of April 1943 and August 1944.

The consequences of Jewish and Polish resistance in Warsaw were much
the same: destruction. By the time the Red Army (and Grossman) arrived in
the city in January 1945, it was rubble and ash. Half of the population was
dead, and the survivors were gone. Grossman reached for a literary
reference that his readers would have known: the last remaining people,
Jews and Poles he found living together in the remains of one building,
were Warsaw “Robinsons”: like Robinson Crusoe, the hero of the novel by
Daniel Defoe, left on an island by himself for years, lost to civilization. The
Polish poet Czesław Miłosz, who lived during the war in Warsaw, spent
some of his time writing literary criticism of the same novel. For him,
Robinson Crusoe was the “legend of the island,” the idea that moral flaws
come from experience, that if we were left alone we might be good. In this
essay, and in his poetry about Poles and Jews in Warsaw, he suggested the
contrary, that the only hope for ethics was that each remember the solitude
of the other.4

In Warsaw during the Second World War, Poles and Jews were alone in
some of the same ways, beyond help from the outside world, even from
those whom they regarded as friends and allies. They were also alone in
different ways, confronting different fates in the same war. They shared a
city that had been the center of both Polish and Jewish civilizations. That
city is now gone; what remains of it is legend, or rather two legends, one
Polish, one Jewish, between solidarity and solitude, each aware of the other
but alone in the postwar world.

Polish and Jewish conspiracies against German rule, distinct but connected,
had begun much earlier, with the German invasion of Poland in September
1939.

On 7 September 1939, in the basement of a bank, eight men and women,
most of them Free Masons, began the conspiracy that would become the
Polish underground army. Known at first as the Servants of the Victory of
Poland, it was led by a general with orders to organize a national
underground. By 1940, when the Polish government had established itself
in exile in France, the armed underground at home was given the name



Union of Armed Struggle. In 1940 and 1941, its main task was to unify the
hundreds of smaller resistance groups that had formed in Poland, and to
collect intelligence for the Polish government and its allies. The Union of
Armed Struggle was active in the German zone of occupation; attempts to
create a network under Soviet occupation were thwarted by the NKVD.
After the Germans invaded the Soviet Union in June 1941, the Polish
resistance was able to operate in all of the territories of occupied Poland.5

In early 1942 the Union of Armed Struggle was transformed into a Home
Army. The Home Army was meant to be the counterpart of the Polish Army
fighting abroad with allies on the western front. Like the Polish
government, by now in exile in London, the Home Army was to represent
all political and social forces in the country. It was to fight for the
restoration of Poland within its prewar boundaries, as a democratic republic
with equal rights for all citizens. Most Poles who chose resistance did find
their way to the Home Army, although the extreme communist left and the
extreme nationalist right founded their own partisan forces. The
communists organized a People’s Guard, later known as the People’s Army,
which was closely connected to the Soviet Union and the NKVD. The
nationalists, who regarded the communists and the Soviets as a greater
enemy than the Germans, fought within the ranks of the National Armed
Forces.6

Jewish resistance in Warsaw followed a different path, even though this
was not clear at first. In the early months of the German occupation of
Poland, in 1939, Jewish resistance as such seemed to make little sense. It
was not evident, at first, that the fate of Polish Jews was to be much
different from that of non-Jews. Many of the Warsaw Jews who felt most
threatened by the German invasion fled to the Soviet occupation zone of
Poland, whence many of them were deported to Kazakhstan. The
establishment of the ghettos in 1940 did not necessarily convey to Polish
Jews that their fate was worse than that of non-Jewish Poles, who were at
the time being shot and sent to concentration camps in large numbers. In
1940 Poles from beyond the ghetto were sent to Auschwitz, whereas Jews
were generally not. But the ghettos did mean that any Jewish resistance
would have to be a response to particularly Jewish predicaments. When the
Germans forcibly separated Jews from non-Jewish Poles in Warsaw in



October 1940, they were creating a new social reality, creating categories
that would define different fates.7

The ghetto did not, however, bring agreement to Jews about how and
whether to take action against the Germans. Polish Jews in the Warsaw
ghetto had prior political commitments, arising from the vibrant intra-
Jewish political life of interwar Poland. Jews had taken part in local and
national elections in Poland, as well as in their own communal elections.
Parties were legion and party loyalties ran deep. At the far right of the
spectrum were the Revisionist Zionists, who had been preparing themselves
before the war for armed resistance against the British in Palestine. They
were among the first to believe that armed struggle against the Germans
was necessary and possible in the conditions of the ghetto. Revisionists and
members of their youth organization Betar learned from party comrades as
early as summer 1941 of the killings of Jews in Vilnius. They also heard,
more or less as it happened, about the liquidation of the ghetto in Lublin in
spring 1942. They had some sense of the spread of the Final Solution, from
east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line to west of the Molotov-Ribbentrop
line, from bullets to gas.8

It took the Large Action in Warsaw of July-September 1942 to prompt
the Revisionists to form a Jewish Military Union. Its military commander
was Paweł Frenkel; the members of its political committee were Michał
Strykowski, Leon Rodal, and Dawid Wdowiński. It was anchored in prewar
traditions of cooperation with the Polish state, which might explain why it
was well armed. In the late 1930s, the Polish regime had hoped to export
much of its Jewish population to the Near East. Polish leaders thus
developed close relationships with the Revisionist Zionists, who hoped to
lead much of the Polish-Jewish population to Palestine. The Revisionists
were willing to use violence to create a Jewish state, an approach with
which Polish authorities sympathized. Before the war, the Revisionist
Zionist youths of Betar had been preparing themselves in prewar Poland to
fight for Palestine. Like the young men of Irgun, the resistance organization
in Palestine that some of them joined, they were sometimes trained by the
Polish Army. Inside the ghetto in 1942, the Revisionists also collected
money, and robbed rich Jews, to purchase arms from outside the ghetto.9
 



Whereas the history of the Jewish Military Union is one of a militarist right-
wing political party adapting itself to conditions even harsher than those it
had ever anticipated, the history of the other resistance group in the Warsaw
ghetto, the Jewish Combat Organization, is one of multiple centrist and left-
wing political parties deciding that only military action could serve Jews.

Like the right-wing Jewish Military Union, the Jewish Combat
Organization arose as a result of the Large Action. The very old and the
very young were almost all deported and dead. It seems likely that the
deportations, although they touched all groups, eliminated what had been
the conservative center of Jewish politics: the religiously Orthodox and
politically accommodationist Agudas Israel. Its platform before the war had
been cooperation with the Polish government in exchange for communal
and religious autonomy. This compromising approach had been tested by
anti-Semitic violence and anti-Semitic legislation in Poland in the late
1930s, but it had remained popular among the older generations of Warsaw
Jewish believers—who by now were almost all dead at Treblinka. Nothing
in Poland had prepared Agudas for the Nazis, who repaid compromises
with murder.10

After September 1942, the Warsaw ghetto was essentially a Jewish labor
camp inhabited predominantly by young men. Fathers who might earlier
have feared to endanger their families no longer had that reason for
restraint. Left-wing politics came to the fore. The Jewish Left in prewar
Poland had been divided over a number of fundamental issues: whether to
leave for Palestine or stay in Poland, whether to trust or distrust the Soviet
Union, whether to agitate in Yiddish or Polish or Hebrew, and so on. The
most radical form of left-wing politics, communism, reappeared among
Warsaw Jews at this time. Stalin, who had dissolved the Communist Party
of Poland in 1938, permitted its reconstitution as the Polish Workers’ Party
in January 1942. Some of its Polish-Jewish activists then smuggled
themselves into the Warsaw ghetto, where they urged armed resistance. The
largest Jewish socialist party, the Bund, was much less inclined to use
violence. In general, these organizations continued their work as distinct
entities. In the three months after the Large Action, general accord about the
need for armed resistance was reached. The Jewish Combat Organization
was established in December 1942. As a group of politicians with little or



no military background and no weapons to speak of, its first need was arms.
Its first action was to ask for them, from the Home Army.11

Beyond the ghetto, the Large Action forced the Home Army to undertake
a Jewish policy. The Polish resistance had already taken some clear stands
in 1941, condemning for instance guard duty at concentration camps as
“national treason.” But the Home Army, before summer 1942, tended to
treat the plight of Poland and that of Poles as one and the same. Prompted
by the mass shootings of Polish Jews in the east, the Home Army created a
Jewish section in February 1942. It collected evidence of the killings that
was transmitted to the Allies and the BBC in April 1942. The deportations
of summer 1942 prompted Catholic Poles to organize a rescue organization,
which by December was sponsored by the Polish government under the
cryptonym Żegota. (Poles were subject to the death penalty for assisting
Jews.) Some Home Army officers took part. Home Army intelligence
officers supplied identification documents for Jews in hiding beyond ghetto
walls. When the Jewish Combat Organization requested weapons in
December 1942, the Home Army offered to help Jews escape from the
ghetto, perhaps to fight later on. This offer was declined by the Jewish
Combat Organization. Its leaders wanted to fight, and so denied themselves
an exit strategy.12

Warsaw Home Army commanders had strategic concerns that militated
against giving the Jews any weapons at all. Although the Home Army was
moving in the direction of partisan action, it feared that a rebellion in the
ghetto would provoke a general uprising in the city, which the Germans
would crush. The Home Army was not ready for such a fight in late 1942.
Home Army commanders saw a premature uprising as a communist
temptation to be avoided. They knew that the Soviets, and thus the Polish
communists, were urging the local population to take up arms immediately
against the Germans. The Soviets wanted to provoke partisan warfare in
Poland in order to weaken the Germans—but also to hinder any future
Polish resistance to their own rule when it came. The Red Army’s task
would be easier if German troops were killed by partisan warfare, as would
the NKVD’s if Polish elites were killed for resisting Germans. The Jewish
Combat Organization included the communists, who were following the
Soviet line, and believed that Poland should be subordinated to the Soviet
Union. As the Home Army command could not forget, the Second World



War had begun when both the Germans and the Soviets had invaded
Poland. Half of Poland had spent half of the war inside the Soviet Union.
The Soviets wanted eastern Poland back, and perhaps even more. From the
perspective of the Home Army, rule by the Soviets was little better than rule
by the Nazis. Its goal was independence. There were hardly any
circumstances that would seem to justify a Polish independence
organization arming communists inside Poland.13

Despite these reservations, the Home Army did give the Jewish Combat
Organization a few pistols in December 1942. The Jewish Combat
Organization used these to win authority and power in the ghetto. To resist
the Judenrat and a Jewish police force armed only with clubs, pistols and
audacity were enough. By killing (or trying to kill) Jewish policemen and
Gestapo informers in late 1942 and early 1943, the Jewish Combat
Organization created the sense that a new moral order was arising in the
ghetto. Józef Szerzyński, the Jewish police chief, was shot in the neck,
although he failed to die. The Jewish Combat Organization did assassinate
Jakub Lejkin, who led the police during the major deportation action, and
later Mieczysław Brzeziński, who had driven his fellow Jews onto the trains
at Umschlagplatz. The Jewish Combat Organization printed leaflets,
explaining that collaboration with the enemy was a crime punishable by
death. The Jewish Combat Organization thus supplanted the Judenrat,
whose head was forced to admit that he no longer had “authority in the
ghetto, here there is another authority.” Without an effective Jewish
administrative and coercive apparatus, the Germans could no longer do as
they pleased in the ghetto.14

 

German decisions about the fate of the ghetto and its remaining inhabitants
were influenced by considerations that Jews could not possibly have
understood. For the Germans, the Warsaw ghetto had first been a transit
point for envisioned deportations to the Lublin district, Madagascar, or the
Soviet Union; then a temporary labor camp; and then a transit point for
deportations to Treblinka. In late 1942 and early 1943 it was again a labor
camp, provisional and reduced in size, whose workers were those who had
been selected for labor during the Large Action. Though Himmler never
wavered in his determination to kill the Jews under German rule, other
authorities wished, at this point at least, to keep some Jewish laborers alive.



Hans Frank was worried about labor shortages in his General Government.
Many Poles were working in Germany, so Jewish labor had become more
important in occupied Poland. The Jews were working for the German war
economy, so the Wehrmacht, too, had an interest in their remaining alive.15

Himmler was capable of making compromises. In early 1943 he meant to
allow most of the surviving Jews of the Warsaw ghetto to live a bit longer,
but also to eliminate the ghetto itself, which he saw as a center of political
resistance, disorder, and disease. Himmler intended to kill the Jews who
were living illegally in the ghetto without labor documents. Then he wanted
to deport the remaining Jews as laborers to other concentration camps,
where they would continue to work. Visiting Warsaw, Himmler ordered on
9 January 1943 that the ghetto be dissolved. The eight thousand or so Jews
who were there illegally were to be shipped to Treblinka and gassed, and
the rest, about fifty thousand, were to be sent to concentration camps. But
when the Germans entered the ghetto nine days later to carry out Himmler’s
orders, Jews hid or resisted. A few Jews fired on the first Germans to enter
the ghetto, surprising them and leading to panic. The Germans killed some
1,170 Jews on the streets and deported perhaps five thousand. After four
days the Germans had to withdraw and reconsider. Home Army
commanders in Warsaw were impressed. The arms that they had given the
Jewish Combat Organization had been put to good use.16

This was not the first instance of Jews resisting Germans in Poland.
There were a large number of people of Jewish origin within the Home
Army itself. Although this was a fact known to Home Army commanders, it
was almost never discussed. Many of the people of Jewish origin in the
Home Army regarded themselves as Poles rather than as Jews. Others kept
their Jewish identities secret, on the grounds that it was best in wartime
Warsaw not to spread the news of one’s Jewishness. Although anti-Semites
in the Home Army were a minority, just one betrayal could mean death.
What was new in January 1943 was that Jews had used arms against the
Germans as Jews, in an open act of Jewish resistance. This worked
powerfully against the anti-Semitic stereotype, present in the Home Army
and in Polish society, that Jews would not fight. Now the Warsaw command
of the Home Army gave the Jewish Combat Organization a substantial
proportion of its own modest arms cache: guns, ammunition, explosives.17



In Berlin, Himmler was furious. On 16 February 1943 he decided that the
ghetto must be destroyed not only as a society but as a physical place. That
neighborhood of Warsaw was of no value to the racial masters, since houses
that had been (as Himmler put it) “used by subhumans” could never be
suitable for Germans. The Germans planned an assault on the ghetto for 19
April. Again, its immediate purpose was not to kill all the Jews but, rather,
to redirect their labor power to concentration camps, and then to destroy the
ghetto. Himmler had no doubt that this would work. He was thinking ahead
to the uses of the site: in the long term it would become a park, in the
meantime a concentration camp until the war was won. Jewish laborers
from Warsaw would be worked to death at other sites.18

Right before the planned assault on the Warsaw ghetto, German
propaganda chief Joseph Goebbels made his own special contribution. In
April 1943, the Germans had discovered Katyn, one of the sites where the
NKVD had murdered Polish prisoners of war in 1940. “Katyn,” declared
Goebbels, “is my victory.” He chose 18 April 1943 to announce the
discovery of the corpses of Polish officers. Katyn could be used to create
problems between Soviets and Poles, and between Poles and Jews.
Goebbels expected, and quite rightly, that the evidence that the Soviet secret
police had shot thousands of Polish officers would make cooperation
between the Soviet Union and the Polish government-in-exile more
problematic. The two were uneasy allies at best, and the Polish government
had never gotten a satisfactory reply from the Soviets about those missing
officers. Goebbels also wished to use Katyn to display the anti-Polish
policies of the supposedly Jewish leadership of the Soviet Union, and thus
to alienate Poles from Jews. So went the propaganda on the eve of the
German attack on the Warsaw ghetto.19

The Jewish Combat Organization had made its plans as well. The
Germans’ abortive January 1943 ghetto clearing had confirmed Jewish
leaders’ expectation that a final reckoning was coming. The sight of dead
Germans on the streets had broken the barrier of fear, and the second
transfer of arms from the Home Army had also increased confidence. The
Jews in the ghetto assumed that any further deportation would be straight to
the gas chambers. This was not quite true; if they had not fought they would
have been sent, most of them, to concentration camps as laborers. But only
for the next few months. The surviving Warsaw Jews were fundamentally



correct in their judgments. The “last stage of resettlement,” as one of their
number had written, “is death.” Few of them would die in Treblinka, but
almost all of them would die before the end of 1943. They were right to
think that resistance could scarcely reduce their chances of survival. If the
Germans won the war, they would kill remaining Jews within their empire.
If they continued to lose the war, the Germans would kill Jewish laborers as
a security risk as the Soviets advanced. A distant but approaching Red
Army meant a moment more of life, as the Germans extracted labor. But a
Red Army at the doorstep would mean the gas chamber or a gunshot.20

It was Jewish certainty of common death that enabled cooperative Jewish
resistance. So long as German policy had allowed Jews to believe that some
would survive, individuals could hope that they would be the exceptions,
and social divisions were inevitable. Now that German policy had
convinced all remaining Jews in the Warsaw ghetto that they would die,
Jewish society in the ghetto evinced an impressive unity. Between January
and April 1943, Jews built themselves countless bunkers in cellars,
sometimes linked by secret passages. The Jewish Combat Organization
established its command structure. The overall commander was Mordechai
Anielewicz; the three leaders in three defined sectors of the ghetto were
Marek Edelman, Izrael Kanał, and Icchak Cukierman (who was replaced at
the last moment by Eliezer Geller). It bought more arms and trained its
members in their use. Some Jews, working in German armaments factories,
managed to steal materials for improvised explosives. The Jewish Combat
Organization learned of German plans to attack the ghetto a day in advance,
and so when the Germans came, all were ready.21



Some members of the Home Army, in surprise and in admiration, called it
the “Jewish-German War.”22

When the SS, Order Police, and Trawniki men entered the ghetto on 19
April 1943, they were repulsed by sniper fire and Molotov cocktails. They
actually had to retreat from the ghetto. German commanders reported
twelve men lost in battle. Mordechai Anielewicz wrote a letter to his Jewish
Combat Organization comrade Icchak Cukierman, who at the time was
beyond the ghetto walls: the Jewish counterattack “had surpassed our
wildest dreams: the Germans ran away from the ghetto twice.” The Home
Army press wrote of “immeasurably strong and determined armed
resistance.”23



The right-wing Jewish Military Union seized the heights of the tallest
building in the ghetto and raised two flags: the Polish and the Zionist, white
eagle and yellow star. Its units would fight with great determination near
their headquarters, at Muranowska Square. On 20 April, the SS and Police
Leader for Warsaw district, Ferdinand von Sammern-Frankenegg, was
relieved of duty. His replacement, Jürgen Stroop, took a telephone call from
an enraged Himmler: “You must take down those flags at any cost!” The
Germans did take them down, on 20 April (Hitler’s birthday), although they
took losses of their own in doing so. On that day the Germans managed to
enter the ghetto and remain, although their prospects for clearing its
population seemed dim. Most Jews were in hiding, and many were armed.
The Germans would have to develop new tactics.24

From the first day of the Warsaw Ghetto Uprising, Jews were killed in
battle. Jews who were unable to work, when discovered by the Germans,
were also killed. The Germans knew that they had no use for the people
whom they found at the hospital on Gęsia Street, the last Jewish hospital in
Warsaw. Marek Edelman found there dozens of corpses in hospital gowns.
In the gynecology and obstetrics sections, the Germans murdered pregnant
women, women who had just given birth, and their babies. At the corner of
Gęsia and Zamenhof Streets, someone had placed a live infant at the naked
breast of a dead woman. Although Jewish resistance looked like a war from
the outside, the Germans were not following any of the laws and customs of
war inside the ghetto walls. The simple existence of Jewish subhumans was
essentially criminal to the SS, and their resistance was an infuriating act that
justified any response.25

Stroop decided that the only way to clear the bunkers and houses was to
burn them. Since Himmler had already ordered the physical destruction of
the ghetto, burning down its residences was no loss. Indeed, since Himmler
had not known just how the demolition was to be accomplished, the fires
solved two Nazi problems at once. On 23 April 1943, Stroop’s men began
to burn down the buildings of the ghetto, block by block. The Wehrmacht
played little role in the combat, but its engineers and flamethrowers were
used in the destruction of the residences and bunkers. Edelman recalled
“enormous firestorms that closed whole streets.” Suffocating Jews had no
choice but to flee their bunkers. As one survivor remembered: “we wanted
to get killed by shooting rather than by burning.” Jews trapped on the upper



floors of buildings had to jump. The Germans took many prisoners with
broken legs. These people were interrogated and then shot. The only way
that Jews could escape the arson was to flee from one bunker to another
during the day, or from one house to another during the night. For several
days the SS would not feel safe moving through the streets of the ghetto in
darkness, so Jewish fighters and civilians could use the dark hours to move
and regroup. But so long as they could not stop the burning, their days were
numbered.26

The Germans had attacked the ghetto on 19 April 1943, the eve of
Passover. Easter fell on the following Sunday, the 25th. The Polish poet
Czesław Miłosz recorded the Christian holiday from the other side of the
ghetto walls, recalling in his poem “Campo di Fiori” that people rode the
carousel at Krasiński Square, just beyond the ghetto wall, as the Jews
fought and died. “I thought then,” wrote Miłosz, “of the loneliness of the
dying.” The merry-go-round ran every day, throughout the uprising. It
became the symbol of Jewish isolation: Jews died in their own city, as Poles
beyond the walls of the ghetto lived and laughed. Many Poles did not care
what happened to the Jews in the ghetto. Yet others were concerned, and
some tried to help, and a few died trying.27

 

A full year before the Warsaw Ghetto Uprising began, the Home Army had
alerted the British and the Americans to the gassing of Polish Jews. The
Home Army had passed on reports of the death facility at Chełmno, and
Polish authorities had seen to it that they reached the British press. The
western Allies took no action of any consequence. In 1942 the Home Army
had informed London and Washington of the deportations from the Warsaw
ghetto and the mass murder of Warsaw Jews at Treblinka. To be sure, these
events were always presented by the Polish government as an element in
the larger tragedy of the citizens of Poland. The key information, however,
was communicated. Poles and Jews alike had believed, wrongly, that
publicizing the deportations would bring them to a halt. The Polish
government had also urged the Allies to respond to the mass killing of
Polish citizens (including Jews) by killing German civilians. Again, Britain
and the United States did not act. The Polish president and the Polish
ambassador to the Vatican urged the pope to speak out about the mass
murder of Jews, to no effect.28



Among the western Allies, only Polish authorities took direct action to
halt the killing of Jews. By spring 1943 Żegota was assisting about four
thousand Jews in hiding. The Home Army announced that it would shoot
Poles who blackmailed Jews. On 4 May, as the Jews of the Warsaw ghetto
fought on, Prime Minister Władysław Sikorski issued an appeal: “I call on
my countrymen to give all help and shelter to those being murdered, and at
the same time, before all humanity, which has for too long been silent, I
condemn these crimes.” As Jews and Poles alike understood, the Warsaw
command of the Home Army could not have saved the ghetto, even if it had
devoted all of its troops and weapons to that purpose. It had, at that point,
almost no combat experience itself. Nevertheless, seven of the first eight
armed operations carried out by the Home Army in Warsaw were in support
of the ghetto fighters. Two Poles died at the very beginning of the Warsaw
Ghetto Uprising, trying to breach the ghetto walls. Several further attempts
to breach the walls of the ghetto failed. All in all, the Home Army made
some eleven attempts to help the Jews. Soviet propagandists, seeing an
opportunity, claimed that the Home Army denied aid to the fighting
ghetto.29

Aryeh Wilner, whom the Poles of the Home Army knew as Jurek, was an
important liaison between the Jewish Combat Organization and the Home
Army. He was killed during the Warsaw Ghetto Uprising, but not before
passing on an important message, almost a legend in itself, to his Polish
contacts. It was he who spread the description of Jewish resistance that the
Home Army would approve and itself publish: that the Ghetto Uprising was
not about preserving Jewish life but about rescuing human dignity. This was
understood in Polish Romantic terms: that deeds should be judged by their
intentions rather than their outcomes, that sacrifice ennobles and sacrifice of
life ennobles eternally. Often overlooked or forgotten was the essence of
Wilner’s point: Jewish resistance in Warsaw was not only about the dignity
of the Jews but about the dignity of humanity as such, including those of the
Poles, the British, the Americans, the Soviets: of everyone who could have
done more, and instead did less.30

Shmuel Zygielbojm, the representative of the Bund to the Polish
government-in-exile in London, knew that the ghetto was going up in
flames. He had a clear idea of the general course of the Holocaust from Jan
Karski, a Home Army courier who had brought news of the mass murder to



Allied leaders in 1942. Zygielbojm would not have known the details, but
he grasped the general course of events, and made an effort to define it for
the rest of the world. In a careful suicide note of 12 May 1943, addressed to
the Polish president and prime minister but intended to be shared with other
Allied leaders, he wrote: “Though the responsibility for the crime of the
murder of the entire Jewish nation rests above all upon the perpetrators,
indirect blame must be borne by humanity itself.” The next day he burned
himself alive in front of the British parliament, joining in, as he wrote, the
fate of his fellow Jews in Warsaw.31

The Jews of Warsaw fought on, without hope. By May 1943 Stroop’s
reports to his superiors had become calm and methodical, a matter of
numbers. An unknown number of Jews had burned to death or committed
suicide in bunkers; about 56,065 had been captured, of whom about 7,000
were shot on the spot; 6,929 more were sent to Treblinka, and the rest, the
large majority, assigned to labor duty at camps such as Majdanek. On 15
May Stroop declared victory in the Warsaw ghetto by dynamiting the
Tłomackie Synagogue. Now the Germans began to destroy what was left of
the ghetto, as Himmler had ordered. All the remaining buildings were
brought down, the cellars and sewers filled. On 1 June 1943, Himmler gave
the order to build a new concentration camp, on the ghetto’s smoldering
ruins.32

Some Jews did survive the ghetto uprising, but found a hard welcome
beyond the ghetto. In 1943 the Home Army was even more concerned
about communism than it had been in 1942. As a result of an arrest and a
plane crash in summer 1943, a more sympathetic Polish commander and
prime minister were replaced by less sympathetic ones. Despite its promises
to do so, the Home Army never organized a Jewish unit from veterans of
the Warsaw Ghetto Uprising. Over the course of 1943, units of the Home
Army sometimes shot armed Jews in the countryside as bandits. In a few
cases, Home Army soldiers killed Jews in order to steal their property. On
the other hand, the Home Army did execute Poles who turned in Jews or
tried to blackmail them.33

The same German labor campaign that provoked the Warsaw Ghetto
Uprising also reoriented the Polish resistance. During the same January



1943 visit to Warsaw when he had first demanded the liquidation of the
ghetto, Himmler had also ordered massive roundups of Poles for labor. The
random hunts for workers that followed were massively disruptive to Polish
society, as women and children suddenly found themselves without
husbands and fathers. In the first three months of 1943, about three
thousand Poles from Warsaw were sent to Majdanek. They were joined
there that May by thousands of Warsaw Jews, transported from the Warsaw
ghetto after the defeat of the uprising. Warsaw Poles and Jews, separated by
ghetto walls in 1941 and 1942, found themselves enclosed within the same
barbed wire in 1943. Majdanek was by then a labor camp with a gassing
facility attached, like Auschwitz although on a far smaller scale. About fifty
thousand Polish Jews died there, along with perhaps ten thousand non-
Jewish Poles.34

Knowledge of deportations to places like Majdanek inclined men and
women to join the Home Army. Since they could be seized as laborers and
sent to a concentration camp at any moment, life underground could seem
safer than open life in Warsaw. The underground also offered camaraderie
as an antidote to fear, and revenge as a salve to helplessness. The Germans
had tried to prevent organized resistance to their labor roundups by killing
the Polish educated classes, in the tens of thousands at the time of the 1939
invasion, and then in the thousands in the AB Aktion of 1940. The planners
of those actions had in mind precisely the problem that they experienced
now: treating Poland as a pool of mindless labor would bring resistance if
anyone was alive who could lead Poles against Germans. Yet the Polish
educated classes were far larger than the Germans had assumed, and in
conditions of oppression there was no shortage of people willing to take
command.

Home Army commanders preferred to remain underground, organize,
gather men and arms, and await the best moment for a general uprising.
Such patience and calculation were increasingly difficult in 1943. The
Soviets in their radio and printed propaganda were urging Poles to begin an
uprising as soon as possible. Poles, aware of the fate of the Jews in their
country, were afraid that they too could be exterminated should German
rule continue. A particular shock was the implementation of Generalplan
Ost in part of the Lublin district of the General Government. Though that
massive German colonization plan had generally been deferred, Odilo



Globocnik carried it out. Beginning in November 1942 and continuing
through the first half of 1943, the Germans emptied three hundred Polish
villages around Zamość in order to re-create the area as a racially German
colony. About one hundred thousand Poles were deported in this Zamość
Action, many to Majdanek and Auschwitz. Because the Zamość Action
began just as Operation Reinhard was concluding, and in the same district
where Operation Reinhard had begun, many Poles saw it as the beginning
of a Final Solution to the Polish problem. This was not quite correct, since
Generalplan Ost envisioned the destruction of most but not all Poles; but it
was a logical conclusion in the circumstances.35

So as German labor policies shifted, and Warsaw Jews rebelled, many
Poles in Warsaw and elsewhere also shifted toward a more decisive form of
resistance. Whereas Jews in the ghetto saw no choice but to throw
themselves into an all-or-nothing struggle, non-Jewish Poles had some
ability to modulate their resistance along a certain scale between
underground conspiracy and open battle. In March 1943 the Home Army
emerged from the shadows, and turned to assassinations and partisan
warfare. Its attempts to aid the ghetto fighters were among its earliest, and
still quite amateurish, public acts of armed resistance. With time the
operations became more effective. German policemen were shot, as were
Polish citizens who collaborated with the Gestapo. During the month of
August 1943 the Germans recorded 942 instances of partisan resistance in
the Warsaw district of the General Government, and 6,214 such incidents in
the General Government as a whole.36

The Home Army’s shift to armed resistance was bound to provoke a
German response. A cycle of terror and counterterror continued for the next
year. On 13 October 1943 the Germans began to apply the technique of
blockades, perfected in the Warsaw ghetto during the Large Action of
summer 1942, to neighborhoods in the rest of Warsaw. Men were seized at
random for public reprisal shootings, designed to cow the population and
quell the growing resistance. At a time and place announced in advance,
those arrested were taken in groups of five or ten, blindfolded, and executed
by firing squad. The men tended to call out “Long live Poland!” before they
were shot; and so then the Germans gagged them, or put sacks over their
heads, or plastered their mouths shut. Poles did indeed gather to watch the
shootings, but it was not at all clear that they were learning the lessons that



the Germans wished for them to learn. After the shootings, women would
gather earth soaked with blood, place it in jars, and take it with them to
church.37

The Germans accepted the propaganda failure, but continued to kill Poles
in Warsaw in large numbers: sometimes people who were involved with
resistance, sometimes random hostages. They moved their execution site to
the terrain of the former ghetto, where the shootings would not be seen. The
major prison where Poles were held was also within the walls of the former
ghetto. A large number of Poles would be shot on most days of autumn
1943 in the former ghetto along with a few Jews discovered in the ruins. On
9 December 1943, for example, 139 Poles were shot along with sixteen
Jewish women and a Jewish child. On 13 January 1944, more than three
hundred Poles were shot. These shootings in the ghetto were still
technically “public,” although no one was actually allowed to watch them.
The families were informed of the fate of their loved ones. After 15
February 1944 Poles simply disappeared from their homes or their streets,
and were shot in the ghetto, with no public record of the event. Some 9,500
people were shot in the ghetto ruins from October 1943 through July 1944,
some of them Jewish survivors, the majority non-Jewish Poles.38

 

Blindfolded and bound, these Poles could not have known that they had
been delivered for death to Himmler’s newest concentration camp. Opened
on 19 July 1943 within the ruins of the Warsaw ghetto, Concentration Camp
Warsaw was one of the ghastliest creations of Nazi rule.39

First the Germans had forced Jews to live in a defined area of Warsaw
and called it a ghetto. Then they had ordered deportations from neighboring
regions to the overcrowded ghetto, ensuring tens of thousands of deaths by
starvation and disease. Then they had deported more than a quarter of a
million Jews from the ghetto to the gas chambers of Treblinka, shooting
some seventeen thousand more during these deportations. Then they had
liquidated the ghetto, their own creation. They suppressed the resistance
that this brought, shooting some fourteen thousand more Jews. Then they
had burned down the buildings of the Warsaw ghetto. Finally they built a
new camp within this nonplace.



This was Concentration Camp Warsaw. It was an island of very
conditional life located within an urban zone of death. All around were
blocks and blocks of burned buildings, with human remains rotting within.
Encircled broadly by the walls of the former ghetto, Concentration Camp
Warsaw was encircled narrowly by barbed wire and watchtowers. The
inmates were a few hundred Poles and a few hundred Jews. These were not,
for the most part, Polish Jews but, rather, Jews from other parts of Europe.
They had been deported from their home countries to Auschwitz, selected
for labor there rather than gassed, and then sent to Concentration Camp
Warsaw. They came from Greece, France, Germany, Austria, Belgium, and
the Netherlands, and in 1944 from Hungary. The conditions that they found
in Concentration Camp Warsaw were so appalling that some of them asked
to be sent back to Auschwitz and gassed.40

The Jewish laborers of Concentration Camp Warsaw were to perform
three major tasks in the ruins: destroy the buildings in the former ghetto that
still stood after the arson of April and May 1943; search for valuables that
Jews might have left behind; and bait Jews still in hiding to come and
surrender themselves. Some of the Jewish laborers were also sent, in their
striped uniforms and wooden shoes, to labor beyond the walls of the former
ghetto. Friendships grew up between these foreign Jews and Poles in
Warsaw, despite barriers of language. One of these laborers remembered a
scene beyond the ghetto walls: “A Polish boy, maybe fourteen years old,
badly dressed, was standing just next to us with a little basket, in which
there were a few small apples. He looked at us, thought for a moment, and
then grabbed his little basket and threw it to us. Then he ran to the other
boys selling food, and suddenly bread and fruit rained down on us from all
sides. At first the SS-men guarding us didn’t know what to do, they were so
surprised by this unexpected expression of solidarity. Then they began to
scream at the boys and point their machine guns at them, and to beat us for
accepting the food. But that didn’t hurt us, we paid no attention. We waved
our thanks to those boys.”41

After October 1943, the Jews of Concentration Camp Warsaw were
forced to perform yet another task: the disposal of the bodies of Poles taken
from Warsaw and executed in the ruins of the ghetto. Poles were brought in
trucks in groups of fifty or sixty to the terrain of the former ghetto, where
they were executed in or near Concentration Camp Warsaw by machine



gunners of the local SS and another police unit. Jewish prisoners then had
to form a Death Commando that would eliminate the traces of the
execution. They would build a pyre from wood taken from the ruins of the
ghetto, and then stack bodies and wood in layers. Then the Jews poured
gasoline on the pyres and lit them. Yet this was a Death Commando in more
than the usual sense. Once the bodies of the Poles were burning, the SS-
men shot the Jewish laborers who had built the pyre, and tossed their bodies
into the flames.42

Miłosz’s poem “A Poor Christian Looks at the Ghetto,” written in 1943,
speaks of an unearthly power able to undo the grey of rubble and soot and
distinguish “the ash of each man.” No earthly agent could sort the Jewish
ashes from the Polish ones.
 

In summer 1944 in such a city, resistance was all but inevitable. Its form
and its direction were not. The commanders of the Home Army, and the
Polish government in London, had a very difficult decision to make. Their
people suffered more than those of any Allied capital, but they faced an
unforgiving strategic position. Poles had to consider the present German
occupation in light of the threat of a future Soviet occupation. After the
success of the Red Army’s Operation Bagration in late June, German
soldiers could be seen streaming through Warsaw in July. It seemed as if the
Germans were about to be defeated, which was good news; it also seemed
that the Soviets would soon replace them in Warsaw, which was not. If the
Home Army fought the Germans openly, and succeeded, they might greet
the arriving Red Army as masters of their own house. If they fought the
Germans openly, and failed, they would be prone and powerless when the
Soviets arrived. If they did nothing, they would have no bargaining position
with the Soviets—or with their western Allies.43

Although their British and American allies could afford to have illusions
about Stalin, Polish officers and politicians could not. They had not
forgotten that the Soviet Union had been an ally of Nazi Germany in 1939-
1941, and that its occupation of eastern Poland had been ruthless and
oppressive. Poles knew about the deportations to Kazakhstan and Siberia;
they knew about the shootings at Katyn. Stalin broke off diplomatic
relations with the Polish government over the Katyn discovery, which was
one more reason not to trust the Soviet Union. If Stalin would use his own



massacre as a reason to end relations with the Polish government, how
could he be expected to negotiate in good faith about anything? And if the
Soviet Union would not recognize the legitimate Polish government during
a common war against Nazi Germany, what were the chances that it would
support Polish independence when the war was over and the Soviet position
much stronger?

The British and the Americans had larger concerns. The Red Army was
winning the war against the Wehrmacht on the eastern front, and Stalin was
a more important ally than any Polish government. It was more comfortable
for the British and the Americans to accept the mendacious Soviet version
of the Katyn massacre and blame the Germans. It was much easier for them
to encourage their Polish ally to compromise than it was to try to prevail
upon Stalin. They wanted the Poles to accept that the Germans rather than
the Soviets had killed the Polish officers, which was false; and would have
preferred that Poland grant the eastern half of its territory to the Soviet
Union, which was an unlikely action for any sovereign government.

For that matter, London and Washington had already agreed, in late 1943,
that the Soviet Union would reclaim the eastern half of prewar Poland after
the war. The western Soviet border accorded Stalin by Hitler was confirmed
by Churchill and Roosevelt. London and Washington endorsed the
Molotov-Ribbentrop line (with minor changes) as the future Soviet-Polish
frontier. In that sense Poland was betrayed not only by the Soviet Union but
also by its western Allies, who urged Poles to make compromises at a time
when less was to be gained by them than Poles might have thought. Half of
their country had already been conceded, without their participation.44

 

Left alone by its allies, the Polish government in London ceded the
initiative to the Polish fighters in Warsaw. Seeing little other hope to
establish Polish sovereignty, the Home Army chose an uprising in the
capital, to commence on 1 August 1944.

The Warsaw Uprising of August 1944 took place within the framework
of Operation Tempest, a long-planned national uprising that was meant to
give Polish forces a prominent role in the liberation of prewar Polish
territory. By late July, however, Operation Tempest had already failed. The
Home Army had planned to engage German units as they retreated from the



Red Army in what had been eastern Poland. It had been impossible to make
prior political arrangements with the Soviet Union about the terms of this
cooperation, since Stalin had broken diplomatic relations. Polish
commanders did make local agreements with Soviet counterparts in
summer 1944, but at a heavy price. Negotiation meant leaving hiding places
and revealing identities, and the Soviets exploited Polish vulnerability to the
maximum. Poles who revealed themselves to join the common fight against
Germans were treated as people who might resist future Soviet rule. The
Soviet Union never had any intention of supporting any institution that
claimed to represent an independent Poland. The Soviet leadership and the
NKVD treated every Polish political organization (except the communists)
as part of an anti-Soviet plot.45

In July 1944, Polish units were allowed to assist the Red Army in attacks
on Vilnius and Lviv, the major cities of prewar eastern Poland, but were
then disarmed by their ostensible Soviet allies. The Polish soldiers were
given the choice of Soviet command or prison. After the disarmaments, the
NKVD arrested everyone with a political past. Soviet partisans were
allowed to take part in the victorious campaign against the Germans; Polish
partisans were not. Indeed, in some cases Soviet partisans were turned
against the Polish fighters. The partisan unit of Tuvia Bielski, for example,
took part in the disarming of the Home Army. The tragedy of Operation
Tempest was triple: the Home Army lost men and its arms; Poland’s
government saw its military strategy fail; and Poles lost their lives or their
freedom fighting for lands that Poland could not regain in any event, since
Churchill and Roosevelt had already ceded them to Stalin.46

Still, news from Germany gave some hope to Polish commanders in
Warsaw. On 20 July 1944, German military officers tried (and failed) to
assassinate Adolf Hitler. The news led some Home Army commanders to
believe that Germany had lost the will to fight, and thus that a bold blow
might drive them from Warsaw. On 22 July the Soviets gave another prod to
the Polish resistance by unveiling, in Lublin, their own provisional
government for Poland. The laboratory of Nazi exterminatory policies now
became the center of a future communist puppet government. Stalin was
claiming the authority to determine who would form the Polish government.
If the Home Army did nothing, his clients would be installed in Warsaw,
and Poland would shift directly from Nazi to Soviet occupation. As in 1939,



so in 1944, the fact that the Poles had Western allies meant little or nothing.
It was clear by July 1944, with the Red Army already occupying more than
half of prewar Poland, that the country would be liberated by Soviet force
of arms. In late July the Americans were a month away from Paris (where
they would support a French uprising); there was no chance that US forces
would liberate any of Poland. Any political resistance to Soviet plans would
have to come from the Poles themselves.47

On 25 July 1944, the Polish government granted the Home Army in
Warsaw the authority to begin an uprising in the capital at a time of its
choosing. Warsaw itself had originally been excluded from the planning for
Operation Tempest; the Warsaw district of the Home Army had sent many
of its arms to the east of the country, where they were now lost to the
Soviets. The logic of an immediate uprising in Warsaw was not easy for
everyone to follow. The command structure of the Polish Army fighting on
the western front, under General Władysław Anders, was excluded from the
discussions. Given German anti-partisan tactics, an uprising looked like
suicide to many. The Germans had been killing Poles in massive reprisals
throughout the war; if an uprising failed, reasoned some commanders in
Warsaw, the entire civilian population would suffer. The argument in favor
of the uprising was that the rebellion could not fail: whether or not the Poles
defeated the Germans, the Red Army was moving fast and would arrive in
Warsaw in a few days. On this logic, which prevailed, the only question
seemed to be whether Poles would first make an effort to liberate their own
capital.48

The Poles were caught between an approaching Red Army and
occupying German forces. They could not defeat the Germans on their own,
so they had to hope that the Soviet advance would prompt a German retreat
and that there would be some interval between the Wehrmacht’s withdrawal
and the Red Army’s arrival. Their hope was that the interval would not be
too brief, so that they could establish themselves as the Polish government
before the Soviets arrived.

In fact, the interval was too long.
 

Polish soldiers in uniforms and armbands began their assault on German
positions in the afternoon of 1 August 1944. The vast majority were from



the Home Army; smaller units of the far-right National Armed Forces and
the communist People’s Army also joined the fight. On this first day of the
Warsaw Uprising, the Home Army secured a great deal of the downtown
and Old Town of the city, but failed to capture most of the essential military
targets. The Germans had made few preparations, but were not caught
completely by surprise. It had been hard to disguise the mobilization going
on within the city itself. German forces had gone on alert at 4:30, half an
hour before the uprising began. The Poles chose to attack in daylight on a
long summer afternoon, and for that reason took many casualties. The
inexperienced and lightly armed troops had an especially difficult time with
guarded and fortified objectives. Nevertheless, the mood among the fighters
and in the city itself was euphoric.49



When and where Polish power replaced German power in those early
days of August 1944, surviving Jews emerged from their places of shelter
among Poles. Many asked to be allowed to fight. As Michał Zylberberg
recalled: “A Jewish perspective ruled out passivity. Poles had taken up arms
against the mortal enemy. Our obligation as victims and as fellow citizens
was to help them.” Other combatants in the Warsaw Uprising were veterans
of the ghetto uprising of 1943. Most of these Jews joined the Home Army;
others found the People’s Army, or even the anti-Semitic National Armed
Forces. Some Jews (or Poles of Jewish origin) were already enlisted in the
Home Army and the People’s Army. Almost certainly, more Jews fought in
the Warsaw Uprising of August 1944 than in the Warsaw Ghetto Uprising
of April 1943.50

In early August, as the Home Army failed to take the important German
positions in Warsaw, its soldiers did register one victory. Officers gathered
volunteers for a dangerous attack upon a heavily guarded position. On 5
August, Home Army soldiers entered the ruins of the ghetto, attacked
Concentration Camp Warsaw, defeated the ninety SS-men who guarded it,
and liberated its remaining 348 prisoners, most of them foreign Jews. One
of the Home Army soldiers in this operation was Stanisław Aronson, who
had himself been deported from the ghetto to Treblinka. Another recalled a
Jew who greeted them with tears on his cheeks; yet another, the plea of a
Jew for a weapon and a uniform, so that he could fight. Many of the
liberated Jewish slave laborers did join the Home Army, fighting in their
striped camp uniforms and wooden shoes, with “complete indifference to
life or death,” as one Home Army soldier recalled.51

 

Now Himmler again saw an opportunity, as he had during the Warsaw
Ghetto Uprising, to demonstrate his strength and to win a symbolic victory.
Despite Polish expectations, the Red Army had ceased its rapid advance.
With the Wehrmacht stubbornly holding its positions at the Vistula River,
just east of downtown Warsaw, the uprising would be a matter for the SS
and the German police. These were Himmler’s institutions, and Himmler
wished to make this his uprising, to show Hitler one more time that he was
the ruthless master of the situation.52



Unlike the Ghetto Uprising, however, this campaign would require
reinforcements. Following the German withdrawal from Belarus,
experienced anti-partisan units were available. Erich von dem Bach-
Zelewski, the chief of German anti-partisan formations and a veteran of the
partisan warfare in Belarus, was given overall command in Warsaw. Other
veterans of the anti-partisan warfare in Belarus were also summoned. The
SS Commando Dirlewanger was dispatched from northeastern Poland, the
Kaminskii unit from southwestern Poland. They were reinforced by a police
unit sent from Poznań and a few hundred foreign fighters, mostly
Azerbaijanis who had defected from the Red Army. About half of the
people who fought in Warsaw in German uniforms did not speak German.
This probably made the action that followed no more bloody, but it did
make it more confusing, even for the Germans themselves.53

Kaminskii and his Russians were given personal permission from
Himmler to loot, and they accepted this part of their assignment with gusto.
They entered Ochota, a southwesterly neighborhood of Warsaw, on 9
August 1944. Over the course of the next ten days, they concentrated on
theft, but also killed several thousand Polish civilians. As one of
Kaminskii’s officers recalled, “Mass executions of civilians without
investigation were the order of the day.” The soldiers also became known
for systematic rape. They burned down the hospital of the Marie Curie
Institute, killing everyone inside, but scrupulously raped the nurses ahead of
time. As one of Kaminskii’s men characterized the Ochota campaign, “they
raped nuns and plundered and stole anything they could get their hands on.”
German commanders complained that Kaminskii and his men were
concerned only with “robbing, drinking, and raping women.” Bach had
Kaminskii apprehended and executed: not for the killing or the sexual
violence but for his habit of stealing for himself rather than for the coffers
of the Reich.54

The comportment of the SS Special Commando Dirlewanger was even
worse. Its men were now a motley group of criminals, foreigners, and SS-
men released from punishment camps. Dirlewanger was indiscipline itself;
even Himmler had to order him twice to go to Warsaw. The unit was fresh
from its Belarusian campaigns, where it had killed tens of thousands of
civilians in the countryside and the towns. Now it would kill more civilians
in a large city. The most infamous Waffen-SS unit in Belarus now became



the most infamous Waffen-SS unit in Poland. The Dirlewanger unit was the
bulk of a combat group under the command of Heinz Reinefarth, the SS and
Police Chief for the Warthegau, the largest district of occupied Poland
annexed to Germany.55

Reinefarth received an extraordinary three-part order from Himmler: all
Polish combatants were to be shot; all Polish noncombatants, including
women and children, were also to be shot; and the city itself was to be razed
to the ground. The police formations and the SS Special Commando
Dirlewanger carried out these orders to the letter on 5 and 6 August 1944,
shooting some forty thousand civilians in the course of those two days
alone. They had a military objective: they were to march through the west-
central Wola neighborhood and relieve German headquarters in the Saxon
Gardens. They lifted the Home Army’s barricades on Wola Street by
marching Poles in front of them and forcing them to do the work, using
women and children as human shields in the meantime, and raping some of
the women. As they moved west they destroyed each and every building,
one by one, using gasoline and hand grenades. Wola Street ran just south of
the terrain that had been the ghetto, and indeed through some of its most
southerly extremes, so their work of destruction brought an adjoining
neighborhood to ruins.56

The men of the Dirlewanger Brigade burned down three hospitals with
patients inside. At one hospital, wounded Germans who were being treated
by Polish doctors and nurses asked that no harm come to the Poles. This
was not to be. The men of the Dirlewanger Brigade killed the Polish
wounded. They brought the nurses back to camp that evening, as was the
custom: each night selected women would be whipped by officers and then
gang-raped before being murdered. This evening was unusual even by those
standards. To the accompaniment of flute music, the men raised a gallows,
and then hanged the doctors and the naked nurses.57

As houses burned in Wola, people sought refuge in factories, which then
became convenient killing grounds for the German SS and police units. At
one factory, two thousand people were shot; at another, five thousand more.
Wanda Lurie, one of the few survivors of the mass shootings at the Ursus
factory, was expecting a child. “I went in last and kept back, always lagging
behind in the hope that they would not kill a pregnant woman. However, I



was taken in the last group. I saw a heap of bodies about a meter high.” She
lost her children. “The first salvo hit my elder son, the second me and the
third my younger children.” She fell wounded, but was able later to dig
herself from the pile of bodies. She later gave birth to a healthy baby. The
mass killing slowed on 6 August, possibly because bullets were short and
were needed elsewhere.58

The massacres in Wola had nothing in common with combat. The
Germans lost six dead and killed about twenty Home Army soldiers while
murdering at least thirty thousand people. The ratio of civilian to military
dead was more than a thousand to one, even if military casualties on both
sides are counted. On 13 August Bach countermanded Himmler’s killing
orders, and the organized shooting of civilians in large numbers came to a
halt. Many more Poles would be killed, however, in more or less unplanned
ways. When the Germans took the Old Town, they killed seven thousand
wounded in field hospitals by gunfire and flamethrowers. Some thirty
thousand civilians would be killed in the Old Town before the uprising was
over.59

In the Wola neighborhood, where the worst of the killing took place, the
bodies had to be found and removed. The Germans assembled a group of
Polish slave laborers, whom they called the Cremation Commando.
Between 8 and 23 August 1944, these people were ordered to pick through
the ruins of the Wola neighborhood, extract the rotting bodies, and burn
them on pyres. In Wola, the remnants of the ghetto were all around them.
The laborers marched along Wola, Elektoralna, and Chłodna Streets, now
from east to west, following in reverse the route the German police and the
Dirlewanger Brigade had taken. Their first five pyres were just to the east
of the ghetto, their next thirteen just to the west. The Polish slave laborers
(one of whom was Jewish) burned the bodies while their SS guards played
cards and laughed.60

The Warsaw Uprising did not defeat the Germans, and it was little more
than a passing annoyance to the Soviets. The Red Army had been halted, by
unexpectedly strong German resistance, just beyond Warsaw. The Germans
were making a last stand in Poland, the Wehrmacht at the Vistula, the SS
and the police in Warsaw. Despite what some Poles had hoped, the Nazi



regime had not collapsed after the assassination attempt on Hitler. Instead,
the Germans had consolidated the eastern front. Operation Bagration had
broken Army Group Center, but not the Wehrmacht itself. It had brought
Vasily Grossman to the site where Warsaw’s Jews were killed, but not to
Warsaw itself. Meanwhile, the Red Army’s Ukrainian Front was engaged in
major operations elsewhere, to the southeast. Stalin had no pressing need to
take Warsaw just then, in August 1944.

It made perfect Stalinist sense to encourage an uprising, and then not to
assist one. Right to the last moment, Soviet propaganda had called for an
uprising in Warsaw, promising Soviet assistance. The uprising came, but the
help did not. Though there is no reason to believe that Stalin deliberately
halted military operations at Warsaw, the delay at the Vistula suited Stalin’s
political purposes. From the Soviet perspective, an uprising in Warsaw was
desirable because it would kill Germans—and Poles who were willing to
risk their lives for independence. The Germans would do the necessary
work of destroying the remnants of the Polish intelligentsia and the soldiers
of the Home Army, groups that overlapped. As soon as the Home Army
soldiers took up arms, Stalin called them adventurers and criminals. Later
on, when the Soviet Union gained control of Poland, resistance to Hitler
would be prosecuted as a crime, on the logic that armed action not
controlled by the communists undermined the communists, and that
communism was the only legitimate regime for Poland.

The British and the Americans were all but unable to provide meaningful
help to the Poles in Warsaw. Winston Churchill, whose own personal
obstinacy was a crucial element of the war, could do little but urge Britain’s
Polish allies to compromise with the Soviets. In summer 1944 Churchill
had been advising the Polish prime minister, Stanisław Mikołajczyk, to visit
Moscow and seek some arrangement that would allow the restoration of
Soviet-Polish diplomatic relations. When Mikołajczyk arrived in Moscow
in late July 1944, he was told by the British ambassador to concede
everything: to give up the eastern half of the country, and to accept the
Soviet version of the Katyn massacre (that the Germans, not the Soviets,
were guilty). As Mikołajczyk knew, Roosevelt also preferred not to
question the Soviet account of Katyn. The beginning of the Warsaw
Uprising found Mikołajczyk in Moscow. In this unexpected position,
Mikołajczyk was forced to ask Stalin for help, which Stalin refused to give.



Churchill did then ask Stalin to aid the Poles. On 16 August Stalin brushed
him off, saying that he had no intention of helping a “foolish adventure.”61

Great Britain had gone to war five years earlier on the question of Polish
independence, which it was now unable to protect from its Soviet ally. The
British press often echoed the Stalinist line, presenting the Poles as
adventurous and wayward, rather than as British allies seeking to take back
their own capital. Both George Orwell and Arthur Koestler protested:
Orwell speaking of the “dishonesty and cowardice” of Britons who denied
the responsibility of the Allies to help the uprising, and Koestler calling
Stalin’s inaction “one of the great infamies of the war.”62

The Americans had no better luck. If American planes could be refueled
on Soviet territory, then they could fly missions from Italy to Poland,
bombing German positions and supplying the Poles. On the same day that
Stalin rebuffed Churchill, 16 August 1944, American diplomats added
Polish targets to Operation Frantic, the bombing campaign in eastern and
southeastern Europe. Stalin denied his American ally permission to refuel
for such missions. An American junior diplomat, George Kennan, saw
where the logic led: the refusal was “a gauntlet thrown down with malicious
glee.” Stalin had in effect told the Americans that he would be taking
control of Poland, and preferred that the Polish fighters die and the uprising
fail. A month later, when the uprising was effectively defeated, Stalin
showed his strength and intelligence, and muddied the historical record. In
mid-September, when it could make absolutely no difference to the
outcome in Warsaw, he finally allowed American bombing runs and carried
out a few of his own.63

By then, the Home Army controlled so little of Warsaw that supplies fell
to the Germans. Polish troops had fallen back to a few pockets of resistance.
Then, like Jewish fighters before them, they tried to escape through the
sewers. The Germans, prepared for this by their own experiences of 1943,
burned or gassed them out.
 

In early October 1944, Himmler told Paul Geibel, the SS and Police Chief
for Warsaw, that Hitler had no fonder wish than to destroy the city. Stone
should not be left upon stone. The wish was also Himmler’s own. The war
as such was clearly lost: the British had liberated Antwerp, the Americans



were approaching the Rhine, and the Soviets would soon besiege Budapest.
But Himmler saw an opportunity to fulfill one of his own war aims, the
destruction of Slavic and Jewish cities integral to Generalplan Ost.

Himmler issued orders, apparently on 9 and 12 October, that the entire
city of Warsaw be destroyed, building by building, block by block. At this
point huge swaths of the city were already in ruins: the ghetto, the adjoining
Wola neighborhood, and buildings hit by German bombs in September
1939—or for that matter in August 1944, when German planes bombed
Warsaw from its own airport. But most of the city was still standing, and
many of its inhabitants were still present. Now the Germans evacuated the
survivors to a temporary camp at Pruszków, whence some sixty thousand
people would be sent to concentration camps, and some ninety thousand
more to forced-labor assignments in the Reich. German engineers equipped
with dynamite and flamethrowers, and aware of the experience of the
destruction of the ghetto, would burn down their businesses and schools and
homes.64

Himmler’s decision to destroy Warsaw served a certain vision of the Nazi
East, but it did not serve the German military cause in the Second World
War. Erich von dem Bach-Zelewski did show signs of wanting to recruit the
Home Army as a future ally in a final struggle against the Soviets; he
reversed Himmler’s killing orders in mid-August without (it seems) having
the proper authority to do so, and then agreed to negotiate with the Home
Army command as with a defeated adversary in late September. By the
terms of the surrender of 2 October 1944, Home Army officers and soldiers,
men and women alike, were to receive the rights accorded to prisoners of
war by international law. For the same reasons, Bach opposed Himmler’s
preferred conclusion of the uprising, the total destruction of the city.

It is very unlikely that Bach could have found many allies in Warsaw, for
the same reason that he found few in Belarus: the actions of Dirlewanger’s
men and other German anti-partisan formations had been too unforgettably
bloody. The German reaction was so unbelievably destructive that Polish
fighters had no alternative but to await Soviet liberation. As one Home
Army soldier put it in his poetry: “We await you, red plague / To deliver us
from the black death.” Like Bach, the Wehrmacht opposed Himmler’s
policy. German troops were holding the Red Army at the Vistula River, and
hoped to use Warsaw as a fortress, or at least its buildings as shelters. None



of this mattered. Bach was transferred; the army was ignored; Himmler had
his way; and a European capital was destroyed. On the day before the
Soviets arrived, the Germans torched the last library.65

No other European capital suffered such a fate: destroyed physically, and
bereft of about half of its population. Perhaps 150,000 Polish
noncombatants were killed by the Germans in August and September 1944
alone, during the Warsaw Uprising. A similar number of non-Jewish Poles
from Warsaw had already been killed in concentration camps, at execution
sites in the ghetto, by German bombing, or in combat. Warsaw Jews died in
higher absolute numbers and in much higher proportions. The percentage of
Jews from Warsaw who died, more than ninety percent, exceeds that of
non-Jews, which was about thirty percent. Only the fate of cities further
east, such as Minsk or Leningrad, bore comparison to that of Warsaw. All in
all, about half of the inhabitants of the city perished in a city whose prewar
population was about 1.3 million.66

The distinction between Poles and Jews was for some victims artificial.
Ludwik Landau, for example, might have been killed by the Germans
because he was a Home Army officer and an effective propagandist for an
independent Poland. As it happens, he was killed as a Jew. Some fates were
permanently entangled. The Jewish historian Emanuel Ringelblum secretly
created archives in the ghetto, on the basis of which a future history of Jews
in wartime Warsaw would be possible. He was taken to a concentration
camp after the defeat of the Ghetto Uprising, but was then rescued with the
help of a Home Army officer. He was sheltered in Warsaw by Poles, until a
Pole gave him away to the Germans. Then he and the Poles who had given
him refuge were shot in the ruins of the Warsaw ghetto. The Home Army
hunted down and killed the Pole who had betrayed them.67

Nevertheless, when the uprising was over and German power replaced
Polish, the plight of the Jews was again distinct. After the destruction of the
city, they had, quite literally, no place to hide. They did their best to
disappear within the columns of exiled civilians or, in some cases, to find
and join Soviet forces. Before the Warsaw Uprising, there were probably
still some sixteen thousand Jews hiding with Poles beyond the walls of the
former ghetto. Afterward, perhaps twelve thousand were still alive.68



The Germans had won the second battle for Warsaw, but the political
victory fell to the Soviets. The Germans had applied the same tactics they
had used in Belarus, ordered by much the same chain of command:
Himmler-Bach-Dirlewanger. This time, anti-partisan warfare worked: not
because the patriots of the Home Army were less determined than the
Belarusian partisans but because they were more isolated. The Soviet Union
supported communist partisans whom it could control, and opposed
noncommunist fighters whom it could not. Polish troops were fighting
against the Germans, but also for their own liberty. This was their doom.
Stalin was happy to support the much smaller People’s Army, a communist
force that also fought in the uprising. Had it been the People’s Army rather
than the Home Army that had led the uprising, his attitude might have been
entirely different.

Yet that would have been an entirely different Poland. The People’s
Army did have some popular support, but far less than that enjoyed by the
Home Army. Polish politics had shifted to the left during the war, as was
the case throughout occupied Europe. Yet communism was not popular.
Poles had experienced Soviet communism during the war itself, in the
eastern half of the country. No sovereign Poland would become communist.
The Warsaw Uprising, destroying as it did many of the brightest and the
bravest of a generation, did indeed make further resistance much more
difficult. But the Warsaw Uprising also, as some of its more clearsighted
(and coldblooded) commanders expected, brought Stalin’s ruthlessness to
the attention of the Americans and British. The American diplomat George
Kennan was right: Stalin’s cynical treatment of the Home Army was a slap
in the face to his British and American allies. In this sense the Warsaw
Uprising was the beginning of the confrontation that was to come when the
Second World War was over.

While the Red Army hesitated just east of the Vistula River from early
August 1944 through mid-January 1945, the Germans were killing the Jews
to its west. During those five months, the Red Army was less than a
hundred kilometers from Łódź, by this point the largest concentration of
Jews left in occupied Poland, and less than a hundred kilometers from
Auschwitz, where Polish and European Jews were still being gassed. The
Red Army’s halt at the Vistula doomed not only the Polish fighters and the



civilians of Warsaw but also the Jews of Łódź. Their numbers had been
much reduced by a series of deportations to Chełmno between December
1941 and September 1942. But in 1943 and 1944 the number of Jews had
been relatively stable: some ninety thousand Jewish laborers and their
families. The German civilian authorities, who sometimes preferred death
through labor, had a longer hold here than elsewhere. Łódź Jews were
building weapons, so the Wehrmacht also preferred that they survive.

Most of the remaining Łódź Jews died in the interval between the
beginning of Operation Bagration and the final Soviet advance over the
Vistula. The day after Operation Bagration, on 23 June 1944, the civilian
authorities in Łódź yielded to Himmler and the SS, and allowed the
liquidation of the Łódź ghetto. For a brief period the gassing facility at
Chełmno was reopened, and some 7,196 Jews from Łódź were asphyxiated
there between 23 June and 14 July. Then the facility at Chełmno was finally
closed. The Jews of Łódź, meanwhile, knew that the Red Army was close
by. They believed that if they could just remain in the ghetto for a few more
days or weeks, they would survive. On 1 August, the day that the Warsaw
Uprising began, the Łódź Judenrat was informed that all Jews would be
“evacuated.” The German mayor of the city even tried to persuade Jews that
they should hasten to board the trains before the Red Army arrived, because
the Soviet soldiers would take revenge on people who had spent the war
making weapons for the Germans. As the Warsaw Uprising raged, and the
Red Army waited, some sixty-seven thousand Jews of Łódź were deported
to Auschwitz in August 1944. Most of them were gassed upon arrival .69

When Soviet soldiers finally crossed the Vistula and advanced into the ruins
of Warsaw on 17 January 1945, they found very few buildings still
standing. The site of Concentration Camp Warsaw, however, was still
available. The Soviet NKVD took over its facilities, and used them for
familiar purposes. Home Army soldiers were interrogated and shot there by
the Soviets in 1945, as they had been by the Germans in 1944.70

On 19 January 1945, two days after reaching Warsaw, Soviet soldiers
were already in Łódź. On 27 January they reached Auschwitz. From there it
would take them a little more than three months for them to reach Berlin.
As the Red Army moved forward, SS camp guards were driving Jews from



Auschwitz to labor camps in Germany. In these hurried and brutal marches,
thousands more Jews lost their lives. These marches, which left surviving
Jews in Germany itself, were the last of the Nazi atrocities. The Belarusian
Front of the Red Army began to shell Berlin on 20 April 1945, Hitler’s
birthday; by early May it had met the Ukrainian Front in the German
capital. Berlin fell, and the war was over. Hitler had ordered subordinates to
apply a scorched earth policy to Germany itself, but he was not obeyed.
Although much young German life was wasted in the defense of Berlin,
Hitler could effect no further policies of mass killing.71

In these last few months of war, from January to May 1945, the inmates
of the German concentration camps died in very large numbers. Perhaps
three hundred thousand people died in German camps during this period,
from hunger and neglect. The American and British soldiers who liberated
the dying inmates from camps in Germany believed that they had
discovered the horrors of Nazism. The images their photographers and
cameramen captured of the corpses and the living skeletons at Bergen-
Belsen and Buchenwald seemed to convey the worst crimes of Hitler. As
the Jews and Poles of Warsaw knew, and as Vasily Grossman and the Red
Army soldiers knew, this was far from the truth. The worst was in the ruins
of Warsaw, or the fields of Treblinka, or the marshes of Belarus, or the pits
of Babi Yar.

The Red Army liberated all of these places, and all of the bloodlands. All
of the death sites and dead cities fell behind an iron curtain, in a Europe
Stalin made his own even while liberating it from Hitler.

Grossman wrote his article about Treblinka while Soviet troops were
paused at the Vistula, watching the Germans defeat the Home Army in the
Warsaw Uprising. The ashes of Warsaw were still warm when the Cold War
began.



CHAPTER 10
ETHNIC CLEANSINGS

By the time the Red Army reached the remains of Warsaw in January 1945,
Stalin knew what sort of Poland he wished to build. He knew where its
borders would run, who would be forced to live within them, who would be
forced to go. Poland would be a communist state, and an ethnically
homogeneous country. Although Stalin would undertake no policies of
mass killing in the east European empire he foresaw, Poland was to be the
center of a zone of ethnic purity. Germany would be for Germans, Poland
for Poles, and the western part of Soviet Ukraine for Ukrainians. He
expected Polish communists, including those who personally represented a
national minority, to cleanse their country of national minorities. Stalin had
revived a Polish communist party, and chosen its leaders, and sent them to
Poland. He knew that he would have support not only from Poles but from
the Americans and the British for the removal of a large number of
Germans. Hitler’s own policies of moving Germans during the war
suggested how Germans might be treated thereafter. German wartime
colonization made a certain amount of forced population transfers seem
inevitable. The only questions were how many Germans, and from which
territories. Stalin had precise answers, even if his American and British
allies did not.1

At the conference with his British and American allies at Yalta in
February 1945 Stalin made himself understood, and had no reason to expect
opposition. Roosevelt and Churchill would not object as Stalin took again
the lands that he had received from Hitler: half of Poland, as well as the
Baltic States and northeastern Romania. Stalin would compensate Poland,
his communist Poland, by punishing Germany. Poland would be shifted to
the west, absorbing German territory to a line defined by the Oder and the
Lusatian Neiße Rivers. In the lands that Stalin foresaw as Polish lived no
fewer than ten million Germans. Moving them out, or keeping them out,
would be the task of a government dominated by Polish communists. They
would profit from the desire of many Poles to remove the Germans, and
take credit for the achievement of a goal, ethnic purity, that seemed self-
evident to most leading Polish politicians by the end of the war.
Communists would gain support among Poles by distributing the lands left



by Germans, and keep it by reminding Poles that only the Red Army could
prevent the Germans from coming back and claiming their lost property.2

Poland’s communists had accepted these borders, and knew that they
were to remove the Germans. “We have to throw them out,” said
Władysław Gomułka, general secretary of the Polish party in May 1945,
“since all countries are built on national, not multinational, principles.”
Moving Poland to the west would not in itself make Poland a “national”
state in this sense: the shift in borders simply replaced large Ukrainian and
Belarusian minorities with a very large German minority. Poland would
require a massive displacement of millions of Germans to be “national” in
the way that Gomułka had in mind. Perhaps 1.5 million of them were
German administrators and colonists, who would never have come to
Poland without Hitler’s war. They lived in houses or apartments that they
had taken from Poles expelled (or killed) during the war or from Jews who
had been killed. More than half a million more were Germans who were
native to Poland, and had lived within Poland’s prewar borders. The
remaining eight million or so were to lose their homes in lands that had
been in Germany even before Hitler’s expansion, and had been
predominantly German in population for centuries.3

In creating his Poland, Stalin turned Hitler’s Generalplan Ost on its head.
Germany, rather than expanding eastward to create a huge land empire,
would be confined in the west. The Soviets, Americans, and British
occupied Germany together, and its immediate political future was not
entirely clear. What was obvious was that it would be a Germany for the
Germans—but not in Hitler’s sense. It would be a compact area in the
middle of Europe, separated from Austria, separated from the Sudetenland
taken from Czechoslovakia, collecting Germans from the East rather than
sending them there as colonists. Rather than a master race commanding
slaves along a brave new eastern frontier, Germans would be one more
homogeneous nation. Yet unlike Hitler, Stalin did not understand
“resettlement” as a euphemism for mass killing. He knew that people would
die in the course of mass population transfers, but the destruction of the
German nation was not his goal.

Communist and noncommunist, all leading Polish politicians agreed with
Stalin that Poland should move as far as possible to the west, and that the
Germans should go. When the Home Army had initiated the Warsaw



Uprising on 1 August 1944, the Polish government in London had deprived
Germans of citizenship and obliged them to leave the country. Stanisław
Mikołajczyk, the prime minister of the London government, was no less
categorical than his communist foes about what the postwar settlement
should mean for Germans: “The experience with the fifth column and with
German occupation methods make impossible the cohabitation of Polish
and German populations on the territory of one state.” This position
represented a consensus not only of Polish society but also among the allied
leaders. Roosevelt had said that the Germans “deserved” to be expelled by
terror (while his predecessor, Herbert Hoover, called population transfers a
“heroic remedy”). Churchill had promised the Poles “a clean sweep.”4

At Yalta in February 1945, the Americans and the British agreed in
principle that Poland should be shifted west, but were not convinced that
Poland should be moved all the way to the Oder-Neiße line. Nevertheless,
as Stalin anticipated, they came around to his way of thinking by the next
summit at Potsdam in July. By that time, much of his policy had already
been achieved on the ground. By March the Red Army had already
conquered all of the German lands that Stalin intended to concede to
Poland. By May the Red Army was in Berlin, and the war in Europe was
over. Soviet troops had moved through eastern Germany with such
extraordinary haste and violence that suddenly anything seemed possible.
Six million or so Germans had been evacuated by German authorities or
had fled before the Red Army, creating the basic preconditions for Stalin’s
ethnic and geographic version of Poland. Many of them would try to come
back after Germany’s surrender, but precious few would succeed.5

In Britain, George Orwell raised his voice one last time, in February
1945, calling the planned expulsion of the Germans an “enormous crime”
that could not be “carried through.” He was wrong. For once, his political
imagination had failed him.6



During the march on Berlin, the Red Army followed a dreadfully simple
procedure in the eastern lands of the Reich, the territories meant for Poland:
its men raped German women and seized German men (and some women)
for labor. The behavior continued as the soldiers reached the German lands
that would remain in Germany, and finally Berlin. Red Army soldiers had
also raped women in Poland, and in Hungary, and even in Yugoslavia,
where a communist revolution would make the country a Soviet ally.
Yugoslav communists complained to Stalin about the behavior of Soviet
soldiers, who gave them a little lecture about soldiers and “fun.”7

The scale of the rape increased once Soviet soldiers reached Germany
itself. It is hard to be sure just why. The Soviet Union, though egalitarian in
principle, did not instill respect for the female body in this most elemental
sense. Aside and apart from their experience with Germans, Red Army
soldiers were products of the Soviet system, and often of its most vicious
institutions. About a million Gulag prisoners were released early so that
they could fight on the front. All Soviet soldiers seemed frustrated by the
utter senselessness of the German attack on their poor country. Every



German worker’s house was finer than their own homes. Soldiers
sometimes said that they attacked only “capitalists,” but from their
perspective a simple German farmer was unthinkably rich. And yet despite
their obviously higher standard of living the Germans had come to the
Soviet Union, to rob and to kill. Soviet soldiers may have understood the
rape of German women as a way to humiliate and dishonor German men.8

As the Red Army took enormous losses as it moved west, its ranks were
filled by conscripts from the Belarusian and Ukrainian Soviet republics
whose families had suffered at the hands of Germans and whose young
lives had been shaped by German occupation. Many Soviet soldiers thus
had personal reasons to endorse the propaganda that they read and heard,
which sometimes blamed the entire German nation for the Soviet tragedy.
The vast majority of Red Army soldiers were not avenging the Holocaust as
such, but they were reading the propaganda of people who had been deeply
wounded by the mass murder of Jews. Ilya Ehrenburg, the Soviet-Jewish
writer now working as a journalist for the army newspaper The Red Star,
was at this point a specialist in hate propaganda. “From now on,” he had
written in 1942, “we have understood that the Germans are not humans.”9

Whatever the motivations, the outburst of violence against German
women was extraordinary. Men who tried to defend daughters or wives
were beaten and sometimes killed. The women had few men to protect
them. Theirs were dead in battle (some five million German men had been
killed in action by this point), drafted into the Wehrmacht, summoned to the
emergency civil defense, or seized by the Soviets as labor. Most of the men
present were aged or disabled. In some villages, every single female was
raped, whatever her age. As the German novelist Günter Grass learned later
in life, his mother had offered herself so that his sister might be spared.
Neither was. Gang rapes were very common. Many women died as a result
of wounds sustained during successive rapes.10

German women often committed suicide, or tried to kill themselves, to
prevent rape or to evade the shame of having been raped. As one recalled
her flight, “With the darkness came an indescribable fright. Many women
and girls were right there and raped by the Russians.” Hearing their
screams, she and her sister slit their wrists, but survived: likely because they
were too cold to bleed to death, and because they were treated by a Soviet



doctor the following day. They were spared during the night, probably
because they had passed out and seemed to be dead. Indeed, death was one
of the few defenses against rape. Martha Kurzmann and her sister were
spared only because they were burying their mother. “Just as we had
washed our dead mother and wished to dress her body, a Russian came and
wanted to rape us.” He spat and turned away. That was the exception.11

 

Women who were raped were sometimes then taken as forced labor; but
most of those seized for labor were men. The Soviets seized about 520,000
Germans—so about a tenth as many people as the Germans had taken from
the Soviet Union for forced labor. The Soviets also took some 287,000
people as laborers from east European countries, and deported at least
40,000 Poles thought to represent a threat to Soviet power or future
communist rule. They seized Hungarian civilians in Budapest, treated them
as prisoners of war, and forced them to work in camps. Germans were sent
to do dark and dangerous work in the mines of Polish Silesia, or eastern
Ukraine, or Kazakhstan, or Siberia. Death rates among Germans were far
higher than among Soviet citizens. At Camp 517 in Karelia, Germans died
at five times the usual Gulag rates.12

About 600,000 Germans taken as prisoners of war or laborers at the end
of the war would die. Perhaps 185,000 German civilians died in Soviet
captivity during and after the war, and perhaps 30,000 more in Polish
camps. About 363,000 German prisoners of war also perished in the Soviet
camps (an 11.8 percent fatality rate, as compared to 57.5 percent for Soviet
soldiers in German camps). Many more prisoners died on the way to the
camps, or were shot after surrendering without being registered as prisoners
of war.13

As so often, Stalin’s crimes were enabled by Hitler’s policies. In large
measure, the German men were there to be seized, and the German women
to be raped, because the Nazis failed to organize systematic evacuations. In
the last few weeks of the war, Germans troops were racing west to
surrender to the British or the Americans rather than to the Soviets;
civilians often lacked such an option.



Hitler had presented the war as a matter of will, and thereby accentuated
the tendency, always present in war, to deny defeat and therefore to worsen
its consequences. He saw armed conflict as a test of the German race:
“Germany will either be a world power, or there will be no Germany.” His
nationalism was always of a particular kind: he believed that the German
nation was potentially great, but that it required the challenges of empire to
purge itself of degeneracy. Thus Germans could be favored so long as a war
was going on, and going well. If Germans disappointed Hitler by failing to
cleanse themselves in the blood of their defeated enemies, then that was
their fault. Hitler had showed them the way, but Germans had failed to
follow. If Germans lost their war of salvation, there was no longer any
reason why they should survive. For Hitler, any suffering that Germans
might endure was a consequence of their own weakness: “If the German
people are not prepared to stand up for their own preservation, fine. Let
them perish.”14

Hitler himself chose suicide. His were not the sort of pragmatic attitudes
necessary to preserve the lives of civilians. The civilian authorities in
eastern Germany, the Gauleiters, were dedicated Nazi party men, and
among Hitler’s most loyal followers. In three crucial provinces, the
Gauleiters failed to organize evacuations. In East Prussia, the Gauleiter was
Erich Koch, the same man who had been Reichskommissar for Ukraine. He
had once said that he would have to shoot any Ukrainian who was worthy
of eating at his table. Now, in January 1945, an army composed quite
significantly of Ukrainians was bearing down on his German province, and
he could not seem quite to believe it. In Pomerania, Franz Schwede-Coburg
actually tried to halt the flow of German refugees. In Lower Silesia, Karl
Hanke was concerned that flight would undermine his campaign to make of
Breslau (today Wrocław) a fortress that could stop the Red Army. In fact,
the Red Army surrounded Breslau so quickly that people were trapped.
Because German civilians left too late, they died in far higher numbers than
they might have. The Soviet navy sank 206 of the 790 ships used to
evacuate Germans from the Baltic coast. One of these, the Wilhelm Gustloff,
was recalled later by Günter Grass in his novel Crabwalk.15

Germans fleeing by land were often caught, quite literally, in the crossfire
of the Red Army and the Wehrmacht. Over and over again, Soviet tank
units crashed into columns of German civilians and their horse carts. Eva



Jahntz recalled what happened then: “The few men were shot, the women
raped, and the children beaten and separated from their mothers.” Grass,
who saw such a scene as a Waffen-SS soldier, “saw a women scream, but
could not hear her scream.”16

The new Poland was founded at the moment when flight became
deportation. The end of hostilities brought organized ethnic cleansing to the
new western lands of Poland, officially known as the “recovered
territories.” On 26 May 1945 the central committee of the Polish party
resolved that all Germans on Polish territory were to be removed. By then,
Germans were already coming back. They had fled the Red Army, but had
no wish to lose all of their property and belongings, or to abandon their
homeland. They also had no way of knowing that their return was pointless,
that their homeland was to become Polish, and their homes to be given to
Poles. By June 1945 perhaps a million of the six million or so German
refugees had returned. The Polish communists decided to send the newly
constituted army, now under their command, to “cleanse” these Germans
from what they understood to be Polish territory.17

In summer 1945, the Polish communists were looking ahead nervously to
the final peace settlement. If they could not keep the Germans west of the
Oder-Neiße line, perhaps they would not be awarded these territories. They
were also following the example set by democratic Czechoslovakia, just to
the south. Its president, Edvard Beneš, had been wartime Europe’s most
articulate advocate of deporting Germans. He had told his citizens on 12
May that the German nation “had ceased to be human.” The day before, the
leader of the Czechoslovak communist party had spoken of postwar
Czechoslovakia as “a republic of Czechs and Slovaks.” The Czechoslovaks,
whose German minority numbered about three million (a quarter of the
population), had been marching their German citizens across the border
since May. As many as thirty thousand Germans would be killed in these
expulsions; some 5,558 Germans committed suicide in Czechoslovakia in
1945. Günter Grass, by then a prisoner of war in an American camp in
Czechoslovakia, wondered if the GIs were there to guard him or to protect
the Germans from the Czechs.18



The officers of the new Polish army told their troops to treat the German
peasants as the enemy. The entire German nation was guilty, and not to be
pitied. The commanding general issued instructions to “treat them as they
treated us.” It never came to that, but the conditions of the military
deportations of 20 June-20 July 1945 reflected haste, indifference, and the
primacy of high politics. The army deported people who lived closest to the
Oder-Neiße line, to create the impression that these territories were ready
for transfer to Poland. The army surrounded villages, gave people a few
hours to pack, formed them into columns, and then marched them across
the border. The army reported moving some 1.2 million people in this way,
although that is likely a very considerable exaggeration; some people, in
any event, were deported twice, since slipping back after the soldiers had
gone was none too difficult.19

In all likelihood, these Polish efforts of summer 1945 made no difference
to the final outcome. Although the British and the Americans had agreed
between themselves that they should resist Stalin’s plans for the Polish
western frontier, they conceded the point at Potsdam in late July 1945. They
accepted Stalin’s proposed border for Poland, the Oder-Neiße line; the only
condition, which Stalin probably understood as window dressing for Polish-
American voters, was that the next Polish government be chosen in free
elections. The three powers agreed that population transfers from Poland
and Czechoslovakia (and Hungary) should be continued, but only after a
pause necessary to ensure more humane conditions for the people resettled.
Germans lands were under joint occupation, the Soviets in the northeast, the
British in the west, and the Americans in the south. The Americans and
British were concerned that further chaotic population movements would
bring chaos to their occupation zones in Germany.20

After Potsdam, the Polish government sought precisely to create
inhumane conditions for Germans in Poland, so that Germans would decide
to leave. Stalin had told Gomułka that he “should create such conditions for
the Germans that they will want to escape themselves.” From July 1945,
Polish authorities did just this, under the euphemistic guise of “voluntary
repatriations.” The policy of indirect expulsion was perhaps most flagrant in
Silesia, where the regional governor forbade the use of German in public
places, banned German schools, seized German property, and ordered
German men to work in the mines. The approach was perhaps most



guileless (or cynical) in the city of Olsztyn, formerly in East Prussia, where
Germans were summoned “voluntarily” to go to Germany by the end of
October 1945—and at the same time informed that “those who resist shall
be directed to the camps.”21

Polish prisons and temporary penal and labor camps were at this time full
of Germans, who, along with all other prisoners, were treated very badly.
The prisons and camps were placed under the jurisdiction of the
communist-led Ministry of Public Security, rather than under the ministry
of justice or internal affairs. At this time the Polish government was still a
coalition; but it was dominated by the communists, who always made sure
to control such offices as Public Security. The camp commanders, generally
free of discipline from above, presided over general chaos and frequent
murder. In the village of Nieszawa in north-central Poland, thirty-eight men,
women, and children were thrown into the Vistula River; the men and
women were shot first, the children were not. At the camp at Lubraniec, the
commander danced on a German woman who was so badly beaten that she
could not move. In this way, he exclaimed, “we lay the foundation for a
new Poland.”22

In some places the revenge was quite literal. At the camp at
Łambinowice, Czesław Gęborski consciously modeled the regulations on
those of the Germans (despite orders to the contrary) and openly proclaimed
his desire for vengeance. On 4 October 1945 forty prisoners in
Łambinowice were murdered; all in all, some 6,488 Germans died there in
1945 and 1946. Gęborski had been in prison under the Germans; other
commanders of Polish camps had other reasons for revenge. Izydor
Cedrowski, the commander at the camp at Potulice, was a Jewish
Auschwitz survivor whose family had been shot by the Germans. Germans
and others died of exposure, disease, and mistreatment in these camps by
the hundreds each day. All in all, some two hundred thousand Germans
labored in Polish camps, of whom a very high number, perhaps thirty
thousand, died in 1945 or 1946.23

By the second half of 1945, Germans had good reason to depart Poland
“voluntarily,” though leaving proved to be just as dangerous as staying.
Trains were now allocated for the transports, although these were freight



trains, often with open cars. When the cars were not open, the Germans
sometimes feared that they would be gassed. This, of course, never
happened—though it does demonstrate that Germans knew that other
people had very recently been led into enclosed spaces and asphyxiated.
Indeed, in one of the places from which Germans were now expelled, at
Stutthof, the Germans had used a railcar as a gas chamber.24

The trains moved very slowly, turning journeys that should have lasted
hours into horrible odysseys. The Germans who boarded the trains were
very often hungry or sick. They were allowed to take with them only what
they could carry on their backs. This was promptly stolen from them by
bandits—or by the Polish militia who were supposed to protect them. One
reason why the trains stopped so frequently was to allow bandits to rob
people of what they had left. In these situations, mortality on the trains was
considerable, although it should have been negligible. Germans had to bury
their dead along the way, at these anonymous stops, in the middle of
nowhere, without markers or any way of knowing just where to return.
They had no one to look after their interests in Poland, and very often no
one to greet them on the other side. About six hundred thousand Germans
reached Germany in this fashion in the second half of 1945.25

The Allies agreed to a plan for the further deportations in November
1945, and the British and the Soviets prepared themselves to greet and care
for the Germans who were to arrive in 1946. Because much of the death and
disorder was a result of the conditions of boarding and embarkation, the
Soviets and the British now sent representatives to monitor the deportations
on the Polish side. The expectation, largely fulfilled, was that more orderly
transports would mean less chaos in Germany. Over the course of 1946
about two million more Germans were dispatched by train to the British and
the Soviet occupation zones of Germany; another six hundred thousand or
so followed in 1947. Although conditions were far from humane, fatalities
during these transports were much lower, no more than a few thousand or,
at most, a few tens of thousands.26

By the end of 1947 some 7.6 million Germans had left Poland, roughly
half of them as refugees fleeing the Red Army, roughly half as deportees.
These proportions and these numbers can never be rendered with precision,
as many people fled, returned, and were deported; others were deported



more than once. Many people who had presented themselves as Germans
during (or even before) the war now claimed to be Poles, and so eluded the
transports. (By this time, the Polish government, more interested in labor
than in ethnic purity, looked favorably upon requests in ambiguous cases
that people be regarded as Poles. And by this time, many people who had
earlier called themselves Poles were presenting themselves as Germans,
believing that Germany’s economic future was brighter than Poland’s.) But
the general balance is clear: the vast majority of people who regarded
themselves as Germans had left Poland by the end of 1947. In all of this
flight and transport, from early 1945 to late 1947, perhaps four hundred
thousand Germans native to lands that were annexed by Poland died: most
of them in Soviet and Polish camps, and a second large group caught
between armies or drowned at sea.27

The last weeks of the war itself, and the belated evacuations, were far
more dangerous than the expulsions that followed the end of the war. In the
final four months of the war, Germans suffered in one of the ways that other
civilians had during the previous four years of war on the eastern front,
during the advance and the retreat of the Wehrmacht. Millions of people
had fled the German attack in 1941; millions more had been taken for labor
between 1941 and 1944; still more were forced to evacuate by the retreating
Wehrmacht in 1944. Far more Soviet and Polish citizens died after fleeing
Germans than did Germans as a result of flight from Soviets. Although such
displacements were not policies of deliberate murder (and have therefore
received almost no attention in this study), flight, evacuation, and forced
labor led, directly or indirectly, to the death of a few million Soviet and
Polish citizens. (German policies of deliberate mass murder killed an
additional ten million people.)28

The war had been fought in the name of the German race, but ended with
unconcern for actual German civilians. Much responsibility for the deaths
associated with flight and expulsion thus rested with the Nazi regime.
German civilians knew enough about German policy during the war to
know that they should flee, but their flight was not well organized by the
German state. The behavior of many Soviet soldiers was certainly tolerated
by the high command and expected by Stalin; the Red Army would not
have been in Germany, however, had the Wehrmacht not invaded the Soviet
Union. Stalin favored ethnic homogeneity, but this was an idea that Hitler’s



own policies made seem inevitable, and not only in Moscow. The
expulsions themselves were a result of an international consensus of victors
and victims.

In the end, the expulsions were one more way that Stalin won Hitler’s war.
By taking so much of Germany on Poland’s behalf, Stalin guaranteed that
Poles would be beholden, whether they liked it or not, to Soviet military
power. Who but the Red Army could be counted upon to defend such a
westerly Polish border from a resurgent Germany at some later point?29

In these years, Poland was a nation in movement. Even as the Germans
had to move west to a more westerly Germany, Poles had to move west to a
more westerly Poland. As Germans were cleansed from communist Poland,
Poles were cleansed from the Soviet Union. Despite the preferences of all
Polish political parties, including the communists, the Soviet Union once
again annexed the lands that had been eastern Poland. The people who were
then “repatriated” (as the Stalinist euphemism had it) to Poland had no
reason to love communism or Stalin. Yet they were indeed bound to the
communist system. Communists could take land but also grant it, expel
people but also give them refuge. People who had both lost old homes and
gained new ones were utterly dependent upon whomever could defend
them. This could only be the Polish communists, who could promise that
the Red Army would protect Poland’s gains. Communism had little to offer
Poland as an ideology, and was never very popular. But Stalin’s ethnic
geopolitics took the place of the class struggle, creating a durable basis of
support, if not legitimacy, for the new regime.30

The Americans and the British had supported expulsions at Potsdam, in
the expectation of democratic elections in Poland. These never took place.
Instead the first postwar government, dominated by communists,
intimidated and arrested opponents. The Americans then began to see the
Oder-Neiße line as an issue that could be used against the Soviet Union.
When the American secretary of state questioned its permanence in
September 1946, he was increasing American and weakening Soviet
influence in Germany, among Germans unreconciled to the loss of territory
and the expulsions. But he was also helping to consolidate the Soviet
position in Poland. The Polish regime held parliamentary elections in



January 1947, but falsified the results. The Americans and the British then
watched their own chances for influence in Poland disappear. Stanisław
Mikołajczyk, the prime minister of Poland’s government in exile, had
returned to contest the elections as the head of a peasant party. Now he had
to escape.31

The Polish regime could make the powerful claim that only its Soviet
ally could protect the new western frontier from the Germans, whom the
Americans were only encouraging. By 1947, Poles themselves, regardless
of what they thought about the communists, could hardly contemplate
losing the “the recovered territories.” As Gomułka had correctly
anticipated, the expulsion of the Germans would “bind the nation to the
system.” The gifted communist ideologist Jakub Berman believed that
communists should make the most of their ethnic cleansing. The “recovered
territories” gave many Poles who had suffered during the war a better house
or a bigger farm. It allowed for land reform, the first step in any communist
takeover. Perhaps most of all, it gave a million Polish migrants from eastern
Poland (annexed by the USSR) a place to go. Precisely because Poland had
lost so much in the east, the west was all the more precious.32

The ethnic cleansing of Germans from newly Polish lands came at the end
of the war. It was, however, the second half of a Soviet policy that had
actually begun much earlier, during the war itself, in the prewar lands of
eastern Poland, east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line. Just as Germans had to
leave lands that were no longer German, Poles had to leave lands that were
no longer Polish. Although Poland was technically a victor in the war, it
lost almost half (forty-seven percent) of its prewar territory to the Soviet
Union. After the war, Poles (and Polish Jews) were no longer welcome in
what became the western parts of the Soviet Belarusian and Soviet
Ukrainian republics and the Vilnius region of the Soviet Lithuanian
republic.33

The alteration of the population structure of eastern Poland to the
detriment of Poles and Jews began earlier, during the war itself. The Soviets
had deported hundreds of thousands of people during their first occupation,
in 1940 and in 1941. A disproportionate number of these had been Poles.
Many made their way from the Gulag through Iran and Palestine to fight



with the Allies on the western front, and sometimes they reached Poland at
war’s end; but they almost never made it back to their homes. The Germans
had killed about 1.3 million Jews in the former eastern Poland in 1941 and
1942, with the help of local policemen. Some of these Ukrainian policemen
helped to form a Ukrainian partisan army in 1943, which under the
leadership of Ukrainian nationalists cleansed the former southwest Poland
—which it saw as western Ukraine—of remaining Poles. The OUN-
Bandera, the nationalist organization that led the partisan army, had long
pledged to rid Ukraine of its national minorities. Its capacity to kill Poles
depended upon German training, and its determination to kill Poles had
much to do with its desire to clear the terrain of purported enemies before a
final confrontation with the Red Army. The UPA, as the partisan army was
known, murdered tens of thousands of Poles, and provoked reprisals from
Poles upon Ukrainian civilians.34

Although the UPA was a determined (perhaps the most determined)
opponent of communism, the ethnic conflict that it started only
strengthened Stalin’s empire. What Ukrainian nationalists had started,
Stalin would conclude. He continued the removal of Poles, attaching the
contested territories to his Soviet Ukraine. Polish communists signed
agreements in September 1944 providing for population exchanges between
Poland and Soviet Ukraine (as well as Soviet Belarus and Soviet Lithuania).
In Soviet Ukraine, Poles remembered Soviet rule from the very recent past,
and faced now a continuing threat from Ukrainian nationalists. They thus
had every reason to take part in these “repatriations.” Some 780,000 Poles
were shipped to communist Poland, within its new frontiers, along with a
comparable number from Soviet Belarus and Soviet Lithuania. Some
1,517,983 people had left the Soviet Union as Poles by the middle of 1946,
along with a few hundred thousand who did not register for the official
transports. About a hundred thousand of these people were Jewish: Soviet
policy was to remove both ethnic Poles and ethnic Jews from the former
eastern Poland, but to keep Belarusians, Ukrainians, and Lithuanians. About
a million Polish citizens were resettled in what had been eastern Germany,
now the “recovered territories” of western Poland. Meanwhile, about
483,099 Ukrainians were dispatched from communist Poland to Soviet
Ukraine in 1944-1946, most of them by force.35



Even as the Soviet regime was dispatching people across borders, it was
also sending its own citizens to camps and special settlements. Most of the
new Gulag prisoners were people from the lands that Stalin had taken in
1939 with German consent and then took again in 1945. Between 1944 and
1946, for example, 182,543 Ukrainians were deported from Soviet Ukraine
to the Gulag: not for committing a particular crime, not even for being
Ukrainian nationalists, but for being related to or acquainted with Ukrainian
nationalists. At about the same time, in 1946 and 1947, the Soviets
sentenced 148,079 Red Army veterans to the Gulag for collaboration with
the Germans. There were never more Soviet citizens in the Gulag than in
the years after the war; indeed, the number of Soviet citizens in the camps
and special settlements increased every year from 1945 until Stalin’s
death.36

 

Communist Poland had no Gulag, but in 1947 its rulers did propose a “final
solution” to their “Ukrainian problem”: by the dispersion of remaining
Ukrainians far from home but within the boundaries of Poland. Between
April and July 1947, the Polish regime itself carried out one more operation
against Ukrainians on its territory, under the cryptonym “Vistula.” Some
140,660 Ukrainians, or people identified as such, were resettled by force



from the south and southeast of the country to the west and north, to the
“recovered territories” that until recently had been German. Operation
Vistula was supposed to force Ukrainians in Poland, or at least their
children, to assimilate into Polish culture. At the same time, Polish forces
defeated the units of the Ukrainian partisan army, the UPA, on Polish soil.
Ukrainian nationalist fighters in Poland had been given a new lease on life
as defenders of people who did not wish to be deported. But once almost all
Ukrainians had in fact been deported, the UPA’s position in Poland was
untenable. Some UPA fighters fled to the West, others to the Soviet Union
to continue the fight.37

Operation Vistula, originally codenamed Operation East, was undertaken
entirely by Polish forces, with little Soviet assistance inside Poland. But the
crucial people involved in planning the operation were Soviet clients, and it
was certainly coordinated with Moscow. It took place at the same time as a
number of Soviet operations, on adjacent Soviet territories, which bore
similar cryptonyms. The most obviously related was Operation West, which
took place on adjoining territories of Soviet Ukraine. As Operation Vistula
was brought to a close, the Soviets ordered the deportation of Ukrainians
from western Ukraine to Siberia and central Asia. In a few days in October
1947, some 76,192 Ukrainians were transported to the Gulag. In western
Ukraine, Soviet special forces were engaged with the UPA in a fantastically
bloody conflict. Both sides committed atrocities, including the public
display of the mutilated corpses of the enemy or his supposed collaborators.
But in the end the technology of deportation gave the Soviets a decided
advantage. The Gulag kept growing.38

After this success at the Ukrainian-Polish border, the Soviets turned to
other European borderlands, and applied similar means in similar
operations. In Operation Spring in May 1948, some 49,331 Lithuanians
were deported. The following March, Operation Priboi saw the removal of
31,917 more people from Lithuania, as well as 42,149 from Latvia and
20,173 from Estonia. All in all, between 1941 and 1949, Stalin deported
some two hundred thousand people from the three small Baltic States. Like
all of the thrice-occupied (Soviet, then German, then Soviet) lands east of
the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, the Baltic States entered the USSR in 1945
having lost much of their elite, and indeed a significant share of the total
population.39



Under Stalin, the Soviet Union had evolved, slowly and haltingly, from a
revolutionary Marxist state into a large, multinational empire with a Marxist
covering ideology and traditional security concerns about borders and
minorities. Because Stalin inherited, maintained, and mastered the security
apparatus of the revolutionary years, these anxieties could be released in
bursts of national killing in 1937-1938 and 1940, and in bouts of national
deportation that began in 1930 and continued throughout Stalin’s lifetime.
The deportations of the war continued a certain evolution in Soviet
deportation policy: away from the traditional resettlements of individuals
thought to represent enemy classes, and toward an ethnic cleansing that
matched populations to borders.

In the prewar period, the deportations to the Gulag were always meant to
serve two purposes: the growth of the Soviet economy and the correction of
the Soviet population. In the 1930s, as the Soviets began to deport large
numbers of people on ethnic grounds, the goal was to move national
minorities away from sensitive border regions toward the interior. These
national deportations could hardly be seen as a specific punishment of
individuals, but they were still premised on the assumption that those
deported could be better assimilated into Soviet society when they were
separated from their homes and homelands. The national actions of the
Great Terror killed a quarter of a million people in 1937 and 1938, but also
dispatched hundreds of thousands of people to Siberia and Kazakhstan,
where they were expected to work for the state and reform themselves.
Even the deportations of 1940-1941, from annexed Polish, Baltic, and
Romanian territories, can be seen in Soviet terms as a class war. Men of
elite families were killed at Katyn and other sites, and their wives, children,
and parents left to the mercy of the Kazakh steppe. There they would
integrate with Soviet society, or they would die.

During the war, Stalin undertook punitive actions that targeted national
minorities for their association with Nazi Germany. Some nine hundred
thousand Soviet Germans and about eighty-nine thousand Finns were
deported in 1941 and 1942. As the Red Army moved forward after the
victory at Stalingrad in early 1943, Stalin’s security chief Lavrenty Beria
recommended the deportation of whole peoples accused of collaborating



with the Germans. For the most part, these were the Muslim nations of the
Caucasus and Crimea.40

As Soviet troops retook the Caucasus, Stalin and Beria put the machine
into action. On a single day, 19 November 1943, the Soviets deported the
entire Karachai population, some 69,267 people, to Soviet Kazakhstan and
Kyrgyzstan. Over the course of two days, 28-29 December 1943, the
Soviets dispatched 91,919 Kalmyks to Siberia. Beria went to Grozny
personally to supervise the deportations of the Chechen and Ingush peoples
on 20 February 1944. Leading about 120,000 special forces, he rounded up
and expelled 478,479 people in just over a week. He had at his disposal
American Studebaker trucks, supplied during the war. Because no Chechens
or Ingush were to be left behind, people who could not be moved were shot.
Villages were burned to the ground everywhere; in some places, barns full
of people were burned as well. Over the course of two days, 8-9 March
1944, the Soviets removed the Balkar population, 37,107 people, to
Kazakhstan. In April 1944, right after the Red Army reached the Crimea,
Beria proposed and Stalin agreed that the entire Crimean Tatar population
be resettled. Over the course of three days, 18-20 March 1944, 180,014
people were deported, most of them to Uzbekistan. Later in 1944, Beria had
the Meshketian Turks, some 91,095 people, deported from Soviet
Georgia.41

Against this backdrop of essentially continuous national purges, Stalin’s
decision to cleanse the Soviet-Polish border seems like an unsurprising
development of a general policy. From a Soviet perspective, Ukrainian,
Baltic, or Polish partisans were simply more bandits causing trouble along
the periphery, to be dealt with by overwhelming force and deportations.
There was, however, an important difference. All of the kulaks and
members of national minorities deported in the 1930s found themselves far
from home, but still within the USSR. The same was true of the Crimean
and Caucasian and Baltic populations deported during and shortly after the
war. Yet in September 1944, Stalin opted to move Poles (and Polish Jews),
Ukrainians, and Belarusians back and forth across a state border in order to
create ethnic homogeneity. The same logic was applied, on a far greater
scale, to the Germans in Poland.

Working in parallel, and sometimes together, the Soviet and communist
Polish regimes achieved a curious feat between 1944 and 1947: they



removed the ethnic minorities, on both sides of the Soviet-Polish border,
that had made the border regions mixed; and at the very same time, they
removed the ethnic nationalists who had fought the hardest for precisely
that kind of purity. Communists had taken up the program of their enemies.
Soviet rule had become ethnic cleansing—cleansed of the ethnic cleansers.

The territory of postwar Poland was the geographical center of Stalin’s
campaign of postwar ethnic cleansing. In that campaign, more Germans lost
their homes than any other group. Some 7.6 million Germans had left
Poland by the end of 1947, and another three million or so were deported
from democratic Czechoslovakia. About nine hundred thousand Volga
Germans were deported within the Soviet Union during the war. The
number of Germans who lost their homes during and after the war exceeded
twelve million.

Enormous as this figure was, it did not constitute a majority of the forced
displacements during and after the war. Two million or so non-Germans
were deported by Soviet (or communist Polish) authorities in the same
postwar period. Another eight million people, most of them forced laborers
taken by the Germans, were returned to the Soviet Union at the same time.
(Since many if not most of them would have preferred not to return, they
could be counted twice.) In the Soviet Union and Poland, more than twelve
million Ukrainians, Poles, Belarusians, and others fled or were moved
during the war or in its aftermath. This does not include the ten million or
so people who were deliberately killed by the Germans, most of whom were
displaced in one way or another before they were murdered.42

The flight and deportation of the Germans, though not a policy of
deliberate mass killing, constituted the major incident of postwar ethnic
cleansing. In all of the civil conflict, flight, deportation, and resettlement
provoked or caused by the return of the Red Army between 1943 and 1947,
some 700,000 Germans died, as did at least 150,000 Poles and perhaps
250,000 Ukrainians. At a minimum, another 300,000 Soviet citizens died
during or shortly after the Soviet deportations from the Caucasus, Crimea,
Moldova, and the Baltic States. If the struggles of Lithuanian, Latvian, and
Estonian nationalists against the reimposition of Soviet power are regarded
as resistance to deportations, which in some measure they were, another



hundred thousand or so people would have to be added to the total dead
associated with ethnic cleansing.43

In relative terms, the percentage of Germans moved as a part of the total
population of Germans was much inferior to that of the Caucasian and
Crimean peoples, who were deported down to the last person. The
percentage of Germans who moved or were moved at the end of the war
was greater than that of Poles, Belarusians, Ukrainians, and Balts. But if the
population movements caused by the Germans during the war are added to
those caused by the Soviet occupation at war’s end, this difference
disappears. Over the period 1939-1947, Poles, Ukrainians, Belarusians, and
Balts were about as likely (some a bit more, some a bit less) to have been
forcibly moved as Germans. Whereas all of the other peoples in question
faced hostile German and Soviet policies, the Germans (with some
exceptions) experienced oppression only from the Soviet side.

In the postwar period, Germans were about as likely to lose their lives as
Poles, the other group that was mainly sent west to a national homeland.
Germans and Poles were much less likely to die than Ukrainians,
Romanians, Balts, and the Caucasian and Crimean peoples. Fewer than one
in ten Germans and Poles died during or as a direct result of flight, exile, or
deportation; among Balts and Soviet citizens, the rate was more like one in
five. As a general rule, the further east the deportation, and the more
directly Soviet power was involved, the more deadly the outcome. This is
evident in the case of the Germans themselves: the tremendous majority of
Germans who fled Poland and Czechoslovakia survived, whereas a large
proportion of those transported east within or to the Soviet Union died.

It was better to be sent west than east, and better to be sent to an awaiting
homeland than to a distant and alien Soviet republic. It was also better to
land in developed (even if bombed and war-torn) Germany than in Soviet
wastelands that deportees were supposed to develop themselves. It was
better to be received by British and American authorities in occupation
zones than by the local NKVD in Kazakhstan or Siberia.

Rather quickly, within about two years after the end of the war, Stalin had
made his new Poland and his new frontiers, and moved peoples to match
them. By 1947, it might have seemed that the war was finally over, and that



the Soviet Union had well and truly won a military victory over the
Germans and their allies and a political victory over opponents of
communism in eastern Europe.

Poles, always a troublesome group, had been dispatched from the Soviet
Union to a new communist Poland, bound now to the Soviet Union as the
anchor of a new communist empire. Poland, it might have seemed, had been
subdued: twice invaded, twice subject to deportations and killings, altered
in its borders and demography, ruled by a party dependent on Moscow.
Germany had been utterly defeated and humiliated. Its territories as of 1938
were divided into multiple occupation zones, and would find their way into
five different sovereign states: the Federal Republic of Germany (West
Germany), the German Democratic Republic (East Germany), Austria,
Poland, and the USSR (at Kaliningrad). Japan had been utterly defeated by
the Americans, its cities firebombed or, at the very end, destroyed by
nuclear weapons. It was no longer a power in continental Asia. Stalin’s
traditional threats had been removed. The prewar nightmare of a Japanese-
Polish-German encirclement was passé.

More Soviet citizens had died in the Second World War than any people
in any war in recorded history. At home, Soviet ideologists had taken
advantage of the suffering to justify Stalinist rule: as the necessary price of
victory in what was called “the Great Patriotic War.” The patria in question
was Russia as well as the Soviet Union; Stalin himself famously raised a
toast to “the great Russian nation” just after the war’s end, in May 1945.
Russians, he maintained, had won the war. To be sure, about half the
population of the Soviet Union was Russian, and so in a numerical sense
Russians had played a greater part in the victory than any other people. Yet
Stalin’s idea contained a purposeful confusion: the war on Soviet territory
was fought and won chiefly in Soviet Belarus and in Soviet Ukraine, rather
than in Soviet Russia. More Jewish, Belarusian, and Ukrainian civilians had
been killed than Russians. Because the Red Army took such horrible losses,
its ranks were filled by local Belarusian and Ukrainian conscripts at both
the beginning and the end of the war. The deported Caucasian and Crimean
peoples, for that matter, had seen a higher percentage of their young people
die in the Red Army than had the Russians. Jewish soldiers had been more
likely to be decorated for valor than Russian soldiers.



The Jewish tragedy, in particular, could not be enclosed within the Soviet
experience, and was thus a threat to postwar Soviet mythmaking. About 5.7
million Jewish civilians had been murdered by the Germans and
Romanians, of whom some 2.6 million were Soviet citizens in 1941. This
meant not only that more Jewish civilians were murdered in absolute terms
than members of any other Soviet nationality. It also meant that more than



half of the cataclysm took place beyond the postwar boundaries of the
Soviet Union. From a Stalinist perspective, even the experience of the mass
murder of one’s peoples was a worrying example of exposure to the outside
world. In 1939-1941, when the Soviet Union had annexed Poland and the
Germans had not yet invaded the USSR, Soviet Jews mingled with Polish
Jews, who reminded them of religious and linguistic traditions, of the world
of their grandparents. Soviet and Polish Jews, during that brief but
important moment, lived together. Then, after the German invasion, they
died together. Precisely because extermination was a fate common to Jews
across borders, its recollection could not be reduced to that of an element in
the Great Patriotic War.

It was precisely exposure to the West that concerned Stalin, even as his
system was replicated in several states of eastern and central Europe. In the
interwar period, Soviet citizens really had believed that they were better off
than the masses suffering under capitalist exploitation in the West. Now
America had emerged from the Second World War as an unrivalled
economic power. In 1947 it offered economic aid, in the form of the
Marshall Plan, to European countries willing to cooperate with one another
on elementary matters of trade and financial policy. Stalin could reject
Marshall aid and force his clients to reject it as well, but he could not banish
the knowledge that Soviet citizens had gained during the war. Every
returning Soviet soldier and forced laborer knew that standards of living in
the rest of Europe, even in relatively poor countries such as Romania and
Poland, were far higher than in the Soviet Union. Ukrainians returned to a
country where famine was raging again. Perhaps a million people starved to
death in the two years after the war. It was western Ukraine, with a private
agricultural sector that the Soviets had not yet had time to collectivize, that
saved the rest of Soviet Ukraine from even greater suffering.44

Russians were a safer basis for a Stalinist legend of the war. The battles
for Moscow and Stalingrad were victories. Russians were the largest nation,
theirs was the dominant language and culture, and their republic was further
away from the West, both in its Nazi and in its emerging American
incarnations. Russia is vast: the Germans never even aimed to colonize
more than its western fifth, and never conquered more than its western
tenth. Soviet Russia had not suffered total occupation for months and years,
as had the Baltics, Belarus, or Ukraine. Everyone who remained in Soviet



Belarus and Soviet Ukraine experienced German occupation; the vast
majority of the inhabitants of Soviet Russia did not. Soviet Russia was
much less marked by the Holocaust than Soviet Ukraine or Soviet Belarus,
simply because the Germans arrived later and were able to kill fewer Jews
(about sixty thousand, or about one percent of the Holocaust). In this way,
too, Soviet Russia was more distant from the experience of the war.

Once the war was over, the task was to insulate the Russian nation, and
of course all of the other nations, from cultural infection. One of the most
dangerous intellectual plagues would be interpretations of the war that
differed from Stalin’s own.
 

The victory of Soviet-style communism in eastern Europe gave rise to as
much anxiety as triumphalism. The political victories were certainly
impressive: communists in Albania, Bulgaria, Hungary, Poland, Romania,
and Yugoslavia dominated their countries by 1947, thanks to Soviet help
but also thanks to their own training, ruthlessness, and ingenuity.
Communists proved rather good at mobilizing human resources for the
immediate problems of postwar reconstruction, as for example in Warsaw.

But how long could the Soviet-economic model of rapid industrialization
produce growth in countries that were more industrial than the Soviet Union
had been at the time of the first Five-Year Plan, and whose citizens
expected higher standards of living? How long could east European
societies accept that communism was national liberation, when their
communist leaders were obviously beholden to a foreign power, the Soviet
Union? How could Moscow sustain the image of the West as a constant
enemy, when the United States seemed to represent both prosperity and
freedom? Stalin needed his appointed east European leaders to follow his
wishes, exploit nationalism, and isolate their peoples from the West, which
was a very difficult combination to achieve.

It was the task of Andrei Zhdanov, Stalin’s new propaganda chief and
favorite, to square all of these circles. Zhdanov was to theorize the
inevitable victory of the Soviet Union in the postwar world, and protect
Russian purity in the meantime. In August 1946 the Soviet communist party
had passed a resolution condemning Western influence on Soviet culture.
The pollution might flow from western Europe, or America, but also



through cultures that crossed boundaries, such as the Jewish or the
Ukrainian or the Polish. Zhdanov also had to account for the new rivalry
between the Soviet Union and the United States, in a way that the east
European leaders could understand and apply in their own countries.

In September 1947, the leaders of Europe’s communist parties gathered
in Poland to hear Zhdanov’s new line. Meeting in Szklarska Poręba, a
formerly German resort town until very recently known as Schreiberhau,
they were told that their parties would be taking part in a “Communist
Informational Bureau,” or “Cominform.” It would be the means by which
Moscow would communicate the line and coordinate their policies. The
assembled communist leaders learned that the world was divided into “two
camps,” progressive and reactionary, with the Soviet Union destined to lead
the new “people’s democracies” of eastern Europe, and the United States
doomed to inherit all the flaws of degenerate capitalism, on display so
recently in Nazi Germany. The unalterable laws of history guaranteed the
final victory of the forces of progress.45

Communists needed only to play their allotted role in the progressive
camp, led of course by the Soviet Union, and avoid the temptation to take
any separate national road to socialism. So all was well.

Then Zhdanov suffered a heart attack, the first of several. Somehow all
was not well.



CHAPTER 11
STALINIST ANTI-SEMITISM

In January 1948, Stalin was killing a Jew. Solomon Mikhoels, the chairman
of the Jewish Anti-Fascist Committee and the director of the Moscow
Yiddish Theater, had been sent to Minsk to judge a play for the Stalin Prize.
Once arrived, he was invited to the country house of the head of the Soviet
Belarusian state police, Lavrenty Tsanava, who had him murdered, along
with an inconvenient witness. Mikhoels’s body, crushed by a truck, was left
on a quiet street.

Minsk had seen the ruthless German mass murder of Jews only a few
years before. The irony of the Soviets killing one more Soviet Jew in Minsk
would not have been lost on Tsanava, a policeman-cum-historian. He was
finishing a history of the Belarusian partisan movement, which ignored the
special plight and struggle of the Jews under German occupation. A Soviet
history of Jewish partisans had been written, but would be suppressed. The
Jews had suffered more than anyone else in Minsk during the war; it
seemed that liberation by the Soviets had not brought the suffering of Soviet
Jews to an end. It also seemed that the history of the Holocaust in the USSR
would remain unwritten.1

Mikhoels had stood for issues that Stalin wanted to avoid. He was
personally acquainted with people of Jewish origin in Stalin’s immediate
milieu, such as the politburo member Lazar Kaganovich and the wives of
politburo members Viacheslav Molotov and Kliment Voroshilov. What was
worse, Mikhoels had sought to reach Stalin in order to communicate with
him about the fate of the Jews during the war. Like Vasily Grossman,
Mikhoels had been a member of the Soviet Union’s official Jewish Anti-
Fascist Committee during the war. Mikhoels had worked, at Stalin’s
instructions, to bring the plight of Soviet Jews to the attention of the world
—in order to raise money for the Soviet war effort. After the war, Mikhoels
found himself unable to let the mass murder of the Jews pass into historical
oblivion, and unwilling to submerge the special suffering of the Jews into
that of Soviet peoples generally. In September 1945 he had brought ashes
from Babi Yar in a crystal vase to a lecture in Kiev, and had continued in
the years after the war to speak openly of the death pits. Mikhoels also



petitioned Stalin’s propaganda chief Andrei Zhdanov in 1947 to allow the
publication of the Black Book of Soviet Jewry, a collection of documents
and testimonies about the mass killing edited by Grossman, Ilya Ehrenburg,
and others. This was in vain. The Zhdanov era in Soviet culture could not
endorse a Jewish history of the war. In the postwar Soviet Union, memorial
obelisks could not have Stars of David, only five-pointed red stars. In the
western Soviet Union, in the lands the Soviets annexed during and again
after the war, in the lands where some 1.6 million Jews were killed,
monuments to Lenin were raised on pedestals built from Jewish
tombstones. The synagogue where the Kovel Jews had left their final
messages was being used to store grain.2

Svetlana Allilueva, Stalin’s daughter, overheard her father arranging the
cover story for the murder with Tsanava: “car accident.” Mikhoels was a
person of some stature in Soviet culture, and his political campaigning was
unwelcome. Yet Stalin’s hostility toward Mikhoels as a Jew probably had as
much to do with patrimony as it did with politics. Stalin’s son Iakov, who
died in German captivity, had married a Jew. Svetlana’s first love had been
a Jewish actor, whom Stalin called a British spy and sent to the Gulag.
Svetlana’s first husband was also Jewish; Stalin called him stingy and
cowardly, and forced her to divorce him so that she could marry the son of
Zhdanov, Stalin’s purifier of Soviet culture. The match smacked of the
founding of a royal family, one that was less Jewish than Svetlana’s own
affections. Stalin had always had close collaborators who were Jewish, most
notably Kaganovich. Yet now, as he neared seventy years of age, and as
concerns about succession must have been growing in his mind, his own
attitude about Jews seemed to be shifting.3

After Mikhoels was dead, the Soviet political police, now under the name
Ministry of State Security, retroactively provided the reason why the killing
was in the Soviet interest: Jewish nationalism. Viktor Abakumov, head of
the Ministry (or MGB), concluded in March 1948 that Mikhoels was a
Jewish nationalist who had fallen in with dangerous Americans. By Soviet
standards, this was an easy enough case to make. Mikhoels had been
instructed by the Soviet leadership, as a member of the Jewish Anti-Fascist
Committee during the war, to appeal to the national sentiments of Jews. He
had traveled in 1943 to the United States to raise money, and there he had
made sympathetic remarks about Zionism. By sheer accident, his airplane



rested for a few hours on a runway in Palestine, where by his own account
he kissed the air of the Holy Land. In February 1944, Mikhoels had joined a
campaign to make of the Crimean Peninsula, cleared by the Soviets of
supposed Muslim enemies after 1943, a “Jewish socialist republic.” Crimea,
on the Black Sea, was a maritime border region of the Soviet Union. The
idea that it might serve as a Soviet Jewish homeland had been raised several
times, and was supported by some prominent American Jews. Stalin
preferred the Soviet solution, Birobidzhan, the Jewish autonomous region
deep in the Soviet Far East.4
 

Given the centrality of the Second World War to the experience of all east
Europeans, in the USSR and in the new satellite states, everyone in the new
communist Europe would have to understand that the Russian nation had
struggled and suffered like no other. Russians would have to be the greatest
victors and the greatest victims, now and forever. The Russian heartland,
perhaps, could be protected from the dangerous West: by the other Soviet
republics, and by the new satellite states of eastern Europe. The
contradiction here was obvious: those peoples who were forming the buffer
had the least reason to accept the Stalinist claim about Russian martyrdom
and purity. The case would be a particularly hard one to make in places
such as Estonia, Latvia, and Lithuania, where the Second World War had
begun and ended with a Soviet occupation. It would be none too simple in
western Ukraine, where nationalist partisans fought the Soviets for years
after the war. Poles were unlikely to forget that the Second World War had
begun with allied German and Soviet armies invading Poland.

The logical difficulties would be all the greater among Jews. Since the
Germans had killed Soviet Jews, then Polish Jews, and then other European
Jews, the Holocaust could hardly be contained in any Soviet history of the
war—least of all one that moved the center of gravity of suffering east to
Russia where relatively few Jews died. It was one thing for Jews to regard
the return of Soviet power as liberation, which most did, but quite another
for them to recognize that other Soviet citizens had suffered more than they.
Jews understood the Red Army as a liberating force precisely because Nazi
policy had been to exterminate them. Yet this sense of gratitude, because of
its special sources, did not convert automatically into a political legend
about a Great Fatherland War and Russia. Jews, after all, had also fought in



the Red Army, and had been more likely to have been decorated for bravery
than Soviet citizens generally.5

The number of Jews killed by the Germans in the Soviet Union was a
state secret. The Germans killed about a million native Soviet Jews, plus
about 1.6 million more Polish, Lithuanian, and Latvian Jews brought into
the USSR by the Soviet annexations of 1939 and 1940. The Romanians also
killed Jews chiefly on territories that after the war were within the
boundaries of the Soviet Union. These numbers were of an obvious
sensitivity, since they revealed that, even by comparison with the dreadful
suffering of other Soviet peoples, the Jews had suffered a very special fate.
Jews were less than two percent of the population and Russians more than
half; the Germans had murdered more Jewish civilians than Russian
civilians in the occupied Soviet Union. Jews were in a category of their
own, even by comparison with the Slavic peoples who had suffered more
than the Russians, such as Ukrainians and Belarusians and Poles. The
Soviet leadership knew this, and so did Soviet citizens who lived in the
lands that the Germans had occupied. But the Holocaust could never
become part of the Soviet history of the war.6

These high figures of murdered Jews also raised the troubling question of
just how the Germans had managed to kill so many civilians in such a short
time in the occupied Soviet Union. They had help from Soviet citizens. As
everyone with experience of the war knew, the German armies were
enormous, but the German occupying forces in the rear were sparse.
German civilian authorities and police lacked the numbers to govern the
western Soviet Union in any recognizable fashion, let alone to carry out a
thorough policy of mass murder. Local officials continued to do their jobs
under their new masters, local young men volunteered for the police, and in
the ghettos some Jews took on the task of policing the rest. The shootings
east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line had implicated, in one way or another,
hundreds of thousands of Soviet citizens. (For that matter, much of the
crucial work at the death facilities west of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line in
occupied Poland had been performed by Soviet citizens. It was
unmentionable that Soviet citizens had staffed Treblinka, Sobibór, and
Bełżec.) That the Germans needed collaborators, and found them, is not
surprising. But collaboration undermined the myth of a united Soviet
population defending the honor of the fatherland by resisting the hated



fascist invader. Its prevalence was one more reason that the mass murder of
the Jews was to be forgotten.

During the war, the Soviets and their allies had been in general agreement
that the war was not to be understood as a war of the liberation of Jews.
From different perspectives, the Soviet, Polish, American, and British
leaderships all believed that Jewish suffering was best understood as one
aspect of a generally wicked German occupation. Though Allied leaders
were quite aware of the course of the Holocaust, none treated it as a reason
to make war on Nazi Germany, or to turn much special attention to the
suffering of Jews. The Jewish issue was generally avoided in propaganda.
When Stalin, Churchill, and Roosevelt issued a “Declaration Concerning
Atrocities” in Moscow in October 1943, they mentioned, among the Nazi
crimes, “the wholesale shooting of Polish officers,” which was a reference
to Katyn, actually a Soviet crime; and “the execution of French, Dutch,
Belgian or Norwegian hostages” and “Cretan peasants”—but not Jews. The
“peoples” of Poland and the Soviet Union were mentioned, but the Jewish
minority in each country was not named. By the time that summary of
atrocities was published, over five million Jews had been shot or gassed
because they were Jews.7

In its more enlightened form, this reticence about racial murder reflected
a principled hesitation to endorse Hitler’s racist understanding of the world.
The Jews were not citizens of any one country, went the reasoning, and thus
to group them together, went the fear, was to acknowledge their unity as a
race, and to accept Hitler’s racial view of the world. In its less enlightened
form, this view was a concession to popular anti-Semitism—very much
present in the Soviet Union, Poland, Britain, and the United States. For
London and Washington, this tension was resolved with victory in the war
in 1945. The Americans and the British liberated no part of Europe that had
a very significant Jewish population before the war, and saw none of the
German death facilities. The politics of postwar economic, political, and
military cooperation in western Europe had relatively little to do with the
Jewish question.

The territory of Stalin’s enlarged state included most of the German
killing fields, and that of his postwar empire (including communist Poland)
the sites of all of the German death factories. Stalin and his politburo had to
confront, after the war, continued resistance to the reimposition of Soviet



power, in ways that made the wartime fate of the Jews unavoidable as a
matter of ideology and politics. Postwar resistance in the western Soviet
Union was a continuation of the war in two senses: these were the lands that
the Soviets had won by conquest in the first place, and the lands where
people had taken up arms in large numbers to fight them. In the Baltics and
Ukraine and Poland, some partisans were openly anti-Semitic, and
continued to use the Nazi tactic of associating Soviet power with Jewry.

In this situation, the Soviets had every political incentive to continue to
distance themselves and their state from Jewish suffering, and indeed to
make special efforts to ensure that anti-Semites did not associate the return
of Soviet power with the return of Jews. In Lithuania, once again
incorporated into the Soviet Union, the general secretary of the local branch
of the Soviet communist party counted the Jews killed in the Holocaust as
“sons of the nation,” Lithuanians who died as martyrs for communism.
Nikita Khrushchev, politburo member and general secretary of the party in
Ukraine, went even further. He was in charge of the struggle to defeat
Ukrainian nationalists in what had been southeastern Poland, a place that
before the war had been densely settled with Jews and Poles. The Germans
had killed the Jews, and the Soviets had deported the Poles. Khrushchev
wanted Ukrainians to thank the Soviet Union for the “unification” of their
country at the expense of Poland and for the “cleansing” of Polish
landlords. Knowing that the nationalists wanted ethnic purity, he did not
want Soviet power to stand for anything else.8

Sensitive as he was to the mood of the population, Stalin sought a way to
present the war that would flatter the Russians while marginalizing the Jews
(and, for that matter, every other people of the Soviet Union). The whole
Soviet idea of the Great Patriotic War was premised on the view that the
war began in 1941, when Germany invaded the USSR, not in 1939, when
Germany and the Soviet Union together invaded Poland. In other words, in
the official story, the territories absorbed as a result of Soviet aggression in
1939 had to be considered as somehow always having been Soviet, rather
than as the booty of a war that Stalin had helped Hitler to begin. Otherwise
the Soviet Union would figure as one of the two powers that started the war,
as one of the aggressors, which was obviously unacceptable.

No Soviet account of the war could note one of its central facts: German
and Soviet occupation together was worse than German occupation alone.



The populations east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, subject to one
German and two Soviet occupations, suffered more than those of any other
region of Europe. From a Soviet perspective, all of the deaths in that zone
could simply be lumped together with Soviet losses, even though the people
in question had been Soviet citizens for only a matter of months when they
died, and even though many of them were killed by the NKVD rather than
the SS. In this way, Polish, Romanian, Lithuanian, Belarusian, and
Ukrainian deaths, sometimes caused by the Soviet rather than the German
forces, served to make the tragedy of the Soviet Union (or even, to the
inattentive, of Russia) seem all the greater.

The vast losses suffered by Soviet Jews were mostly the deaths of Jews
in lands just invaded by the Soviet Union. These Jews were citizens of
Poland, Romania, and the Baltic States, brought under Soviet control by
force only twenty-one months before the German invasion in the case of
Poland, and only twelve months before in the case of northeastern Romania
and the Baltics. The Soviet citizens who suffered most in the war had been
brought by force under Soviet rule right before the Germans came—as a
result of a Soviet alliance with Nazi Germany. This was awkward. The
history of the war had to begin in 1941, and these people had to be
“peaceful Soviet citizens.”

Jews in the lands east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, so recently
conquered by the Soviet Union, were the first to be reached by the
Einsatzgruppen when Hitler betrayed Stalin and Germany invaded the
Soviet Union in 1941. They had been shielded by the Soviet press from
knowledge of German policies toward Jews of 1939 and 1940. They had
virtually no time to evacuate since Stalin had refused to believe in a
German invasion. They had been subject to terror and deportation in the
enlarged Soviet Union in 1939-1941 during the period when Stalin and
Hitler were allied, and then terribly exposed to German forces by the
breaking of that alliance. These Jews in this small zone made up more than
a quarter of the total victims of the Holocaust.

If the Stalinist notion of the war was to prevail, the fact that the Jews
were its main victims had to be forgotten. Also to be forgotten was that the
Soviet Union had been allied to Nazi Germany when the war began in
1939, and that the Soviet Union had been unprepared for the German attack
in 1941. The murder of the Jews was not only an undesirable memory in



and of itself; it called forth other undesirable memories. It had to be
forgotten.

After the Second World War, it was much harder for the Soviet leadership
to control the mental world of Soviet citizens. Although the apparatus of
censorship remained in force, too many people had experienced life beyond
the Soviet Union for Soviet norms to seem like the only norms, or Soviet
lives necessarily the best sort of lives. The war itself could not be contained
within a Fatherland, be it Russian or Soviet; it had touched too many other
peoples and its aftermath shaped not just a country but a world. In
particular, the establishment of the State of Israel made Soviet political
amnesia about the fate of the Jews impossible. Even after the Holocaust,
more Jews lived in the Soviet Union than in Palestine, but the latter was to
become the national homeland of the Jews. If Jews were to have a national
state, would this be a blow to British imperialism in the Middle East, to be
supported, or a challenge to the loyalty of Soviet Jews, to be feared?9

At first, the Soviet leadership seemed to expect that Israel would be a
socialist state friendly to the Soviet Union, and the communist bloc
supported Israel in ways that no one else could. In the second half of 1947,
about seventy thousand Jews were permitted to leave Poland for Israel;
many of them had just been expelled from the Soviet Union to Poland.
After the United Nations recognized the State of Israel in May 1948 (with
the Soviets voting in favor), the new state was invaded by its neighbors. Its
nascent armies defended itself and, in dozens of cases, cleared territories of
Arabs. The Poles trained Jewish soldiers on their own territory, then
dispatched them to Palestine. The Czechoslovaks sent arms. As Arthur
Koestler noted, the weapons shipments “aroused a feeling of gratitude
among the Jews towards the Soviet Union.”10

Yet by the end of 1948 Stalin had decided that Jews were influencing the
Soviet state more than the Soviets were influencing the Jewish state.
Spontaneous signs of affection for Israel were apparent in Moscow, and in
Stalin’s own court. Muscovites seemed to adore the new Israeli ambassador,
Golda Meir (born in Kiev and raised in the United States). The high
holidays were observed with enormous fanfare. Rosh Hashanah saw the
largest public gathering in Moscow in twenty years. Some ten thousand



Jews crowded in and around the Choral Synagogue. When the shofar blew
and people promised each other to meet “next year in Jerusalem,” the mood
was euphoric. The anniversary of the Bolshevik Revolution, 7 November
1948, fell during the Days of Awe, between Rosh Hashanah and Yom
Kippur. Polina Zhemchuzhina, the wife of the commissar for foreign affairs
Viacheslav Molotov, saw Golda Meir that day, and encouraged her to
continue to go to synagogue. What was worse, Zhemchuzhina said this in
Yiddish, the language of her parents and of Meir’s—in that paranoid
setting, a suggestion of national unity among Jews across borders. Ekaterina
Gorbman, the wife of another politburo member, Kliment Voroshilov, was
heard to exclaim: “Now we too have our own homeland!”11



In late 1948 and early 1949, public life in the Soviet Union veered
toward anti-Semitism. The new line was set, indirectly but discernibly, by
Pravda on 28 January 1949. An article on “unpatriotic theater critics,” who
were “bearers of stateless cosmopolitanism,” began a campaign of
denunciation of Jews in every sphere of professional life. Pravda purged
itself of Jews in early March. Jewish officers were cashiered from the Red



Army and Jewish activists removed from leadership positions in the
communist party. A few dozen Jewish poets and novelists who used
Russian literary pseudonyms found their real or prior names published in
parentheses. Jewish writers who had taken an interest in Yiddish culture or
in the German murder of Jews found themselves under arrest. As Grossman
recalled, “Throughout the whole of the USSR it seemed that only Jews
thieved and took bribes, only Jews were criminally indifferent towards the
sufferings of the sick, and only Jews published vicious or badly written
books.”12

The Jewish Anti-Fascist Committee was formally dissolved in November
1948, and more than a hundred Jewish writers and activists were arrested.
The writer Der Nister, for example, was arrested in 1949, and died in police
custody the following year. His novel The Family Mashber contained a
vision that now seemed prophetic, as Soviet practices seemed to converge
with Nazi models: “a heavily laden freight train with a long row of
uniformly red cars, its black wheels rolling along, all turning at the same
speed while seeming to be standing still.” Jews across the Soviet Union
were in a state of distress. The MGB reported the anxieties of the Jews in
Soviet Ukraine, who understood that the policy must come from the top,
and worried that “no one can say what form this is going to take.” Only five
years had passed since the end of the German occupation. For that matter,
only eleven years had passed since the end of the Great Terror.13

Soviet Jews now risked two epithets: that they were “Jewish nationalists”
and “rootless cosmopolitans.” Although these two charges might have
seemed mutually contradictory, since a nationalist is someone who
emphasizes his roots, within a Stalinist logic they could function together.
Jews were “cosmopolitans” in that their attachment to Soviet culture and
the Russian language was supposedly insincere. They could not be counted
upon to defend the Soviet Union or the Russian nation from penetration by
various currents coming from the west. In this guise, the Jew was inherently
attracted to the United States, where Jews (as Stalin believed Jews thought)
could go and become rich. American industrial power was obvious to the
Soviets, who used Studebaker automobiles to deport their own populations.
Technological superiority (and simple ruthlessness) had also been on
display at the end of the war in Japan, in the atomic bombing of Hiroshima
and Nagasaki.



America’s power was visible as well during the blockade of Berlin in the
second half of 1948. Germany was still occupied by the four victorious
powers: the Soviets, Americans, British, and French. Berlin, which lay
within the Soviet zone, was under joint occupation. The western Allies had
announced that they would introduce a new German currency, the
Deutschmark, in the zones they controlled. The Soviets blockaded west
Berlin, with the evident goal of forcing west Berliners to accept supplies
from the Soviets, and thus accept Soviet control of their society. The
Americans then undertook to supply the isolated city by air, which Moscow
claimed could never work. In May 1949, the Soviets had to give up the
blockade. The Americans, along with the British, proved capable of
supplying thousands of tons of supplies by air every day. In this one action,
goodwill, prosperity, and power were all on display. As the Cold War
began, America and Americans seemed able to do what none of Moscow’s
previous rivals had: to present a universal and attractive vision of life. It
was all well and good to lump the Americans with the Nazis as members of
the same reactionary “camp,” but Jews (and others, of course) would find
such an association implausible.

Soviet Jews were also called “Zionists,” in that they might prefer Israel,
the Jewish national state, to the Soviet Union, their homeland. Israel after
the war, like Poland or Latvia or Finland before the war, was a national state
that might attract the loyalty of a diaspora nationality within the Soviet
Union. In the interwar period, Soviet policy had first sought to support all
nationalities in their cultural development, but then turned sharply against
certain national minorities, such as the Poles, Latvians, and Finns. The
Soviet Union could offer education and assimilation to Jews (as to all other
groups), but what if those educated Soviet Jews, after the establishment of
Israel and the triumph of the United States, sensed a better alternative
elsewhere?

A Soviet Jew could appear to be both a “rootless cosmopolitan” and a
“Zionist,” insofar as Israel, in the emerging Soviet view, was seen as an
American satellite. A Jew attracted to America might support America’s
new client; a Jew attracted to Israel was supporting Israel’s new patron.
Either way, or both ways, Soviet Jews were no longer dependable citizens
of the Soviet Union. So, perhaps, it appeared to Stalin.
 



Now that Jewishness and Jewish connections with the United States were
suspect, Viktor Abakumov, head of the MGB, tried to find a way to make
the former activists of the dissolved Anti-Fascist Committee into agents of
American espionage. In some sense, the job was easy. The Committee had
been created to allow Soviet Jews to speak to world Jewry, so its members
could easily be called both Jewish nationalists and cosmopolitans. Yet this
logic did not immediately seem to justify a mass terror action, or the model
of the national operations of 1937-1938. Abakumov found himself
frustrated from above. Without Stalin’s express approval, he could not drag
any truly important Jews into the plot, let alone begin anything like a mass
operation.

During the national operations of 1937-1938, no member of the politburo
had belonged to any of the targeted nationalities. Matters would be different
for any prospective Jewish operation. In 1949, Lazar Kaganovich was no
longer Stalin’s closest associate and no longer his presumed successor, but
he was still a member of the Soviet politburo. Any claim of Jewish
nationalist penetration of top Soviet organs (on the analogy of Polish
nationalist penetration of 1937-1938) would have to begin with
Kaganovich. Stalin refused to allow Kaganovich, the only Jewish politburo
member, to be investigated. At this time, five of the 210 full and candidate
members of the central committee of the Soviet communist party were men
of Jewish origin; none of them was investigated.

Abakumov’s search for Jewish spies did reach the families of politburo
members. Polina Zhemchuzhina, Molotov’s wife, was arrested in January
1949. She denied the charges of treason. In his one act of rebellion,
Molotov abstained from the vote to condemn his wife. Later, though, he
apologized: “I acknowledge my heavy sense of remorse for not having
prevented Zhemchuzhina, a person very dear to me, from making her
mistakes and from forming ties with anti-Soviet Jewish nationalists such as
Mikhoels.” The next day she was arrested. Zhemchuzhina was sentenced to
forced labor, and Molotov divorced her. She spent five years in exile in
Kazakhstan, among kulaks, the kind of people her husband had helped to
deport in the 1930s. It seems that they helped her to survive. Molotov, for
his part, lost his position as commissar for foreign affairs. He had been
appointed to the job in 1939, in part because he (unlike his predecessor
Litvinov) was not Jewish, and Stalin had then needed someone with whom



Hitler would negotiate. He lost the same job in 1949, at least in part because
his wife was Jewish.14

Those people who were investigated were not very cooperative. When
fourteen more or less unknown Soviet Jews were finally chosen to be tried
in May 1952, the result was an unusual sort of judiciary chaos. Only two of
the accused confessed to all of the charges during the investigations; the rest
admitted only some of the charges or denied them all. Then, during the trial
itself, every single one of them claimed to be innocent. Even Itzik Fefer, a
police informant all along, and during the trial a witness for the prosecution,
refused in the end to cooperate. Thirteen of the fourteen defenders were
sentenced to death in August 1952 and executed. Although the trial created
a precedent for executing Jews for spying for the Americans, it was of little
political value. The people in question were too little known to arouse much
interest, and their comportment was inappropriate for a show trial.15

If Stalin indeed wanted a spectacular Jewish affair, he would have to look
elsewhere.

Communist Poland looked like a promising place for an anti-Semitic show
trial, though in the end one never took place. The Jewish question was even
more sensitive in Warsaw than in Moscow. Poland had been the home to
more than three million Jews before the war; by 1948 it had been remade as
a nationally homogeneous ethnic Polish state ruled by communists—some
of whom were of Jewish origin. Poles were co-opted by formerly German
property in the west and formerly Jewish property in the cities—the Polish
language developed words meaning “formerly German” and “formerly
Jewish,” applied to property. Yet while Ukrainians and Germans were
deported from communist Poland, Jews were actually deported to Poland:
about one hundred thousand from the Soviet Union. Poles could hardly fail
to notice that the highest ranks of the communist party and its security
apparatus remained multinational even as the country was ethnically
cleansed: party and secret police leaders were disproportionately of Jewish
origin. Jews who chose to stay in Poland after the war were often
communists with a sense of mission, who believed in the transformation of
the country for the good of all.16



Poland had been the center of Jewish life in Europe for five hundred
years; now that history seemed to be over. Some ninety percent of Poland’s
prewar Jewish population had been killed during the war. Most of the
Polish-Jewish survivors of the war left their homeland in the years
following the war. Many of them could not return to their homes in any
event, since these now lay in the Soviet Union, which had annexed eastern
Poland. In Soviet ethnic cleansing policies, Ukrainians and Belarusians and
Lithuanians were to remain in the Soviet republics that bore their names,
whereas Jews, like Poles, were to go to Poland. Jews who tried to return
home were often greeted with distrust and violence. Some Poles were
perhaps also afraid that Jews would claim property that they had lost during
the war, because Poles had, in one way or another, stolen it from them
(often after their own homes had been destroyed). Yet Jews were often
resettled in formerly German Silesia, a “recovered territory” taken from
Germany, where this issue could not have arisen. Even so, here as
elsewhere in postwar Poland, Jews were beaten and killed and threatened to
such an extent that most survivors decided to leave. It mattered, of course,
that they had places to go: the United States or Israel. To get to these places,
Polish Jews first went to Germany to displaced persons camps.

The voluntary movement of Holocaust survivors to Germany was not
only a melancholy irony. It was also the latest stage in a journey that
revealed many of the dreadful policies to which Jews and others had been
subjected. Jews in displaced persons camps in Germany were very often
Jews from western and central Poland who had fled from the Germans in
1939, or been deported by the Soviets to the Gulag in 1940, only to return
to a postwar Poland where people wanted to keep their property and blamed
them personally for Soviet rule. It was very dangerous to be a Jew in
postwar Poland—though no more so than to be a Ukrainian or a German or
a Pole in the anti-communist underground. These other groups generally
wished to stay in their homeland. Jews, however, had a special reason to be
unsure of themselves in their own country: three million of their fellows
had just been killed in occupied Poland.

The departure of Polish Jews to Israel and the United States made the
role of Jewish communists in Polish politics even more visible than it
would otherwise have been. The Polish communist regime faced a double
political handicap: it was not national in a geopolitical sense, since it was



dependent upon the support of Moscow; and it was not national in an ethnic
sense, since some of its prominent representatives were Jewish (and these
people had spent the war in the Soviet Union).17

 

Polish communists of Jewish origin could be in power in 1949 because of
the international politics of the early Cold War in 1948. For reasons that had
nothing to do with Poland, and everything to do with a larger rupture within
the communist bloc, Stalin paid more attention to the risk of majority
nationalism than to the risk of Jewish “cosmopolitanism” or “Zionism” in
summer 1948.

Since Stalin was trying to coordinate and control his new group of
communist allies, Moscow’s ideological line reacted to perceived disloyalty
in eastern Europe. As Stalin must have observed, it was much harder for the
leaders of communist regimes to follow the Soviet line than it had been for
leaders of communist parties before the war: these comrades actually had to
govern. Stalin also had to adjust his ideological line to the realities of
American power. These anxieties came to the fore in summer 1948; the
concern with Jews dropped momentarily into the background. This was
crucial for Poland, since it allowed communists of Jewish origin to secure
power, and then to make sure that no anti-Semitic show trial took place.

In summer 1948, Stalin’s major worry in eastern Europe was communist
Yugoslavia. In this important Balkan country, communism involved
admiration for the Soviet Union but not dependence upon Soviet power.
Tito (Josip Broz), the leader of the Yugoslav communists and Yugoslav
partisans, had succeeded in taking power without Soviet help. After the war,
Tito showed signs of independence from Stalin in foreign policy. He spoke
of a Balkan federation after Stalin had abandoned the idea. He was
supporting communist revolutionaries in neighboring Greece, a country that
Stalin regarded as falling within the American and British sphere of
influence. President Harry Truman had made clear, in his “doctrine”
announced in March 1947, that the Americans would take action to prevent
the spread of communism to Greece. Stalin cared more about stabilizing his
gains in Europe than about further revolutionary adventures. He clearly
believed that he could bring down Tito and have him replaced with more
solicitous Yugoslav leadership.18



The Tito-Stalin split shaped international communism. Tito’s independent
stand, and the expulsion of Yugoslavia from the Cominform that followed,
made him a negative model of “national communism.” Between April and
September 1948, Moscow’s satellite regimes were encouraged to concern
themselves with the supposed nationalist danger (the “right-wing deviation”
from the party line) rather than the (Jewish) cosmopolitan one (the “left-
wing deviation”). When Polish general secretary Władysław Gomułka
objected to the new line, he opened himself to charges that he too
exemplified a national “deviation.” In June 1948, Andrei Zhdanov
instructed rival Polish communists to bring down Gomułka. The Polish
politburo member Jakub Berman agreed that the Polish party suffered from
a national deviation. That August, Gomułka was removed from his position
as general secretary. At the end of the month he had to issue a self-criticism
to the assembled central committee of the Polish party.19

Gomułka was in fact a national communist, and Polish comrades of
Jewish origins were perhaps right to fear him. He was not Jewish (though
he did have a Jewish wife), and was seen as more attentive to the interests
of non-Jewish Poles than his comrades. Unlike Jakub Berman and several
other leading communists, he had remained in Poland during the war, and
so was less well known to the Soviet leadership in Moscow than were
comrades who had fled to the Soviet Union. He had certainly profited from
national questions: he had presided over the dual ethnic cleansings of
Germans and Ukrainians, and had taken personal responsibility for the
settlement of Poles in the western “recovered territories.” He had gone so
far as to make a speech to the central committee in which he criticized
certain traditions of the Polish Left for their disproportionate attention to
Jews.

After his fall, Gomułka was replaced by a triumvirate of Bolesław Bierut,
Jakub Berman, and Hilary Minc (the latter two of whom were of Jewish
origin). The new Polish troika came to power just in time to avoid an anti-
Semitic action in Poland. Disconcertingly for them, the line from Moscow
altered during the very weeks when they were trying to consolidate their
position. While the right-wing national deviation was still possible, Stalin’s
most explicit signals in autumn 1948 concerned the role of Jews in east
European communist parties. He made clear that Zionists and
cosmopolitans were no longer welcome. Perhaps sensing the new mood,



Gomułka appealed to Stalin that December: there were too many “Jewish
comrades” in the Polish party leadership who “do not feel connected to the
Polish nation.” This, according to Gomułka, led to the alienation of the
party from Polish society and risked “national nihilism.”20

The year 1949 thus brought a particular sort of Stalinism to Poland.
Jewish Stalinists exercised a great deal of power, but were caught between
Stalinist anti-Semitism in Moscow and popular anti-Semitism in their own
country. Neither of these was important enough to make their rule
impossible, but they had to make sure that the two did not meet. Jewish
communists had to stress that their political identification with the Polish
nation was so strong that it erased their Jewish origins and removed any
possibility of distinct Jewish policies.

One striking example of this tendency was the reimagining of the
Warsaw Ghetto Uprising of 1943, the major instance of Jewish resistance to
the Holocaust, as a Polish national revolt led by communists. Hersh Smolar,
the Polish-Jewish communist who had been the hero of the Minsk ghetto,
now drained the Jewishness from Jewish resistance to Nazis. He described
the Warsaw Ghetto Uprising in the obligatory ideological terms of
Zhdanov: there had been “two camps” within the ghetto, one progressive
and one reactionary. Those who spoke of Israel were in the reactionary
camp now, as they had been then. The progressives were the communists,
and the communists had fought. This was an extraordinary distortion: while
the communists had indeed urged armed resistance in the ghetto, the left-
wing Zionists and the Bund had more popular support, and the right-wing
Zionists more guns. Smolar promised purges to Jewish political activists
who failed to accept Polish national communism: “And if there turn out to
be people among us who are going to buzz on like flies about some sort of
supposedly higher and more essential Jewish national goals, then we will
eliminate those people from our society, just like the fighters of the ghetto
pushed aside the cowards and those of weak will.”21

All resistance to fascism was by definition led by communists; if it was
not led by communists, then it was not resistance. The history of the
Warsaw Ghetto Uprising of 1943 had to be rewritten such that communists
could be seen as leading Polish Jews—just as they were supposedly leading
the Polish anti-Nazi resistance generally. In the politically acceptable
history of the Second World War, the resistance in the ghetto had little to do



with the mass murder of Jews, and much to do with the courage of
communists. This fundamental shift of emphasis obscured the Jewish
experience of the war, as the Holocaust became nothing more than an
instance of fascism. It was precisely Jewish communists who had to
develop and communicate these misrepresentations, so that they could not
be charged with attending to Jewish rather than Polish goals. In order to
seem like plausible Polish communist leaders, Jewish communists had to
delete from history the single most important example of Jews resisting
Nazis from Jewish motivations. The bait in Stalin’s political trap was left by
Hitler.22

This was Polish-Jewish Stalinist self-defense from Stalin’s own anti-
Semitism. If Jewish resistance heroes were willing, in effect, to deny the
significance of Hitler’s anti-Semitism to Jewish life and politics, and in
some cases to their own desire to resist the German occupation, then surely
they had proven their devotion. Stalinism involved denying the most
obvious historical facts, and their most pressing personal significance: in
the case of the Warsaw Ghetto Uprising of 1943, Polish-Jewish communists
managed both. By comparison, the associated slander of the Home Army
and the Warsaw Uprising of 1944 was an easy labor. Since it had not been
led by communists, it could not have been an uprising. Since the Home
Army soldiers were not communists, they were reactionaries, acting against
the interests of the toiling masses. The Polish patriots who died seeking to
liberate their capital were fascists, little better than Hitler. The Home Army,
which had fought the Germans with much greater determination than the
Polish communists, was a “bespittled dwarf of reaction.”23

Jakub Berman was the politburo member responsible for both ideology
and security in 1949. He repeated a key Stalinist argument for terror: as the
revolution nears completion, its enemies fight ever more desperately, and so
committed revolutionaries must resort to ever more extreme measures. With
feigned deafness to the Soviet line, he framed the struggle as one against
the right-wing, or national, deviation. No one could fault Berman for lack of
attention to nationalism after the Tito-Stalin split. Meanwhile, no one could
have done more than Berman to discolor the Jewish memory of German
mass killing in occupied Poland. Berman, who had lost much of his
immediate family to Treblinka in 1942, presided over a Polish national



communism in which, only a few years later, the gas chambers fell deep
into the historical background.24

The Holocaust had drawn many Jews toward communism, the ideology
of the Soviet liberator; and yet now, in order to rule Poland and to appease
Stalin, leading Jewish communists had to deny the Holocaust’s importance.
Berman had already made a first important move in this direction in
December 1946, when he directed that the official estimate of non-Jewish
Polish dead be significantly increased and that of Jewish dead somewhat
decreased so that the two numbers were equal: three million each. The
Holocaust was already politics, and of a dangerous and difficult sort. It, like
every other historical event, had to be understood “dialectically,” in terms
that corresponded to Stalin’s ideological line and the political desiderata of
the present moment. Perhaps more Jews than non-Jewish Poles had died.
But perhaps that was politically inconvenient. Perhaps it would be better if
the number were even. To allow one’s personal sense of factuality or
fairness to interfere with such dialectical adjustments was to fail as a
communist. To recall one’s own family’s deaths in the gas chamber was
pure bourgeois sentimentality. A successful communist had to look ahead,
as Berman did, to see just what the moment demanded from the truth, and
act accordingly and decisively. The Second World War, like the Cold War,
was a struggle of progressive against reactionary forces, and that was that.25

Berman, a very intelligent man, understood all of this as well as anyone
could, and he brought these premises to their logical conclusions. He
presided over a security apparatus that arrested members of the Home Army
who had accepted the special assignment of saving Jews. They and their
actions had no historical resonance within a Stalinist worldview: the Jews
had suffered no more than anyone else, and the soldiers of the Home Army
were no better than fascists.

Berman’s most glaring fault, from the perspective of Stalin himself, was
that he was himself of Jewish origin (though his documents showed Polish
nationality). This was not exactly a secret: he had married under a khuppah.
In July 1949, the Soviet ambassador complained in a note to Moscow that
the Polish leadership was dominated by Jews such as Berman, and that the
security apparatus was run by Jews—an exaggerated assessment, although
not without some basis. In the period 1944-1954, 167 of 450 high-ranking
Ministry of Public Security officers were Jewish by self-declaration or



origin, so about thirty-seven percent in a country where Jews were fewer
than one percent of the population. Most though far from all people of
Jewish origin in the upper reaches of the security service defined
themselves as Poles in their identity documents. This may or may not have
reflected how they regarded themselves; these matters were rarely simple.
But passport identity, even when it did (as it often did) reflect a sincere
identification with the Polish state or nation, did not prevent people of
Jewish background from being seen as Jews by much of the Polish
population or by the Soviet leadership.26

Berman, the most important communist of Jewish origin in Poland, was
the obvious target of any potential anti-Semitic show trial. He understood
this perfectly well. To make matters worse, he could be connected with the
leading actors of the main drama of the early Cold War, the Field brothers.
The Americans Noel and Hermann Field were by then under arrest in
Czechoslovakia and Poland as American spies. Noel Field had been an
American diplomat, but also an agent of Soviet intelligence; he was friendly
with Allen Dulles, the American intelligence chief who had directed the
OSS office in Bern, Switzerland; he also ran a relief organization that aided
communists after the war. Field came to Prague in 1949, probably believing
that the Soviets again wished for his services; he was arrested. His brother
Hermann came to look for him, and was himself arrested in Warsaw. The
two of them, under torture, confessed to having organized a vast espionage
organization in eastern Europe.27

Though they were never tried themselves, the Field brothers’ alleged
activities provided the plot line for a number of the show trials that were
then being held throughout communist eastern Europe. In Hungary in
September 1949, for example, Lászlo Rájk was show-tried and executed as
an agent of Noel Field. The Hungarian investigation had supposedly
discovered cells of the Fields’ organization in fraternal communist countries
as well. As it happened, Hermann Field knew Berman’s secretary and had
once given her a letter for him. The Fields were dangerous precisely
because they did in fact know many communists, could in fact be associated
with American intelligence, and now under torture could be expected to say
anything. At a certain point, Stalin himself asked Berman about Field.28



Jakub Berman could also be linked to Jewish politics of a kind that were
no longer permitted. He knew the members of the Jewish Anti-Fascist
Committee, since he had met with Mikhoels and Fefer before their 1943
visit to the United States. He came from a family that represented some of
the range of Jewish politics in Poland. A brother (killed at Treblinka) had
been a member of Poalei-Zion Right, one branch of socialist Zionism.
Another brother, Adolf, who had survived the Warsaw ghetto, was a
member of Poalei-Zion Left, another branch of left-wing Zionism. Adolf
Berman had organized social services for children in the Warsaw ghetto,
and after the war directed the Central Committee of Polish Jews. As Poland
became communist, he remained a left-wing Zionist, in the conviction that
these political positions could somehow be reconciled.29

In 1949, it was becoming clear that people such as Adolf Berman had no
place in postwar Poland. Indeed, it was to him personally that Smolar had
directed the harsh words about the reactionary character of Zionism and the
need to eliminate cowardly Jews from Polish society. In so doing Smolar
was creating a kind of Stalinist defense against Stalin himself: if Jewish
communists in Poland were ostentatiously anti-Zionist and pro-Polish, they
could elude accusations of Zionism and cosmopolitanism. But it was less
than clear that even this categorical approach could defend Jakub Berman
from the association with his brother. Stalinist anti-Semitism could not be
so easily resisted by individual loyalty and commitment.

Jakub Berman survived because he was defended by his friend and ally
Bolesław Bierut, the general secretary of the Polish party and the gentile
face of its ruling triumvirate. Stalin once asked Bierut whom he needed
more, Berman or Minc: Bierut was too wise to fall into that trap. Bierut
placed himself between Stalin and Berman, which was to take a risk. In
general, Polish communists never permitted themselves the brutality to one
another that was evident in Czechoslovakia, Romania, or Hungary. Even the
disgraced Gomułka was never forced to sign a humiliating confession or
face trial. Polish communists who were in power in the late 1940s usually
knew, from personal experience, just what had happened to their comrades
in the 1930s. Back then, Stalin had sent a signal; Polish communists had
duly denounced each other, which led to mass murder, and the end of the
party itself. Although all foreign communists suffered in the Great Terror,



this Polish experience was unique, and perhaps created a certain sense of
concern for the lives of one’s own closest comrades.30

As the pressure from the Soviet Union built, Berman finally allowed the
security services to follow the anti-Jewish line in 1950. Polish Jews fell
under special suspicion as American or Israeli spies. This was not without a
certain awkwardness, as those building the cases against Polish Jews were
sometimes themselves Polish Jews. The Polish security apparatus itself was
purged of some of its Jewish officers. Because this often involved Jews
purging other Jews, the relevant department of the security apparatus was
informally called the bureau of “self-extermination.” It was directed by
Józef Światło, whose own sister had left for Israel in 1947. 31

Yet Berman, Minc, and Bierut held on, maintaining that they were the
proper Poles, the proper communists, the proper patriots, both to an
incredulous society and to a doubting Stalin. Although Jews, communists
and otherwise, were forced to stifle the memory of the Holocaust, there was
no public campaign in Poland in those years against Zionists and
cosmopolitans. Making concessions and relying on the loyalty of his friend
Bierut, Berman was able to maintain that in Poland the main danger came
from the Polish, not the Jewish, national deviation. When in July 1951
Gomułka was finally arrested, the two security officers who came for him,
as he likely remembered, were men of Jewish origin.

In the years 1950-1952, as the Poles dragged their feet, the Cold War
became a military confrontation. The Korean War sharpened Stalin’s
concerns about American power.

In the early 1950s, the Soviet Union seemed to be in a much stronger
position than it had been before the war. The three powers then presented as
encircling the Soviet Union—Germany, Poland, and Japan—had all been
substantially weakened. Poland was now a Soviet satellite whose minister
of defense was a Soviet officer. Soviet troops had reached Berlin, and
remained. In October 1949 the Soviet occupation zone of Germany had
been transformed into the German Democratic Republic, a Soviet satellite
ruled by German communists. East Prussia, the formerly German district on
the Baltic Sea, had been divided between communist Poland and the USSR
itself. Japan, the great threat of the 1930s, had been defeated and disarmed.



Yet here the Soviet Union had not contributed to the victory, and so took
little part in the occupation. The Americans were building military bases in
Japan and teaching the Japanese to play baseball.32

Even in defeat, Japan had changed the politics of east Asia. The Japanese
incursion in China in 1937 had, in the end, only aided the Chinese
communists. In 1944 the Japanese had mounted a successful ground
offensive against the Chinese nationalist government. This made no
difference to the outcome of the war, but it did fatally weaken the
nationalist regime. Once the Japanese surrendered, their forces were
withdrawn from the Chinese mainland. Then the Chinese communists had
their moment, much as Russia’s communists had thirty years before. Japan
in the Second World War played the role that Germany had played in the
First World War: having failed to win a great empire for itself, it served as
the handmaiden to a communist revolution in a neighbor. The People’s
Republic of China was declared in October 1949.33

Although in Washington Chinese communism looked like the
continuation of a world communist revolution, it was ambivalent news for
Stalin. Mao Zedong, the leader of the Chinese communists, was not a
personal client of Stalin, as were many of the east European communists.
Although Chinese communists accepted the Stalinist version of Marxism,
Stalin had never exercised personal control of their party. Stalin knew that
Mao would be an ambitious and unpredictable rival. “The battle of China,”
he said, “isn’t over yet.” In making policy in east Asia, Stalin had now to
ensure that the Soviet Union maintained its position of leader of the
communist world. This concern arose first with respect to Korea, where a
communist state had also just been established. Japan, which had ruled
Korea since 1905, withdrew after the war. The Korean peninsula was then
occupied by the Soviet Union in the north and the United States in the
south. North Korean communists established a people’s republic in North
Korea in 1948.34



In spring 1950 Stalin had to decide what to say to Kim Il-Sung, the North
Korean communist leader, who wished to invade the southern part of the
peninsula. Stalin knew that the Americans considered Korea beyond the
“defensive perimeter” they were constructing in Japan and the Pacific,
because the secretary of state had said as much in January. The US Army
had withdrawn from the peninsula in 1949. Kim Il-Sung told Stalin that his
forces would quickly overcome the South Korean army. Stalin gave Kim Il-
Sung his blessing for war, and sent Soviet arms to the North Koreans, who
invaded the South on 25 June 1950. Stalin even dispatched several hundred
Soviet Koreans from Soviet central Asia to fight on the North Korean side
—the same people who had been deported by order of Stalin only thirteen
years earlier.35

The Korean War looked very much like an armed confrontation between
the communist and capitalist worlds. The Americans responded quickly and
firmly, sending troops from Japan and elsewhere in the Pacific, and were
able to push the North Koreans across the original border. In September,
Truman approved NSC-68, a secret and formal confirmation of the
American grand strategy of containment of communism throughout the
world—an idea formulated by George Kennan. In October, the Chinese
intervened on the side of the North Koreans. Until 1952 the United States
and its allies were making war against communist North Korea and



communist China, with American tanks battling Soviet-made tanks, and
American aircraft engaging Soviet-made fighters.

Stalin seemed to fear a broader war, perhaps a war on two fronts. In
January 1951, Stalin called together the leaders of his east European
satellites, and ordered them to build up their armies in preparation for a war
in Europe. In 1951 and 1952, the troop strength of the Red Army doubled.36

 

During precisely these years, in 1951 and 1952, the idea that Soviet Jews
were undercover agents of the United States seems to have gained
resonance in Stalin’s mind. Defied in Berlin, frustrated in Poland, and
embattled in Korea, Stalin faced again, at least in his own increasingly
troubled imagination, encirclement by enemies. As in the 1930s, so in the
1950s, it was possible to see the Soviet Union as the object of an
international plot, masterminded no longer from Berlin, Warsaw, and Tokyo
(with London in the background) but from Washington (with London in the
background). Stalin apparently believed that a Third World War was
inevitable, and reacted to what he saw as the coming threat much as he had
in the late 1930s.

In some respects, the international situation could seem more threatening
now than then. The Great Depression had at least brought poverty to the
capitalist world. But by the early 1950s it seemed that the countries
liberated by the Western powers would undergo a quick economic recovery.
In the 1930s, the capitalist powers were divided against one another. As of
April 1949, the most important of them were united in a new military
alliance, the North Atlantic Treaty Organization, or NATO.37

Stalin found a way in July 1951 to turn his own security services against
an imagined Jewish plot inside the Soviet Union. The narrative of the plot,
as it emerged in the second half of that year, had two parts: Russians who
might have been seen as anti-Jewish had been murdered, and their murders
had been covered up by the Soviet security apparatus.

One of the supposed victims was Aleksandr Shcherbakov, the wartime
propagandist who had claimed that Russian people were “bearing the main
burden” of the war. He had overseen the Jewish Anti-Fascist Committee,
and had purged newspapers of Jewish journalists at Stalin’s orders. The
other was Andrei Zhdanov, Stalin’s purifier of Soviet culture, who had



blocked the publication of the Black Book of Soviet Jewry. Their deaths
were supposedly the beginning of a wave of Jewish medical terrorism,
sponsored by American paymasters, which was to end only with the
slaughter of the Soviet leadership.

One of the ostensible murderers was the Jewish doctor Yakov Etinger,
who had died in police custody in March 1951. Viktor Abakumov, director
of the MGB, had supposedly failed to report on this plot, because he was
himself involved in it. In order to prevent his own role from being known,
he had deliberately killed Etinger. Because Abakumov had killed Etinger,
Etinger had been unable to confess to the full range of his crimes.38

A first outline of these extraordinary claims was presented in a
denunciation of Abakumov sent to Stalin by Abakumov’s MGB subordinate
Mikhail Riumin. The choice of Etinger played to Stalin’s worries. Etinger
had been arrested not as part of any medical plot but as a Jewish nationalist.
By his clever initiative, Riumin had linked Jewish nationalism, Stalin’s
recent anxiety, with medical murder, one of his traditional preoccupations.
None of Riumin’s particular claims, of course, made very much sense.
Shcherbakov had died the day after he had insisted, against doctors’ orders,
on taking part in a Victory Day parade. Zhdanov, too, had ignored doctors’
orders to rest. As for Etinger, the Jewish doctor in question, he had been
killed not by Abakumov but by Riumin himself, in March 1951. Riumin had
exhausted Etinger by the unceasing interrogations known as the “conveyer
method,” after doctors had told him that this would endanger the man’s
life.39

Yet Riumin had hit upon a connection that he believed would appeal to
Stalin: terrorist Jewish doctors killing prominent (Russian) communists.
Henceforth the direction of the investigation would be clear: purge the
MGB of Jews and their lackeys, and find more Jewish killer doctors.
Abakumov was duly arrested on 4 July 1951 and replaced by Riumin, who
began an anti-Jewish purge of the MGB. The central committee then
ordered further investigation of the “terrorist activities of Etinger” on 11
July. Five days later the MGB arrested the electrocardiogram specialist
Sofia Karpai. She was extremely important to the entire investigation: she
was the only Jewish doctor still alive who could be linked in any way to the
death of a Soviet leader. She had indeed taken and interpreted two readings



of Zhdanov’s heart. Yet under arrest she declined to endorse the story of
medical murder, and refused to implicate anyone else.40

The case was weak. But further evidence of Jewish plots could be
generated elsewhere.

Another Soviet satellite, communist Czechoslovakia, would provide the
antiSemitic show trial that Poland did not. A week after Sofia Karpai’s
arrest, on 23 July 1951, Stalin signaled to Klement Gottwald, the
communist president of Czechoslovakia, that he should rid himself of his
close associate Rudolf Slánský, who ostensibly represented “Jewish
bourgeois nationalism.” On 6 September, Slánský was removed from his
position as general secretary.41

Moscow’s evident disfavor provoked a real espionage plot, or at least a
botched attempt at one. Czechs working for American intelligence noticed
that Moscow had sent no congratulations to Slánský on the occasion of his
fiftieth birthday (on 31 July 1951). They moved ahead to encourage
Slánský to defect from Czechoslovakia. In early November they sent him a
letter in which they offered refuge in the West. The courier who was to
deliver the message was in fact a double agent, working for the communist
Czechoslovak security services. He gave the letter to his superiors, who
showed it to the Soviets. On 11 November 1951 Stalin sent a personal
envoy to Gottwald to demand Slánský’s immediate arrest. Although neither
Slánský nor Gottwald had seen the letter at this point, Gottwald now
seemed to believe that he had no choice. Slánský was arrested on 24
November and interrogated for a year.42

The final result of the Slánský case was spectacular: a Czechoslovak
Stalinist show trial on the Soviet model of 1936, with an overlay of
unabashed antiSemitism. Although some of the most prominent victims of
the Moscow show trials of 1936 had been Jewish, they were not tried for
their Jewishness. In Prague eleven out of the fourteen defendants were of
Jewish origin, and were identified as such in the trial record. The word
cosmopolitan was used as if it were a term of legal art whose meaning was
known to all. On 20 November 1952, Slánský set the tone of the political
séance, summoning forth the spirits of communists who had gone before
him to their deaths: “I acknowledge fully my guilt and wish honestly and



truthfully to describe everything that I have done and the crimes that I have
committed.” He was obviously following a rehearsed script. At one point in
the trial, he answered a question that the prosecutor had forgotten to ask.43

Slánský confessed to a conspiracy that ran the gamut of the obligatory
obsessions of the day: with Titoists, Zionists, Free Masons, and American
intelligence officers who recruited only Jews. Among his supposed crimes
was the medical murder of Gottwald. Rudolf Margolius, another of the
defendants, had to denounce his parents, both of whom had died at
Auschwitz. As during the Great Terror, the various plots turned out to be
coordinated by a “center,” in this case an “Anti-State Conspiratorial
Center.” All fourteen defendants asked for the death penalty, and eleven of
them got it. As the noose was placed around Slánský’s neck on 3 December
1952, he thanked the hangman and said: “I am getting what I deserve.” The
bodies of the eleven executed defendants were cremated; their ashes were
later used to fill the ruts of a road.44

At such a moment, it could hardly have seemed unlikely that a public trial
of Soviet Jews would follow. Thirteen Soviet citizens had been executed in
Moscow in August 1952 on charges of espionage for the United States, on
the basis of allegations of cosmopolitanism and Zionism rather than reliable
information. These had been people incriminated as Jewish nationalists and
American spies by evidence generated from torture, and then tried in secret.
Eleven Czechoslovak citizens had been executed in Prague in December
1952, on much the same basis, but after a public trial that recalled the Great
Terror. Now even the Polish regime began to arrest people as Israeli spies.45

In autumn 1952 several more Soviet doctors were under investigation.
None of them had anything to do with Zhdanov or Shcherbakov, but they
had treated other Soviet and foreign communist dignitaries before their
deaths. One of them was Stalin’s personal doctor, who had advised him to
retire in early 1952. At Stalin’s express and repeated orders, these people
were beaten terribly, and some of them then produced the right kind of
scripted confessions. Miron Vovsi, who happened to be a cousin of
Solomon Mikhoels, confessed in the robotic language of Stalinism:
“Thinking it all over, I came to the conclusion that despite the rottenness of
my crimes, I must disclose the terrible truth to the investigation of my



villainous work conducted with the aim of destroying the health and
shortening the life of specific, leading state workers of the Soviet Union.”46

Once these confessions were in hand, the time must have seemed right to
an aging man. Stalin usually planned well before he struck his blow, but he
now seemed to be in a hurry. On 4 December 1952, the day after the
execution of Slánský, the Soviet central committee took cognizance of a
“doctors’ plot,” in which a leading role was played by “Jewish nationals.”
One of the plotters was supposedly Stalin’s doctor, who was Russian; those
who were of Jewish origin were listed as such. Stalin had now contrived to
condemn his physician, the man who had advised him to end his political
career. Stalin showed other signs that his political worries were linked to his
personal fears. He clung, literally, to his daughter Svetlana, dancing with
her at his seventy-third birthday party on 21 December 1952.47

It was as if, that December, Stalin wanted to purge his own death. A
communist cannot believe in the immortal soul, but he must believe in
History: as revealed in changes in the modes of production, as reflected by
the rise of the proletariat, as represented by the communist party, as distilled
by Stalin, and thus in fact as made by Stalin’s will. If life was nothing but a
social construction, then perhaps death was too, and all could be reversed
by the exercise of courageous and willful dialectics. Doctors caused it
rather than delayed it; the man who warned of forthcoming death was a
murderer rather than a counselor. What was needed was the right
performance. Solomon Mikhoels was at his best in the role of King Lear, a
ruler who foolishly conceded power too soon, and to the wrong successors.
Now Mikhoels had been banished, like a specter of impotence. No doubt
his Jewish people, and all they stood for, the risk of the defilement of the
Soviet Union, the risk of another history of the Second World War, the risk
of the wrong future, could be banished as well.48

Stalin, a sick man of seventy-three, listening to no counsel but his own,
pushed forward. In December 1952 he said that “every Jew is a nationalist
and an agent of American intelligence,” a paranoid formulation even by his
standards. The Jews, he said that same month, “believed that their nation
had been saved by the United States.” Here was a legend that had not yet
even arisen; but Stalin was not entirely wrong. With characteristic
perspicacity, Stalin correctly forecast one of the major myths of the Cold



War, and even of the decades that followed its end. None of the Allies did
very much to rescue Jews; the Americans never even saw the major killing
sites.49

On 13 January 1953, the party newspaper Pravda revealed an American
plot to murder the Soviet leadership by medical means. The doctors, it was
understood, were Jews. The news agency TASS characterized the “terrorist
group of doctors” as “monsters in human form.” Yet despite the vitriolic
language, so redolent of the Great Terror, all was not quite ready. The
people named in the article had not yet all admitted to their supposed
crimes, which was a precondition to any show trial. Those accused must
confess in private before they can be expected to do so in public: this was
the minimum condition of the scenography of Stalinism. The accused could
not be expected to follow a show trial in a public courtroom if they had not
already agreed to it in the confines of an interrogation chamber.50

Sofia Karpai, the cardiologist who was the key defendant, had not
confessed to anything at all. She was Jewish and a woman; perhaps the
interrogators assumed that she would be the first to break. In the end, she
was the only one of all of the accused with the strength to stand by her story
and defend her innocence. At what turned out to be her last interrogation,
on 18 February 1953, she held firm, explicitly denying the charges against
her. Like Stalin, she was ill and dying; unlike him, she must have
understood this to be the case. She seemed to believe that it mattered to
speak the truth. By doing so, she slowed the investigation. She outlived
Stalin, if only by a matter of days; she perhaps ensured that other people
outlived Stalin as well.51

In February 1953, the Soviet leadership was drafting and redrafting a
collective Jewish self-denunciation, including phrases that might have come
straight from Nazi propaganda. It was to be signed by prominent Soviet
Jews and published in Pravda. Vasily Grossman was among those
intimidated into signing the letter. In vicious press attacks, it suddenly
emerged that his recently published novel of the war, For a Just Cause, was
not patriotic enough. For a Just Cause was a vast novel of the Battle of
Stalingrad, mostly within Stalinist conventions. (Now Grossman’s
perspective changed. In its sequel, his masterpiece Life and Fate, Grossman
would have a Nazi interrogator contemplate the future: “Today you’re



appalled by our hatred of the Jews. Tomorrow you may make use of our
experience yourselves.”) In the latest known draft of the letter, of 20
February 1953, the signatories were to affirm that there were “two camps,”
progressive and reactionary, among Jews. Israel was in the reactionary
camp: its leaders were “Jewish millionaires connected with American
monopolists.” Soviet Jews were also to acknowledge that “the nations of
the Soviet Union and above all the great Russian nation” had saved
humanity and the Jews.52

The letter condemned imperialism generally and the Jews of the doctors’
plot by name. In Stalinist terms, it could be read as a justification, or even
an invitation, to a large-scale purge of Soviet Jews who were not
sufficiently anti-imperialist. The Soviet citizens who were to sign the letter
would have had to identify themselves as Jews (not all of them were seen as
such, or saw themselves as such), and as leaders of a community that was
clearly in danger. Ilya Ehrenburg, like Grossman a Soviet writer of Jewish
origin, had allowed Stalin to sign his name over polemical articles about
Israel. Now, however, he hesitated to endorse such a document. He wrote a
disingenuous letter to Stalin, asking him what to do. He mounted the same
sort of defense as had Berman and the Polish-Jewish communists a few
years earlier: since Jews are not a nation, and we personally are loyal
communists, how can we take part in a campaign against ourselves as
representatives of some collective national entity known as Jewry?53

Stalin never replied. He was found in a coma on 1 March 1953 and died
four days later. What Stalin had wanted can only be guessed; he might not
have been entirely sure himself; he might have been awaiting the response
of Soviet society to the first probes. Plagued by mortality and doubts about
the succession, worried by the influence of Jews in the Soviet system, and
fighting a Cold War against a powerful enemy that he understood only
dimly, he turned to the traditional means of self-defense: trials and purges.
Judging by the rumors circulating at the time, Soviet citizens had no trouble
imagining the possible outcomes: doctors would have been show-tried with
Soviet leaders who were their supposed allies; remaining Jews would have
been purged from the state police and the armed forces; the thirty-five
thousand Soviet Jewish doctors (and perhaps scientists as well) might have
been deported to camps; and perhaps even the Jewish people as such would
have been subject to forced removal or even mass shootings.54



Such an action, had it taken place, would have been one more in a series
of national operations and ethnic deportations, which had begun in 1930
with the Poles and then continued through the Great Terror and during and
after the Second World War. All of this would have been in line with
Stalin’s previous practice, and would have fit a traditional logic. The
national minorities to be feared and punished were those with apparent
connections to the non-Soviet world. Though it had brought death to 5.7
million Jews, the war had also contributed to the establishment of a Jewish
national homeland, beyond the reach of Stalin. Like the enemy nations of
the 1930s, the Jews now had reasons for grievance inside the Soviet Union
(four years of purges and official antiSemitism), an external protector
outside the Soviet Union (Israel), and a role to play in an international
struggle (led by the United States). The precedents were clear and the logic
was known. But Stalinism was coming to an end.

Taking into account all the trials in the Soviet Union and eastern Europe,
and all the people who died in police custody, Stalin killed no more than a
few dozen Jews in these last years of his life. If he did indeed want one final
national terror operation, which is far from clear, he was unable to see it to
completion. It is tempting to imagine that only his death prevented this
outcome, that the Soviet Union was hurtling toward another national purge
on the scale of the 1930s, but the evidence is very mixed. Stalin’s own
actions were surprisingly hesitant, and the reactions of his organs of power
slow.

Stalin was not the master of his country in the 1950s as he was in the
1930s, and it was no longer the same country. He had become more a cult
than a personality. He visited no factories, farms, or government offices
after the Second World War, and made only three public speeches between
1946 and 1953. By 1950 Stalin no longer led the Soviet Union as a lone
tyrant, as he had for most of the previous fifteen years. In the 1950s the key
members of the politburo met regularly during his long absences from
Moscow, and had their own networks of clients in the Soviet bureaucracies.
Like the Great Terror of 1937-1938, a mass death purge of Jews would have
created possibilities for upward mobility in Soviet society generally. But it
was not at all clear that Soviet citizens, antiSemitic though many of them
certainly were, would have wanted such an opportunity at such a price.55



What was most striking was the fussiness of it all. During the Great
Terror, Stalin’s suggestions were transformed into orders, the orders into
quotas, the quotas into corpses, the corpses into numbers. Nothing of the
kind happened in the Jewish case. Though Stalin spent much of the last five
years of his life preoccupied with Soviet Jews, he was unable to find the
security chief who could make the right kind of case. In the old days, Stalin
rid himself of security chiefs after they had completed some sort of mass
action, and then blamed them for its excesses. Now officers of the MGB,
perhaps understandably, seemed hesitant to commit the excesses in the first
place. First Stalin had Abakumov work the case, although Lavrenty Beria
was in overall charge of state security. Then he let Abakumov be denounced
by Riumin, who in his turn fell in November 1952. Riumin’s successor had
a heart attack on his first day on the job. Finally the investigation was taken
up by S. A. Goglidze, a client of Beria.56

Stalin had lost his once total power to draw people into his fictitious
world. He found himself threatening security chiefs, rather than instructing
them. His subordinates understood that Stalin wanted confessions and
coincidences that could be presented as proof. But they were constantly
hindered by a certain attention to bureaucratic propriety and even, in some
measure, to law. The judge who sentenced the members of the Jewish Anti-
Fascist Committee advised the defendants of their right to appeal. In the
persecutions of Soviet Jews, security chiefs sometimes had trouble making
their subordinates—and, perhaps most important, the defendants—
understand what was expected of them. Interrogations, though brutal, did
not always produce the kind of evidence that was needed. Torture, though it
took place, was a last resort, and one upon which Stalin had personally to
insist.57

Stalin was right to be concerned about the influence of the war and of the
West, and about the continuation of the Soviet system as he had formed it.
In the years after the Second World War, far from all Soviet citizens were
eager to accept that the 1940s had justified the 1930s, that the victory over
Germany had retrospectively justified the repressions of Soviet citizens.
That, of course, had been the logic of the Great Terror at the time: that a war
was coming, and so dangerous elements had to be removed. In Stalin’s
mind, a coming war with the Americans likely justified another round of



preemptive repressions in the 1950s. It is not at all clear that Soviet citizens
were willing to take that step. Although many went along with the anti-
Semitic hysteria of the early 1950s, refusing for example to see Jewish
doctors or to take medicine from Jewish pharmacists, this was not an
endorsement of a return to mass terror.

The Soviet Union lasted almost four decades after Stalin’s death, but its
security organs never again organized a famine or a mass shooting. Stalin’s
successors, brutal though they were, abandoned the practice of mass terror
in the Stalinist sense. Nikita Khrushchev, who eventually triumphed in the
struggle for Stalin’s succession, released most of the Ukrainian prisoners he
had sent to the Gulag a decade before. It was not that Khrushchev was
personally incapable of mass killing: he had been bloodthirsty during the
Terror of 1937-1938 and the reconquest of western Ukraine after the
Second World War. It was rather that he believed that the Soviet Union
could no longer be run in the same fashion. He even revealed some of
Stalin’s crimes in a speech to a party congress in February 1956, although
he emphasized the suffering of communist party elites rather than the
groups who had suffered in far larger numbers: peasants, workers, and the
members of the national minorities.

East European states remained satellites of the Soviet Union, but none of
them moved beyond show trials (the prelude to the Great Terror of the late
1930s) to mass killing. Most of them (Poland was an exception)
collectivized agriculture, but never denied peasants the right to private
plots. There was no starvation in the satellite states, as there had been in the
Soviet Union. Under Khrushchev, the Soviet Union would invade its
communist satellite Hungary in 1956. Although the civil war that followed
killed thousands of people and the intervention forced a change of
leadership, no mass blood purges followed. Relatively few people were
purposefully killed in communist eastern Europe after 1953. The numbers
were orders of magnitude less than during the eras of mass killing (1933-
1945) and ethnic cleansing (1945-1947).

Stalinist anti-Semitism haunted eastern Europe long after the death of
Stalin. It was rarely a major tool of governance, but it was always available
in moments of political stress. Anti-Semitism allowed leaders to revise the



history of wartime suffering (recalled as the suffering only of Slavs) and
also the history of Stalinism itself (which was portrayed as the deformed,
Jewish version of communism).

In Poland in 1968, fifteen years after Stalin’s death, the Holocaust was
revisited for the purposes of communist nationalism. By this time
Władysław Gomulka had returned to power. In February 1956, when
Khrushchev criticized some aspects of Stalin’s rule; he undermined the
position of east European communist leaders associated with Stalinism, and
strengthened the hand of those who could call themselves reformers. This
was the end for the triumvirate of Berman, Bierut, and Minc. Gomułka was
released from prison, rehabilitated, and allowed to take power that October.
He represented the hope of some Poles for a reform communism, of others
for a more national communism. Poland had already gained what it could
from postwar reconstruction and rapid industrialization; attempts to
improve the economic system proved either counterproductive or politically
risky. After all attempts to improve the economic system failed, nationalism
remained.58

In Poland in 1968, Gomułka’s regime enacted an anti-Zionist purge that
recalled the rhetoric of Stalin’s last years. Twenty years after his own fall
from grace in 1948, Gomułka took revenge on Polish-Jewish communists,
or rather upon some of their children. As in the Soviet Union in 1952 and
1953, so in Poland in 1967 and 1968 the question of succession loomed.
Gomułka had been in power for a long time. Like Stalin, he was willing to
discredit rivals by way of their association with the Jewish question, and in
particular by their softness on the supposed Zionist threat.

“Zionism” returned to the communist Polish press with the Israeli victory
in the Six-Day War of June 1967. In the Soviet Union, the war confirmed
the status of Israel as an American satellite, a line that was to be followed in
the east European communist states. Yet Poles sometimes supported Israel
(“our little Jews,” as people said) against the Arabs, who were backed by
the Soviet Union. Some Poles saw Israel at that point much as they saw
themselves: as the persecuted underdog, opposed by the Soviet Union,
representing Western civilization. For such people, Israel’s victory over
Arab states was a fantasy of Poland defeating the Soviet Union.59



The official Polish communist position was rather different. The Polish
communist leadership identified Israel with Nazi Germany, and Zionism
with National Socialism. These claims were often made by people who had
lived through, and indeed sometimes fought in, the Second World War. Yet
these grotesque comparisons followed from a certain political logic, now
common to communist leaders in Poland and the Soviet Union. In the
communist worldview, it was not the Jews but the Slavs (Russians in the
USSR, Poles in Poland) who were the central figures (as victors and
victims) of the Second World War. The Jews, always an immense problem
for this story of suffering, had been assimilated to it in the postwar years,
counted when necessary as “Soviet citizens” in the USSR and as “Poles” in
Poland. In Poland, Jewish communists had done the most to eliminate Jews
from the history of the German occupation in Poland. Having performed
this task by 1956, the Jewish communists lost power. It was the non-Jewish
communist Gomułka who exploited the legend of ethnic Polish innocence.

This recitation of the Second World War was also a propaganda stance in
the Cold War. Poles and Russians, Slavic victims of the last German war,
were accordingly still threatened by Germany, which now meant West
Germany and its patron the United States. In the world of the Cold War, this
was not entirely unconvincing. The chancellor of West Germany at the time
was a former Nazi. Maps of Germany in German schoolbooks included the
lands lost to Poland in 1945 (marked as “under Polish administration”).
West Germany had never extended diplomatic recognition to postwar
Poland. In the western democracies, as in West Germany, there was then
little public discussion of German war crimes. In admitting West Germany
to NATO in 1955, the United States in effect overlooked the atrocities of its
recent German enemy.

As in the 1950s, Stalinist anti-Semitism assigned Israel a perfidious place
in the Cold War. Picking up a theme from the Soviet press of January 1953,
the Polish press in 1967 explained that West Germany had conveyed Nazi
ideology to Israel. Political cartoons portrayed the Israeli army as the
Wehrmacht. Thus Israel’s claim that its existence was morally sanctioned
by the Second World War and the Holocaust was supposed to be reversed:
on the Polish communist account, capitalism had led to imperialism, of
which National Socialism was an example. At the moment, the leader of the
imperialist camp was the United States, of which Israel and West Germany



alike were the cat’s paws. Israel was just one more instance of imperialism,
sustaining a world order that generated crimes against humanity, rather than
a small state with a special historical claim to victimhood. The communists
wished to monopolize claims of victimhood for themselves.60

These Nazi-Zionist comparisons began in communist Poland with the
Six-Day War in June 1967, but came home when the Polish regime
repressed opponents the following spring. Polish university students,
protesting the ban on the performance of a play, called a peaceful rally
against the regime for 8 March 1968. The regime then castigated their
leaders as “Zionists.” The previous year Jews in Poland had been called a
“fifth column,” supporting Poland’s enemies abroad. Now the problems of
Poland as a whole were blamed upon the Jews, categorized once again, as
in the USSR fifteen years before, as both “Zionists” and “cosmopolitans.”
As in the Soviet Union, this was only an apparent contradiction: the
“Zionists” supposedly favored Israel, and the “cosmopolitans” were
supposedly drawn to the United States, but both were allies of imperialism
and thus enemies of the Polish state. They were outsiders and traitors,
indifferent to Poland and Polishness.61

In an agile maneuver, Polish communists were now claiming an old
European anti-Semitic argument for their own. The Nazi stereotype of
“Judeobolshevism,” Hitler’s own idea that communism was a Jewish plot,
had been quite widespread in prewar Poland. The prominence of Polish
Jews in the early communist regime, though a product of very special
historical circumstances, had done little to dispel the popular association
between Jews and communists. Now, in spring 1968, Polish communists
played to this stereotype by claiming that the problem with Stalinism was
its Jewishness. If anything had gone wrong in communist Poland in the
1940s and 1950s, it was the fault of the Jews who exerted too much control
over the party and thereby deformed the whole system. Some communists
might have done harm to Poles, was the implication, but these communists
had been Jews. But Polish communism, it followed, could be cleansed of
such people, or at least of their sons and daughters. Gomułka’s regime, in
this way, tried to make communism ethnically Polish.

The solution could only be a purge of Jews from public life and positions
of political influence. But who was a Jew? In 1968, students with Jewish
names or Stalinist parents received disproportionate attention in the press.



Polish authorities used anti-Semitism to separate the rest of the population
from the students, organizing huge rallies of workers and soldiers. The
Polish working class became, in the pronouncements of the country’s
leaders, the ethnically Polish working class. But matters were not so simple.
The Gomułka regime was happy to use the Jewish label to rid itself of
criticism in general. A Jew, by the party definition, was not always someone
whose parents were Jewish. Characteristic of the campaign was a certain
vagueness about Jews: often a “Zionist” was simply an intellectual or
someone unfavorable to the regime.62

The campaign was calculatedly unjust, deliberately provocative, and
absurd in its historical vacuity. It was not, however, lethal. The anti-Semitic
tropes of Polish communism recalled late Stalinism, and thus stereotypes
familiar in Nazi Germany. There was never any plan, however, to murder
Jews. Although at least one suicide can be connected to the “anti-Zionist
campaign,” and many people were beaten by the police, no one was
actually killed. The regime made about 2,591 arrests, drafted a few hundred
more students to garrisons distant from Warsaw, and sentenced some of the
student leaders to prison. About seventeen thousand Polish citizens (most
but not all of Jewish origin) accepted the regime’s offer of one-way travel
documents and left the country.63

Residents of Warsaw could not help but notice that they left from a
railway station not far from the Umschlagplatz, whence the Jews of Warsaw
had been deported by train to Treblinka only twenty-six years earlier. Three
million Jews at least had lived in Poland before the Second World War.
After this episode of communist anti-Semitism, perhaps thirty thousand
remained. For Polish communists and those who believed them, the Jews
were not victims in 1968 or at any earlier point: they were people who
conspired to deprive Poles of their righteous claim to innocence and
heroism.

The Stalinist anti-Semitism of Poland in 1968 changed the lives of tens
of thousands of people, and ended the faith in Marxism of many intelligent
young men and women in eastern Europe. Marxism, of course, had other
problems. By this time the economic potential of the Stalinist model was
exhausted in communist Poland, as it was throughout the communist bloc.
Collectivization was no boon to agrarian economies. Only so much fast
growth could be generated by forced industrialization. After a generation, it



was clear more or less everywhere that western Europe was more
prosperous than the communist world, and that the gap was growing. Polish
communist leaders, in embracing anti-Semitism, were implicitly admitting
that their system could not be improved. They alienated many of the people
who might earlier have believed in a reform of communism, and had no
idea how they might improve the system themselves. In 1970 Gomułka
would fall from power after trying to increase prices, and be replaced by an
entirely unideological successor who would try to borrow his way to
Poland’s prosperity. The failure of that scheme led to the emergence of the
Solidarity movement in 1980.64

Even as the Polish students were falling under police batons in March
1968, Czechoslovak communists were trying to reform Marxism in eastern
Europe. During the Prague Spring, the communist regime allowed a great
deal of free public expression, in the hope of generating support for
economic reform. Predictably, discussions had led in other directions than
the regime had expected. Despite Soviet pressure, Aleksandr Dubček, the
general secretary of the Czechoslovak party, allowed gatherings and debates
to continue. That August, Soviet (and Polish and East German and
Bulgarian and Hungarian) troops invaded Czechoslovakia and crushed the
Prague Spring.

Soviet propaganda confirmed that the Polish leadership’s experiment
with anti-Semitism was no deviation. In the Soviet press, much attention
was devoted to the real or imagined Jewish origins of Czechoslovak
communist reformers. In Poland in the 1970s and 1980s, the secret police
made a point of emphasizing the Jewish origins of some members of the
opposition. When Mikhail Gorbachev came to power in 1985 as a reformer
in the Soviet Union, opponents of his reforms tried to exploit Russian anti-
Semitism in defense of the old system.65

Stalinism had displaced east European Jews from their historical position
as victims of the Germans, and embedded them instead in an account of an
imperialist conspiracy against communism. From there, it was but a small
step to present them as part of a conspiracy of their own. And thus the
communists’ hesitation to distinguish and define Hitler’s major crime
tended, as the decades passed, to confirm an aspect of Hitler’s worldview.



Stalinist anti-Semitism in Moscow, Prague, and Warsaw killed only a
handful of people, but it confused the European past. The Holocaust
complicated the Stalinist story of the suffering of Soviet citizens as such,
and displaced Russians and Slavs as the most victimized of groups. It was
the communists and their loyal Slavic (and other) followers who were to be
understood as both the victors and the victims of the Second World War.
The scheme of Slavic innocence and Western aggression was to be applied
to the Cold War as well, even if this meant that Jews, associated with Israel
and America in the imperialist Western camp, were to be regarded as the
aggressors of history.

So long as communists governed most of Europe, the Holocaust could
never be seen for what it was. Precisely because so many millions of non-
Jewish east Europeans had indeed been killed on the battlefields, in the
Dulags and Stalags, in besieged cities, and in reprisals in the villages and
the countryside, the communist emphasis upon non-Jewish suffering always
had a historical foundation. Communist leaders, beginning with Stalin and
continuing to the end, could rightly say that few people in the West
appreciated the role of the Red Army in the defeat of the Wehrmacht, and
the suffering that the peoples of eastern Europe endured under German
occupation. It took just one modification, the submersion of the Holocaust
into a generic account of suffering, to externalize that which had once been
so central to eastern Europe, Jewish civilization. During the Cold War, the
natural response in the West was to emphasize the enormous suffering that
Stalinism had brought to the citizens of the Soviet Union. This, too, was
true; but like the Soviet accounts it was not the only truth, or the whole
truth. In this competition for memory, the Holocaust, the other German
mass killing policies, and the Stalinist mass murders became three different
histories, even though in historical fact they shared a place and time.

Like the vast majority of the mass killing of civilians by both the Nazi
and the Soviet regimes, the Holocaust took place in the bloodlands. After
the war, the traditional homelands of European Jewry lay in the communist
world, as did the death factories and the killing fields. By introducing a new
kind of antiSemitism into the world, Stalin made of the Holocaust
something less than it was. When an international collective memory of the
Holocaust emerged in the 1970s and 1980s, it rested on the experiences of
German and west European Jews, minor groups of victims, and on



Auschwitz, where only about one in six of the total number of murdered
Jews died. Historians and commemorators in western Europe and the
United States tended to correct that Stalinist distortion by erring in the other
direction, by passing quickly over the nearly five million Jews killed east of
Auschwitz, and the nearly five million non-Jews killed by the Nazis.
Deprived of its Jewish distinctiveness in the East, and stripped of its
geography in the West, the Holocaust never quite became part of European
history, even as Europeans and many others came to agree that all should
remember the Holocaust.

Stalin’s empire covered Hitler’s. The iron curtain fell between West and
East, and between the survivors and the dead. Now that it has lifted, we
may see, if we so wish, the history of Europe between Hitler and Stalin.



CONCLUSION

HUMANITY
Each of the living bore a name. The toddler who imagined he saw wheat in
the fields was Józef Sobolewski. He starved to death, along with his mother
and five of his brothers and sisters, in 1933 in a famished Ukraine. The one
brother who survived was shot in 1937, in Stalin’s Great Terror. Only his
sister Hanna remained to recall him and his hope. Stanisław Wyganowski
was the young man who foresaw that he would meet his arrested wife,
Maria, “under the ground.” They were both shot by the NKVD in
Leningrad in 1937. The Polish officer who wrote of his wedding ring was
Adam Solski. The diary was found on his body when his remains were
disinterred at Katyn, where he was shot in 1940. The wedding ring he
probably hid; his executioners probably found it. The eleven-year-old
Russian girl who kept a simple diary in besieged and starving Leningrad in
1941 was Tania Savicheva. One of her sisters escaped across the frozen
surface of Lake Ladoga; Tania and the rest of her family died. The twelve-
year-old Jewish girl who wrote to her father in Belarus in 1942 of the death
pits was Junita Vishniatskaia. Her mother, who wrote alongside her, was
named Zlata. They were both killed. “Farewell forever” was the last line of
Junita’s letter. “I kiss you, I kiss you.”

Each of the dead became a number. Between them, the Nazi and Stalinist
regimes murdered more than fourteen million people in the bloodlands. The
killing began with a political famine that Stalin directed at Soviet Ukraine,
which claimed more than three million lives. It continued with Stalin’s
Great Terror of 1937 and 1938, in which some seven hundred thousand
people were shot, most of them peasants or members of national minorities.
The Soviets and the Germans then cooperated in the destruction of Poland
and of its educated classes, killing some two hundred thousand people
between 1939 and 1941. After Hitler betrayed Stalin and ordered the
invasion of the Soviet Union, the Germans starved the Soviet prisoners of
war and the inhabitants of besieged Leningrad, taking the lives of more than
four million people. In the occupied Soviet Union, occupied Poland, and the
occupied Baltic States, the Germans shot and gassed some 5.4 million Jews.
The Germans and the Soviets provoked one another to ever greater crimes,



as in the partisan wars for Belarus and Warsaw, where the Germans killed
about half a million civilians.

These atrocities shared a place, and they shared a time: the bloodlands
between 1933 and 1945. To describe their course has been to introduce to
European history its central event. Without an account of all of the major
killing policies in their common European historical setting, comparisons
between Nazi Germany and the Soviet Union must be inadequate. Now that
this history of the bloodlands is complete, the comparison remains.
 

The Nazi and the Stalinist systems must be compared, not so much to
understand the one or the other but to understand our times and ourselves.
Hannah Arendt made this case in 1951, uniting the two regimes under the
rubric of “totalitarianism.” Russian literature of the nineteenth century
offered her the idea of the “superfluous man.” The pioneering Holocaust
historian Raul Hilberg later showed her how the bureaucratic state could
eradicate such people in the twentieth century. Arendt provided the
enduring portrait of the modern superfluous man, made to feel so by the
crush of mass society, then made so by totalitarian regimes capable of
placing death within a story of progress and joy. It is Arendt’s portrayal of
the killing epoch that has endured: of people (victims and perpetrators
alike) slowly losing their humanity, first in the anonymity of mass society,
then in a concentration camp. This is a powerful image, and it must be
corrected before a historical comparison of Nazi and Soviet killing can
begin.1

The killing sites that most closely fit such a framework were the German
prisoner-of-war camps. They were the only type of facility (German or
Soviet) where the purpose of concentrating human beings was to kill them.
Soviet prisoners of war, crushed together in the tens of thousands and
denied food and medical care, died quickly and in great numbers: some
three million perished, most of them in a few months. Yet this major
example of killing by concentration had little to do with Arendt’s concept of
modern society. Her analysis directs our attention to Berlin and Moscow, as
the capitals of distinct states that exemplify the totalitarian system, each of
them acting upon their own citizens. Yet the Soviet prisoners of war died as
a result of the interaction of the two systems. Arendt’s account of
totalitarianism centers on the dehumanization within modern mass



industrial society, not on the historical overlap between German and Soviet
aspirations and power. The crucial moment for these soldiers was their
capture, when they passed from the control of their Soviet superior officers
and the NKVD to that of the Wehrmacht and the SS. Their fate cannot be
understood as progressive alienation within one modern society; it was a
consequence of the belligerent encounter of two, of the criminal policies of
Germany on the territory of the Soviet Union.

Elsewhere, concentration was not usually a step in a killing process but
rather a method for correcting minds and extracting labor from bodies. With
the important exception of the German prisoner-of-war camps, neither the
Germans nor the Soviets intentionally killed by concentration. Camps were
more often the alternative than the prelude to execution. During the Great
Terror in the Soviet Union, two verdicts were possible: death or the Gulag.
The first meant a bullet in the nape of the neck. The second meant hard
labor in a faraway place, in a dark mine or a freezing forest or on the open
steppe; but it also usually meant life. Under German rule, the concentration
camps and the death factories operated under different principles. A
sentence to the concentration camp Belsen was one thing, a transport to the
death factory Bełżec something else. The first meant hunger and labor, but
also the likelihood of survival; the second meant immediate and certain
death by asphyxiation. This, ironically, is why people remember Belsen and
forget Bełżec.

Nor did extermination policies arise from concentration policies. The
Soviet concentration camp system was an integral part of a political
economy that was meant to endure. The Gulag existed before, during, and
after the famines of the early 1930s, and before, during, and after the
shooting operations of the late 1930s. It reached its largest size in the early
1950s, after the Soviets had ceased to kill their own citizens in large
numbers—in part for that very reason. The Germans began the mass killing
of Jews in summer 1941 in the occupied Soviet Union, by gunfire over pits,
far from a concentration camp system that had already been in operation for
eight years. In a matter of a given few days in the second half of 1941, the
Germans shot more Jews in the east than they had inmates in all of their
concentration camps. The gas chambers were not developed for
concentration camps, but for the medical killing facilities of the
“euthanasia” program. Then came the mobile gas vans used to kill Jews in



the Soviet east, then the parked gas van at Chełmno used to kill Polish Jews
in lands annexed to Germany, then the permanent gassing facilities at
Bełżec, Sobibór, and Treblinka in the General Government. The gas
chambers allowed the policy pursued in the occupied Soviet Union, the
mass killing of Jews, to be continued west of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line.
The vast majority of Jews killed in the Holocaust never saw a concentration
camp.2

The image of the German concentration camps as the worst element of
National Socialism is an illusion, a dark mirage over an unknown desert. In
the early months of 1945, as the German state collapsed, the chiefly non-
Jewish prisoners in the SS concentration camp system were dying in large
numbers. Their fate was much like that of Gulag prisoners in the Soviet
Union between 1941 and 1943, when the Soviet system was stressed by the
German invasion and occupation. Some of the starving victims were
captured on film by the British and the Americans. These images led west
Europeans and Americans toward erroneous conclusions about the German
system. The concentration camps did kill hundreds of thousands of people
at the end of the war, but they were not (in contrast to the death facilities)
designed for mass killing. Although some Jews were sentenced to
concentration camps as political prisoners and others were dispatched to
them as laborers, the concentration camps were not chiefly for Jews. Jews
who were sent to concentration camps were among the Jews who survived.
This is another reason the concentration camps are familiar: they were
described by survivors, people who would have been worked to death
eventually, but who were liberated at war’s end. The German policy to kill
all the Jews of Europe was implemented not in the concentration camps but
over pits, in gas vans, and at the death facilities at Chełmno, Bełżec,
Sobibór, Treblinka, Majdanek, and Auschwitz.3

As Arendt recognized, Auschwitz was an unusual combination of an
industrial camp complex and a killing facility. It stands as a symbol of both
concentration and extermination, which creates a certain confusion. The
camp first held Poles, and then Soviet prisoners of war, and then Jews and
Roma. Once the death factory was added, some arriving Jews were selected
for labor, worked until exhaustion, and then gassed. Thus chiefly at
Auschwitz can an example be found of Arendt’s image of progressive
alienation ending with death. It is a rendering that harmonizes with the



literature of Auschwitz written by its survivors: Tadeusz Borowski, or
Primo Levi, or Elie Wiesel. But this sequence is exceptional. It does not
capture the usual course of the Holocaust, even at Auschwitz. Most of the
Jews who died at Auschwitz were gassed upon arrival, never having spent
time inside a camp. The journey of Jews from the camp to the gas chambers
was a minor part of the history of the Auschwitz complex, and is
misleading as a guide to the Holocaust or to mass killing generally.

Auschwitz was indeed a major site of the Holocaust: about one in six
murdered Jews perished there. But though the death factory at Auschwitz
was the last killing facility to function, it was not the height of the
technology of death: the most efficient shooting squads killed faster, the
starvation sites killed faster, and Treblinka killed faster. Auschwitz was also
not the main place where the two largest Jewish communities in Europe, the
Polish and the Soviet, were exterminated. Most Soviet and Polish Jews
under German occupation had already been murdered by the time
Auschwitz became the major death factory. By the time the gas chamber
and crematoria complexes at Birkenau came on line in spring 1943, more
than three quarters of the Jews who would be killed in the Holocaust were
already dead. For that matter, the tremendous majority of all of the people
who would be deliberately killed by the Soviet and the Nazi regimes, well
over ninety percent, had already been killed by the time those gas chambers
at Birkenau began their deadly work. Auschwitz is the coda to the death
fugue.
 

Perhaps, as Arendt argued, Nazi and Soviet mass murder was a sign of
some deeper dysfunctionality of modern society. But before we draw such
theoretical conclusions, about modernity or anything else, we must
understand what actually happened, in the Holocaust and in the bloodlands
generally. For the time being, Europe’s epoch of mass killing is
overtheorized and misunderstood.

Unlike Arendt, who was extraordinarily knowledgeable within the limits
of the available documentation, we have little excuse for this disproportion
of theory to knowledge. The numbers of the dead are now available to us,
sometimes more precisely, sometimes less, but firmly enough to convey a
sense of the destructiveness of each regime. In policies that were meant to
kill civilians or prisoners of war, Nazi Germany murdered about ten million



people in the bloodlands (and perhaps eleven million people total), the
Soviet Union under Stalin over four million in the bloodlands (and about
six million total). If foreseeable deaths resulting from famine, ethnic
cleansing, and long stays in camps are added, the Stalinist total rises to
perhaps nine million and the Nazi to perhaps twelve. These larger numbers
can never be precise, not least because millions of civilians who died as an
indirect result of the Second World War were victims, in one way or
another, of both systems.

The region most touched by both the Nazi and Stalinist regimes was the
bloodlands: in today’s terms, St. Petersburg and the western rim of the
Russian Federation, most of Poland, the Baltic States, Belarus, and Ukraine.
This is where the power and the malice of the Nazi and Soviet regimes
overlapped and interacted. The bloodlands are important not only because
most of the victims were its inhabitants but also because it was the center of
the major policies that killed people from elsewhere. For example, the
Germans killed about 5.4 million Jews. Of those, more than four million
were natives of the bloodlands: Polish, Soviet, Lithuanian, and Latvian
Jews. Most of the remainder were Jews from other east European countries.
The largest group of Jewish victims from beyond the region, the Hungarian
Jews, were killed in the bloodlands, at Auschwitz. If Romania and
Czechoslovakia are also considered, then east European Jews account for
nearly ninety percent of the victims of the Holocaust. The smaller Jewish
populations of western and southern Europe were deported to the
bloodlands to die.

Like the Jewish victims, the non-Jewish victims either were native to the
bloodlands or were brought there to die. In their prisoner-of-war camps and
in Leningrad and other cities, the Germans starved more than four million
people to death. Most but not all of the victims of these deliberate starvation
policies were natives of the bloodlands; perhaps a million were Soviet
citizens from beyond the region. The victims of Stalin’s policies of mass
murder lived across the length and breadth of the Soviet Union, the largest
state in the history of the world. Even so, Stalin’s blow fell hardest in the
western Soviet borderlands, in the bloodlands. The Soviets starved more
than five million people to death during collectivization, most of them in
Soviet Ukraine. The Soviets recorded the killing of 681,691 people in the
Great Terror of 1937-1938, of whom a disproportionate number were Soviet



Poles and Soviet Ukrainian peasants, two groups that inhabited the western
Soviet Union, and thus the bloodlands. These numbers do not themselves
constitute a comparison of the systems, but they are a point of departure,
perhaps an obligatory one.4



In May 1941 Arendt escaped to the United States, where she applied her
formidable German philosophical training to the question of the origins of
the National Socialist and Soviet regimes. A few weeks after her departure,
Germany invaded the Soviet Union. In her Europe, Nazi Germany and the
Soviet Union had arisen separately, and then sealed an alliance.

The Europe of Vasily Grossman, the founder of a second tradition of
comparison, was one in which the Soviet Union and Nazi Germany were at
war. Grossman, a fiction writer who became a Soviet war correspondent,
saw many of the important battles on the eastern front, and evidence of all
of the major German (and Soviet) crimes. Like Arendt, he tried to
understand the German mass murder of the Jews in the east in universal
terms. For him this meant, at first, not a critique of modernity as such but a
condemnation of fascism and Germany. Just as Arendt published her
Origins of Totalitarianism, Grossman was liberated from this political
framework by the personal experience of antiSemitism in the Soviet Union.
He then broke the taboos of a century, placing the crimes of the Nazi and
Soviet regimes on the same pages, in the same scenes, in two novels whose
reputations only grow with time. Grossman meant not to unify the two
systems analytically within a single sociological scheme (such as Arendt’s
totalitarianism) but rather to relieve them of their own ideological accounts
of themselves, and thereby lift the veil on their common inhumanity.

In Life and Fate (completed in 1959, published abroad in 1980),
Grossman has one of the heroes, a sort of holy fool, recall the German
shootings of Jews in Belarus and the cannibalism in Soviet Ukraine in the
same breath. In Everything Flows (incomplete at Grossman’s death in 1964,
published abroad in 1970), he uses familiarity with scenes of German
concentration camps to introduce the famine in Ukraine: “As for the
children—did you see the newspaper photographs of children from the
German camps? They looked just the same: heads heavy as cannonballs;
thin little necks, like the necks of storks; and on their arms and legs you
could see every little bone. Every single little bone moving under their skin,
and the joints between them.” Grossman returns to this Nazi-Soviet
comparison, over and over, not to arouse controversy but to create a
convention.5

As one of Grossman’s characters exclaims, the key to both National
Socialism and Stalinism was their ability to deprive groups of human beings



of their right to be regarded as human. Thus the only answer was to
proclaim, again and again, that this was simply not true. The Jews and the
kulaks “are people. They are human beings. I can see now that we are all
human beings.” This is literature working against what Arendt called the
fictitious world of totalitarianism. People can be killed in large numbers,
she maintained, because leaders such as Stalin and Hitler can imagine a
world without kulaks, or without Jews, and then make the real world
conform, if only imperfectly, to their visions. The dying loses its moral
weight, not so much because it is hidden but because it is permeated with
the story that brought it about. The dead, too, lose their human character;
they are helplessly reincarnated as actors in a drama of progress, even
when, or perhaps especially when, that story is resisted by an ideological
foe. Grossman extracted the victims from the cacophony of a century and
made their voices audible within the unending polemic.

From Arendt and Grossman together, then, come two simple ideas. First,
a legitimate comparison of Nazi Germany and the Stalinist Soviet Union
must not only explain the crimes but also embrace the humanity of all
concerned by them, including the victims, perpetrators, bystanders, and
leaders. Second, a legitimate comparison must begin with life rather than
death. Death is not a solution, but only a subject. It must be a source of
disquiet, never of satisfaction. It must not, above all, supply the rounding
rhetorical flourish that brings a story to a defined end. Since life gives
meaning to death, rather than the other way around, the important question
is not: what political, intellectual, literary, or psychological closure can be
drawn from the fact of mass killing? Closure is a false harmony, a siren
song masquerading as a swan song.

The important question is: how could (how can) so many human lives be
brought to a violent end?

In both the Soviet Union and Nazi Germany, utopias were advanced,
compromised by reality, and then implemented as mass murder: in autumn
1932 by Stalin, and autumn 1941 by Hitler. Stalin’s utopia was to
collectivize the Soviet Union in nine to twelve weeks; Hitler’s was to
conquer the Soviet Union in the same span of time. Each of these seems, in
retrospect, to be horrendously impractical. Yet each of them was



implemented, under the cover of a big lie, even after failure was obvious.
Dead human beings provided retrospective arguments for the rectitude of
policy. Hitler and Stalin thus shared a certain politics of tyranny: they
brought about catastrophes, blamed the enemy of their choice, and then
used the death of millions to make the case that their policies were
necessary or desirable. Each of them had a transformative utopia, a group to
be blamed when its realization proved impossible, and then a policy of mass
murder that could be proclaimed as a kind of ersatz victory.

In both collectivization and the Final Solution, mass sacrifice was needed
to protect a leader from the unthinkability of error. After collectivization
brought resistance and hunger to Soviet Ukraine, Stalin blamed kulaks and
Ukrainians and Poles. After the Wehrmacht was halted at Moscow and the
Americans entered the Second World War, Hitler blamed Jews. Just as
kulaks and Ukrainians and Poles had taken the blame for slowing the
construction of the Soviet system, Jews took the blame for preventing its
destruction. Stalin had chosen collectivization, Hitler had chosen war: but it
was more convenient, for them and their comrades, to shift the
responsibility for the associated catastrophe elsewhere. Stalin’s
interpretation was used to justify the starvation of Ukraine and then the
mass shootings of kulaks and members of national minorities; Hitler’s
interpretation was used to justify the shooting and gassing of all Jews. After
collectivization starved millions to death, this was adduced by Stalin to be
evidence of a victorious class struggle. As the Jews were shot and then
gassed, Hitler presented this, in ever clearer terms, as a war aim in and of
itself. When the war was lost, Hitler called the mass murder of the Jews his
victory.

Stalin had the capacity to reformulate utopias. Stalinism itself was a
retreat: from the impulse toward European revolution that had inspired the
Bolsheviks in 1917, to the defense of the Soviet Union after that revolution
did not take place. When the Red Army failed to spread communism to
Europe in 1920, Stalin had a fallback plan: socialism would be made in one
country, the Soviet Union. When his Five-Year Plan to build socialism
brought disaster, he presided over the starvation of millions. But he
explained the events as part of the policy, and reaped the benefits as the
fearsome father of the nation and the dominant figure in the politburo. After
turning the NKVD against the kulaks and the national minorities in 1937-



1938, he explained that this was necessary for the security of the homeland
of socialism. After the retreat of the Red Army in 1941, and indeed after its
victory in 1945, he appealed to Russian nationalism. When the Cold War
began, he blamed Jews (and others, of course) for the vulnerabilities of the
Soviet Union.

Hitler, too, could revise utopia. The tens of millions of dead envisioned
by the Hunger Plan and Generalplan Ost became the millions of dead of the
starvation policies and of deportations. Insofar as the war forced a major
change in his thinking, it was in the nature of what the Nazis called the
Final Solution. Rather than wait until the war was won to “resolve” the
Jewish “problem,” Hitler endorsed a policy of extermination during the war
itself. The killing of Jews was escalated in the Soviet Union in July 1941
after a month of war without decisive results, and then escalated again when
Moscow did not fall in December 1941. The policy of killing certain Jews
was initially grounded in the rhetoric of military necessity, and had some
connection to political and economic planning. But its escalation after the
military situation changed, and after those plans were discarded or
suspended, reveals that the elimination of Jews was for Hitler an end in
itself.

The final version of the Final Solution was not designed, as were Stalin’s
improvisations, to protect the leader or his system. It was not a step in a
logical plan so much as an element in an aesthetic vision. The original
justifications for the killing of Jews gave way to the anti-Semitic
incantation, always present, of a cosmic Jewish plot, the struggle against
which was the very definition of German virtue. For Stalin, the political
struggle always had political meaning. His achievement in that respect was
nearly the opposite of Hitler’s: whereas Hitler transformed a republic into a
revolutionary colonial empire, Stalin translated the poetics of revolutionary
Marxism into durable workaday politics. Stalin’s class conflict could
always be expressed in public as the Soviet line; the chain that bound Soviet
citizens and foreign communists to his person was a logical one. For Hitler
struggle itself was the good, and a struggle that destroyed the Jews was to
be welcomed. If the Germans were defeated, then that was their fault.

Stalin was able to realize his fictitious world, but to restrain himself when
necessary. With the help of able associates such as Heinrich Himmler and



Reinhard Heydrich, Hitler moved from one fictitious world to another, and
brought much of the German people with him.
 

Only an unabashed acceptance of the similarities between the Nazi and
Soviet systems permits an understanding of their differences. Both
ideologies opposed liberalism and democracy. In both political systems, the
significance of the word party was inverted: rather than being a group
among others competing for power according to accepted rules, it became
the group that determined the rules. Nazi Germany and the Soviet Union
were both one-party states. In both the Nazi and Soviet polities the party
played a leading role in matters of ideology and social discipline. Its
political logic demanded exclusion of outsiders, and its economic elite
believed that certain groups were superfluous or harmful. In both
administrations, economic planners assumed that more people existed in the
countryside than was really necessary. Stalinist collectivization would
remove superfluous peasants from the countryside and send them to the
cities or the Gulag to work. If they starved, that was of little consequence.
Hitlerian colonization projected the starvation and deportation of tens of
millions of people.6

Both the Soviet and the Nazi political economies relied upon collectives
that controlled social groups and extracted their resources. The collective
farm, the instrument of Stalin’s great transformation of the Soviet
countryside from 1930, was used by German occupation authorities from
1941. In the occupied Polish, Lithuanian, Latvian, and Soviet cities the
Germans added a new collective: the ghetto. The urban Jewish ghettos,
although originally meant as resettlement points, became zones for the
extraction of Jewish property and Jewish labor. Their nominal Jewish
authorities of the Judenrat could usually be relied upon to raise
“contributions” and organize labor brigades. Both the ghettos and the
collective farms were administered by local people. Both the Nazi and the
Soviet systems built large systems of concentration camps. Hitler would
have used the Soviet camps for Jews and other ostensible enemies if he
could have, but Germany never conquered enough of the Soviet Union to
make that possible.

Although the instruments of local exploitation looked the same, and
sometimes were the same, they served different visions of the future. In the



National Socialist vision, inequality between groups was inherent and
desirable. The inequalities found in the world, between a richer Germany
and a poorer Soviet Union for example, were to be multiplied. The Soviet
system, when it was expanded, brought to others the Soviet version of
equality. There was no more dramatic plan than that, and that was dramatic
enough. If the Soviet system encountered nomads, it forced them to settle.
If it encountered peasants, it forced them to supply the state with food. If it
encountered nations, it eliminated their upper classes: by co-optation,
deportation, or murder. If it encountered contented societies, it required
them to embrace the Soviet system as the best of all possible worlds. It was,
in this special sense, inclusive. Whereas the Germans excluded the majority
of the inhabitants of their empire from equal membership in the state, the
Soviets included almost everyone in their version of equality.

Stalin, no less than Hitler, spoke of liquidations and cleansings. Yet the
Stalinist rationale for elimination always had to do with a defense of the
Soviet state or the advance of socialism. In Stalinism mass murder could
never be anything more than a successful defense of socialism, or an
element in a story of progress toward socialism; it was never the political
victory itself. Stalinism was a project of self-colonization, expanded when
circumstances permitted. Nazi colonization, by contrast, was totally
dependent upon the immediate and total conquest of a vast new eastern
empire, which would have dwarfed prewar Germany in size. It assumed the
destruction of tens of millions of civilians as a precondition of the
enterprise. In practice, the Germans generally killed people who were not
Germans, whereas the Soviets usually killed people who were Soviet
citizens.

The Soviet system was most lethal when the Soviet Union was not at
war. The Nazis, on the other hand, killed no more than a few thousand
people before the war began. During the war of conquest, Germany killed
millions of people faster than any state in history (to that point).7
 

At a great distance in time, we can choose to compare the Nazi and Soviet
systems, or not. The hundreds of millions of Europeans who were touched
by both regimes did not have this luxury.



The comparisons between leaders and systems began the moment that
Hitler came to power. From 1933 through 1945 hundreds of millions of
Europeans had to weigh what they knew about National Socialism and
Stalinism as they made the decisions that would, all too often, determine
their fate. This was true of unemployed German workers in early 1933, who
had to decide whether they would vote for social democrats, communists, or
Nazis. It was true, at the same moment, of starving Ukrainian peasants,
some of whom hoped for a German invasion that might rescue them from
their plight. It held for European politicians of the second half of the 1930s,
who had to decide whether or not to enter Stalin’s Popular Fronts. The
dilemma was felt sharply in Warsaw in these years, as Polish diplomats
sought to keep an equal distance between their powerful German and Soviet
neighbors in the hope of avoiding war.

When both the Germans and the Soviets invaded Poland in 1939, Polish
officers had to decide to whom they would surrender, and Polish Jews (and
other Polish citizens besides) whether to flee to the other occupation zone.
After Germany invaded the Soviet Union in 1941, some Soviet prisoners of
war weighed the risks of collaboration with the Germans against the
likelihood of starving to death in prisoner-of-war camps. Belarusian youth
had to decide whether to join the Soviet partisans or the German police—
before they were press-ganged into one or the other. Jews in Minsk in 1942
had to choose between remaining in the ghetto or fleeing to the forest to
seek Soviet partisans. Polish Home Army commanders in 1944 had to
decide whether or not to try to liberate Warsaw from the Germans
themselves, or to wait for the Soviets. Most survivors of the Ukrainian
famine of 1933 later experienced German occupation; most survivors of the
German starvation camps of 1941 returned to Stalin’s Soviet Union; most
survivors of the Holocaust who remained in Europe also experienced
communism.

These Europeans, who inhabited the crucial part of Europe at the crucial
time, were condemned to compare. We have the possibility, if we wish, to
consider the two systems in isolation; people who lived under them
experienced overlap and interaction. The Nazi and Soviet regimes were
sometimes allies, as in the joint occupation of Poland. They sometimes held
compatible goals as foes: as when Stalin chose not to aid the rebels in
Warsaw in 1944, thereby allowing the Germans to kill people who would



later have resisted communist rule. This is what François Furet called their
“belligerent complicity.” Often the Germans and the Soviets goaded each
other into escalations that cost more lives than the policies of either state by
itself would have. Partisan warfare was the supreme occasion for each
leader to tempt the other into further brutality. From 1942, Stalin
encouraged guerrilla actions in occupied Soviet Belarus, knowing that it
would bring down massive reprisals against his own citizens. Hitler
welcomed the opportunity to kill “anyone who even looks at us askance.”8

During the Second World War, the bloodlands were subjected not to one
invasion but to two or three, not to one occupation regime but to two or
three. The mass murder of Jews began as the Germans crossed into lands
that the Soviets had just annexed for themselves a matter of months before,
from which they had deported tens of thousands of people just weeks
before, and in which they had shot thousands of prisoners just days before.
The German Einsatzgruppen were able to mobilize local anger over the
murder of prisoners by the Soviet NKVD. The twenty thousand or so Jews
who were killed in these orchestrated pogroms were only a very small part,
fewer than one half of one percent, of the victims of the Holocaust. But
precisely the overlap between Soviet and German power allowed the Nazis
to propagate their own description of Bolshevism as a Jewish plot.

Other episodes of mass murder were a result of this same accumulation
of Nazi and Soviet rule. In occupied Belarus, Belarusians killed other
Belarusians, some of them as policemen in the German service, some of
them as Soviet partisans. In occupied Ukraine, policemen fled the German
service to join nationalist partisan units. These people then killed tens of
thousands of Poles and fellow Ukrainians in the name of a social and
national revolution. This sort of accumulation could also affect, and indeed
end, the lives of millions of people who were thousands of miles away from
the bloodlands. Masses of Soviet citizens fled the bloodlands to the east, to
the heartland of a Soviet state that was poorly equipped to support them.
Death rates in the Gulag increased drastically during the war, as a result of
food shortages and logistical problems associated with the German
invasion. More than half a million people died as a result, victims of the
war and of both regimes.

Even so, the impact of multiple continuous occupation was most
dramatic in the lands that Hitler conceded to Stalin in the secret protocol to



the nonaggression pact of 1939, then took from him in the first days of the
invasion of 1941, then lost to him again in 1944. Before the Second World
War, these lands were: independent Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania, and eastern
Poland. Though these states were governed by authoritarian nationalist
regimes, and popular nationalism was certainly on the rise, the number of
people killed either by the state or in civil strife in the 1930s was no more
than a few thousand in all of these countries taken together. Under Soviet
rule between 1939 and 1941, hundreds of thousands of people from this
zone were deported to Kazakhstan and Siberia and tens of thousands more
shot. The region was the heartland of Jewish settlement in Europe, and its
Jews were trapped when the Germans invaded the newly extended Soviet
Union in 1941. Almost all of the Jews native to the region were killed. It
was here that Ukrainian partisans ethnically cleansed Poles in 1943 before
Soviet forces ethnically cleansed both Ukrainians and Poles from 1944
onward.

This zone, east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, was where the Holocaust
began, and where the Soviets twice extended their boundaries to the west.
In this special strip of territory within the bloodlands, most of the NKVD
persecutions of the 1940s took place, as did more than a quarter of the
German killings of Jews, as did massive ethnic cleansing. Molotov-
Ribbentrop Europe was a joint production of the Soviets and the Nazis.
 

The transformations envisioned by both Hitler and Stalin were economic,
and the consequences of their economic policies were felt most painfully in
the bloodlands. Though National Socialist and Stalinist ideologies were
essentially different, Nazi and Soviet planners were preoccupied with
certain basic economic problems, and Nazi and Soviet leaders inhabited and
sought to alter the same world political economy. Ideology cannot function
without economics, and economics in the time and place was very much a
matter of the control of territory. Animal and human labor still moved
ploughs and armies. Capital was less mobile then, and scarcer. Food was a
natural resource, as were oil and minerals and precious metals.
Globalization had been halted by the First World War, and free trade further
hindered by the Great Depression.

From the Marxist point of view, peasant societies had no right to exist in
the modern world. From the Nazi perspective, Slavic peasants (though not



German farmers) were superfluous. German farmers would reclaim the
fertile soil with their own sweat and the blood of others. These were
ideological perspectives, of course: but like all ideologies they arose from,
and spoke to, a certain understanding of economic interests. As theory
became practice, Nazi colonization and Soviet self-colonization could
function only when economic interests and ideological presuppositions
seemed to confirm each other. Leaders, planners, and killers needed the
sight of gold as well as the smell of ink. The mass killing policies of Hitler
and Stalin exhibited three economic dimensions: (1) as elements of grand
plans of political economic transformation; (2) as causes of the (upward and
downward) modulation of mass killing policies; (3) and as plunder from
below, during and after mass murder.

In Stalin’s grand plan, the collectivization of agriculture was to transform
the Soviet Union into an industrial power, more or less within its present
boundaries. Collectivization brought famine, which Stalin consciously
directed toward Ukrainians. It also contributed to the Great Terror, which
was aimed first at alienated peasants who might side with an invading
foreign power. Hitler’s grand plan was more or less the reverse. He would
begin with a terror abroad, destroying the people he saw as the leadership of
the Soviet Union, and thus bringing down the regime. Then he would
exploit collective farms to divert a grain surplus to Germany. In the long
run, he would create a vast frontier empire ruled by Germans, bereft of
Jews, and scantly peopled by Slavs reduced to slavery. Hitler always
wanted to rid Europe of Jews. But he would never have ruled, and could
never have killed, the millions of Jews of Poland, the Soviet Union, and the
Baltics had he not pursued this eastern colonial vision with military force.

When Hitler and Stalin had to decide who was to bear the consequences
of shortages, planned or unplanned, they also revealed ideological
priorities. For Stalin, profits from grain exports in 1933 were more
important than the lives of millions of peasants. He decided that peasants
would die, and he decided which peasants would die in the largest numbers:
the inhabitants of Soviet Ukraine. The grain that could have saved their
lives was shipped south by the trainload, before their eyes, to the ports of
the Black Sea. The Wehrmacht found itself holding huge numbers of Soviet
soldiers as prisoners in autumn 1941. Most of them would die of starvation
or related diseases. Yet even in the Dulags and the Stalags, where general



killing was the rule, certain priorities were visible: Jews were shot right
away, Russians and Belarusians were more likely to be left to starve, and
ethnic Germans (and then Ukrainians) were more likely to be recruited for
labor.

A certain amount of adaptation to circumstances is even visible in
German policy toward Jews. Eliminating the Jews of Europe was Hitler’s
intention all along, and killing them all was an explicit policy as of late
1941. Nevertheless, even a policy of total destruction could be adapted to
the economic demands of the moment. In winter 1941, for example, the
Jews of Minsk survived in order to sew winter coats and boots for the
beleaguered Wehrmacht. This was obviously no humane gesture: Hitler had
sent his army to war with no winter gear, and the need to keep them from
freezing to death momentarily outweighed the imperative to kill Jews. Most
of these Jewish laborers were later killed. In summer 1942 food supply
seemed more pressing than labor supply, which became an argument for the
acceleration of the policy of gassing the Jews of occupied Poland. From
1943 onward, labor seemed more important than food, and some of the
surviving Jews were kept alive longer, worked to death rather than shot or
gassed.

Mass killing allowed plunder and social advancement. This bound the
people who profited to the regime, and sometimes to its ideology. The
deportation of richer peasants in the Soviet Union in 1930 allowed for the
theft of their belongings, as did the deportation of Polish elites ten years
later. The Great Terror allowed younger cadres in the party to make careers
after their superiors were shot or deported. The Holocaust allowed non-
Jews to take Jewish apartments and houses. Of course, the regimes
themselves stole. Poles and other east Europeans who took from Jews had
very often lost their own property to Germans. The Polish officers at Katyn
had to surrender their watches and wedding rings before they were shot.
German children wore the socks of Jewish children shot in Minsk, German
men the watches of Jewish men shot at Babi Yar, German women the fur
coats of Jewish women shot at Maly Trastsianets.

Tsvetan Todorov has claimed that “given the goals that they set for
themselves, the choices of Stalin and Hitler were, alas, rational.” This was
not always true, but it was often true. Rationality in the sense he meant,
which is also the narrow sense used in economics, concerns only whether



one chooses the correct means to achieve an end. It has nothing to do with
the end itself, with what leaders desired. Political goals must be judged
separately by some ethical criterion. Discussions of rationality and
irrationality cannot substitute for discussions of right and wrong. The Nazi
(and Soviet) attention to economics does not morally attenuate the crimes of
the regimes. If anything, it reveals the common indifference to individual
human life that is as horrible as any other aspect of their rule. The
modulation and the plunder are, if anything, even greater reasons for moral
condemnation. Economic considerations do not displace an ideology of
murderous racism. Rather, they confirm and illustrate its power.9
 

In colonization, ideology interacts with economics; in administration, it
interacts with opportunism and fear. In both the Nazi and the Soviet cases,
periods of mass murder were also periods of enthusiastic, or at least
uniform, administrative performance. The closest thing to resistance from
within a bureaucratic apparatus took place at the beginning of the era of
mass killing, in Soviet Ukraine, among Ukrainian party activists who tried
to report on the famine. They were quickly silenced by the threat of
expulsion from the party, arrest, and deportation. Some of those who dared
to raise doubts then became fervent campaigners for starvation. During the
Great Terror of 1937-1938 and the first wave of the murder of Jews in 1941,
signals from above led to killing below, and often to requests for higher
quotas. The NKVD was subject to purges at the very same time. In 1941 in
the western Soviet Union, SS officers, like NKVD officers a few years
earlier, competed among themselves to kill more people and thus to
demonstrate their competence and loyalty. Human lives were reduced to the
moment of pleasure of a subordinate reporting to a superior.

Of course, the SS and the NKVD were elites of a certain kind, specially
selected and ideologically trained. When other sorts of cadres (policemen,
soldiers, local collaborators) were used, something more than a simple
signal from above was sometimes needed. Both Hitler and Stalin excelled at
placing organizations within moral dilemmas in which mass killing seemed
like the lesser evil. Ukrainian party members hesitated in 1932 to
requisition grain, but realized that their own careers, and lives, depended
upon targets being met. Not all Wehrmacht officers were inclined to starve
out Soviet cities: but when they believed that the choice was between



Soviet civilians and their own men, they made the decision that seemed
self-evident. Among populations, the rhetoric of war, or more precisely of
preemptive self-defense, was convincing, or at least convincing enough to
forestall resistance.10

In the decades since Europe’s era of mass killing came to an end, much
of the responsibility has been placed at the feet of “collaborators.” The
classic example of collaboration is that of the Soviet citizens who served
the Germans as policemen or guards during the Second World War, among
whose duties was the killing of Jews. Almost none of these people
collaborated for ideological reasons, and only a small minority had political
motives of any discernible sort. To be sure, some collaborators were
motivated by a political affiliation with an occupying regime: the nationalist
Lithuanian refugees from Soviet occupation whom the Germans brought
with them to Lithuania in 1941, for example. In eastern Europe, it is hard to
find political collaboration with the Germans that is not related to a
previous experience of Soviet rule. But even where politics or ideas did
matter, ideological alignment was impossible: Nazis could not regard non-
Germans as equals, and no self-respecting non-German nationalist accepted
the Nazi claim to German racial superiority. There was often an overlap of
ideology and interests between Nazis and local nationalists in destroying
the Soviet Union and (less often) in killing Jews. Far more collaborators
simply said the right things, or said nothing and did what they were told.

Local policemen serving the Germans in occupied Soviet Ukraine or
Soviet Belarus had little or no power within the regimes themselves. They
were not quite at the very bottom: the Jews were below them, of course, as
were people who were not policemen. But they were low enough that their
behavior requires less (not more) explanation than that of SS-men, party
members, soldiers, and policemen. This sort of local cooperation is just as
predictable as obedience to authority, if not more so. Germans who declined
to shoot Jews suffered no serious consequences. Locals who decided not to
join the police or who elected to resign from its ranks, on the other hand,
faced risks that the Germans themselves did not: starvation, deportation,
and forced labor. A Soviet prisoner of war who accepted a German offer of
collaboration might avoid starvation. A Soviet peasant who worked for the
police knew that he would be able to stay at home to bring in his crops, and
that his family would not go hungry. This was negative opportunism, the



hope to avoid a still worse personal fate. Jewish policemen in the ghetto
exemplified an extreme version of negative opportunism—even if, in the
end, their choices saved no one, including themselves.

Within the Soviet system, the category of “collaborator” is harder to
define. Unlike the Germans, the Soviets killed greater numbers of civilians
during peacetime than during war, and did not usually occupy territory for
long without either annexing it into the Soviet Union or granting it formal
sovereignty. That said, within the Soviet Union certain policies were
presented as “campaigns” and “wars.” In this atmosphere, for example,
Ukrainian communist party activists were induced to starve their fellow
citizens. Whether or not the requisition of food from the starving is called
“collaboration,” it is a spectacular example of a regime generating
cooperation in a policy of neighbors killing neighbors. Starvation is nasty,
brutal, and long, and party activists and local officials had to watch and
bring about the death of people they knew. Arendt regarded the
collectivization famines as the inauguration of moral isolation, as people
found themselves helpless before the powerful modern state. As Leszek
Kołakowski understood, that was only half of the truth. The involvement of
practically everyone in the famine, as collectors or as consumers of food,
created a “new species of moral unity.”11

If people had served regimes only by following their own prior
ideological preferences, there would have been little collaboration. The
majority of Nazi collaborators in the bloodlands had been educated in the
Soviet Union. In the zone east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line, where
national independence yielded first to Soviet and only then to German rule,
some people collaborated with the Germans because they had already
collaborated with the Soviets. When Soviet occupation gave way to German
occupation, people who had been Soviet militiamen became policemen in
the service of the Germans. Local people who had collaborated with the
Soviets in 1939-1941 knew that they could cleanse themselves in the eyes
of the Nazis by killing Jews. Some Ukrainian nationalist partisans had
earlier served both the Germans and the Soviets. In Belarus, simple chance
often determined which young men joined the Soviet partisans or the
German police. Former Soviet soldiers, indoctrinated in communism,
staffed the German death facilities. Holocaust perpetrators, indoctrinated in
racism, joined the Soviet partisans.



 

Ideologies also tempt those who reject them. Ideology, when stripped by
time or partisanship of its political and economic connections, becomes a
moralizing form of explanation for mass killing, one that comfortably
separates the people who explain from the people who kill. It is convenient
to see the perpetrator just as someone who holds the wrong idea and is
therefore different for that reason. It is reassuring to ignore the importance
of economics and the complications of politics, factors that might in fact be
common to historical perpetrators and those who later contemplate their
actions. It is far more inviting, at least today in the West, to identify with the
victims than to understand the historical setting that they shared with
perpetrators and bystanders in the bloodlands. The identification with the
victim affirms a radical separation from the perpetrator. The Treblinka
guard who starts the engine or the NKVD officer who pulls the trigger is
not me, he is the person who kills someone like myself. Yet it is unclear
whether this identification with victims brings much knowledge, or whether
this kind of alienation from the murderer is an ethical stance. It is not at all
obvious that reducing history to morality plays makes anyone moral.

Unfortunately, claiming victim status does not itself bring sound ethical
choices. Stalin and Hitler both claimed throughout their political careers to
be victims. They persuaded millions of other people that they, too, were
victims: of an international capitalist or Jewish conspiracy. During the
German invasion of Poland, a German soldier believed that the death
grimace of a Pole proved that Poles irrationally hated Germans. During the
famine, a Ukrainian communist found himself beleaguered by the corpses
of the starved at his doorstep. They both portrayed themselves as victims.
No major war or act of mass killing in the twentieth century began without
the aggressors or perpetrators first claiming innocence and victimhood. In
the twenty-first century, we see a second wave of aggressive wars with
victim claims, in which leaders not only present their peoples as victims but
make explicit reference to the mass murders of the twentieth century. The
human capacity for subjective victimhood is apparently limitless, and
people who believe that they are victims can be motivated to perform acts
of great violence. The Austrian policeman shooting babies at Mahileu
imagined what the Soviets would do to his children.



The victims were people; a true identification with them would involve
grasping their lives rather than grasping at their deaths. By definition the
victims are dead, and unable to defend themselves from the use that others
make of their deaths. It is easy to sanctify policies or identities by the deaths
of the victims. It is less appealing, but morally more urgent, to understand
the actions of the perpetrators. The moral danger, after all, is never that one
might become a victim but that one might be a perpetrator or a bystander. It
is tempting to say that a Nazi murderer is beyond the pale of understanding.
Outstanding politicians and intellectuals—for example, Edvard Beneš and
Ilya Ehrenburg—yielded to this temptation during the war. The
Czechoslovak president and the Soviet-Jewish writer were justifying
revenge upon the Germans as such. People who called others subhuman
were themselves subhuman. Yet to deny a human being his human character
is to render ethics impossible.12

To yield to this temptation, to find other people to be inhuman, is to take
a step toward, not away from, the Nazi position. To find other people
incomprehensible is to abandon the search for understanding, and thus to
abandon history.
 

To dismiss the Nazis or the Soviets as beyond human concern or historical
understanding is to fall into their moral trap. The safer route is to realize
that their motives for mass killing, however revolting to us, made sense to
them. Heinrich Himmler said that it was good to see a hundred, or five
hundred, or a thousand corpses lying side by side. What he meant was that
to kill another person is a sacrifice of the purity of one’s own soul, and that
making this sacrifice elevated the killer to a higher moral level. This was an
expression of a certain kind of devotion. It was an instance, albeit an
extreme one, of a Nazi value that is not entirely alien to us: the sacrifice of
the individual in the name of the community. Hermann Göring said that his
conscience was named Adolf Hitler. For Germans who accepted Hitler as
their Leader, faith was very important. The object of their faith could hardly
have been more poorly chosen, but their capacity for faith is undeniable. It
was Gandhi who noted that evil depends upon good, in the sense that those
who come together to commit evil deeds must be devoted one to the other
and believe in their cause. Devotion and faith did not make the Germans



good, but they do make them human. Like everyone else, they had access to
ethical thinking, even if their own was dreadfully misguided.13

Stalinism, too, was a moral as well as a political system, in which
innocent and guilty were psychic as well as legal categories, and moral
thinking was ubiquitous. A young Ukrainian communist party activist who
took food from the starving was sure that he was contributing to the triumph
of socialism: “I believed because I wanted to believe.” His was a moral
sensibility, if a mistaken one. When Margarete Buber-Neumann was in the
Gulag, at Karaganda, a fellow prisoner told her that “you can’t make an
omelet without breaking a few eggs.” Many Stalinists and their
sympathizers explained the losses of the famines and the Great Terror as
necessary to the construction of a just and secure Soviet state. The very
scale of the death seemed to make the appeal of such a hope all the stronger.

Yet the romantic justification for mass murder, that present evil when
properly described is future good, is simply wrong. Perhaps doing nothing
at all would have been far better. Or perhaps a milder policy would better
have achieved the desired ends. To believe that vast suffering must be
associated with great progress is to accept a kind of hermetic masochism:
the presence of pain is a sign of some immanent or emergent good. To
advance this sort of reasoning oneself is hermetic sadism: if I caused pain, it
was because there was a higher purpose, known to me. Because Stalin
represented the politburo which represented the central committee which
represented the party which represented the working class which
represented history, he had a special claim to speak for what was
historically necessary. Such a status allowed him to absolve himself of all
responsibility, and to place the blame for his failings upon others.14

It cannot be denied that mass starvation brings political stability of a
certain kind. The question must be: is that the sort of peace that is desired,
or that should be desired? Mass murder does bind perpetrators to those who
give them orders. Is that the right sort of political allegiance? Terror does
consolidate a certain kind of regime. Is that kind of regime preferable?
Killing civilians is in the interest of certain kinds of leaders. The question is
not whether all this is historically true; the question is what is desirable. Are
these leaders good leaders, and these regimes good regimes? If not, the
question is: how can such policies be prevented?
 



Our contemporary culture of commemoration takes for granted that
memory prevents murder. If people died in such large numbers, it is
tempting to think, they must have died for something of transcendent value,
which can be revealed, developed, and preserved in the right sort of
political remembrance. The transcendent then turns out to be the national.
The millions of victims must have died so that the Soviet Union could win a
Great Patriotic War, or America a good war. Europe had to learn its pacifist
lesson, Poland had to have its legend of freedom, Ukraine had to have its
heroes, Belarus had to prove its virtue, Jews had to fulfill a Zionist destiny.
Yet all of these later rationalizations, though they convey important truths
about national politics and national psychologies, have little to do with
memory as such. The dead are remembered, but the dead do not remember.
Someone else had the power, and someone else decided how they died.
Later on, someone else still decides why. When meaning is drawn from
killing, the risk is that more killing would bring more meaning.

Here, perhaps, is a purpose for history, somewhere between the record of
death and its constant reinterpretation. Only a history of mass killing can
unite the numbers and the memories. Without history, the memories become
private, which today means national; and the numbers become public,
which is to say an instrument in the international competition for
martyrdom. Memory is mine and I have the right to do with it as I please;
numbers are objective and you must accept my counts whether you like
them or not. Such reasoning allows a nationalist to hug himself with one
arm and strike his neighbor with the other. After the end of the Second
World War, and then again after the end of communism, nationalists
throughout the bloodlands (and beyond) have indulged in the quantitative
exaggeration of victimhood, thereby claiming for themselves the mantle of
innocence.

In the twenty-first century, Russian leaders associate their country with
the more or less official numbers of Soviet victims of the Second World
War: nine million military deaths, and fourteen to seventeen million civilian
deaths. These figures are highly contested. Unlike most of the numbers
presented in this book, they are demographic projections, rather than
counts. But whether they are right or wrong, they are Soviet numbers, not
Russian ones. Whatever the correct Soviet figures, Russian figures must be
much, much lower. The high Soviet numbers include Ukraine, Belarus, and



the Baltics. Particularly important are the lands that the Soviet Union
occupied in 1939: eastern Poland, the Baltic States, northeastern Romania.
People died there in horribly high proportions—and many of the victims
were killed not by the German but by the Soviet invader. Most important of
all for the high numbers are the Jews: not the Jews of Russia, of whom only
about sixty thousand died, but the Jews of Soviet Ukraine and Soviet
Belarus (nearly a million) and those whose homeland was occupied by the
Soviet Union before they were killed by the Germans (a further 1.6
million).

The Germans deliberately killed perhaps 3.2 million civilians and
prisoners of war who were native to Soviet Russia: fewer in absolute terms
than in Soviet Ukraine or in Poland, much smaller countries, each with
about a fifth of Russia’s population. Higher figures for Russian civilian
losses, sometimes offered, would (if accurate) permit two plausible
interpretations. First, more Soviet soldiers died than Soviet statistics
indicate, and these people (presented as civilians in the higher numbers)
were in fact soldiers. Alternatively, these people (presented as war losses in
the higher numbers) were not killed directly by the Germans but died from
famine, deprivation, and Soviet repression during the war. The second
alternative suggests the possibility that more Russians died prematurely
during the war in the lands controlled by Stalin than in the lands controlled
by Hitler. This is very possibly true, although the blame for many of the
deaths is shared.15

Consider the Gulag. Most of the Soviet concentration camps were located
in Soviet Russia, far beyond the zone occupied by the Germans. Some four
million Soviet citizens were in the Gulag when Germany invaded the Soviet
Union in June 1941. Soviet authorities sentenced more than 2.5 million of
their citizens to the Gulag during the war. The NKVD was at work
everywhere that the Germans did not reach, including besieged and starving
Leningrad. Between 1941 and 1943, the deaths of some 516,841 Gulag
inmates were registered, and the figure might have been higher. These
hundreds of thousands of additional deaths would presumably not have
happened had the Germans not invaded the Soviet Union: but those people
would not have been so vulnerable had they not been in the Gulag. People
who died in Soviet concentration camps cannot simply be counted as
victims of Germany, even if Hitler’s war hastened their deaths.16



Other people, such as the inhabitants of Soviet Ukraine, suffered more
under both Stalin and Hitler than did inhabitants of Soviet Russia. In the
prewar Soviet Union, Russians were far less likely to be touched by Stalin’s
Great Terror (though many of them were) than the small national minorities,
and far less likely to be threatened by famine (though many were) than
Ukrainians or Kazakhs. In Soviet Ukraine, the whole population was under
German occupation for much of the war, and death rates were far higher
than in Soviet Russia. The lands of today’s Ukraine were at the center of
both Stalinist and Nazi killing policies throughout the era of mass killing.
Some 3.5 million people fell victim to Stalinist killing policies between
1933 and 1938, and then another 3.5 million to German killing policies
between 1941 and 1944. Perhaps three million more inhabitants of Soviet
Ukraine died in combat or as an indirect consequence of the war.

Even so, the independent Ukrainian state has sometimes displayed the
politics of exaggeration. In Ukraine, which was a major site of both Stalin’s
famine of 1932-1933 and the Holocaust in 1941-1944, the number of
Ukrainians killed in the former has been exaggerated to exceed the total
number of Jews killed in the latter. Between 2005 and 2009, Ukrainian
historians connected to state institutions repeated the figure of ten million
deaths in the famine, without any attempt at demonstration. In early 2010,
the official estimation of starvation deaths fell discretely, to 3.94 million
deaths. This laudable (and unusual) downward adjustment brought the
official position close to the truth. (In a divided country, the succeeding
president denied the specificity of the Ukrainian famine.)17

Belarus was the center of the Soviet-Nazi confrontation, and no country
endured more hardship under German occupation. Proportionate wartime
losses were greater than in Ukraine. Belarus, even more than Poland,
suffered social decapitation: first the Soviet NKVD killed the intelligentsia
as spies in 1937-1938, then Soviet partisans killed the schoolteachers as
German collaborators in 1942-1943. The capital Minsk was all but
depopulated by German bombing, the flight of refugees and the hungry, and
the Holocaust; and then rebuilt after the war as an eminently Soviet
metropolis. Yet even Belarus follows the general trend. Twenty percent of
the prewar population of Belarusian territories was killed during the Second
World War. Yet young people are taught, and seem to believe, that the
figure was not one in five but one in three. A government that celebrates the



Soviet legacy denies the lethality of Stalinism, placing all of the blame on
Germans or more generally on the West.18

Exaggeration is not just a post-Soviet or post-communist phenomenon, as
the case of Germany reveals. To be sure, the German reckoning with the
Holocaust is exceptional and paradigmatic. That is not the problem.
German commemoration of German mass murder of Jews is a singular
example of unambiguous political, intellectual, and pedagogical
responsibility for mass murder, and the main source of hope that other
societies might follow a similar course. German journalists and (some)
historians, however, have exaggerated the number of Germans killed during
wartime and postwar evacuation, flight, or deportation since the end of the
Second World War. Figures of one and even two million deaths are still
cited, with no demonstration.

As long ago as 1974, a report of West German archives placed the
number of deaths of Germans who fled or were deported from Poland at
about four hundred thousand; it was suppressed because the numbers were
too low to serve the political purpose of documenting victimhood. This
report also estimated deaths of Germans from Czechoslovakia at two
hundred thousand. According to a joint report of Czech and German
historians, this second figure is exaggerated by a factor of about ten. So the
figure of four hundred thousand Germans killed leaving Poland (cited in an
earlier chapter) is perhaps better regarded as a maximum than a minimum.

The fate of Germans who fled or were evacuated during the war was
similar to that of the higher numbers of Soviet and Polish citizens who fled
or were evacuated during the German advance and the German retreat. The
experience of those Germans deported at war’s end was comparable to that
of the higher number of Soviet and Polish citizens who were deported
during and after the war. The experience of the fleeing, evacuated, and
deported Germans was not, however, comparable to that of the ten million
Polish, Soviet, Lithuanian, and Latvian citizens, Jews and others, who were
subject to deliberate German policies of mass murder. Ethnic cleansing and
mass killing, though related in a number of ways, are not the same thing.
Even at their worst, the horrors visited on Germans in flight or during
deportation were not mass killing policies in the sense of the planned
starvations, the Terror, or the Holocaust.19



Beyond Poland, the extent of Polish suffering is underappreciated. Even
Polish historians rarely recall the Soviet Poles who were starved in Soviet
Kazakhstan and Soviet Ukraine in the early 1930s, or the Soviet Poles shot
in Stalin’s Great Terror in the late 1930s. No one ever notes that Soviet
Poles suffered more than any other European national minority in the
1930s. The striking fact that the Soviet NKVD made more arrests in
occupied eastern Poland in 1940 than in the rest of the USSR is rarely
recalled. About as many Poles were killed in the bombing of Warsaw in
1939 as Germans were killed in the bombing of Dresden in 1945. For Poles,
that bombing was just the beginning of one of the bloodiest occupations of
the war, in which Germans killed millions of Polish citizens. More Poles
were killed during the Warsaw Uprising alone than Japanese died in the
atomic bombing of Hiroshima and Nagasaki. A non-Jewish Pole in Warsaw
alive in 1933 had about the same chances of living until 1945 as a Jew in
Germany alive in 1933. Nearly as many non-Jewish Poles were murdered
during the war as European Jews were gassed at Auschwitz. For that matter,
more non-Jewish Poles died at Auschwitz than did Jews of any European
country, with only two exceptions: Hungary and Poland itself.

The Polish literary critic Maria Janion said of Poland’s accession to the
European Union: “to Europe, yes, but with our dead.” It is important to
know as much as we can about those dead, including how many of them
there were. Despite its tremendous losses, Poland, too, exemplifies the
politics of inflated victimhood. Poles are taught that six million Poles and
Jews were killed during the war. This number seems to have been generated
in December 1946 by a leading Stalinist, Jakub Berman, for the domestic
political purpose of creating an apparent balance between the Polish and
Jewish dead. The estimate that he “corrected,” 4.8 million, is probably
closer to the truth. This is still of course a titanic figure. Poland probably
lost about a million non-Jewish civilians to the Germans and about a
hundred thousand more to the Soviets. Perhaps another million Poles died
as a result of mistreatment and as casualties of war. These numbers are
appallingly high. The fate of non-Jewish Poles was unimaginably difficult
compared to that of people under German occupation in western Europe.
Even so, a Jew in Poland was about fifteen times more likely to be
deliberately killed during the war than a non-Jewish Pole.20



Fourteen million people were deliberately murdered by two regimes over
twelve years. This is a moment that we have scarcely begun to understand,
let alone master. By repeating exaggerated numbers, Europeans release into
their culture millions of ghosts of people who never lived. Unfortunately,
such specters have power. What begins as competitive martyrology can end
with martyrological imperialism. The wars for Yugoslavia of the 1990s
began, in part, because Serbs believed that far larger numbers of their
fellows had been killed in the Second World War than was the case. When
history is removed, numbers go upward and memories go inward, to all of
our peril.
 

Can the dead really belong to anyone? Of the more than four million Polish
citizens murdered by the Germans, about three million were Jews. All of
these three million Jews are counted as Polish citizens, which they were.
Many of them identified strongly with Poland; certain people who died as
Jews did not even consider themselves as such. More than a million of these
Jews are also counted as Soviet citizens, because they lived in the half of
Poland annexed by the USSR at the beginning of the war. Most of these
million lived on lands that now belong to independent Ukraine.

Does the Jewish girl who scratched a note to her mother on the wall of
the Kovel synagogue belong to Polish, or Soviet, or Israeli, or Ukrainian
history? She wrote in Polish; other Jews in that synagogue on that day
wrote in Yiddish. What about Dina Pronicheva’s Jewish mother, who urged
her daughter in Russian to flee from Babi Yar, which is in Kiev, which is
now the capital of independent Ukraine? Most Jews in Kovel and Kiev, as
in much of eastern Europe, were neither Zionists nor Poles nor Ukrainians
nor communists. Can they really be said to have died for Israel, Poland,
Ukraine, or the Soviet Union? They were Jews, they were Polish or Soviet
citizens, their neighbors were Ukrainians or Poles or Russians. They
belong, in some measure, to the histories of four countries—insofar as the
histories of these four countries are really distinct.

Victims left behind mourners. Killers left behind numbers. To join in a
large number after death is to be dissolved into a stream of anonymity. To
be enlisted posthumously into competing national memories, bolstered by
the numbers of which your life has become a part, is to sacrifice
individuality. It is to be abandoned by history, which begins from the



assumption that each person is irreducible. With all of its complexity,
history is what we all have, and can all share. So even when we have the
numbers right, we have to take care. The right number is not enough.

Each record of death suggests, but cannot supply, a unique life. We must
be able not only to reckon the number of deaths but to reckon with each
victim as an individual. The one very large number that withstands scrutiny
is that of the Holocaust, with its 5.7 million Jewish dead, 5.4 million of
whom were killed by the Germans. But this number, like all of the others,
must be seen not as 5.7 million, which is an abstraction few of us can grasp,
but as 5.7 million times one. This does not mean some generic image of a
Jew passing through some abstract notion of death 5.7 million times. It
means countless individuals who nevertheless have to be counted, in the
middle of life: Dobcia Kagan, the girl in the synagogue at Kovel, and
everyone with her there, and all the individual human beings who were
killed as Jews in Kovel, in Ukraine, in the East, in Europe.

Cultures of memory are organized by round numbers, intervals of ten; but
somehow the remembrance of the dead is easier when the numbers are not
round, when the final digit is not a zero. So within the Holocaust, it is
perhaps easier to think of 780,863 different people at Treblinka: where the
three at the end might be Tamara and Itta Willenberg, whose clothes clung
together after they were gassed, and Ruth Dorfmann, who was able to cry
with the man who cut her hair before she entered the gas chamber. Or it
might be easier to imagine the one person at the end of the 33,761 Jews shot
at Babi Yar: Dina Pronicheva’s mother, let us say, although in fact every
single Jew killed there could be that one, must be that one, is that one.

Within the history of mass killing in the bloodlands, recollection must
include the one million (times one) Leningraders starved during the siege,
3.1 million (times one) distinct Soviet prisoners of war killed by the
Germans in 1941-1944, or the 3.3 million (times one) distinct Ukrainian
peasants starved by the Soviet regime in 1932-1933. These numbers will
never be known with precision, but they hold individuals, too: peasant
families making fearful choices, prisoners keeping each other warm in
dugouts, children such as Tania Savicheva watching their families perish in
Leningrad.



Each of the 681,692 people shot in Stalin’s Great Terror of 1937-1938
had a different life story: the two at the end might be Maria Juriewicz and
Stanisław Wyganowski, the wife and husband reunited “under the ground.”
Each of the 21,892 Polish prisoners of war shot by the NKVD in 1940 was
in the midst of life. The two at the end might be Dobiesław Jakubowicz, the
father who dreamed about his daughter, and Adam Solski, the husband who
wrote of his wedding ring on the day that the bullet entered his brain.

The Nazi and Soviet regimes turned people into numbers, some of which
we can only estimate, some of which we can reconstruct with fair precision.
It is for us as scholars to seek these numbers and to put them into
perspective. It is for us as humanists to turn the numbers back into people.
If we cannot do that, then Hitler and Stalin have shaped not only our world,
but our humanity.



NUMBERS AND TERMS
Fourteen million is the approximate number of people killed by purposeful
policies of mass murder implemented by Nazi Germany and the Soviet
Union in the bloodlands. I define the bloodlands as territories subject to
both German and Soviet police power and associated mass killing polices at
some point between 1933 and 1945. They correspond closely to the places
were the Germans killed Jews between 1941 and 1945. In the east, more or
less of Soviet Russia might have been included; but the existing line allows
the consideration of the main German killing sites of the war as well as the
western Soviet lands disproportionately struck by earlier Soviet terror.
Though I discuss the western lands of today’s Poland, which belonged until
1945 to Germany, I do not include them in the bloodlands. This is to respect
the difference between mass killing and ethnic cleansing. Hungary might
arguably have been included, since it was occupied briefly by the Germans
late in the war, after years as a German ally, and then occupied by the
Soviets. After Polish and Soviet Jews, Hungarian Jews were the third-
largest group of victims of the Holocaust. Romania, too, would have a kind
of claim to belong to the bloodlands, since many of its Jews were killed and
the country was occupied at the end of the war by the Soviet Union.
Romania, however, was also a German ally rather than a victim of German
aggression, and the murder of Romanian Jews was a Romanian rather than
a German policy; this is a related but different history. Yugoslav citizens
suffered many of the fates described here, including the Holocaust and mass
reprisals; but the Jewish population of Yugoslavia was very small, and
Yugoslavia was not occupied by the Soviet Union.

These matters of political geography are debatable on the margin; what is
not is the existence of a zone in Europe where Soviet and German power
overlapped and where the tremendous majority of the deliberate killing of
both regimes took place. It is indisputable, to state the point differently, that
the contiguous area from central Poland to western Russia where Germans
killed Jews covers the regions where all of the other major German and
Soviet policies of mass killing had already taken place or were concurrently
taking place—if not completely, then in very significant part. The
purposeful starvation of Ukraine took place within the zone of the
Holocaust. The purposeful starvation of Soviet prisoners of war took place
within the zone of the Holocaust. Most Soviet and German shootings of



Polish elites took place within the zone of the Holocaust. Most German
“reprisal actions” took place within the zone of the Holocaust. A
disproportionate amount of the shooting of the Stalinist Great Terror took
place within the zone of the Holocaust.

I use the term Molotov-Ribbentrop line to signify an important boundary
running north to south through the bloodlands. This line (which appears on
some of the maps) is the German-Soviet border as agreed in September
1939 after the joint invasion of Poland. It was significant for Polish citizens,
since it marked the division between German and Soviet occupation
policies. This line took on another meaning after the Germans betrayed
their allies and invaded the Soviet Union in 1941. To its west, Germans
were holding Jews in ghettos; to its east, Germans began to shoot Jews in
very large numbers. The Holocaust began east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop
line with shooting actions, and then shifted west of the Molotov-Ribbentrop
line, where most victims were gassed.

In the historical literature on the Holocaust, people east of the Molotov-
Ribbentrop line are often referred to as “Soviet Jews,” and people to the
west as “Polish Jews.” This is an inaccurate description of the people in
question: more of the people killed east of the Molotov-Ribbentrop line had
Polish than Soviet citizenship in 1939, when the war began. Referring to
these people as “Soviet Jews” also tends to confirm an account of the war in
which the Soviet invasion and occupation of its western neighbors are
marginalized or overlooked entirely. If these people were “Soviet Jews,”
then their homeland must have been the Soviet Union, and the war must
have begun with the German invasion of the Soviet Union. In fact, the war
began with the German-Soviet alliance that destroyed Poland and left such
Jews in an expanded Soviet Union. The use of the term Molotov-Ribbentrop
line, though it may seem awkward at first, allows us to see a very special
zone of Europe, whose peoples suffered three rounds of occupation during
the Second World War: first Soviet, then German, then Soviet again.
 

On the wall of a Gestapo prison in Warsaw, a Polish prisoner wrote: “It’s
easy to talk about Poland. It’s harder to work for her. Even harder to die.
And hardest of all to suffer.” With a few exceptions, this is a study of the
dying rather than the suffering. Its subject is policies that were meant to kill,
and the people who were their victims. In a deliberate mass killing



operation, mass death is the desired goal of policy. It is an end in itself or a
means to some other end. The count of fourteen million is not a complete
reckoning of all of the death that German and Soviet power brought to the
region. It is an estimate of the number of people killed in deliberate policies
of mass murder.

I therefore generally exclude from the count the people who died of
exertion or disease or malnutrition in concentration camps or during
deportations, evacuations, or flight from armies. I also exclude the people
who died as forced laborers. I am not counting people who died of hunger
as a result of wartime shortfalls, or civilians who died in bombings or as a
result of other acts of war. I am not counting soldiers who died on the fields
of battle of the Second World War. In the course of the book I do discuss
camps and deportations and battles, and provide figures of those killed.
These are not, however, included in the final figure of fourteen million. I
also exclude acts of violence carried out by third parties that were clearly a
result of German or Soviet occupation, but not German or Soviet policy.
Sometimes these brought very significant numbers of deaths, as with the
Romanian murder of Jews (some three hundred thousand) or the Ukrainian
nationalist ethnic cleansing of Poles (at least fifty thousand).

This is a book about deliberate mass murder more than a book about
abuse. It is a book about civilians (and prisoners of war) rather than a book
about soldiers on active duty. By all of these distinctions and exclusions I
do not mean to suggest that such people were not victims, direct or indirect,
of the Nazi and Soviet systems. I do not wish to minimize the horror of
German and Soviet concentration camps, or the murderous character of
ethnic cleansing, or the repressive nature of forced labor, or the awful total
of war death. I wish to test the proposition that deliberate and direct mass
murder by these two regimes in the bloodlands is a distinct phenomenon
worthy of separate treatment, by writing a history whose subject is the
purposeful murder of fourteen million people by two regimes over a short
time and in certain parts of Europe.

Fourteen million, after all, is a very large number. It exceeds by more
than ten million the number of people who died in all of the Soviet and
German concentration camps (as opposed to the death facilities) taken
together over the entire history of both the Soviet Union and Nazi Germany.
If current standard estimates of military losses are correct, it exceeds by



more than two million the number of German and Soviet soldiers, taken
together, killed on the battlefield in the Second World War (counting
starved and executed prisoners of war as victims of a policy of mass murder
rather than as military casualties). It exceeds by more than thirteen million
the number of American and British casualties, taken together, of the
Second World War. It also exceeds by more than thirteen million all of the
American battlefield losses in all of the foreign wars that the United States
has ever fought.

The count of fourteen million mortal victims of deliberate killing policies
in the bloodlands is the sum of the following approximate figures, defended
in the text and notes: 3.3 million Soviet citizens (mostly Ukrainians)
deliberately starved by their own government in Soviet Ukraine in 1932-
1933; three hundred thousand Soviet citizens (mostly Poles and Ukrainians)
shot by their own government in the western USSR among the roughly
seven hundred thousand victims of the Great Terror of 1937-1938; two
hundred thousand Polish citizens (mostly Poles) shot by German and Soviet
forces in occupied Poland in 1939-1941; 4.2 million Soviet citizens (largely
Russians, Belarusians, and Ukrainians) starved by the German occupiers in
1941-1944; 5.4 million Jews (most of them Polish or Soviet citizens) gassed
or shot by the Germans in 1941-1944; and seven hundred thousand civilians
(mostly Belarusians and Poles) shot by the Germans in “reprisals” chiefly in
Belarus and Warsaw in 1941-1944.

In general, these numbers are sums of counts made by the Germans or
the Soviets themselves, complemented by other sources, rather than
statistical estimates of losses based upon censuses. Accordingly, my counts
are often lower (even if stupefyingly high) than others in the literature. The
major case where I do rely upon estimates is the famine in Soviet Ukraine,
where data are simply insufficient for a count, and where I present a total
figure on the basis of a number of demographic calculations and
contemporary estimates. Again, my reckoning is on the conservative side.
 

With such a subject, care must be taken with the use of terms, and with their
definitions. There is a notable difference, usually not noted, between Final
Solution and Holocaust. The first was the general term that the Nazis used
for their intention to eliminate the Jews from Europe. For much of the time
that it was used, it indicated one of four deportation plans, all of which were



eventually discarded. At some point in the second half of 1941, Hitler
endorsed mass killing as the method by which Jews were to be eliminated
from Europe, and made this widely known that December. At that point the
Final Solution was understood to mean the murder of all Jews. The term
Holocaust was introduced after the war and, by the 1990s, was generally
(although by no means always) understood to mean the mass murder of the
Jews by the Germans.

In this book the term Holocaust signifies the final version of the Final
Solution, the German policy to eliminate the Jews of Europe by murdering
them. Although Hitler certainly wished to remove the Jews from Europe in
a Final Solution earlier, the Holocaust on this definition begins in summer
1941, with the shooting of Jewish women and children in the occupied
Soviet Union. The term Holocaust is sometimes used in two other ways: to
mean all German killing policies during the war, or to mean all oppression
of Jews by the Nazi regime. In this book, Holocaust means the murder of
the Jews in Europe, as carried out by the Germans by guns and gas between
1941 and 1945.

I refrain from using the term Holodomor for Stalin’s deliberate starvation
of Soviet Ukraine, not because the term is less precise than Holocaust but
simply because it is unfamiliar to almost all readers of English. I use Great
Terror to mean the Soviet mass shooting and deportation actions of 1937
and 1938, of which the most important were the kulak and national
operations.

I prefer mass killing to genocide for a number of reasons. The term
genocide was coined by the Polish-Jewish international lawyer Rafał
Lemkin in 1943. Through a miracle of energy and persistence, he managed
to encode it in international law. By the terms of the Convention on the
Prevention and Punishment of the Crime of Genocide, adopted by the
United Nations General Assembly in 1948, genocide involves “acts
committed with intent to destroy, in whole or in part, a national, ethnical,
racial or religious group, as such.” It lists five ways in which genocide is
committed: by “killing members of the group”; “causing serious bodily or
mental harm to members of the group”; “deliberately inflicting on the group
conditions of life calculated to bring about its physical destruction in whole
or in part”; “imposing measures intended to prevent births within the
group”; and “forcibly transferring children of this group to another group.”



This legal instrument has allowed for prosecutions, if only recently. As a
guide to historical and moral interpretation, however, the term genocide has
limitations.

The term genocide gives rise to inevitable and intractable controversies.
It relies upon the intention of the perpetrator in two places: “intent to
destroy” a certain group “as such.” It can be argued that policies of mass
killing were not genocide, because rulers had some other “intent,” or
because they intended to kill someone, but not a specified group “as such.”

Though the term genocide in fact has wide application, it is often thought
to refer only to the Holocaust. People who associate themselves with
victims will wish to define past crimes as genocide, thinking that this will
lead to recognition of the kind awarded to the Holocaust. Meanwhile,
people associated with states that perpetrated a genocide resist the term with
great energy, because they believe that its acceptance would be tantamount
to acceptance of a role in the Holocaust. Thus, for example, Turkish
governments resist the classification as genocide of the mass killing of a
million or more Armenians during the First World War.

A final problem arises from a known political modification of the
definition. The Soviets made sure that the term genocide, contrary to
Lemkin’s intentions, excluded political and economic groups. Thus the
famine in Soviet Ukraine can be presented as somehow less genocidal,
because it targeted a class, kulaks, as well as a nation, Ukrainians. Lemkin
himself regarded the Ukrainian famine as genocide. But since the authors of
the policy of starvation edited his definition, this has been controversial. It
is remarkable that we have the legal instrument of genocide; nevertheless,
one must not forget that this particular murder statute was co-drafted by
some of the murderers. Or, to put the matter less moralistically: all laws
arise within and reflect a certain political setting. It is not always desirable
to export the politics of that moment into a history of another.

In the end, historians who discuss genocide find themselves answering
the question as to whether a given event qualifies, and so classifying rather
than explaining. The discussions take on a semantic or legalistic or political
form. In each of the cases discussed in this book, the question “Was it
genocide?” can be answered: yes, it was. But this does not get us far.
 



The peoples of the bloodlands functioned in a world of daunting linguistic
complexity. Most of the victims described here knew or had regular contact
with two or more languages, and many of them were bilingual or trilingual.
Broader histories of Europe involve problems of transliteration, since words
from languages written in non-Roman characters must be rendered in
Roman characters in English. The problem arises not with languages such
as French, German, Polish, or Czech, which are written in Roman
characters with more or less familiar diacritical marks. But Yiddish and
Hebrew are written in Hebrew characters, and Belarusian, Russian, and
Ukrainian are written in Cyrillic alphabets.

For each of these languages there are competing systems of
transliteration, each with its advantages and disadvantages. To make matters
worse, many of the people and places discussed in this book were known by
different names in different languages written with different characters. So
there might be a dozen legitimate ways, for example, to spell the name of a
Jew from Ukraine in English. For many readers, the people and places
discussed in this book will be unfamiliar enough without the burden of the
more elaborate solutions to the transliteration problem. The risk with too
much precision is that people and places become more rather than less
exotic.

I have generally given names in simpler and more familiar forms rather
than those that correspond perfectly to transliteration. I spell Russian
surnames ending with a double ii just that way, partly so that readers can
tell the difference between Russian surnames (ending with ii), Ukrainian
surnames (ending with yi), and Polish surnames (ending with i). I usually
give city names in an English form if one is familiar, so Warsaw rather than
Warszawa and Kiev rather than Kyïv. All of the cities were spelled
differently by different inhabitants at any given time—and at different times
fell under different rulers with different official topographies. I tend to favor
current English spellings, although I make exceptions when it would seem
absurd not to do so. Cities in the Soviet Union had a tendency to change
names; I use the names under which they were known at the time. Thus
famine and terror strike Stalino (not Donetsk) in the 1930s and the German
Sixth Army is destroyed at Stalingrad (not Volgograd) in 1942. I try to refer
to cities by the same name throughout the book, although in certain cases
where boundaries moved and populations were transferred (Lwów/Lviv,



Wilno/Vilnius) this would have been too distorting. In citations I give the
name of the author as it appears in the cited work, even though this means
that some authors’ names will be spelled different ways in different
citations. In the notes and bibliography I transliterate more precisely than in
the main text, following simplified versions of the Library of Congress
guidelines. These are all matters of judgment; readers with experience in
these problems will understand the impossibility of avoiding certain
compromises. Translations, except where otherwise noted, are my own.



ABSTRACT
The killing in the bloodlands took five forms. First, Stalin undertook
modernization by way of the self-colonization of his Soviet Union. The
Soviets created a vast system of labor camps known as the Gulag,
collectivized agriculture, and built factories, mines, and canals. When
collectivized agriculture led to hunger, this was blamed on particular
groups, primarily the Ukrainians. More than five million people starved to
death in the Soviet Union in the early 1930s, most of them in Soviet
Ukraine. The hunger was caused by collective agriculture, but the starvation
was caused by politics.

Then the Soviets effected a retreat into terror. In the Great Terror of 1937
and 1938, the Soviet leadership identified peasants, the victims of
collectivization, as the primary threat to Soviet power. People who had
survived hunger and the Gulag were shot. At the same time, the Soviet
leadership defined certain national minorities as enemies. Nearly seven
hundred thousand people were recorded as executed in the Terror, although
the true number may be somewhat higher. These people were
disproportionately agricultural laborers and Soviet Poles.

In 1939, the Soviets and the Germans invaded Poland together, and
carried out a policy of de-Enlightenment. Reasoning from different
ideologies, but drawing similar conclusions, the Germans and Soviets killed
some two hundred thousand Polish citizens between 1939 and 1941,
disproportionately the educated people who represented European culture
and who might have led resistance. When the Soviets executed the 21,892
Polish officers and others at Katyn and four other sites in spring 1940, they
were mirroring a German killing campaign that was going on at the same
time. The Soviets and Germans also deported about a million Polish
citizens at this time, swelling the Soviet and the German camp systems. The
Germans put Polish Jews in ghettos, in the anticipation that they would all
be deported. Tens of thousands of Jews died of hunger and disease as the
ghettos become improvised labor camps.

After the Germans broke the alliance and invaded the Soviet Union in
June 1941, the two enemies killed civilians in a pattern of belligerent
complicity. In German-occupied Soviet Belarus the Soviets encouraged
partisan activity, and the Germans executed more than three hundred



thousand people in return. These mass killings had little to do with reprisals
in any conventional sense. By the end the Germans were shooting
Belarusian women and children as an encumbrance, and taking the men as
slave laborers. In Warsaw, Soviet forces first encouraged a Polish uprising
and then watched, without involving themselves, as the Germans killed
more than one hundred thousand Poles and then destroyed the city itself.

Hitler imagined a colonial demodernization of the Soviet Union and
Poland that would take tens of millions of lives. The Nazi leadership
envisioned an eastern frontier to be depopulated and deindustrialized, and
then remade as the agrarian domain of German masters. This vision had
four parts. First, the Soviet state was to collapse after a lightning victory in
summer 1941, just as the Polish state had in summer 1939, leaving the
Germans with complete control over Poland, Belarus, Ukraine, western
Russia, and the Caucasus. Second, a Hunger Plan would starve to death
some thirty million inhabitants of these lands in winter 1941-1942, as food
was diverted to Germany and western Europe. Third, the Jews of the Soviet
Union who survived the starvation, along with Polish Jews and other Jews
under German control, were to be eliminated from Europe in a Final
Solution. Fourth, a Generalplan Ost foresaw the deportation, murder,
enslavement, or assimilation of remaining populations, and the resettlement
of eastern Europe by German colonists in the years after the victory. Living
space for Germans was to be dying space for others.

When the Soviet Union defended itself and no lightning victory could be
won, Hitler and the German leadership adapted the three remaining plans to
the new situation, killing about ten million people, which was fewer than
originally planned. The Hunger Plan was abandoned in its original
conception, and applied only to areas under total German control. Thus a
million people were purposefully starved in besieged Leningrad and more
than three million Soviet prisoners of war died of starvation and neglect. As
the war continued, the Germans began to use prisoners as forced laborers,
rather than allowing most of them to starve. The grand colonial scheme of
Generalplan Ost could not be implemented without a total victory, which
was not forthcoming. It was tried in areas of occupied Poland, where Poles
were deported to create space for German racial colonies. Its essential
concept was also visible in the German decision to destroy the city of
Warsaw physically in response to the uprising of summer 1944. In the cases



of both the Hunger Plan and Generalplan Ost, plans for mass killing had to
be scaled back and delayed. The general goal of colonization was never
abandoned.

The Final Solution, by contrast, was implemented as fully as possible. It
was originally to take place after the war. As it became clear in the second
half of 1941 that the war was not going according to plan, Hitler made clear
that he wanted a Final Solution to be effected immediately. By then, four
versions of a Final Solution by deportation had been proposed and found to
be impracticable. The invasion of the Soviet Union, and its failure,
demonstrated how the Jews could be removed from Europe: by mass
murder. Einsatzgruppen originally tasked with eliminating political enemies
were used to shoot Jews. Battalions of German Order Police originally
tasked with patrolling the conquered Soviet Union were used in massive
killing actions. By December 1941, when Hitler made clear that he
expected all of the Jews under German control to be exterminated, a new
technique of mass murder was available. Asphyxiation by carbon
monoxide, used first in a “euthanasia” program, was adapted for use in gas
vans in the occupied Soviet Union, and then in permanent gassing facilities
in occupied Poland. To the labor camp at Auschwitz was added a death
factory, where hydrogen cyanide rather than carbon monoxide was used as
the agent of killing. The Jews of occupied Poland, already gathered into
ghettos for deportation, were instead sent to Bełżec, Sobibór, Chełmno,
Treblinka, Auschwitz, and Majdanek, and gassed.
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CHAPTER 5: THE ECONOMICS OF APOCALYPSE
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CHAPTER 6: FINAL SOLUTION

1 Browning and Gerlach have debated whether Hitler’s decision came in
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of 1941.
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German households as evidence of Nazi collaboration. In fact, the Soviets
had themselves distributed those swastikas, in 1939, when Moscow and
Berlin were allies, and a friendly visit from Hitler was expected. By the end
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Extermination, 239, 263-264.
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Extermination, 281.

55 On Hitler (“common front”), see Herf, Jewish Enemy, 132. On
Goebbels, see Pohl, Verfolgung, 82.

56 Madajczyk, “Generalplan Ost,” 17; Mazower, Hitler’s Empire, 198.



57 Compare Browning, “Nazi Decision”; and Gerlach, “Wannsee.” See also
Kershaw, Fateful Choices, 433.
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67 Pohl counts thirty-seven thousand auxiliary policemen active in July
1942 in the Reichskommissariat Ukraine; see “Hilfskräfte,” 210.
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